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  BY ANN BEATTIE


  


  MATTHEW HILLSMAN TAYLOR JR., nicknamed Pete, decided early to become simply Peter Taylor. The name has a certain directness, as well as a hint of elegance. Both qualities were also true of his writing, though his directness was reserved for energizing inanimate objects, as well as for presenting physical details. (His sidelong psychological studies, on the other hand, take time to unfold.) It was also his tendency to situate his characters within precisely rendered historical and social settings. His stories deepen, brushstroke by brushstroke, by gradual layering—by the verbal equivalent to what painters call atmospheric perspective. Their surfaces are no more to be trusted than the first ice on a lake.


  Born in Trenton, Tennessee, in 1917, Taylor was a self-proclaimed “mama’s boy,” though he said his mother never showed favoritism among her children: he had an older brother and two older sisters. She was old-fashioned, even for her day. Still, he adored her, and women were often the objects of his fictional fascination. The women in Taylor’s stories are capable, intelligent, if sometimes unpredictable in their eccentricities as well as in their fierce energies and abilities. Obi-Wan Kenobi wouldn’t need to wish them anything: they already have the Force.


  How wonderful that all the stories are now collected in two volumes in the Library of America series. A reader unfamiliar with Taylor’s work will here become an archaeologist; American history, especially the Upper South’s history of racial divisions and sometimes dubious harmonies, is everywhere on full display. Taylor was raised with servants. The woman who was once his father’s nurse also cared for him. Traditions were handed down, as were silver and obligation. Though he seldom writes about people determined to overturn the social order, Taylor never flinches when presenting encounters between whites and blacks—whether affectionate, indifferent, or unkind—and dramatizes them forthrightly.


  The stories, rooted in daily life, use the quotidian as their point of departure into more complex matters. Writers have little use for the usual. Whenever a writer takes the pose that the events of his story are typical and ordinary, the reader knows that the story would not exist if this day, this moment, were not about to become exceptional. (Of course things will not go smoothly at the Misses Morkan’s annual dance in James Joyce’s “The Dead.”) Taylor mobilizes his characters and the plots that they create as if merely observing, as if capably invoking convention and happy to go along with it. To add to this effect, he sometimes creates a character, often a narrator, that the reader can take for a Peter Taylor stand-in: a child, a college professor, or a young man like Nat, the protagonist of “The Old Forest,” whose thwarted desires and covertness about tempting fate are at odds with what society condones and also with his inexperience. It is a woman who, in that particular story, turns the tables, and another woman—Nat’s fiancée, Caroline—who, in the closing lines, kicks the table right out of the room, so to speak. It is one of the most amazing endings in modern fiction, with a revelation that rises out of the subtext: “Though it”—says Nat, referring to leaving home and rejecting an identity determined by others—“clearly meant that we must live on a somewhat more modest scale and live among people of a sort she [Caroline] was not used to, and even meant leaving Memphis forever behind us, the firmness with which she supported my decision, and the look in her eyes whenever I spoke of feeling I must make the change, seemed to say to me that she would dedicate her pride of power to the power of freedom I sought.”


  The present tense of “The Old Forest” is the early 1980s, when Nat is a man in his sixties. The story’s action, however, takes place in a remembered 1937, just before Nat, then a college undergraduate, is to marry Caroline. His wedding plans go astray when, while driving near Overton Park with another young woman, he has a minor car accident, after which the woman flees into the forest and disappears. The mystery of her disappearance must be solved before the marriage can take place. Nat, as narrator, has alerted us early on (no doubt so we might forget about it) that the story we’re about to read happened in the Memphis of long ago. It ends in an epiphany we never see play out. The future—the “now” of the story—is only eloquently suggested. The story of the forty intervening years is barely, glancingly told—shocking as some of the few offered details are. Virginia Woolf’s surprising use of parentheses to inform the reader of the death of Mrs. Ramsay in To the Lighthouse was stunning; Taylor’s narrator, who hurries through his account of family tragedies, is equally shocking, as the information he relays appears to be but a brief aside to the story he wishes to tell.


  Every writer thinks hard about the best moment for a story to begin and end. Taylor does, too, but his diction—his exquisite and equivocal choice of words—often suggests that beneath the surface action of the story dwells something more, something uncontainable. With “pride of power” comes the hint that Caroline is fiercely leonine (pride of lions) as well as heroically self-sacrificing. This, however, is projected onto her by Nat: it “seemed to say to me.” In other words, it’s worth noting that an idea has been planted, both in Nat’s mind and the reader’s, yet is unverifiable; we do not get to read the story of a lifetime that might otherwise inform us or offer a different interpretation of what we’re asked to understand. Elegant prose, calculated to convince, appears at story’s end—a literary high note, nearly one of elation, on which to conclude. But I wouldn’t be sure. In retrospect, the story tells us a lot about Nat (perhaps that he can be as annoying as a gnat), who intermittently interrupts the narrative to inform us with disquisitions about the historical significance of the old forest. It’s a ploy to distract our attention from all that’s forming below the surface (as in the cliché “Miss the forest for the trees”). Nat writes in the present, from the perspective of maturity. Nat knows himself, yet not entirely; he feels he must do the right thing, but does so only when prodded by Caroline, a strong woman; he is adamant that he and she must find another way, a new way, a way forward in which something is lost (Memphis, his family, and their expectations of him) but something also gained (autonomy and the ability to pursue one’s passion). All this leaves the lioness a little on the sidelines, and the present-day reader might be saddened that the Caroline of 1937 understands that her only way forward is to attach herself to Nat, a man—but at the moment the story concludes, the two characters are united by the writer in their own version of triumph.


  With apologies to the New Criticism (originated and practiced by some of Peter Taylor’s most important teachers, including Allen Tate, John Crowe Ransom, Cleanth Brooks, and Robert Penn Warren), here is where I conflate the life of the writer with the actions and thoughts of his stand-in character. The tension that arises from a psychological or emotional conflict within the protagonist is a common theme of Taylor’s stories. As is the idea of a trade-off, or compromise. As is ambiguity, a feeling of unease that can creep over the reader like a shadow, so slow moving that it’s accepted without question. It’s not until later that one looks for its source. There, at the source of our unease, is where Taylor always outfoxes the reader. Taylor often purposefully disrupts a story’s forward momentum to delve into the narrator’s past, making what might seem to be equilibrium, when jammed up against the story’s present moment, cause disequilibrium. What makes me so admiringly queasy is not this juxtaposition and the discordant tone it sounds but what the methodology evokes more broadly: Peter Taylor, as writer, occupying the role of both Orpheus and Eurydice. He repeatedly creates narrators who guide the reader through the story toward an expected and just resolution but who then hesitate, or momentarily lose their moral focus, and so scuttle that resolution. Taylor’s characters want to come out into the light, but the person who can best guide them, the writer himself, is impelled to make them look over their shoulder and face the omnipresent past, with all its implied demands. The possibility of faltering, the probability of it, is a recurring undertow in this writer’s stories. It’s as if, in his worst fears, Taylor, relegated to Eurydice’s powerless and inescapable position, might himself need rescuing. The way out is never easy or clear, even with a narrator’s guidance, and so daunting one can’t go it alone. Taylor’s main characters always need to bring someone with them; individuals, in Taylor’s fiction, must exist in pairs. After all, his narrators are mortal.


  The writer’s use of intrinsic doubt—of aporia as a rhetorical strategy—is also fascinating. Just when we’re almost hypnotized by the narrative abilities of some of his eloquent yet dissembling characters, there comes a shift in tone, really a sotto voce moment, in which the narrator second-guesses himself or the tale he is telling, thereby indicating that everything the reader hears must not be taken at face value. Quite a few of the stories verge on being mysteries (“The Oracle at Stoneleigh Court,” “First Heat”), though not the conventional kind that pose suspense-filled puzzles that will eventually be solved. Rather, Taylor’s puzzles are articulated so that some potential accommodation, some new way to go on with one’s life, may become apparent. Though the reader may not register it immediately, at the end of a Peter Taylor story some essential riddle remains.


  Peter Taylor embodied contradictions. He often explored them in his fiction, though rarely does he leave us with a feeling that things have been comfortably reconciled for himself or his characters. There remains an oscillation, an internal push/pull, as if the mind were a vibrating tuning fork. Currently, in the age of memoir, there’s a lot of self-important talk among writers about writing as a means to self-salvation. To the extent that this applies to Taylor, his characters are proof that the energy generated by inner turmoil is synonymous with really living. Take “Je Suis Perdu” as a beautiful example. Its real-life point of departure is that the Taylors, in the mid-1950s, went to France with their two young children. The story chronicles a day in the life of an unnamed American husband and father (he is thirty-eight) who is morbidly preoccupied with aging and mortality. Our protagonist goes to the Luxembourg Gardens, where Taylor begins to expose him to various backdrops, beginning with Poe-like monstrous façades. His thoughts turn to the French painter David and his only landscape, an oil-on-canvas view from the building in which he was imprisoned. We can’t fail to understand the import of this implied link between the two men. The character also considers the Panthéon, a mausoleum for France’s secular saints, projecting his dark mood so that it, too, is personified into monstrousness. Late in the story, our protagonist seems to be suddenly overwhelmed with a kind of emotional vertigo, along with the disoriented reader: “When the mood was not on him, he could never believe in it.” The writer is always aware of individual words, and all they might convey: significantly, it is “the” mood, not “his mood.” It becomes “his”—it is personalized—only on the last page of the story. Yet again, the writer provides us with a psychological study (this one more explicit than most) not to solve the mystery of his protagonist’s conflicting moods but rather to create anxiety with its articulation: it is a beautiful day in Paris; he loves his wife and children; he’s been away from his job in America, working on a book he has just finished. Aha. So this is also a story about writing, and about one writer’s personal demons being projected onto the external world. Consider the “cute” antics of his baby son, which impress the reader as more grotesque than humorous, the boy’s spinning reminiscent of the devil’s; also his wife, who, in her slip, does not disrobe but instead gives him the slip (as one would say colloquially) as she goes off to dress; and his daughter, who is too tightly wound, her shrieking portending the nightmarish perceptions that will soon overwhelm her father.


  The story is divided into two sections, titled after Milton’s pastoral poems “L’Allegro” and “Il Penseroso.” Sometimes described as paired opposites, the poems actually embody their own contradictions in an embedded complexity that would appeal to Taylor, who never thought in terms of either/or. Also, Taylor would never invoke Miltonic high seriousness if not to alter it—in this case, by wittily playing against it. This is a story about a man who should be all right, but who isn’t. (How many of us have admonished ourselves privately for not appreciating our good fortune?) Its ending is qualified by the indelibility of every revelation that, earlier in the story, we’ve been so immediately immersed in; Taylor overwhelms both reader and character with the intensity of the character’s inner conflict. Our own moods plunge as we read. Here’s what the writer depends on: once we see something, we can’t not see it; once we feel something, we can’t be told we don’t. It sounds so obvious, but few writers have the mastery to haunt the reader long after their characters have ostensibly shaken off their demons. The story’s final paragraph, with ellipses that convey what must remain unspoken, the “buts” still too painful to articulate, expresses a tentativeness that purports to end with enlightened awareness: “But this was not a mood, it was only a thought.” This sounds like an important distinction, yet it’s more likely the character is grasping at straws—word straws—desperate to regain (or at least feign) equilibrium. We, however, have felt the bleakness of his mood; we retain the afterimage of the Panthéon transformed into a glaring monster. Near story’s end, Taylor expands his horizons: we find ourselves reading an unexpected parable about America, and furthermore this consideration—which we now understand has been a significant part of the subtext—mitigates the ending’s potential upswing. We’re taken aback, just as we are at the end of The Great Gatsby, though without the enlightened exhilaration. In Taylor’s story, as in Fitzgerald’s novel, one has gone to a foreign land (in Gatsby we hear about the Dutch sailors; the characters’ predecessors have also moved, in Taylor’s story, to a new frontier); the protagonist of “Je Suis Perdu” has become something of an actor (he grows, then shaves off, his moustache; Gatsby, with his rainbow of colorful shirts, has nothing on this guy). Time and again in Taylor, the visitor is never, ever, truly accepted, however well he tries to act the required role. It’s the status quo that our protagonist desperately returns to—or tries to—at the end of “Je Suis Perdu,” words his daughter utters that, we come to understand, expand in their connotations so that, metaphorically, we see it is he, the father, who is lost. We know “the mood” will descend again.


  


  An admirer of Hemingway (there we see shadows before we suspect the source), Taylor, as his talent matured, increasingly turned toward another early influence, Henry James. Taylor has been compared (too often and too easily) to Chekhov. He admitted that he learned a lot from him, particularly how to consider things from many perspectives. But in reading or re-reading Peter Taylor’s work after many years, I was struck not by these but rather by certain other influences that I’d previously passed over: Freud, for example. (Taylor, on being sent students’ analyses of his story “A Walled Garden”: “As I read their papers, I began to think, ‘Well, you know, that didn’t occur to me while I was writing it, but in a way that’s why it works as well as it does.’ ” It’s not unusual for writers to write from an unconscious level, though Taylor’s level-headedness—at least in interviews—seems so atypically rational, one wonders whether he isn’t being a bit coy in his modesty.) I was surprised at the number of times the progression of a story and its symbols seemed so obviously Freudian, or to hint at allegory. When Taylor began writing, psychoanalysis and Freud’s surprising new ideas were in the air. Freud and Jung’s ways of thinking were part of the cosmology of some of his closest friends and fellow writers, such as Robert Lowell.


  Taylor did not compose in a white heat, though, or dash off rough drafts. He was an urbane, educated man, as well as someone who clearly perceived the world intuitively, and through his senses. He was keenly attuned to tone, timing, gestures, and subtleties. Peter Taylor was also a playwright, which informed his fiction writing. Time and again he lets us see people acting, whether they’re gazing into a foggy mirror, as in “Je Suis Perdu,” or rationalizing aloud a bit too much, as Nat does in “The Old Forest.” When a text is composed over many months—as was his usual working method—I wonder how often he must have stared at the wallpaper, only to suddenly see an alternate, hidden pattern emerge. Like other highly visual writers such as John Updike and Elizabeth Bishop, his involvement in art began in a childhood desire to paint. He drew his dreams. Perhaps more than he let on, he trusted unconscious forces. A case could be made that his writing conveyed so much immediacy because, awake, the writer was trying to connect the dots, flashes of a dream that lit up here and there unexpectedly, in the moment of its being dreamt. Though the dreamer cannot be both dreamer and interpreter of the dream, there’s no prohibition against waking up, remembering, pondering, and incorporating the dream’s meaning in its re-take, its re-shaping into a story. What I’m suggesting is that Taylor often deliberately immerses the reader in the illogic of a dream (“Demons,” “A Cheerful Disposition,” “The Megalopolitans”) and gives us a visceral sense of how that feels. With guidance (his conscious mind perfects the story), its symbols, when they have their dots connected, form the character’s personal psychological map—one that at times we are better able to understand than the character can.


  Taylor was also interested, at least as a subject of fiction, in the occult, in the Tarot, in ghosts—as was Henry James. Reading Taylor, one is reminded more than once of James’s “The Jolly Corner.” Of course this story would appeal to him, with its hints of what is unseen becoming manifest, and the implied question of what one’s life would be like if it could be re-lived. Taylor’s early story “The Life Before,” which appeared in the Kenyon undergraduate magazine Hika and is included here in book form for the first time, shows his interest in characters who are haunted: the protagonist and his wife conjure up their guardian angel, a seemingly ageless man named Benton Young, who appears in the doorway of the hotel in which they live to remind them of the power of his love, which comes as a kind of blessing to these two people who each love him in different ways. There is much more to the story, but placed in a context of his other “ghost” stories, and his collection of one-act plays titled Presences (1973), this early story is a little unsubtle in technique, yet also significant. (One can understand why plays appealed to Taylor: “In fiction you’ve got to prepare for the ghost for pages and make it right, whereas in a play you just say, ‘Enter ghost.’ ” Taylor could be quite witty.)


  


  Socially, Taylor was a raconteur who never told stories for easy laughs any more than he let them inflate into tragedies. I met him in 1975 and remained his and his wife Eleanor’s friend for the rest of their lives. Peter Taylor and his former student John Casey were the people who got me hired at the University of Virginia when I was twenty-five. Was I awestruck? Not really, because he made anyone he befriended feel so comfortable. Was I intimidated by his wizardry in constructing a story? I just assumed anyone who could write them was a genius. Do I wish I’d asked him questions about everything from what books to read (his students were treated to this, because he read aloud in class) to how certain effects were achieved in his own fiction? At the very least, couldn’t I have interviewed him? I’d like to go back in time—which I think Taylor would sympathize with—and give my younger self a shove. But I got from him, because of his attention as well as his talent, what some other lucky people also received: the idea of how a person might have a life in writing.


  In the early stories, and even more so in the later ones, his narratives zig and zag through time as he gestures to other literary texts, and sometimes to works of visual art, with which his writing is in dialogue. Many of the stories (particularly the longer ones) are intended to approximate oral storytelling, rich in episodic digressions and a mixing of the important with the seemingly unimportant. Readers perceive different connotations, different connections, depending on their level of literary awareness. “A Walled Garden,” for instance, is a prolonged apostrophe that sounds more than a little like one of Robert Browning’s dramatic monologues, though anything Taylor took in was made his own.


  “Venus, Cupid, Folly and Time,” written in the indirect third person (until the anonymous narrator, having cleared his throat for twenty-five pages, at last steps forward and says “I”), asks us to believe a narrator who casually assumes that his views and the reader’s coincide, yet who also informs us of things no one else would realize or put together in the same way. At the heart of the story is an account of the last of the annual parties given by Mr. Alfred Dorset and “his old-maid sister,” Miss Louisa Dorset, for the children of provincial Chatham, Tennessee. Brother-sister incest, the story’s subtext, is never observed but instead is displaced, prismatically: we see many puzzling points of light before the picture that the narrator is painting comes into focus. We “see” it in its pictorial or visual equivalents—lovemaking stopped in time (an echo of Keats?) as depicted in Rodin’s sculpture “The Kiss,” as well as in the busy Bronzino canvas that gives the story its name: there the naughty Cupid fondles his mother’s breast, while the child Folly, rushing up behind them, prepares to shower them with a fistful of rose petals. These images—together with a plaque of Leda and the Swan—hang on the walls of the Dorsets’ home. Into this highly sexualized setting comes an adolescent named Tom, whose actions disrupt the children’s party and upend the lives of its hosts. If the reader hasn’t suspected before, the “uninvited guest” of Taylor’s story is played against that of Poe’s “The Masque of the Red Death,” though the stakes are not quite so sensational, or so deadly; instead, they remain murky and hauntingly disturbing, since there is no one form of evil to unmask. “Venus, Cupid, Folly and Time” also, in places, mimics a fairy tale. By extension, it might be America’s fairy tale about itself, gone wrong: “The wicked in-laws had first tried to make them [brother and sister] sell the house, then had tried to separate them . . .” These references are gestures tossed out by Taylor’s sleight of hand that reappear in his literary layering by way of double exposure.


  Taylor is a writer who so loves to keep our senses sharp; our eye is forced to work like a borer bee as it moves closer to the deeper meaning below the intricately contrived surface pattern. In this story, the calculated miscalculation of a teenager’s joke—a mock seduction—echoes the off-the-page “real” seduction (the incest of the Dorsets, who, as Miss Louisa tells us, “have given up everything for each other”). All this is played against a backdrop of sexually evocative sculpture and painting—to which is added the suggestion that time (and sexual maturity) does, and does not, change everything. The old couple being teased, in the reader’s presence, have already been relegated to twisted figures depleted by time: the sister, symbolically wearing (like a wedding dress) a “modish white evening gown, a garment perfectly fitted to her spare and scrawny figure . . . never to be worn but that one night!”; her brother, like a Tennessee cousin of Gustav von Aschenbach, “powdered with the same bronze powder that his sister used.”


  The use of exclamation points in this story is purposeful: they indicate faux surprise and mock the Southern Gothic horror genre, which insistently telegraphs its shocking revelations. In the claustrophobic funhouse Taylor has orchestrated, his narrator blithely tells us things as if telling a conventional story, the author withholding many metaphorical exclamation points of his own. This amazing tour de force, which was published in The Kenyon Review and awarded First Prize in the 1959 O. Henry Awards collection, has been much anthologized. It must have gone over many of its first readers’ heads like a shooting star. It’s meant to read like the transcript of a spoken story; it’s a bit meanderingly and imperfectly told. The repeated use of the conjunctions “and” and “but” to begin sentences says everything: and means there is a connection between things; but means that that connection is not absolute. Also, the story’s location, the fictional town of Chatham—described by some as “geographically Northern and culturally Southern,” by others as “geographically Southern but culturally Northern”—puts us on a fault line, in troubled and troubling territory that makes everything liminal. With a historical perspective introduced only in the last pages of the story, we’re made to understand that the mercenary, mercantile Dorset family opportunistically settled Chatham “right after the Revolution” and then, in the early twentieth century, abandoned it—“practically all of them except the one old bachelor and the one old maid—left it just as they had come, not caring much about what they were leaving or where they were going.” The rape of the town echoes the rape Taylor has earlier alluded to in “Leda and the Swan”; it also keeps the suggestion of incest ambient. Heedless people. Opportunists, Taylor intends us to see—analogous to those who grasp for what serves their purposes to embrace.


  One doesn’t look for consistencies in writers’ lives because few are to be found. Peter Taylor married a poet, and both his son and daughter wanted to write. It made him worry about their futures—a recognizable worry of many fathers. As for himself, he took the position that if the conservative path was nonetheless the right one, however unglamorous (or because it was unglamorous), he was perfectly fine with it. For a limited time. A certain number of clichés, or banal assumptions in conversation, are helpful in orienting one’s audience, forging a bond in either friendship or literature. It could be said—it must be said—that how he conducted himself personally has nothing to do with his work. I don’t mean to suggest that he gave advice he disbelieved. Yet being aware of some of his contradictions offers a helpful orientation for understanding stories in which a turn of phrase, or a character’s casually uttered misgivings (heard as loudly as a shout), serve to make the reader listen not to what’s off the page, as we do when reading Hemingway, but to the levels of meaning embedded in the carefully chosen words or cagey digressions that are there.


  Peter Taylor was a Southerner whose best friend was Robert Lowell, a Boston Brahmin. It’s possible that, for reasons of his own, he put a positive spin on some of Lowell’s pointed needling and, ultimately, neediness. (Taylor once told an interviewer that Lowell “invented facts and stories that made his dearest friends out as clichés . . . cliché Jews, cliché Southerners, cliché Englishmen. Naturally this was irksome sometimes—even mischief-making. He was fond of representing me as a Southern racist, though of course he knew better—knew it from the hours of talk we had had on the subject, as well as from my published stories. . . . His teasing was always rough [but] it was his way of drawing closer to his friends, rather than putting them off.”) It seems equally possible that sometimes he was hurt, though he always remained Lowell’s loyal friend. Peter Taylor was in some instances quite sure of his feelings: he knew, for example, that as a young man he must stand up to his father and—even if it meant forgoing his acceptance at Columbia—refuse to attend Vanderbilt, his father’s choice of university for him. (Peter Taylor did later attend Vanderbilt, but for his own reasons and on his own terms.) He knew the first time he saw Eleanor Ross that he would marry her and waited only six weeks to do this. Their long marriage lasted until his death. As for finally wearing a somewhat ironic crown, in 1987 he received the Pulitzer Prize for a novel, A Summons to Memphis, yet thought of himself as primarily a short story writer. Like all of us, at times he revealed more than he knew. He explained his election to the American Academy of Arts and Letters by mentioning that there were “no dues, or anything like that.” I love the slight naïveté, as well as everything implied in the phrase “anything like that.”


  In Charlottesville, one didn’t see Peter Taylor on the golf course or riding with the horsey set. Though he taught at a great many colleges and universities—in the East and the Midwest as well as in the South—he returned in the end not exactly to the foul rag and bone shop of his heart, but, with fondness, to a place he thought of as a prestigious known entity: the University of Virginia. In what might or might not be a contradiction, he taught creative writing while remaining skeptical about whether there should be a creative writing program. When he retired, he and Eleanor continued to live in town. Eleanor liked to garden. If she’d written a poem during the day, no visitor was told. Quite a few of his students and former students became his friends. Robert Wilson, who later became a distinguished writer and editor, accompanied him to Paris to receive the Ritz Paris Hemingway Award. Dan O’Neill, a student who later became his real estate agent, drove a rented van to Long Island to fetch Jean Stafford’s settee (a wonderful Tayloresque word that has vanished from the current vocabulary), which she’d willed to Peter and Eleanor. (Only after her husband’s death did Eleanor say she didn’t much like it.) A former student routinely drove the couple to Florida in the winter. They bought a house in Gainesville near Eleanor’s sister, Jean, who had married the poet Donald Justice; earlier, they’d lived in Key West. Oddly—or maybe significantly—while wild tales of Tennessee Williams and, more recently, the bon mots of James Merrill are as essential to the residents of Key West as the literary air they breathe, there is no plaque on the Pine Street house where the Taylors lived, nor is there any Peter Taylor lore.


  Peter and Eleanor were real estate enthusiasts. They bought and sold and repurchased a house, only to later sell it again. They came for dinner and, if you were renting, asked if you knew whether the house was for sale. Taylor showed pictures of properties they were considering when Eleanor left the room. Eleanor, in the kitchen, would earlier have laid out on the breakfast table photographs of her own recent house fascinations. (In an echo of life imitating art, might he have thought of them as analogous to having Tarot cards read?) They rented Faulkner’s house in Charlottesville but were unable to buy it. They bought the house next door. Later, they moved a bit closer to the university. But I don’t believe they ever owned only one house, even when limited to one location when Taylor’s heart trouble worsened.


  Enough background. I bring it up because their preoccupation with houses was surprising and a bit eccentric, but also because houses and their home-obsessed inhabitants are everywhere in his fiction. Never props, houses (apartments and hotels, as well), along with their furnishings (think of the wardrobe in “In the Miro District”), are given the stature of characters. The characters are an outgrowth of the life lived within, as well as the houses’ being significant because of where they’re located, how they’re used, and what details have been described in such highly visual terms that they convey indelible meaning throughout the story (Alice Munro and William Maxwell are also brilliant at this). The houses are as integral to the story as a shell is to a turtle. And, like a turtle, they suggest that no one’s going anywhere fast. In spite of life’s flux, houses give the impression of being constant.


  Taylor isn’t Hawthorne or Poe (he admired them, but their pyrotechnics didn’t reflect his sensibility; if they were the fireworks, his stories would be the just-struck match). He did have the ability to create his own sort of visceral scariness—one that rarely had anything directly to do with obvious projection or personification (“Je Suis Perdu” is an exception that proves the rule). Here is Peter Taylor, talking to interviewer J. William Broadway in 1985: “I like to do landscaping. On the last place I had I built three ponds, one spilling into the other—eighteenth-century style. And that’s what I’ve done to this place. It’s got great boulders on the side of the hill, rocks as big as this room. And it’s very beautiful. I was even building an imitation graveyard, a topiary graveyard, with carvings and shrubbery. It was pure folly. And Eleanor’s planted acres of trees. Then there are a lot of blackberries, persimmons to be gathered and that sort of thing.” Of course, his saying this, and making the “folly” we’ll never see so vivid, remind me of how important his dreams were to him, how Freudian the implications of some of his stories are, as well as of his own use of allegory. It’s almost astonishing how easily we can read into his words and understand that he is speaking simultaneously about a literal and symbolic landscape (as in dreams). When he described his property, he was already suffering from heart problems. He doesn’t reflect on his statement or in any way let on that he knows what he’s said, but it’s easy to see that the topiary graveyard conveys both his concern with mortality and the careful artistry, the pruning/writing that he undertakes; landscaping is an inherent metaphor by which, in creating an ideal world, he wishes to prove he’s powerful—still alive.


  To read a great number of his stories is to sense an invincibility about Taylor’s dwellings that make them a force to be reckoned with. His writerly interest in myth, palmistry, superstition, and ghosts is also obvious. A house, though, is the opposite of a ghost, entirely apparent. But within them—as within all of us—must be secrets, areas of disrepair, covert demands exerted. One of his major considerations as a writer is the clash of past and present, the old order versus the changing world, Nashville versus Memphis. This evolution asks important questions about who we are, where we belong (and whether we can ever really leave those places), and what meaning to ascribe to exteriors, compared with (I’m speaking psychologically) interiors. In the stories, we sometimes hear angry words from a character, a roar, occasionally hysteria—though no reader would typify his material by these outbursts. When things go out of control, in life or in fiction, they rarely devolve into complete chaos (war zones excepted), though it’s true that Taylor tends to play in quieter territory.


  Has he not had the reputation he’s so long deserved because it takes a while for his subtle, disturbing stories that gestate below the surface to settle in? Was his magic act of Now-You-See-It, Now-You-Don’t a bit too successful, a ruse that ultimately became counter-productive? His proclivity toward selecting narrators who have a cordial, confiding tone was trickery, but may have misled some readers into thinking that he was a nice Southern gentleman, indistinguishable from his fictional creations. (He must have read Ford Madox Ford’s The Good Soldier—though none of Taylor’s characters ever blow their cover.)


  It’s also possible that his reputation is a rare case of a short story writer being eclipsed by the poets of his generation, Lowell foremost among a group that also included Randall Jarrell and the now iconic Elizabeth Bishop. Another factor may be that once upon a time Southern writers, with notable exceptions such as William Faulkner or, more recently, William Styron, were considered regional writers, whose voices did not rise to universal truths. This is not the case today, if it ever was, so it can be easy to forget that there was a time when the term “regional writing” carried negative associations, and things Southern were thought a bit unsophisticated. In some ways, Peter Taylor’s discursive, chatty stories played into a stereotype about pawky storytellers whose horizons were obscured by the hills of home. His contemporary, Eudora Welty—she was of his generation, eight years older than he—has more admirers for her stories than for her novels. At least in the academic world Welty’s novels are rarely taught (she won the Pulitzer Prize in 1972 for The Optimist’s Daughter), though her stories are. Taylor very much liked her writing. I might be overstating the case, but it’s as if the audience already had their cherished Southern short story writer in Eudora Welty. In the 1990s, during Peter Taylor’s last years, it was her work that was celebrated as the example of the quintessential Southern short story. Meanwhile, he struggled to get his stories and books into print (in any case, he was never prolific) and his critical reputation became wobbly; had it not been for the admiration of such distinguished writers as Anne Tyler and Joyce Carol Oates, his reputation might have dipped further—that and the unwavering support he received (he was often agentless, by choice) from so many former students in the world of writing and publishing. Jonathan Yardley, former book critic at the Washington Post’s Book World, did much to spread the word about Peter Taylor’s singular talent; a former student, the book editor Jonathan Coleman, persuaded Peter to assemble In the Miro District for Knopf. It’s rarely easy to find and keep an audience when a writer is writing only intermittently, especially when that writer is not easily categorizable: Taylor alternated between genres; he composed stories in verse (some of his rough drafts—in fact, every story in In the Miro District, he once said—initially took this form); he did not write essays and seldom reviewed books. He did not live in New York City. When his career was on the ascent, during the Thomas Wolfe and Maxwell Perkins era, writers and editors took each other very seriously. Writing wasn’t the business it has become, in a time when corporations own the publishing houses and issue a mandate to make money. (If today’s talented young book editors were Peter Taylor characters, they, like Nat, might do better to go off to study Latin.) Taylor advised writers to find a teaching job that would allow them time to write—conservative, no doubt practical advice, though having done that, he, himself, moved from job to job. Having one’s peers admire you (he certainly had that) was valued by Peter Taylor as the greatest compliment. He thought small literary magazines were where a beginning writer could attract an audience and be encouraged as one built a reputation. Now, with few magazines printing fiction, and The Kenyon Review and The Southern Review (among other magazines where he first published) still going strong, he turns out to be right, again.


  Peter Taylor once remarked, “Flaubert says, ‘Madame Bovary, c’est moi.’ How can you write fiction if you can’t imagine it? And how can you imagine it if you don’t link your psychology to your characters? Writing starts with events and experiences that worry me, and I put them together. You write a story in which you are the protagonist, but you have to change him for the theme’s sake.”


  As always, he’s very clear about what he believes. It is the reader’s good luck that he worried. His best stories rise to the level of transcendent worry. When we finish reading one of his more complex stories, he’s capable of making us look upward from planet Earth, and from the South, in particular, to a blue sky, or a dark sky, just waiting to be projected upon.


  COMPLETE STORIES

  1960–1992


  Reservations: A Love Story


  


  IT WAS arranged, of all things, that the bride and groom should make their escape from the country club through the little boys’ locker room! But this was very reasonable, really. At nine o’clock on a night in January, the exit from the little boys’ locker room to the swimming-pool terrace was the exit least likely to be congested. It was the exit also most likely to be overlooked by mischievous members of the wedding party. Every precaution had to be taken! No one was to be trusted!


  In the lounge of the women’s locker room, the bride got out of her gown in exactly thirty seconds. (She had taken an hour, more or less, to get into it.) She pushed the wedding dress into the hands of one of the club’s maids and from the hands of another accepted the tweed traveling suit—puce-brown tweed trimmed with black velvet. Because it was imperative that no suspicion of her departure be roused among the guests, the bride was not attended by her mother or by her maid of honor. Her mother and all the bridal attendants remained upstairs at the party, where there was dancing, and where waiters moved about balancing trays of stemmed glasses. At two minutes to nine, the bride ran on tiptoe along a service passageway that connected most of the rooms on the ground floor. She was accompanied now by the elder of the two maids who had assisted in the change from white satin to tweed. This woman was one of the club’s veteran maids, a large, rather middle-aged person who, though she dyed her hair a lemon yellow and rouged her cheeks excessively, was known for her stalwart character and her incorruptibility. In the passageway, the bride chattered nervously to this companion who had been assigned to her. She told how she had written her name in the club’s brides’ book as “Franny Crowell,” having forgotten momentarily that she was now Mrs. Miles Miller. The maid was not a very responsive sort, and said nothing. But this didn’t bother Franny; she went on to say, sometimes laughing while she spoke, that somehow she could not shake off the feeling that it was a pity and a shame to be slipping away from a party given in your own honor.


  In one hand the maid held the key to a door down the passageway that would let the bride into the little boys’ locker room. In the other hand she carried a pair of fur-trimmed galoshes. As they approached the locked door, the maid interrupted Franny’s chatter: “Your father said tell you your fur coat’s in the car, with your corsage pinned to it. He said be careful you don’t sit on it.” Simultaneously the maid held out the galoshes, giving them a little shake that indicated Franny should take them.


  “What are those?” Franny chirped. “They’re not mine.”


  “No, they’re not yours, Mrs. Miller,” said the maid, still pressing them on her.


  “Well, I don’t believe I’ll want them,” Franny said politely.


  “Yes, your mother said so. It’s snowing outside now—a nasty, wet snow, Mrs. Miller.”


  “But they’re not mine, and they’re not Mother’s either . . . How long has it been snowing?” She hoped to change the subject.


  “Two hours off and on, Mrs. Miller. Ever since you got here from the church. It’s not sticking, but there’ll be slush underfoot.”


  “Well, whose are they?”


  “Your mother snitched them from one of the guests—out of the cloakroom. She told me, ‘Something borrowed.’ ”


  Franny burst into laughter and took the galoshes. But she resolved not to put on the ugly things until after Miles had seen her and got the effect of her outfit.


  While the maid fitted the key into the lock, Franny stood with her eyes lifted to the low basement ceiling. She heard the sound of the dancing overhead, and she speculated about which of the dancers upstairs these boots might belong to and thought of the pleasure it was sure to give some childhood friend of hers, or possibly some aunt or some woman friend of her parents, to learn that she had provided the bride with the one item that had been overlooked—the something borrowed.


  Presently the door before her stood open. But Franny’s eyes and thoughts were still directed toward the ceiling. “There you are,” said the maid, obviously provoked by the bride’s inattention.


  Franny lowered her eyes. She looked at the woman beside her with a startled expression. Then she glanced briefly into the shadows of the unlighted locker room. And in the next moment she was clutching frantically at the starched sleeve of the maid’s uniform. “But he is not here!” she exclaimed. Her tone was accusing; she eyed the maid suspiciously. Then, as if on further reflection, she spoke in a bewailing whisper: “He isn’t hee-er!” According to the plan, he was to have been admitted to the little boys’ locker room through a door from the adjoining men’s locker room. But had he ever intended to be there? He was gone! Of course he was! How else would it be? Already Franny was thinking of what kind of poison she would administer to herself, of how she would manage to obtain the poison, of how she would look when they found her.


  “What do you mean ‘not here’?” said the maid, jerking her sleeve free.


  Franny smiled coolly. She knew how she must carry it off. “Maybe I’ll stay on for the party, after all,” she said.


  “What do you mean ‘not here’?” the maid repeated. “He’s standing there before your eyes.”


  Franny looked again, and of course there her bridegroom stood. “I didn’t see him, it’s so dark,” she stammered.


  But, instead of going to the bridegroom, suddenly the bride threw her arms about the woman with the lemon-yellow hair who had delivered her to him. This trustworthy woman had been known to Franny during most of her young life, but she was by no means a favorite of Franny’s. And almost certainly Franny had never been a favorite of the woman’s, either . . . But still it seemed the thing to do. Somehow it was like embracing the whole wedding party or even the whole club membership, or possibly just simply her own mother. And, no doubt, in that moment this woman forgave Franny many an old score—forgave a little girl’s criticism of sandwiches served toasted when they had been ordered untoasted, complaints about a bathing suit’s not having been hung out to dry, and many another complaint besides. At any rate, the woman responded and returned the warm embrace. Then for an instant the two of them smiled at each other through the general mist of tears.


  “Goodbye, little Miss ‘Franny Crowell,’ ” the woman said.


  “Goodbye, Bernice,” said Franny, “and thanks for everything.” Yes, the woman’s name was Bernice. What a bother it had always been, trying to remember it, but now it had come out without Franny’s having to try to think of it even.


  Bernice took several steps backward, as if quitting a royal presence. At a respectful distance she turned her back, and in her white gum-soled shoes she retreated silently down the long service passageway.


  While waiting for the bride to come through the doorway to him, the bridegroom had literally stood dangling his little narrow-brimmed hat, shifting it from one hand to the other. He did not know what to make of that blank look she had given him at first, didn’t know what to make of her saying “He is not here,” didn’t know what to make of her throwing herself into the arms of the hired help instead of into his own . . . The embrace perhaps he understood better than the look. But anyway, she had come to him at last, which was what he wanted most in the world at the moment. Presently he had seated her on one of the rough wooden benches in the locker room and, on his knees before her, he was struggling to push her feet into the borrowed galoshes. Franny had held on to the galoshes through both her embraces, and as soon as she had handed them to Miles and was seated on the bench, she began to chatter again—about the galoshes now, about how her mother had positively stolen “the ugly things” from somebody upstairs.


  It wasn’t easy getting the galoshes on. They were a near-perfect fit, but Franny seemed incapable of being any help. Her little ankles had gone limp, like an absent-minded child’s. But finally Miles managed to force both galoshes on. He zipped them up neatly, and then lifted his face to Franny and smiled. Franny extended one of her tiny gloved hands to him, as if she were going to pull him to his feet. Miles seized it, but he remained on one knee before her, pressing the hand firmly between the two of his. While he knelt there, Franny made a vague gesture with her free hand, a gesture that indicated the whole of the dark locker room. “I’ve never been in here before, Miles,” she said.


  “Neither have I, you know,” Miles said playfully.


  “Oh,” Franny breathed, thoughtfully. “No, you probably haven’t, have you.”


  Now she felt she understood . . . That was why she had not been able to see him there at first. She had never imagined him there. It was because Miles Miller was not one of the local boys she had grown up with, wasn’t one of that familiar group from whose number she had always assumed she would some day accept a husband. He was better than any of those, of course; he was her own, beloved, blue-eyed, black-haired, fascinating Miles Miller, whom she had recognized the first moment she ever saw him as the best-looking man she had ever laid eyes on (or ever would), as the man she must have for hers—and the very same Miles, of course, that at least half a dozen other girls of her year had thought they must have for theirs. Moreover, he was the young man who doesn’t turn up in everybody’s year: the young bachelor from out of town, brought in from a distant region by one of the big corporations to fill a place in its local office, a young man without any local history of teen-age romances to annoy and perhaps worry the bride. And in Miles’s case the circumstances were enhanced still further. He was an only child, and his parents had died while he was still in college. For his bride there would be no parents or brothers and sisters to be visited and adjusted to, and, since he had lived always on the West Coast and gone to Stanford, no prep-school friends, not even—at such a distance—a college roommate to be won over. Once they were married, Franny’s family would be their family, her friends their friends. Besides all this, her Miles was at once the most modest and most self-assured human being imaginable. With one gentle look—gentle and yet reasonable and terribly penetrating—he could make her aware of the utter absurdity of something she said or did, and make her simultaneously aware of how little such absurdities mattered to someone who loved you.


  Franny bent forward and kissed her husband gently on his smiling lips. He came up beside her on the bench, no longer smiling, and took Franny in his arms. For Franny it was as it had always been before—every time he had ever held her in his tender, confident way. It was as though she possessed at last, or was about to possess at last, what she had always wanted above everything else and had never dreamed she wanted—or, that is, never dreamed she wanted in quite the same way she wanted everything else. That was what seemed so incredible to her about it: this desire and this happiness differed only in degree from the other longings and other satisfactions one experienced. There was nothing at all unreal about it. And somehow the most miraculous part was that the man she was going to marry was not the man she had ever imagined herself marrying. On the contrary, he was the frightening stranger of her girlish daydreams—the dark, handsome man she was always going to meet on a train coming home from boarding school at Christmas or during the summer at Lake Michigan. In her daydreams she sometimes even bore that man a child, but there had always had to be a barrier to their marrying. The man was already married (perhaps to an invalid!), or he was a Jew, he was a Catholic—a French Canadian—or he was the foreign agent of a country committed to the destruction of her own country, or (when she was still younger) there was insanity or even a strain of Negro blood in his family! Yet the stranger had turned up after all—after she had almost forgotten him—and there was no barrier.


  Still holding Franny close to him, Miles got to his feet and for a moment lifted his bride completely off the floor. “Franny, oh, ‘little Miss Franny,’ let’s go!” he said. Franny laughed aloud. And to Miles she sounded for all the world like a delighted little girl of four or five. “Let’s be on our way,” he said, still holding her there. “Let’s get out of here.”


  “Carry me to the car, Miles,” she whispered.


  “I will,” he said. “You bet I will. Not this way, though. I’ll set you down and get a good hold and then we’ll dash.”


  But just as Franny’s feet touched the floor, there came a great rattling sound from over toward the door to the terrace. Franny gave a little shriek that came out almost “Aha!” And then, in a quiet voice, in a tone of utter resignation, she said, “They’ve found us.” She meant, of course, that the mischiefmakers had found them. “We’ll never get away.”


  “No, they haven’t, darling,” Miles said impatiently.


  Franny turned away from him. At the far end of the room she saw a man’s figure silhouetted against the glass door to the terrace. She realized at once that the man must be one of the club’s waiters. It was he, she surmised, who had let Miles in from the men’s locker room. He had been present all the while, and actually he was now holding the terrace door a little way open. The rattling noise had, plainly, come from the long Venetian blind on that door. But the source of the rattling no longer interested Franny; she was too angry with Miles for not having told her they weren’t alone.


  Suddenly her impulse was to turn back and deliver Miles a slap across the face. His inference that the waiter’s presence hadn’t mattered was insulting both to herself and to this man who had so faithfully performed the duties assigned him. But before she could turn or speak, Miles had seized her by the hand and the waiter had thrown open the door. Hand in hand, the bride and groom ran the length of the little boys’ locker room. In the excitement of the moment, Miles had forgotten that he was going to carry Franny to the car. It was well for him that he had. Franny consented to let him hold her hand only in order to keep from embarrassing the waiter. Halfway to the door she made out just which of the club’s waiters he was, and she could easily have called him by name. But instead she dropped her eyes, and she kept them lowered even when Miles paused in the doorway to slip a bill into the hand at the end of the white sleeve. In her pique with Miles, she wondered if the bill was of as large a denomination as it ought to be.


  Outside, they ran along the edge of the gaping swimming pool and on in the direction of the tennis courts. Beyond the courts, Miles’s new car was hidden. The wet snow was falling heavily, and it was beginning to stick now. It seemed to Franny that the snow might fill the empty swimming pool before the night was over. They went through the gate into the area of the tennis courts. From there Franny glanced back once at the lighted windows of the low, sprawling clubhouse. Through the snow it seemed miles away. They ran across the courts and through the white shrubbery. Neither of them spoke until they were in the car. By then their rendezvous in the locker room seemed like something that happened too long ago to mention. As Miles was helping her into her coat, and she was carefully protecting the big white orchid that she knew her father had pinned on the coat with his own hands, Franny said, “What are we going to do, Miles? I’m terrified. I hate snow. We can’t get even as far as Bardstown tonight.”


  “Of course we can’t, honey,” he said. He had switched on the car lights and was starting the motor. “We’ll have to stay here in town tonight. I telephoned the hotel a while ago. We’ll have to stay there.”


  They had planned to spend the first night at Bardstown, which in good weather was only a few hours away, down in Kentucky, and where there was an attractive old inn. They had planned to make it to Natchez by the second night, and to be at the Gulf Coast by the third. Franny’s father had urged them to fly down, or to take a train. But they were able to think only of what fun it would be to have their own car once they got to Biloxi. It had been silly of them, they acknowledged now, driving into town through the snow, but they did have the satisfaction of knowing that all planes would be grounded on such a night, anyway. And to both of them the idea of spending their wedding night in a Pullman berth seemed grotesque.


  It took Miles three quarters of an hour to get them through the snow and the traffic to the downtown hotel where he had managed to make reservations. Along the way, he apologized to Franny for putting them up at this particular hotel—the hotel, that is, where he had himself been living during the past year and a half. “As luck would have it,” he explained, “there are two big conventions in town this week. I was lucky to find a room anywhere at all. I hope you don’t mind too much.”


  “Why in the world should I mind?” Franny laughed. “We’re a bona fide married couple now.”


  Yet the moment she had passed through the revolving door into the marble-pillared lobby of the hotel, Franny rested a gloved hand on the sleeve of Miles’s overcoat and said, “I do feel a little funny about it, after all.”


  “I was afraid you might feel funny about it,” Miles said. They stood there a moment waiting for the boy with their luggage to follow them through the revolving door, and Miles began to apologize all over again. “The other hotels were all full up,” he said. “It’s only because I happen to hit it off so well with Bill Carlisle that I was able to get a room here. It wasn’t easy for him even; he’s just the assistant manager. Your father, or almost any of the guys in the wedding, might have found us something better. But it seemed worse, somehow, to have any of them—even your father—know exactly where we’re spending the night, since we can’t get out of town. I guessed you would feel the same way about it.”


  But Franny was not listening to Miles. She had become aware that she was the only woman in the lobby, and the mention of the assistant manager’s name had further distracted her. Bill Carlisle had been invited to the wedding—she recalled addressing his invitation—but he had not been invited to the reception and supper dance. As for her own acquaintance with him, it was very slight. She had known him for a long time, however, and she knew that he knew just about everyone that she did. She interrupted Miles’s apologies to say, “Do we have to see Bill Collier?”


  “Who?” asked Miles.


  “You know—the assistant manager.”


  “Of course we don’t, darling,” he said. “We don’t even have to register. That’s all set.”


  The boy with their luggage had joined them now. Another boy had appeared with their key and was beckoning them to follow him to the elevator. As they crossed the lobby, Franny began laughing to herself. Miles noticed, and asked what was funny.


  “I was wondering,” she said, “do you think he’ll have put us in your room?”


  “Will who have?”


  “You know, your friend Bill—the assistant manager.”


  “At least it won’t be that,” said Miles. “There was someone waiting to take it over when I got the last of my possessions out this morning.”


  “What a shame,” Franny whispered. “It would have been kind of interesting, and no one but Bill Cook need ever have known.”


  “Bill Carlisle’s his name,” Miles said rather petulantly. Then he added, “He’s a pretty nice fellow, in case you don’t know.”


  “Certainly he is,” Franny said with a wink. “I’ve known him for years.”


  Franny stepped into the elevator, followed by Miles. Then the boy with the luggage got in, then the one with the key. Franny observed that both the boys were mature men, and the key boy was even bald-headed. They kept their heads bowed, very courteously, not even looking up when presently they had occasion to speak to each other.


  “Where’s Jack?” the luggage boy asked quietly.


  “He’s coming,” said the key boy.


  “Who’s Jack?” Franny asked Miles.


  Thinking the question directed to him, the luggage boy replied, “He’s the elevator boy.” As he spoke, he glanced up at Franny. Probably he thought it was demanded of him. Unlike the key boy, he had a heavy head of hair, as dark and thick as Miles’s own, and the face he lifted was youthful, almost handsome even, with a broad jaw and black, rather cruel eyes that seemed brimming with energy. As soon as he looked up he realized his mistake and bent his head again. But he had reminded Franny of someone—someone she didn’t like. Or did like. Which was it? She couldn’t think who it was, and felt vaguely that she didn’t want to. And what would Jack, the elevator operator, be like, she wondered, when he turned up? Somehow she was sure he would be a redhead. Presently he would come running; he would hop into the elevator, close the door, push the button, and there she would be, locked in the elevator with Miles and with the three men in their dark-green livery and with the heap of luggage, and the elevator would shoot them up to their floor and stop with a sickening little bounce. She wished Miles would say something!


  “Jack seems to have gotten lost,” Miles said. Franny burst out laughing.


  Immediately, Jack appeared, as if from nowhere. He was a Negro boy, but with light skin and a reddish tint to his hair.


  Franny was conscious of Jack’s arrival, and conscious of the color of his hair, but at the same time her real attention had been caught by a figure out in the lobby. It was the figure of a woman, and she was moving swiftly across the lobby toward this elevator, making her way between the heavier figures of the conventioners in their tweed overcoats and gray fedoras. (Most of them, it seemed to Franny, were smoking cigars, the way conventioners were supposed to.) The woman was wearing a navy-blue topcoat and hat, and carried an oversize handbag. “Wait!” Franny said to the elevator boy.


  “What do you mean, ‘Wait’?” Miles asked.


  “Don’t you see who that is trying to catch us?” Franny said, rising on her toes.


  “I see who it is, but you don’t know her, and I can promise you I don’t either.”


  One of the hotel boys snorted, but he cut it off so short Franny couldn’t tell for sure which of them it was. She suspected the bald-headed one.


  “It’s Bernice! The maid from the club!” Franny tried to recall whether she had forgotten anything essential. No, the woman must have an urgent message for her. Her father or her mother had been taken ill, or there had been some disaster at the club—a fire perhaps. She remembered distinctly having left a cigarette burning in the women’s lounge.


  “It’s no such thing,” Miles was saying. “Let’s go, Jack!”


  The woman was close enough now for Franny to see it was not Bernice. The long stride and the yellow hair sticking out from under the hat had deceived her. But she should have known, shouldn’t she, that Bernice could not have worn such heels.


  The elevator door was closing right in the woman’s face, and even if the woman wasn’t Bernice, this was more than Franny could bear. “Stop it!” she commanded, utterly outraged by the ungallant behavior of these men. “There’s room for another person, easily!”


  The boys looked at Miles. “Let the lady in,” Miles thundered.


  Jack slid the door open. But the woman hesitated. With a swift glance she seemed to have taken in every aspect of the situation—that it was a bride and groom she was intruding upon, that the bride had insisted upon holding the car for her, that the groom had protested. She now signaled Jack to go on without her, but with Miles’s thundering command still in his ears Jack made no move to do so. Miles kept silent. And so did Franny, who in a last-minute glance as swift as the woman’s had taken in her total situation—that she was a middle-aged prostitute late for an engagement. There was but one solution to the awful silence and to the irresolution of the elevator boy. The woman stepped into the elevator and abruptly turned her back to the other passengers.


  As the car shot upward, Jack asked with easy nonchalance, “Your floor, please?”


  Again there was silence. Finally Miles said, “What’s our floor?”


  The key boy looked up, showing his full face for the first time—eyes set close together, a small, puffy nose, ears flat against the bald head. Franny thought it the stupidest, most brutal face she had ever set eyes on. “Your floor is eight, Mr. Miller,” he said, barely opening his swollen lips when he spoke.


  After a moment Jack repeated, “Your floor, please?”


  The woman now turned her face toward the elevator boy so that Franny saw her profile. Her face was plain—neither homely nor otherwise, really—and seemed devoid of expression. Only the fact that she had turned her face toward him showed that she knew the boy expected an answer from her. It occurred to Franny that in her agitation this poor creature had forgotten what floor she was going to. At last, and as if with great effort, she did speak. “Seven for me,” she said.


  With a long, bony forefinger Jack stabbed the seventh-floor button. The elevator stopped almost at once, and the door slid open. The woman stepped out into the hallway, where there was a broad mirror facing her between two metal cigarette urns. Instead of turning to left or right she stopped here just outside the elevator, and for one instant her pale eyes met Franny’s in the glass. Then the door closed quietly between them.


  Franny had not been aware of a bouncing sensation when the elevator stopped at that floor. But when it stopped at the floor above, the sensation so upset her equilibrium that she felt positively faint. Her two feet in their fur-trimmed galoshes seemed chilled to numbness. She felt that if she tried to take one step down the hallway in the direction of the bridal chamber her knees might buckle underneath her. She wondered how she would ever manage it.


  


  To Miles Miller, his bride had seemed not herself at all, from the time they met in the shadows of the locker room at the country club until at last they were alone in the hotel room. But her confusion and nervousness were very understandable, he reasoned, in view of the upsetting change in their plans. And once they were alone in the room, she was indeed very much herself again. She was once again the vivacious, unaffected, ingenuous little being he had decided to marry after talking to her for five minutes during an intermission at a big debut party last year. From the beginning, Miles had felt that he appreciated her special brand of innocence and even artlessness as no one else ever before had. One thing he had determined when he left college and entered upon his career in business was that he would not be the sort—the type—to marry the boss’s daughter and further his career that way. He detested that type. He extended this pledge to himself even to include the daughters of prominent and influential men who might indirectly help him in his career. He extended it even to cover all the debutantes he had ever met or would ever meet. He had had no definite ideas about where he would find his wife, except one idea that was so childish he laughed at it himself: He had thought of meeting a perfectly unspoiled girl while vacationing in an unspoiled countryside—perhaps in the highland South, perhaps even somewhere in Europe. He had thought particularly of Switzerland. But when thinking more realistically, Miles told himself simply that he would not marry for the sake of his business or social advancement. His marriage and his family life must be something altogether apart from his career.


  And then, in his twenty-sixth year, he had met Franny Crowell and had had a wonderful insight. Franny was, in a most important sense, as beautifully innocent and provincial as any little mountain girl might have been. She delighted in her surroundings, accepted her relation to them without question, and would be content to remain where she was and as she was for the rest of her life. She had been practically nowhere away from home. For two years she went to boarding school in Virginia but hated dormitory life and thought it silly of girls to go East to college when they could be so much more comfortable staying at home. She had herself attended the local city university for two years and had relished meeting different kinds of people from her own home town. True, she had spent most of her summers at a resort on Lake Michigan, but even there most of her companions had been the same people she went to school with at home during the winter. Miles Miller recognized in Franny Crowell the flaxen-haired mountain girl of his childish imaginings. Her outward appearance might deceive the world but never him. She arranged her golden-brown hair always in the very latest, most sophisticated fashions. Last summer she had even let the beauty parlor put a blond streak in her hair. She plucked her eyebrows, even penciled them. The shade of her lipstick paled or darkened according to whatever was newest. But Miles perceived that all of this was as innocent and natural in his Franny as plaiting flaxen pigtails might have been.


  Miles and Franny had agreed in advance that they should each have only one glass of champagne at the club on their wedding night. But among the bags that they had had brought into the hotel was Miles’s genuine Gucci liquor case—a present from the men at his office. Packed with ice in the plastic compartment of the elaborate leather case were two bottles of champagne of a somewhat earlier and better year than that offered the guests by the bride’s father. And into Franny’s make-up bag she had managed to fit two of their very own champagne glasses. Together they had thought of everything.


  In their hotel room, they spent the first half hour making toasts. They drank to Betty Manville’s debut ball, where they had met, drank to their first date, to their first kiss, to the night he first proposed, to the night she accepted, to the night of the announcement party. Each toast had to be followed by a kiss. Each kiss inspired and motivated another reminiscence. Finally, they turned to toasting people whom they associated with events of their courtship. Since Franny was a talented and tireless mimic, Miles encouraged her to “do” each of these people. She “did” Betty Manville’s mother, her own father, and then one of her bridesmaids, who had once upon a time imagined she was going to have Miles Miller for herself. This last was the funniest of all to Miles. He was seated on the side of the bed, leaning on one elbow, and when he had witnessed Franny’s version of that poor, misguided girl, he set his champagne glass on the floor and fell back on the bed in a spasm of laughter. He threshed about, still laughing aloud, and all the while wiping tears from his eyes and begging Franny to stop.


  When Franny promised to stop, Miles got control of himself and sat up in the center of the bed. Wiping his eyes with his handkerchief, he looked up again and found Franny sitting on the side of the bed with her thumb pressed against her nose so hard that her little nose was flattened on her face. Her eyes were squinted up and her mouth, which was normally small and tight, was stretched and spread into a wide ribbon across her face. “You know who this is?” she asked, barely moving her lips.


  “I’m glad to say I don’t,” Miles said, as if offended by her ugliness.


  “Oh, you do,” Franny insisted.


  “I don’t, and it’s not very attractive.”


  “Of course it’s not attractive,” said Franny, keeping the thumb pressed against her nose. “It’s that bald-headed bellboy, the one with the key.”


  “What’s wrong with him?” Miles said, swinging his feet around to the other side of the bed and thus momentarily turning his back to Franny.


  “You don’t have to turn your back,” Franny said. “See, it’s still only me.”


  Miles looked around and smiled apologetically. Franny’s face was her own again, and she was looking down at her hands very seriously. “Weren’t all three of those bellboys grotesque?” she said.


  “I don’t think so,” Miles said. “They’re perfectly normal-looking human beings. I see them every day.”


  “Normal-looking!” Franny exclaimed, lifting her eyes to his. “How can you say so? The bald-headed one was really monstrous. And the one with the mop of hair had a really mad look in his eyes. And that pale Negro boy with the kinky red hair! How blind you are to people, Miles. You don’t really see them.”


  “Maybe not,” said Miles, meaning to dismiss the subject, since Franny seemed so emotional about it. Turning now, he let himself fall across the bed toward her, and again he took one of her hands between the two of his. But before he could speak the endearment he intended, something else occurred to him that he felt must be said first. It was in defense of his vision, or—he couldn’t define it—in defense of something even more specially his own that had been disparaged. “Anyway,” he said, “you must admit that not one of those bellhops was half as weird-looking as that painted-up creature you had your hug fest with when we were leaving the club. After the elevator ride, I don’t have to tell you what she looked like.” Though they had been in the room for more than half an hour, this was the first reference either of them had made to the woman in the elevator.


  Franny withdrew her hand and stood up.


  Miles said, “We’re not going to quarrel about something so silly on our wedding night, are we?”


  Franny was silent for a moment. Her eyes moved about the room as if taking it in for the first time. Then she bent over and kissed Miles on the top of his head. “We aren’t ever going to quarrel again, are we, Miles?”


  “Never,” he said. He reached out a hand, but she pulled away. “Come back,” he said in a whisper.


  “Not until I’ve slipped into something more—more right.” She smiled vaguely.


  Miles lay with his head propped on one hand and watched her go to her little overnight bag and take out the folds of lace and peach silk that were her negligee and gown. Suddenly he leaped from the bed with outstretched arms. But the bride dashed through the open doorway to the bathroom and closed the door.


  


  Miles had long since changed into his blue silk pajamas with the white monogram on the pocket when he saw the first turning and twisting of the doorknob. When Franny failed to appear at once—that is, when the knob ceased its twisting and the bathroom door didn’t open—his vexation showed itself momentarily in one little horizontal crease in his smooth forehead. But the moment was so brief that even his eyes didn’t reflect it, and soon a sly little smile came to his lips . . . He would give her a signal that all was ready and waiting, and at the same time give her motivation and courage. Stepping over to the dresser he uncorked the second bottle of champagne. He managed it very expertly, taking satisfaction in his expertness. The pop was loud enough for Franny to hear and comprehend, yet there was not one bubble of wasteful overflow. The tiny golden bubbles came just to the mouth of the champagne bottle and no farther. Miles had not even taken the precaution of having the two glasses handy. He was expert and he was confident of his expertness.


  He watched the first bubbles appear and then shot a glance across the room at the doorknob. It was turning again. He stepped over to where the two glasses were, on the bedside table, filled them, and then returned the bottle to its ice. Still no Franny. But the doorknob was now turning back and forth rather rapidly. Miles watched it as if hypnotized. Finally he uttered a tentative “Franny?” There was no response except in the acceleration of the knob’s turning. “Franny?” he repeated, striding toward the door. “What’s the matter?” Still no answer. The turning was frenzied now. “Franny, do you hear me? What are you doing?”


  “Of course I hear you!” Franny exclaimed through the door. “I’m trying to get out of here, you fool!”


  Miles seized the knob and gave it a forceful twist.


  “That’s not going to help,” said Franny, resentful of the overpowering yank to the knob she had been holding on to.


  “The thing must be locked,” Miles said, astonished. “Why did you lock it?”


  Franny was silent. Then said, “I didn’t lock it.”


  “Well, I didn’t.” Miles laughed. “Anyway, try unlocking it.”


  “Do you think I haven’t already?”


  “What kind of lock is it? Is there a key?”


  “No. It’s one of those damned little eggs you turn.”


  “But why on earth would you have locked it?”


  “If I did it, Miles, I did it without thinking.”


  Miles was now trying to see the bolt through the crack of the door. “But why would you?” he said absently.


  “Why would I what?”


  “Lock it without thinking.”


  “All decent people lock bathroom doors,” she said with conviction.


  “We didn’t at our house,” Miles said. He could definitely see the bolt through the crack. “My father used to throw away the key to the bathroom door as soon as we moved into a place.”


  “Don’t start on your father now, Miles.”


  “My father was all right.”


  “Who said he wasn’t? Do something, Miles, for God’s sake.”


  “There’s nothing to do but call the desk and have them take down the door.”


  Franny, who had for a moment been leaning against the rim of the washbowl, now straightened and grasped the doorknob again. “Miles, you wouldn’t!”


  “Don’t go to pieces, Franny.”


  “You’d let them send up those three stooges—”


  Miles burst into laughter.


  “How coarse you are, Miles,” Franny said, her voice deepening.


  “Oh, honey, there’s a regular maintenance crew, and—”


  “Maybe so,” she broke in, her voice climbing the scale till it was much higher than Miles had ever heard it before. “But don’t you know, Miles, that Bill Carlisle would certainly know about it? Oh, God, everybody in this town would know about it before tomorrow morning!”


  “In God’s name, Franny, what do you propose I do?”


  “What kind of man are you, Miles? Take the door down yourself. You’ve been living in this hotel so long you depend on them for everything. You seem to think the world’s just one big hotel and that you call in the maintenance crew for any and every thing.”


  “O.K., Franny, I’ll try,” Miles said amiably. “But have you ever tried taking down a locked door?”


  “Why did you have to bring me to this dump?” Franny wailed.


  “And why did you have to lock the door?” he countered.


  Now they were both silent as Miles went to the closet door where his Valpak hung, and dug out a small gold pocketknife. His first effort to remove the pin in the upper door hinge was fruitless. The pin wouldn’t budge. Neither would the pin in the lower hinge. He decided he needed a hammer to drive the knife blade upward against the heads of the pins, and he was just turning to go and fetch his shoe for that purpose when Franny spoke again.


  “Miles,” she began, speaking very slowly and in a tone so grave that it stopped him, “do you remember that night at Cousin Jane Thompson’s party?”


  He listened, waiting for her to continue. Then he realized she expected some response from him. “Yes, Franny,” he said.


  “That night at Cousin Jane’s,” she now went on in the same sepulchral tone, “when you said Sue Maynard’s date was drunk and that she asked you to take her home.” Sue Maynard was the bridesmaid who had thought she would have Miles for herself. Miles had been a stag at the party that night.


  “Yes, I remember.”


  “You were lying.”


  “In a way, Franny—”


  “In the worst way,” she said flatly. “You thought I would think it was just Sue’s lie and that you didn’t know better, or that you knew better but were too honorable to give her away.”


  “Maybe.”


  “That’s how you thought I would think. But I knew even that night, Miles Miller, that you engineered it all. Her date was Puss Knowlton, and you had no trouble giving him the shove. And don’t you think I know it’s more than just necking that Sue Maynard goes in for? . . . And, Miles, the night last summer, after we were engaged, when you couldn’t come for dinner at our house with Daddy’s Aunt Caroline because of the report you had to write up—you didn’t have any report to write up, Miles. You went someplace out on the South Side with a little creature named Becky Louise Johnson.”


  By the time Franny had finished, Miles had silently crossed the room to the bedside table and downed one of the two waiting glassfuls of champagne. He had listened intently to what she said, and the more he heard the more intent he had become on getting that damned door down. In his liquor case he found a bottle opener that he decided would work better than his knife. He returned to the door with his shoe and the bottle opener, and in no time he had the top pin out of its hinge.


  “Miles—” Franny began again, still in the same tone.


  “Shut up, Franny!” Miles said, and at once began hammering at the lower pin. It offered a little more resistance than the other, but was soon dislodged. The door was still firmly in place, however. Twice Miles jabbed the bottle opener into the crack on the hinge side, as though he might prize the door open. Then he laughed aloud at himself.


  Franny heard him laugh, of course. “Is it funny? Is it really funny to you, Miles?” she said.


  “Try giving it a push from in there, on the hinge side of the door,” said Miles. Franny pushed. The door creaked, but that was all.


  “Miles,” Franny began once again, in a whisper now, and he could tell that she was leaning against the door and speaking into the crack. “I’ve thought of something else I’ve never confronted you with.”


  Miles felt the blood rush to his face. Suddenly he banged on the door with his fist. “Will you shut up, you little bitch! You know, I’m not above socking you in earnest if ever I get you out of there!”


  “You would sock me just one time, Miles Miller.”


  “It would be the second time. Don’t you forget that,” he said.


  They were really at it now, for he was reminding her of an occasion two days after their announcement party when he had found her kissing a college kid whose name he did not even know. He had struck her with his open hand on the back of her neck—not while she was kissing the kid but afterward, as he pushed her along the terrace there at the Polo Club. He had had too much to drink that night, and that was what saved them. Franny could claim that he had deserted her in favor of the bar. She also claimed that she had not really been kissing the boy and added that, anyway, he was an old, old, old friend and therefore meant nothing to her. They hardly spoke to each other during the week following, though of course they continued going about together. And until now they had neither of them ever referred to the incident, as if by mutual agreement.


  “You’re no gentleman, Miles,” Franny pronounced, carefully keeping away from the door now. “As Daddy said of you to start with, you have all the outward signs of a gentleman but that’s no evidence you’re one inside.”


  “I’ve already settled your father’s hash, Franny.”


  “You mean he’s settled yours.”


  It was an unfortunate word—“settled.” And both of them were aware of it immediately. It quieted both of them for some time. It referred to another incident that was assumed to be closed. Franny’s father had apparently suspected Miles of being a fortune hunter, and before the engagement was announced he had asked Miles frankly what kind of “settlement” he expected. Miles had stormed out of the house, and was reconciled with Mr. Crowell only after having it hammered home to him by Franny that what her father had done was merely the conventional, old-fashioned thing for a man in Mr. Crowell’s position to do. Miles had finally accepted Franny’s explanation, but only a few weeks ago he had had another stormy session over a similar matter. This time it was with both the bride’s parents. At that very late date he had learned about certain letters of inquiry that had been sent out concerning his “background.” The letters had been written to various family friends and relatives of the Crowells who had lived for many years in Santa Barbara and Laguna Beach. When Miles learned of these letters through a remark of Franny’s, it was many months after the letters had been written and replied to. The revelation sent Miles into a rage. He was in such a state that Franny feared he might do real violence to her father, or even to her mother, who had actually written the letters.


  She had let the cat out of the bag inadvertently. She and he were just going out to a movie one night. Franny had come down to the living room already wearing her coat and even with her gloves on, but Miles had wanted to linger and talk awhile. Before she came down, he had wandered about the room studying some family photographs taken thirty years before. These “portraits,” in their upright frames on the mantelshelf and on the various tables, had reminded him of pictures in his own family’s living room when he was growing up. He commenced talking to Franny about how his mother always placed the same pictures on the same tables and bureaus no matter where they were living, and then he went on to speak, as he had on several previous occasions, of how restless his father had been after he left the service. (Miles’s father had been a West Point graduate and had remained in the army until he had his first heart attack, just a few months before Pearl Harbor.) And now, as Miles had already done several times before, he began listing for Franny the towns they had lived in during and after the war. Franny, who was impatient to get on to the movie, didn’t listen very carefully. When Miles hesitated, trying to think of which town it was he had omitted from his list, Franny absent-mindedly supplied “Palo Alto.” But it was not Palo Alto he was trying to think of; it was San Jose.


  “Palo Alto?” said Miles. “How did you know we ever lived in Palo Alto?”


  “You’ve told me all this before,” she answered.


  But he had not told her about the spring in Palo Alto! It was then that his parents had quarreled so endlessly, though he—and probably they—had never known just why. At any rate, he was always careful to leave Palo Alto out of his catalogue of towns. And he was not content now until he had wrung a confession of the whole business of the letters of inquiry out of Franny. Once she had confessed, he insisted upon taking the matter up with her parents that very night; he insisted upon seeing the letters. For a time, Mrs. Crowell maintained that she had already thrown away the letters. But at last she broke down. She went upstairs and returned with the packet of letters, all of which Miles read, sitting there in the family circle. He had known there couldn’t be anything really bad in them, because just as there was nothing very good that could be said of his parents, there was nothing very bad, either. The worst the letters said of them was that they were “rootless people and apparently of restricted means.” Miles found he could not even resent one lady’s description of his mother as a “harmless little woman—pleasant enough—with a vague Southern background.” The letters repeated each other with phrases like “thoroughly nice” and “well bred” and “well behaved.” The sole reference to Palo Alto was “I think they lived at Palo Alto for a time. John’s sister Laura met them there. She thought Major Miller very handsome. He had a small black mustache, if I recall.”


  The memory of all this and of the “settlement” episode occupied Miles’s mind as he crossed the hotel room and picked up the glass of champagne that he had poured for Franny. The champagne had gone flat already, but he relished its flatness. He sipped it slowly, as if tasting in each sip a different unpleasant incident or aspect of their courtship and engagement—tasting all they had not tasted and toasted with the first bottle. Suddenly he put down the glass, leaving still a sip or two in the bottom, and stepped quickly over to the bathroom door. “Franny,” he said, “it has just occurred to me! It wasn’t your father’s idea to talk about a settlement with me. You put him up to it! It was you who thought I might be after your family’s money! If it had been your father’s idea, he wouldn’t have been so meek and mild when I called his hand. And, by God, you put your mother up to writing those letters, or she never would have given in and shown them to me.”


  He waited for Franny’s denial, but none came. “And, Franny,” he went on after a moment, “there’s one more thing I know that you didn’t know I knew. Your father went down to my office and asked about the likelihood of my staying on here or being transferred.”


  “I knew he did that, Miles.”


  “Darn right you knew it. You put him up to that, too. You didn’t even want to take a chance on my moving you away from here.” But before he had finished his last sentence, Miles heard the water running full force into the bathtub. “Franny, I’m not finished!” he shouted. “What are you doing?”


  “If you don’t get this door down within ten minutes”—she was speaking through the crack again—“and get it down without having Bill Carlisle up here to witness it, I’m going to drown myself in the damned bathtub.”


  As a matter of fact, she had begun running the water to drown out Miles’s accusations, but as she spoke she became convinced that suicide really had been her original intention.


  “Yes,” Miles boomed, “you drown yourself in the bathtub and I’ll jump out our eighth-floor window! Romeo and Juliet, that’s us!”


  Franny shut off the water. She opened her mouth to reply, but no words came. She burst into tears. And the poor little bride could not herself have said whether her tears were brought on by the heavy irony and sarcasm of her groom or by the thought of her dear Miles and her dear self lying dead in their caskets with their love yet unfulfilled.


  


  Almost at once Miles began pleading with her not to cry. But it seemed that his every word brought increased volume to the wailing beyond the bathroom door. It was as if she had decided she could more effectively drown out the sound of his voice with tears than with the rush of bath water. But actually it wasn’t the sound of her bridegroom’s voice alone that she wished not to hear. There was the sound of another voice—other voices. She had first become aware of the other voices during one of hers and Miles’s silences. Which silence she couldn’t have said, because for some time afterward she tried to believe that she had only imagined hearing the other voices, or at least imagined that they sounded as near to her as they did. Finally, though, the persistence of the voices drew her attention to the fact of the other door. The other door, she finally acknowledged, must certainly lead into an adjoining room. And the voices—a man’s and a woman’s—came to her from that room. And now the ever-increasing volume of her own wailing was meant to conceal from herself that the woman’s voice was addressing her directly through that door.


  “Honey, I think we can help you.” The offer was unmistakable.


  “No, you can’t, no, you can’t!” Franny wailed.


  “The gentleman in here thinks he is pretty good with locks.”


  “No, no, please don’t come in here,” Franny begged, too frightened, too perplexed for more tears now.


  “Franny, what’s going on?” Miles seemed on the verge of tears himself. “Darling, I’ll get a doctor, you’ll be all right!”


  “Miles, there’s another door.”


  “Yes?”


  “And there’s someone over there. Oh, Miles, make them go away.”


  “Keep your head, Franny. What do they want?”


  “It’s a woman. She says there’s a man in there who can get me out of here.”


  “You do want to get out, don’t you, Franny?” It was as though he were speaking to someone on a window ledge.


  “Not that way, I don’t,” said Franny. Now she was whispering through the door crack. “Miles, their voices sound familiar!”


  “Now, Franny, cut it out!” scolded Miles, and Franny understood his full meaning. For a moment she listened to the other voices. From the start the man’s voice had been no more than a low mumbling. He didn’t want his voice recognized! The woman spoke more distinctly. Franny could hear them now discussing the problem. Presently the man said something and laughed. And the woman said, “Hush, the kid will hear you.” Somehow this gave Franny courage. She stepped over to the other door and said bravely, “Will you help me?”


  Hearing her, Miles gave a sigh of relief. Then he said, “Ask them to let me come around into their room—and help.”


  “Will you let my—my husband come around into your room?”


  She heard them deliberating. The man was opposed. Finally, the woman said, “No. He can come and meet you outside our hall door if we get this one open.”


  She repeated this to Miles.


  “Tell them O.K.,” he commanded.


  “O.K.,” said Franny softly.


  Now the man and woman were at the door. The man was still mumbling. “Is there a latch on your side?” the woman asked.


  “Yes,” said Franny. “A little sort of knob.”


  “Tell her to turn it,” the man muttered.


  “Turn it,” said the woman.


  Franny turned it. It moved easily. “I have,” she said. She watched the big doorknob revolving, but the door didn’t open. There was more discussion on the other side of the door.


  “It’s locked with a key,” said the woman to Franny. “But that’s how he’s going to make hisself useful.” Franny’s deliverer was hard at work. She couldn’t tell whether it was a skeleton key or some makeshift instrument he was using. Presently, she heard the click of the lock and heard the man say, “That’s got it.”


  “Miles!” Franny called out. But Miles didn’t answer. He was already waiting at their neighbors’ hall door. There was the sound of footsteps hurriedly retreating, and then the door opened. The room itself was in darkness, but in the light from the bathroom Franny could see the man’s figure outlined on the bed. The sheet was pulled up over his face. Franny looked at the woman. She was fully dressed, though barefoot, and she stood smiling at the ridiculous sight in the bed and probably at the memory of the male figure’s racing across the room and jumping into the bed and pulling the sheet over its head.


  “You’re an angel,” Franny said, without having known she was going to say it.


  The woman acknowledged the compliment only by allowing the smile to fade from her lips. “He’ll get up from there and try to open the other door for you in a minute,” she said.


  Franny gave her a grateful smile, and then she turned and walked with perfect poise toward the hall door. Her peach negligee was floor-length and its little train of lace swept gracefully along the dark carpet. When her hand was on the doorknob, she turned and said simply, “Good night.” She might have been at home, turning to say a casual good night to her mother.


  In the hallway, Miles had waited, fully expecting to have to carry his bride back to their room in his arms. When she appeared he was stunned by her radiance and self-possession. He had never seen her so beautiful. And Franny was equally stunned by Miles’s manly beauty as he stood before her in his blue silk pajamas. For a moment they stood there beaming at one another. Finally, Miles slipped his arm gently about his bride’s waist and hurried her off to their room.


  They found their bathroom door standing half open, and the door beyond it tightly closed. The two heavy pins still lay on the floor, but Miles quickly slipped them into the hinges. The door was now in perfect working order. Miles stood a moment gazing into the bright bathroom where Franny’s clothes were heaped in one corner like a child’s. “Well,” he said at last, “that fellow worked fast.”


  “Miles,” said Franny, also looking into the bathroom but with her eyes focused on the door opposite, “did you see who it was?”


  “What do you mean?”


  “The woman over there—she was the woman on the elevator.”


  “Franny, Franny! . . . She got off at the seventh floor! How could you forget?”


  “And the man—” Franny began.


  “Franny, Franny, Franny,” Miles interrupted, already having left her side to fetch the champagne glasses and refill them. “The man in that room is one of the conventioners from out of town. You never heard his voice or saw him before in your life.”


  She had been going to say that the man in the bed was Bill Carlisle. But she saw it was useless. And she knew she would never say it now. Miles came toward her slowly with the two glasses filled to the brim. They sipped their champagne, looking at one another over the glasses. In their hearts, both of them were glad they had said all the things that they said through the door. As they gazed deep into each other’s eyes, they believed that they had got all of that off their chests once and for all. There was nothing in the world to come between them now. They believed, really and truly, that neither of them would ever deceive or mistrust the other again. Silently they were toasting their own bliss and happiness, confident that it would never again be shadowed by the irrelevances of the different circumstances of their upbringings or by the possibly impure and selfish motives that had helped to bring them together.


  Nerves


  


  IT WAS pure chance that he and I had happened to sit down on the same bench in Centennial Park. I can’t remember which of us was there first. Each had his own newspaper, and I am sure we’d have kept behind our papers if each of us had not had a small son playing some fifty or sixty feet away. The two little boys were not playing together, and they were hardly aware of each other, I suppose, but both were hopping about rather carelessly on the wide cement steps that go up to the Parthenon—that is to say, the stucco replica of that edifice, which serves as one of Nashville’s museums. Each of us had had to call out two or three times to his charge before there was any direct exchange between us. “Watch it there!” was my phrase, or sometimes merely “Look out!” His admonitions were more succinct than mine, but somehow they sounded softer and more old-fashioned, too. For him it was simply “Oh-oh!” or “Mind!”


  My first impression was that he was an older man than I. But that is a mistake I’m always making. From the long spiel he gave me presently, and which I am going to set down, I now judge that he must have been born in Nashville at about the same time I was—during the First World War, or not long before. From what he was to say, I gather, too, that he had always lived near the park and was still living somewhere in that neighborhood. It was a Saturday morning, and probably his wife was shopping in one of the supermarkets that have gone up over on West End Avenue. As for me, I was only back home on a visit. I had taken my son to the park while my wife went to call on an old-maid aunt who had never liked men or small children.


  It happened finally, as it was almost bound to do, that we both called out at the very same moment.


  “Watch out there!”


  “Mind!”


  The result was that we opened our conversation by making apologies for our nervousness about the two boys. Modern parents, we agreed, were much too protective for their children’s own good. Children ought to be left to learn something from the school of hard knocks, we said. And after saying that, we managed to restrain ourselves and called out to the boys no more. Nobody was ever so nervous about us, we said. But we agreed also that it was not our fathers or even our mothers who had taken us to Centennial Park. It was always some colored nurse. From this we got on the subject of how the park had changed, noting especially the disappearance of the Japanese garden. Only one small pagoda and one of the pretty arched footbridges remained, though here and there were heaps of rocks with broken mortar sticking to them to remind us how it had all been in our day. It seemed too bad. Did he happen to know, I asked, if the garden had been done away with during the war—because of Pearl Harbor, perhaps?


  He didn’t know. He couldn’t remember when it had gone. Then, as if still thinking about this question, he turned his head and gazed back toward the heavy rush of traffic that was coursing along West End Avenue. It was, so far as I could make out, that chance turn of his head that brought on the totally unexpected and, I think, quite remarkable speech he then delivered. It was the sight of the traffic that seemed actually to set him off, but I believe he never could have arrived where he finally did without the silent prompting and encouragement that I gave him—without what was really my participation in everything he brought forth. I became so absorbed in what he was saying and in my own speculations about what he would say next that there may even have been moments when my lips moved to form the words as he spoke them.


  “I remember very well, don’t you,” he began, in the most leisurely and casual tone imaginable, “when the streetcars ran along Broad Street and all the way out West End? There was nowhere you couldn’t go on a streetcar when you and I were growing up. And streetcars had their points; they were lovely things in their way.” He paused here, and, with his eyes fixed momentarily on the toe of one of his shoes, he smiled rather foolishly and even apologetically. Then presently he looked up and let his eyes meet mine directly. After that, he continued. And he did not interrupt himself again. “My own father remembered the days of mule cars,” he went on, “though, of course, my father was still a small boy when the trolleys went up. But my grandfather, he remembered the mule cars very well indeed, and used to ride them to town every day. The old man—my grandfather—used to say, ‘I never thought I would see the town change so much in my lifetime.’ But I say the same nowadays. And I say, like him, no change can be altogether for the good. I say streetcars were really beautiful things in their way.


  “There was a life lived on streetcars that isn’t lived anymore. One time, my mother made me get up and give my seat to a Negro woman we didn’t even know. Not that my mother had any modern ideas, and not that it was any more than I ought to have done. But it was something that could happen then and that couldn’t happen now, or wouldn’t be the same thing if it did. The woman was tired, my mother said. She had likely been on her feet all day in somebody’s kitchen and was no doubt going home to cook another dinner for her own family, whereas Mother and I were only going out to see a picture show. Another time, when I was somewhat older and able to ride around town alone, a skinny old mountain woman touched me on the shoulder and made me get up and give her my place. After she sat down, she tried to sell me some berries she had in a basket. When I refused, shaking my head and carefully turning my eyes away from her, she laughed out at me and said, ‘Anyways I’m proud to have your seat.’ I was such a city boy that I didn’t know what she meant by ‘proud’ until later, when I asked at home.


  “I grew up riding streetcars to school and back. One time, I played hooky from school and took the car that went to the Glendale Zoo, though I never got that far. Something awful happened. At first, I thought the car had jumped the rails. But it was worse than that. A small boy had wandered out onto the tracks. I heard someone say, ‘It’s a child!’ And I couldn’t stop myself. I whirled about and I saw the mess back there. Or maybe I imagined I saw it. Because I’d hardly turned when a big hand was slapped over my eyes. It was broad and calloused, and it was distinctly and agreeably cool to the touch. From the feel of it, I knew at once whose hand it was! It belonged to the workman in overalls who had sat across the aisle from me. And presently he pulled me around so roughly that I cried out ‘Hey!’ When I got free of his hand and gaped up at him, I thought I could tell from the look in his eyes that he knew I was playing hooky that day. But of course it wasn’t that. ‘What you want to look at it for?’ he said. ‘And what are you waiting for, boy? You git off this thing, and you head out for home, and don’t you look back once!’ I did just what he told me. He was a man and I was a boy, and I thought I had to.


  “Things happened on streetcars that couldn’t happen now. Why, the governor of the state himself used to ride downtown to the capitol every day—right in the car with everybody else. Once (it was a long time ago), the governor and the governor-elect sat side by side going to town one morning. It may have been in the days of mule cars, but no matter. The young governor-elect, in his pride, sat up very straight, showing everybody how much taller he was than the old governor, who was on the dumpy side. But just before they got to town, the young governor-elect turned toward the window beside him and spat tobacco juice. He had thought the window was open, and it turned out not to be. Everybody was watching. They say the old governor laughed until he cried.


  “My grandfather who remembered the mule cars so well said that the mule cars weren’t really very different from the electrics. Only not quite so noisy. He liked the noise, though. It gave him a sense of privacy, he said. With all that noise, he could talk out loud to himself without feeling such a fool. I remember his doing it, too. After he got to be very, very old and couldn’t even hear a peal of thunder, he claimed he could still hear the rumbling of the streetcars from up in his room at night. And it comforted him to know they were still running out there on the West End. I suppose it was somehow comforting to know that there were people out there awake with him when the rest of us in the house were asleep.


  “And certain strange things happened on streetcars, which you may have heard about and which you may or may not believe in. Banshees and ordinary ghosts and headless men were known to appear on the late-night runs. Mr. Ben Allen, the famous Nashville spiritualist, after he’d been dead for thirty years, got on one night at the reservoir and rode the Eighth Avenue car to Douglas Corners. Before he alighted, he went up and down the aisle shaking hands with all the other passengers, some of whom had known him as children and remembered what a friendly soul he was, alive. The Bell Witch also used to appear from time to time. She was the most fun of all. She always was, of course. A hundred and fifty years ago, she turned Andy Jackson into a jackass and rode him around the world seven times in one night. You’ve heard that story, I’m sure. He wrote down an account of it, and said it happened when he was passing a night at the original Bell home-place, out north of town. But then, she’d play her pranks on anyone—Bells, Donelsons, Dickensons, or anybody. Black, white, or in between, she didn’t care. And why should she? The Bell Witch was really everybody’s witch, not just the Bells’. She’d been around Nashville ever since there was anyone here to scare. Why, she wasn’t even afraid of the grumpy old conductors who ran the streetcars and who ruled on board them like old sea captains—every last one of them a sort of second Captain Bligh. One night at the end of the line, on the last run of the night, Cap’m Jimmy Clark opened the doors of his car to let off an old woman who had got aboard right here at Centennial Park. But when he looked in his mirror and even when he turned around, he saw there was no old woman for him to let off. He went back and searched the car. He searched beneath the seats and everywhere. He couldn’t find a soul, but he guessed easily enough who it had been and he knew, all right, that she was still there. Cap’m Jimmy got off his car, closed the doors, and walked back to town through the dark. He left the old streetcar sitting there all night with its lights still on. Way down the track, when he was walking the ties back to town, he heard her laughing at him. Her witch’s laugh followed him all the way in to where the streetlamps began. Cap’m Jimmy vowed, afterward, that he didn’t run one step of the way. He wasn’t going to give any witch that satisfaction.


  “But now, of course, the whole of Nashville’s transit system has gone over to buses. And I ask you, who in the world’s afraid of buses or bus drivers? Those big, smelly buses sneak along through traffic with no bells to clang, no rights of their own, no dignity of any kind. The passengers all sit looking out the windows as if none of them knew anybody else was on board, never speaking a word to each other. They’re all of them only counting the months till they can make their down payments and ride home from work in their own private automobiles.


  “Even when something happens on a bus, it’s not something you’d be sorry to miss. Or not something I’d be sorry to miss, like the Bell Witch or Mr. Ben Allen. But let me tell you! When I came home late one night last month, I did see something happen, or almost happen—something that made me wish there was some friendly stranger there to put a hand over my eyes. There were just the driver and the four of us on board. When the bus stopped, we weren’t at a real stop. We just stopped where we were. I was sitting up toward the front, and I was glad enough to look up from the kind of bad news you get out of a paper nowadays. The driver, still peering into his narrow little mirror, stood up and said, ‘What’s going on back there?’


  “That seemed to be all he knew how to say. And he said it over and over again—‘What’s going on back there?’ Said it as if he didn’t see plain enough what was going on, and kept looking into his mirror as if he was afraid to turn around.


  “I don’t know how long it had been going on. When I turned my head to see, the colored girl was hunched up in the corner of that long seat at the very rear. The two white boys were on their feet, standing over her in a threatening way. It was almost as if they were posed there for a picture. No, they were more like an unposed picture I might have seen in that damned newspaper I had just put down. And I just don’t remember it like that; it seemed like that at the time—like a wire photo from some scene of trouble on the other side of the world, not like something that was really happening there on the bus. One of the boys had his fists clenched, with his right fist drawn back—like this. He was in shirt-sleeves. The other was wearing an old army field jacket, and he had one hand raised to slap with. From where I was sitting, I could see only the head and hunched-up shoulders of the girl. I remember very clearly the picture that it made. It didn’t become at all real until finally I had got up out of my seat and seen the knife blade gleaming in that girl’s black hand.


  “It was how she wielded the knife, I suppose, that really brought me to. She was moving it back and forth in front of her in a slow, sort of clocklike rhythm. It was the only movement in the whole bus—in the whole world, it seemed to me at the time. I remember thinking to myself during the first split second after I saw the knife that she didn’t seem to have a very firm grip on it. The underside of her wrist was turned up, and the handle seemed to lie rather loosely in her half-open palm. She had her legs drawn up on the seat, and I could see her elbow pivoting on one knee as she kept the blade going back and forth. And after a second, I noticed that her eyes were moving right along with the blade, making the same line from the one boy’s fist to the other one’s open hand.


  “I don’t know what had gone before this, and don’t suppose a word had passed amongst them. But suddenly, for no reason I could understand, the black girl let out a scream to wake the dead. The white boys rushed her, and then they pulled back quicker than they’d gone in. And at once each boy took his same old pose again. Everything about them was the same as before, except there was blood on the cheek of the boy with the clenched fists.


  “The girl was standing now. She held the blade steady, not moving it anymore, just steady and straight out before her. ‘Don’t nobody come no closer,’ she said. It seemed to have taken that scream to give her her voice, but, like the driver, she didn’t have but one thing to say. ‘Don’t nobody come no closer to me,’ she said.


  “I had forgotten about the driver until I heard him say again, ‘All right now, I want to know what’s going on back there.’ His voice sounded all trembly.


  “ ‘Don’t nobody come no closer.’


  “ ‘What is going on?’ the bus driver said. He was nearly shouting. Finally, I saw him step out of his little cage and face the business. ‘You boys better tell me what’s going on,’ he said.


  “ ‘Don’t come no closer, none of you,’ the colored girl said.


  “ ‘What’s going on?’ the bus driver said.


  “ ‘Just don’t nobody who don’t want to get cut up come no closer. That’s all I got to say.’


  “ ‘What’s it all about, gal?’ said the driver, just as though he didn’t know.


  “ ‘Don’t you come no closer neither, Mr. Conductor,’ she said.


  “It was clear that the two white boys weren’t going to say anything, and the girl and the driver had already said all they knew how to say. For a long time—it seemed like hours to me—all five of us stood there on the lighted bus like so many dummies in a department-store window. That was the worst part of it, really. I won’t ride a bus again as long as I live without thinking how it was while we were all standing there like that. Finally, the bus driver looked at me. ‘You’ve got to go somewhere and phone the police,’ he said. I knew I would have to, and I wish I had made a dash for it right then without waiting to hear what he would say next. ‘You’ll have to go,’ he said, ‘because I can’t leave the bus. They might get rough and tear things up while I was gone. It could cost me my job.’


  “And I realized then it wasn’t the colored girl or the white boys he was afraid of. It was losing his job. It was his miserable job and the bus system’s property he had on his mind at a time like that.


  “ ‘Just don’t come no closer to me,’ the girl said.


  “ ‘Well, I want to know what’s going on,’ that driver said again.


  “That’s how I left them. I got off the bus as quick as I could, and I went and found a telephone in a little café that was still open, and called the police. The desk sergeant who answered the phone made me give him my name and address. Then I struck out for home on foot. It was a dark, gusty sort of night, and I had the uneasy feeling I would find something wrong at home. I suppose it was having to give my name and address to the police that started me imagining things about my own family. Actually, everything was fine at home, but all the way I kept thinking of my house with my wife there alone with the boy and how easy it would be for something to happen. Then, just before I got to our corner, I heard a police car’s siren. And it had a queer effect on me. Suddenly I could imagine exactly how the siren would sound to my wife inside the house. It would be a very familiar sound, I realized, and somehow comforting—familiar and comforting to us in the same way probably that the clanging and rumbling of the streetcars used to seem familiar and comforting to my grandfather. It was an awful thought. I hate the idea of it. Yet I don’t know what we’d do without the police and their sirens nowadays. You have to hand it to the police. I imagine they must have got out there to that bus before anything serious happened. They must have managed the situation all right, because I looked for something about it in the paper the next day—I looked for several days—but I never could find a word about it.”


  An Overwhelming Question


  


  “I DON’T understand you, Rudy. We’ve known each other all our lives, and if we can’t—”


  “We have not known each other all our lives, Isabel,” he said flatly.


  They were a comical pair at such moments. Her speech would suddenly become littered with diphthongs and elisions. His became hard and flat. A foreigner listening in at these moments might have supposed them to have grown up in two different regions of the country. But as a matter of fact, she had merely assumed the more specially feminine and he the more specially masculine form of genteel, city speech as it is spoken in the great heartland. And it signified no more than that they had reached an impasse in some kind of argument. Of far greater significance was their reference to how long they had, or had not, known each other. . . . Sometimes it was she who said they had known each other all their young lives, and sometimes it was he. Neither of them ever meant to say it, but in the heat of argument the untruth would sometimes slip out. Not very often, but sometimes. Otherwise, it was acknowledged between them that they had met only a few months before they got engaged. That was what was real and true. Other Isabels and other Rudys whom they had known at fourteen, at sixteen, at eighteen (and even earlier than fourteen) had no connection with the grown-up and matured Isabel Havens and Rudy Banks.


  Last winter, the grown-up Isabel and Rudy had fallen romantically and passionately in love at a Hunt and Polo Club dance. They said yes to each other a few nights later (to each other and to what was a lot more than just each other) and very shortly now they were going to be married—in three days’ time, in fact. Their bond was in their present and in their future. Any memories they had in common—old awarenesses and unawarenesses of each other, growing up as they had in the same town—were like memories that each might have shared with some other boy or girl, or, still more likely, with a succession of others. Looking back from twenty and a little beyond, all that part of life seemed utter nonsense and not to be thought of as in any way real.


  “I just don’t understand your attitude,” Isabel said, trying to begin the present argument all over again. But again words failed her. For a full minute they stood there not saying anything. Rudy pretended to go on looking at the pieces of Danish glassware that had come in recently. (Isabel’s mother liked grouping the presents in kinds, and as their treasure had accumulated during the past eight weeks, Mrs. Havens had managed to make this room look more and more like a well-ordered coupon store—one for royalty, or even celestial beings.) “Lately,” Isabel finally managed to continue, “lately, Rudy, you have treated me like a leper. A mixture of a leper and a lunatic. Or a pet that might bite you if you didn’t watch out. I am just fed up with it.”


  Gently he took her hand, and she at once lifted his hand to her lips and kissed it fervently. “Right now,” she said, “even your hand is as cold as ice.”


  “It’s cold in here,” Rudy Banks said, shivering.


  She dropped his hand, and moved over to the wall and turned up the thermostat. The room was in the basement of the house and had its own gas-fired space heater. It had been the laundry once, but a dozen years back Mr. Havens had converted it into a rumpus room for Isabel and her playmates. More recently, Mr. and Mrs. Havens themselves had used it for a card room on hot summer nights. And now all the furniture except the Ping-Pong table had been stored away and replaced with sawhorses with planks laid across them. The improvised tables and the Ping-Pong table and the built-in shelves held most of the wedding treasure.


  From the thermostat, Isabel looked back over her shoulder at Rudy. He was fingering the Danish glass again, but his eyes were just trained on her. When the gas jet in the heater flickered on, she saw him smile and shake his head. She said, “You’ll be surprised how fast it will warm up.”


  “You are a wastrel,” he said. “We’ll be back upstairs before the blower comes on.” He knew all about such heaters.


  “I don’t think we will.” She turned to the door that led to the basement corridor, and closed it.


  “Isabel,” he said, “honest to God!”


  “I’m serious this time, Rudy,” she said.


  “You aren’t serious. You may think you are, but you aren’t.” He tossed his head back and laughed, as though that would show her she wasn’t serious. “Look where we are,” he said. “Just consider what the possibilities are. It gives me goose bumps to think about it. All this glass! And the cement floors!” The room was lit by a single bright globe in the center of the low ceiling. The crystal, the china, the silverware winked at them from every surface and from the open shelves. From the far end of the room, two brand-new television sets gawked. And in a nearer corner crouched an outdoor cooker, brandishing its copper and stainless-steel accoutrements.


  “If I’m not serious now,” Isabel said, “you’ll never see me serious.”


  “Don’t talk baloney,” he said.


  “It’s not just talk.”


  “Baloney,” he said, still smiling. He was not going to be drawn into more talk. If he had managed this long, he could somehow make it the rest of the way. She was really incredible, but he was confident that in another moment or so he could make her see what a ridiculous time and place she had chosen for this onslaught.


  She moved toward him along the aisle between the tables. “Now see here, Rudy. We’ve been engaged for three months. We’ve—”


  He raised three fingers and shook them at her. “And we’ll be married in just three days from now,” he said.


  She drew nearer. He retreated around the corner of the heavily laden Ping-Pong table. She laughed, but he didn’t feel any safety in it for him. She wasn’t conceding anything. She was merely humoring him in his playfulness. He went round to the other side of the table. As he turned the corner there, his jacket brushed against a sherbet glass, which fell against one of its companions and gave off an elegant tinkle.


  “You’ll break something,” she said sharply. “You know what a clumsy ox you are.” It was a sudden change in tactics on her part, but he recognized it. She was really very clever. She would make him angry, and then there would have to be a reconciliation. Then anything could happen, anywhere.


  He leaned across the glassware between them and gave her a glittering smile. “You know how much I love you,” he said. “Why are you so silly and persistent? You know I am not going to let you have your way.”


  But she had lowered her eyes to the table. She didn’t seem to hear him, though of course she did hear him. She was thinking that probably she wouldn’t have her way. She could feel the blood rising in her cheeks. And she was blaming herself for not realizing weeks earlier that he was consciously opposing her. What a dupe she had been! How she had let the time go by! Oh, the evenings they had idled away! The opportunities they had passed up! The kisses she had wasted! . . .


  


  The space heater’s fan came on—the blower. He heard its soft whir and then almost instantly he felt the new warmth on his ankles. It seemed to him that probably she would have her way. For there she stood, opposite him, a picture of maidenly surrender—surrender to his refusal, which made her doubly irresistible—her eyes cast down so modestly, all her features in a gentle repose he had never imagined they had resort to, and her face and neck and even her bare shoulders pink with blushes. The warmth about his ankles rose to his knees. Or was he only imagining it? No, it kept on rising. He thought of what it must be like to drown—half with horror, half with pleasure he thought of it. And now he imagined that the whir of the heater’s motor was coming directly from Isabel herself. He knew she was going to look up at him in another moment, and he supposed there might be tears. Then he would drown. If she wept—he had never seen her weep, not this Isabel—then it would be settled.


  Afterward, he realized that she must have heard the footsteps before he did, and that that, somehow or other, was why she never looked up. It was the first of the arrivals amongst the dinner guests, and they were on the basement stairs. Isabel’s mother would be sending them down; everybody who came to see the house had to see the presents. Rudy sprinted on tiptoe down the aisle between the tables, threw open the door to the corridor, pushed down the thermostat, sprinted back along the other aisle to Isabel. Taking her in his arms, he kissed her passionately. He observed, with relief, that there were no tears on her cheeks. . . . That’s how they were when they were discovered by the utterly delighted first arrivals.


  It was a fine party that night. After dinner they all went dancing. Rudy and Isabel were rather quiet throughout the evening. They held hands a lot, and kissed frequently. But they were noticeably abstemious. Some of the young men in the party had a great deal too much to drink, and one of the girls did. She was Isabel’s cousin, who had come from out of town for the wedding and was staying at the Havenses’ house. When they returned home at half past two, Isabel was forced to take charge of her cousin and see her up to bed. Rudy and Isabel said only a quick good-night at the doorstep.


  


  He telephoned at eleven the next morning—from his office. Isabel was not at home. Her cousin was still asleep, but Isabel had risen an hour earlier and had gone out by herself for a drive in her car. Rudy talked to the maid first, but Isabel’s mother got on the upstairs extension and dismissed the maid. Mrs. Havens said she felt she must take this opportunity to tell Rudy that she detected a “mounting nervousness” in Isabel, and she hoped he understood it was only to be expected in a bride as “the great day” approached. He did, he did—he assured her—he did indeed. And she wasn’t worried, was she, by Isabel’s going out for a drive? He hoped not. He didn’t think she ought to be. . . . Heavens no, she wasn’t. But with so much going on she was merely afraid she mightn’t find another chance to speak to him privately, et cetera.


  A few minutes later, Rudy stood watching them bring his car down on the elevator in the parking garage. He drove eastward a few blocks and then turned south. He had no particular destination in mind—no particular purpose. But the car seemed to know what it was doing. Was he in flight or in pursuit? he wondered. Or by keeping in motion was he trying to stand still? After last night, she might be capable of coming to his office—just barely. On the other hand, if he were in pursuit the town had grown too large during the past five years for him to think of looking for her. And it was not as though they had a trysting place. That wasn’t in Isabel’s line; Isabel was a born homebody! Suddenly he began to laugh rather hysterically at his own unexpected bon mot—a homebody—and he only managed to check himself when he saw two men in another car eyeing him curiously.


  Half an hour later, he came on her car—her long yellow convertible—parked on the edge of the golf course and near the seventh green, in Riverside Park. . . . God, he breathed. What was she thinking? Those moonlight picnics! . . . “Get your big toe out of the egg sandwiches.”. . . Snipe-hunting and all that. . . . Jesus, sweet sixteen! . . . Did she—could she—think those times in Riverside Park meant anything to him or to the other boys who went along? Had the other girls thought so too—that those playful, necking-party picnics were something? It seemed an eternity since he had ever thought about that summer, the summer when he had come home from college and decided to try dating some of the younger girls. Had she actually been amongst them? Yes, he could see her sitting very near the edge of the bluff above the river and holding on to a beer bottle and trying to yodel. And possibly he was the only one near enough to her to observe that the bottle, which she finally hurled down toward the river, was still almost full of beer.


  He parked his car alongside hers and got out. There seemed to be no one playing the course. He set off in the direction of the seventh green, walking south and parallel with the bluff. The only sign of life was a man riding a big power mower several hundred yards ahead. The grass he walked through had already been cut, and blackbirds and pigeons mingled indiscriminately in the area. Each time he approached them, the blackbirds rose up and moved farther off. The pigeons waited till he was in their midst. His only feeling was one of boredom. Such stupid, ugly birds they were. What had they to do with him? What had revisiting Riverside Park to do with him and Isabel? . . . He went on, despite himself, knowing that she would not be glad to see him. . . . Though it was May, the sky was like pale wood ashes, with only a white disc of a sun showing through the overcast. Along the crest of the bluff, a growth of young scrub oak and sweet gum saplings hid all view of the great muddy river that was below. As he walked, he kept watching for the opening—the break in the growth. He knew it must still be there, and at last he saw it. He stepped through and out onto the little point of eroded, red-clay earth.


  


  She was sitting very near the edge with her plaid coat spread out beneath her, and she had on tan Bermuda shorts and a white cardigan. She looked up at him, not so much in surprise as in disappointment. Moreover, her glance accused him. Now it was he, wasn’t it, who—by finding her here—said they had known each other all their lives. But no, his raised eyebrows replied, it was she who said so by being found here. He sat beside her on the plaid coat. Two hundred feet below them, down the clay bluff, the ugly red-brown river labored energetically and senselessly. It spread before them, half a mile wide. The flat landscape to the west of it was still victim to the last of the spring floods. There were islands over there with shapes like continents, familiar-looking but unnameable continents. It was a scene they both felt they had always known and never known.


  They were a solemn pair, sitting there; they had met this morning in a region where they were dead to each other, where they must not and could not be otherwise. . . . One summer he had thrown pebbles at her window! No, it was a lie! But he had.


  “Are you up there?”


  “I’m up here.”


  “Coming down?”


  “Have to get dressed.”


  “I’ll be on the steps.”


  She was thirteen and it was almost midnight. But he was only a neighborhood boy, and their families were such friends it didn’t matter. And he was so much older than she was. Why, she was a child. It was like having a little sister or even a little brother to talk to. He did not like her or dislike her. She was merely an excuse to keep from going on home. When he came pebble-throwing at her window he had always been somewhere else before. Probably he had spent the evening talking with boys his own age and older about whether or not one ought to go East to college, about when and whether-or-not the next war would come, about careers that would take them to Africa and South America—conversations that ended with somebody’s saying, “I’ll do anything so long as it takes me away from this hellhole.” And then on the way home, he stopped to throw pebbles at the little Havens girl’s window. She and he would sit on her porch steps and chatter for half an hour or so. With her head of tight, black curls and with her lean, freckled face, and with no figure at all yet, she looked as much like a boy as a girl. It amused him to talk to her. It touched him, somehow. To think that two years ago he had been that young! Poor child, she had not begun to live. But he! Africa . . . war . . . college . . . I’ll do anything so long as it takes me away from this hellhole!


  What he did not know was that at thirteen she was already a Roman Catholic nun. She was sent by her family to the Methodist Sunday school every Sunday morning, but that did not alter the larger fact. And at fifteen, the summer of the necking-party picnics, she was soon to be the successor to Maria Tallchief. It was one of those secrets that had to be kept from those about you. They said it sounded so childish in a girl who was already having dates. She had at least to try to seem like the other girls. She even made fun of her dancing lessons. But she knew her worth, and she pitied people like Rudy Banks. Such boys were attractive to her, naturally. She even envied them. They asked so little of life and were able to live for the present moment only. (She knew about the really wild girls that boys like Rudy went out with sometimes.) But how would life be bearable without some high purpose like her own? . . . That was at fifteen. At seventeen, her purpose was more practical, she thought, and again more selfless. Her destiny, she knew now, was to become a social worker. Her heart went out to unwed mothers and prostitutes. She read serious articles in magazines. Boys like Rudy Banks were amusing still, but she knew it was a type which the society of the future must eliminate. Such men brought about the downfall of the very girls she was going to devote her life to helping. After an evening of dancing in the arms of some Rudy Banks or other, after sometimes allowing herself to be kissed by an especially ardent admirer, she felt she could hardly wait to be released from these demands which her life made upon her. It all seemed very degrading and to no purpose.


  What she did not know, of course, was that when she was seventeen and Rudy was nineteen he was making a fateful decision: Should he become a nuclear physicist or a professor of political science? . . . That year passed, and by the time he was in law school, two years later, Isabel was engrossed in her serious Junior League work. That year they were thrown together on several occasions and talked openly, not specifically to each other, but in groups which included the other, about their absorbing interests—law and charity work. They typed each other. He heard that she was still a puritan. She knew about his affairs. But it was to be still another year before they really met. By then they were properly prepared for the meeting. Rudy Banks had finished school and Isabel Havens had finished her Junior League apprenticeship. The time was at hand, the time for each of them to meet the right someone, to fall desperately in love, to get married. They were a sleeping beauty and a sleeping prince waking, conveniently, at the same time and in the same place. It would have seemed a profanation of the miracle to say that in their long sleep they had dreamed anything sweeter or nobler than the love which they were created for and which was going to light them through the rest of their waking life. Whoever said so was a liar.


  During the half hour that they sat together looking at the wide river and its false islands, they spoke little. There were no kisses, and he didn’t even take her hand till they rose to leave. The things that they did say were only simple things that touched on the dreariness of the scene. It seemed wrong, they said, that a brown river could not be thought as beautiful as a blue river. But the simple truth was, it couldn’t. They wondered how it might be to have grown up beside a blue river with water so clear you could see right down into its depths, a clear river in a well-defined channel cut between white limestone bluffs and with possibly a little green island in the center, very real, and possibly, even, on that island the ruins of a small castle for the eye to focus on.


  


  That night’s party was out at the Hunt and Polo Club. The hostess was Rudy’s Aunt Polly—his somewhat youthful, not unworldly Aunt Polly Norris. The guests were a mixed lot. There were Isabel’s attendants, of course, including her cousin from out of town, who bored everybody with her remorse and total abstinence tonight. But the party was made up mostly from a rather frolicsome, wildish set that Rudy felt particularly at home in and from a somewhat less youthful but even more frolicsome set his aunt belonged to. Isabel’s parents, as well as Rudy’s own, decided, wisely, to spend the evening at home. They said there had been so much festivity already, and there was so much to be done tomorrow and the day after, et cetera, et cetera.


  It was a fine party, like all the others. There was dancing on the glassed-in terrace after dinner, which was served at ten—after drinks which were served at seven-thirty. The little combo that Aunt Polly had hired finished playing at two A.M., as agreed upon, and departed. Before three, most of the young men, mindful of office desks that awaited them just six hours hence, dragged their young ladies away from the scene. And by that hour most husbands and wives from Aunt Polly’s set had taken their leave—together or separately. Aunt Polly herself had already slipped away.


  Isabel and Rudy wandered into the little corner of the lounge that the combo had occupied. It was just beside the door to the terrace, and it was banked with giant potted plants. They sat down together on the piano bench. They were holding hands, and without looking at Rudy, Isabel lifted his hand to her lips and kissed it—kissed the back of the hand, then the fingers.


  “Hey now!” he said.


  “Yes, hey now,” she said, smiling to herself, still not looking at him.


  “This morning in the park—” he began.


  “In what park?” she coaxed, smiling. “Have you been meeting people in the park?”


  “Oh,” he said. “No, not I. Have you?”


  “I slept all morning,” she said.


  “I was at the office.”


  “Well, then.”


  “Let’s walk some,” he said.


  “Yes, let us do so.” He realized that she was faking tipsiness, and an inspiration came to him.


  The bar was at the other end of the big lounge. They set off in that general direction. They moved through a cigarette smog, in near darkness. Off at the drear edges of the room a few sad, last table lamps were still lit. In the mammoth fieldstone fireplace, some last embers sputtered and sent up a feeble show of sparks. But in the central gloom, Rudy and Isabel had to pick their way amongst tables and chairs without always knowing whether the chairs, or even the tables, were occupied by one or more persons. As they drew near the bar, they passed one final little company sitting upright around a table. Someone in the group said, “Look at ’em. They’re walking on air.” Someone else said, “They think they’re in love.”


  “What do you mean think?” said the first voice.


  “I mean think.”


  “What are the odds?” said a new voice. “Has he or hasn’t he?”


  “It’s always even money.”


  “Not in this case. For if he hasn’t, she’s the only woman under forty at this party he hasn’t.”


  “Are you speaking from experience?”


  “I’m not under forty.”


  “Well, she’s pure as the snow.”


  “It’s always even money.”


  Hand in hand, they had moved on to the bar. They smiled at each other. He even bent forward and kissed her on the lips. Then, almost under his breath, he said to the barkeep, “Two whiskey and water—heavy.”


  The table behind them was silent. Presently the barkeep set two bronze-colored drinks on the counter. A long, low, breathless whistle came from the table. Not-in-this-case said, “Look, he’s going to slug her. That’s the most loathsome sight I’ve ever seen.”


  And walking-on-air said, “With the wedding only the day after tomorrow—really only tomorrow now!”


  Isabel looked at the drink before her on the counter, and then looked at Rudy. He gave her his glittering smile. How artless he was. Oh, how she loved him for his artlessness. She knew all about him. She loved his thinking that he could use the same smile and the same drink for all his purposes. She knew who it was that had slugged her cousin from out of town last night. She knew how he and her cousin had spent that twenty minutes when he escorted her to make the long-distance telephone call to her own fiancé back home. She believed still that all that was all right for him. She believed still that she had made a mistake in her self-denial; her heart, or her mind, was still set upon remedying her mistake, upon breaking the solemn resolution which some other Isabel, in one of her other lives, had made for her. That was still her fierce, firm purpose, her overwhelming necessity even. And now something strengthened her resolve. As Rudy’s smile faded, she saw a look in his eyes that was unbearable to her. . . . She would not serve his purpose. She would not allow him to keep the resolution made by another Rudy Banks. She would not, on their wedding night, be there merely as his idealized something or other.


  She took his arm, without ever touching the glass set before her—and without his having touched his—and led him away into the gloom.


  “Did you see her face?” said a voice at the table.


  “Beautiful!” said another.


  “Oh God, now I’ve seen life’s other face,” said a man’s voice. It would have been difficult to distinguish which amongst the other husky voices were male and which female. “I’ve seen it,” the man’s said. And then, after a moment, the same voice was giving utterance to a chain of muffled, broken sobs.


  “Get hold of yourself, Doug,” said a voice that was distinctly a woman’s. “You’re not that far out.”


  Two chairs scraped on the stone floor, and the barkeep was relieved of his neglected drinks.


  


  Isabel steered Rudy in the direction of the nearest door to the glassed-in terrace. When finally they stood in the doorway, Rudy drew back. There was more light on the terrace than in the lounge, but it had been deserted by the guests. He pulled her away from the doorway, and they walked in the light along the edge of the lounge till they reached another door leading to the terrace. Isabel stepped out onto the terrace alone. Rudy leaned against the doorjamb and watched her wandering about out there. She had never seemed more maidenly, never more womanly, never more desirable, never more precisely the very girl that she must be. He did not know why it mattered so much to him, but at any rate he knew that it did. He no longer regarded himself as a serious person, he had long since come to think of himself as a kind of clown and to think of his life’s most serious activities as clownish acrobatics which he was peculiarly well qualified to perform; but there remained this one last absurd point of semi-seriousness. For it, he was willing to risk Isabel’s most indignant and righteous rage. He was, in fact, determined to risk it now, in the light of her will to use him in the way she so clearly intended, her will to have her cake and eat it too, her willingness to make him the battleground of her conflicting purposes.


  On the terrace, Isabel peered out through the glass walls and then gazed upward through the glass overhead. “It has cleared,” she said breathlessly. “Stars are out.”


  Rudy burst into laughter.


  Isabel seized the latch on one of the panels in the glass wall and threw open the door to the outside. She gave one little shriek of laughter. It seemed half in response to Rudy’s laughter and half in response to her first breath of the night air—half anguish, half delight. Without looking back at Rudy, she ran out-of-doors.


  “You can’t go out there,” he shouted after her, quickly crossing the terrace to the open door. “It’s all a mess!”


  


  The mess outside was a very real one. The Hunt and Polo had moved its location during the previous fall—very late in the previous fall. And there had followed such a severe winter and such a wet spring that almost no work had been done on the grounds. Members and their guests still came and went, between the asphalt parking area and the front entrance to the clubhouse, over a series of rough planks laid across the mud.


  From the doorway to the glassed-in terrace there were not even any planks. When Rudy reached the doorway he saw Isabel bounding off through the mire with her white evening dress pulled up about her knees. He gave one regretful glance at his patent leather slippers and then set out after her. With his first steps he felt the mud oozing over the sides of his slippers, and it passed through his mind that he, Rudy Banks, might end his days a wife-beater! He might not even wait till she was his wife! Why hadn’t he thought of that solution before? A beating might just do the trick.


  He gained on her rapidly, much more rapidly than he had expected or intended. She was heading toward the woods that began a hundred feet or so distant from the clubhouse. As she approached the woods she was obviously slowing her pace. Suddenly Rudy stopped in his deep tracks. For the first time, she looked back at him. And she, too, stopped. But presently, still holding up her skirt, she began to trot along the edge of the woods where the ground was not so soft. Rudy remained where he was, lifting first one foot and then the other to shake off the mud, the way a small dog will do. When Isabel had traveled about thirty feet, she turned in toward the clubhouse again. She was circling back! Before Rudy knew it, she had outflanked him and cut him off from any easy retreat to the terrace doorway.


  He glanced to the right and then to the left. Isabel was moving toward him now. In an open space, several hundred feet to his left, was an assemblage of dark objects that he recognized—clumps and stacks and bunches of leftover building materials as well as certain other bulky objects. His choice was between this junkyard and the woods, and instinct told him that he must at all cost avoid the woods. He bolted for the junkyard.


  The Hunt and Polo’s new site was ten miles farther from town than its old location, and in conjunction with the move (a very profitable move, the old site’s having been sold at a fine figure for use as a new suburban development)—in conjunction with the move the members made one extremely sage decision: they entirely eliminated the role of horses, hounds, and polo ponies from the club’s program of activities, and so were relieved from making any provisions for barns, paddocks, kennels, or polo field on the new site. This was a very realistic step and would save them many thousands of dollars in years to come. And to placate a few stodgy members who disapproved, it was resolved that a good many accessories and appurtenances from the old installation should be brought along to decorate the new site and thus preserve some of the old atmosphere. If spring would only come, these ornaments would be duly set up in places appointed for them by the landscape architect. But, meanwhile, they rested with the remnants of lumber and cement blocks in the club’s private junkyard. And it was in their precincts, on this starry April night, that Rudy Banks took final refuge from Isabel Havens.


  Once he had entered the area, Isabel had difficulty catching sight of him again. The lumber piles and the stacks of cement blocks were like so many small buildings with dark little alleys of mud between. And much of what was brought from the old club consisted literally of quaint outbuildings and dependencies—a dovecote, a saddle and harness shack, a two-room playhouse for young children, as well as stacks of doghouses, barrels, feed-troughs and drinking-troughs, even heaps of gates and rails from the old fences—and nearly all of these heaps and stacks covered over with sheets of canvas. Along the muddy passages between, Isabel pursued him doggedly. Or suddenly she did an about-face, sure she would run squarely into him around the corner she had just turned. But he was never there. Soon she ceased to imagine even that she had caught glimpses of him. She could hear the smacking and sucking of his quick footwork in the mud, and now and again she would hear him laughing to himself. She heard him mutter, “God, what’s this?” Half a minute later, she heard him say something like that again. And each time, she would presently come on the thing she supposed he had seen or perhaps even stumbled over—first an iron hitching post, next an old mounting block. The noises he made sounded always just around the corner ahead or behind, or just over the nearest bulk of canvas. She never once called out to him, or she did not think she did. And she would never know how long she went on stalking him after it was no use. She never lost her confidence that she would find him at last.


  He was never certain how close behind him she might be. He could not hear a sound she made, but he knew always that she was back there or maybe just ahead around the next corner. At last, he knew his only safety would be in hiding from her somewhere. He had led her through the whole complex of junk and rubbish, and now was back at the largest pile of lumber. He began to climb. Beyond the lumber he could see the gable of the children’s playhouse. The climbing was very easy. He went up and up, ever so silently. Then at the very top, his right foot caught between two planks. Pulling the foot free, he twisted his ankle painfully. He bent over to massage the ankle, hopping unsteadily on the other foot. He lost his balance, and in an effort to regain it, whirled about and fell backward. As he fell, the back of his neck came down heavily against the pointed gable-end of the playhouse.


  The poor fellow died instantly. His body folded up as though he were a life-sized Raggedy Andy, his two feet flying upward to either side of his head. He slipped, bottom first, down into the narrow crevice between the lumber and the playhouse. It would be many hours before they found him there, and meanwhile the stars shone on his uncovered head and on the muddy soles of his dress slippers. He was wedged in between the rough edges of the unfinished lumber and the smooth clapboard of the playhouse. His neck was broken, the life gone out of his body, but he was safe from Isabel at last, poor fellow.


  There


  


  “LET ME tell you something about the Busbys,” the old gentleman said to me. “The Busbys don’t wash themselves—not adequately. And especially not as they grow older.”


  That was how he opened our last conversation. It was our last meeting aboard ship, and the last he and I will be likely to have in this world. He was the kind of shipboard acquaintance you make who never seems real afterward. You remember him more distinctly than you do someone you have met on a plane or a train, but it is only because you were with him for a longer time. Nowadays particularly, there seems something unreal about people you have known on a sea voyage. To me, at least, it is nearly always as though I have met some character out of the past or out of a novel. And I never know whether it seems stranger when they do or when they don’t explain why they are traveling by ship instead of by plane. In any case, the odd thing was that this man was a shipboard acquaintance who had come originally from my own home town, and it was of people back there he was speaking, not of our fellow passengers. We two had grown up in the same inland city, and we came more or less from the same stock there; yet the thirty or forty years that separated us made us strangers to one another as no distance across the surface of the earth nowadays, and no difference in nationality, could possibly have . . . At least so it seemed to me at the time. And nothing could have amused me more than his assumption that I would be acquainted with the same families that had once so absorbed his interest.


  “Those Busbys! Those Busbys!” said he, thumping on the smoking table between us with his long lean middle finger. “It all comes to one thing: such people have no imagination about themselves!” At first he resorted to this finger-thumping and those exclamations to make sure he got my full attention. But finally, seeing me comfortably fixed in my chair, my academic pipe lighted, and my whole attention directed to his discourse, he spoke without bothering to look at me. “That’s what made the Busbys a laughingstock. Lack of imagination about themselves. Of course the Busbys were not alone in this lack of theirs, but, despite all the good company they were in, it was no less damaging to them. There was a Busby boy named David, for instance, about the age of two young-lady cousins of mine. They used to visit us every summer when I was a small boy, and David Busby would try to court the younger girl. But she, being an out-of-town girl and not impressed by the Busby money, mocked him behind his back. Whenever he had been especially attentive to her, she and her sister had a little parody they would recite. It began, ‘David, David, dirty but true . . .’ Moreover, when there was a series of parties, they used to count the times that David appeared wearing the same shirt with the same soiled spots on it. He would change his collar, so they said, for any little old chafing-dish party (his detachable collar, you know—the kind Americans never wear any more), but it took an affair of the first magnitude to bring him out in a clean shirt . . . Poor fellow, I guess he never knew what a little fresh linen might have done for him with the girls.”


  As the old gentleman spoke he gazed off across the public room, as though trying to see out of first one porthole and then another. He was a strikingly handsome old man, with a decidedly clean and well-scrubbed look, and he had described himself to me as a retired career man from the diplomatic service, which I see no reason to doubt he was. I’d judge that he was well past seventy, but his figure was very slender still and straight, and by day he was given to wearing a beige or a checked waistcoat under a close-fitted tweed jacket. Or sometimes he wore a double-breasted navy jacket with brass buttons. There was always a handkerchief in the breast pocket of his jacket, and he owned at least one pair of brown suede shoes. Though his hair was white it was quite thick, and always perfectly groomed of course. His face was almost incredibly youthful looking. There were neat little wrinkles about his eyes and at the corners of his mouth, but otherwise his skin was as smooth and pink as a little child’s. Somehow this had the effect of making me think a good deal about his age and about how he must have appeared when he was younger. I am confident that he had been a beautiful, tow-headed child, that his hair became black in young manhood, that after forty his temples turned becomingly gray, and that finally his entire panache had gone snow white in his sixty-fifth year or thereabouts.


  He impressed me from the beginning as someone with great personal reserve and reticence. And until that last day on shipboard he had never revealed to me anything about himself—not even inadvertently. But as people of genuine reserve very often are, he was voluble enough on other subjects—particularly on the subject of other people . . . He had a way of making you feel that he couldn’t say what he was saying to anyone but you. From the outset I observed in him what seemed a mixture of masculine frankness and almost feminine gossipiness. It was this mixture which must always have constituted his charm for people. Yet at that time I imagined he could only speak to me as he did because we came originally from the same place and because we had both asserted, right away, that we would never under any circumstances go back there to live. “Our home town is a cultural desert, as I’m sure you’ll agree,” he had said to me when he learned that I was an academic. “Most people there haven’t even the imagination to see how urgent it is that they get away from the place if they are going to stay alive.”


  Though he had not himself really lived at home since he went East to college in 1906, the old man’s voice still retained a flavor that I recognized even before we had introduced ourselves. I had sat eavesdropping in the bar one night—the night of our second day out—and heard how his voice contrasted with those of the other passengers with whom he associated, an assortment of Englishmen and Eastern seaboard types. That was really what made me distinguish him from the others in the first place. And soon after we began our nightly talks he and I discovered that he had known—ever so slightly—an uncle of mine who had died before I was born. And it turned out that I knew a girl—ever so slightly—who had married the son of one of his boyhood friends. That’s how it went. At no point did we discover a mutual acquaintance. We missed completely when it came to individuals, but there was no mistaking the city that he and I had in mind or the kind of people there about whom Mr. Charles Varnell and I knew most.


  During that last session of ours we were alone in the first-class smoking lounge. Though there was little likelihood of anyone’s wishing to join us, Mr. Varnell had deliberately selected two chairs that were set well apart from all others. Our ship had docked that afternoon at Cherbourg and was resting in port while the continental passengers were let off and others were received on board for the return voyage to New York. During the night ahead the ship would cross over to Southampton, and in the morning Mr. Varnell and I would say our brief goodbyes before going down the gangplank. Actually I did catch another glimpse of him in customs, and I even spotted him again, at a considerable distance, after we had detrained at Waterloo Station an hour later. He and his wife were being greeted there by some old-fashioned, rather toney-looking English friends. As a matter of fact, I recalled his having told me, when with mere perfunctory politeness I suggested we might run into each other in London, that he and his wife were stopping with friends for only a few hours. They would be in London “almost no time at all.” They had been “out to New York” for six weeks, and now they had to rush down to Surrey and put their house there in order before going up to Scotland for a month (“We’re going up to Scotland to shoot”—or some such elegant and wonderfully dated remark). I never knew whether his wife was English or American or of some other nationality. As for her appearance, it is sufficient to say that she looked the way his wife should look. I was never introduced to her, not even that morning at the gangplank when he and I shook hands and parted. Our leavetaking was so brief and casual that the other passengers, and perhaps even his own wife, may have supposed that neither of us was sure of when, during the voyage, he had talked to the other. But our real farewell had already taken place—in the dead stillness of the port of Cherbourg. It was he who did the talking on that occasion, and I imagine that what he said to me then had had to wait until he knew that he and I would not talk again.


  I laughed outright of course when he said the sort of thing he did about the Busbys’ not washing themselves. I suppose he expected me to. But he didn’t laugh. “It is no small matter,” he insisted, “for people not to wash—regardless of how rich or well-to-do they are. It kept all the Busbys from ever amounting to anything outside their own little bailiwick. Let me tell you. I used to sit behind that same David Busby’s grandfather in church—Mr. Lionel Busby. I was just a little fellow at the time, and what I chiefly remember about him are the deep creases and wrinkles in the back of his neck. I have never seen anything to equal it on a man of his position in the world—the visible dirt, that is to say, caked in those creases on the neck of that extremely rich old man. The Busbys were very wealthy at that time. I used to hear it debated at home whether Mr. Lionel was our second or third richest citizen. And he was no self-made man. If I am not mistaken, they had owned downtown real estate since before the Civil War. Mr. Lionel himself went East somewhere to college. But even up there they couldn’t teach a Busby to wash his neck properly. And after college he came back, the way most of those people do, and married somebody at home—some girl who, I suppose, didn’t care about or was willing to overlook the peculiar characteristics of the Busbys.


  “Now, a man can be careless about his personal cleanliness. I understand that. A man can be somewhat slovenly in his dress. Some of my closest friends are so—to a certain degree. But what I found most revolting was its being the trait of a whole family, and a trait that the community regarded with a tolerance beyond all comprehension. Further, whereas it is possible for a gentleman to have such a weakness, it is not possible for a lady. And yet there were two Busby maiden ladies of my mother’s generation, aunts to said David Busby, daughters to old Mr. Lionel; and they managed it, and they, by the community at large, were forgiven. They were a laughingstock, yes; but the point is that their defect was regarded as a laughing matter. I remember them as two old creatures with dyed black hair and reeking of perfume. Their fondness for personal finery, their tendency to be always overdressed, was proverbial. But the state and condition of their clothing was generally a scandal. My mother used to speak of a certain black lace mantilla that one of them wore. It slipped from the lady’s shoulder one day when Mother was sitting beside her on our parlor settee, and when Mother helped her retrieve it she found the thing as stiff with old spillage as though it had been freshly starched. Those two ladies were renowned also for the jewels they possessed and for the number they ornamented themselves with on all occasions. They were not averse to telling the history and value of every brooch, bracelet, or pendant earring they had on. They spoke of their jewels always as their ‘stones,’ and some rustic wit out there once remarked that the Busby ladies ought to put fewer precious stones on their fingers and more pumice stone on their elbows.


  “But the prize story about the two Busby ladies is a very old and familiar sort of story. It is that of the burglar and the two old maids . . . The Misses Busby came in from a party one evening and heard the intruder moving about upstairs. He was after some of their ‘stones’ of course, and of course they were wearing most of what he was after. The two intrepid ladies didn’t even call in the servants or the neighbors or send out for help of any kind. With an ice pick and an ax they hunted down their man, who, as it fortunately happened, was unarmed . . . There were several versions to the story, all of them ending with the man stretched out—in a dead faint—on the floor of one of the upstairs bedrooms. One version, probably the correct one, had it that the fellow was such a coward that he passed out cold at the sight of the ice pick and the ax. And then there was a pornographic version, of course, which I shall spare you. And there was also a third version, in its way as indelicate as the second, being the version which found favor amongst people most intimately acquainted with the Busby family. It seems the man had hidden himself in an old-fashioned clothespress, and the condition of the garments stored therein was so strong that when the old maids found their man he was already overcome by the rank and musty emanations. They dragged him out into the room, but he did not recover consciousness until after the police had finally been summoned and had removed him from the scene of the crime. His own version of what happened will never be known. He maintained through his trial and ultimate conviction that he could remember nothing. He may only have been possuming, of course, but it is possible on the other hand that the fellow had suffered an awful shock—of one kind or another.”


  Mr. Varnell told these anecdotes about the Busbys with never a smile and with but little discernible relish for the details he brought forth. He seemed to know the stories so well that it was not really necessary for him to think of what he was saying or how he would say it. One felt, even, that most of his phrases had been used in the exact context before. What made it interesting, though, was that one got the impression it had been such a long, long time before. There were moments when he seemed to listen to his own voice with a certain detachment and wonder. He was like a man delving into a trunk he had packed away years ago and who did not know, himself, what he would come upon next. His transition from the Busbys to the Jenkinses was quite abrupt and at the same time seemed very natural and easy, too. It was as though he had put down one old photograph or letter and picked up another. “The astonishing thing to me was always that the Busbys, like the Jenkinses and other families with equally marked peculiarities, remained in the very cream of society there. Nobody there minded them as they were, and so why need they change themselves? Anything was forgivable. If you ever met a Jenkins, for instance—as I am sure you have—you simply expected to meet a fat man, or, worse, a fat woman. It was entirely because the Jenkinses wouldn’t stop eating. Jenkins apologists liked to put out that their trouble was glandular, just as the Busbys were all supposed to be nearsighted, or farsighted, or whichever it is that would excuse their not knowing that the backs of their necks were dirty. But once I saw Alice Jenkins eat eight pieces of fried chicken, three servings of potato salad, and a whole half of a watermelon in one sitting. It was on a picnic at Riverview Mills. Alice, you see, was the only Jenkins of my generation, but she was a plenty. That day at Riverview Mills we all went out on the pond in rowboats. The couples paired off, sitting side by side in the boats—in general they did. But there was never any pairing off on Alice’s part. Without any companion she occupied the entire poop seat in her boat. There was a great deal of merriment over the fact, and she joined right in with it. But there was something repulsive to me about the way the boat sank down under her weight; and somehow it was worse because the image of all the other Jenkinses, all her fat relations, rose up in my mind.


  “A couple of years later Alice was a debutante, and during the summer before her coming out she starved herself until she got to be quite decent looking. In fact, she appeared that fall looking a very handsome woman and with quite elegant manners. She got engaged soon after Christmas, however, and by the time she married in May she was a full-size Jenkins again. In the years just after that I used to see her when I would be back home on a visit. It would be at the Sunday night buffet supper at the country club; and not many years passed before she was surrounded there by a tribe of little Jenkins elephants (I forget now what her married name was). They occupied a long table that the Jenkinses had been occupying every Sunday night for years, and Alice’s parents would still be there with them, as well as some of her enormous cousins and uncles and aunts. How they all heaped up the food on their plates! I can see them now trooping back to the buffet for second and third helpings. The food at the country club was the best in town in those days, and the Sunday night buffet supper was surely the best bargain ever offered anywhere. Probably it was only this combination that could bring the Jenkinses out in full force, because they were great homebodies really, and the men in the family as well as the women were said to be splendid cooks. On his first trip to the buffet Alice’s father used to take a tiny serving of every dish, even a pinch of each relish and a few drops of every sauce. Back at his table you would see him tasting away very thoughtfully. He had a high, rounded-out stomach, wonderfully symmetrical (like a giant tureen), and almost no chest. He wore a little gray, two-pronged imperial that stuck down like a meat fork over the white napkin which was tucked under his collar. While eating, he eyed his food intently, though, if some passerby happened to catch his eye, he would throw back his head and laugh aloud at himself and wave one corner of the napkin at the spectator. On his second trip to the buffet he narrowed his choice to four or five of the principal dishes. He became even more selective on his third trip. And the highest compliment he could pay the club chef was to go back for a fourth serving of some single dish.


  “After supper, on a hot summer evening, the whole herd of elephantine Jenkinses would repair to the capacious wicker chairs out on the terrace beside the golf course. A special chair was reserved there for old Mrs. Jenkins, who outweighed her husband by at least fifty pounds and whose wide posterior could not be accommodated between the arms of any ordinary chair. Once they were all seated out there, they didn’t rise until it was time to leave. Friends passing along the terrace, or seated in other groups nearby, would call out to them, asking how they had enjoyed their supper. They would reply in an enthusiastic chorus: ‘Marvelously! Enormously!’ Frequently, when it was time to go home, or if a little shower had come up, it would be discovered that Mrs. Jenkins had fallen into a deep sleep in her chair. There would be a great stir and commotion with even the grandchildren joining in the effort to wake the sleeper and prize her out of her chair. All over the club grounds people would hear them and would smile at each other and say, ‘It’s only the Jenkinses trying to wake Miss Nanny.’


  “Not a very edifying picture, is it?” said Mr. Varnell, looking altogether serious, and disregarding my audible signs of amusement. “And let me tell you,” he continued, “the Busbys and the Jenkinses were not very exceptional people in our home town. It used to seem to me that every family there had some awful deficiency—I might almost say affliction—that marked them as a family. It wasn’t so, of course. Or it was nearly always only something they might have overcome if they hadn’t been so self-satisfied and so mutually indulgent. You and I know what it was they needed to do, of course. But why was it those people with so much money and so much leisure couldn’t understand what their next step ought to be? More often than not they were people of genuine capability. The men were actually men of imagination when it came to business and money matters. The women, though you could not say they were cultivated, were not without charm and manners of a kind. But they stuck themselves off there and lived their sort of tribal life. Of course some of them would pick up and leave for a while. Even the Lionel Busbys did, I think. But they couldn’t stick it out long enough. They always came back saying that ‘people in Europe’ or ‘people up East’ were condescending to them. Naturally! What else can you do but condescend to people until they have learned to wash themselves and eat with moderation. Some of them even enlarged their fortunes by taking their capital with them and investing it in bigger things than we had there. But still they came back at last, singing that false old tune that there’s no place like home.


  “Even when I was an adolescent I used to wonder how I could ever really fall in love with any girl who came from one of those families. And I never developed a genuine romantic interest in one of them till after I was in college. She was a Morris—Laura Nell Morris. I won’t bore you by telling you what a beautiful creature Laura Nell was. Suffice it to say that it was love at first sight for me. And suffice it to say, on another score, that she bore only the very slightest family resemblance to her brothers and sisters and to her parents. She was a silly, harum-scarum kind of girl. I won’t pretend otherwise. She had no conversation, and yet at a party she would never stop talking. She recited limericks, and riddles, and shaggy-dog stories, and she remembered and would make us listen to every poor joke she had ever heard at vaudeville and minstrel shows. Further, she was the sort of person who prided herself on always taking a dare, no matter how foolish it was. You couldn’t afford to speak the word in her presence. It is a wonder she never got into serious trouble, whereas actually the most punishment I think she ever took was one night when somebody dared her to keep silent for fifteen minutes. She succeeded all right. But I was her escort on that occasion and afterward when I was taking her home I saw Laura Nell Morris, for the only time ever, in what I would call low spirits.


  “There is even worse to be said about Laura Nell, however, and I might as well get the worst over with. She had a passion for playing elaborate practical jokes, not on her friends and contemporaries but on members of her own family—particularly on the older members. The odium of this was somewhat mitigated, perhaps, by the happy fact that the family did not mind her jokes so much as they might have done. They thought it childish of her, and they were baffled by her willingness to take such pains as she did in the preparation of her jokes. But it was their view that if Laura Nell derived real satisfaction and amusement from the practice, then they must not absolutely forbid her continuing and must not resent being, themselves, her objects. That was what the Morrises were like. If such extreme tolerance and disinterested regard for one another made them seem ridiculous, it was at the same time a most appealing quality for a family to have. And among its consequences, I am perfectly convinced, was the measure of individuality which all its members developed.


  “I have already said how little the Morrises looked alike. There was a redheaded grandfather whose coloring did turn up in two of the older children. And Laura Nell, who was the youngest of the five, had just a suggestion of red in her dark hair. Perhaps there was something about the eyes of all the children to remind you of the father, if you noticed carefully. And there was a gentleness of speech general amongst them—even in the case of Laura Nell—that made you know they had been brought up by the same mother. But surely they had nothing more in common. There was a very tall brother, a short brother, and one of medium height. The middle-sized one was athletic, the tall one bookish, and the short one socially inclined. Laura Nell’s only sister was the eldest child, and she was known for her quiet and responsive disposition, for her way of drawing out other people in conversation so that they would appear to best advantage.


  “Part of Laura Nell’s attraction for me—need I say it even?—was the very absence of any strong family marking. At our first meeting I didn’t realize that she was at all related to the other Morrises. She was three years younger than I, and she had grown into a young lady since I went away to school. I was convinced that I had never laid eyes on her or on any of her family before. It turned out that I had in fact been acquainted with two of her brothers but had always supposed that they were, at most, distant cousins to each other. I found the very idea of such a family intriguing, and I find it so even to this day. Their mere unlikeness to one another, alone, would not of course have accounted for the impression they gave. It was their dissimilarity plus, in every case, without exception, a very strong and attractive personality. It was inconceivable to me that such a family should be content, generation after generation, to waste themselves on a town like ours. Mr. Morris was a lawyer with a national reputation in his profession. A good proportion of his clients were in New York and Philadelphia, not to mention Chicago and other cities nearer by. It would have been a very natural thing for him to have moved his family to New York. With such connections as he had, with Mrs. Morris’s considerable fortune, and with all their natural social graces and intellectual capabilities, what interesting lives they might have had, what serious careers they might have made for themselves, if only they had got away from there. For the Morrises there would have been no handicaps, no bars of any kind.


  “Once when I was talking to Mr. Morris about Laura Nell I made a point of telling him what an interesting and admirable family I thought they were. I even went into some detail as to why I found them so. ‘Well,’ he said to me, ‘you are in love with my daughter if you think she and we are as different from the rest of the world as all that. In fact, you have about the worst case I’ve ever encountered. Laura Nell is a fortunate young lady. I wish you success with her. Sincerely I do.’ But he treated the matter casually and even lightly. He made no objection to my suit. But he did not offer to speak in my favor to Laura Nell. If he had, the matter might have come out differently. I am not sure, though. At any rate, it couldn’t have come out worse.


  “Laura Nell’s mother did not take such a disinterested view of my suit. She was a most amiable and sympathetic woman, and she told me that she could not imagine a more satisfactory son-in-law than I was certain to make. Still, she would not try to influence Laura Nell. In our conversations she spoke of Laura Nell almost as if she were someone else’s daughter and spoke as if I were a son whom she was comforting and encouraging. There was always some of that in Mr. Morris’s tone, too. If my own parents had lived until I was a grown man, I think they might have talked to me as Mr. and Mrs. Morris did. I like to think so. But I had no very near relative of any kind after I was in my teens, and the elderly banker and old bachelor who was my guardian and who had controlled my trust fund till I came of age was not anybody to turn to. My real confidants were Mr. and Mrs. Morris.


  “Soon after Laura Nell refused me the first time, I came to call one day when she wasn’t at home. It was during the last week of September, and Mrs. Morris took me down to the end of the garden to show me her chrysanthemums. The late summer and fall flowers were a specialty with her, and she was certain that there was going to be a killing frost that night. There were splendid arrays of asters and dahlias on either side of the garden walk, but we had to go to the very end of the garden and climb to the top of a little terrace there in order to look back toward the house and have a proper view of the chrysanthemums. It was a chilly late afternoon, with the air bright and dry. I stood beside Mrs. Morris on the brick terrace and was able for a moment to admire the beds of russet and gold just below where we were standing. But it was only for a moment. At the other end of the garden I saw the great neo-Georgian house with its Palladian windows upstairs and its wide porch below. The muscular wistaria vines on the trellis of the porch were already leafless at that season. Suddenly I said to Mrs. Morris, ‘Laura Nell has refused me . . . I am convinced now that there is no hope for my cause.’


  “I was not really convinced of it—sad to relate. The passing of nearly two years and a considerably more drastic gesture on Laura Nell’s part would be required for that. But Mrs. Morris herself was, there can be little doubt, convinced even then. She did not tell me to give Laura Nell time, or anything of that kind. When I withdrew my gaze from the house and looked at her, there was the sweetest, gentlest look in her gray eyes that I believe I have ever beheld in human eyes. And when she spoke it was not encouragement but consolation she offered me.


  “The consolation came in a strange form. Laura Nell’s practical jokes on her family were something that the family kept very much to themselves. I mean to say, they often referred to the fact that she had such a weakness, and on some occasions they were cautious in their behavior for fear of being led into one of her traps. But they would never oblige you with an account of any particular joke. If pressed, they would only laugh and say, ‘It’s much too grim. For Laura Nell’s own sake it can’t be told.’ And since Laura Nell would not discuss the subject herself, I had never had any clue to what her jokes were like until that afternoon when I was out there at the end of the garden with Mrs. Morris. What she revealed to me is all I know to this day of Laura Nell’s jokes.


  “ ‘My dear,’ she began, ‘I can’t blame you for being so in love with Laura Nell. She’s an enchanting little person. But I want to tell you about two pranks that a certain young lady played on members of her own family. It may amuse you, and you may want to reflect on what caprices such a girl might some day treat her lawful husband to.’ With no more preface than that and with no further explanation of her reason for doing so, she then told me about a joke that the certain young lady had once played on her father and about another she had played on her maternal grandmother only a year before the old lady died . . . It seems that the grandmother had a great fondness for attending funerals, and especially the funerals of indigent relations and friends and even slight acquaintances who were not so well-to-do as herself. The measure of her sympathy for the bereaved and the strength of her determination to be present at the funeral depended in each case on how straitened the family’s circumstances were. Well, the old lady’s granddaughter did a terrible thing. She arranged that she herself should accompany her grandmother to one of these funerals, and then when the hour came she got them into the wrong funeral. And she did it on purpose, as a joke. The poor acquaintance who was dead was one that the old lady had not seen in many years and that she probably would not have recognized had she met her on the street. Whereas the funeral they attended was that of a wealthy neighbor whom she had been seeing with some regularity in recent years but whose death did not seem to touch her at all.


  “Since the grandmother’s hearing and sight were not what they had once been, she managed to sit through the funeral service without discovering the trick that was being played on her. It was only at the end when they had gone up to view the remains and she had looked down into the face of her dead neighbor that she understood whose funeral it was. The shock was such that she had to lean on her granddaughter’s arm all the way to the carriage, but by the time the driver, whom she reprimanded for having taken them to the Presbyterian instead of to the Methodist Church—by the time the driver had helped them inside the carriage and closed the door she had realized that the ‘mistake’ was all her granddaughter’s doing. The girl didn’t deny her guilt for a moment, and she only restrained her merriment until they had got out of the sight and hearing of the mourners. ‘It’s only what you deserve, Grandma,’ she said to the old lady, who sat staring at her incredulously, ‘for being so unsympathetic to your own kind.’


  “The practical joke that the girl played on her father was not so bad as that, but it had a similar theme. The father prided himself on the tradition that his ancestors back in Virginia, a hundred years before, had been ruined by the ‘cult of hospitality.’ In fact, he kept in touch with a host of distant kin in Virginia; furthermore, new and seemingly ever more distant members of the connection were continually being made known to him. It was not uncommon for them to come and put up at his house overnight when they were (ostensibly) passing through town on their way to the West Coast or to the Deep South; and they did not scruple to write to him from time to time for small loans or free legal advice. He spoke of them censoriously as ‘broken-down aristocrats,’ but still he was proud of them as living proof of the old family tradition . . . A telephone call came on a Saturday night, purportedly from a relative that had never been heard from before. The male voice said that the speaker was ‘having certain difficulties with the law’ and that he, along with his wife and their seven children, were stranded ‘temporarily’ at a downtown rooming house without the means of buying their Sunday dinner next day. The desired invitation to dinner was obtained, of course, and at one o’clock the next day the host and his family had assembled in the front drawing room to welcome their troubled cousins. Instead of their cousins, however, there arrived at precisely one o’clock another family quite well known to all present. It was a Mr. and Mrs. Herman Miller, their two married sons, their daughters-in-law, and their grandchildren. Mr. Miller’s investment and brokerage company had recently collapsed, he had been indicted by the grand jury, and it was generally conceded that in the end he would not avoid a jail sentence. The Millers’ home had already been foreclosed on, and they were preparing to move from it the following Monday morning. For a number of years they had been living in very fine style, and by their host that Sunday noon they had always been regarded as parvenues and four-flushers. They were received for dinner that day, however, in a most cordial and hospitable manner by a family who grasped at once whose work the whole business had been.


  “I can only account for Laura Nell’s practical jokes and for her overbearing, chatterbox ways by attributing it all to an excess of vitality. She had a store of energy that she didn’t know what to do with. She ought to have found some sensible use to put it to, but somehow she couldn’t. She remained a silly, harum-scarum girl when she ought to have been maturing into the wonderful young woman that she might have been. And yet her very vitality and animation were what attracted me first. I fell in love with her on first sight almost, and when I discovered that, though she would listen to no one else, she would listen to me, it seemed to me that I had only then begun to live and I was sure for the first time that I was going to be able to make something of my life.


  “I suppose she was in love with me, at first. During the first weeks and months of our acquaintance she gave every sign of being so—every sign that a young lady of that day could give. And during that period I had but one object in life. It was finding moments when I could be alone with her. Laura Nell seemed as eager as I for those moments, and by the time we had known each other a year we had discoursed upon every subject that a young lady and a young gentleman of that day were permitted to discourse upon. I was no longer living there at home even then. I had begun training for my career immediately after college (I was one of the first to have any formal training in the field). But I took every opportunity to go back home and see Laura Nell. I was confident that she would someday be my wife, and I could already imagine her as a brilliant hostess and as the heroine of a thousand drawing rooms from St. Petersburg to Buenos Aires. I was sure of how swiftly she would be transformed into a really serious person once I got her away from there.


  “From the very earliest days of my courting Laura Nell I found myself talking to her about the other families that moved in our own circle—that is, about the other people whom we both had more or less grown up with. At the beginning she was greatly amused by all I had to say about those people. I can hear her pretty laughter now and hear her urging me to continue and say more. ‘What else?’ she would say. ‘What else? Go on.’ The truth is, I wonder now if she understood that all my criticism of others implied a favorable comparison of them to herself, and wonder if she realized that while I was giving my true opinion of those people and the life they lived and while I had a genuine interest in the whole subject, I was also using it to pay her the most direct compliment that good taste and the proprieties of that age permitted—permitted at that stage of our courtship. Perhaps she did understand, but, as time passed, my talk itself—particularly my talk about the peculiar traits those families had—became even more interesting to her and ceased altogether to be a matter of amusement. And finally she came to reject all my complaints and strictures against those people, who were so unlike herself and her own family, and she even became their stanch defender and apologist. It is hard for me to remember accurately how long a time was required for this transition. Sometimes it seems to me that the entire course of our friendship lasted but one brief summer. Other times it seems to me that it must have consumed half my youth. I know in fact, of course, that it was a period of three years—three years when I was making the final break back there and committing myself once and for all to another life.


  “It was not until the second summer after I had met Laura Nell that I felt myself in a position to speak of marriage. By then I felt I could give her some concrete image of the life I was offering her. But by then Laura Nell was no longer in love with me. I can say that now, though I could not have said it at the time. I believed there to be certain difficulties in her mind about the life that I proposed for us, certain imaginary obstacles to our happiness, but I thought that with time she—or I—would overcome such doubts as she had. It was not, you see, as though she were any less fond of my company than she had been formerly or any less interested in the career I was bent upon or in my ideas about the place and the people that she and I knew best. No, despite the serious way she had listened to all I had ever said to her, she was very much the same silly girl that I had met a year and a half before. I was not in the least surprised that she burst out laughing when I made my formal proposal or even that she should treat it as a joke and tease me about it before her parents and other members of her family. ‘He’s too serious for me, much too critical,’ she would say when we were all assembled in the drawing room before dinner on a Sunday (I would be visiting back home, taking most of my meals at their house). ‘You should hear the way he analyzes other people. Within a month he’d know what I’m really like, and then there would be the devil to pay.’


  “ ‘What she’s saying,’ her oldest brother said on one occasion, ‘is that you’re too good for her. I’d take heart from that. There couldn’t be a better omen.’


  “But the trouble was, Laura Nell said the same things to me in private. And she said, in effect, that she was too simple and artless a person to be taken out into the great world that I wanted to live in. She would be nothing but an embarrassment to a man who was as ‘serious’ and ‘critical’ as I was. At last I began to feel that it truly was all those things I said about such people as the Jenkinses and the Busbys that disquieted her so. I came to realize that no one was readier than Laura Nell to overlook those people’s limitations and forgive their failure to find a way out of that little pond in which they were such big fish. She was prepared to forgive them everything. When I ridiculed those who went away only to come back with their tails between their legs, she said she couldn’t blame them for wanting to live amongst friends. When I talked about what wonderful experiences might be in store for her family if they got away from there, she replied that it would be the same with them as with ‘everybody like us.’ To me it was amazing to hear her equating herself and her remarkable family with those other, unattractive, unimaginative, provincial people. But that was what she did. ‘I know how it would be,’ she said. ‘We’d do very well for a while, like the others. Then the truth would dawn on us suddenly.’


  “ ‘What truth?’ I asked. ‘What is it that would dawn on you? I don’t think you really know, yourself, what you mean.’


  “She laughed at me, as if to say I was much too stupid. ‘Why, it’s easy: dawn on us that we’d gone too far from home and that we’d better get back before it was too late.’


  “It is hard to remember, after so many years, precisely the things she said. I do remember certain things, though. Once when I went home for a few days in February I had the happiness, for some moments, of believing that she might be coming round. We had attended a large reception together which turned out to be an announcement party for two of our friends. When we returned from the party to her house we went, for some reason, into a little card room that opened off the drawing room. We sat down in two little gilded chairs, facing each other across the card table’s polished surface of inlaid woods. She was still wearing her furs, her gloves, and even her hat and veil. The hat was of brown velvet with a very high crown and little, cream-colored bows pinned all over it. It was the most becoming hat I ever saw her wear; somehow it made you want to reach out your hand and take hold of her tiny pointed chin, or even lift the veil and kiss that tight little mouth. When she first spoke, it even crossed my mind that in another moment I might be holding her in my arms. ‘Would it make you miserable,’ she began, ‘to think you were going to end your days here where you grew up?’ Through her veil I could not quite make out the expression in her eyes. I imagined that she was giving me an opening, that in my absence she had missed me, that she was now willing to debate with me how and where we might make a life together. I imagined that this was our critical hour and that I must be firm.


  “ ‘I am only made miserable,’ I said, ‘by the thought that you may end your life here in a kind of misery you can’t foresee.’


  “But as usual, she laughed at me. ‘I was not thinking about us,’ she said. ‘I was thinking about them’—the engaged couple, she meant, whom we had seen that afternoon. ‘You know very well there is no chance for us. And please don’t be so silly as to worry about me. Don’t ever, ever worry about me. I was not made for misery of any kind.’ . . . It is the sentence she wound up with that I remember most distinctly, of course: ‘I was not made for misery of any kind.’ As she spoke those words, her voice carried an impossible mixture of utter frivolity and total despair. And her eyes seemed to shine through her face veil with a luminosity that could not be explained and that cannot be described—a light both bright and dim, warm and cold, both shimmering and glassy.


  “That was in February, and I went out to see Laura Nell again in April of that year. She never seemed more radiant to me than she did that spring. But the real reason for my visit was that during the month of March she had ceased to answer my letters and—in addition—I had learned from a mutual friend that Laura Nell Morris had made a March trip to New York to buy her spring and summer wardrobe—had done so, you understand, without letting me know she was in that part of the country. Her Easter outfit was a coatsuit of cerulean blue! I went to church with her and her family on Easter morning, and as I sat beside her in the family pew—and knelt beside her and rose with her to sing the old hymns—I think I was conscious in a way I had never been before of the glory of Laura Nell’s physical beauty, frankly conscious, that is to say, of the wonderfully womanly figure beneath the snug-fitting coatsuit. When the congregation sang the hymns and spoke the words of the psalm, it was only Laura Nell’s voice that I heard, and when I heard her I felt sure there had never been one of God’s creatures more thoroughly alive or so full of the joy of being so . . . On her head she wore a hat made entirely of feathers dyed the same shade as that of her suit. What a perfect hat it was for her—designed to complement the smooth texture of her skin as well as the reddish tints in her hair. Her eyes, which often seemed a gray-green, were pure blue that morning. Now and then during the service she turned to me and smiled. Each time she did so, I had the illusion immediately afterward that she had actually spoken to me and said what she could not possibly have said there.


  “But I had come home that time with a suspicion, and now that I had seen her I believed that my suspicion was bound to be confirmed. Even on my February visit I had observed that she was more attentive to her dress and to her appearance in general than she had ever been in the past. The brown velvet hat with cream-colored bows was not something she would have worn a year earlier. And since then there had been her trip to New York, and now the evidence of the satisfaction and pleasure she had taken in her shopping presented itself each time she appeared. There was a question in my mind that I could not go away without asking. I wanted to know who my rival was.


  “On Easter afternoon we went for a drive in her father’s trap. The little vehicle was spanking new, and drawn by a pretty bay mare that stepped along smartly. I drove the mare of course, and as we rode along Laura Nell took to counting the automobiles—the ‘machines,’ we called them—that were on the streets. She counted seven, and I suspect that represented the total number owned in the city at that time. It was a warm day for mid-April, but the sky was gray and overcast, and when finally we turned and headed for home I commented on what a dreary sky it was. ‘I don’t think it’s dreary at all,’ Laura Nell said. ‘It is a lovely shade of gray.’ When I looked at her with a skeptical smile, she said, ‘Is there any real reason why a gray sky cannot be thought as beautiful as a blue one?’


  “It seemed to me that she was trying to make a quarrel between us. Suddenly I asked: ‘Why have you stopped answering my letters?’


  “She looked straight ahead and gave a little shrug. ‘Letters are no good any more,’ she said. ‘I’ll always be glad to see you when you come, but let’s give up letters.’


  “ ‘Is there someone else, Laura Nell?’ I asked.


  “She didn’t answer until we had driven half a block. I watched her face, and what I felt most was pity. I could see it was going to be so hard for her to tell me. It was hard for her, and I can’t ever forget how she said it. ‘No, there is no one,’ she said. It was as though she wished with all her heart and soul that that had not been the answer she had to give me. After a moment she laughed, and actually slipped her arm through mine. A futile gesture and a meaningless laugh. There was no concealing the emptiness in her heart. There was nothing more I could say.


  “I didn’t see her again until she was taken ill in the summer of 1911, more than a year later . . . But I must tell you about something she had said to me long before that Easter. It was after she had already listened to me many a time on the subject of people like the Jenkinses and the Busbys. She had at first, you remember, found it very amusing to hear me describe how their family traits got on my nerves and how it annoyed me that they took refuge in a place that seemed willing to forgive them everything. Then, after a period during which she found it merely interesting or curious, she came to reject my criticism and showed that in her mind she associated herself and her own family with those people! It was while so disposed that she once said to me: ‘Since you are so critical of everyone else, and so intolerant, I wonder that you’re willing to forgive the terrible trait all we Morrises have in common.’


  “ ‘There is no such trait,’ I said. We were alone in the family parlor in the back of the house, and we were seated together in one of those wicker conversation chairs that are considered antiques nowadays but which were then merely hopelessly out of fashion and mid-Victorian and so, quite naturally, relegated to the back parlor. ‘There is no such trait in this family,’ I said, letting my eyes skip about the parlor walls from one gilt-framed studio portrait to another.


  “She tossed her head and laughed, and then looking me squarely in the eye she said, ‘Ours is worse than obesity or dirtiness. My redheaded grandfather used to point it out whenever someone said how unlike we all were, or whenever we bragged on ourselves in any way.’


  “ ‘Some of you have his red in your hair . . .’


  “ ‘Oh, it’s nothing like that,’ she said. ‘It is an unpardonable trait.’ She went on at great length, saying she supposed it was what kept them from ever wanting to leave home and that it made her feel very close to the very people that I was so ‘unsympathetic’ with. ‘I tell you what!’ she said at last, bringing her hand down on the wicker arm between us. ‘I’ll make a bargain with you. If ever you can guess what it is without asking anybody—without getting any hints even—then I’ll forgive you everything. Do you understand what I mean?’


  “I thought I understood what she meant, but I told her that I wanted no such bargain. If she could not accept me because she loved me, then I wouldn’t try to win her in a bargaining. I put it down as more of her silliness—as another of her jokes, and whenever she brought it up again I changed the subject.


  “After she was taken sick I used to go out to see her every three or four weeks—as often as I could get away from my work. They took her all about the country to different kinds of specialists, just trying to get a diagnosis, if nothing more. I have come to suppose that it must have been some kind of cancer that she had, but in those days one didn’t so much as breathe the word . . . When I would see her between her journeyings about the country to visit doctors, she enjoyed pointing out to me that doctors were quite as ignorant in other places as they were there. During the year that we did not see each other, Laura Nell had written to me occasionally, and I had always answered her letters, but in our letters and when I saw her afterward during her illness we wrote and spoke as old friends reminiscing about old, old times that had little relation to our present and future. Her mother, overhearing us once, took me aside and said that it broke her heart to hear Laura Nell talking that way—as though her youth, and even her life itself, were something in the past. I expressed my regret at having led her into that kind of conversation, but Mrs. Morris quickly reassured me, saying that it was not just with me that Laura Nell talked so. She confided in me that the doctors everywhere were as disturbed by her indifference to finding the cause and cure of her suffering as they were by her physical symptoms. Now, I am not going to tell you that Laura Nell Morris died because she lacked a will to live. I have no doubt that had she lived today the nature of her illness might have been better understood and that some means might have been found at least to retard the work of her disease. I am convinced that today we should not have had to watch her strength ebb away month after month without respite or restitution even for the briefest period. And, even as it was, the poor girl took a certain joy from the life that went on around her till the end. Her indifference was not to life but to illness. In fact, as illness drew those she loved closer about her she seemed almost to relish the condition. And, silly girl that she was, she would not think of what the final consequence might be. Or would not think of it in a serious way. If the worst should come, she told her mother, she could not imagine a ‘better worst’ than hers would be—with everybody she ‘cared about’ being so ‘darling’ to her and so ‘close at hand.’


  “It was after this and other similar remarks had been reported to me that I asked Mrs. Morris to walk out into her garden with me one afternoon. We went to the very spot where she had tried to console me, nearly two years before, with her accounts of Laura Nell’s practical jokes. It was in the late spring, this time, that we stood on the low terrace and looked back toward the house. Pink and white peonies were in bloom on the borders of the center path. There were red and white roses in the big square rose bed just below us. Jonquils and narcissuses had already gone, and the summer flowers were not in yet. There was no other color at all except the fresh verdure of the trees all around and the new foliage of the wistaria on the porch trellises. While we eyed the garden (both of us wishing, I believe, that we had the heart to speak of its beauty, or wishing that it were not so beautiful), I began to say mechanically the thing I had brought Mrs. Morris out there to hear. I cannot remember the words I used, but I told her that Laura Nell had once tried to tease me with the idea that there was some terrible family trait they all shared. I wondered if she knew what it was Laura Nell had in mind and, if so, would she be willing to tell me.


  “She gazed at me at first without comprehension. And so then I went on to say that it was something her grandfather used to mention when anyone pointed out how different they all were from each other. Mrs. Morris’s mouth fell open, and she stared at me as though I had spoken an obscenity. I believe I suffered more during the seconds that that lady’s eyes were so fixed on me than I did at any other time. But the pain was of short duration. Mrs. Morris suddenly turned away, and I could see that she had brought her hands up to her face and that she was pressing her fingertips against her eyes as if to force back tears. I stepped toward her and put one arm about her. I half expected her to draw away, but when she didn’t I took her in my arms and began trying to comfort her. That she permitted me to comfort her was the deepest consolation I could possibly have known. It was perhaps the most consoling moment of my adult life. It was as though my own parents had not been taken from me when I was only a boy really, as though I had had a sort of second chance that everyone wishes for with his mother. And presently she looked up at me and said, ‘I can tell you what Laura Nell meant.’ She was smiling now, and I knew from her voice that there would be no more tears. ‘It was only a grim little joke that Laura Nell’s grandfather used to make,’ she said, ‘and it is just like Laura Nell to have remembered it. He used to say that the Morrises were all alike in at least one respect: they all had to die some time or other . . . A fairly trite kind of joke, I used to think—and still think. I do apologize for having given way so just now.’


  “We stayed in the garden a few minutes longer. Then we walked back between the peonies to the house, and I went away without going up to see Laura Nell again. Next morning I took the train back East.


  “But ten days later I was there again. And now I resolved to carry through my original purpose. Seated at her bedside, I told Laura Nell that I had discovered what the Morrises’ dreadful failing was, and I gave proof of my knowledge. She lay with her eyes closed, and without making any sign that she understood me. But I continued. ‘I must remind you of your promise,’ I said. ‘Now you must get well so that you can keep your end of the bargain and marry me.’


  “She opened her eyes and smiled at me. I was filled with hope, for I actually believed—had believed from the start—that my scheme might work. I had thought that the very fatuousness of what I was attempting might appeal to Laura Nell, and I believed that even while she lay there already so near death she still possessed resources that would enable her to respond to a challenge of that kind. It was impossible for me to believe otherwise. When I was persuading her parents and her doctors to grant me that last quarter hour alone with her I concealed my purpose from them, but I think that they too believed I might work a magic with her.


  “I took the frail hand that lay on the coverlet and was about to say more when she asked in a whisper, ‘Did I make you such a promise?’


  “ ‘You did,’ I said. ‘Or that was how I understood you.’


  “ ‘You did not want to make the bargain, though.’


  “ ‘I had no choice.’


  “ ‘But the condition—’ she whispered. ‘I made a condition.’


  “I knew what she meant, and she saw at once that I did. And also at once I saw that she knew I had not met her condition.


  “ ‘You asked someone what it was,’ she said.


  “I nodded and bent down and kissed her hand in an effort to hide my face.


  “ ‘Well, I forgive you anyway,’ she said. ‘I think I understand you better than in the old days . . . It is a little frightening even at best . . . Probably it is just as well always to run away from it.’ Until that moment I had never understood what our differences were or realized how close we were to each other. But when I raised my head, her eyes were already closed, and I never saw them open again . . . The doctors could not predict how long she might linger, and so I was not there at the end. The telegram saying that she had died came on the third of July. I went out to the funeral, of course, and when I returned to Washington my first assignment to a foreign post was awaiting me.


  “For a number of years I corresponded with Mrs. Morris, and of course I always called on the family on the rare occasions when some matter of my property took me back there. This was not often, though, and I eventually got rid of all my interests that made the trips necessary. Gradually over the years I have lost touch with everyone there. None of them ever comes over here for any length of time except an occasional stray lamb like yourself. When they come, they come only as tourists or—nowadays—on flying business trips; and invariably the first question they have to ask a person like myself is, don’t I ever get ‘the least bit’ homesick. What rot. What utter rot! It’s something more than home they’re sick for, if only they knew. She knew at the last. And knew it was no better to welcome and want the inevitable than to turn your back on it and let it overtake you when and wherever it will. I say they’d do better to stay at home altogether than to come the way they do. Their little tours abroad must be as painful to them as my little excursions back home were to me after Laura Nell was dead. But, anyhow, I seldom see them when they do come. In the profession that I followed, I learned at last not to complicate my life with entertaining the tourists.”


  Demons


  


  HOW ARE they to be explained, the voices one heard as a child? I was seven. My father had left me waiting in the car for more than an hour while he walked over a tract of densely wooded bottom land he owned. I was not alone in the car. My older brother was there with me, but he soon fell asleep. I wasn’t frightened; I was merely hot and bored. Since my brother had fallen asleep with his head against my shoulder, I dared not move a muscle. As a kind of consolation, I suppose, my father had left his pocket watch with me. It was a big gold watch, as thick as a biscuit, and it had once belonged to my grandfather. On the gold lid that snapped over the face were engraved the letters “L.P.,” which were my own initials as well as my grandfather’s and father’s. On the face of the watch the hours were marked in black Roman numerals that I could not yet read with any certainty. I sat watching the second hand go round. The minutes passed very slowly. I heard the dry sounds of the insects in the tall grass nearby and listened to the thirsty cries of the birds flying over the low-lying woods toward the bayou. When at last my father returned, I told him about a voice that had spoken to me during his absence. At first, the voice had repeated my name very softly several times—“Louis Price . . . Louis Price . . . Louis Price.” Then, later, in an even softer tone, it had said to me, “You are not Louis Price. You are the Lost Dauphin.” My father laughed merrily when I told him all this, and afterward it became a family joke. One of my uncles said I was already manifesting a strong family trait—delusions of grandeur. The only thing about the incident that irritated my father was that I should maintain I did not know who the Lost Dauphin was, and had never heard of him before. But I maintain to this day that I did not and had not.


  Now and then I find myself in conversation with someone who insists he never heard voices as a child—voices he could not explain. But I believe him no more than I believed the man I knew in the army who said he did not dream at night and was not able to imagine what a dream was like. Obviously, that man in the army was lying, and only for the sake of making himself interesting. But that’s not the psychology of those who say they never heard voices when they were children. You will notice one thing about such people: it is not only the voices they don’t remember, they remember almost nothing about their childhood. Whatever they do remember will be related, more often than not, to some experience connected with growing up, with putting childhood behind them, with mere recognition of the adult point of view. My brother, for instance, takes no stock nowadays in my talk about voices. He says I never heard anything he didn’t hear, by which he means to say I heard nothing. But, mark you, though my brother is two years older than I, he has only the vaguest recollection of anything about that day our father took us with him to the low ground near the Forked Deer River, whereas I can recall almost every detail of the expedition—the deep-rutted red clay road we traveled from town, the elderberry bushes that scratched the sides of the car, a dead sycamore tree that stood alone on a little knoll ten yards from where we were left waiting, the sounds of the insects, the cries of the birds. But, on the other hand, why my brother and I happened to be taken along that day I have no idea. And when and why my father had acquired that tract of land and when and how he disposed of it are matters I know nothing about. These are questions that my brother might be able to answer.


  When I was even younger—I will not say how much younger, for fear of not being believed—a voice once interrupted my play to speak prophetic words to me. On our front lawn, there in the little town in West Tennessee where I spent the first eight years of my life, were two giant chestnut trees. Since this was in the days before the blight, they were real chestnuts, not horse chestnuts. In September, the burs fell from the branches and covered the ground underneath. I learned early in life to open the burs with a minimum of finger pricking. And I devoured the meat of the nuts with such relish that the sound of my “mm-mmm”s sometimes reached my mother’s ears through the open window of her sitting room. She used to declare that the first time she heard me out there she mistook the noises I made for the humming of bees under the apricot trees that grew nearer the house.


  I not only ate the chestnuts; I used to play for hours with the burs, stacking them into neat pyramids or fashioning mountainous landscapes like none I’d ever seen, like none that ever existed, except perhaps on some other planet. It was while I squatted there at my play one afternoon that I heard the slow clop-clop of a horse’s hoofs on the macadam street that went past our house. I may have experienced some premonition of who the rider would be before I looked around; I cannot be sure about that. I am sure only that before I looked I heard a voice that seemed to come right out of the tree trunk saying, “Ruin. Ruin.” When I glanced over my shoulder, I saw that the horseman was our cousin Talbot Williamson. He was a big, barrel-chested man, and he sat very straight in the saddle. I got up off the ground and walked down to the iron fence that enclosed our place, and I stood there watching the erect figure on the horse until the horse and rider had passed all the way up the street and over the rise, beyond which, I knew, the town street turned into a country road. The sight of the straight figure sitting astride the horse stirred in me strange feelings of envy and admiration—and of dread. And when the figure had passed out of sight, the memory of it seemed no less mysterious to me than the voice I had heard coming out of the tree trunk.


  Cousin Talbot Williamson was a man of about my father’s age, and he lived five miles from town in an old clapboard house that my great-grandfather had built in the antebellum days. He farmed the old homeplace, and he and his wife lived out there without an automobile, without servants, even without electricity or plumbing in the house. All the relatives thought it their privilege or perhaps their duty to pay calls on Cousin Talbot and Cousin Carrie from time to time. A visit usually included a tour of the house lot, a look through the house, and then a half hour of talk about “old times.” The women in the family disliked Cousin Talbot. They said he was a “vain egoist” and that he imagined himself a lady-killer. But they felt sorry for Cousin Carrie, who at thirty already seemed an old woman, and they thought her entitled to a little female company now and then.


  I believe it was on a Thursday or a Friday afternoon that I watched Cousin Talbot ride past our house. At any rate, on the following Sunday my father decided it was time for us to pay a visit to the homeplace. I believe that there was nothing unusual about our visit that Sunday. Actually, it is the only such visit I can remember making, but in later years my mother assured me that we had spent many a Sunday afternoon out there. She said my father always imagined we were more welcome at Cousin Talbot’s than we actually were. And I am absolutely certain that I had been there before, because in my memory of that day, nothing seems unfamiliar. After the preliminary walk about the place, the adults retired to the kitchen for their talk. My impression is that Cousin Talbot and Cousin Carrie occupied only two or three rooms toward the rear of the ground floor. The rest of the house was like a barn, and we children were turned loose to amuse ourselves wandering through the empty hallways and rooms.


  We found little to interest us and we didn’t have a very lively time. In what had been the front parlor, my two sisters, both older than I, discovered a ragged and faded old corset, and they quarreled over who had seen it first. But when the younger girl, who was my brother’s twin, began to cry, my brother took her part, and the older girl had to give in. She had a moral victory, however, because as soon as she had relinquished the corset she pointed out that the stays had already been removed. There was nothing useful to be salvaged from it. Everywhere else, we found only stacks of old newspapers and empty cardboard boxes. In one of the upstairs rooms, Cousin Talbot kept rabbits, but since we had been warned not to go in there, we had only glimpses of the rabbits through the keyhole. None of us held back when Mother called from the foot of the staircase to say it was time to go home and fix Sunday night supper.


  We must have left for home about four-thirty or five. Six hours later, the house my great-grandfather had built had burned to the ground. Talbot Williamson was not there when the fire broke out, and when the nearest neighbors arrived, Cousin Carrie was hysterical and could not make it clear whether or not she knew where her husband was. I suppose she might have been able to guess, but even afterward she never made it clear what or how much she knew. By the time Talbot arrived on the scene, his wife had been taken away by some of her own kinspeople. The two of them never saw each other again.


  Those who were present at the fire reported that it was not long before midnight when Talbot Williamson came galloping up. His horse was in a terrible lather. Someone rushed up to assure him that his wife was safe, but the information seemed to make no impression on him. Without dismounting, he looked about him at the assemblage of neighbors and for several minutes gazed into the flames that were by then consuming the last of the oak timbers. Finally, he turned his horse away and rode off at a walk toward the watering trough and the barn. Everyone waited expectantly for him to reappear on foot. Instead, after ten minutes or so, he came galloping up from the barn on his horse, and, without looking to left or right and yet choosing a course between the onlooking neighbors and the fire, he galloped through the house lot, out the gateway in the picket fence, and down the lane to the main road. It was the last his neighbors would ever see of him; his relatives had already seen their last. Next morning, the body of his dead horse was found at the roadside ten miles away. Two days later, news came that a married woman in a neighboring town, whose name had long been connected with Talbot’s, had vanished that same night.


  I heard these details and others reported to my parents by eyewitnesses of the scene. I knew, without their saying, how erect he must have held himself as he rode back past the burning timbers of the house. And the image aroused in me the same feelings of envy, admiration, and dread that I had known standing by the iron fence a few days before.


  


  Please do not attempt to find any consistency or try to uncover any buried significance in the kind of utterances I heard. Sometimes they were prophetic, at other times either genuinely profound or crudely sententious. Sometimes they were amusing, even joshing. They were exactly like the voices you remember hearing—unless, of course, you happen to be one of the number who have forgotten childhood and who think that a child is merely an immature man or woman. If that is the case, you will already have decided that I was an abnormal child and that I have never quite got over it. I can assure you that I have completely got over it—if abnormal I was. I move about the world like anyone else and enjoy a reasonable success in my chosen profession. And I abhor mystics. I shall not be making references to myself as an adult after this, but it may interest you to learn that I now have two adolescent children who already know next to nothing about what it was like to be a child. Further, like yourself, perhaps, I have been married not once but several times, and in each instance— But, no, I have said enough to convince you that my adult life has not been so very different from yours, or at any rate not so different from that of a certain number of your friends. No more about any of that.


  Even when you are a child, it is difficult to get other children to admit to the voices they hear. And the mistake I made from a very early time was in speaking so frankly on the subject. I don’t remember telling anyone specifically about the voice that came from the trunk of the chestnut tree. Possibly at that time my voices seemed such an ordinary part of my experience that I didn’t always bother to mention them. But a few years later, I was forever making that mistake. I can still see the queer look—it was always the same—on the faces of children I made listen to me. It was not an expression of disbelief but one of disgust. They seemed to say, Don’t you know, Louis Price, it is in bad taste to speak of such things? Still later, after I had given up hearing any voices but those of the people around me, I once saw precisely that same expression come over the face of an older boy to whom I confided that when I got out of school I wished to become either an actor or an artist. I knew before I said it that the boy had similar ambitions. But after that day he ignored my existence and never gave me a chance to speak to him again.


  You can see that though I always did well enough in school, I was never quick to learn what people thought of me otherwise. I was born without the instinct to defend myself in a fight, or even the instinct to pursue an ordinary polite conversation with people I wished to make friends of. And yet these deficiencies of mine did not seem to matter so much in those days before I consciously began listening to the voices of other people and formally forswore hearing voices that came out of the air, from the trunks of trees, and even sometimes out of the mouths of small animals.


  


  I was standing on the school steps one afternoon, waiting for my brother’s class to be let out. Again I was feeling rather bored with life. We were no longer living in the old town in West Tennessee. My brother and I were in a city school, and my brother’s class was kept an hour later than mine. Every day, I waited there on the steps until the hour when he was let out and our colored chauffeur came to pick us up. Sometimes there were other small children waiting, but on this particular day I was alone. All at once, I saw a big dun-colored rabbit hopping across the green lawn. I hadn’t then lived in a city long enough to know how thickly populated by rabbits and squirrels such “residential” neighborhoods often are. When presently the rabbit stopped and spoke to me, I was hardly more amazed than I had been by his very appearance there. He stopped in the center of the school lawn, lifted up one front foot rather daintily, and said to me, “Good morning to you, Bonaparte.” That he should call me “Bonaparte” and that he said “good morning” when it was really afternoon seemed hilariously funny to me and sent me into gales of laughter. At the sound of my loud laughter, of course, the rabbit hopped briskly away into the hedge.


  I was still laughing when my brother and his classmates burst through the doorway behind me. They wanted to know at once what I was laughing at, but as I began telling them, I saw the angry patches of red coming into my brother’s face. I watched his lips as he drawled my name threateningly: “Lou-ou-is.” Then I saw him draw back his arm, and before I could dodge the blow, he had struck me on the side of the head with the heel of his hand. I did not fight back and I did not cry. I simply sat down on the steps and remained there until all the others except my brother had gone. He leaned against the rail on the far side of the steps, looking at me with hatred. Finally, I got up and we walked together in silence to the car, where the chauffeur was waiting, as always, slouched behind the afternoon paper.


  There is one incident from the earlier time—before we had moved, that is—which I very naturally find embarrassing but which must be recounted, because it is such a happy memory. I was seated on the toilet in the downstairs bathroom that opened off the back porch. It was summertime, and the door stood open. I had watched Alice, the cook, pass along the porch several times, performing little last-minute tasks. In those days, small-town cooks went home after midday dinner and returned at sundown to fix supper. Presently, I saw Alice start across the porch to the back steps, wearing her hat. She hesitated a moment and looked in through the bathroom doorway at me. She had been my nurse until a year or so before, when the old cook had quit. I was fond of her, and I knew that she was fond of me. She looked in at me with her lips pressed tightly together, but I heard a voice like hers asking, “Are you going to sit on that Christmas tree all day?” My voices rarely had such a definite character as that one had, and somehow that accounts for part of the pleasure I derived from the incident.


  Alice disappeared for a moment but soon came into my line of vision again as she walked down the path through my father’s vegetable garden. She carried a paper sack under one arm, and at the foot of the garden she slowed her pace and began rather boldly filling her sack with a half dozen or so of his ripe tomatoes and two or three cucumbers. When she had filled it, she lifted her free hand and waved to me. And when I waved back, it gave me a feeling of immense satisfaction.


  As soon as she had passed on into the alley beyond, and out of my sight, I heard another voice—one of my usual voices, without any special quality or character—say, “Now what have you done?” The tone was both accusing and exultant. I thought about what had been said by both voices for a moment, and then I burst into laughter. I found the whole incident highly amusing.


  


  It is a much later time. It is a Saturday morning. I have somehow been roped into a game of baseball. Since I have no instinct for throwing or catching a ball—and as yet no learned ability—I am sent to the outfield, where I won’t matter so much. The team at bat has one out and two men on base. Their best hitter steps up to the plate and hits a high, easy ball that begins an arc that I know is going to end right in my glove. I am hypnotized by the little planet moving so inevitably toward me, and I could not run away from it if I tried. And then there is the plop in my glove and I am holding on to the ball desperately. As if from far, far away, I hear the cheers of my teammates; immediately, and from the same far distance, they are calling out for me to throw the ball. Almost any throw will mean a double play and the retirement of the other team. I lift the ball in my right hand, draw back my arm. And over that shoulder comes the quiet voice: “Time passes. You haven’t got forever.” I freeze.


  I remain frozen there, holding the ball high over my head. I know that I am not going to throw it. I understand that the words do not refer to my throwing the ball. Voices never instruct about practical things of the moment. It is only cruel irony when they seem to. Better for me to avoid even the appearance of not understanding them when I do. I could, in my clumsy fashion, get the ball at least as far as second base. It would be to my inestimable benefit and gain. But I continue to stand there holding on to the ball. I do not listen to the shouts of the other boys. I am tempted to listen, but the incentive is not great enough—is not clear enough yet. I must go on listening to the other voices for a few more years yet. I see my brother advancing toward me across the field, accompanied by a boy who is even younger than I am and who will be my replacement. My brother comes toward me with a look that warns I had just better not dare try one of my explanations on him. He is on to me now—for life.


  I hand him the ball and give up my glove to the other boy. As I amble off in the direction of the new, big house our family has recently moved into, I feel no humiliation or regret at having been put out of the game. I only feel depressed by what the voice said. It makes no sense whatever to me; I understand it perfectly. I am filled with a deep, unhappy satisfaction. That’s how it was.


  


  I was eight and a half when we moved away from the country town. After the move, my mother and father were never happy together again. But they were not finally divorced until I was in high school, and their discontent with each other as man and woman did not seem to affect very much the happiness of our family life during those years. They never quarreled violently—or not in the presence of us children. Usually I was no more disturbed by the quarrels I did hear between them than by the bickering that increased among us children as we grew older. It seemed natural and inevitable. And when the divorce came at last, that seemed merely the same kind of event as the graduation of my older sister from college or the twins’ graduation from high school. Perhaps it was because I didn’t really listen to their quarrels that I was not usually disturbed. Sometimes, though, without even listening to what they were actually saying, I would experience a vague disquietude—really a dissatisfaction with my own state more than with theirs. I sensed that whereas our bickering always seemed pointless, their quarreling had a mysterious point to it that made it worthwhile.


  After they had got their divorce, I was to hear each of my parents explain in almost identical terms what had happened to their marriage. They said that, following the move, the changed circumstances in their lives let them see how really unsuited to each other they had always been. This was the easiest thing for them to say and to try to believe, so long afterward. But I don’t suppose they truly believed it. They were no more ill-matched than most couples are, and I doubt whether their first misconceptions about each other had been very extraordinary ones. I suspect the fact is that they had once been very much in love and that the babies born of that love gave them great satisfaction. Perhaps the satisfaction was so nearly complete that by the time their babies were no longer babies but little people racing in and out of the house, they knew the need again to feel and make felt their own separate individualities. It is not too shameful a possibility to consider, I think—not when you reflect that that is all that seems real to most of us beyond a certain point, and that beyond that point we are committed to nothing but pursuing that reality. I remember all too clearly the elation both of them expressed at the prospect of leaving the town where their children were born and had grown out of babyhood. I believe their elation was a joyful anticipation of something more than just my father’s rise in the world. What I am most certain of is that the changes in their life—the move and their altered relationship—only just happened to coincide, and that it was for us children the happiest of coincidences. It was like meter and rhyme. The one thing made the other seem natural and inevitable. And if it had not happened so, we children might not have got the right impression about the naturalness and inevitability of either thing.


  There is not much more I have to say about my parents. In his new life, my father took up tennis and handball, but I know that he never got to be any real good at playing tennis singles and that he disliked doubles. My mother teased him about persevering so in something that he could not excel in, and said she believed he fancied himself in his white tennis shorts and sport shirt. He was no more than forty at the time, and it was true that he did look rather like a college boy whenever he set out for the University Club in his tennis garb.


  I remember his coming home late for dinner one night and explaining to us that he had been playing handball. My mother laughed skeptically and said, “Handball, indeed!” Father blushed and then he looked at her for some time without speaking. There was no quarrel, but on another occasion I remember his making a comparable remark to her. She was an excellent horsewoman. In the country town, and while her children were small, she had not ridden much. But in her new surroundings that was all changed. There was the fall horse show and the spring horse show, and it seems to me that she was always preparing for the one or the other. We usually went to see her ride and sat in a box applauding her every time she went by. Sometimes she rode her own horse, but more often it was the horse of one of her friends. Father had bought a small suburban estate, and some of our neighbors kept fine stables. Mother often rode before breakfast. Once, she returned just as Father was leaving for his office.


  “We missed you at breakfast!” he called to her from his car.


  “Sorry I didn’t make it,” she replied, peering down into the car from her horse.


  “Out riding with the young squires again, eh?” he said. Then he drove off, without any further exchange between them. I am not sure whether he said “squires” or “squire,” but I don’t think it makes much difference which it was.


  I became fast friends with both my parents after I was grown, and I make it a rule never to inquire into those parts of my friends’ lives, past or present, that don’t concern me. In the case of my parents as friends, I have possibly been spared gossip that mutual friends would ordinarily have supplied. And possibly, because they were my parents, my memory has spared me a good deal, too. But my memory has not spared me with regard to a dream I once had. It was a year or so after I had given up hearing my voices. In the dream I saw my mother and father seated side by side in a rope swing. They were terribly crowded, of course, and couldn’t make themselves comfortable. Every time the swing went up in the air, one of them would almost fall out. And then I dreamed I heard one of my old voices saying, “Oh, ouch—oh, ouch, ouch, ouch!” I woke up laughing, and what seemed so funny to me was that that was not the kind of thing my real voices would ever have said.


  


  Before I conclude, before I tell you about how I finally hushed the voices I heard as a child, I must relate two incidents that involve my brother’s twin sister. She was ten years old when we left the country town. From that time, she and our older sister were sent to a girls’ day school. And from about that time the old closeness and loyalty between her and her twin brother ceased to exist. Suddenly it was as though she were two or three years older than he, and during the rest of their lives they have remained almost totally indifferent to each other. But she began to take an interest in me. She mothered me and played babyish games with me that she would not have played with anyone her own age—games of hide-and-seek, usually, in which even I didn’t take much pleasure at my age.


  Since our parents did a good deal of traveling in those days—sometimes together, sometimes separately—we children were left alone in the house for relatively long periods with only the servants to look after us. (These servants, I should point out, were always imported from our country town and were almost like relatives to us. One of them was a woman of some education. She had gone up North to a Negro college and had even taught school for a while when she first came home. She used to help me with my lessons, and one night, when we had put aside the books, I confided to her that I wanted to be an artist when I grew up. “Do you love nature?” she asked. I was stunned by the question, and after some deliberation I had to admit that I did not love nature. “Then you can’t ever be an artist,” she said. She was a superior kind of woman, but I am afraid I have never quite forgiven her for not pursuing her education further before she came to work in our kitchen. Another of these servants was a palmist, and she read in my palm that I was going to be a fine musician. “You’ll probably play the fiddle, like your granddaddy,” she said. But I knew even at that age that I was tone-deaf, and I was a long time in regaining my faith in palmistry.) When we children played, the whole house was our province, and no games were too rough. Things got broken now and then, but it didn’t seem to matter much. My brother and one of his friends, seizing two curiously shaped sticks that I had brought home from a walk in the woods, played at jousting one night in the front drawing room. Suddenly the friend lifted his stick above his head and struck directly into the crystal chandelier. It was an enormous antique fixture that my mother had bought in New Orleans. When the boy heard the crash above him, he threw down the stick and covered his face with his hands, but he didn’t move from beneath the chandelier. For at least three or four minutes, he stood there with his hands over his face while the prisms dropped all about him like melting icicles. Another time, our older sister and one of her beaux, in a fit of high spirits and for no other good reason, rode their horses up on the front porch and into the front hall. The scars that the horseshoes made in the floor were too deep ever to be removed. But I don’t believe there were complaints from my parents in either instance.


  Whereas in the country we had been made to feel that nothing in our house was replaceable, now everything was apparently replaceable or expendable. I remember thinking that this was merely a sign of our increased prosperity, and in part it may have been that. At any rate, my sister and I seldom broke anything during our games. We played quietly, hiding from each other in such incredible places that it sometimes took three-quarters of an hour for one of us to find the other. One afternoon, I hid in a compartment of the sideboard in the dining room. I had been there for quite some time. I was in an especially cramped position, because this was the compartment in which my mother’s cut-glass wedding presents were kept and I had managed to coil myself about cruets, pitchers, and decanters without actually touching a single piece. Before my sister finally found me, I had got in very depressed spirits and had heard a voice saying to me in the darkness, “There is no one god. And there was no beginning and there will be no end.”


  When my sister opened the compartment door, I told her immediately that I had heard a voice that said, “There is no god.” I don’t know why I censored it. Possibly I knew that “There is no god” would not sound so blasphemous to her as “There is no one god.”


  She looked in at me curiously, observing how I was coiled about the glassware. “Louis, you had better be careful,” she began, and I thought she was going to say that I was apt to break a piece of the glass getting out. “You had better be careful,” she said, “or you will turn out to be some kind of preacher, or something, the way everybody says.”


  This was the first inkling I had ever had that there was something “everybody” said about me, and it gave me a shock that I don’t suppose I ever entirely recovered from. For the moment, however, I stuck it somewhere in the back of my mind. And its only immediate effect was to make me kick over one of the decanters as I was crawling out of my hiding place. The glass stopper rolled out onto the floor, and though the decanter didn’t break, to my astonishment—and to my sister’s—the thing turned out to be filled with a dark, sweet-smelling wine. Before I could right the bottle, some of the wine had gushed out onto the carpet and left a stain there that no amount of scrubbing and cleaning, on our part or the servants’, could ever expunge.


  Several days passed, or perhaps even more time, before I thought again of what the voice had said to me when I was hidden in the sideboard. Possibly this lapse of time and the revelation my sister had made to me combined to rob the message of any powerful impact. It was the only religious or irreligious—whichever—utterance I ever heard from my voices, and the impression it made was not very considerable. Any suggestion of infinity, however, could always depress me somewhat when I was a child. For instance, on the cover of my Baby Ray reader, in the first grade at school, was a picture of Baby Ray himself holding a copy of his Baby Ray reader with a picture of Baby Ray himself holding . . . , et cetera, et cetera. A glance at that cover could put me into a morbid frame of mind for the rest of the school day. I shall never forget the joy I knew when the teacher set aside the last hour of school one afternoon to instruct us in making brown-paper jackets for our readers; I believe the quickness and thoroughness with which I dispatched the job made a lasting impression on the teacher and may account for my getting off to a very good start in school. I used to be similarly affected by the seeming infinity of reflections in barbershop mirrors, and I would sometimes embarrass my brother by sitting through a whole haircut with my eyes closed. Anyway, the recollection of what I had heard in the sideboard affected me no more profoundly or lastingly than those experiences did.


  Though my sister befriended and mothered me during this period, she was also my chief tormentor. She tormented me, that is, with her confidences. I don’t precisely remember it, but I am sure that she must have begun pouring out her sorrows to me as soon as I had crawled out of the sideboard that day. I am sure of it because that is the way it always was. At least half the time we spent together was given over to my listening to her accounts of injuries other people had done her and to her grievances against her fate in general. I usually listened in silence, and at night I tossed in my bed thinking of how unjustly she was used and of how unhappy she was. She said she was the most unpopular girl in her class at school. The other girls ignored her and thought her clothes were tacky. And why shouldn’t they think so, she would ask rhetorically. For although we had as much money as anybody else, didn’t Mother make her wear some of the dresses her sister had worn to the same school two and three years before? And Mother and Father frequently included Sister in their social plans but said she was too young. They encouraged Sister to try out for the steeplechase but said she was too young. It was easy enough to see who their favorite was. None of her teachers valued her, either, and some of them went out of their way to find fault with her work and humiliate her before her classmates. She could not blame her own twin brother for being ashamed to walk down the street beside her. After all, she was already two inches taller than he, and there was no predicting how tall she might get to be before she was even given a chance to put on high heels. . . . She had inherited all the worst physical traits from both sides of the family. . . . She had never met a boy her own age who did not find her repulsive. . . .


  One day, I made a drawing of her, working entirely, so I thought, from a small snapshot. I believe it was my very first attempt at human portraiture. Previously, I had spent many, many hours copying pictures of animals out of magazines and sometimes drawing our pets from life. My efforts had been very well received by all the family. My brother was especially admiring of my horses. I think it was the only accomplishment of mine he ever respected, though eventually he became disgusted with me even about that. At first, he took my horse pictures to school as gifts for friends. Later, he began selling them to the other boys. He grew impatient, however, when I could not fill his orders fast enough. When I was unable to teach him to draw the horses as I did, in order to supply the demand, he was irritated beyond measure. He would not believe that I knew no principles, no guiding rules, that I could pass on to him. He stormed at me, he broke his pencil across his knee and tore up his paper. I was dismayed and gave up drawing altogether for a while.


  But after dinner one night, I brought out the drawing I had made of my sister. Both my parents were present, and both were delighted with the drawing. They exchanged the kind of warm glances that only something one of us children said or did could call forth in those days. They could hardly even believe it was my handiwork. Even my older sister and my brother were astonished by the “real likeness.” But while these others admired the portrait, the subject herself remained in a far corner of the sunroom where we had gathered. As I have already stated, I was convinced that I had worked entirely from the snapshot, but there can be no doubt that I had also worked from memory—from the image of my sister’s face as it appeared during those long confidences I had listened to. Presently, my mother said to my sister, “Come over here and see yourself. It’s a fine likeness, and you’re very beautiful.” Then, laughing quietly, with her eyes on the drawing again, she added, “He makes you out rather a mournful beauty, I must admit, but—”


  At that moment, my sister, whose eyes had been directed toward me all along, suddenly sprang from her chair, shouting at me, “How hateful of you, Louis Price! How dreadful you are! How cruel!” She had not even seen the picture, and I don’t think it was Mother’s description that inspired the outburst. She made a dash from the room, but she chose a route close enough to where the rest of us were gathered to get a glimpse of my drawing. “Hideous!” she said as she went by.


  “I thought she might like it,” I said after she was gone, though I am not sure I was telling the truth.


  “You had better put it away for a while,” Mother said. “It is just that she is at a very self-conscious age.”


  Regardless of whether I had thought she would like my doing the picture, I was genuinely sorry that I had so wounded her, and wished that I had not shown the drawing to anyone. I did not understand her self-consciousness. She was a great mystery to me, and though I wanted to explain to her what it was that had moved me to draw her picture, I did not even know where to begin. I was no more able to tell her why I drew it than I would have been able to tell my brother how I did it. All was over between my sister and me from then on. Like my brother she was now on to me—for life.


  


  I was not yet on to myself, however. My voices continued to speak to me now and then for another three years, until I was a year older than my sister was that day. As an adult, I can see some kind of connection—I will not deny it—between that episode and what began soon afterward. But the connection is not relevant to my purpose. My purpose is to keep always in mind the value the events had for the child I still was, the child whose experience and logic I still do not contradict.


  When I was about fourteen years old, I began imagining myself in love with nearly every little girl who came into my acquaintance. I say “imagining” because of course I know I could not have been in love as often as I seemed to be. I knew this even at the time. I knew that in some instances my love was self-deceptive and in others it was real. If I were to take the trouble, I could distinguish for you even now between the little girls I was truly in love with and those I deceived myself about. I recently came across an old schoolbook of mine in which the names of twenty-seven girls were listed in my handwriting on the flyleaf. Glancing down the list, I felt my pulse quicken as I caught sight of certain names. Others only brought a smile, or sometimes a frown, when I could not quite recall a face or even recollect if this was a girl I had known in our neighborhood or at the skating rink or at school or at dancing class. I find no difficulty in accounting for the large number. It was almost inevitable, since my attentions were invariably rejected. The little brunette or blonde or redhead was either frightened or sent into giggles by my sudden determination to walk beside her down the school corridor or to skate beside her, with hands crisscrossed, around the rink.


  I am sure it was my complete silence that made me seem so sinister or so outrageously funny to all those little girls. But speak to them I could not. My attentions were always solemn and wordless. At dancing class, I once wrote the same girl’s name after every number on my program and then walked over to where she was standing and held up the card for her to see, exactly as though she and I were two deaf-mutes. Unfortunately, from the girl’s point of view, I had got to her before any other boy had had a chance to ask her for a dance, and she responded by bursting into tears. The dancing master reprimanded me, of course, but I can still remember how beautiful she looked with her face flushed and her eyes moist with tears, and I wasn’t altogether sorry for what I had done. Before the next meeting of the dancing class, I had already given my heart to someone else—because it is quite as true for a child as it is for an adult that once he has been in love, being out of love is an unbearable state and one that he will not endure a moment longer than he must.


  To some people, the child they once were is like a brother or a sister who died young. My father had a brother who lived to be only eleven; my mother had a sister who died at eight. How tenderly each of them has always remembered the child in the family who died—how tenderly and how dimly! That child who died is the child they remember the most about, and the least. What a wealth of details and anecdotes can be recalled! But what the true nature of the child’s experiences was, what life really seemed like to him, is all beyond knowing and beyond mattering. The child is dead. The only difference is that the child who went on to death, instead of adulthood, will have many allowances and concessions made with respect to magical experiences he was said to have had. He wasn’t like other children! He was in such harmony with the natural world about him! Or: It was almost as though she were never fully committed to life in this world! Or: On his deathbed, only a few minutes before he was taken, he rose up from his pillow and said to his mother, “Don’t you hear that lovely singing? Is it the angels, Mother?”


  My voices, whatever they were, were not the voices of angels. They never spoke except when they had something interesting or amusing to say to me. And I might never have given up hearing them had they themselves not been finally so amenable to the break and at the same time disposed to let the decision be mine. Angels could not possibly have been so self-effacing or so unwilling to stand in the way of all the future happiness and unhappiness to which I was entitled.


  Dancing class was held from eight until nine-thirty on Friday evenings. My brother and I were regularly delivered and fetched home by the chauffeur. During the first half hour, the boys and girls, in two separate rooms, were given instruction in the dance steps of the day. At precisely eight-thirty, the little girls were herded in through a door at one end of the main ballroom, the boys through a door at the opposite end. For several minutes, the girls remained huddled down at their end and the boys milled about at the other—each trying to appear unaware of the others’ presence. But at last the dancing master took his place in the center of the parquet, bowed formally to the balcony, where there would be a scattering of parents and a somewhat larger number of maids and chauffeurs, and then raised one hand high above his head and clacked his black castanets.


  For the girls this was the signal to fan out across their end of the room and take their “separate and individual” stances. It was the signal for the boys to advance on the girls. And advance we did, armed with our little purple pencils dangling on gold cords from our program cards, and each of us—consciously or unconsciously—trying to imitate the gait of a father or the strut of some older boy admired at school. As we approached the girls, a whispering went up from them like the whispering of trees, and we marched fiercely and possessively into their midst as into a lovely woods that we had been ordered to take at any cost—at any cost to ourselves, at any cost, presumably, to the lovely woods. Invariably, after such a beginning, everything about the hour of fox-trotting and two-stepping that followed seemed anticlimactic. The presence of the dancing master, his wife, and their two assistants, as well as that of the observers in the balcony, insured its being a dull, tedious, uneventful time.


  But it was the custom that after the class small private parties were held at the houses of the members. And the time came when my brother got up one of these parties. Since it was to be held at our house, I was told that I might—that I must, in fact—invite one of the girls to come as my “date.” The girl I chose was one whose name appears on that list in the old schoolbook I came across, and hers was one of the names that could, as recently as a few weeks ago, still cause my pulse to quicken. An unlikely kind of name it was, too, yet there it is in the old book, written down correctly, with all its many consonants accounted for and in their right order: “Yvonne Schmidt.” (Alas, these few more weeks have not lessened its effect.) When I stood before her, holding on tightly to my little pencil and twirling the program card at the other end of the cord, and asked in a whisper if she would come with me to the party at our house, I could not really hear my own voice above the chatter there in the ballroom. Afterward, I was not certain that I had spoken the words. Perhaps Yvonne read my lips, or perhaps she read the invitation in my eyes, or perhaps she had wanted so for me to ask her that she imagined she actually heard the question. She accepted immediately.


  There is no need holding back what happened at the party at our house. As soon as we had walked through the front door, Yvonne ditched me. She ditched me for the one she loved. I had not guessed it—there was no way I could have—but she was mad for my brother, and she wouldn’t have scorned any means of obtaining an invitation to his party.


  But from the moment she accepted until the moment when we walked together through the front door of my house was by no means a short period of time for one of my attachments to last. Even in retrospect, it seems like a rather long time. Remember that I was a child still, and that time passes differently in childhood. At any rate, the experience—if not quite the duration of the time itself—was comparable to an unfortunate first marriage that influential parents manage, by hook or crook, to end with an annulment. Yes, like that—followed by the same feelings of frustration, emptiness, betrayal. But in one sense it was also like that second marriage about which one has so many illusions and which one would do almost anything to save except that one has, quite by chance, overheard those amusing and unforgettable remarks about oneself exchanged between the wife of one’s bosom and her lover. Yes, there was some of that same disenchantment with world and with self.


  I rode home from dancing class with Yvonne at my side, the two of us sitting on the little jump seats in my mother’s limousine. My brother and his girl were in the back seat. They kept up a steady flow of conversation. It never occurred to me to imitate their kind of drivel. Most of the way, I sat looking out the window, wishing I knew which kind of things Yvonne would most enjoy hearing me say. I finally decided that probably it would just come to me naturally once we were out of the car and inside the house. But, of course, I never had a chance to find out whether or not anything would have come to me.


  Although dancing class was always so heavily chaperoned that we could hardly wait for the time to pass, the parties afterward were frequently without any real chaperonage at all. Apparently, it was only the public appearance and the good opinion of the dancing master that mattered to the parents of our generation. Sometimes a yawning father or a preoccupied mother would pass through the rooms of a house where a party was being given, but often as not they did not even bother to make an appearance. On the night of the party at our house, both our parents were away. The servants were on duty to see after our needs, however, and our older sister had been deputized to be on hand with her beau. My brother’s twin, who considered herself too old for the dancing class set, was also at home that night. But she could hardly be thought of as a chaperon, and when urged to come down and join the party she declined, saying that she had letters to write.


  The rugs in the front hall had already been taken up when we came in. That was where those who wished to would be encouraged to dance. Also, the piano had been rolled out from the drawing room to a place near the foot of the stairs. When we came into the vestibule, my older sister was seated at the piano in the hall, and her beau was standing beside her with one hand on her shoulder. They turned around immediately, and at the sight of me holding the door for Yvonne my sister’s lovely face was suddenly made lovelier by a broad smile of approval. And then, as she stood up, she threw me a kiss. It was an exhilarating moment. I turned to Yvonne, but she had already passed ahead of me into the hall. My brother and his girl had come inside now, too, and almost at once other guests began streaming in. My sister introduced herself to the girls and led them back into the sunroom, where they would leave their wraps.


  My sister’s beau came up to me and asked, “What’s your girl’s name?”


  “Her name’s Yvonne.”


  “She’s a very pretty girl,” he said. “You’ve got taste, Louis.”


  And when my sister returned, I heard him say to her, “Her name’s Yvonne.”


  I drifted into the drawing room with the other boys. When the girls joined us there, Yvonne would not even let me stand beside her. She kept slipping away from me, until at last I went out into the hall, where our chauffeur, having now changed from his driver’s uniform into a white house coat and dark trousers, was seated at the piano and was beginning to sound a few chords. He often played for us children, and he had welcomed the opportunity to provide the music on this occasion. I knew that though he could not read music, he liked to have someone stand beside him and turn the pages of whatever sheet music happened to be on the rack. I stood there turning the pages for him almost as long as I remained at the party.


  Once or twice, I saw my sister and her beau eyeing me. Obviously they suspected something had gone wrong. Finally, the terrible moment came when my brother and Yvonne had been dancing together at the rear of the hall for some fifteen or twenty minutes. During most of this time, there were three or four other couples dancing, too, but the other couples were continually changing partners there on the floor, or going out for refreshments and returning with different partners. More than once I saw my brother’s girl come to the drawing room door, glance out at him, and then look reproachfully at me. But it was my sister and her beau who finally spoke to me. They came from the dining room where the refreshments were set out, and as soon as they had crossed the threshold they began dancing. The young man guided my sister almost directly across the hall to me. When they got very close, they stopped dancing but remained in each other’s arms while they spoke.


  “Go and break on him, you little nut,” my sister said.


  “Yes,” said her beau. “Show that little Yvonne what it’s like to really dance.”


  I had no choice. I set off down the hall toward the pair. But when I was only a few feet away from them, I heard Yvonne say very distinctly, “Why is Louis the way he is? What’s the matter with him?”


  “Haven’t you heard?” my brother said, smiling. “He hears voices.”


  “Not ours, I hope.” She laughed.


  “No, not ours. That’s the trouble. Other voices.”


  “You’re kidding.”


  Both of them saw me coming toward them, but I suppose they thought I really wouldn’t hear their voices. And just as I was about to reach out my hand and touch my brother’s shoulder, they turned and walked away in the direction of the dining room.


  I shuffled back toward the piano. My sister and her beau were still dancing there, but they wouldn’t look at me. I felt the chauffeur’s resentful gaze when I didn’t stop and begin turning the pages for him again. I put my hand on the bannister rail and started up the stairs. My other sister was seated at the top of the flight, peering down into the hall, but when she saw me she began writing on a pad of paper that she held on her knee. When I came up to where she was, she said, “Did you see Sister dancing with her eyes closed? Isn’t she disgusting?” Without answering, I went up to my room.


  I had switched on the light and was closing the door to my room when a voice said to me, “The number of steps in the stair remain always the s—”


  “Hush!” I interrupted, closing my eyes and running my hand through my hair. “Won’t you hush?”


  “We can never hush,” said the voice.


  I opened my eyes and looked about at all my dear possessions that cluttered the room. It seemed to me that the voice had come from either the sea shells on the bottom shelf of my bookcase or from the leaf fossils there beside them. I took a step in that direction. It was the first time I had ever spoken back to my voices; it was the first chance they had had to answer me.


  “Hush for a year,” I said, “or five years, and then come back.”


  “We can never hush.” This time it came from another part of the room—from the corner where my collection of knotty sticks and pieces of driftwood was kept. “But you may stop hearing us whenever you wish.” I did not turn around. And after that the voice seemed to come from no particular object or direction. “You might as well stop hearing us,” it said. “You have everything to gain and nothing to lose.”


  “But who are you?” I said. “I don’t want to hear you, but I want to know who you are. I don’t want to forget you.” And suddenly, when I had said that, the room was filled with such loud laughter that I thought my eardrums might burst. I whirled about to make sure I was still alone there. I was alone. I clapped my hands over my ears, but the volume was not diminished. I ran to the corner, seized one of my sticks, and began knocking all my pretty objects off the shelves and off the bureau top, and smashing the glass that covered my moth collections. At last, I raised my voice and shouted, “I will stop hearing you, you demons who persecute innocent children!” The laughter ceased abruptly, or so it seemed to me.


  The silence was awful for a moment. But presently I heard my sister, who had looked at me so approvingly two hours before, speaking to me through the door. “Your guests are leaving, Louis,” she said. “You’d better come down.” She had opened the door now. When I turned around and faced her I could tell from her expression that she had heard the racket I had been making. “This is not a very mature way for you to react,” she said, glancing all about. “I can see you’ve got a lot to learn, Louis. Do you think you are so much better than everybody else that you are never going to be jilted?”


  “Has the little wench gone?” I said through my teeth. And I threw aside my stick.


  My sister laughed. “That’s more the spirit,” she said. Then she took a step backward. “You had better not come down, after all. Stay up here and pick up the pieces.” At the door, just before she went out, she elaborated. “Pick up the pieces, Little Brother. Tomorrow is another day. And if it’s not perfect, the next one may be.” It sounded trite to me even at the time, and I am not sure she was not quoting some popular song of the day. But she was trying to speak to me, and I loved her for it, and I pitied her for having to say it that way. She was only seventeen—not yet out of high school, even. Maybe for a girl that is not so very young. But I know that when I got to be her age I was still only beginning to grow up. Though I stopped hearing the mysterious voices one hears as a child that night in my room, at seventeen I was still learning to listen to the voices of people—still discovering just how carefully, for love’s sake, one must always listen. And I was thirty before I felt that love’s recompense was adequate to let me say with honesty the kind of thing that my sister had said at seventeen.


  But still, how am I to explain the voices I heard as a child? Why did I hate so to give them up? And why do I insist so upon remembering them? . . . Well, I reject your explanation, whatever it is. And, after all, they are my voices. The truth is, I have come to like having them there at my beginning, unexplained, a mystery. My liking for the mystery of them has increased with every bit of learning I have had to do. Such a mystery becomes, finally, a kind of knowledge. It instructs and informs us about the arbitrary nature of most of the things we have to learn in order to walk the world as adults. Learn those things we must, but we know in our hearts that it might have been different. Our requirement might only have been to make sense out of what the voices were saying, and in that case those of us whose inclination was to go on listening always to our voices would have been the normal ones and not the rare birds we are. After seventeen, I became obsessed with learning from people—about people and the world. I listened to everybody. I became a wonderful listener, and still am. Everybody says so. The unfortunate thing, however, is that I have become eccentric in ways you might not expect. For instance, every time the season changes nowadays, I wonder what in the world has come over me and why I am so uncomfortable, until one day somebody happens to say in my presence, “Winter is really here now. This is the coldest day we have had,” or, “Well, the hot weather is upon us, no mistaking it.” After that, I change to clothing of appropriate weight, and I am all right again. One more thing, too. I have learned to love nature. And the memory of my unexplained voices has been instructive there. Whenever I return to the scenes of my childhood and admire the pale beauty of the sycamore trees and the glossy leaves of the oaks—almost like magnolias, some of them—I understand how far, in my mind, I have had to withdraw from trees in order to learn to love them. I go for walks in the woods with my family sometimes on my visits back home, and often I cannot help remarking on the absence of any chestnut trees in the woods. My family find it very curious that I remember the chestnuts at all, and tell each other it is evidence of how much I have always loved nature. But that isn’t so. It is something I have learned. It is something strange and wonderful that I have learned to do.


  At the Drugstore


  


  MATT DONELSON was back home on a visit. He rose early, before any of the others were awake, and set out on foot for the drugstore, where he was going to buy a bottle of shaving lotion. He had left a pretty wife sleeping in the family guest room, two little sons snoozing away in the next room down the hall—both the wife and the sons being exhausted from the long train ride of the day before—and a mother and a father snatching early morning, old-folksy naps in their adjoining rooms at the head of the stairs. At this early hour the house seemed more like its old self than it usually did on his visits home. Though he knew it was a house that would be politely referred to nowadays as “an older house,” for a moment it seemed to him again “the new house” that the family had moved into when he was aged six. His room had been the one his father now occupied. He was the baby of the family; his mother had wanted him nearby. His two big brothers had shared the room where his own two boys were sleeping this morning. And his sister, for whose coming-out year the house had been bought, had claimed the guest room for hers during the brief two years she remained at home. She and the brothers had long since, of course, had houses and families of their own. When Matt came back to see his parents he seldom caught more than a glimpse of any of them, and to their children he was a stranger.


  Downstairs, just before he left the house, Matt had a brief exchange with the colored cook who was a recent comer and whose name he did not even know.


  “I suppose it feels good to you to be back home,” she had said.


  “There’s nothing like it,” Matt had replied. “Absolutely nothing.”


  On his way to the drugstore Matt realized that this was an expedition he had not given any real forethought to. For several days before he left New York he had been intending to buy the bottle of shaving lotion, but he had kept forgetting it or putting it off—refusing somehow to let his mind focus on it. And he had risen this morning and left the house—hatless and on foot—without really thinking of what drugstore he was going to. It was with a certain wonderment even that he found himself hiking along a familiar thoroughfare in this sprawling inland city where he had grown up. It was a street that led through what he as a boy had thought of as a newish part of town but a part which he knew must now of course be regarded as “an older section.” Once, along the way, he stumbled over an uneven piece of pavement which the roots of one of the maple trees had dislodged. Next, he found himself looking up at the trees, trying to determine whether or not they had grown much since the days when he first remembered them. It seemed to him that they had not. The trees had not leafed out yet this year and even the patterns of the smallest branches against the dull March sky seemed tiresomely familiar. Somehow he felt both bored and disquieted by his observations. And when finally he stood opposite the drugstore and realized that this was his destination, the very sight of the commonplace store front was dismaying to him. How had he got here? It all seemed unreal. It was as though he had climbed out of his warm bed, without thought or care for his wife, his sons, or his aged parents, and walked off down here in his sleep—to a drugstore that he had not thought of in a dozen years.


  But it was no dream, no, that is, unless all visits back home be dreams of a kind. He was wide awake, no doubt about that. He was fully and quite properly dressed, except that he wore no hat—he never wore a hat when he was back home—and he was bent on a very specific and practical piece of business . . . But what was the business? Ah, of course, the shaving lotion! He pushed open the heavy glass door and entered the drugstore rather breezily, just as though it were any other drugstore in the world. Fluorescent lights, giving everything an indigo tint, gleamed overhead and behind the counters and even inside some of the glass cases, as they would have done in any other modernized, up-to-date drugstore. But it was still so early in the day that there wasn’t another customer in the place. In the artificial light and in the silence, there was the timeless quality of a bank vault. Or, more precisely, the atmosphere was that of a small, out-of-the-way museum where the curator doesn’t really expect or welcome visitors.


  To call attention to his presence Matt began dragging his leather heels on the tile floor. But at once he checked himself. The black and white tile underfoot had suddenly caught his eye! How well he remembered the maddening pattern of it! And he was struck by the thought that this tile was the only feature of the once-familiar drugstore that remained unchanged. Even more striking to him, however, was the coincidence that last night in the railroad station he had had very nearly the same experience. The old Union Depot had, sometime very recently, undergone complete alteration, and when Matt had walked into the lobby just after midnight, he had believed for one moment that he was in the wrong city. During that terrible moment he had looked over the heads of the two sleepy boys at his wife and had given such a hollow laugh that Janie took a quick step toward him, saying, “What is it, dear? What is it, Matt?” Then the expanse of two-toned beige tiling, on which he had long ago played hopscotch, had seemed to come right up at him, and he felt such relief that he had sighed audibly.


  Now in the drugstore, with his eyes fixed on the hypnotic black and white diamonds and octagons, he gave another such sigh. He felt relieved all over again not to have gotten Janie and the boys off the train in a strange city in the middle of the night. It really was not something he could possibly have done, of course, but that didn’t diminish the relief he felt—last night or this morning. And while he continued to wait in the front part of the drugstore for someone to take notice of him, his mind dwelt further on his confusion last night . . . “What is it?” Janie had asked still again, placing a gloved hand on his sleeve. He had tried to turn his sigh into a yawn, but that had not deceived Janie for one second.


  “It’s nothing,” he had said, watching now for the porter to bring in their luggage. “I was only thinking how I used to play a kind of hopscotch on this floor whenever we came here to meet people.”


  Janie had looked at him with narrowed eyes, not at all convinced; on their visits home—especially just before they arrived—she always developed her own peculiarly mistaken ideas about what thoughts he was having. “Surely,” she said now, “surely you can’t have expected anyone to meet us at this hour, Matt. Especially after you insisted so that they not.” . . . He wasn’t even annoyed by her misreading of his thoughts. In fact, he had had to smile. And he even seized the hand that was resting on his sleeve and whispered, “My little worry-wart!” It was so like the notions she always took about his homecomings. She was ever fearful that on these occasions there would be some misunderstanding or quarrel between him and his father, or between him and one of his brothers, or even his gray-haired brother-in-law. Moreover, he knew that in her heart she was firmly convinced that there was some old quarrel between him and his family that had sent him to live away from home in the first place—some quarrel that he would not tell her about. In the early years of their marriage she had not let it bother her very much. But ever since the first baby came she had devoted considerable time to “winning him back to his family.” She never put it into so many words—they were his words—but he knew what her thoughts were. (She had taken to writing regularly to his mother and even began remembering his father’s birthdays.) It had originally seemed to him a good joke on her that she thought there were hidden wounds to be healed, but the joke had gone too far and she had at last become too serious about the matter for him to do more than smile and call her a worry-wart. Yet it really was laughable, almost incredible, to think how little she understood him with respect to his relations with his family. His was simply not a quarreling kind of family; they didn’t have the passionate natures for it!—and particularly with respect to how he was affected by the prospect of a short visit with just his parents.


  His confusion last night, however, had been a rather extraordinary thing. And he had to acknowledge that it was due partly to the fact that none of the family was there to meet him. Always in the past at least one of them had been there. They thought it silly of him to insist upon coming home on the train instead of flying (they didn’t understand what he meant by the transition’s being too abrupt; and the difference in the fares was so trivial), but still one of them had always trekked down to the dingy old railroad station to welcome him—him and his family. Usually it was his father or one of his two brothers who came, because they considered it strictly a man’s job to meet a train that arrived so late at night. They usually seemed amused to find themselves in the Depot again. They hadn’t been there since the last time Matt came home! (Who else rode the trains nowadays but Matt?) And Matt was merely amused at their amusement. Why should he take offense at their condescension when he would only be home for a few days? . . . With whoever came to meet the train—father or brother—Matt and Janie and the boys would walk the length of the great Depot lobby, between the rows of straight-back benches on one of which a pathetic family would be huddled together and on another a disreputable-looking old bum would be stretched out, asleep with his head on his bundle and with his hat over his eyes. And when the party came directly under the vast dome that rose above the lobby, Matt’s father or brother would tell the boys to look up and see the bats whoozing around up there or see the absurd pigeon that had got himself trapped in the dome and was flapping about from one side to the other.


  It had been a very different scene last night, however. The dimly lit lobby of old had been transformed. A false ceiling had been installed no more than ten or twelve feet above the floor. And a new, circular wall, with display windows for advertisers and with bright posters declaring how many people still rode the trains, altered the very shape of the room, hiding the rough stone columns around which children had used to play hide-and-seek. As for the wooden benches, they were replaced by plastic, bucket-bottomed chairs on which huddling together would have been difficult and stretching out alone quite impossible. And the lighting, though indirect, was brilliant; there were no dark corners anywhere.


  In view of these changes Matt felt his moment of consternation and confusion upon entering the lobby a very natural response. He did not have to lay it, even in part, to his weariness from the long train ride. Yet when the porter had finally appeared with their luggage and he and his little family had passed out of the lobby and into the large vestibule at the main entrance of the Depot, something even more absurd, if no more confusing, happened. In a huge wall mirror which had always occupied its place there in the vestibule, Matt saw his own reflection; he mistook that reflection for some other male member of his own family. “Oh,” he said under his breath. But his “oh” was not so soft that Janie didn’t hear it. She perceived at once the mistake he had made. This time he might almost have shown annoyance with her. Her smile said, “You see, you were expecting to be met,” but the smile was also full of love and was so overly sympathetic—be it sympathy ever so uncalled for—that he could only gently push her and the boys through the doorway and follow them silently to the waiting taxi.


  


  In the drugstore none of the clerks had come to work yet. Only the druggist himself was there, and as soon as he appeared, Matt apprised him of the business he had come on. “What kind will it be—what brand?” the old fellow asked. Matt gaped across the counter. He couldn’t believe his eyes at first. It was the same old Mr. Conway who had been the druggist there twenty-odd years before. It was the same old Mr. Conway, and yet of course he didn’t recognize Matt.


  “I don’t know, sir,” Matt said respectfully. “Any kind.”


  The old druggist looked up suspiciously and with obvious irritation. “Any kind?”


  Matt began to smile, but then he realized his mistake. One large vein stood out on the druggist’s forehead precisely as it had used to do whenever he was vexed . . . (Incredible, incredible that he should remember Mr. Conway’s vein!) The broad, flat nose twitched like a rabbit’s . . . (To think that he should remember. How annoying it was.) One more thing. The small, close-set eyes seemed to draw closer together as the druggist bent across the counter peering up at him. Then the total personality of the man came back to him, and somehow it was all too much to be borne at this hour of the morning. He shifted his gaze away from Mr. Conway. But in the mirror behind Mr. Conway he saw another familiar face (oh, too familiar) and was struck by the guilty expression in the round eyes that ogled back at him there.


  “Any kind?” Mr. Conway was saying again. For a moment the voice seemed to be coming from away at the back of the store. But that was absurd. Mr. Conway was right here before him. There was something back there, however, tugging at Matt’s attention.


  “Yes, any kind,” he repeated. They were like two birds or two insects answering each other. Finally, Matt broke the rhythm of it. In the most impersonal, hard, out-of-town voice he could muster, he said, “Any kind, my friend. And I’m afraid I’m in a hell of a hurry.”


  He even managed to sound a little breathless. Unfortunately, though, it wasn’t a very manly breathlessness. It was a boy’s breathlessness. It was as if this very morning he had run all the way from home with his school books under one arm and his yellow slicker under the other and was now afraid that the streetcar—the good old Country Day Special—would pass before he could get waited on. How terrible it had been being a boy, and the world so full of Mr. Conways.


  Mr. Conway turned away toward the shelves on the wall behind him, to the left of the mirror and toward the rear of the drugstore. (Still, still there was something back there trying to claim Matt’s attention. But he couldn’t, or wouldn’t, look.) He tried to watch Mr. Conway as he examined the various bottles. He was of course searching out the most expensive brand. The old guy’s rudeness was insufferable and at the same time fascinating. As soon as his back was turned, Matt felt himself seriously tempted to snatch up some article off the counter and slip it into the pocket of his topcoat. As a boy he had never for a moment been tempted to do such a thing, though he had seen other boys do it. They had taken the most trivial and useless articles—ladies’ lipsticks, manicure scissors, get-well cards, though they would not have stooped to stealing candy or chewing gum. Not Country Day boys! But something distracted Matt from his temptation, and distracted him also from watching Mr. Conway’s evil, grasping fingers. (The fingers moved with awful deliberation and seemed bent on strangling every bottle they picked up.) What distracted Matt, of course, was that same familiar face in the mirror, his view of it now unobstructed by the figure of his malefactor.


  Yet somehow or other it wasn’t the same face in the mirror this time. The eyes weren’t the guilty eyes of a schoolboy. The face wasn’t really familiar at all—not here. The person in the mirror now eyed him curiously, even incredulously, and momentarily he resented the intrusion of this third, unfamiliar person on the scene, a person who, so to speak, ought still to have been asleep beside his wife back there in the family’s guest room. But he accepted the intrusion philosophically. In effect said to himself, “Look, look, look! Have your fill and let me get back to my important business with Mr. Conway.” But the face had a will of its own. It had an impersonal, hard, out-of-town look, like the faces one gets used to seeing everywhere except in the mirror. It was one thing consciously to put those qualities into your voice; it seemed quite another to find them translated and expressed in your face without your even knowing about it.


  But the impression lasted only for a moment. The eyes in the mirror grew warm and sympathetic. They were the same fine old eyes. It was the same fine nose too, just the littlest bit beefier than the boy’s nose had been. The blond hair was as thick as ever through the temples. (If it lay flatter on top, you could not say for certain that it was really thinning even up there.) And the ruddy complexion was the same as of old, or was except for the “slight purplish cast” that his mother was always imagining when he came home, and had got his wife to imagining, and now had him half believing in.


  By the time Mr. Conway had set the bottle on the counter before him, Matt Donelson had recovered himself—had been recovered, that is, by the grown-up self. The thought of his mother and wife had reminded him of the real circumstances of this day in his life. At 7:45 A.M. on a Saturday morning he was in the drugstore where he used to hang out as a boy. It was the man to whom the strange cook had spoken so politely and respectfully that looked at Mr. Conway now—the mature Matt Donelson, aged thirty-five, a man with a family of his own but still a faithful and attentive son, a man whose career was such a going thing that he could easily spare an occasional four or five days for visits back home.


  Poor old Mr. Conway. His hand trembled as he set the bottle down. Matt seemed to feel something inside himself tremble. Pitiable little old fellow, he thought. What kind of a career had he had? Probably the most that could be said for him was that he had held his own and kept up with the times. Instead of the white linen jacket that had once upon a time made him look like a butler, he now wore a sleazy, wash-and-wear tunic (with short sleeves and a tight collar) that suggested he was an elderly surgeon fresh from the operating room. Besides the addition of fluorescent lights, his drugstore had been refurbished throughout. The soda fountain was no more, and of course the tables and the booths were gone. There was now a large toy department, a hardware counter, shelves containing men’s socks and jockey shorts, a serve-yourself freezer with half-gallon packages of ice cream, cartons of milk, even loaves of bread. Instead of the old lending library, innumerable paperbacks were offered for sale on two revolving stands. Mr. Conway—bless him, dear old fellow—had always had an eye for what brought in the money. No doubt he had a goodly sum stashed away. No doubt he was highly respected by the other storekeepers along this street. Within his lights, he was probably a considerable success. Perhaps his kind was, as everybody always said, the backbone of the community, even the backbone of the country. Matt was on the verge of making himself known to the old man and of reminding him of the days when Country Day boys waited for the streetcar in his store. He was on the verge; then he pulled back.


  What was it now? Out of the corner of his eye he had caught a glimpse of the giant mortar and pestle that squatted on a shelf above the entrance to the pharmacist’s prescription room. It had squatted up there in the old days; it seemed to be the only piece of the old decor that had been allowed to remain. The bowl was about the size and shape of a large wastebasket, and the boys, who had somehow always hated the sight of it, used to toss candy-bar wrappers and other trash up into it . . . Was that what had made him pull back? Was it only this that had been calling for his attention back there all along? Or was it the electric light burning with such fierce brightness in the prescription room beyond the doorway? (How keenly he had felt the fascination of that intense light when he was fourteen.) But presently he answered his own question very positively. It could not be any of that. Surely not. No, it was the bottle of shaving lotion itself that had made him recoil and refuse to introduce himself to Mr. Conway. For, almost without realizing it, he had observed that Mr. Conway had actually set before him—albeit with trembling hand—the most expensive brand that such a drugstore as this would be likely to stock. Matt recognized the label, and despite the bottle’s being tightly sealed and neatly cartoned he imagined he could detect the elegant scent.


  “Didn’t you have something cheaper?” he said.


  Mr. Conway grinned, showing—yes—the same old dentures, row upon regular row. And when he spoke there was the familiar clamp and clatter. “I thought you didn’t mind what brand,” he said. His hand rested solidly on the carton now.


  Without seeing himself in the mirror, Matt knew his face was coloring. His lips parted to speak, but at that instant he heard the sound of footsteps in the front part of the store. Someone else had come in.


  “You want something cheaper, then,” Mr. Conway said, in a loud voice.


  “This will do,” said Matt.


  He quickly drew out a bill and handed it to the druggist. Just as quickly the old man drew change from the cash register and counted it into Matt’s open palm. Before Matt’s fingers had closed on the change, he glanced over his shoulder to see who it was that had come in. From the first sound of the footsteps he had felt an unnatural curiosity to know who this other person was. He had imagined that it might be someone he knew. But his shock upon glancing back now was greater than any he had received from the face in the mirror.


  A rosy-cheeked young man had come up directly behind him—a man ten years or so younger than himself. And the face of this young man, who was at the moment removing from his head a checked cap which matched the checked raglan coat he wore, was indisputably the face of old Mr. Conway as it had been forty years ago—long before even Matt had ever set eyes on him. A black fright seized Matt Donelson. Either this was a dream from which he could not wake himself or he was in worse trouble than any of those friends of his and Janie’s back in New York—the ones they laughed at so for feeding the revenues of the analysts.


  He looked back at Mr. Conway to make out if he saw the apparition too. But Mr. Conway’s eyes were on the big clock above the entrance to the store. Matt looked up at the clock; and now he had to concede that there was, after all, another fixture that had been here in the old days. But had the clock been there when he came in five minutes ago? Perhaps before his eyes this modern drugstore was going to turn back into the place it had once been. Worst of all, the clock hands said that it was ten minutes to eight!—the time when the Country Day Special was scheduled to pass this corner. Would have been the time, that is, on a weekday. Had been the time, that is, in the era of streetcars. Nowadays, he reminded himself, the boys rode to school on buses . . . He put his two hands to his head and massaged it gently. He felt a swimming sensation.


  “It’s ten minutes to eight,” Mr. Conway said flatly. Matt sensed at once that the old man wasn’t addressing him. He felt better, and removed his hands from his head.


  From behind him came the equally flat reponse: “I know.”


  And now Matt had no choice but to turn around and determine finally whether or not the young man were real. When he confronted him it was really as if he himself were the ghost, because the young man with the rosy cheeks and the shock of dark brown hair did not seem to see him. The young fellow was real enough all right but he seemed lost in a dream of his own.


  Despite his being the youthful image of old Mr. Conway, with the same squashed nose and small, close-set eyes, he was a pleasant-looking young man. And judging from the dreamy expression on his face, from his snappy clothes, and from the easy way he was now slipping out of his coat, he was a person fairly pleased with the world and not totally displeased with himself. Matt was a trifle offended by the way he seemed to be blind to his presence, regarding him as a mere customer and therefore not worthy of his direct gaze. (A family trait, no doubt, since this was certainly Mr. Conway’s own flesh and blood.) But still, even before he heard him speak again, Matt was more attracted to the young man than put off by him.


  Matt had already turned away and was moving toward the front of the store when he heard the young Conway addressing the old man: “We’ve morning sickness at our house again this morning.” The voice was very masculine, very gentle, expressing keen pleasure in the tidings he brought. “It’s a pretty sure thing now,” he said.


  Matt could not resist taking another glance over his shoulder. He saw that old Mr. Conway was already off to his prescription room, padding down the aisle behind the counter. He responded to his son’s good news without bothering even to look at him. But he was clacking away as he went along, his plate making more noise than his footsteps, and speaking so loud that Matt heard him quite distinctly: “Well, that doesn’t alter its being ten to eight when you turned up. And there have already been four prescriptions called in which I haven’t got started on good.”


  The old Scrooge, the old bastard! . . . Tyrannizing over this easygoing young fellow! . . . Making no concession even at such an important moment! . . . Matt felt it behooved him almost to go back and shake the young man’s hand. But he didn’t, of course. He had almost reached the front door now. He halted by the long magazine rack just to the left of the door. (Yes, there had always been such a rack there. Yet the rack was something else he hadn’t noticed at first.) From the rear of the store he could hear the young Conway whistling. He let his eye rove over the display of magazines. Somehow he could not bring himself to leave. He tried to identify the jazzy tune young Conway was whistling, but it was something too recent for him. He continued to study the magazines. There was the same old selection. Only Collier’s was missing. He remembered how the Country Day boys had been forbidden to touch a magazine they were not going to buy.


  Presently the whistling was interrupted by the old druggist’s voice.


  “Is the music necessary?”


  The reply was cheerful enough: “Not if you say so.”


  There was a moment’s silence. Then, lowering his voice so slightly that it was only the more insulting to Matt, Mr. Conway asked, “Is that the same customer up there, still hanging around?”


  “Yep. The same.”


  “Better keep an eye on him. He let on to be in ‘one hell of a hurry’ when he came in.”


  “All right,” said the young man, and Matt thought he heard an indulgent snicker. Boldly, Matt turned around and looked the length of the store at the two men. The older man stepped back into the prescription room. Matt could not be certain but he believed the younger man, who was now in shirtsleeves, winked at him.


  He turned back toward the magazines and gazed unseeing through the broad window above the rack. He was reflecting on the young man’s undisturbed good spirits, on his indulgence toward his crotchety father. Mr. Conway was lucky indeed to have a son with such an understanding and forgiving nature. And suddenly it was as though the young Conway had communicated to Matt an understanding of the old man’s ill humor and impatience this morning: it was due to Matt’s interruption while he was trying to get those prescriptions filled. Matt could not restrain a malicious little smile. It was so like old times. They had always delighted in interrupting Mr. Conway when he was at work back there in the prescription room. Poor guy seemed to have had a lifetime of having his most important work interfered with. Whenever there was a piece of roughhouse up in the front part of the drugstore and Mr. Conway had to be called from his “laboratory” to deal with it, the boys became almost hysterical in their glee. They were apt to be good as gold if he stood idly here by the front window with his hands behind his back. But somehow they could not bear his being at work in the prescription room crushing a mysterious powder with his pestle or turning up the blue flame of his Bunsen burner under a vial. It was wonderful the things they used to do in order to distract the druggist.


  At the soda fountain, in those days, there was a youngish black-haired woman who was believed by some of the boys to be Mr. Conway’s wife. Sometimes four or five of the boys would line up on the stools at the soda fountain and place orders for Cokes. Then when the glasses were set before them they would pretend to have no money. At first the dark-haired woman would merely threaten to call “Dr. Conway.” The boys, winking at each other, begged her not to, and even pretended to try to borrow the money from some of the other boys who were looking on. Finally, the woman would throw back her head and call out at the top of her voice: “Oh, Dr. Conway! Dr. Conway!”


  But the boys continued to search their pockets until the very moment the druggist appeared. (Apparently he worked with his plates out, because he always came through the door of the prescription room with his hand to his mouth as though he were just shoving them in.) Only at that moment did each of the boys make the miraculous discovery that he had the needed money after all. With one accord they all bent forward and plunked their money down on the marble counter. And when they had done this they would be overcome by such a fit of giggling that they couldn’t drink their Cokes. Sometimes they would have to go off to school without tasting the drinks they had ordered and paid for.


  At another counter in the drugstore, where cigarettes and toilet articles and candy bars were sold in those days, there was usually a somewhat older woman, a woman who was generally believed to be Mr. Conway’s mother. Sometimes Mr. Conway himself presided at that counter; that was when the boys actually swiped the useless articles they found on display. But when his “mother” was in charge they always made a point of fumbling . . . As a matter of fact, there was a school of thought which maintained that this older woman was the druggist’s wife and the younger woman was his daughter. Since in the boys’ eyes Mr. Conway was of an indeterminate age, all of them conceded that the truth might lie either way; and the women themselves would not tolerate questions about their identity. It remained always a mystery . . . At any rate, in an emergency, “mother” Conway would place her two hands on the glass case before her, fix the suspect with her feline eyes, and call out in a coarse, plangent voice: “Do—oc—to-or!”


  And the thief stood looking at her blankly until at last the druggist came in sight. The trick at this point, for the boy, was to stoop down and pretend to find the missing article on the floor where he had unknowingly knocked it. Then, handing it to the druggist himself, his next move was to begin making profuse apologies which could not be heard above the gleeful convulsions of the other boys and which continued until some boy at the front door shouted, “Special! Special!” After that, came the chaos of a general exodus. Amid the grabbing up of books and football gear and sheepskin coats, and against the clamor that accompanied the rush for the door, Mr. Conway was helpless. He stood watching them go, his nose twitching, the vein standing out on his forehead, his false teeth no doubt clacking, and holding in his hand a dented lipstick case or a pocket comb with possibly half its fine teeth broken.


  Matt felt that he had seen each of these pranks played at least a dozen times. But Mr. Conway seldom took any action against the pranksters; these Country Day boys were the children of his best customers; their parents had the biggest charge accounts on his books; and Mr. Conway had always had a good head for business. Matt had seen even worse tricks than these played on the old man, though he himself had always been a little too timid, a little too well brought up, to have any part in them. He had generally looked on with amusement, but also with a certain disapproval. He had never so much as snatched up a magazine and stuck it under his jacket, or even broken the rule against glancing through a magazine one was not intending to buy. Suddenly now he realized he was at this very moment holding a copy of a news magazine in his hand. He pushed it back into the rack. Then he eased it out again. He held it in his two hands a moment, gazing blankly at the newsworthy face on the front cover. And before he could stop himself he stole a glance over his shoulder . . . From beside the cash register the young Conway was watching him . . . Slowly Matt turned around and, with the magazine he didn’t want in one hand and with his other hand delving into his pocket for change, he walked back toward the young man. He had got sufficiently ahold of himself to make it a thoroughly casual performance.


  The young Conway accepted the payment for the magazine with a positively friendly kind of smile. In fact, when Matt turned away he was again not sure that the young man had not winked at him. Despite his unfortunate resemblance to his father, the young man was obviously a sensitive, reasonable, affable sort. Matt felt drawn to him, wished they could have some conversation, longed to congratulate him on his wife’s morning sickness. Matt felt also that there was some other purchase he had been intending to make which had escaped his mind this morning; surely there was some reason why he should not leave the drugstore yet.


  This time he stopped before one of the revolving stands that held the paperback books. He began turning the thing slowly. What else was it he had recently been intending to buy in a drugstore? He imagined that it had almost come to him the first moment he had looked back and seen the young Conway removing his checked cap from his head. Perhaps if he went back and made conversation with him now, the thing would come to the surface of his mind. Maybe the young Conway would enjoy hearing about the pranks that the schoolboys used to play on his father. No, that would not do. Especially not if one of those women who used to clerk in the store had been his mother; because, somehow, the worse the prank had been, the more it had always involved one or both of those women. It did seem to Matt in retrospect, however, that probably neither of the women was the real Mrs. Conway. Very likely they were both merely hired clerks, and the real Mrs. Conway—and her mother-in law too, and the daughter if there was one—kept at home and looked after the young Conway, who would have been a mere infant at that time. Yes, there was a gentleness about the rosy-cheeked young Conway, as seen today, that suggested a careful upbringing by women who didn’t go out to work . . . Yet one could not be sure, because those two women clerks, even if they were not in the mother-wife-daughter category, could not possibly have been more respectful of Mr. Conway than they were, or seemed more dependent upon him for protection. They believed absolutely in the old man’s authority, and their confidence in him was resented by the boys. What strange power had he over those two women? This question, in the boy’s minds, was lumped in with all the other questions they had about Mr. Conway. And all their pranks, if not intended to satisfy their curiosity, were at least intended to show that they knew there was something to be curious about . . . There was the time, for instance, when Ted Harrison threw the stink bomb. The stench of the sulfur made Matt shake his head even now. The memory of it was that vivid. The two women didn’t understand what had happened. The odor hadn’t yet reached their nostrils when some of the boys began exclaiming in girlish voices: “O, that awful Mr. Conway! That dreadful Mr. Conway!” The two women stared at each other across the store for a time, then each of them began to spread her nostrils and sniff the malodorous air. The boys all set their faces toward the back of the store, focusing their eyes on the lighted doorway beneath the huge mortar and pestle. Presently, in a dramatic stage whisper, Ted Harrison asked: “What can Mr. Conway have done?”


  Matt himself, standing near the soda fountain that day, had fixed his attention on the face of the younger woman. He was watching her when she inhaled the first whiff of the stink bomb. Suddenly her nostrils quivered, her swarthy skin took on a curious glow, her dark eyebrows contracted. He could tell that her eyes had met those of the older woman, who was behind him at the other counter. Then simultaneously the two women fled their posts, running behind the counters toward the rear of the store. What indeed had their Dr. Conway done? They met at the entrance to the prescription room and disappeared through the doorway. There came the sounds of the three excited voices back there, and then presently Mr. Conway emerged, pushing in his dentures. The two women followed close behind him, but he soon sent them scurrying back to their places.


  As Mr. Conway approached from the rear, the boys drew away from him toward the front of the store. They really were afraid of him. With downcast eyes they pretended to be looking and smelling all about to find where the stench came from. But suddenly Ted Harrison made a dash for it; he rushed right past Mr. Conway. “It’s somewhere back here, I think,” he shouted. He rounded the big glass case where hot water bottles and syringes and enema bags were displayed. And then, to the consternation of all, Ted Harrison passed beneath the mortar and pestle and through the bright doorway. He was out of sight for only one second, certainly not long enough to have done any damage or to have had more than a glimpse of the sacrosanct prescription room, but when he reappeared a cheer went up from the other boys. In fact, Ted was already outside again by the time Mr. Conway roared back at him to “get the hell out of there.” And when the old druggist slipped in between the counters to try to head him off, Ted was already among his companions again in the front part of the store. Somebody shouted, “Special!” The front door was flung open. The crowd surged out onto the sidewalk, and without slowing their pace moved on into the street, and then, heedless of angry horns and shrieking tires, clambered aboard the waiting streetcar, some of them still chanting, “Special, Special!” until the streetcar doors were safely closed behind them.


  There was probably never a worse incident than that one—except one, except one. There was that morning when some boy wrote with soap on the mirror behind the soda fountain. Another boy, probably an accomplice, had fallen or been pushed out of his chair at the little round table where he had gone to drink his morning Coke. As he fell, his knee struck the tile floor—or so he pretended—and presently he lay on the floor moaning and groaning, and writhing in his pain. Of course the two clerks, those same two helpless, artless females, came hurrying to his succor. But he would not let them come near enough to examine the injured knee. “It’s killing me!” he wailed, and he began thrashing about as though he were going into a fit. What else were the two honest women to do but cry out for their lord and master? And what else could Mr. Conway do but come forward?


  He came warily, though, this time, shoving at his dentures and keeping an eye out for anyone who might make a rush for the prescription room. But his wariness and his precaution were needless and to no point on this occasion. Even before he appeared, a hush had come over the dozen or so boys who were present. Further, silently they had begun to gather up their possessions and to creep toward the front entrance. There was no cry of “Special” this time, and nothing false or pretended about the urgency they felt to be out of the place. Literally they had seen the handwriting on the wall. Clearly the consensus was that this time someone had gone too far. Matt, like a good number of the others, probably had not really seen which of them had done the writing. His whole attention had been directed toward the boy who squirmed on the black and white tile in the center of the store, and as Matt moved with the group toward the entrance, his eyes avoided another contact with the soapy writing on the mirror. But he had no need to see it again. It was written before his mind’s eye forever. Twenty years later he could still see it just as distinctly as he could smell the sulfur of the stink bomb: the crude, hurriedly written letters spelling out the simple sentence, “Mr. Conway sleeps with his mother.”


  And at the door, as he passed out with the others, Matt had looked back to see that the boy on the floor had got to his feet and, with only the slightest pretense at a limp, was running on tiptoes to join his schoolmates.


  Nobody waited to see how the writing on the mirror would affect Mr. Conway or the two women. But during the following two weeks Mr. Conway stationed himself at the entrance each morning and would not let the Country Day boys come inside the drugstore. It was in the dead of winter, and the boys had to wait outside in the cold, stamping their feet and beating their hands together until the Special arrived. When at last Mr. Conway did relent, there was a period of a month or more when the boys came into the drugstore every morning and behaved like the real little gentlemen that Country Day boys were sempiternally and without exception supposed to be. And during that period it was only with the greatest difficulty that Matt had been able to look directly into the eyes of either of the two women clerks. Whenever he wished to make a purchase he couldn’t find his voice. If he did finally find his voice it would be either too soft or too loud. Or in the midst of whatever he tried to say his voice would break and change its pitch from high to low, or the other way round. The most painful part, though, was that before he could speak he would stand before the one or the other of the two women for several seconds, scratching his head and looking down at his feet.


  That memory of the head-scratching! It was to mean Matt’s release and salvation after standing there so long hypnotized by the revolving book stand. He came out of his trance, and he realized that he was actually at this moment scratching his head. And that was it. It was something to soothe his troublesome scalp that he had been meaning to buy in a drugstore. With great self-assurance he strode back to the counter where the young Conway was still on watch.


  But when he stood face to face with the amiable sentinel there—so smiling, so fresh complexioned, so luxuriantly thatched (and with the luxuriant thatch so lovingly groomed)—he understood that it was not really he that he wanted to see again. It was the older man. And once again, some twenty feet from where he now stood, it was the giant mortar and pestle with the bright doorway underneath that caught his eye. It was a red flag waved before him—maddening. Ted Harrison had actually got inside the prescription room. But Matt Donelson had never even taken part in any of the pranks. He heard himself saying to the young Conway, “There’s a matter I’d like to speak with the pharmacist about. I’d like to get some advice. I’d like him to recommend something.”


  The young man stopped smiling, and tried to look very serious and professional. “Maybe I can help you,” he said. “As a matter of fact, I am a pharmacist myself. And my father is tied up with some prescriptions just now.”


  Matt continued to look at him for a moment or so without saying more.


  The gentleness and sensitivity that showed perpetually in the young man’s eyes was momentarily translated into a look of professional consideration for the feelings of a customer. But Matt would have none of that. The young Conway was obviously a mere slave—no man at all really. Else how could he consent to live under the domination of that brute of an old man? Moreover, Matt could tell that the young man thought he had guessed the nature of his ailment. He thought it was hemorrhoids that Matt was so hesitant to mention. “It’s my scalp,” Matt said abruptly. “I have a more or less chronic scalp complaint. No dandruff, but itching and an occasional breaking out.”


  “Ah, yes, I see,” the young pharmacist began. And lifting his eyebrows he actually looked directly at Matt’s head.


  Matt looked back at his head. “If you don’t mind,” he said, “I’d like to speak with the senior pharmacist.” He relished that last phrase, and he was pleased to observe that finally he had managed to offend the junior pharmacist.


  Now the young Conway looked at Matt for a moment without speaking. Presently the inane smile returned to his lips. “Just one moment, please,” he said to Matt. He turned and walked away, back to the prescription room. Matt could barely restrain himself from following. The young man stood in the doorway, leaning one shoulder against the jamb while he spoke with his father. Then he came back with a message.


  “My father,” he said quietly, “suggests that you probably ought to see a doctor.”


  Matt understood at once that there was more than one interpretation that could be made of that message. “I believe I’d like to speak to the pharmacist myself,” he said, and was already striding alongside the counter and toward the doorway to the prescription room. But the young Conway was moving at the same speed behind the counter. They converged at the entrance to Mr. Conway’s prescription room. And simultaneously the figure of the old druggist was framed in the doorway. Matt went up on his toes and peered over Mr. Conway’s shoulder! He saw it all, the white cabinets and the bottles and the long work shelf, all so like a hundred other pharmacists’ shops he had had passing glimpses of. Everything about it looked so innocent and familiar and really quite meaningless. There was no satisfaction in it for him at all—not even in the glass of water which he identified as the receptacle for Mr. Conway’s teeth. But what kind of satisfaction should he have got? he asked himself. What had he expected? Something inside him which a moment before had seemed to be swelling to the bursting point suddenly collapsed.


  “You told my father you were in a hurry,” he heard the young pharmacist say. “I think you’d better get going now.” Looking at the young man, Matt observed that he definitely had a nervous tic in one eye. And all the blood had gone out of his cheeks now. He was in a white rage. Why, he even had his right fist tightened and was ready to fight Matt if necessary to protect the old druggist. The incredible thing was that only a moment before, Matt himself would have been willing to fight. Why? What had possessed him? Already the whole incident seemed unreal. Surely he had been momentarily insane; there was no other way to explain it. He backed away from the two men, turned his back to them, and quickly left the drugstore.


  On his way back to his parents’ house he kept shaking his head as if to rid himself of all thought of his absurd behavior in the drugstore. But at the same time he kept reminding himself of how near he had come to getting into a scrap with the young druggist, and perhaps the old druggist too. How unlike him it would have been, what an anomaly, how incongruous with everything else in a life that was going so well. He would never have been able to explain it to anyone. But even without the incident’s ending in a real brawl, his behavior was nonetheless appalling. The only difference was that nobody ever need know about it. Finally he would be able to put it out of his own mind.


  Back at the house, he found everyone up and stirring. The odors of the coffee and bacon greeted him in the front hall. From the living room he heard the voices of his two little boys commingled with those of his parents. “There he is now,” he heard his mother say. He stepped to the cloak closet and hung up his topcoat, and while still at the closet he slipped the bottle of shaving lotion into the pocket of his jacket. He hesitated a moment, undecided about what to do with the magazine he had bought. It was a magazine he never read himself and one his father “thoroughly detested.” Suddenly he stuffed it into the pocket of his father’s heaviest winter coat. He knew it wouldn’t be discovered there until his mother packed away the winter clothes the first week in May, and it pleased him to think of the mystery it would make and how they would talk about it for days . . . As he left the closet, his father hailed him from the living room doorway with: “Where have you been?”


  “Just out,” Matt said, and then out of long practice was able to soften such smart-aleckness toward his father with: “Just out for a walk.”


  “I might have gone with you if you had given me a knock,” said his father. The two boys appeared now on either side of their grandfather.


  “So would I,” said the older boy. He was ten and was beginning to want to dress like a man. He had put on a tie this morning and kept running a finger around the inside of his collar.


  “Me too,” said the little brother, who was eight and affected nothing.


  Matt eyed the three of them. He observed that the old man was wearing the silk smoking jacket he and Janie had sent him at Christmas. “You were both slugabeds,” he said to the boys. He went past them and into the living room to kiss his mother on the forehead. “That’s a good-looking smoking jacket he’s wearing,” he said to her. His father shrugged, feigning indifference.


  “He saves it for special occasions,” his mother said. “It’s very becoming to him.”


  “I’m going to run up and shave,” Matt said.


  On the stairs he met Janie. She had done her long, dull-gold hair in the way his mother liked it, not with the dramatic part in the center the way she and he liked it best but parted on the side and brushed softly across her brow and low over her ears to an upswept ratted effect on the back of her head. She looked old-fashioned, like some girl in a 1917 poster.


  “Early bird,” she said, as he came up toward her.


  As they passed, he gave her hand a quick squeeze. “I must shave,” he said, rubbing a hand upward over his cheek. “They wouldn’t like it this way.”


  “Oh, must you?”


  “I don’t look civilized,” he said. “I’ll hurry.”


  “No, don’t hurry. You’re sure to cut yourself if you hurry.”


  “Worry-wart, I never cut myself,” he said.


  From the top of the stairs he heard her addressing his parents a good morning . . . It was wonderful being home. It was wonderful having his wife be so attentive to his parents, and his parents so admiring of Janie. It was fine having his parents enjoy the boys, and the boys and Janie enjoy his parents, and fine enjoying them himself the way a grown man ought to do.


  He felt that everything was under control and that it was going to be a good visit. Once while he was shaving, in the bathroom, he saw his hand tremble slightly just before he was going to bring the razor up to his bristly throat. But he steadied the hand, and a little smile came upon his lips as he did so. He had already shaved around his mouth, and in the mirror above the lavatory he observed there was a certain cynicism in the smile. It was strange.


  When he came down to breakfast, the others had already taken their places around the big dining table. They were all sipping at some kind of juice, but at his plate there was an orange and a fruit knife—as of old. His mother was watching his face, and he smiled at her appreciatively. There was also a box of cigars at his place. He picked up the box, examining it and reading the brand name, holding it gingerly in one hand as though trying to guess its weight. “I haven’t had any of these in a long time,” he said to his father, who pretended not to be listening. “I can’t afford them.” He took the box over to the sideboard, aware that his father was watching him, and put it down there. “You’ll have to join me in one after breakfast,” he said to his father.


  “Not for me,” the old man said. “Not any more.”


  Matt stood with his back to the room, looking down at the cigar box on the dark sideboard. Somehow his father’s words held him there; he could not turn away. And suddenly a great wave of despair swept over him. It caught him completely off guard. He felt his heartbeat quicken beneath his shirt, and he realized that his shirt was soaked with what must be his own sweat. He placed his two hands on the sideboard as if bracing himself against another wave, which came on now with more fury than the first and which was not of despair but of some other emotion less easily or less willingly identified. It was like regret for lost opportunities, or nearly like that—but already it had passed and already still another wave was imminent. And then it came, the inevitable feeling that Janie had been right last night, and always, about what was happening inside him at these homecomings. His first impulse was to hurl the whole weight of his great good sense and reason against the flood of feeling, but the deeper wisdom of a long-time swimmer in these waters prevailed. He yielded a little to the feeling and let himself be carried out a certain distance, striving only to keep his head clear; and meanwhile he kept telling himself, warning himself, in big, easy strokes . . .


  “What are you doing over there?” his father was saying now. Matt rummaged in his pocket for the small silver knife he always carried (mainly for the purpose of paring his nails). He opened the knife and began slitting the paper that sealed the cigar box. He did a very precise job of it, careful not to dig into the surface of the soft wood because he knew one of the boys would want the box. Presently he turned to the table with the lid of the box open and exhibited its fragrant, orderly contents. Everyone strained to see. The smaller boy stood up beside his chair and peered across the table. Apparently everyone took satisfaction from the symmetry of the cigars and the orderly way they were lined up inside the box.


  Matt stepped toward his father and said, “Take one for after breakfast.”


  “I told you I’ve given up all that,” his father said calmly, looking Matt in the eye. His father always sat very erect in his chair, especially at breakfast. And at that hour the old man’s bald pate had a smoother, rosier look than it would have later in the day. His face stayed always the same, but by noon the top of his head would have a tired look.


  “We’ll see,” Matt said, winking at his mother, and flipping the box lid closed. He had never felt more self-possessed.


  But when he turned again and replaced the cigar box on the sideboard, he again found that something barred his rejoining the family group. This time there was no nonsense about waves sweeping over him or about keeping his eye on the shore. There was a different kind of nonsense: it seemed to him now that he had gone to that drugstore on purpose this morning, that he had planned the whole adventure before he ever left New York. It had been intended to satisfy some passing and unnamed need of his, but the adventure had cut too deep into his memory and into what was far more than mere memory. Inadvertently, he had penetrated beyond all the good sense and reasonableness that made life seem worthwhile—or even tolerable. And through the breach, beyond, behind, or beneath all this, he was now confronted by a thing that had a face and a will of its own. It was there threatening not only him and his father but the others too. Its threat was always present really, in him and in every man. It was in women too, no doubt, but they were so constituted that they never lost sight of it, were always on their guard, were dealing with it every moment of their lives.


  Above the sideboard hung a dark still life done in oils. It was protected, in the fashion of an earlier day, by a rather thick pane of glass. Behind this glass a dead fish lay upon a maroon platter, and beside the platter were stretched two dead pheasants in full plumage, their necks drooping over the edge of what seemed to be the same sideboard that the picture hung above. They were not very colorful pheasants, all dull browns and reds; and the leaden-eyed fish, with its lusterless scales and its long, tapering tail, bore more resemblance to a dead rodent than to any game fish. He had been at once fascinated and repelled by the picture as a child, then when he was older he had come to despise its triteness, and later he had learned to find it amusing. It had been painted by one of his great-grandmothers, and like the mahogany sideboard was counted among the family treasures. Suddenly now the limp tail of the dead fish stiffened and moved! Or perhaps it was the neck of one of the lifeless pheasants! . . . It was neither of course. The movement had been the reflection of his own face as he lifted it. He was not amused by the illusion. Momentarily the dim reflection of his face in the glass, superimposed upon the dark, unreal fish and pheasants, appeared to him as the very face of that Thing he had uncovered. The dark face loomed large in the glass and it was a monstrous obtrusion on the relatively bright scene that was reflected all around it—the innocent scene at the breakfast table behind Matt. In the glass he could see his mother nodding her head as she spoke. She was saying that one of his brothers was going to stop by the house to see them on his way to work this morning. And he heard Janie asking whether that brother’s oldest child was going to graduate from high school this year . . . How dearly he loved them all! And how bitterly the Thing showing its face in the glass hated them!


  “Only out for a walk, eh?” his father was saying, just as though Matt’s back were not turned to the room. The tone was playfully sententious. It was their old accustomed tone with each other. Matt massaged his face, as if to transform his features before presenting his face to the family. He reached into the cigar box and took out one cigar for himself, then headed toward the empty chair beside his mother.


  “Yes, only out for a walk,” he replied cheerfully. “And why not?”


  “I don’t know. You had a guilty look when you came in.”


  Matt was standing behind his chair at the table. Already he was able to laugh inwardly about the business of the boogyman in the glass. What nonsense! Perhaps it was a sign of age, letting a visit home upset him so. The truth was, it wasn’t just waking up in his father’s house and the visit to that drugstore. He had come to the age where waking up anywhere but in his own apartment or in any city but New York could throw him out of kilter. And he reflected that ever since he could remember, his father had disliked sleeping anywhere but in his own bed. It was very wise of the old man, very wise.


  As he was getting into his chair he heard the older boy say to his grandfather, “Yes, he looked guilty all right. I noticed it.”


  “Yes, he sure did,” added the younger boy.


  “You two little parrots,” Matt said fondly. And to his father he said, “They’re just like you.”


  Janie burst out laughing. He could feel her relief. And his mother said, “You men.”


  Matt smiled at his father, waiting a moment before taking up his napkin from the table. He was aware that his smile was the same smile he had given his trembling hand upstairs.


  “Just out for a walk, eh?” his father said again, childlike in the pleasure he took from the attention his remark had drawn the first time, and even more childlike in his effort to repeat or extend the pleasure. But Matt knew he wouldn’t pursue the subject further. He felt that in a sense his father understood him better even than Janie did. And the old man had his own way of communicating it. Yes, it seemed to Matt that he and the man sitting at the head of the table had long, long since reached an understanding and come to terms with one another. Surely no one could say that either he or his father had not made those adjustments and concessions that a happy and successful life requires. They played at being father and son still, played at quarreling still, but they had long ago absolved each other of any guilt. They were free of all that. As two men, they respected each other and enjoyed each other’s company. All the rest was nonsense!


  Presently the conversation around the table became general. Everyone chattered while they waited for the cook to come and remove the fruit juice glasses. The two boys were behaving extremely well with their grandparents, and Janie had never seemed easier or more at home in the house of her in-laws. Everything was going splendidly. Matt unfolded his napkin and stretched it across his lap. He experienced an exhilarating sense of well-being. He took up his fruit knife and began to peel his orange. He worked with a steady hand, displaying consummate skill, and was conscious that everyone else was looking on admiringly while he performed the rite. As he peeled away at the orange, making the coarse rind come out in long curls like apple peels, it was as though he could already taste the fruit in his mouth. Yet when finally he had put down his knife, he observed with satisfaction that there was nowhere a break on the thin, inner pellicle of the orange. His satisfaction was so complete, in fact, that he could not resist lifting up the piece of fruit—unscathed and whole—between the fingertips of his own hands for a general inspection. Then for a moment he sat looking over the orange and into the faces of his loved ones, and he did not wonder at their grateful smiles.


  Two Pilgrims


  


  WE WERE on our way from Memphis to a small town in northern Alabama, where my uncle, who was a cotton broker, had a lawsuit that he hoped could be settled out of court. Mr. Lowder, my uncle’s old friend and lawyer, was traveling with him. I had just turned seventeen, and I had been engaged to come along in the capacity of chauffeur. I sat alone in the front seat of the car. The two men didn’t discuss the lawsuit along the way, as I would have expected them to do. I don’t know to this day exactly what was involved, or even whether or not Mr. Lowder managed to settle the matter on that trip. From the time we left the outskirts of Memphis, the two men talked instead about how good the bird hunting used to be there in our section of the country. During the two hours while we were riding through the big cotton counties of West Tennessee, they talked of almost nothing but bird dogs and field trials, interrupting themselves only when we passed through some little town or settlement to speak of the fine people they knew who had once lived there. We went through Collierville, La Grange, Grand Junction, Saulsbury. At La Grange, my uncle pointed out a house with a neoclassic portico and said he had once had a breakfast there that lasted three hours. At Saulsbury, Mr. Lowder commented that it somehow did his soul good to see the name spelled that way. Though it was November, not all the trees had lost their leaves yet. There was even some color still—dull pinks and yellows mixed with reddish browns—and under a bright, limitless sky the trees and the broad fields of grayish cotton stalks, looking almost lavender in places, gave a kind of faded-tapestry effect.


  After we crossed the Tennessee River at Savannah, the country changed. And it was as if the new kind of country we had got into depressed the two men. But it may have been only the weather, because the weather changed, too, after we crossed the river. The sky became overcast, and everything seemed rather closed in. Soon there was intermittent rain of a light, misty sort. I kept switching my windshield wiper on and off, until presently my uncle asked me in a querulous tone why I didn’t just let the thing run. For thirty or forty miles, the two men had little to say to each other. Finally, as we were passing through a place called Waynesboro—a hard-looking hill town with a cement-block jailhouse dominating the public square—my uncle said that this town was where General Winfield Scott had made one of his halts on the notorious Trail of Tears, when he was rounding up the Cherokees to move them west, in 1838. The two men spoke of what a cruel thing that had been, but they agreed that one must not judge the persons responsible too harshly, that one must judge them by the light of their times and remember what the early settlers had suffered at the hands of the Indians.


  Not very long after we had left Waynesboro, Mr. Lowder remarked that we were approaching the old Natchez Trace section and that the original settlers there had been a mighty rough lot of people. My uncle added that from the very earliest days the whole area had been infested with outlaws and robbers and that even now it was said to be a pretty tough section. They sounded as though they were off to a good start; I thought the subject might last them at least until lunchtime. But just as this thought occurred to me, they were interrupted.


  We came over the brow of one of the low-lying hills in that country of scrub oaks and pinewoods, and there before us—in a clearing down in the hollow ahead—was a house with smoke issuing from one window toward the rear and with little gray geysers rising at a half-dozen points on the black-shingled roof. It was an unpainted, one-story house set close to the ground and with two big stone end chimneys. All across the front was a kind of lean-to porch. There was an old log barn beyond the house. Despite my uncle’s criticism, I had switched off the windshield wiper a mile or so up the road, and then I had had to switch it on again just as we came over the hill. Even with the wiper going, visibility was not very good, and my first thought was that only the misty rain in the air was keeping the roof of that house from blazing up. Mr. Lowder and my uncle were so engrossed in their talk that I think it was my switching the wiper on again that first attracted their attention. But instantly upon seeing the smoke, my uncle said, “Turn in down there!”


  “But be careful how you slow down,” Mr. Lowder warned. “This blacktop’s slick.” Already he and my uncle were perched on the edge of the back seat, and one of them had put a hand on my shoulder as if to steady me.


  The little house was in such a clearing as must have been familiar to travelers in pioneer days. There were stumps everywhere, even in the barn lot and among the cabbages in the garden. I suppose I particularly noticed the stumps because a good number were themselves smoldering and sending up occasional wisps of smoke. Apparently, the farmer had been trying to rid himself of the stumps in the old-fashioned way. There was no connection between these fires and the one at the house, but the infernal effect of the whole scene was inescapable. One felt that the entire area within the dark ring of pinewoods might at any moment burst into flame.


  I turned the car off the macadam pavement, and we bumped along some two hundred feet, following wagon ruts that led more toward the barn than toward the house. The wide barn door stood open, and I could see the figure of a man inside herding a couple of animals through a door at the other end, where the barn lot was. Then I heard Mr. Lowder and my uncle open the back doors of the car. While the car was still moving, they leaped out onto the ground. They both were big men, more than six feet tall and with sizable stomachs that began just below the breastbone, but they sprinted off in the direction of the house like two boys. As they ran, I saw them hurriedly putting on their black gloves. Next, they began stripping off their topcoats. By the time I had stopped the car and got out, they had pulled their coats over their heads, and I realized then that each had tossed his hat onto the back seat before leaping from the car. Looking like a couple of hooded night riders, they were now mounting the shallow porch steps. It was just as they gained the porch that I saw the woman appear from around the far side of the house. At the sight of the hooded and begloved men on her porch—the porch of her burning house—the woman threw one hand to her forehead and gave such an alarmed and alarming cry that I felt something turn over inside me. Even the two intruders halted for an instant on the porch and looked at her.


  I thought at first glance that she was an old woman, she was so stooped. Then something told me—I think it was the plaintive sounds she was making—that she was more young than old. After her first outcry, she continued a kind of girlish wailing, which, it seemed to me, expressed a good deal more than mere emotional shock. The noises she made seemed to say that all this couldn’t be happening to her. Not hooded bandits added to a house-burning! It wasn’t right; life couldn’t be so hard, couldn’t be as evil as this; it was more than she should be asked to bear!


  “Anybody inside, Miss?” my uncle called out to the girl.


  She began shaking her head frantically.


  “Well, we’ll fetch out whatever we can!” he called. Glancing back at me—I was trying to make a hood of my own topcoat and preparing to join them—my uncle shouted, “Don’t you come inside! Stay with that girl! And calm her down!” With that, he followed Mr. Lowder through the doorway and into the house.


  Presently, they were hurling bedclothes and homemade-looking stools and chairs through the side windows. Then one or the other of them would come dashing out across the porch and into the yard, deposit on the ground a big pitcher and washbasin or a blurry old mirror with a carved wooden frame, and then dash back inside again. Now and then when one of them brought something out, he would pause for just the briefest moment, not to rest but to examine the rescued object before he put it down. It was comical to see the interest they took in the old things they brought out of that burning house.


  When I came up to where the woman was standing, she seemed to have recovered completely from her first fright. She looked at me a little shamefacedly, I thought. Her deep-socketed eyes were almost freakishly large. And I noticed at once that they were of two different colors. One was a mottled brown, the other a gray-green. When finally she spoke, she turned her eyes away and toward the house. “Who are you-all?” she asked.


  “We were just passing by,” I said.


  She looked at me and then turned away again. I felt she was skeptical, that she suspected we had been sent by someone. Each time she directed her eyes at me, I read deceit or guilt or suspicion in them.


  “Where you coming from?” she asked in an idle tone, craning her neck to see what some object was that had come flying out the window. She seemed abundantly calm now. Without answering her question, I yanked my coat over my head and ran off toward the house. My uncle met me on the porch steps. He handed me a dresser drawer he was carrying, not failing to give the contents a quick inventory. Then he gave me a rather heavy punch on the chest. “You stay out there and keep that girl calm,” he said. “You hear what I say! She’s apt to go to pieces any minute.”


  The woman was taking a livelier interest in matters now. I set the drawer on a stump, and when I looked up, she peered over me to see which drawer it was I had brought and what extra odds and ends my uncle might have swept into it. On top lay a rusty fire poker and a couple of small picture frames with the glass so smashed up you couldn’t make out the pictures. Underneath, there was a jumble of old cloth scraps and paper dress patterns and packages of garden seeds. Seeing all this, the woman opened her mouth and smiled vacantly, perhaps a little contemptuously. She was so close to me that I became aware of the sweetness of her breath! I could not have imagined that her breath would be sweet. Though the skin on her forehead and on her high cheekbones was clear and very fair, there were ugly pimples on her chin and at the corners of her mouth. Her dark hair was wet from the drizzle of rain and was pushed behind her ears and hung in clumps over the collar of her soiled denim jacket. She was breathing heavily through her parted lips. Presently, when our eyes met, I thought I detected a certain momentary gleefulness in her expression. But her glance darted back toward the house at once.


  The two men had pressed on beyond the front rooms and into the ell of the house. Now the woman took a couple of steps in order to look through one of the front windows and perhaps catch a glimpse of them back there.


  “We were coming from Memphis,” I said. “We’re from Memphis.” But she seemed no longer interested in that subject.


  “It’s no use what they’re doing,” she said. “Unless they like it.”


  “It’s all right,” I said, still hoping to distract her. “We’re on our way to a place in Alabama.”


  “They your bosses?” she asked. She couldn’t take her eyes off the window.


  “No, it’s my uncle and his lawyer.”


  “Well, they’re right active,” she commented. “But there ain’t nothing in there worth their bustle and bother. Yet some folks like to take chances. It’s just the worst lot of junk in there. We heired this place from my grandma when she passed on last spring; the junk was all hern.”


  Just then, Mr. Lowder and my uncle came running from the house. Each of them was carrying a coal-oil lamp, his right hand supporting the base of the lamp and his left clamped protectively on the fragile chimney. I almost burst out laughing.


  “It’s gotten too hot in there,” Mr. Lowder said. “We’ll have to stop.”


  When they had set down their lamps, they began examining each other’s coats, making sure they weren’t on fire. Next, they tossed their coats on the bare ground and set about pulling some of the rescued articles farther from the house. I went forward to help, and the woman followed. She didn’t follow to help, however. Apparently, she was only curious to see which of her possessions these men had deemed worth saving. She looked at everything she came to with almost a disappointed expression. Then Mr. Lowder picked up an enameled object, and I noticed that as he inspected it a deep frown appeared on his brow. He held the thing up for my uncle to see, and I imagined for a moment that he was trying to draw laughter from all of us. It was a child’s chamber pot, not much larger than a beer mug. “Did you bring this out?” Mr. Lowder asked my uncle.


  My uncle nodded, and, still bending over, he studied the pot for a second, showing that he had not really identified it before. Then he looked at the woman. “Where’s your child, ma’am?” he asked in a quiet voice.


  The woman gaped at him as though she didn’t understand what he was talking about. She shifted her eyes to the tiny pot that Mr. Lowder was still holding aloft. Now her mouth dropped wide open, and at the same time her lips drew back in such a way that her bad teeth were exposed for the first time. It was impossible not to think of a death’s-head. At that instant, the whole surface of the shingled roof on the side of the house where we were standing burst into flames.


  


  A few minutes before this, the rain had ceased altogether, and now it was as though someone had suddenly doused the roof with kerosene. My back was to the house, but I heard a loud “swoosh” and I spun around in that direction. Then I heard the woman cry out and I spun back again. Mr. Lowder set the chamber pot on the ground and began moving rather cautiously toward her. My uncle stood motionless, watching her as though she were an animal that might bolt. As Mr. Lowder came toward her, she took a step backward, and then she wailed, “My baby! Oh, Lord, my baby! He’s in thar!” Mr. Lowder seized her by the wrist and simultaneously gave us a quick glance over his shoulder.


  My uncle snatched up a ragged homespun blanket from the ground and threw it over his head. I seized a patchwork quilt that had been underneath the blanket, and this time I followed him inside the house. Even in the two front rooms it was like a blast furnace, and I felt I might faint. The smoke was so dense that you couldn’t see anything an arm’s length away. But my uncle had been in those two front rooms and he knew there was no baby there. With me at his heels, he ran right on through and into the first room in the ell, where there wasn’t so much smoke—only raw flames eating away at the wall toward the rear. The window lights had burst from the heat in there, and there was a hole in the ceiling, so that you could look right up through the flames to the sky. But my eyes were smarting so that I couldn’t really see anything in the room, and I was coughing so hard that I couldn’t stand up straight. My uncle was coughing, too, but he could still manage to look about. He made two complete turns around the room and then he headed us on into the kitchen. There wasn’t anything recognizable to me in the kitchen except the black range. One of the two window frames fell in as we ran through. The next instant, after we had leaped across the burning floorboards and had jumped off the back stoop of the house, the rafters and the whole roof above the kitchen came down.


  There must have been a tremendous crash, though I hardly heard it. Even before my uncle and I could shed our smoldering blankets, we saw the man coming toward us from the barn. “You’re afire!” he called out to us. But we had already dropped the blankets before I understood what he was saying. He was jogging along toward us. One of his legs was shorter than the other, and he couldn’t move very fast. Under one arm he was carrying a little towheaded child of not more than two years. He held it exactly as though it might be a sack of corn meal he was bringing up from the barn.


  “Do you have another baby?” my uncle shouted at him.


  “No, narry other,” the man replied.


  My uncle looked at me. He was coughing still, but at the same time he was smiling and shaking his head. “You all right?” he asked me. He gave my clothes a quick once-over, and I did the same for him. We had somehow got through the house without any damage, even to our shoes or our trouser legs.


  By the time the man came up to the house, my uncle had dashed off to tell the woman her baby was safe. I tried to explain to the man about the mistake his wife had made. “Your wife thought your baby was in the house,” I said.


  He was a stocky, black-haired man, wearing overalls and a long-sleeved undershirt. “She whut?” he said, looking at me darkly. He glanced up briefly at the flames, which were now leaping twenty or thirty feet above the framework of the kitchen. Then he set out again, in the same jogging pace, toward the front of the house. I caught a glimpse of the baby’s intense blue eyes gazing up at the smoke and flames.


  “She thought the baby was inside the house,” I said, following the man at a trot.


  “Like hell she did!” he said under his breath but loud enough for me to hear.


  As we rounded the corner of the house, I heard my uncle call out to the woman that her baby was safe. She was seated on a stump with her face hidden in her hands. My uncle and Mr. Lowder once again began pulling rescued objects farther away from the house. As the man passed him, Mr. Lowder looked up and said, “Did you get all the stock out?”


  “Yup,” said the man.


  “I guess you’re lucky there’s no wind,” Mr. Lowder said.


  And my uncle said, “It must have started in the kitchen and spread through the attic. You didn’t have any water drawn?”


  The man stopped for a second and looked at my uncle. He shifted the baby from one hip to the other. “The pump’s broke,” he said. “It was about wore out, and she broke it for good this morning.”


  “Isn’t that the way it goes,” my uncle said sympathetically, shaking his head.


  Then, still carrying the baby, the man shuffled on toward his wife. The woman kept her face hidden in her hands, but I think she heard him coming. Neither of them seemed to have any awareness that their house and most of their possessions were at that moment going up in flames. I was watching the man when he got to her. He still had the baby under his arm. I saw him draw back his free hand, and saw the hand come down in a resounding slap on the back of her head. It knocked her right off the stump. She hit the ground in a sitting position and still she didn’t look up at her husband. “J’you aim to git them fellows burned alive?” he thundered.


  Mr. Lowder and my uncle must have been watching, too, because we all three ran forward at the same moment. “Lay off that!” Mr. Lowder bellowed. “Just lay off, now!”


  “She knowed this here young’un warn’t in no house!” the man said, twisting the baby to his shoulder. “I reckoned she’d like as not lose her head. That’s how come I carried him with me, and I told her plain as daylight I was a-goin’ to.”


  “Now, you look here, mister,” my uncle said, “the girl was just scared. She didn’t know what she was saying.”


  “Probably she couldn’t remember, in her fright,” Mr. Lowder said.


  The man stood staring down at his wife. “She’s feared of her own shadow, and that’s how come I carried him to the barn.”


  “Well, you’re not going to beat her with us here,” Mr. Lowder said firmly. “She was scared out of her wits, that’s all.”


  “Who sent y’ all out here?” the man asked my uncle, turning his back on Mr. Lowder. “Ain’t they goan send no fire engine?”


  It was as he spoke the word that we heard the fire truck coming. The whine of the siren must have first reached us from a point three or four miles distant, because at least five minutes elapsed before the fire truck and the two carloads of volunteers arrived. It turned out that somebody else had stopped by before we did and had hurried on to the next town to give the alarm. I thought it strange that the woman hadn’t told us earlier that they were expecting help from town. But, of course, there was little about the woman’s behavior that didn’t seem passing strange to me.


  As soon as we heard the siren, she began pushing herself up from the ground. Without a glance at any of the rest of us, she went directly to her husband and snatched the baby from him. The baby’s little face was dirty, and there were wide streaks on it, where some while earlier there must have been a flow of tears. But his eyes were dry now and wore a glazed look. He seemed to stare up at the flaming house with total indifference. Almost as soon as he was in his mother’s arms, he placed his chin on the shoulder of her denim jacket and quietly closed his eyes. He seemed to have fallen asleep at once. With her baby in her arms, the woman strode away into the adjoining field, among the smoking stumps and toward the edge of the pinewoods. There she stopped, at the edge of the woods, and there she remained standing, with her back turned toward the house and toward us and toward all the activity that ensued after the fire truck and the other cars arrived. She was still standing there, with the baby on her shoulder, when we left the scene.


  We stayed on for only a few minutes after the local fire brigade arrived. Mr. Lowder and my uncle could see that their work here was done and they were mindful of the pressing business that they hoped to transact in Alabama that afternoon. We lingered just long enough to see most of the articles they had rescued from the flames thoroughly soaked with water. The sight must have been disheartening to them, but they didn’t speak of it. The inexpert firemen couldn’t control the pressure from their tank, and whenever there came a great spurt of water they lost their grip on the hose. They seemed bound to spray everything but the burning house. We withdrew a little way in the direction of our car and joined a small group of spectators who had now come on the scene.


  I didn’t tell my uncle or Mr. Lowder what I was thinking during the time that we stood there with the local people who had gathered. I could still see the woman down in the field, and I wondered if my uncle or Mr. Lowder were not going to tell some local person how suspicious her behavior had been—and her husband’s, too, for that matter. Surely there was some mystery, I said to myself, some questions that ought to be answered or asked. But no question of any kind seemed to arise in the minds of my two companions. It was as if such a fire were an everyday occurrence in their lives and as if they lived always among such queer people as that afflicted poor-white farmer and his simple wife.


  


  Once we had got back into the car and were on our way again, I was baffled by the quiet good humor—and even serenity—of those two men I was traveling with. The moment they had resettled themselves on the back seat of the car, after giving their overcoats a few final brushings and after placing their wide-brimmed fedoras firmly on their heads again, they began chatting together with the greatest ease and nonchalance. I could not see their faces; I had to keep my eyes on the road. But I listened and presently I heard my uncle launch upon a reminiscence. “I did the damndest thing once,” he said. “It was when I was a boy of just eight or nine. The family have kidded me about it all my life. One morning after I had been up to mischief of some kind, Father took me into the kitchen and gave me a switching on my legs with a little shoot he had broken off the privet hedge. When I came outside again, I was still yowling, and the other children who were playing there in the house lot commenced guying me about it. All at once, I burst out at them: ‘You’d cry, too, if he beat you with the shovel handle!’ I hadn’t aimed to say it; I just said it. My brothers kid me about it to this day.”


  “Yes,” said Mr. Lowder. “It’s like that—the things a person will say.” He liked my uncle’s story immensely. He said it sounded so true. As he spoke, I could hear one of them striking a match. It wasn’t long before I caught the first whiff of cigar smoke. Then another match was struck. They were both smoking now. Pretty soon their conversation moved on to other random topics.


  Within the next half hour, we got out of that hill country along the Tennessee River and entered the rich and beautiful section to the east of it, near the fine old towns of Pulaski and Fayetteville. I could not help remarking on the change to my uncle. “Seems good to have finally got out of that godforsaken-looking stretch back there,” I said over my shoulder.


  “How do you mean ‘godforsaken’?” my uncle replied. I recognized a testiness in his tone, and his reply had come so quickly that I felt he had been waiting for me to say exactly what I had said.


  “It’s just ugly, that’s all,” I mumbled, hoping that would be the end of it.


  But Mr. Lowder joined in the attack, using my uncle’s tone. “I wouldn’t say one kind of country’s any better-looking than another—not really.”


  And then my uncle again: “To someone your age, it just depends on what kind of country—if any—you happen to be used to.”


  “Maybe so,” said I, not wanting to say more but unable to stop myself. “Maybe so, but I could live for a hundred years in that scrubby-looking country without ever getting used to it.”


  No doubt the rolling pasture land on both sides of the highway now—still green in November, and looking especially green after recent rain—caused me to put more feeling into my statement than I might otherwise have done. And it may also have had its effect on the two men in the back seat.


  There was a brief pause, and then my uncle fired away again. “Every countryside has its own kind of beauty. It’s up to you to learn to see it, that’s all.”


  Then Mr. Lowder: “And if you don’t see it, it’s just your loss. Because it’s there.”


  “Besides, a lot you know about that country,” my uncle went on, in what seemed to me an even more captious spirit than before. “And how could you? How could you judge, flying along the highway at fifty miles an hour, flapping that damned wiper off and on?”


  “More than that,” said Mr. Lowder with renewed energy, “you would have to have seen that country thirty years ago to understand why it looks the way it does now. That was when they cut out the last of the old timber. I’ve heard it said that when the first white men came through that section it had the prettiest stand of timber on the continent!”


  Suddenly I blurted out, “But what’s that got to do with it?” I was so irritated that I could feel the blood rising in my cheeks and I knew that the back of my neck was already crimson. “It’s how the country looks now I’m talking about. Anyway, I’m only here as your driver. I don’t have to like the scenery, do I?”


  Both men broke into laughter. It was a kind of laughter that expressed both apology and relief. My uncle bent forward, thumped me on the shoulder with his knuckle, and said, “Don’t be so touchy, boy.” Almost at once, they resumed their earlier dialogue. One of them lowered a window a little way to let out some of the smoke, but the aroma of their cigars continued to fill the car, and they spoke in the same slow cadences as before and in the same tranquil tone.


  We reached the town in Alabama toward the middle of the afternoon and we spent the night in an old clapboard hotel on the courthouse square. After dinner that night, the two men sat in the lobby and talked to other men who were staying there in the hotel. I found myself a place near the stove and sat there with my feet on the fender, sometimes dozing off. But even when I was half asleep I was still listening to see whether, in their talk, either Mr. Lowder or my uncle would make any reference to our adventure that morning. Neither did. Instead, as the evening wore on and they got separated and were sitting with two different groups of men, I heard them both repeating the very stories they had told in the car before we crossed the Tennessee River—stories about bird hunting and field trials and about my uncle’s three-hour breakfast in the old house with the neoclassic portico.


  The Throughway


  


  THEY WERE a couple who had lived always in the same house since they had first married—not one they owned but one they had been able to rent all through the years. The house was in an old section of the city, the very part of town in which they both had grown up. Once upon a time it had been a fashionable section, of course, but even when Harry and Isabel were young people it was considered no more than highly respectable and “comfortable.” Yet they had been delighted to go on living there and had taken satisfaction in bringing up their two daughters in the neighborhood where they had themselves been young. When the daughters married and left them to go and live in the suburbs, they were happy to continue living there alone.


  Harry’s work was nearby. Just two blocks away there was a cluster of stores where Isabel liked to do all her shopping for the house. Having everything so close, they had not found it necessary to own a car—not necessary or feasible. Harry’s work had never amounted to more than holding down a job at the wire-mesh plant, but living always where they did and as they did, they had never suffered any real hardship. Isabel was an excellent manager. As for Harry, there was no kind of repair job about the place that he couldn’t do for himself. He even installed a new furnace when the old one wore out. Their contemporaries had all prospered more than they had, of course, and had moved into the newer developments farther out in the east end. But these same contemporaries often expressed envy for Harry and Isabel’s lot in life. Everyone said that they were such sane and sensible and unsuperficial people. . . . In a changing, uncertain world it was good to know a couple who enjoyed such stability.


  But this was how it was for Harry and Isabel before the unfortunate business about the throughway came up. After that—after it was announced that one leg of the new throughway system, connecting all the outlying sections of the growing city, would come down their very street and require demolition of their entire block—everything seemed different. Through certain connections that Harry had—boyhood friends in high places—he managed to obtain a court hearing in which to make his protest against the route the throughway was taking. From that day he revealed himself to all the world as nothing more than a local crank. His friends could no longer enjoy dropping by his house for an evening of relaxed talk about old times. And from about that time Isabel, out of embarrassment perhaps, since she clearly did not share her husband’s obsession, began to decline all invitations from even her oldest acquaintances.


  Worse still, from that day forward Harry and Isabel seemed almost strangers to each other. At times it was difficult for either of them to understand the motive behind anything the other did or said. On the other hand, there were as many times when each would suspect that he or she understood the other’s motives only too well! The routing of the new throughway, which was considered to be in the public interest, seemed to have undermined that very serenity for which Harry and Isabel were envied. On the day scheduled for their removal from the old house, they met in the downstairs hall not as two who were allied against an intruding world but as two adversaries.


  Isabel had left her room and come downstairs half an hour before Harry did. Finally she heard him shuffling about on the bare floor in his room and in the upstairs hall. Then she heard him on the stairs. She went into the hall and waited at the foot of the stairs, just outside the living-room doorway. He descended the stairs as though he didn’t see her there at the bottom. Finally he stopped on the last step and looked over her head into the dismantled living room. “Three moves,” he said quietly, smiling faintly, vaguely—still not looking at her, “three moves are equal to one burning. That’s how the old saying goes, isn’t it?”


  Though she stood with her back to the living room, Isabel could see its whole jumble and disarray and even the terrible, blank bareness of its walls, all reflected in the wounded-animal look on Harry’s face. Why, he looked like a man nearly eighty this morning instead of like one nearly sixty. She kept thinking that somehow she ought to feel guilty about it. But she could not take the blame. She could not find where her fault lay. In his eyes she seemed to see the goldfish bowl on the mantelpiece directly behind her—almost literally she felt she could see it—and she saw in the expression about his mouth the canary’s cage with its night cover still on to keep the little thing from taking fright when the movers should arrive. And as Harry’s eyes roved slowly about the room behind her, it seemed to her that she could even see the drops of cold rain batting against the curtainless, shadeless windows. “I read in the paper recently,” she heard him saying now, his eyes still directed toward the living room as though he were speaking to the covered birdcage or the fishbowl, “I read in the paper that one-third of this country’s population moves every year.”


  Suddenly Isabel reached out and placed a hand on his sweater sleeve. She left it there a moment, thinking surely it would make him look at her. In that moment it seemed that his not looking at her during the past weeks had been what hurt her most. Presently, in a tone so dispirited and soft that he may not have noticed that she had spoken, she asked, “How can you even want to stay on here?” Then, as though unexpectedly receiving new energy and a new inspiration, she went on, “Why, last winter the water got up in the basement till it ruined those two old chests of drawers you were refinishing. Didn’t you even mind that? And, Harry, we are in for another wet, rainy fall. It’s hardly September and the rain already coming down like October!”


  Still looking past her, as if addressing someone over her shoulder, he said, “That’s why I fired up the furnace this morning.” As he spoke, the furnace pipes rattled and clanged as though there were a prison riot in progress.


  “Yes, and that furnace! Listen to it! And you, at your age, down there shoveling coal at five A.M. A coal furnace!”


  “I don’t know why you should disparage the furnace,” he said. And now it was as though he were talking to her—or to someone—over the telephone. “It’s a good furnace still,” he said in a loud, heartfelt tone. “Hardly four years old. Besides, I like knowing there’s a real fire down there—not just some gas piped in, and a jet.”


  He was silent a moment. Then he fixed his eyes on her for the first time. “It isn’t natural,” he said, “for a woman to care so little about her home.”


  Except for the tone of his voice when he said that, she might have thought he was out of his senses. And his gaze on her was suddenly so intense and honest she could almost believe that what he said made sense. . . . After a moment she began shaking her head from side to side. That was all she could do now. Here it was Monday morning, the day of the move, and he was still saying that sort of thing to her. What did he mean? And how dare he? It was really too much. He had been no help at all. He had taken no part in the packing or in finding a new place. All weekend he had wandered about the house like a sick animal who only sensed there was going to be a change, padding about in his soft-soled slippers, with never a word to anybody, and never once offering to lend a hand. Their two sons-in-law had had to come in and shift the crates and barrels about for her.


  


  At last Harry turned away into the hall. He was heading for the dining room, she guessed—as though they could eat in there this morning! “What isn’t natural,” she began, not knowing what she was going to say, but following after him and determined to say something, “what’s not natural is for a man to care so much about a house—especially a house that isn’t his.” She was willing to say the worst kind of thing that might pop into her head this morning if it took that to prevent Harry’s falling back into yesterday’s silence.


  In the dining-room doorway he halted again, almost as if he had found her confronting him in that doorway too. Instead, she was so close behind him that when he stopped her nose actually touched the coarse texture of his cardigan. And she didn’t need to peer over the stooped shoulders or around his straight-hanging sweater arms to make out what it was he had come up against that stopped him. She knew the kind of disorder the dining room was in. She could see right through him—she could see it with his eyes—the dark table laid with cartons of kitchen junk instead of with the china and silver he expected, or wanted to expect. Then for a moment she had a clear vision, his vision, of the heavy oak dining table set with their white bone china (which she had used every day since they set up housekeeping, without ever breaking even one cup handle) and their wedding silver (which she had never spared, never saved for company, but which she had polished every Saturday night and had used and enjoyed every day that came, just the way he wanted her to). The vision of their table all properly set for breakfast with the cut-glass sugar bowl and cream pitcher, his vision, was so vivid to her that she closed her eyes and kept them closed for a moment, trying to free herself of it. . . . It was never easy for her not to see things the way he saw them or the way he wanted her to see them.


  Her eyes were still shut when she heard him suddenly laugh out loud. It wasn’t a kind of laughter she had ever thought him capable of. Without opening her eyes she stretched out an arm in her self-imposed darkness, reaching for him with her open hand. But now he was no longer within her reach.


  It was still worse when she looked. Harry had crossed the room and dropped down into one of the straight chairs at the table, just as though the table were properly set, dropped down into his own chair, and was smiling at her across the litter on the table in that new way he had that seemed more alien than his laughter.


  “Dear Harry!” she said under her breath.


  Harry put his two hands on the table and spoke with a casual warmth, as though he were merely asking what favorite dish of his he could expect this morning. “What would you have me care about instead?” he asked. There was something almost chipper in his voice. “That is, if I am not to care about our home.” His voice sounded so natural that she forgot all restraint and let her anger come back.


  “Why, you ought to care about your work, that’s what!” (Now what was she saying to him? she asked herself.)


  “I do,” he said.


  “You never have!”


  She wondered at her own fierceness. She was saying things she couldn’t have said to him six weeks before—before the hearing and its attendant publicity began. It was as if she had picked up the hateful, insinuating tone of the city officials and the lawyers and mixed it with the rudeness of the reporters. She heard herself, and she wanted to stop her ears to shut out her own voice.


  “I’ve liked my work just as much as any man does,” he said. “So leave that out, if you please. Stick to your real complaint, which is that I’ve liked my home a great deal better than most men do!”


  “But this isn’t our house—or your house. It’s a house we’ve rented. Our furniture’s our only real home, Harry. And we’re taking that with us, Harry.”


  “Oh,” he said, “so you hold that against me then, do you—that we’ve always only rented. Yet you have always maintained you didn’t mind.” Now it was he who sounded like the lawyers at the hearing.


  “You know better, Harry. I haven’t minded—not for myself.” She had now followed him all the way into the dining room and stood with her hands clasped and resting on the skirt of her starched apron.


  “Anyway,” he said, “it’s a house we’ve rented long enough to feel pretty much at home in. Thirty-one years. Our children grew up here, Isabel . . . I mean to die here.”


  “You’re still saying that? Today?”


  Now he had frightened her.


  Her fright seemed like something new to her, and yet it seemed familiar too. Momentarily she turned her eyes inward and asked herself, had she been frightened of him always? Frightened of dear, gentle Harry? Harry, who had wanted only to have his peace and keep out of the world’s way? But yes, that was it. It was not the throughway that was the cause of their distress. It was Harry’s drawing away from life. All through the years, really, he had only been waiting for the throughway, even wishing for it in his own way, wanting to be cornered. He simply could not have borne it if they had suddenly rerouted the throughway down some other street than theirs! . . . Again she shook her head. Such thoughts! She pushed one of the straight chairs over opposite him and sat down. “Listen, my husband, my dearest, we’ve always known we’d have to move someday. We’ve loved it here, but this neighborhood—this whole end of town—was going down when we married. That’s how it happened we were able to rent so cheaply here where we did.”


  “I wanted to rent here,” he said grimly. “It was not just something we could afford—not for me.”


  “I know.”


  “I grew up in this end of town, Isabel. So did you. Why not die here? Everybody has the right to die where he’s—”


  “I’m not thinking of dying, Harry!” she cried. It was as though she were fighting off the sudden image of death itself. “And you shouldn’t be.” Presently she bent forward and narrowed her eyes at him. “I . . . don’t . . . believe . . . you . . . are, Harry.”


  “But I am, somehow,” he said.


  “Why, I don’t care where I die,” she said recklessly. Her two plump forearms were planted on the table before her, and she could feel goose-bumps rising on them. “Isn’t it enough just to go on being alive? No matter where it is? Isn’t our love anything at all to you any more?” But at once she felt she had spoken the word “love” exactly as she would have spoken the name of a long-dead child. And she was so shocked by what she had said, and how she had said it, that she drew in her breath sharply.


  At first Harry didn’t seem to have heard her. Then presently he said: “But here!” He was smiling that new smile again. His mouth turned up at the corners, like a child’s drawing. “Here in the end of town where we grew up and spent our lives! I tell you, I mean to go on firing that furnace of mine to the end, Isabel. I’ve talked myself into a queer corner, I know. I stop sometimes and ask myself why I’ve done it. But I can’t give in. Can’t you see?”


  Harry got up from his chair and went to the dining room’s plate-glass front window. Stripped of its draperies and its net curtains and even its green canvas shade, it was bare like a store window. How efficiently she had undone everything, he said to himself. Just as efficiently and economically as she had always done everything. He could imagine her saying to herself: Why leave anything behind in a house that is going to be pulled down? She would have soaked the wallpaper off the walls if she had deemed it practical. And she was so sure she could set them up just as cozily somewhere else. It was her great pride that she could make something of nothing. And that was the trouble. She had made their nothing such a great plenty. She had never allowed him to feel poor, to feel himself a nobody. But he had wanted to feel himself a nobody, to know that he was poor. He had needed to need. It seemed to him that from that he would have derived his deepest satisfaction. Long ago, before they were married even, she and he had talked a great deal about “accepting the world.” But he saw now how differently they had meant it. When, last year, they had heard the first threats that the throughway might come down their street, he saw that she seemed almost to welcome the idea. He had suspected her at times of having intercourse with the enemy. He smiled at the expression. The enemy, in his mind, had become the old friend from whom he had rented the house these thirty-one years—the old friend at first, that is, then his widow, then his widow’s heirs. It seemed quite possible that Isabel might have gone to the heirs and urged them not to fight the plan—to their heirs and perhaps the other property owners too. Her way of accepting the worst was to welcome it, to invite it, to be for it, of it. Just within recent months she had conveniently discovered all that was wrong with the old house and how bad it was for his heart that he had to fire that furnace. Or had she hated every bit of it all along? Was the throughway only what she had been waiting for?


  He stood looking out into the rain. The rain seemed to have subsided somewhat. Out in the wet street a car went by, then a truck. But nobody passed on the sidewalk. There wasn’t another house in the block that hadn’t been vacated. Two across the street had already come down; even the rubble had been cleared away.


  Now she moved up beside him at the window. He felt her hand on his sleeve again. “We’d best get a bite of breakfast in the kitchen, Harry,” she said. “The vans are due at eight o’clock.”


  He answered her in a whisper: “They’ve widened this street every ten years since we’ve been living here, Isabel. The trees went, the grass went next—now the people.” While he spoke, a gray cat out in the rain went scurrying along the sidewalk on the other side of the street. “Hurry, puss!” he said in a normal voice. Then he added, “It’s a funny thing. I had a dream about a cat last night. I thought I saw a mother cat eating its kittens. . . . We had one who did that when I was a boy.”


  Isabel made no response immediately. The two of them continued to stand at the window, looking out at the empty lots across the street with the gaping holes that had once been basements. Presently her hand fell away from his arm, but he could tell she was still there even before she spoke. “Harry, don’t begin again. You’ve said it all. You’ve said it to everybody. That should satisfy you. The lawyer tried to make you understand, even after the judge couldn’t. I thought maybe he had. Till this weekend, I did. You’re a man and ought to understand it better than I do. We’re out of character in this, both of us. I’ve never had any thought but to be what you wanted me to be. My one desire in life has been to give in to you—”


  “Yes, that’s true.”


  “—and make you comfortable and live within your—within our—means.”


  “That’s true.”


  “I’ve never had any thoughts of my own, Harry.”


  “I know.”


  “You’ve always told me what to think, and I’ve thought it. But, Harry, even I can understand that it’s only the property owners who might have stopped the throughway, and they didn’t want to. You ought to have known it was hopeless when they hung back. Your own lawyer said you ought to have your head examined for making such a useless fuss just because you could. He said so to me, in just so many words. It’s nothing to smile over, either—especially not like that. I’d think you were crazy, too, if I didn’t know the truth. It isn’t the house, Harry, and it isn’t the part of town you care so much about. Why, this part of town’s changed beyond recognition. It’s the throughway you hate for itself—or love for itself—coming down our street instead of the next street, or the next. You hate it, or love it, because you always knew it or something like it would come, had to come. . . . But it’s not our street really, Harry. It’s those people’s street who owned these old houses if it’s anybody’s, and they didn’t even stand by you when you got it into court.”


  “Is ownership the only thing in life? Can’t you have a right to something without owning it?” He didn’t look around at her. He went on looking out the window. Outside the rain had begun to fall more heavily again. “I own nothing,” he whispered. “I made up my mind early in life to ask for nothing. I thought that nothing was something they could never take away from me. But now it seems that isn’t so. The world today wants your nothing, even. Perhaps it always did.”


  “Harry, don’t begin that again. Not with that smile, anyway. I have to tell you, Harry, it does scare me a little to have you whispering and smiling so strangely. It would scare anyone. It’s strange enough seeing the house like this. It’s been strange enough living in this empty street all these weeks and months. Oh, you might as well know it now: I’ve been scared a long time living in this neighborhood.”


  “You wanted to be scared in this neighborhood. You wanted to want to move.”


  “Last winter, for instance, when you worked overtime so many nights at the plant, I used to hear noises at these downstairs windows.”


  “You wanted there to be noises at the windows.”


  “At least once I knew it was someone trying to break in. . . . Don’t smile so, Harry. . . . Some nights I almost telephoned one of the girls to send her husband over; but I didn’t want to worry them any more than you. Yes, I switched on those outside lights you’ve put up. I suppose that’s all that stopped whoever it was. But I’ve even been scared in the daytime here. For years, Harry. And since all the neighbors left—such neighbors as they were, too, toward the last! Oh, Harry, we’ve always known we’d have to move sometime! Even if they’d put the throughway farther east, it wouldn’t have been a year before the Blacks would have been in this block. They’re already just two doors the other side of the Cass Street intersection.”


  “I don’t mind the Negroes any more,” he said.


  “I know you don’t mind them. And they’ll be everywhere before long. You say it’s right. A sign of progress, you say. Well, the throughway is a sign of progress, isn’t it? How can you be for progress and against it, too?”


  “I can, somehow,” he said. She parted her lips to speak, but he interrupted. “And I’ve reached a point where it’s no use trying to explain things.”


  “Then there’s no use my saying more,” she said resignedly. “It’s seven-thirty, Harry. The vans—”


  “Forget the vans,” he said sharply. He turned his face to her, and they looked coldly into each other’s eyes for a moment. “The vans aren’t coming, Isabel,” he said finally.


  Isabel smiled at him with an indulgent expression. “The vans are coming, Harry,” she said patiently, as though explaining something to a child—explaining it for perhaps the second or third time. “It’s all arranged for, dear. They’ll be here at eight—rain or shine.”


  “No,” he said. “I telephoned the transfer company from the plant on Friday. The vans aren’t coming.”


  “You wouldn’t have, Harry!” she wailed.


  “I told them their men would have me to deal with if they showed up here.”


  “Harry, you didn’t! Not without consulting me! . . . And letting me go through this weekend.”


  “And you know how they’d feel about dealing with a crazy fellow like me, after all they’ve seen in the papers.”


  “Then I’ve done all I can do in this house, Harry.”


  “There’s not much more anyone can do,” her husband answered.


  “Not much more?” she asked, lifting her eyes suddenly to his.


  “Not much more,” he said.


  


  It was only then she realized how tired she was—not tired from the packing up, or tired even from the incessant ringing of the telephone or the being stopped by strangers on the street or by reporters waiting to take her picture, wanting her picture—hers!—the last resident, the wife of the man who said the throughway shouldn’t come down his street, wanting her picture doing her last shopping in the old-timey, pint-sized kind of Piggly-Wiggly store that they still had in their neighborhood. She wasn’t tired from the aggressive resentment that other people showed for someone who thought he could stop the throughway. No, what she was tired out by was fighting with herself to keep herself from fighting him. All these years, more than anything else, she had wanted him to have his own gentle way in everything, his own peace. That was what she had believed. She had laughed with him whenever he was passed over for promotion at the plant, and said with him, What did it matter? How could it change their life? Didn’t they already have their own little niche? But she knew now what it mattered. She knew now that in this day and age either you accepted the world, manifested yourself to the world, let the world have its way with you, or one way or another, sooner or later, directly or indirectly, you must pay its price—your peace. Yes, sooner or later it would come down your street. But, oh, actually she knew now that so far as she was concerned Harry was part of the world, that he was part of what was not her, that is, and knew that in the end everybody was part of it except yourself. Time was when she believed she kept herself from fighting him because it was the womanly, wifely thing to do. Or had she ever believed that, really? Wasn’t it that she had really known all along that in his meekness he was far stronger and more willful than she and would never yield an inch to her in any struggle there might ever be between them? His self-righteous withdrawal from the contest of life she saw now not as a negative thing but as a positive force pulling her with it toward a precipice somewhere. But she had to try to save herself. She could not let him drag her over the precipice. . . . Suddenly she left him at the window, and went hurriedly from the room.


  


  Harry didn’t know where she had gone until he heard the rattle of the metal coat-hanger on the floor of the hall closet. It was an unmistakable sound. He reminded himself that she would already have packed up all the wooden coat-hangers—they cost money—and probably all the wire ones too, except one for his coat and one for hers. And no doubt she had a place reserved in some box or other for those two wire hangers even. No doubt in some box—he thought it before he could stop himself, before he could tell himself that it didn’t make sense—no doubt in some box she had a spot reserved for him. Perhaps one of those boxes she had been saving in the attic through the years had been for him all along. Ah, the good-natured teasing he had done about her saving habits! It had seemed such a funny little fault for her to have. And in fact it ought to have put the fear of God in him long ago! He ought to have seen it for what it was. While he had been always avoiding the box the world wanted to put him in, she had been preparing one for him in his own attic. All that string and those old papers and boxes had been to wrap him in! She had known the day would come. . . . But what nonsense, he said to himself, trying to calm himself. Am I really out of my head? What nonsense. Am I afraid of such a reasonable, sensible, practical soul as Isabel? . . . Nevertheless, it was just as well he had canceled the order for the moving vans. In effect, she had been going to wrap him up and carry him off with the rest of the furniture. Then when she had moved him and the other furniture out, they would come and pull the house down. He had watched them tearing down the houses across the street. He had not told her at the time, but that was when he first realized he must do something. It was the wrong way for those old houses to go. There was something indecent about it, with those thugs hired to come in with their crowbars and their cranes and their great, swinging mace-and-chains. It took murderers for that. Of course, as Isabel said, they were not his houses. No, but you couldn’t watch without feeling it. Burning them would have been better—more decent. That’s the way such old houses used to go. He could remember when a whole block on Spencer Avenue burned. There had been four houses in that block that were built before the Civil War. At least three generations had lived out their lives there. He remembered, too, when the old Milton house on Spruce Street burned. That was the house in which his parents had got married. When the block on Spencer Avenue burned, half the town had turned out to see it, and his father had been one of the volunteers who went in to help. When the Milton house burned, he remembered, his mother shed tears. He could remember also when the Dickinson house burned, the house in which his parents happened to be living when he was born. He had been a boy in his teens at the time of those fires. In those days nobody seemed ever to know how fires got started, and he could recall the strange feelings he used to have about it sometimes. . . . He couldn’t understand now why he had had such feelings. . . .


  Isabel came back into the dining room, slowly pulling on her lightweight cloth coat. From the window, he looked at her over his shoulder. “I’m going to one of the girls,” she said. “You can find me when you’ve finally satisfied yourself. I’ve endured all I can, Harry. The thought of more publicity and more bickering with the city people is more than I can bear. You can do what you will about the furniture.” (Suddenly he wondered if she had ever suspected that it might have been he trying to frighten her those nights when she was at home alone. He felt a flash of guilt, just as though it had been.) “Everything’s packed up except a few dishes and things in the kitchen. I’ve written down the address of the new place on that barrel by the front door. It’s Apartment A. It’s on the first floor, Harry, as I’ve told you. There’s a locker room in the basement that will hold all that won’t go in the apartment. I’ve paid a month’s rent in advance. . . . I’m going now. There’s some breakfast for you in the kitchen if you can eat it.”


  She turned away abruptly and crossed the hall to the living room. The canary was chirping under its cover. She quickly removed the cover without looking at the bird. She couldn’t bear to look at the poor, protected creature, so innocent and unsuspecting. From the mantel she took the package of seed and poured a full measure into the feeder. Replacing the package of seed on the mantel shelf, she glanced at the bowl of fish. The fish had always been considered mostly his. Beside the bowl lay a packet of fish food. It was open at one end, and she could see the white wafers inside. Somehow it looked repulsive to her. She stood gazing at the fish food, and afterward at the four little mottled fish, without ever lifting a hand. I have done all I can do here, she said to herself. It would take all the energy she had to propel herself through the doorway into the hall again and down the hall to the front door. She was not sure even that she could make that journey, but she knew her life depended upon it.


  When she reached the center of the hall she saw that Harry had gone back to his chair at the table—the same chair he had sat in earlier. Her empty chair was still opposite him, across the layers of junk. He sat there smiling over at her chair.


  “Whatever are you thinking, Harry?” she asked, despite herself. She had hoped to have spoken her last word.


  He bent forward, putting his elbows on the edge of the table and resting his chin on the heels of his two hands. “Well, if you must know,” he said, “I was thinking of the houses around here I saw burn when I was growing up.”


  Isabel’s hand came up to her mouth. Behind her fingers, under her breath, she uttered a little shriek. It was the cry of a small animal suddenly finding itself trapped when it thought it had escaped.


  She wasn’t even sure whether or not Harry heard her, because simultaneously she heard the radiators in the downstairs rooms begin to thump and hiss again. It seemed to her they were shaking the whole house. She saw Harry laugh soundlessly to himself.


  “You know the houses I mean,” he continued. “The old Milton house that the Thompsons lived in and where my parents were married, the Dickinson house, the houses in that block on Spencer Avenue.” He paused and waited for one of the radiators, which had started up again, to become quiet. “It’s a strange thing. It used to worry me that they never knew how those fires got started. Somehow I used to wonder if people thought I had done it. I even got so I had guilty feelings about it and half imagined that I had set the fires.”


  Slowly Isabel’s hand fell from her mouth. Her lips parted, but for a moment she was speechless. . . . She saw at last! She understood! It seemed to her that she stood there for five minutes, or even longer, before she could speak or move. Then she said: “Harry, I understand, at last.”


  He rose from the table and put up one hand as though to ward off a blow. “No,” he said. “No, you don’t understand one bit!”


  “But I do,” she said. As she advanced toward him, he sat down at the table again. He tried to smile, but now the smile failed. He was looking at her with open hatred in his face.


  “It’s no use,” he said.


  “Harry, my darling, all along you’ve wanted everything, which is what everybody wants—not nothing. But something inside you made you feel that it was wrong.”


  “You won’t ever understand,” he said, looking again toward the front window. “You would have understood years ago if you were ever going to. It’s not so simple that you can see it in a flash.”


  “It is. It is. It’s just that you don’t want me to see,” she said furiously, all the tenderness gone from her voice. “You didn’t want to see, yourself! But I do see now. And you see it yourself, Harry. Don’t try to deceive me. You wouldn’t have remembered those fires and how you felt about them except that suddenly you understood.”


  “No matter how you make me out or how you explain my coming to where I am, it doesn’t alter anything,” he said.


  He rested his head on the chair back and closed his eyes. “I don’t know whether I’m crazy or not. But if I’m not crazy, Isabel, we’ve something worse to face. If I’m not crazy, the rest of the world is.” He opened his eyes and managed to smile at her. “It’s as though ever since they widened that street out there the first foot—thirty years ago—as though I’ve known they would go on widening it till someday I wouldn’t make sense about it. But there’s no use our leaving here, Isabel. No matter where one goes—”


  Isabel stopped listening and began wandering about the room as though she didn’t know how to find her way out. She realized that they had only got back to where they began and that understanding didn’t help. There was no help for them. She found herself standing in the wide doorway between the dining room and the hall. For a moment she leaned against the door jamb. Then, without consciously resolving to do so, she began letting herself down very easily and slowly to the floor. She sat with her legs spread out before her at such crooked angles that they looked broken. Harry got to his feet and came to her. But when he offered her his hand, she drew away from him.


  “Don’t do anything. I can’t stop you.”


  “Isabel,” he said impatiently. It was a tone she had never heard him use with her before. She sat on the floor gazing out into the hall and through the glass in the front door. She heard the clock upstairs striking eight. So the moving men weren’t coming! And he was mad, of course. She couldn’t doubt it now. Glancing down at her broken-looking legs, she found it unbearable to think that she would presently have to try to stand on them once more. And in that moment there seemed to pass before her eyes not the whole of her past life but rather the terrible eternity of life there seemed left before her. . . . Finally, as if in a dream, she saw one of Harry’s frayed carpet slippers come down on the small area of floor between her own two feet, and then saw the other slipper lifted over her legs as he stepped over her and out into the hall. With her eyes and ears she followed his soft footsteps across the hall to the foot of the staircase and then down alongside the staircase to the door that led to the basement steps. She watched him place his hand on the polished brass knob. “Harry,” she said in a hoarse voice, “what is it? What are you going down there for?”


  “Nothing,” he said, not looking back.


  “Harry—”


  “What is it?”


  “Don’t do anything. I can’t stop you.”


  “Ah, Isabel, what are you suggesting?” He spoke in the same impatient tone as earlier, and she could see only the back of his head, which he held at an angle, as though straining to hear her. “What is it you wish I would do, Isabel?”


  “Harry, I’m afraid of you.” It was almost a direct appeal to him, he felt.


  “You only want it to be me you have to be afraid of,” he said.


  “No, I am afraid of you.”


  She sat very rigid, as though hypnotized, and watched him open the door and place one foot on the first step of the basement stairs. Then she watched him begin to lift the other foot off the hall floor. It was as though instead of the length of the hall she were five or six inches from his foot. And as the heel of the slipper left the floor, though not yet the toe, she became aware of the ringing sound. The foot became aware of it, too, and the heel returned to the floor. The foot seemed to tell her it was the telephone out there in the back hall. The foot seemed to tell her who the caller would be, told her even before she raised her eyes to meet her husband’s. Of course it would be one of the girls! And there was no not answering it. For if they did not answer, then the husband of one of the girls would leap into his car and, traveling the one already completed leg of the throughway, would arrive at their door within a matter of minutes. And if they did answer, it would no doubt bring the same son-in-law, because there would be no concealing that everything had gone wrong. Both of them knew that all decisions were, from that moment, over for them. To answer or not answer the telephone didn’t matter. They were two old people who had behaved foolishly or who had almost behaved foolishly, and in the future all important decisions would be made for them. Henceforth they would be watched over and seen after. Henceforth they were in the hands of their children, and both of them asked silently, What other end would not have been better—more decent? Across the bare floor of the hall Harry and Isabel looked into each other’s eyes with cold indifference. The past year, the past quarter-hour itself, seemed like a lifetime. And those long, peaceful years they had known together seemed but a short honeymoon at the beginning of their marriage, a brief interlude almost forgotten. . . . Who was that stranger standing awkwardly with one foot on the cellar stair? . . . Who was that odd-looking old woman crouched on the floor? . . . Why, it was she with whom he was trapped by circumstance to end his days. . . . Why, it was he with whom she must live out her life and whom she must no doubt nurse through a prolonged senility. . . . Ah, yes, ah, yes . . . a husband . . . a wife . . . a fellow human creature, anyhow . . . that the world had come in and estranged from one. What matter if it took a quarter of an hour, a year, or a lifetime? . . . They eyed each other with awful resignation.


  At the Art Theater


  


  AS THEY passed slowly and patiently up the aisle of the dark movie house, accepting the pace set by the departing crowd, Ginnie Patterson reached out to take the arm of her fiancé, Alan Gunter. She slipped her hand under a stiffly held elbow and then hooked it over a firm forearm, leaning heavily on the arm, though not looking in the direction of the tall young man. . . . Ginnie and Alan had just attended the art theater’s Sunday night showing of Ginnie’s favorite Bergman film. But since Alan had not seen the film before, and had not been sure he wanted to see it, Ginnie may have been preparing herself for some unsympathetic comment on his part. Or perhaps she was still reflecting on the significance of that last powerful scene by the cold, northern sea. Afterward, she could not recollect just where her thoughts had been. Probably it did not matter. At any rate, she presently recognized the familiar deep tones of Alan Gunter’s voice coming not from the man on whose arm she was leaning at all, but from directly behind her. “Ginnie?” came the voice over her shoulder. Not bothering to withdraw her hand at once, Ginnie glanced up at the stranger on whose arm it was she was leaning.


  He wasn’t anything at all like her fiancé. Instead of her young man in his vest and three-button jacket (this being several years ago, I should say), he was a young man with a beard. When Ginnie saw definitely that he was a stranger she did remove her hand, though somewhat reluctantly, as if she might fall without his support. And she said quietly, “I beg your pardon”—said it in a tone she might have used if she had merely bumped against him ever so slightly. After all, this theater was only the neighborhood art theater, a familiar haunt of Ginnie Patterson’s; and the young man with the beard was obviously one of the students from the State University, just a few blocks away, where Ginnie’s father taught political science. When she looked up at him through the near darkness he was smiling broadly down at her, his dazzling white teeth set off strikingly by the black beard and moustache. To Ginnie he seemed a not uncommon type for the art theater on a Sunday night. And what had happened was a fairly commonplace little mistake. Yet when she glanced backward at Alan she understood at once that he was equating the student’s face with that of one of the characters in the Bergman film. She felt that with his own grimace Alan was making a mountain out of a molehill. His grimace actually reminded her of one of the characters in the film. . . . But that he should behave so was something to be expected, she supposed. She gave a little shrug and, continuing up the aisle, tried in vain to recapture her earlier vein of thought.


  When they came out into the lighted lobby of the theater, Ginnie waited for Alan to come up beside her. When he came, she took his hand very gently in hers. She still could not recall where her thoughts had been when she took the strange young man’s arm. But now, trying to concentrate on her real fiancé, she thought to herself that he looked tired. His spark, his alertness, his vitality, all of these qualities which she was accustomed to seeing expressed in his face and which made him such an attractive-looking person seemed momentarily in eclipse. She wondered if this were only by contrast with the faces she had been watching on the screen. It seemed possible even that he had been napping during the last episodes of that incomparable Bergman film! . . . How could he? Yet Ginnie had to concede that, after all, this had been an exhausting sort of day for a man—particularly for a young man of Alan Gunter’s practical nature . . . and . . . and of his energetic temperament.


  Alan, looking down at Ginnie, had not at all dissimilar thoughts about her. She looked tired. To both of them, after the darkened auditorium, the light in the lobby seemed very bright, not the dim, lavender light there, not a ghastly light which was bound to give a weary, ghostly aspect to any countenance one looked into. He saw a strange look come into Ginnie’s green eyes. No doubt she was tired. It had, after all, been a wearing kind of day for a girl with Ginnie’s intellectual turn of mind. That morning, her picture had appeared on the front page of the old-fashioned society section of their paper, and beneath it the heavy, black caption: MISS PATTERSON BETROTHED TO MR. GUNTER. Alan sighed audibly. Alas, he mused to himself, that picture had been his mother’s doing and Ginnie had not been at all prepared for such a prominent display. And then they had had to go to church with his parents, and—most inappropriately, it seemed to him (he appreciated Ginnie’s not referring to the fact)—to the country club for an endless, fol-de-rol Sunday dinner afterward. During the afternoon they had to call on three of his aunts whom Ginnie had never met before. And finally they had to join Ginnie’s own family, here in the north end, for an intimate Sunday night supper at home—with candles in old wine bottles, and with Mrs. Patterson’s pâté that she had learned to make when she and the professor were in France (on his Guggenheim, twenty-five years ago) and with Ginnie’s tiresomely precocious little sister as usual dominating the conversation, this time trying to insist that Alan and Ginnie accompany her and her father to a chamber music concert at the university instead of to . . . Again Alan at this recollection sighed aloud. Small wonder his poor dear fiancée was tired after such a day. Probably he should not even reproach her for having carelessly seized the arm of that stupid-looking bearded fellow. Though how could she have done it? What had she been thinking of to do such a careless thing? Squeezing her hand until the stone on her new ring gave his own palm pleasurable pain, he resolved that he would try not even to mention her absurd mistake.


  They pressed on through the lobby of the art theater, where the audience waiting for the second show milled about, sipping coffee from paper cups which they held by ridiculous little paper handles. The handles on the paper cups somehow got on Alan’s nerves. And these second-show people were very much in the way. Alan reflected that while he approved entirely of the art theater’s striving for a salon effect in the lobby, since it humanized a mere movie theater, one had nevertheless to admit that the scheme was not very efficiently carried out. With the first-show people trying to leave the theater, here were the second-show people still sipping their coffee, dawdling over the low, wide tables and thumbing through the magazines strewn thereon, or standing about trying to admire the more or less abstract paintings (every month a different local artist’s work) which adorned the sandalwood walls. Alan quickly assured himself that he respected the kind of people who came to the art theater and that he understood why so many of the men wore beards and so many of the women wore no makeup—or wore too much makeup. But somehow he was not in the mood for them at this moment. Perhaps it was because of the Bergman film. He hadn’t understood it perfectly, of course—not the way Ginnie would have with . . . with her training in aesthetic appreciation—but he did like it and approve of it. (He had had an English professor at Williams who liked movies really better than novels, and he was beginning to see what that fellow meant.) At any rate, after the genuine, deep spiritual concerns of that Bergman film, surely everything about this theater and these people seemed merely arty and trite. He longed to get outside. Only then could he discover exactly what he thought of the film.


  Finally he and Ginnie had arrived at the blue-tented, plate-glass outer doors of the theater lobby. Other members of the serrying first-show crowd held back momentarily to slip on their coats before going out into the winter night. Alan couldn’t wait. Giving the door a shove with his open hand, he sent Ginnie through first, her Chesterfield coat still only draped about her shoulders, his own camel’s-hair thrown over his arm. At the very moment when the delicious night air struck his face and the moment when he had just stepped into the cheerful glare of the bright lights under the theater marquee, he heard his own and Ginnie’s names being spoken.


  To his left, and emerging through another door from the lobby he saw the person who was addressing them. It was none other than one Sass Merriwether—yes, that was who she was—the petite, pretty, vibrant (these were his mother’s words), and irrepressible Merriwether girl. She was one of the current harvest of belles out in the east end of town where the country club and the private schools were and where Alan still made his home with his family. It was always unexpected and perhaps disconcerting to see someone from “out there” “up here” at the north end art theater. And it was not unusual when two people from “out there” met “up here” for them to greet each other in just the astonished and elated tone that Sass was using now—as though they were meeting on the moon!


  “How are you two!” she said. “But what a question for me to ask! Congratulations, you two!” And then, possibly more to Alan than to Ginnie: “What a movie! Wasn’t it creepy!”


  “Indeed it was,” said Alan, hardly aware of what he was saying as he fairly beamed down at the beauteous Sass.


  The bright marquee light did no disservice to Sass Merriwether and Alan did not fail to be aware of that fact. Her peaches-and-cream complexion, her intensely blue eyes, her white-gold hair all were created for such light, as also, incidentally, were the muted greens and reds in the plaid coat she wore—a coat cut in the best lines of that season, low-belted, collarless, and with three-quarter-length sleeves revealing just an inch of her peaches-and-cream wrists above marshmallow gloves. Of course if either Alan Gunter or Ginnie Patterson with their own brand of good looks had glanced at each other, during this interval under the marquee, each would have in fact discovered that the other suffered no more than Sass from being caught in such light. But it was on Sass they both found their eyes fixed. Alan was not in the least infatuated by the little Merriwether girl. She was several years younger than he. He was not well acquainted with her even; he was simply well acquainted with her sort, with the world he had grown up in. . . . Yet at this particular moment she seemed to him one with the very freshness and wholesomeness of the night air and the frankness of the bright lights, and she came as a blessed relief after the atmosphere of the art theater lobby.


  The girl’s own escort, a tall, bland-looking young man with roses in his cheeks, was smiling vaguely and politely over Sass’s shoulder at Alan and Ginnie but since the two couples would be separated almost immediately, no introduction was really called for. Just before they parted, Sass bent in front of Alan and said to Ginnie, “It was such a lovely picture, Joanie—I mean, Ginnie.”


  “Indeed it was,” Alan heard Ginnie say and he saw Sass blink her eyes nervously.


  “Who did it?” Sass asked as if quickly to overcome her embarrassment.


  “Why, Bergman, of course.”


  Sass burst into rather loud laughter and so did her escort. And so, unfortunately, did Alan. But immediately Sass reached out and squeezed Ginnie’s hand. “I meant your picture in the paper this morning,” she said in an apologetic tone.


  “Oh,” said Ginnie, “oh.” Then, suddenly tugging at Alan’s arm she led him off in the direction of the parking lot. Sass and her escort moved off in the opposite direction and soon disappeared in the bundled-up crowd.


  As Alan Gunter and Ginnie Patterson hurried off to the parking lot beside the theater, Alan noticed that Ginnie had slipped into her Chesterfield without any assistance from him. She had done it while they stood speaking with Sass. It was a regrettable oversight on Alan’s part, and he knew it. But, even so, how rude Ginnie had been to that girl! She must have really known Sass meant the picture in the paper! But he reminded himself that it had been a difficult day for Ginnie and he refrained from criticizing her.


  At the car, while he was fumbling with the lock on the door, he heard Ginnie bring out in a queer kind of drawl, “So you thought it was a ‘creepy’ movie?” It was as though while he bent over to unlock the door she had struck him over the back of his head with a wrench. He felt himself fairly staggering from the blow.


  Under his breath, still working with the key, he muttered, “My God, my God.” Then, finally swinging the door open, he drew himself up very straight. “That’s just Sass’s lingo,” he said, curling his lip. “I liked the movie, and so did Sass for that matter.”


  “As if it mattered, for that matter,” said Ginnie.


  As their eyes met, she blinked her eyelids. Her lower lip trembled, and then was brought under control. At last she hurled herself into the car, feeling stunned, feeling as though she had been slapped across the face. She yanked the door closed so quickly that the outside handle slipped out of Alan’s grasp. He stood a moment looking through the car window at the girl he was going to marry, then he ran around the back end of the car to the door at the driver’s seat. Ginnie made no effort to open the driver’s door from inside, and so he had to open this door with his key, but there was no fumbling this time. He was intent upon what he was doing. He could barely wait to climb in there beside her and tell her what he thought of her behavior. And Ginnie could barely wait, too, to tell him what she thought of his.


  With their first blasts at each other, both sensed that this was going to be their first really fearsome fight; and it was. It was awful.


  They were married two months later, but as long as a year after they were happily wed, each of them would sometimes think of that quarrel in the car while they were driving toward the Pattersons’ house that night. What they said to each other in that quarter hour was of no real significance. How could it be since neither of them had the vaguest conception of why he or she felt so utterly outraged or why he or she felt the necessity to set the other straight on certain points once and for all? Everything they said on the way to Ginnie’s house was surely irrelevant to any real quarrel they had between them, and so need not be reported here. But for a time each was insisting periodically to himself or herself that something had gone out of their life. Each had the feeling that he or she had seen something or someone for the last time, that something was over. Each had the transitory feeling of wishing to hold on to something that was lost forever.


  The End of Play


  


  THERE WAS something about the Political Convention game that my father disapproved of from the start, or at least something about it that got on his nerves. One night at dinner, at a time when the rules of the game might be said to have been still in the formative stage—though, as a matter of fact, they remained in the formative stage to the very end—I was speaking to my brother about how the roll call of the states would work. My father suddenly railed out at me. I was too old to be making up such a childish game, he said, and particularly to be basing it on something I was too young to understand and knew nothing about. Mother intervened. She said that apparently I knew a great deal about it—far more than she did, she said. Then she explained to Father how faithfully I had listened to the real conventions on the radio earlier in the summer. “Hasn’t the boy anything better to do?” Father said quietly, hardly looking at Mother, trying to sound calm and reasonable. “Has he nothing better to do than to sit around listening to the radio all summer?”


  And then my mother said, “It seems an innocent enough pastime to me. What would you have him do?” But as soon as she had spoken, she smiled. She knew well enough that what he would have me do was to go trekking off to Tennessee with him every two weeks or so and knew that it was because he was irritated with me for refusing to go that he let my talk get on his nerves.


  This was during that hottest and driest of summers, the summer when the Hoover-Roosevelt campaign was being launched upon the nation. And my father was trying to make a fateful decision: Should he stay on and struggle with the ever worsening business conditions in St. Louis or should he take his family back to live in Thornton, the small Tennessee town he had come from? The temptation to go back to the comfort of his home town was very great. Down there in Cameron County, Tennessee, he owned twelve hundred acres of productive land, and in the county seat of Thornton he retained his partnership in what had been his father’s and grandfather’s law firm. He could hole up in that little Southern town till the Depression was over and then make a new start in the great world of finance that so fascinated him. Even at the time, he had no doubt that he would have his second chance. He was only forty-four.


  I suppose I had no notion of the seriousness of the decision my father was making that summer. At least, looking back on it, I can’t imagine that I did. I entered into my play with a joy, or an intensity, that I had never known before. I was already a boy of eleven, but I was the youngest of my parents’ four children and still enjoyed the prerogative of the baby in the family: my life was still all play. Among our servants I was known as the playingest child they had ever seen. I had played dolls with my two sisters till I was nearly nine years old. After that, I played war in much the same spirit I had played dolls, with more emphasis on the tragic fates of my individual soldiers than on armaments and battles—this, to the constant annoyance of my brother. From war play I graduated to play based upon the books I read, on the history in Puck of Pook’s Hill and on the romance in Page’s In Ole Virginia. It seemed to be my right, as the baby in a family like ours, to go on indefinitely adapting everything to my play.


  And so during that summer of 1932 I was playing Political Convention. From the little balcony above the side entrance to our house in Washington Terrace, I waved my arms in silent gestures as I made my silent campaign speeches. That was how it began. And neither the neighbors’ smiles nor the protests from my brother and sisters had any effect upon me. As I further developed the idea, even choosing a name and a platform for my party, I came to speak openly to everyone about the Convention I was planning. Somehow the fun in it appealed to the imagination of several of my friends. At last I won not only the approval but even the participation of my rather grown-up brother and sisters.


  I don’t know how many sessions of the Convention were actually held. We had no set place or hour for meeting. There would simply come an hour when time hung heavy on our hands. Word would go round the house, and then round the neighborhood, that we were going to convene. And wherever it was coolest at that hour, there we would gather—in the front living room, or on the side porch, or out under the trees in the yard. And there was one notable session held round the dining room table with my friend Tommy Ganter, as chairman, pounding for order, which he never obtained, and without which I was to suffer one of the severest defeats of my life. Much of the rhetoric used in that Convention I can still remember—especially my own, especially that which I lifted from books we had in the house, books that contained speeches made by certain of my Tennessee forebears. The one brilliant stroke of the imagination I take credit for, however, is the invention of a delegate from Tennessee, a sort of Senator Claghorn created ten years or so before the radio reproduced him. All his speeches opened with the words “When I was a boy roaming the green fields of Tennessee . . .” During the first sessions, his preamble would invariably bring laughter from the other delegates. But as the hot summer wore on and my filibustering delegate would not let the Convention conclude its business in a democratic manner, his opening line would elicit boos and jeers which, toward the end, became genuinely fierce. I know now that I just could not bear the thought of the Convention’s adjournment. It had become very real to me, more real than anything else about that particular summer vacation when all of us except Father had to stick so at home there in St. Louis.


  My father, in trying to make his decision about his projected move from St. Louis to Tennessee, went down to Thornton a half-dozen times that summer. Again and again he asked me to go along with him. Invariably, without any hesitation, I declined. In fact, the moment I saw that an invitation was forthcoming, I would begin shaking my head. Yet it was I who rode with him to the Union Station to see him off nearly every time he went. And it was often I who was there with the colored driver to meet him when he returned. The rest of the family would say goodbye to him when he left the house and they would welcome him at the front door when he returned. After packing his suitcase my mother would go out to the car with him to say goodbye, and she would be standing just inside the screen door to welcome him when he came home again. But it was never once suggested that she or the older children make the journey with him or even go down to the station to see him off. The trip was a tedious piece of business that he had to attend to, and there was no reason at all for the rest of the family to share the inconvenience and discomfort of the long, hot trip.


  But as for me, I wanted to go to the station with him. Further, the reason I wanted to go to the station was that I really yearned to take the train ride too. If only I could have found it in me to say that I wanted also to pay a visit to Thornton and to the kin down there! For that was my father’s stipulation: I must say that I longed to see my relatives and longed to visit that old country town. There was something in his nature, or something in his old-fashioned country upbringing perhaps, that made “using” people abhorrent to him above all else. I suppose it was this that made his decision about whether or not to go back and live in Thornton so difficult for him.


  At any rate, he was very firm about not letting me go along just for the ride. “You ought to want to know your relatives,” he said to me. “You ought to want to be acquainted with the town and the country we all came from.” And he would assure me that the trip would be no extravagance. “We still have our railroad passes,” he would say, sometimes when we were already on the way to the station. “And since we would put you up at Aunt Lillian’s or at Cousin Jenny’s, it wouldn’t cost any more for both of us to go than it will for me by myself.” But I would already have begun shaking my head vigorously. I couldn’t go. I couldn’t.


  Our railroad passes were not on the direct route from St. Louis to Thornton, but even I could recall how in better days the whole family had once traveled to Thornton over what was the direct route—and riding in a Pullman car, too. I could recall most clearly our making jokes about how we ought to be using our passes. That was how things used to be. That was when my grandparents were alive and when people could joke about spending money they ought not to. But nowadays I could visualize my father riding half the night on a coach that he boarded in the St. Louis Union Station, I could see him sitting for an hour or two in the little country depot where he made his connection, and I could imagine him riding the three or four hours after that on a coach that brought him into Thornton in the early dawn. These were the hardships that the rest of the family were glad to be spared. Yet these very hardships were what I would have relished: sitting up on the day coach all night and waiting at the little junction for the light of the train on the other line to appear out of the dark. I knew even that I could have endured the real hardship of visiting among the Thornton relatives for a few days. But could I lie about liking it? It was the prospect of lying to my father about why I wanted to go that set me to shaking my head—or so I told myself—of lying to him in advance and of pretending, under his eyes, to enjoy the visit once we arrived.


  I sincerely thought it was that that made me refuse to go with him. But one night in St. Louis, after I had ridden to the station with my father, I dreamed that I had gotten on the train and made the trip with him, and that after we had been in Thornton for some time I discovered that he had lied to me. For, instead of my being allowed to return home to St. Louis when he did, as I had been promised, it seemed that I had to remain in Thornton among the relatives until he came on his next trip. Moreover, I discovered that Thornton was not the town I remembered visiting when my grandparents were still alive. The place had the appearance of just such a small town, but it was a hopelessly large small town. Instead of there being three or four streets like the one my Aunt Lillian lived on, there seemed to be hundreds of streets like hers—all shaded with the same oak and tulip poplars and lined with the same white clapboard houses. In that dream I wandered through the countless streets, searching for the house of one of my grandfathers, but I wasn’t able to find it. And I wasn’t able to find my aunt’s house. Rather, I thought every house I came to was my aunt’s. I would ring the doorbell and a woman looking very much like Aunt Lillian, as I remembered her, would open the door and say she thought my aunt lived in the next house. At last I met a boy, walking in the opposite direction, who had a pair of ice skates thrown over his shoulder. I recognized him as someone named Junior Lockout (actually I knew no such person) and I remembered I had had an appointment to go skating with him at the Wintergarden in St. Louis, that day. “Why aren’t you where you are supposed to be?” he said, and then hurried on out of sight. When I awoke from the dream I sat up in bed and turned on my light to make sure I was in my room in St. Louis.


  My sisters and my brother took a very special view of me, I think. In my father’s eyes I was simply the youngest child, the baby. And to my mother I was merely the child who had been the least trouble to her—because we were much more prosperous when I came along—and the child who, as “a little thing,” had most doted on her. But my brother’s and my sisters’ view of me was that I, unlike them, was altogether a child of the family’s affluent St. Louis years. They could actually remember living in Tennessee. My sisters had even attended the primary grades in the Thornton grade school. They could recall the academic difficulties experienced on transferring from a country school to Mary Institute and could recall how astonished they were to find that each little St. Louisan could already tell you which eastern college she or he planned to enter. But I shared no such experience, shared no memory of having had to make my own way. I was one of the elect—a born St. Louisan. And instead of its making my sisters and my brother resent me, it produced a protective spirit in them. They imagined that this difference in me would make it more difficult for me to face the catastrophe our father was threatening us all with—the removal to a country town. They did not want me to face it; they wanted me to go on with my playing and not face the thought of it even. I suspect there was much talk among them about how hard it would be on me, because sometimes when I would enter a room that summer, they would quickly break off the conversation. And then at other times I would wander into a room and hear one or another of them talking about how adversely the move to the country town would affect his or her future. On those latter occasions they seemed not to notice my presence, or perhaps they supposed I could not understand the complicated family problems they were discussing and supposed that I would not bother to listen.


  That summer was a dull time for my sisters and my brother—for young people of high school age, that is, who were used to choosing between various kinds of summer vacations and entertainments. To such young people all of the Depression summers were dull. It was not so bad for children my age and younger. It didn’t matter to me that the family no longer belonged to a country club or to the Racquet Club. I could go swimming at the public pool and enjoy it just as much as I had enjoyed the club pool. And instead of putting on the country club greens, my contemporaries and I took up miniature golf. (On the neighborhood miniature golf course we found new charm in the game by watching the ladies’ necklines when they bent over to putt.) We were very much at home in our city world, whether in its private or its public aspect. Moreover, I was still young enough—still babyish enough perhaps—to have made up that childish game of Political Convention, just to pass the time.


  I found it hard to understand why Father had so set his heart upon my company on those trips to Tennessee. Finally one night, Mother undertook to explain it to me, and she did so without my asking her to. We had been to the Municipal Opera together, at the open air theater in Forest Park, and were walking home through the park together, just she and I. She may have felt somewhat uneasy about walking through the park at night. The way was well lit, but there was a breeze in the treetops that rustled the broad leaves of the sycamores. Now and then a mass of leaves would come between the streetlight and the sidewalk to cast moving shadows all around us. I felt no uneasiness, myself, because I knew Forest Park as I knew my own back yard. With my friends, I had played many a game of “The Three Musketeers” and “Beau Geste” in the very area where we were walking that night. When we had walked for some distance in the park, Mother became momentarily confused about our direction, about whether we were heading toward Kings Highway or toward Lindell Boulevard, which latter was our proper direction. When I laughed at her and showed her how near we were to Lindell Boulevard, she took my arm, as though I were a man, and told me to lead the way. A few minutes later, after we had left the park and were walking along Union Avenue and past the gates to Portland Place and Westmoreland Place, where so many of the very rich, old St. Louis families lived, she quite abruptly began trying to explain my father’s behavior to me.


  She said he worried about the prospect of uprooting me and taking me away from life in St. Louis, which was the only life I had ever known. She said that life on a Tennessee farm or in a small town would be very different and would require some adjustment on my part. And then she hesitated, as if expecting me to reassure her. But I didn’t know how to reassure her; I didn’t know what I could say. When she didn’t continue to explain and defend my father, we walked along in silence. She made no further effort to explain Father’s attitude and she expressed no concern of her own about how I might adjust. But she continued to hold on to my arm the rest of the way home, and by the time we reached Washington Terrace she and I were chatting easily about the operetta we had seen and about whether we liked Guy Robertson’s voice better than that of Leonard Ceeley.


  Even in those days I think I felt a kind of gratitude toward my mother for her seeming reticence toward me and for her not having allowed me, as the baby boy in the family, to dispossess the other children and my father in her affections. A little earlier in life I had so wanted to do just that! It may be that her rejection, however gentle, caused me to seek satisfaction in my fantasies and play-pretends for a number of years. But even at the age of eleven, I think I already sensed how great a danger there had been for me in doting so on her and already understood that she had protected me from some unnameable pitfall.


  The Political Convention game had been suggested, to some extent, by a game I had made up the summer before. The other game, which I had played with a friend named Dick Kilpatrick, was known as Big League Baseball. It consisted merely of the two of us playing pop-up ball in the back yard, with whoever was at bat playing the part not only of a major league team and the umpire but of the radio announcer as well. That is, between swings, the batter carried on a running commentary of the game. After a hit and while running to base, he would be exclaiming, “He’s coming in, folks! The crowd has gone wild! And the score, oh, the score!” The Convention game was suggested through the fact that this summer we had had to listen to the broadcast of the two national conventions during the very hours when we might have listened to the baseball games. At any rate, Dick Kilpatrick soon seemed quite as enthusiastic about playing Convention as he had been about Big League Baseball. And two other friends of mine, two brothers named Henry and Tommy Ganter, were easily drawn into it. I have never been able to decide what significance, if any, should be attached to the fact that the parents of both Dick and the Ganter brothers were of the same kind of Southern, country origin that my parents were. But almost certainly both their families were going through a crisis that summer not too dissimilar to ours. I know that eventually Mr. Ganter managed to weather the Depression years in St. Louis. Mr. Kilpatrick was not so lucky; his business failed the following winter and he died soon after. Perhaps for all three boys that unending game I had invented offered the kind of escape they needed just then. And perhaps for my brother and sisters it did somewhat the same, bored as they were with sitting about the house most of the time or, in the case of my brother, out looking for a summer job that wasn’t to be found. My memory is that in some of our sessions they all completely lost themselves in the play-pretend, and were carried away with it almost to the same degree that I was. For a time at least I am sure they were. As delegates they made eloquent speeches, which were usually terminated by a demonstration for a favorite son; and when one’s turn came to act as chairman he gleefully accepted the chance to pound away with my grandfather’s rosewood gavel, calling for order and threatening to have the sergeant-at-arms remove some delegate from the Convention floor. Very early, and by unanimous vote, they adopted the name for the party which I had chosen for it: the Minority Rights Party. And in a spirited meeting held out under a giant sycamore tree in the side yard, we adopted a platform whose only two planks—so far as I can remember—provided for the enfranchisement of all minors and the disenfranchisement of all adults.


  My mother warned us several times that the Convention was getting on Father’s nerves and that we had better plan a final session and bring the thing to a conclusion. I never had any intention of heeding her warning, and I believe it was resented even by the others. We met irregularly, of course, just whenever the mood struck us and whenever we could all be assembled. As I have said, the rules remained in a formative stage till the end. The only records ever kept were a record of whose turn it was to serve as chairman (the chair rotated, with a new man in it at every meeting) and a record of where the roll call of the states left off at the last session. We first went through the roll of the states asking for nominations, the six of us who were not in the chair taking turns at answering. We ended with seven nominees, after a number of sessions, each of us pretending to be the head of a delegation and actually nominating himself or herself, then seconding the nomination, and casting all votes for himself each time it came his turn to answer for a state. It is a little fuzzy in my mind about how the rules worked beyond that, and it was fuzzy in all our minds at the time. There was a great deal of squabbling and calling out for recognition from the chair. But somehow I obtained a permanent claim to the delegation from Tennessee, and in nearly all moments of confusion I could manage to gain the floor and open up with “When I was a boy roaming the green fields of Tennessee . . .”


  I came to all meetings not in costume but with the makings of costume, so to speak, at a moment’s notice. As soon as I gained the floor I would snatch out my pocket comb and roughly part my hair down the middle. On my nose I would fix a pair of pince-nez which my mother had long since discarded in favor of her horn-rims. And then I would whip out the black shoestring that constituted my tie. “When I was a boy roaming the green fields of Tennessee,” I began on one occasion, “I had a dear, dear friend. And though I did not then dream that I would one day place his name in nomination at this Convention, as I have done recently, there were traits of leadership in him that I could not fail to recognize in him. . . .”


  The name I had placed in nomination was of course my own. It was to praise this great Tennessee statesman, myself, who had begun life as an honest country boy, that I delivered all my speeches. My speeches did not always begin so relevantly. I astonished the assembly once with this opening: “Americans, awake! We are here free born in our native land! But liberty is not license, and preparation for defense is not war! We need every citizen to develop and build up our national resources!” It was, of course, something I had gotten out of one of the books in our library. I knew it had no bearing on my subject, but it did have the right ring to it. And since I was carrying on a sort of intermittent filibuster I had to make use of whatever came to hand.


  My father was no Southern chauvinist. I had seldom heard him speak of the Civil War, and never of the War Between the States. He thought of himself as a modern American businessman. Yet I know that he did not like to hear people make fun of things Southern. What I don’t know is whether or not that was my intention in acting out the rôle of my delegate from Tennessee. Perhaps I was doing a sort of probing. Perhaps I was making a statement about how little I knew of things Southern, and saying that all I could make out was a not very attractive stereotype. I do not even know that I intentionally arranged that the Convention should so often be in session at that time of day when he came home from his office. But there were certainly a number of times when it was in session at that time, even after my mother’s warning. And since I didn’t always know when he arrived, I can only speculate on what rhetorical flourishes he heard from my lips, from the lips of the boy who wouldn’t say he wanted to visit his Thornton kin. I think of passages, sentences, phrases that I uttered before the Convention that summer, words I had copied down or memorized from my father’s own books, and I can imagine what he might have heard me declaiming—declaiming to the amusement of the Ganter boys, Dick Kilpatrick, and my brother and sisters. “Speak not to me of the new South! There is no new South! There is only the old South resurrected with the print of the nails in her hands!” Or another time: “They accuse me of being a Tennessee mountaineer! Well, I plead guilty to the soft impeachment!” and: “We are not ashamed of Fort Donelson or Shiloh! We are not ashamed of Stone River or Missionary Ridge! No more than we are ashamed of the heroes of King’s Mountain!” Or possibly: “It doesn’t matter whether you come from East, Middle, or West Tennessee! All of the three Grand Divisions are grand divisions!”


  And then suddenly, one afternoon in late August, the Convention took a turn and became merely a contest between two personalities. Dick Kilpatrick had overnight created a delegate from Missouri, a delegate colorful enough to rival my own. He arrived at the meeting wearing a derby hat and a checkered vest, and with a rubber cigar in his mouth. Dick was just my own age and he was my oldest friend. I suppose I had always dominated him somewhat, had made him play many a game that was not to his taste. He was rather short and too pudgy for a boy his age, whereas I was on the skinny and angular side. His face was round, and until that afternoon I think I had always felt there was something effeminate about his expression. But one couldn’t feel so, seeing him under that riding derby of his mother’s and with that cigar between his protruding lips. And when he removed the derby to reveal the bald-headed effect achieved by a silk-stocking cap, we didn’t have to be told how tough a nut he was going to play the rôle of. No St. Louis or Kansas City political boss ever looked more brutal or more self-assured.


  He informed us in short order that he was going to offer a dark-horse candidate. The man he was going to place in nomination—himself, of course—was a man’s man, a red-blooded American who would know how to run things down there in Washington. “The man I give you,” he shouted, “is a winner! And that’s what we all want!” I don’t know whether I really knew from that moment that my cause was lost and that Dick Kilpatrick was going to capture the nomination. How could it be lost? It was my game, wasn’t it?


  Yet I ought to have known. The other delegates had already wearied of the game. My sisters particularly had only gone on with it at my insistence. My own behavior when I had the floor had become increasingly frenetic, so much so that the other delegates were now probably half bored, half disturbed by it. Dick Kilpatrick gave them their release from my spell. My brother, as the delegate from Michigan—where he had formerly gone to summer camp—was the first to go over. Making his only speech of any length during the entire Convention, he said he was proud to cast his vote for the gentleman from Missouri. Somehow at that moment I thought of my father, remembering that he was on one of his trips to Tennessee and would not be coming in tonight. I did not know whether I was glad or sorry.


  My two sisters divided their votes. Tommy Ganter wavered. He was the youngest of the delegates and really seemed quite confused and uncertain as to where his loyalty should go. But by and large he continued to cast his votes for me whenever it came his turn to answer in the roll call. Everyone but Dick and me had by now given up his own candidacy. Henry Ganter was in the chair, calling the roll, and so he could not vote that session. Henry was by nature a quiet, reflective boy, and the brightest student in our class at the Country Day School. He was highly amused by the contest that had developed and during the first part of the meeting he laughed so much that it frequently interfered with his roll call. But later I noticed him smiling quietly to himself, as if at his own thoughts, and I was not entirely surprised when he beat upon the wicker table and abruptly called for a motion for adjournment. He said that he and Tommy had to hurry home for an early dinner. The adjournment was agreed to only after Henry consented to my demand that we meet the following night.


  Meet the following night we did—in the dining room, after dinner. The chairmanship, I realized only as we were seating ourselves around the table, had automatically passed from Henry to Tommy Ganter! And so Tommy could not vote, and except for my sister, I had lost my only semblance of support. I knew too well how eager both my sisters were to bring the Convention to an end. There was clearly no hope. The session did not go on very long that last night. Yet at least there was a dramatic climax. And without it I don’t know how we would ever have brought that awful, hot summer of uncertainty, that hiatus we had all been enduring, to a satisfactory end. I came well prepared to challenge Dick’s claim for attention. To my costume I had added an old broad-brimmed straw hat of my father’s, the band stuffed with tissue paper. And in my father’s absence I even got Mother’s permission to wear one of his linen vests under my own linen jacket. I had no difficulty getting the floor since Tommy Ganter was in the chair. But almost as soon as I began speaking, Dick Kilpatrick, once again in his costume, began a demonstration for his candidate, marching around the table, playing “America the Beautiful” on his kazoo. Henry Ganter joined in the demonstration at once. And despite Tommy Ganter’s pounding for order on the mahogany table, all the others, including my one faithful sister, soon joined in. Along with our kazoo playing, our marching, our table pounding, and our speechmaking we were all of us laughing at our own spectacle, laughing with satisfaction and at the same time with a certain hysteria, I think. Above the din, I continued to plead the cause of my candidate, though this time I took a different line. “The man I give you,” I shouted, “never had a pair of shoes till he was twenty-one. And his children down there in Tennessee go barefoot to school even nowadays. They git turnip greens and hominy grits for breakfast, corn bread and black-eyed peas for dinner, and sourbelly for supper. They go to the Baptist Sunday School and wash each other’s feet on Sunday and drop a copper-cent in the plate when it’s passed.”


  It was several moments before the demonstrators seemed to hear what I was saying. But all at once they left off cheering Dick Kilpatrick and began jeering me. My sister, the one who had supported me longest, even hissed, “Hush up!” And I could tell from her facial expression in what bad taste she considered my remarks.


  I was seated at one end of the oval dining table, and Tommy Ganter at the other. Presently I saw Henry Ganter step over to Tommy and heard him say, “I move we nominate Dick Kilpatrick for president by acclamation.” My sister who had told me to hush up seconded the motion. Then Henry stepped behind Tommy’s chair, and placing both hands on his little brother’s shoulders, as though usurping his power, said, “All those in favor will signify by saying ‘aye.’ ”


  Hearing the chorus of “aye”s, I rose from the table. My pince-nez were clouded with tears. Removing them from my nose and slipping them into my pocket, I turned away from the table; and there in the dining room doorway a few feet behind my chair stood my father.


  He was wearing a seersucker suit and a bright blue bow tie. In one hand he held his hard-crowned straw hat, in the other he still held his suitcase. He had just returned from the last of his summer trips to Tennessee. Without a word, and to the consternation of all, I ran and threw myself into his arms. I think it was the last time I threw myself into my father’s arms in that babyish way, but it created a warmth between us that never afterward cooled. He dropped both his suitcase and his hat to the floor, and placing one hand on the back of my head he said, “One thing is sure, son. Tennessee is not as bad as you make it out.”


  “How’s Aunt Lillian?” I asked softly.


  He laughed outright at me. “She’s fine and she wants us to come see her.”


  “I want to go,” I said.


  “We’re going to go back to Tennessee,” he said. “The whole family—to live. Not to Thornton, but to Tennessee.”


  I saw my mother, just behind my father, smiling gravely at me. Then she turned her eyes to the other children, and wearing the same smile she said, “Let us consider that the Convention is adjourned.”


  


  We did move back to Tennessee that fall. Instead of going to live in Thornton, however, we went to live in Memphis, where my father had certain business interests. But Memphis was near enough to Cameron County for us to spend many weekends and holidays either on the farm or in Thornton itself with Aunt Lillian or Cousin Jenny. I became genuinely fond of visiting among the relatives after I got used to their ways. In fact, while I was in my teens, I spent several summers up there when the rest of the family preferred going to our cottage in the Cumberland Mountains or going off for a few weeks on the Gulf Coast. I became interested in the family history, and even in local and regional history. I developed an ear for the differences between Memphis speech and Cameron County speech. And yet in a sense I remained self-conscious about it all to a degree that my brother and my sisters did not. Within a few weeks after we arrived in Memphis, my brother was speaking with what was almost a Mississippi accent. Both my sisters married Southern men and have raised families of Southern children. To my brother and sisters, as to my parents, the period in St. Louis represents a relatively brief interlude in their lives. They are vague about a lot of things there that are very clear in my mind and they will ask me to refresh their memories about people and addresses and even events that took place in that period. For me, of course, almost the reverse is true since I lived there during those years of life when one is taking his measure of the world.


  Sometimes during the war when I was overseas, I would have to visualize very concretely just how long a distance a mile is, and I would inevitably think of the distance between our house in Washington Terrace and the ice skating rink on DeBolivar Avenue. Or if I had to reckon what fifteen miles was like I would think of the distance between our house and the Florrisant Valley Club. And even to this day I am apt to describe someone to my brother by saying that he has a freckled face and a dimple in his chin, rather like Tommy Ganter, or by saying that someone is the roly-poly type, not unlike Dick Kilpatrick himself.


  A Cheerful Disposition


  


  I. AT THE AIRPORT


  THE EPISCOPAL service he had of course known would be unabridged and unaltered. But the attendant rituals—the gathering at the house the night before, the repeated trips to the mortuary, the closeted audiences with the bereft one (the dead brother’s widow)—all of those old practices, it seemed to Frank Lacy, might easily have been abandoned or changed beyond recognition. After all, people didn’t live quite the way they had twenty-five years before! . . . When he had first decided that he and Janet should go out to attend his brother’s funeral, it hadn’t really been clear to him why or how he came to the decision; for, the truth was, he had not often gone to visit the brother when the brother was alive. The deceased brother was known to have grown quite rich in recent years, but, then, Frank himself had more than sufficient means. And so it wasn’t that. Although he prided himself on being a person of cheerful disposition, it may actually have been an interest in the funeral proceedings themselves that had made him decide to go. Because as soon as he had arrived on the funeral scene, as soon as he was face to face with the very sad circumstances that had brought him home, he found that he could think of almost nothing but how like the funerals of his long-ago childhood this one was. Everything about it was the same. And somehow he had expected it all to be quite different.


  Aboard the Whisperjet, on the way out from New York, he had kept trying to imagine just what his own role, the role of a brother, would be. Would he and his surviving brother, Alfred, and perhaps his brother-in-law, his sister Norma’s husband, be expected to wear black bands on their arms? Or was it only the Catholics who did that, nowadays? He couldn’t decide whether he and Janet ought to go first to the funeral home or to the widow’s house or to the motel where they were going to stay. (They had declined to stay with any of the relatives.) . . . Yet as soon as he had set foot on his native soil, at the airport, everything had become remarkably easy. His dead brother’s chauffeur had turned up to meet them and had taken them directly to the mid-town motel. From that point on, the course seemed perfectly inevitable. He and Janet went first to the widow’s house, and after a brief audience with that poor, distraught woman, they moved on to the funeral home where the deceased brother’s remains were resting temporarily. It all seemed very natural, very familiar, very much like the old days when hardly six months could pass without the family’s having to give an honorable burial to some old timer amongst them. At any rate, it had positively done Frank Lacy’s heart good to see how little funerals had changed.


  It seemed that from the moment he stepped off the plane from New York everything had gone so very—well, so felicitously. There was no other word for it. He had received his first impression when he peered out through the tiny window, just after the plane landed, and saw the uniformed chauffeur waiting for them there at gate number seventeen. He had never seen the ruddy-faced fellow in the dark uniform before. He had not known who, if anyone at all, would be there to meet him and his wife. Yet hadn’t he somehow known at once who the fellow was? As soon as he saw him standing behind the little chain at gate seventeen, he knew. And the presence of the chauffeur struck him at once as representing—well, a happy decision, a quite delightful decision, on somebody’s part. There was no other phrase for it. Surely if a member of the family had come instead of the chauffeur, the first gloomy exchanges might have been awkward in that public place. He was very glad indeed to see the chauffeur, and when a few minutes later the big, well-scrubbed hand reached out to take his small carry-on bag, Frank could barely resist clasping the hand and giving it a cordial pumping.


  Then, at the front entrance to the airport, Frank was to experience another pleasant surprise. After obtaining the baggage checks from Janet (it was always Janet who looked after the tickets and baggage checks when they travelled) the chauffeur had gone on ahead of them to fetch their two pieces of plaid luggage that would presently arrive on the conveyor belt. Frank and Janet moved along the wide concourse to the terminal building at a leisurely pace and then rode the escalator down to a lower level. Upon finally reaching the front entrance they passed on outside, the automatic doors opening gracefully, effortlessly before them and then closing gracefully, effortlessly behind them. It was an early morning flight they had come in on—what a beautiful October morning it was, too!—and except for the taxis, there were but two cars parked by the curb at the main entrance. The first was a low, long, black sedan. Assuming this to be the kind of car his brother would have owned, Frank seized the handle to the rear door and tried to open it. He did so rather absent-mindedly, not really looking at the car itself but over its glossy black top toward the expanse of cloudless blue sky to the west. When the handle didn’t yield and he realized that the door was firmly locked, he peered down inside the car and saw that someone else’s matched luggage—some travelling-man’s sample cases, actually—all of a very dark leather and with many straps and buckles, was laid out in a depressingly neat row along the back seat. Frank quickly released the handle, and turning to Janet he said jubilantly: “This is not our car! We’ve come to the wrong car!”


  Janet, who still had not seen the sample cases inside and who of course trusted more in her own efficiency than in her husband’s, took a step forward to try her hand at the door. But Frank stopped her. At that moment he had spied his dead brother Ralph’s chauffeur coming toward them. The fellow was bouncing along, carrying all of their rather gay, holiday-looking luggage as though it weighed nothing. The green-and-red-plaid suitcases swung from his mighty hands; the little calfskin carry-on was tucked under his capable, long right arm. He was a stout, healthy-looking fellow, probably in early middle-age, and with large ears and heavy jowls which made one trust him immediately. As he approached them now, in his natty, well-fitted uniform, he wore a broad grin on his face and was shaking his head from side to side. At the same time, he repeatedly tilted his head away from the long, low, black car and toward the vehicle just behind it. Frank returned the man’s cheerful grin and gave an understanding nod. With a tug at Janet’s sleeve he led her to the second car.


  And, oh, what a tremendous reprieve the second car seemed. It was a lovely, sea-green convertible with gleaming chrome hubcaps! This reprieve was greater even than that of having the chauffeur turn up instead of some of the family. Frank at once guessed the circumstances, and the chauffeur obligingly confirmed his guess: All other family cars being in use, they had sent for him and Janet in a car belonging to one of his late brother Ralph’s college-age sons. Well, that was certainly a happy turn of fate! And while the driver was loading the luggage into the trunk of the convertible, Frank found himself wondering if he mightn’t ask to be allowed to take the wheel. It even occurred to him that they might put back the plastic top and ride in the open—so fine a day it was, with the autumn air somehow suggesting spring rather than winter. But after a quick glance at the composed and self-possessed chauffeur, who was just then closing the lid of the car’s trunk, Frank did manage to restrain himself.


  Nevertheless, it was in that spirit that they made their drive into town. Frank kept pointing out familiar sights to Janet, she not being native to this part of the world, and noted for her the changes that had taken place on the otherwise familiar scene. He missed certain old monuments to his youth. But, still, he confessed he found the approach to the city much improved. It soon came out that he and the chauffeur were exact contemporaries. Before long, neither of them could mention any vanished landmark without the other’s remembering it and recalling still another. The atmosphere in the car could not have been more congenial. To Frank Lacy it seemed surprising that this agreeable fellow, the chauffeur, had not gone farther in life. Yet on the other hand he envied his still living here at home, driving about town all day with no responsibilities, not worrying about how his career was progressing or what complications the next rung up the ladder might bring or whether the next rung might be down the ladder. Here was at least one man in his early forties who was not still questioning whether he had followed the right career, whether he mightn’t still be happier in “the academic life” or perhaps in “the book-publishing field.”


  After they had got nearly into town, Frank asked the chauffeur about certain night-spots that used to lie along the route. The chauffeur burst into laughter. The very mention of the places delighted him. His laughter was so infectious that even Janet’s voice could be heard in a quiet tittering. Those places, said the chauffeur, had all moved out to the north and east sides of town, and they were operating on a much larger scale. The pity was, added this very humane chauffeur, that such teen-agers as he and Frank had been, when they knew those places, could no longer afford to patronize them. But Frank felt little sympathy for the current teen-agers. He was only glad to hear that the dear old toughs and dear old floozies who ran the joints had prospered and were moving up in the world. It seemed a splendid town to be coming home to, regardless of the mournful circumstances. Every street they turned into looked as though it had been newly paved. There was not a lawn that had not been seeded with winter grass, and when, here and there, an urn or a windowbox appeared it was invariably freshly planted with luxuriant greenery. As they drew closer into the city and into the older neighborhoods, it was evident that most of the houses had been very recently refurbished. There was no dinginess anywhere. Under the bright sky, everything seemed to have fairy-tale perfection about it. It was the way he had, as a child, sometimes imagined the old neighborhoods must have looked when they were new, before he was born, even.


  II. AT THE FUNERAL PARLOR


  About the funeral arrangements themselves there was nothing that did not seem entirely appropriate and well-conceived to Frank. In the first place, everything seemed so private, so personal. Even the mortuary itself had once upon a time been somebody’s private residence. Frank could almost, though not quite, recall the name of the family that had once upon a time lived there. In fact, he could very definitely remember a little thirteen- or fourteen-year-old girl who gave a supper party there on one occasion and a dance on another. They had danced in the wide front hall until after eleven o’clock! But since that little girl was not a girl who matured into an even passably attractive young woman, he was sure that he had never been in the house at any later time. But still the funeral home was just such a house as the houses he had frequented during his last, best years at home. If only that little girl had developed along more attractive lines, then the house might well have been amongst the very ones. This thought was somehow consoling. And during the two days between his arrival on the Whisperjet and the actual funeral service at the church, Frank tended to cherish the “watches” or “shifts” he took at the familiar-seeming mortuary. So long as he was posted there, shaking hands and chatting with the dead brother’s host of in-laws and with his own long-unthought-of relatives—so long as he was there he enjoyed a sense of his own undiminished vitality, and a childlike illusion of relating to all about him. He discovered that he even took some pride in the provincial stylishness of the people who came to sign the mortuary register. It was an experience unlike any he had known in many years and was not one he could possibly have imagined himself finding satisfaction in again.


  Afterward, Frank felt that in all the funeral proceedings there had been for him only one difficult moment. No, there had been two; the second that came to mind was simply the more happily forgotten of the two. At any rate, upon arriving at the church for the funeral service he had made a fairly silly mistake. Stepping out of the undertaker’s grey-upholstered Cadillac, to which he and Janet had been assigned, he immediately crossed the pavement to the church steps and seized the hand of one sweetly smiling funeral director. Momentarily he had mistaken the man for one of his bereaved sister-in-law’s relations. He was not sure which one of them it was but he imagined he saw a family resemblance! And during that moment how he had welcomed the sweetness and warmth of that undertaker’s smile! It was a pretty awful gaffe on his part, and only the sympathetic blush on Janet’s cheek, when she came up beside him, told him for certain what he had done.


  The other difficult moment had come the previous afternoon. It was quite the reverse in its character and was considerably more painful to recall. In the parlor at the mortuary he had touched the elbow of a slight, stooped, dark-suited man who stood gazing out through the plate-glass front window of the old mansion. Supposing the man to be one of the “staff,” Frank had intended asking him where he might find a rest room. But the solemn face that presently showed itself to Frank, revolving slowly on the slender neck and without the body’s giving any sign of movement, was none other than his brother Alfred; Frank’s first and only thought was that the question which he had been prepared to ask would be long remembered in the family if it got asked. It would be thought so like him to have to go to the bathroom at such a time and in such a place. It would bring back to them so many memories of what he had been like as a little boy. But since he could not immediately invent another question to substitute, he offered his brother in its stead only a big, silent, sickly smile. He anticipated the response would be a deep scowl. But he was mistaken. Alfred’s solemn expression was replaced by a smile so mournful and yet so detached that Frank felt the sickliness and the cheapness of his own smile. And then Alfred had turned away to the window again without a word’s having passed between the two brothers.


  The small shock from not recognizing Alfred’s back did not have its effect upon Frank until the back was turned to him again. The effect was Frank’s refusal almost to believe his own eyes—to believe that the funereal little figure at the window, with the bald spot on the grey head, could really be his brother. Thinking, afterward, of the unlikely face that had been shown him, he felt that it was more like the face of a man of seventy than of one barely fifty. And for a moment he had the strange conviction that it was not their older brother Ralph who was dead at all, but this middle brother Alfred. . . . Presently, though, Frank got hold of himself. After all, he had had an urgent physical need to consider at the moment; he was in search of a rest room. There would surely be one somewhere on the first floor of an old mansion like this one. As he drew away from Alfred his wife threw him a questioning glance from beside the high oak mantelpiece where she had been standing with his sister Norma. Her glance gave him strength. He decided that he should and could endure his discomfort until they made another trip back to their motel.


  III. AT THE MOTEL


  At the funeral home, and at the widow’s residence too, everything moved slowly—almost as in a slow-motion movie. And of course it seemed quite right that it should. But at the motel where Frank and Janet were put up, it was a different matter. At the motel, all of their activities—all of their comings and goings, that is—went on at the senselessly accelerated rate at which life normally moves nowadays. Even when they felt they could allow themselves twenty minutes or half an hour for a nap, they threw themselves down on the twin beds hurriedly and without even turning back the buff-colored bedspreads. And usually they did not actually succeed in dropping off to sleep—not even Frank, who had a marked talent for catching a quick nap. At best, Frank merely lay there with his eyes closed and managed to make his mind a blank. At second best, he gazed up at the stuccoed ceiling and reflected upon how much less grim and depressing the proceedings were than he had anticipated they would be. “I don’t really know why I came,” he would say to himself at these moments, “but I am glad I did. It really satisfies something in one—satisfies one’s sense of ritual.”


  Or sometimes when Janet discovered that he was awake, when they both were supposed to be napping, she drew him into conversation. And it was during those intervals when they were alone in their motel room that Frank would explain to Janet the identity of the various family friends and the myriad relatives whom she had met since they arrived. Janet was not Frank’s first wife, nor even his second—if that matters. (What does it matter, Janet and Frank not being people who live out there in one of those places where things are more difficult?) She had not known Frank’s parents when they were alive and she had met his sister and his brothers only briefly when they had made flying trips up East. The other relatives she could not differentiate amongst at all. But when Frank explained to her who the relatives were, she lay on her bed in the motel, listening carefully, her mind clicking away, storing up all the information.


  Frank Lacy knew that this was the nearest his wife could ever come to making her mind a blank. He knew that her brain was always pecking away, clicking away at something or other, whether she were in the magazine office where she worked or in the big co-operative apartment which they owned in Manhattan. He was not like that, himself. Under ordinary circumstances he could drop off in a nap almost anywhere and at almost any time, and usually woke feeling greatly refreshed. At night he sometimes seemed to go to sleep the moment his head touched the pillow, though he not infrequently woke a few minutes later, from a seemingly endless dream, to find Janet still going over events of the day or planning events of the morrow. Moreover, he liked this trait of his wife’s (so unlike the dominant traits of his first and second wives, with their sloppy, unhappy, neurotic tendencies, their empty intellectualism). He was a man who prided himself on his own happy, healthy disposition, and he found it reassuring to know that his wife was always involved in some practical problem for which there was some solution. It seemed wonderfully characteristic of her that as soon as she arrived on the scene of the funeral she took on duties and responsibilities, began listing the names of the callers at the funeral home and later on, at the residence, began making lists of those who sent telegrams, those who sent flowers, those who sent in food for the family’s meals.


  His wife was, in other words, business-like about the funeral and in some degree gave order to a scene where there had previously been almost none. But once, when they were lying on their beds in the motel, Frank had wished to congratulate Janet on this achievement, and she had then sat up very straight on her bed to say, “Oh I am able to be practical about all this because I am not emotionally involved. You must remember that I never really knew the poor man. Your brother’s death is not at all something real to me.” Usually, during these brief intervals at the motel, however, the two of them would lie on their twin beds, with their eyes mindlessly scrutinizing the stuccoed ceiling, and would make only random and very objective remarks on the mournful proceedings at the funeral home and at their poor sister-in-law’s house, as though it were all something taking place hundreds of miles away.


  IV. THE VISITORS


  That was how it was at the motel—as if they were far, far removed from the funeral scene. And that was no doubt why, on the night after the actual funeral service, it came as such a shock when Frank’s sister Norma and her husband George, still dressed in their dark funeral garments, burst in upon them there. Somehow his sister’s presence was not like that of another person but like the presence of a strange, new spirit that had come into their midst. Suddenly, without knowing that he was listening to the words she spoke, Frank sensed that Norma had come at that near midnight hour for the sole purpose of contradicting all his own impressions of the past two days. Norma’s view, which she expressed in whispered words that filled the motel room, was that it had been the most “dismally depressing” funeral she had ever witnessed! The attendant events had been “miserably grotesque”! All in all, it was the most mismanaged funeral there had ever been in the family. Finally seating herself on the stool at the dressing table, she focussed her attention directly on Frank and said, “But it didn’t have to be so, Frank. It was all brother Alfred’s doing. It was Alfred’s doing. You know it was, Frank.”


  For some time, Frank could not make out why it was that their brother Alfred was to be blamed. He couldn’t make out how Norma considered the funeral had failed or what exactly it was that was supposed to have been brother Alfred’s “doing.” All that he could be certain of was that his impressions of the past forty-eight hours were not the same as Norma’s and that her view of how things had gone was somehow a threat to his peace. He took up the nightcap, which Janet had made him just before his sister and her husband arrived, and sipped at it. “The truth of the matter is,” he heard Norma saying now, “yes, the truth is that our dear, sweet Alfred is just a damned awful liar.”


  At the sound of those words Frank heard Janet rattle two glasses together in the bathroom, where she had gone to make drinks for Norma and George. He sprang to his feet and stuck his head through the bathroom doorway to ask if she had broken a glass. She hadn’t, of course, and with an impatient shake of her head she sent him back to their guests in the bedroom. It was, of course, characteristic of Janet to find a way of busying herself in times of tension. There was nothing for him to do but to return to Norma and George. “A damned awful liar,” Norma repeated as soon as he showed his face again. Frank thought it was clearly an absurd charge to hurl at poor, mild-mannered, withered-up Alfred. But, anyway, Frank was not interested in Alfred’s alleged lies—not yet. And when Norma began on the failings of their dead brother’s widow, he wasn’t interested in that either. It was still the discrepancy between his own and his sister’s view of the funeral proceedings that interested him and disturbed him and kept him from giving her his full attention.


  The substance of Norma’s charges was that Alfred was, himself, a sick man, a dying man—“He keeps it a deep secret what his trouble is, but it is serious, Frank”—and that Jennifer, the widow, had made her husband’s life such a misery that the poor man had wanted to die. “She was jealous of him to the very end and resented his taking his final leave of her.” It was because the surviving brother was “in a decline,” of course, that he found the elder brother’s death so disturbing. He had been a dreadful nuisance during the last months of the illness. He had accused the doctors of “doing Ralph in” and accused the hospital staff of all manner of neglect. That, principally, was how and wherein he was a liar. And the fact that Norma’s husband was on the hospital board made matters no easier and no less embarrassing for anybody!


  “I couldn’t help noticing how different Alfred was from you at the funeral,” Norma told Frank. “His morbidity communicated itself to everyone. But you have always been different from Alfred, Frank. You are so blithe, so gay, so free. I have watched you all through the past two days. You have such serenity, or sublimity.”


  As for the widowed Jennifer, Norma had never seen a widow behave so badly. She had done nothing about the funeral arrangements. She had “secreted” herself in her upstairs sitting-room and permitted people to come there to commiserate with her, to come and “view” her, so to speak, instead of letting them view poor Ralph. Even at his own funeral she was in competition with him! Her orders were that no one was to view him in his casket. And no one, not even his own sister, had been allowed to do so.


  While Norma was delivering herself on the subject of her widowed sister-in-law, Frank had kept his eyes on Janet. She was seated again on her bed, having served the drinks, and with her left hand she was smoothing the furrows and wrinkles in the bedspread. Then, after a moment, he saw her turn to straighten the small travelling-clock and the glass ashtray on the bedside table, and then straighten the shade on the lamp there. He supposed it was part of her being a “professional woman” that she should be embarrassed and made uneasy by the behavior of purely domestic females like Norma. She found it particularly painful, he knew, to hear one woman gossip about or berate another woman in the presence of men. That she should identify herself with such a creature as Norma, or even Jennifer, seemed almost incredible to him because he considered that she, Janet, steered the wonderful middle course between that of the entirely domestic female animal and that of the neurotic female intellectual. Perhaps she kept her admirable balance merely by keeping busy, by involving herself always only in what was real. She had got up now from her place on the bed, and she had got up to do something. It would be something useful, he had no doubt. And how different her bearing was from Norma’s as she went across the room. Perhaps it was altogether because she had her mind on her own business, even if it were business she invented as a diversion. Anyway, she walked directly to her suitcase, found a box of Kleenex, and in the absence of napkins to wrap about the cold glasses she was soon offering the squares of tissue to all present.


  Accepting a sheet of Kleenex, Norma addressed herself to Janet: “I am saying these things to Frank because Frank sees things with his own truth-seeing eyes. He always has. He already knows what I am telling him. Our brother Ralph wanted to die! He wanted to die because for nearly thirty years his life had been nothing but a torture living under the roof with Jennifer. He waited till all their children were married and gone, and then he just went to bed and died. Our brother Ralph was a gentleman, Janet. And to him that seemed the only way out. Jennifer knows that’s why he died, and now she’s ashamed to show her face.” Rising from the bed where she had been sitting during this last denunciation, Norma set her empty glass on the bedside table and again came and stood directly before Frank. “What he did is hard for us to understand, isn’t it, Frank? We can’t understand how someone could want to die. For me the hardest part is to understand how a woman could bring herself to be so cruel, so demanding of a man as to make him want to leave her even if the only way to do it was by dying. Oh, poor, poor, dear Ralph!” All at once, turning away from Frank and toward George, Norma gave way first to sobbing and then to full-fledged weeping. George came rushing to her and took her in his arms.


  “Poor baby,” said George, stroking her hair and pressing her head to his shoulder. “It’s been a trying time for her.” Frank and Janet came immediately to their feet, of course, but they stood speechless, trying to show sympathy in their facial expressions. “We only meant to drop in and say goodbye,” explained George to his hosts. And then, addressing Norma: “But we’re tired, aren’t we? And we shouldn’t have let ourselves get so worked up.” In no time, it seemed, he and Norma were gone. Their departure was so hasty, in fact, that it had somewhat the same shocking effect upon Frank and Janet as their arrival had.


  V. BEYOND THE REST ROOM


  When they were alone in the motel again, Frank and Janet looked at each other with open-mouthed expressions, each seeming to ask if those people had really been there or if he or she had only imagined it. Glancing at the clock on the bedside table and seeing how far past midnight it now was, Frank suddenly sat down on the bed and began removing his shoes. “Our plane leaves at a quarter past seven,” he said. “We’ll never make it if we don’t get some sleep.”


  Janet was still standing by the door, her head cocked to one side, plainly going over in her retentive mind all that Norma had said. “Oh, we’ll make that plane, never fear,” she said with a vague smile. “That’s one I most certainly won’t let us miss.”


  In the middle of untying his second shoe, Frank paused with his fingers on the strings. “Her tears were real, you know,” he said.


  “Yes, she’s scared stiff,” Janet replied at once. “I don’t know whether she’s more scared she’ll die or scared George will want to die—and manage to.” Frank watched her as she came over and picked up the two empty glasses on the bedside table near him. “They’re all of them scared nearly out of their wits,” she said gravely. “Were they this way, Frank, when your parents died?”


  “No, not at all.” He removed his second shoe and began pulling at his tie. “But Ralph is the first of our generation to go. That’s what’s put the fear of God in everybody.” Janet continued to move about the room, picking up glasses and pieces of Kleenex. From the bed Frank said, “Alfred probably wasn’t right about the doctors and the hospital. I suspect Norma’s analysis of him is correct to a point. But she’s no less a liar than he. That business about Jennifer was mostly rot, and so was that about Ralph’s wanting to die. Norma and Jennifer were never friends. Jennifer came in and stole her handsome big brother when she was just twelve, and Norma has never forgiven her. Moreover, anyone can see how Norma treats George. It’s a case of judging others by yourself.”


  Janet stood with the four tumblers on a tray which she had taken from the dresser. “What are you going to do with those?” Frank asked.


  “I’m going to rinse them in the lavatory, so the room won’t smell so alcoholic when we struggle out of bed at six A.M.”


  “Very good,” he said with an approving smile.


  But she remained standing there with the aluminum tray and the glasses. “They are all so frightened for themselves,” she said, “that they haven’t had a real thought of Ralph. What was he like?”


  “He was a very usual sort of man, if there is such a thing. He was ten years older than I, and so we weren’t together much when we were growing up. It’s hard to say much about him. He was a little bit hen-pecked, I suppose. Suddenly I feel that I didn’t really know him well enough to come to his funeral.”


  “Oh, I’m glad you came,” Janet said. “You’ve been very good. They needed someone with your cheerful disposition. I know it has been difficult for you, and you’ve done wonderfully. Somehow, I’ve suspected the worst moment for you must have been when you stepped off the plane and didn’t really know what was ahead of you.”


  “I thought it would be so, myself,” he said. “But it wasn’t bad, and after that, everything came so easily that I haven’t really minded. It is you who have been wonderful. You’ve done so much. They couldn’t have run the funeral without you.”


  “It hasn’t been hard for me, Frank,” she said, “because I didn’t know the man who died. That makes an enormous difference. I would have felt I was intruding if I hadn’t kept busy.” Then, as she turned away toward the bathroom, she said with a broad smile, “Maybe I’ve found my real vocation. I think I might become a fine funeral director.”


  It was not thirty seconds later that Frank heard the crash in the bathroom. The sound was unmistakable. Janet had spilled the glasses off the tray. He leaped off the bed and ran in his sock feet to the bathroom door, arriving just in time to see Janet drop the tray itself on the tile floor, and plunge her hands into the lavatory where the glasses had fallen. And simultaneously he heard her somewhat muffled cry of pain.


  “What is it, my dear!” he exclaimed in a whisper.


  Janet straightened herself and turned around at once. In the lavatory he had a glimpse of the broken glasses. “I stumbled,” Janet explained, smiling faintly and looking rather pale, Frank observed. “I stumbled over that rug.” Frank looked down and saw that there was a small, white mat on the floor, but he had not seen her stumble on it. When he looked up again, he saw the red lines beginning to show on her wrists and on her left thumb, where the broken glass had cut her. Suddenly the blood from her wrists began to flow rather profusely, as he had often seen it do from the nick of a razor on his cheek or neck. He noticed that Janet was observing it with intense interest. She looked pale, and her eyes seemed to have darkened.


  “I am so sorry,” he said, reaching for a towel. As he wiped away the first flow of blood, he noticed how her hands were trembling.


  Her voice was as calm as usual, though. “There is some alcohol and a box of Band-Aids in my suitcase,” she said. “They’re in my little kit, on the left side.” Before going to fetch the kit, he smiled at her and winked, because her efficiency was often the subject of joking between them. She not only returned his smile; she threw back her head and laughed aloud.


  “You’re all right?” he said, before going to her suitcase. She stopped laughing, but a big grin remained on her face. . . . When he was applying the alcohol he saw that the trembling had increased and he noted to himself that there was no response to the application of the alcohol, no evidence of its stinging. When he had applied the last Band-Aid, around her thumb, he looked up into her face and saw that her lips were drawn tight and that there were tears in her eyes. Then, throwing back her head again, she began laughing and crying simultaneously. He took her by the shoulders firmly, repeating her name over and over again. But this had no effect upon her. He put his arm about her and pulled her into the bedroom. “You’ve been under more of a strain than you know,” he said. “You’re tired and it’s so late.” It was so unlike her to become hysterical that he felt at a loss to know what to do for her. “We must get hold of a doctor,” he said. But Janet shook her head. Several minutes passed, during which he first walked about the room with her, then tried to get her to lie down. Again and again he suggested that they should summon a doctor, but each time she shook her head and tried to indicate that she would be all right presently. There were continued repetitions of this exchange between them, yet for more than ten minutes Janet remained in a state of hysteria, mostly crying but with occasional bursts of laughter. Somehow Frank managed at last to get her out of her clothes and into her nightgown, and managed also to get himself undressed and into his pyjamas. And when he lay down he took her into his bed with him and held her in his arms. At last he heard and felt her sobbing quite simply and normally, like a tired child, on his shoulder, and he knew that she would sleep soon.


  He lay awake in the dark long after he heard her breathing evenly in her sleep. He would not let his mind dwell upon the subject of what her hysteria had meant, except to reproach himself for having said that Norma was no less a liar than Alfred—for having put it in those terms. Finally, while he still held her in his arms, the words came silently to his lips, “She is no less afraid than the others.” Although he held the wife whom he loved very close beside him, he felt utterly alone. But why is it not so for me, too? he asked himself. Why was he not hysterical, too? he wondered. Was his cheerful disposition really only shallowness? Would Janet come to feel, as those neurotic women before her had, that he was without depths of feeling? But something in his nature would not let him pursue such a subject, not lying there in the dark and after such a day as this one had been. He set himself to thinking, instead, of the ride from the church to the cemetery that afternoon, when he had actually experienced a kind of joy and transport that had been the crowning satisfaction to his pilgrimage home. Since the church had been a downtown church and the cemetery was in the eastern-most suburbs, it had been a long ride through the town he knew best in the world and through the section of that town that he knew better even than the section near the airport. And when the procession came to within a mile of the cemetery Frank recognized that instead of the woods and the truck farms which used to line the road, there was now, first of all, “Maggie’s Place”—which name he saw spelled out in large cut-out letters along the peak of a steeply gabled roof. Next was a low, rambling brick building situated in an acre of asphalt and with electric letters over the entrance spelling “The Palms.” And soon after that was a modern glass-and-brick structure with an awning-covered walk stretching out to the curb, and on the awning printed in bold, red letters: “The Embers, formerly Popeye’s.”


  He had barely been able to suppress a smile, or even perhaps a loud guffaw. For those establishments were obviously the elaborated juke joints, the very ones, which he had frequented on the south end of town twenty-five years before. He felt an impulse, almost irresistible—though not quite, not quite—to spring out of the grey-upholstered Cadillac, with its jump-seats and its foot-rests and its old-fashioned handstraps at the sides, to spring out and run into one of those night-spots for at least one quick afternoon-drink. He had only sat blinking his eyes, of course, as the Cadillac continued to creep slowly along in the procession. For one moment, in the rear-view mirror, his eyes met the eyes of the oily-haired young driver of the car, so impersonal, so indifferent, so unlike the eyes of brother Ralph’s middle-aged chauffeur! The young driver seemed so perfectly trained, so utterly, so perversely resigned to driving the car at this mercilessly slow speed past “Maggie’s Place,” past “The Palms,” past “The Embers, formerly Popeye’s.” As though there were no difference between these places and the high-rise apartments, the office buildings, or all the ranch houses and split-levels they had passed earlier! Frank looked down at his hands and quietly crossed his ankles on the grey carpeted floorboard. But he was not deceived. He was not deceived, he told himself. Out there was life! And none of the others in the car with him—neither his widowed sister-in-law’s sister, or said sister-in-law’s sister’s husband riding in the front seat with the driver, or that couple’s two boys perched on the jump-seats, or even Janet—none of the others with him in the car knew where life was. And being a man of cheerful disposition he smiled inwardly at himself. But while one part of him smiled inwardly with cool irony, at the same time he felt a great surge of joy welling up inside him. The proprietors, the employees, the habitués of those establishments were free as none of those in the car with him were; those denizens of the night world in his hometown were the first really free people he had ever known, were the first evidence he had encountered, at seventeen, that there was such freedom from the confines the other members of his family knew. In his own way he had followed their example. As Norma had said of him tonight, he was so blithe, so free! And that was why he . . . He went off to sleep quite suddenly, in the middle of his unfinished and perhaps unfinishable sentence. His line of thought did not continue in any half-waking dream, as it sometimes will do. He fell into a deep sleep at once and into a deep dream that seemed to derive in no way from his thoughts about the funeral procession that afternoon. He was in the mortuary again. He had just received Alfred’s smile and exchanged glances with Janet and Norma, standing over by the high oak mantelpiece. But instead of taking strength from Janet’s glance and deciding that he should and could wait, he lowered his eyes and made his way past the two women, across the new-looking carpet, and toward the wide front hallway. It was dangerous to poke about too much in one of these places, he thought. One never knew what one might come on. But suddenly, while hesitating in the doorway, he remembered that he had been in this very house before—long, long ago—and had danced in this hallway till eleven o’clock! Could he possibly remember?—Yes! Or maybe it was only his knowledge of such houses as this one. Of course, it would be under the stairway, toward the end of the hall. Presently he had opened the panelled door, and there it was. And it was just as he remembered it or knew it had to be—the tiled floor, the large oval lavatory with the handsome mirror set in the wall above, and of course the capacious toilet bowl and tank. It was all just as he would have expected, except that the porcelain was whiter and was antiseptic-looking in a way that it couldn’t have been in somebody’s house, and the fixtures on the lavatory were polished like steam-fittings on a battleship. He found that he could pass on around and beyond the lavatory and the toilet, and because of that somehow he did not need to use the toilet. Now he was in another, larger part of the room where the floor and walls were tiled and where there was, on the ceiling and along one wall, a maze of highly polished chromium pipes. Presently he realized that he was actually in a long, tiled corridor, and he saw approaching him from the far end two men wearing rubber gloves and white smocks. They drew nearer and passed him without speaking, but he recognized one of them as brother Ralph’s chauffeur and the other as the man he had shaken hands with on the church steps. “I suspected you were deceiving me all along and were doing double duty,” he said, though not loud enough for them to hear.


  At the end of the corridor he passed into an extremely large room in which the floors, the walls, and even the ceiling were tiled in white and in which were great coils of polished pipes, also some large vats, and one huge bottle in which was a full-grown foetus. Turning away, so as not to have to look at the giant foetus, he saw on the other side of the room, toward which all of the pipes finally led, a grey coffin with its lid open. He recognized it at once as Ralph’s coffin, the very coffin he had seen in the back parlor earlier and which the widow had ordered should not be opened. “Well,” he said to himself, “there’s skullduggery here.” As he spoke, he heard a door open behind him. He whirled about and saw that through the door, beyond which he could see daylight, two aproned delivery-men were bringing in groceries. They bore a strong likeness to the chauffeur and the funeral director he had seen a few moments before. They went across the room and passed through a door that opened on a descending stairway. He heard them descend the wooden stairs and then come up again immediately. When they reappeared, they were carrying bushel-baskets of garbage. He followed them to the outside door and saw them dump the garbage, baskets and all, into an old-fashioned garbage wagon to which a mule was hitched. He recognized the area outside as one of the narrow, rat-infested alleys of the town, alleys which had always repelled and frightened him as a small child but which a few years later became a delight to him. As he stepped back inside, he sensed that he was being followed by the two men in aprons. Presently he saw that, unmindful of him, they were heading for the coffin. “That’s my brother,” he asserted, and began walking faster, trying to reach the coffin before they did. “That’s my brother in the coffin,” he said with still more force. And one of the men said to the other, “Who does he think he’s fooling?” . . . He now rushed to the coffin and looked inside. The man he saw laid out on the tufted silk looked years younger than Ralph, though everybody had said, hadn’t they, that Ralph had aged so? He realized that there was an inscription on the side of the coffin and got down on his knees to read it. It read: “Here lies our brother, Frank Lacy.”


  He tried to cry out to the two men, “Oh, no, it’s a mistake!” But he woke instead, sitting up on the side of the bed, making ugly, guttural noises in his throat.


  “What is the matter, Frank?” he heard Janet say—from far away, it seemed. She had moved to her own bed while he slept.


  Frank, who was still only half awake, pretended he was coughing. “I guess I’ve got to quit smoking,” he said.


  “Yes, they’re like nails in your coffin,” said Janet, who seemed less than half awake. Then she laughed and said, “But you quit smoking more than a year ago.”


  Frank gave a little half-grunt, half-laugh and fell back on his bed. “We’d both better try to sleep,” he said, feeling ashamed of his foolish effort to deceive Janet about his nightmare, “or we’ll never get up in the morning.” Yet, against his better judgment, he lay there in the dark with his eyes wide open. In the past a visit home had meant a glimpse of childhood and youth to him. But it wouldn’t mean that again. Ralph had been the first of them to go. Alfred wouldn’t be with them long. In time, Norma would die—and George and Jennifer. But he was not coming back to their funerals. Home was not a glimpse of childhood any longer. And home was no place for him—not at his age. Tomorrow he would rise early and take the plane back to New York. For, yes, home was something he could put behind him. If only, he thought, still lying with his eyes open in the dark, if only the dream born of being home was something he could put behind him, also.


  The Decline and Fall of the Episcopal Church in the Year of Our Lord 1952


  


  TOM ELKINS was sitting on Mr. Thurston Roundtree’s front porch, uninvited. Moreover, he was about to say a kind of thing he didn’t often say. He said, “Mr. Roundtree, sir, it’s your decision.” Such directness wasn’t customary in the talk between the two men. An inevitable silence followed. During the silence old Mr. Roundtree didn’t look at Tom Elkins. The old man was sitting alone at one end of the porch swing. Every now and then he would give himself a push with the toe of his soft-sole house slipper. And all the while he kept his eyes fixed on some point far down in the lawn beyond the area where the largest clump of white lilac bushes grew.


  After a minute or so had passed, still not looking at Tom Elkins, the old man said, “So far as any decision from me is concerned, I made it years ago. It didn’t matter, though. I didn’t care, of course. But all the same the church wasn’t doing any harm, Tom.”


  “It was a hazard, Mr. Roundtree,” said Tom, returning to his usual tone of inexhaustible patience with people. He was a lawyer who was not very effective in the courtroom but who had a reputation for being very persuasive in private consultation, very effective in negotiated settlements. As a member of the town council he had, during the past two years and more, spent a good many hours on Mr. Roundtree’s front porch, uninvited.


  “Yes, Tom, the church was a hazard,” Mr. Roundtree consented, still continuing to gaze off into the shady lawn which stretched away in grassy undulations toward the narrow macadam street. Mr. Roundtree’s old house was set at least fifty yards back from the street, and besides the clumps of lilacs and yellow jasmine and Christmas honeysuckle there were a half-dozen or so old forest trees that broke the monotony of the lawn’s gentle roll. “The church was a hazard, Tom,” said Mr. Roundtree, “a hazard to those who went snooping around inside when they had no call to be there.” Until this point the old man had continued to gaze off into the lawn. Then, seeming to realize how harsh and unfeeling he sounded in the light of the boy who had been badly hurt falling from the gallery of the abandoned church and the hobo who was found dead behind the altar rail two years before, Mr. Roundtree did look directly at Tom. But he looked with raised eyebrows that seemed to say, Now, see what an ugly thing you have driven me to saying? Now, see the position you have forced me into? The old gentleman was known for his kindliness and tolerance and for his philosophical acceptance of most of the changes he had seen in the world. He was generally regarded as being different from the rest of the old-timers in town. Yet he was a man of firm character—nobody ever doubted that—and in all matters pertaining to the old church building he had taken a firm, an almost obstinate stand. He had taken a firmly and obstinately indifferent stand, that is to say, in a case where some expression of bias might have made things a bit easier. Even Tom Elkins, the very soul of personal consideration and long-suffering patience with other men, was driven to the wall in this case. It was not often in his career that Tom had said anything so severe and so final-sounding as “Well, Mr. Roundtree, sir, it’s your decision”—either to a client of his own or even to the “other party” in a case.


  The church in question had been an Episcopal church—an “Episcopalian” church most people called it. Its congregation, never large out there in that little West Tennessee town, had so diminished during the first years of the present century that services were finally discontinued. At last the old building fell into such a bad state of repair that—after a number of unfortunate incidents—the town council condemned the property and had the structure torn down. This action took place more than thirty years ago—back in the middle twenties—and it was only a few weeks after the actual demolition that Tom Elkins came to sit on Mr. Roundtree’s front porch, that afternoon, for their final consultation.


  Mr. Thurston Roundtree was not only the sole surviving vestryman of the vanished St. John’s; after the death of his spinster sister, three or four years previously, he had become the only member of the otherwise dispersed congregation still living in the town of Blackwell. In later years, other Episcopalians have moved into Blackwell, and a new, very tiny church has been built on the outskirts of town. But the new Episcopalians are different from the old sort that used to be there. One feels that they are all converts from other denominations. One feels this even about the Episcopal rector himself, nowadays. And the services in the new church are so high that they seem almost Roman. At any rate, as sole survivor of the old Episcopalians, Mr. Roundtree was the man the town council had consulted during every step of the condemnation and demolition proceedings. He had not made difficulties for them in any legal way. He had not written to the diocesan headquarters in Memphis, where some claim to the property might have been made. And he had not tried to get in touch with former parishioners of the church who were scattered about the country. He had made no formal protest whatsoever. But every time Tom Elkins was sent to see him he would only say, “If I were you, Tom, I’d just let the old church stand. It doesn’t matter to me, though. I don’t care, of course. But it’s doing no harm.” If only he had said it mattered. If only he had said he cared. Then some kind of settlement might have been arranged, and everybody’s conscience would have been put to rest.


  Even after the town council had employed Sam Flemming and his wrecking crew, even after the work of destruction was underway, Mr. Roundtree said nothing. And yet while the building was coming down he disturbed many people by going each day to stand quietly for several hours under a rangy black walnut tree across the street from the church. Although his presence didn’t seem to disturb Sam Flemming or Sam’s rough crew of men, the sight of him there worried all conscientious souls like Tom Elkins when they drove past. Somehow it must have made them feel guilty. Sam Flemming, a great hulking fellow with a fine, manly stomach and a shock of black hair as coarse as a horse’s mane, would sometimes lean against the clapboard wall of the church, eating his lunch or enjoying a plug of tobacco, and frankly return old Mr. Roundtree’s silent stare. They eyed each other across the asphalt street and spoke not a word. Each was as open in his staring as if he thought the other did not see him there. It seemed no embarrassment to either of them that there was no conversation, and it was certainly not a question of their not being acquainted. They knew each other as all men in such a little country town know each other, or as they used to know each other in those days.


  Yet the way the two men looked at each other perturbed other people who passed by. And Tom Elkins bore the brunt of the general perturbation. Tom was not a married man, but for more than twenty years he had been informally engaged to a fine girl named Emma Broadhead. Literally speaking, Emma was no longer a girl, of course, but in a town like Blackwell a single woman will often be spoken of as a girl so long as she continues to receive attentions from any man. It was mostly through Emma that Tom was kept informed of how upset the town was by the two men’s silent confrontations. Emma said that what she and others feared was that Sam Flemming and Mr. Roundtree would speak and that there would be an ugly incident in which Mr. Roundtree was bound to get hurt. As a responsible citizen and councilman Tom must not permit that to happen.


  Emma had a very strong sense of social responsibility, and Tom Elkins respected her for it. She had not developed this sense until fairly recent years. It was connected, curiously, to her continuing in the single state. Perhaps it grew out of the gratitude she felt toward friends and neighbors who had cherished and comforted her when they might have ostracized her. For although she had never married Tom Elkins—it was her dying father’s wish, a wish which he did not fail to mention in his will, that she remain single and at home as long as her invalid mother lived; and finally it seemed the mother would live forever—although she had never married Tom, she and he had made no secret of their true relationship. Many an early dawn saw one of them leaving the house of the other. And hardly a month passed without both of them being simultaneously out of town for a long weekend. The effect upon Emma was to inspire liberal feelings in her in nearly all matters. And since Tom was a lawyer with vague, if frustrated, political ambitions, she quite naturally came to express her sense of social responsibility in vaguely political terms. She was concerned for the common good and she did not forget the rights of the individual. (It was she, for instance, who had urged the tearing down of the church to protect hoboes and children who wandered in there.) Tom’s ineffectiveness in the courtroom and in the rôle of a public speaker was, of course, what served to frustrate his political ambitions. But with Emma’s encouragement he had come to see himself as the town’s public peacemaker and great conciliator. Emma kept this ideal polished bright for him, and it was her scrupulosity that would not let Tom blind himself to dangers that might lie ahead in the demolition of the Episcopal church. “You must do what you know in your heart is right,” Emma said to him. “And what you know in your heart is right is that such matters must not be allowed to drift.”


  Tom felt quite certain that there would be no real altercation between Mr. Roundtree and Mr. Flemming. The two men, being of very different sorts, were merely curious about each other. But although no altercation ever occurred, there were indeed two occasions when Tom went away as upset as if he had witnessed the ugly incident which Emma and some of her friends feared. Once he had come on the scene when stacks of rotten rafters were being carried out and thrown on a truck. Observing the rotted rafters, Tom had crossed the street to Mr. Roundtree and said cheerfully, “You can’t deny that the old place was pretty dilapidated, can you, sir?” And Mr. Roundtree’s reply had sent Tom away deeply concerned about the old man’s state of mind and perhaps even the state of his soul.


  “It wasn’t dilapidated,” Mr. Roundtree had said, smiling a rather puzzling smile. “It may have been a shambles, but it wasn’t dilapidated. It was originally roofed with cedar shingles, its timbers were white oak and heart of pine, and the bricks in the foundation were hard bricks made on my own grandfather’s farm, a mile west of town. It was a good building. But still there was no rock in it. The church wasn’t built of rock, Tom, and so we couldn’t properly say it was dilapidated, could we?”


  The old man’s smile at that moment bothered Tom more than what he had said. But when he reported the incident to Emma, she paid more attention to Mr. Roundtree’s words. Was he merely being pedantic, she asked, or did that business about the rock mean that Mr. Thurston Roundtree had lost his faith? “I think it may have something to do with Miss Jenny,” she said, remembering how close the old man had been to his dead sister. Perhaps he was a disillusioned man. Perhaps a secret loss of faith explained his unwillingness either to fight or to condone the condemnation of the church building.


  Another time when Tom stopped to chat with Mr. Roundtree under the black walnut tree, something even more upsetting occurred. Tom and Mr. Roundtree had chatted for some five or ten minutes when Tom realized that Sam Flemming had left the work he had been doing with his crew and had come to lean against the wall of the church. The clapboard siding had been mostly stripped away by then, but the old lathing with the thick plaster bulging through in places was still there, and Sam leaned heavily against one of the uprights. Tom resented the man’s common stare and he felt somehow that it would be an act of rudeness to Mr. Roundtree for him to acknowledge Sam’s presence. While Tom and Mr. Roundtree continued talking, a number of cars passed along the street. Inside the cars were other good citizens of Blackwell, and Tom could see them rubbernecking as they rode by. Presently matters grew worse. Tom realized that Sam Flemming had now come forward and was standing at the curb on the opposite side of the street. At last Tom turned and gave the man what was intended as an angry look. Meanwhile, more cars were passing along the asphalt street between them. Tom felt that the whole town was participating in the moment. He even sensed that certain cars had passed more than once. Then, before he could turn his attention back to Mr. Roundtree, Tom understood that he was about to be addressed by Sam Flemming.


  “Tom, tell him,” Sam’s voice boomed forth, as another carload of rubbernecks passed slowly between them, “tell him if there’s a thing or two inside he’d like to have, he can have it—and free. The whole frame of the building will be a-coming down tomorrow or the next day; so let him speak. If there’s something he craves, Tom, he can have it.” Since all material coming out of the building would belong to him, Sam spoke with genuine authority. He kept his eyes on Tom as he spoke, and when Tom glanced back at Mr. Roundtree he found the old man’s eyes also on him—not on Sam. Moreover, the old man pretended that he had not heard what Sam had said. His lifted eyebrows demanded that Tom repeat Sam’s offer. Yet when Tom did repeat it, Mr. Roundtree only burst into laughter.


  “Why, what in the world would I want with any of it?” he drawled in the most casual, good-natured tone. “What is any of it to me?” And without saying more, he lifted his hat to Tom, gave him the most genial smile, and so took his leave.


  Tom Elkins gazed after the old man for a moment as he ambled away up the street. Then he turned back to Sam. Sam seemed still to be waiting for an answer from him. Tom simply shook his head. When he did so, he saw Sam Flemming’s face go crimson. Then presently the man turned away and began shouting orders to his crew of workmen. Tom Elkins went and got into his car and drove off to lunch, continuing to shake his head now and again all along the way. He had lunch with Emma at the Blue Bird Tea Room on the public square, and they agreed that all Tom could do was watch and wait.


  Only a few days after that, the church was leveled. Neither Tom Elkins nor anyone else observed whether it was on the very day that the demolition job was finished, or perhaps a few days later, that a marble birdbath appeared in Sam Flemming’s side yard. Sam lived in an unpainted ramshackle cottage on the main street of Blackwell. Since the widening of that street, back in the twenties, the old cottage with its narrow, bannistered porch was left perched right on the sidewalk with no front yard. When the Depression had come, Sam had bought the place for a song and had moved his family over from the Mill Hill. Two of the town’s finest old houses were on either side of him, and they were set back from the street in groves of maples and elms and ancient white oaks. But on Sam’s place there were no trees left, and the little bit of a side yard had long since been denuded of grass by the play of Sam’s half-dozen children.


  Awareness of the birdbath’s presence in Sam’s side yard dawned slowly on everyone. (Perhaps people usually avoided looking at the run-down place.) And the realization that the new birdbath could be nothing other than the baptismal font from the erstwhile Episcopal church came more slowly still. Or perhaps realization did not come so slowly as it appeared to. At any rate, a good many days passed before anyone spoke to anyone else of what the birdbath really was. Finally Emma Broadhead said to Tom, “There is no use in our not admitting to each other what Sam Flemming’s birdbath really is.” Simultaneously other honest souls seemed to have spoken their minds to those nearest them. And when at last the word was spoken, it seemed for a time that no one could speak any other word. Tom was made to understand that a sacrilege had been committed that must somehow be righted! The town council was blamed by everybody, and the members of the council were informed that the font must be removed from Sam’s yard.


  Sam Flemming, however, not resting after the completion of the church demolition, knew his rights. He had contracted to tear down the church for a very small sum and on the condition that all the building materials and all he found inside would belong to him. He had found the font locked in a closet that opened off the sacristy, where the last rector had no doubt placed it for safekeeping against vandals. Sam recognized it at once as a thing of value. His first thought had been of old Mr. Thurston Roundtree. Old Roundtree was a queer duck, and was a man who held himself too high for Sam’s liking. He was one of those old-time Episcopalians. You couldn’t go to him directly about something like this. But then, with the aid of Tom Elkins, Sam had got his chance to hint to the old man that there was something valuable inside. He was sure the old codger knew what he meant, and yet the man was too proud to meet him halfway. Sam was vexed. He meditated long on how he should dispose of his treasure. Then absent-mindedly one night he mentioned it to his wife. It seemed an awful mistake at the time. She was down at the church next morning, calling the thing a birdbath and talking on about how she would have it. She wasn’t a woman who complained much of her lot and of things she didn’t have in life. She worked hard, spent sparingly, and nearly always let Sam have his way about things. But now and then she would forget herself—forget her children even, Sam told her, and forget him even—and take a fancy to some pretty piece of foolishness like bantam chickens or inside plumbing, or this birdbath! He didn’t mind. He liked it in her except when she carried it too far. Besides, he knew that his work would be finished there at the church within a few days. He might not have a chance to approach old Roundtree again. What else could he do with it, for the moment, but take it home with him?


  After the font had been set up in the Flemmings’ side yard for only a few days, the wife and the two youngest girls had worked the earth all around it into a circular bed for flowers. How strange that the town was so slow to observe it there. It was not only the Flemmings’ first birdbath; it was also the first flower bed the Flemming family had ever had.


  Naturally, Tom Elkins was the person to go to Sam Flemming and suggest that the birdbath was bound to give offense to Mr. Thurston Roundtree, the only surviving Episcopalian. Others had already appealed to Sam on the grounds that it was an offense against religion in general. But Tom knew that Sam was a godless man, and though it was in their behalf that he went to see Sam, Tom knew that the sensitive feelings of the Baptists and Presbyterians and Methodists in Blackwell would not be something to move the man. It was clear to Tom, however, that Sam had some special feeling about Mr. Roundtree and about that old church building. He went to Sam’s house and stood on the sidewalk talking to Sam, who sat on the porch with his sock feet on the bannister rail. Tom talked first about how strange it was that Mr. Roundtree had come and watched the church being torn down. Then he said that when Mr. Roundtree had laughed at the idea of wishing to have anything out of the church he must have been only covering up his real feelings. Tom could see that Sam was listening carefully to all he said, but he made no direct reference to the birdbath until he was turning to leave. Even then he said only that it was “bound” to offend the old man, because he could not truthfully say that Mr. Roundtree had voiced complaint. Without taking formal leave, Tom had walked off across the street and was already behind the wheel of his car when he heard Sam call his name. “Tom!” came Sam’s resonant voice across the asphalt. He was still seated on the porch and was looking out at Tom between his two black-socked feet on the bannister rail. “Tom, tell him,” he called, “tell him he can still have it if he wants it. If he wants it, Tom, and if he sends me word direct, he can have it.”


  Tom looked back at Sam but made no reply. Behind Sam, in the shadowy doorway to the house, Tom could see Mrs. Flemming. She was a woman of slight build and with dark hair pulled tight back on her head. She stood in the doorway, clearly watching and listening, with one hand raised and resting on the doorjamb.


  The result of Sam’s offer was, of course, that final consultation between Tom Elkins and Mr. Thurston Roundtree. Tom went the very next afternoon to sit on the old gentleman’s front porch. After a respectable preamble, in which the history of the condemnation and demolition of the church was traced once again, Tom at last got round to asking permission to say that he, Mr. Roundtree, would like to own the baptismal font. He asked it in the name of all their fellow Christians, who were greatly offended by the use being made of the font. He told Mr. Roundtree that he was there only in an effort to serve the community, that he was giving time to this business that he ought to be devoting to his own law practice.


  But Mr. Roundtree declined to send the word that Sam Flemming required. He would only shrug his narrow, rather humped, old shoulders, smile to himself, and say that it simply didn’t matter about the font. In the end, it was really as much the church as the font that the two men were talking about, because from the outset Mr. Roundtree was clearly determined to show the same unconcern for the one as for the other. And after their exchange over whether or not the old church had been a hazard, Tom knew that they were now exactly where they had started two years before. He was inclined now to consider the incident closed. But he wondered if Emma would consider it so. . . . Surely there was no more he should or could undertake.


  But somehow he found himself still unwilling to stir from the big wicker chair on Mr. Roundtree’s porch. He was not comfortable in the chair. Little broken sticks of wicker stuck in his back however much he shifted about. And the sight of the toe of Mr. Roundtree’s house slipper pushing at the porch floor every so often was now irritating to him. He had found it painful to have to say anything as direct as, “Well, Mr. Roundtree, sir, it’s your decision.” One didn’t say that sort of thing to an old gentleman in Blackwell, Tennessee. And yet now he wished to say something that would sound even more insolent. He felt a need to understand Mr. Roundtree’s stubborn indifference to the whole affair. He longed to look the old man in the eye and speak the one word “Why?” Yet this was Mr. Roundtree, this was an old gentleman of one of those old-time Blackwell families—one of the old-time Episcopalians.


  Tom himself was a Methodist. His mother had been a Methodist and his father a Cumberland Presbyterian. He was one of the regular, easy hybrids that the town was made up of. Emma represented a similar mélange. But the Episcopalians, the little band that once existed in Blackwell, had been different. At this time—the time of the church’s demolition—Tom was a man in his early forties, and so he was able to remember back to the turn of the century when there were still enough parishioners to justify services being held at St. John’s. What a different breed they had been from their Methodist and Presbyterian contemporaries. They danced and they played cards, of course, and they drank whiskey, and they did just about whatever they wanted on Sunday. They indulged in what their Baptist neighbors called “that barbarous ritual, infant baptism.” They starved themselves during Lent, and they attended services on Christmas Day, even when it didn’t fall on a Sunday. There were no graven images in the old church, and there was no altar stone, of course, but the Episcopalians had talked about the church as though it were the temple in Jerusalem itself. That was what their neighbors resented. Yes, they always spoke of it as “the Church,” as though there were no other church in town. They lavished a loving care on the church building that no other church received. It was not merely that they were the richest congregation; they were, in all respects, the most attentive. Everyone else felt that there was something idolatrous in the congregation’s affection for and pride in the old building. The grass on the little lot was always neatly cut. If one of the boxwoods that lined the brick walk to the entrance died, it was immediately replaced. The English ivy on the brick foundation and about the front steps was meticulously trimmed. And a great fuss was made about obtaining the right, deep shade of green paint for the window blinds. About the interior there was quite as much fuss made—by the ladies. Somebody was forever doing new needlepoint covers for the kneeling stools or sewing new velvet covers for the altar rail. And there was the somewhat mysterious and embarrassing business about the care of the altar cloths and the polishing of the silver chalice and the candelabra. The care of the church kept the whole congregation busy. And then almost overnight, it seemed—in one short decade—the Episcopalians, all but Mr. Roundtree, either died out or moved away from Blackwell.


  Sitting that last afternoon on Mr. Roundtree’s front porch, Tom Elkins felt, momentarily, a revival in himself of all the old resentments the town had once had against the Episcopalians—primarily, it seemed now, against their pride in their old church. It was Mr. Roundtree’s obstinate indifference to its ultimate decay and destruction that stirred the old feelings. His indifference seemed but the same old pride in a different garment! Suddenly he heard Mr. Roundtree address him. “Tom,” the old man began, and then paused. Tom had his eyes focused on the worn toe of the old man’s house slipper. He looked up, embarrassed to be caught staring at the threadbare toe of the slipper. But he found he wasn’t, after all, caught. Mr. Roundtree was once again gazing off in the general direction of that largest clump of lilac bushes. “Tom,” he said, “you see that Corinthian capital on the ground down at the foot of my yard, beyond where those lilacs are? It came off the old courthouse.”


  Tom couldn’t, from his position, actually see the capital but he knew where it was and he knew where it had come from without being told. He knew that Mr. Roundtree had had it put there when the old courthouse was replaced by a modern structure a few years earlier. Without making any effort to see it now, he replied, “Yes, sir, I do.”


  “I had it placed there,” said Mr. Roundtree, still not looking at Tom, “because I have a romantic fondness for ruins. I don’t attach any importance to this feeling of mine. But I indulge myself in it so long as it does nobody any harm. And I suppose that’s how I felt about the old church, Tom. My feelings had nothing at all to do with religion, of course. Perhaps the building had, after all, become a hazard. I don’t know. I simply enjoyed seeing it there. Nothing more or less.”


  “But, Mr. Roundtree,” Tom began, hardly knowing what he was going to say, yet sitting up very straight in his chair as though he were going to make a lengthy objection to the old man’s confession. It flashed through his mind that Mr. Roundtree was not telling the truth. Or perhaps the old man was merely trying to end all these months of talk on an amiable note. That was the more likely explanation. But Tom could not let it go at that. The questions in his mind were too pressing. And the opportunity presented was too good to be missed. He fairly stammered out, “But, sir, that church was your house of worship. Wasn’t it a sacred place to you? Wasn’t everything in it sacred? We—on the council—have been afraid that you would feel—”


  But he was interrupted by the intense gaze which Mr. Roundtree settled on him. Simultaneously giving himself a little push in the swing, the old man turned his eyes from the distant Corinthian capital and the lilac bushes to Tom Elkins there on the porch. He looked at him with an amazed and amused expression. “Why, no, Tom,” he said, “not at all. No, not at all.” And then he actually laughed in just the ironic way he had laughed at Sam Flemming’s offer that day. “I suppose it isn’t generally known,” he then went on, wearing a somewhat more serious expression, as if only now grasping Tom’s failure to comprehend. “I suppose it isn’t generally known, but at the insistence of my late sister Jenny the Bishop came out here some fifteen years ago and held a little deconsecration ceremony. One couldn’t regard the old building as a sacred place after that. It would have been sacrilegious, in the most literal sense of the word. Old St. John’s hasn’t been a holy place for nearly fifteen years.”


  Tom sank into his chair, again insensible of the piercing pieces of broken wicker at his back. He could hardly believe what he had just heard. Was the old man trying to make a fool of him? Was this something he had invented to cover up the real truth of the matter? Somehow it didn’t ring true. Something was still missing. And yet, after all, that was what Episcopalians were like! For them it was as simple as that: the holiness was removed with the wave of that bishop’s hand. It was as primitive as that. It was a matter of pure magic. And why hadn’t the old man mentioned it before now? Suddenly it seemed plain to Tom that Mr. Roundtree had not wanted anybody to know how little he cared about the church building. He had been laughing at Tom’s efforts at conciliation all along, or simply being contrary. Tom yearned to wash his hands of the whole business. He would go to Emma and tell her finally that nothing more could be done, that his conscience as a public servant was clear.


  Yet when Tom Elkins rose to leave, Mr. Thurston Roundtree seized his hand warmly and told him to come again soon. He didn’t have many visitors, said Mr. Roundtree, and would always welcome a chance to chat with someone as intelligent and as generous with his time as Tom was. The old man even walked halfway down the path toward the street with his visitor. It was as though he were parting from a dear friend. Mr. Thurston Roundtree was experiencing, momentarily, that cordial feeling toward Tom that one inevitably feels toward someone to whom he has confided an old, long-locked-up secret. For, yes, Tom was the first person in Blackwell he had ever told about Jenny’s deconsecration ceremony. It was something he was sure other people would not understand, might even interpret as a reflection upon the town. He had himself been strongly opposed to having the ceremony. But Jenny had insisted she was acting, as much as anything else, for his own good. In their long years together—an unmarried sister and brother living in the same house—they had got on famously, without any quarrels or squabbles. Yet in the very realm in which they seemed most solidly united there was the one great division between them—that is to say, in their religion. It was simply that Jenny questioned her brother’s inner piety and spiritual depth. As they grew older she accused him more and more often of caring only for the ritual, the music, and the general attractiveness of the little church itself. When the church was finally no longer in use, and she and he were forced to travel twenty miles into the next county to attend services, she disapproved of his continuing to see after the upkeep of St. John’s. Several times when the bishop was in the next county for confirmations, she threatened to have him over to deconsecrate the building. Each time, Mr. Roundtree would give up having the grass cut for a while and neglect to have broken windowpanes replaced. But then one year he made the mistake of having the window blinds taken down and repainted. That was when she struck the blow. The bishop came, and the building was no longer a church. His sister lived only a few years after that, but she had lived to see his idolatrous spirit broken. He had not imagined how the deconsecration would affect him. But somehow she must have known. For from that day forward old St. John’s was to him but another of the town’s outdated, picturesque buildings. When Jenny lay on her deathbed he had to confess to her that she had been right, that he had cared too much for the mere trappings of religion. He knelt beside her bed, and together they prayed God for forgiveness of His faithful but errant servant, Thurston.


  


  Tom went directly from Mr. Roundtree’s to Emma Broadhead’s house. “Enough,” he said to Emma, “is enough.”


  But Emma, whose figure was just beginning to acquire a middle-aged heaviness, settled herself in a large chintz-covered armchair, gazed up at Tom with her still girlishly soulful eyes, and said, “I know my Tom better than that.”


  “But there’s no more to be done,” Tom tried to insist. “Mr. Roundtree doesn’t care a fig for that font.”


  “It is not Mr. Roundtree’s feelings, is it,” said Emma quietly, “and not yours or mine, that you are concerned about, Tom. The offense is against the good people of this town. That is what one mustn’t forget if one is to serve the community.”


  “But what more am I to do, my dear?”


  “You will have to see Sam Flemming again.”


  “And what can I say to him?”


  “It is not for us women to tell you men what to say to each other. That is not our function. That’s the other side of the coin. You will know what to say.”


  Tom didn’t wait even till the next day to go see Sam. He went that very afternoon. And he didn’t talk to Sam from the sidewalk this time. He went up to the narrow porch, without being invited to do so, and sat down beside Sam. He was ready, if necessary, to take off his shoes and put his feet on the bannister rail beside Sam’s. He didn’t know what the terms were going to be. It had not really occurred to him yet. But he knew he was going to meet them somehow.


  Tom sat there on Sam’s porch in silence for several minutes. Finally, in an offhand tone, he asked, “What church do you belong to, Sam?”


  Sam looked at Tom and grinned. He ran his long, rough fingers through his black hair. Then he leaned forward a little and spat a stream of tobacco juice between his two big toes and out into the gutter beyond the sidewalk. “I call myself a lapsed Free Will Baptist,” he said and laughed.


  Another silence ensued. Then Tom said, “Is that so?” After a moment he said it again: “Is that so?” He was recalling that Sam and his family had once upon a time attended some church over on the Mill Hill. But they had apparently given up religion altogether since their move. People had supposed that they might begin attending one of the churches in the new neighborhood, but it was never urged on them. “What made you lapse?” Tom asked.


  “It wasn’t much of a church,” Sam said. He spat between his toes again, hitting almost precisely the same mark in the gutter as before. “They were all so bone-ignorant, even the preachers. It was just a lot of talk and shouting and going on, nothing you could put your finger on or spit at.” He grinned at Tom again and said, “It was all a lot of loose talk, and I guess I never was a good listener with ignorant folks.”


  “Didn’t you ever think of trying another church?” Tom asked. Was it possible that Sam Flemming’s conversion to one of the regular denominations might yet be the solution to their problem?


  “Not me,” said Sam. All at once he took his feet off the rail, slapping them resoundingly on the wooden floor of the porch. And he turned such a suspicious look on Tom that Tom felt sure the man had read his thoughts.


  In reply—in denial—Tom Elkins merely shrugged and began examining his fingernails. When an interrogation took a wrong turn, he was the first to sense it. He knew that silence was often the best policy at such a moment. He waited now for something else to occur to him, and it wasn’t long in doing so.


  “I don’t know how you vote, Sam,” Tom began cautiously.


  Sam looked at him out of the corner of his eye. “I don’t vote,” he said abruptly. Then after a moment he explained. “My old daddy was a Republican, like his own daddy before him. I don’t know how they ever come to be so. But I know, sure God, it never done them no good hereabouts.” Sam bent forward over the bannister rail and spat out his chew of tobacco. “Generally speaking, Tom,” he then went on, “I don’t know much. But I know enough to keep out of politics and to keep to myself what little I know about politics.”


  “All I was going to say,” Tom said, trying to sound reassuring, “is that I guess you do believe that what the majority of people in a place want is what that place ought to have.”


  “In most matters, I’d say as much,” said Sam with a certain caginess in his tone. Presently he touched first one and then the other of the two breast pockets on his denim shirt, feeling for his tobacco. There was none there. He slapped each of his trousers pockets and found none there, either. Since his gestures were self-explanatory, he got up and went inside the house to get a new packet of tobacco without making any explanation to Tom Elkins. In the doorway, as he was returning, he stopped to break off a plug from the new packet he had opened. Easing it into his mouth and masticating slowly and thoughtfully, he gazed out through the screen door at his visitor, who still sat by the porch bannisters, facing the street. The back of Tom Elkins’s head, the hair thin on the flat plane of his double crown, struck Sam as just a little bit pathetic. He wondered if the thinning hair didn’t come from wearing a hat too much; he smiled slyly at the notion. And the white shirt collar showing above Tom’s suit jacket made Sam lift his own chin and twist his neck about. There the poor fellow sat, waiting to ask more questions. There was nothing such a fellow wouldn’t ask you. Off to his left, Sam could see the marble birdbath in the side yard.


  Sam knew, of course, it was the business of the birdbath Tom had come about. It was a bad business, too, and wasn’t going to end well for anybody. How could it? From the moment he had got that closet door open, at the church, and had first laid eyes on it he knew it had some kind of worth—some kind he couldn’t put his finger on, couldn’t spit at. The wife hadn’t had to tell him that. He knew that before the wife had ever come down to look at it and name it a birdbath. Both before and after she saw it he had tried his damnedest to get Old Roundtree to claim the thing. He hadn’t for a moment kidded himself about giving it away. Whatever the thing was worth to Old Roundtree, Old Roundtree would have paid in full—of his own accord. That’s the sort of gentleman the old man was, but somehow the old man was fouled up about whatever was connected with that church. Just how and why was beyond knowing. But it was plain now that he wasn’t ever going to take the birdbath off Sam’s hands. That’s what made the mess. . . . And it was always bad luck to bring home something you couldn’t afford to own. A birdbath with flowers all around it! In Sam Flemming’s yard! He couldn’t stop the wife from setting it up out there for the time being. Moreover, it was all right—for the time being. He knew the woman had to like it. A woman had to be the one to ask some foolishness in life. He liked it, too. But a man doesn’t kid himself about how much foolishness he can afford. Well, she wasn’t going to make it easy for him this time, he knew that. Not this time nor next, either. She didn’t change. But when it was done it would be done. And she would still be his wife. He would still, also, be the man.


  


  Presently Sam’s two black sock-feet, with a perfectly round hole showing the white flesh of each heel, returned to the bannister rail. Tom watched the feet go back to their place. He said nothing. It was Sam who spoke first. “It wasn’t just me,” Sam said, “who thought the Free Will Baptists hadn’t much of a church. My old daddy didn’t think so, either. He used to be what they called the section for old St. John’s. I was a little fellow then and he used to take me up there with him sometimes when he was cutting the grass or cleaning outside. He’d point out how pretty and dignified the place was and how they even had it printed in a little book what they was going to do every Sunday of the year. Daddy told me how one time he said to one of the ladies—Mr. Roundtree’s sister, it was—that he thought he’d leave the Baptists and join the Episcopalians. But she said to him, ‘No, Jack, you have your church and we have ours. It’s better to keep it that way.’ ” Sam, while he spoke, had been looking directly at Tom, but when he quoted the Episcopal lady he dropped his eyes momentarily, and a smile came to his lips, a somewhat mechanical smile that parted his lips and showed a row of uneven, tobacco-stained teeth. “That’s why I was kind of glad,” he said presently, raising his eyes again and looking quite solemn, “to keep something out of the old church like my woman’s birdbath yonder—sort of in memory of my old man. Of course, the wife and the kids set great store by it too. They would hate to part with it. I don’t know what they might do. They think it’s about the prettiest thing they ever saw.”


  Under Sam’s seemingly honest gaze and listening to his expression of sentiment about his dead father and his delight in the pleasure which the font gave to his wife and children, Tom wondered now if he could ever broach the subject he had come to discuss with him. He had promised himself that he would come to terms with Sam that very day; yet the kind of terms that had come into his mind just now seemed suddenly so crass, and so vile even, that he felt quite ashamed of himself. All at once he felt so humble in the presence of this honest, hard-working, tenderhearted Sam Flemming that he could not resist the impulse to confess his own wicked intentions. “Sam,” he said, “I have to tell you that I was just now about to offer you money for that—that birdbath out there.”


  He was watching Sam’s face closely as he spoke the words. In the straight lines on either side of the serious mouth he read strength of character. In the wide, brown eyes he read gentleness and charity. Here was a face Tom had known most of his life, and he felt now that he had never seen it before. Wasn’t the coarseness he had attributed to it really a rugged loftiness? Wasn’t Sam Flemming, after all, the very salt of the earth, a man whose kind of virtue was incorruptible? Yet at the very moment when Tom was really making such acknowledgment of Sam’s virtue he observed a smile beginning to form on the man’s lips. Moreover, he recognized it as the same smile that had played momentarily when Sam quoted the Episcopal lady speaking to his father. There was something unreal about it. It was the smile a man smiles in his sleep. And though Sam’s eyes were open, it was somehow as though the lids had closed over them again. “Well, Tom,” he began, his voice growing thicker and taking on more perceptibly the accent of that particular West Tennessee county in which Blackwell is situated, “I’ll tell you, Tom, money speaks louder than most anything I know of.” His smile broadened until all of his tobacco-browned teeth were showing. “What kind of money was you of a mind to offer?” he asked.


  Tom rose from his chair and turned his face away from the man. So it was all a lie—all that about Sam’s old daddy and his wife and kiddies. Even the bits about his daddy’s being the sexton and about Mr. Roundtree’s sister. But why would he take the pains to make up such stuff? What went on inside such a man? He tried to look at him again but found himself looking over his head and out toward the baptismal font in the side yard. His eyes refused to be directed toward those heavy features and that sly smile. Pursing his lips, he pretended to be reckoning the value of the font. “I’ll give you fifteen bucks,” he said at last.


  “Make it twenty,” said Sam. And he spat once again between his toes and out into the gutter.


  Meanwhile, Tom had drawn two ten-dollar bills from his wallet. Instead of handing them to Sam, he placed the bills neatly, one on top of the other, on the bannister rail just next to Sam’s right foot.


  “I’m much obliged to you,” said Sam, lifting his heel and putting it down on the two bills.


  “I’ll send someone to fetch the font after dinner tomorrow,” Tom Elkins said and went down the porch steps to the sidewalk.


  


  The exact hour when Tom Elkins would send for the baptismal font became generally known in Blackwell by mid-morning of the next day. Word had got round through some mysterious grapevine of information which neither Tom nor Sam would willingly have acknowledged feeding. Mr. Thurston Roundtree, for instance, as well as those rubbernecks who had witnessed the scenes at the church, knew that at half past one o’clock two members of Sam Flemming’s own demolition crew, temporarily in the hire of Tom Elkins, would appear at Sam’s place for the purpose of removing the birdbath from his yard. The general knowledge was so accurate that Tom himself, who had planned to direct the operation, was later than the spectators in arriving on the spot.


  Tom, as a matter of fact, was so late in arriving that when he drew up to the curb, on the opposite side of the street, he saw his two workmen already standing in Sam’s side yard. Their rusty old pickup truck was parked nearby, and it was clear that they would require hardly three minutes to do their work. It would not really be necessary, Tom reflected, to get out of his car, even. Yet when he presently observed that Sam Flemming was seated on his porch, staring out into the street between his two feet, and that just opposite Sam on the far side of the street stood Mr. Roundtree with his old eyes shaded by the broad brim of his felt hat, and that between them was moving a fairly steady stream of slow, rubbernecking traffic, Tom then feared it might seem cowardly of him to remain concealed in his car. He stepped out into the street and went and leaned against his front fender. He nodded first to Mr. Roundtree and next to Sam Flemming. Each man returned his nod and somehow did so as though the other were not present. Cars moved along the street at a snail’s pace. At last, Tom gestured to his two workmen that they should proceed.


  From his porch, Sam Flemming suddenly called out, “Tom, you tell him he can have it still, and I’ll give you your money back.”


  Tom, almost despite himself, turned his eyes to Mr. Roundtree. Mr. Roundtree’s eyes were not visible under the hat brim, but Tom could feel that he was waiting to have the message relayed. It was like something from a dream, or something remembered from another existence. “Sam says you can still have the font, Mr. Roundtree,” Tom said without spirit, without conviction, even.


  The old man threw back his head and laughed. And with his face still tilted and exposed to view he said, “Tell him I think it looks pretty up there, Tom. Why not leave it there?”


  At that precise moment, a woman, followed by two barefoot little girls, came running unheralded from Sam Flemming’s house. They came out a side door onto a little wooden stoop there. And before the screen door had well slammed behind them, they were scurrying down the steps to the yard, and all three of them were crying out at the top of their voices. The woman’s voice was more shrill even than the children’s and she was shouting the sort of angry words a woman shouts when animals have got into her garden: “Shoo! No! Stoopid! Git!” She was Sam Flemming’s wife, of course, and her cries along with her daughters’ were directed at the workmen tampering with their birdbath. It happened also that at that moment in time two bluejays and a catbird were just swooping down to the birdbath to refresh themselves. Whether the birds’ fury was directed also at the workmen or merely at each other, they gave forth fierce, almost human cries, and with a great fluttering of wings they stirred the air about the two men’s bare heads.


  “Don’t you dare! Don’t you dare!” Mrs. Flemming was shouting as she came up to the two men. Stepping into the flower bed, she threw herself forward on the rim of the font, shouting again, “Don’t you dare! Don’t you dare lay a hand on it!” But the men had already laid hands on the bowl of the font and were trying to lift it off the pedestal. With a quick glance over her shoulder at her husband on the porch, Mrs. Flemming called out, “Sam! Sam!” Sam didn’t so much as turn his head to look at her.


  One of the workmen said to her in a sympathetic voice, “He’s sold it on you, Mrs. Flemming.”


  “No! Hit ain’t for sale,” Mrs. Flemming screeched. “He mought give it away, but hit ain’t for sale.” And with that she took her hands off the font and threw herself upon the man who had spoken to her, pulling at his fingers with one hand and at the collar of his khaki shirt with the other. Like her husband, the woman was of a sallow complexion, and her hair was perhaps thicker and blacker than his. But her face was thin and hollow-eyed, and her figure lean almost to boniness. Seeing her, ordinarily, one would not have supposed that she possessed any of her husband’s vigor, nor that she was capable of the frenzy she had thrown herself into. She was shouting now at the older of her two dark-haired daughters, both of whom were moving threateningly against the other workman. “Sarah,” she cried out, “grab his leg!” And then to the younger girl, who was no more than seven or eight years old, “Emma-line, sink your little teeth into his arm, honey!” Both girls obeyed her instructions with energy and with obvious relish. But the workman whom they attacked was a big man like Sam and he shook them off like flies, hardly seeming to notice their bites and blows. And Mrs. Flemming’s attack upon the other man was equally ineffective. He and his colleague were now lifting the stone basin and emptying the water on the ground.


  For Tom, the spilling of the clear water onto the ground acted as a totally unexpected release. Suddenly his spirits soared. It was as if he had seen a miracle performed. And he could not understand why he felt such joy. He had failed utterly, hadn’t he, to moderate among the various parties. And he still could not understand the nature of the conflict itself. Moreover, he was disenchanted with the characters of both Mr. Roundtree and Sam Flemming. He turned his eyes slowly toward Sam, who had even now not removed his two feet from the porch railing. Then he looked at Mr. Roundtree, whose face was in the shadow of his wide-brimmed hat but who obviously had his eyes fixed on the sprawling figure of Sam. Had the old man perhaps known all along what Sam was trying to offer him from the church and had he counted on finally witnessing such a scene as this one? And why? Why? And now Tom looked at Sam again. What low manner of man was this that he could not be moved by that spectacle in the yard? He cursed the man under his breath. But even so he was not able to dispel his own state of near rapture.


  Despite the unremitting attacks from the woman and the two little girls, the workmen carried first the basin and then the pedestal out to the street and hoisted them into the truck bed. And meanwhile Sam Flemming continued to sit on his porch, occasionally spitting a stream of amber juice between his two feet, giving no notice to the ruckus his wife and daughters were creating. At last some of the other bystanders began to appeal at first to Tom and then to old Roundtree, imploring them to intervene. Mr. Roundtree responded only by taking off his hat to some of the ladies who were beseeching him. Tom merely shook his head sadly. Only once did the two men’s eyes meet. And Mr. Roundtree’s eyes said, “Take back your money, Tom.” And Tom’s eyes said, “Accept the Episcopal baptismal font.” But each was as deaf to the other’s appeal as to that of the bystanders.


  Both men stood seemingly in a kind of transport until after the birdbath, slipping and sliding about the floor of the truck and making a noise like thunder, had been hauled away down the street and out of sight. In fact, they continued to stand there just so until Mrs. Flemming and her two little daughters, straightening their dresses and pushing back their disarrayed hair, had reentered the Flemming cottage by the same side door they had emerged from. Then without any exchange with Sam Flemming or between themselves, the two men turned and went their separate ways.


  The workmen had their instructions to dispose of the baptismal font however they might wish to, so long as it was never seen again in Blackwell. When, years later, the new St. John’s was built, some effort was made to locate the old font for tradition’s sake. But the workmen had done their work well. The font seemed to have vanished from the face of the earth, as even the two workmen themselves had. During the intervening years they had drifted away from Blackwell to some other community, and no trace of them or of the font they had carted off in their truck that day was to be found. Tom Elkins was by then married to Emma Broadhead (her mother having not, after all, lived forever) but neither he nor Emma could give any clue as to the font’s whereabouts. Mr. Roundtree had by that time, of course, joined his sister Jenny in the town cemetery. Sam Flemming was not dead, but he had had a disabling stroke and in his immobile and speechless condition was being cared for by the wife and daughters whose birdbath he had sold. The fate of the font remained unknown, and the parishioners of the new St. John’s have had to establish their new church without any relic from the past.


  Mrs. Billingsby’s Wine


  


  SHIRLEY BARNES is waiting in Mrs. Billingsby’s living room again. This time she is going to see the woman if it means waiting there all afternoon. Shirley lives in one of the new developments out off Summer Avenue, and it isn’t often that she gets in to the old part of Memphis, where such well-fixed people as Mrs. Billingsby live. This is the third time she has summoned up the nerve to visit the woman at home, and this time she has come prepared to wait indefinitely. A neighbor is keeping Shirley’s two small children, and the meat loaf for supper is already prepared and ready to be popped in the oven.


  What healthy-looking houseplants Mrs. Billingsby has! Shirley just can’t help wondering who waters them and who sees to setting them out in the sun on good days. They aren’t the usual ferns and philodendron. They are unusual plants, which probably require a lot of attention. She can see that the dirt around the grassy-looking thing on the coffee table is rich and rather loose. “Recently repotted and fertilized,” she says aloud, quickly putting her fingers over her lips as if to stop herself from speaking again. Then, peering down among the green stalks in a Chinese urn that is on the marble-top end table, she observes that there is a plain earthen pot inside the blue and white urn. “Pots within pots,” she whispers through her fingers, and she laughs quietly.


  Shirley is beginning to feel rather at home in the room. She even notices that the summer slipcovers have been removed from the chairs since her last call, six weeks ago. (On that occasion, she was allowed to wait for ten or fifteen minutes before being told that Mrs. Billingsby was out of town.) No doubt it would be the butler’s duty—the one who admitted her and showed her into the living room just now—to remove the slipcovers on a certain date each fall and to replace them on a date in the spring. No, Shirley decides after considerable thought, that would be the downstairs maid’s duty, or whoever the girl is who let her in the last time she came—the one who didn’t seem to know that Mrs. Billingsby was out of town. The thought of all Mrs. Billingsby’s servants makes Shirley smile to herself. Her own neighbors out there off Summer Avenue would not believe that even people in these huge old houses on Belvedere Street still have servants. How much would you suppose she had to pay them per week? Twenty-five dollars, anyway. Altogether, Shirley reckons, Mrs. Billingsby must pay her servants considerably more than her own Granville clears from his dental practice in a month. Poor Granville, with his eight years of expensive education! Where does Mrs. Billingsby find such servants nowadays, with their efficiency and their polite manners? The only kind of help you can get out there off Summer Avenue aren’t worth having. It’s better to do your own work and save for the future. Shirley reflects that she has never before really seen such servants—not even in Blackwell, where she and Granville grew up and where both Mr. and Mrs. Billingsby came from originally. That’s why Shirley is making this call. She and Mrs. Billingsby are old neighbors, and old neighbors should keep in touch. That’s a perfect reason to make a call, no matter what Granville says about it.


  She returns to the pleasures of speculation. Would it be the butler or the maid who waters the houseplants? Oh, neither! It would be Mrs. Billingsby herself. Now, all at once, she has a clear image of what Mrs. Billingsby, whom she had only glimpses of as a little girl, is like and what her life is like. She would reserve the watering of her luxuriant houseplants as the one domestic task not to be turned over to her servants. When Mr. Billingsby comes home from his office in the afternoon, that’s how he finds her, watering the plants in this room or in the other living room across the hall, or perhaps in the dining room behind the other living room. It is just the reverse of what Shirley does, freshening herself up for Granville’s homecoming and sitting in the glider as though she hasn’t done a lick of work all day. Mr. Billingsby finds Mrs. Billingsby doing the one useful thing she has done all day, and it gives them both great joy. And that’s what it is like to be rich.


  Rising from her place on the couch, Shirley strolls across the room toward the wide doorway to the hall. Then she strolls back to the window that overlooks the rose garden. It is really strange how much at home she feels! She positively understands what it is like to be Mrs. Billingsby. Yes, she is standing at the window, which has become her own window, overlooking her rose garden, and she has just this minute come in from a bridge luncheon at the Memphis Country Club. Or perhaps she has come in from lunch at Justine’s, with two intimate friends. (But is Justine’s open for lunch? It doesn’t matter.) And they have stopped by the Helen Shop after lunch, or by Seessel’s to pick up some avocados and artichokes. The thought of grocerying so casually at Seessel’s evokes a giggle from Shirley. She thinks what it would be like if her children were big now and away in an expensive boarding school—no, one should say “prep school”—or even at an Eastern college. She and Granville are Dr. and Mrs. Granville Barnes, of two hundred and something South Belvedere Street, right next door to the elderly George Billingsbys, with whom they are intimate friends. She envisions a note in one of the society columns that will tell what close friends the two couples are and how they all four began life in the little country town of Blackwell, and even how Mrs. Barnes’s and Mrs. Billingsby’s families were next-door neighbors there for generations. But it ends there, the newspaper item does, without telling about the ramshackle old cottage Shirley’s family lived in, perched right on the sidewalk, or about Mrs. Billingsby’s family’s big two-story house set so far back in a grove of willow oaks and tulip poplars that in the summertime the two houses weren’t visible to each other. None of Mrs. Billingsby’s family has really lived in their house since Shirley was born. They went off long ago to Memphis and St. Louis and even Detroit and made or married stacks of money, or went into politics, or became old-maid schoolteachers in exclusive private schools up in Virginia. So far as that family is concerned, the town of Blackwell, Tennessee, could rot! Anyhow, that’s what Shirley’s mother always said. That family tried to prevent all progress in the town, tried to prevent their putting in street lights and sidewalks even. Shirley’s mother once heard Mrs. Billingsby’s own mother say, “The only thing Blackwell has left is its natural beauty, and it ought to hold on to that. Otherwise, it’s like some poor country girl decked out in a lot of cheap finery.” Shirley’s old granddaddy, who was a house painter when he wasn’t too drunk to hold a brush, always said Mrs. Billingsby’s family had never had an eye for anything but money to fill their pockets with. He used to say, “Ever time they seen a dollar they taken after it and they never stopped a-running till they cotched it.”


  Shirley’s dad once owned a little grocery store, but he gave it up to work at the mill—off and on. In the summertime, he would sit on the front porch with his sock feet on the banister rail, and if the subject of Mrs. Billingsby’s family came up (in the summertime, some of them would come and stay over there in their house for a few weeks “just out of sentiment for the place”), her dad, with his feet on the banister rail, would say of them, “Them that has gits.”


  At the end of a summer, when Shirley and her big brothers were bored and were dreading the opening of school, they would skin over the fence and sometimes manage to get inside that big empty house next door. They would break the glass on a picture frame or two and pull some of the loose wallpaper off the walls in the hall or in the parlor. Shirley could remember the smashed glass on a picture of two old-fashioned-looking gunboats. The boats seemed to be firing pink powder puffs at each other over a body of pale-green water. One year, she told her brothers she would like to have the large orange butterfly that was mounted on cotton under glass in the hall. But when they handed the beautiful thing to her, it turned to powder in her hands. Another year, her brothers stole half the bricks from the old walk going up to the house and sold them to a man who came through town buying up old bricks.


  Shirley thinks about the work that lies ahead of her on this autumn afternoon when she has finally found Mrs. Billingsby at home. Mrs. Billingsby will be cold to her on this their first visit together, but Shirley will pretend not to notice. She will leave one of her gloves under the cushion on the couch, and when she returns for it, the very next day perhaps, she will bring Mrs. Billingsby an exotic potted plant like none she has ever seen before. Pretty soon the Billingsbys invite the ­Barneses to a cocktail party, where they meet practically everybody. Then Mrs. Billingsby tells people that Shirley’s family and hers were old friends in Blackwell and lived next door to each other for generations. Later, at dinner parties at the Billingsbys’, the four of them spend whole evenings reminiscing about old times in Blackwell, and they apologize to other people for boring them with their reminiscences. Then there is an emergency in the middle of the night! Granville gets up and gets dressed and meets Mr. Billingsby at his clinic. Granville relieves Mr. Billingsby’s pain and saves the tooth! Not long after that, the Barneses are invited to join the Memphis Country Club, and everybody begins having Granville as their dentist . . .


  By the window overlooking the rose garden, Shirley still stands with her hands folded before her. Suddenly she decides she doesn’t really like so many potted plants in a room. It doesn’t suit her taste. She saunters casually over to the marble-top end table beside the couch, and her impulse is to remove the big stalky plant there. But she turns away from it. She sees a cut-glass decanter and four glasses on the coffee table. The decanter is half filled with a very dark wine. Shirley shakes her head and says to herself that she doesn’t like wine—or doesn’t think she does. She glances critically at the stack of magazines and papers lying beside the decanter on the coffee table. She doesn’t like magazines and papers lying around in a living room—that much she knows. Looking at the end table again, she actually puts out her hand and edges the Chinese urn a little nearer to the center of the table; she experiences a sudden fear that her sleeve may brush against it and knock it off the table and break it. Just as she withdraws her hand, she hears footsteps on the hall stairway. It is Mrs. Billingsby coming down at last. Shirley quickly plops down on the couch. Before her hostess enters, she removes her gloves and sticks one of them underneath the petit-point cushion beside her.


  


  “Now, let me see,” says Mrs. Billingsby, extending her hand as she crosses the room to Shirley. “You were the youngest one, weren’t you? The one with the dark curls down to her waist.”


  Shirley rises and offers her hand across the coffee table.


  Mrs. Billingsby clasps the hand between her own hands, smiling cordially and peering into Shirley’s face. “Yes, it is you,” she says. “I do remember your sweet little face. I thought I would if I saw you. Sit down, sit down.” She comes round the coffee table and sits beside Shirley on the couch. “I used to catch glimpses of you playing in your yard in the summer, and with your long curls you looked like such an old-fashioned child, so like a little girl from my own generation, that it made me long more than anything else to come back to Blackwell to live.”


  Shirley finds herself blushing. Why, she is going to talk about Blackwell life as though it was something they shared once, as though they really were neighbors in the usual, good sense. And what a lovely-looking woman she is, at once so elegant and so natural. Her beautiful hands, now folded in her lap, express the repose and self-assurance that only an elevated mind and spirit can attain. And her blue, blue eyes. How thoroughly you can trust those eyes to see what is best in people and in the world! No wonder one reads in the paper about all the charitable and cultural organizations she heads, and the garden clubs, too, and about her efforts to save the forest trees on North Parkway and the two ante-bellum houses downtown. There is a freshness and vigor about her that make one long to join her and follow her in all her good works. What a joy it is going to be to know her better and better! Even the freshness of her complexion seems good news to Shirley. Mrs. Billingsby really has been napping and is obviously just out of a bath. She has not been trying to deceive Shirley or to postpone their meeting.


  “I must tell you at once,” she is saying to Shirley now, “how bad I feel about your having to call on me. And you’ve come twice before, you good person you. You came this summer while I was at High Hampton, and you came in the spring when I was so taken up with some silly matters about our old trees in Memphis that I just let all my personal concerns go.” As she speaks she bends toward the coffee table and places one hand on the neck of the wine decanter. “But I was not unmindful that you had been here, I want you to know that. Would you join me in a little glass of sherry, or would you rather have coffee? Even before you called the first time, I was not unaware that you and your little family had moved to Memphis. I keep up with the comings and goings of true Blackwellians. Mr. Salisbury still sends me the Herald every week. You see, there’s a copy there on the table, under those magazines. So many of the names that appear in it now mean nothing to me.” She shakes her head sadly. “But a name like Granville Barnes means something. I can assure you, my dear—you’re Shirley, aren’t you?—I can assure you, my dear Shirley, that it’s only because you’re a girl still that I left it for you to call on me, instead of myself calling on you.” Now she interrupts herself to fill one of the wineglasses and to ask, “Would you much prefer coffee, my dear? You mustn’t hesitate to say so if you would.”


  Shirley is trying to remember what sherry tastes like. Was it sherry or was it claret she had when she and Granville were on their honeymoon in New Orleans? She would give almost anything for a cup of black coffee just now. She frequently has one at this time of day, when Granville is having a highball. Sometimes she has a highball with him, though she is fond of saying it makes her see double and feel single. But she insists to Mrs. Billingsby that a glass of sherry is just what she would like. She accepts the glass, sips it at once, and says, “Ah!”


  Shirley thinks it quite beautiful that Mrs. Billingsby has, within the first five minutes, covered all grounds on which her guest might have felt uneasiness. It is how a lady does things, a lady to the manner born. As Mrs. Billingsby goes on to speak of how cold the weather has turned during the past few days, and of winter clothes and of the new hemline and of the really best places to shop (Mrs. Billingsby loves Goldsmith’s basement and the first floor of Lowenstein’s East; she says that any department of any store is only as good as its buyer), Shirley finds her mind going back to the picture glass her brothers broke in Mrs. Billingsby’s homeplace, and the butterfly they took from its mounting to give to her, and the mossy bricks they stole from the walk. Oh, why had they been permitted to do that? Suddenly she throws back her head and tosses off her glass of wine.


  “And do you and your husband go back to Blackwell often?” she hears Mrs. Billingsby asking.


  “The first weekend in every month,” Shirley says. “One month we stay with my family, and the next with yours—with Granville’s, I mean.” How could she have made that senseless slip of the tongue? It is because she is so used to talking with Granville, and with no one else, about Blackwell. Or could it be the wine?


  “I find it depressing to go back nowadays,” says Mrs. Billingsby. She insists on filling Shirley’s glass again.


  “That’s only because none of your family is still there.”


  “Yes, I suppose so,” Mrs. Billingsby consents, with doubt in her voice. “We’ve all been gone a long time, and it has changed a great deal. There is no social life there of the sort there once was. When I was a girl, Blackwell was such a very gay little place. Yet no parties, I suppose, ever seem as good to anyone as those one went to as a girl.”


  “That’s certainly true,” Shirley says. She feels she has spoken too loud and tries to lower her voice. “Granville and I sometimes talk whole evenings away about parties we went to in Blackwell.” She knows she should not keep referring to Granville. Mrs. Billingsby has not made one reference to Mr. Billingsby.


  “When I was a girl, young people came from all over West and Middle Tennessee to our parties. During the summer, at the time of the June German, every house was full of young lady house guests and young men, too.”


  Shirley looks at Mrs. Billingsby, not able to imagine what the June German was. She and Granville can never forget the high-school dances of their era, but there were rarely house guests from other towns. Other towns had their own high-school dances. There never seemed any need to import anybody.


  As if in response to something, Mrs. Billingsby says, “No doubt it had all changed by the time you came along.”


  “The first dance I ever went to,” Shirley says with enthusiasm, “was in the New Gym at the high school. The New Gym was built in our freshman year—Granville’s and mine. Goodness, we had a grand time!”


  “You and your husband were in the same class, then?”


  “Oh, yes, we went all through school and college together.”


  “You can’t imagine how strange that sounds to the ears of someone of my generation. Mr. Billingsby is nearly ten years older than I. Though we lived within a mile of each other, I didn’t really know him till I came back from my year at Miss Merriwether’s School.”


  In a sudden burst of frankness, Shirley says, “Granville and I both worked our way through college, and I worked while he got through dental school. He tells people that I put him through, but of course he exaggerates.” She is on the verge of confiding in Mrs. Billingsby how hard those years were. But she bites her tongue and tries to think of something else to say. Nothing she thinks of seems appropriate.


  “I envy you girls who went to college,” Mrs. Billingsby says humbly. “My mother wished to send me and my sister to college, but Father was afraid of what we just might learn there!”


  “Still,” says Shirley, wondering if her talk of college might have sounded like boasting, “your boarding schools in those days were much better than our high schools today.”


  “Ah, far better,” Mrs. Billingsby agrees—too quickly, it seems to Shirley. “And I don’t complain of not going to college, really. Our education prepared us very well indeed. For life, for the good life as it used to be lived in Blackwell. It makes me heartsick to go back and see how it has all changed there. It was a dear old town, with giant trees meeting over the streets, with handsome lawns and superb flower gardens. Even the public square was a charming place before they built that modernistic courthouse in the thirties and ripped down all the coverings over the sidewalks in front of the stores.”


  Shirley tries to imagine the square with the old courthouse and the sidewalk covers. She tries in vain. Presently she sips at her wine. Then she empties the glass. The room seems to have grown very warm.


  “On the hottest day,” continues Mrs. Billingsby, “you could walk in shade under those coverings all around the square. And no man spoke to you unless you spoke to him first. But think what it’s like now. It’s all sun and noise on a summer afternoon. I was there one day this summer. It was incredible. Young girls and boys racing about the sidewalks shouting to each other. And women my age down there on the square in shorts and halters!” (Shirley manages to whisper, “No!”) “You couldn’t cross the street without one of the young people in a little foreign car—in Blackwell!—blowing a horn at you. They took down those sidewalk coverings I don’t know how many years ago, and now the stores—chain stores all of them, of course—have huge, bright-colored plastic fronts to them. It is a blinding spectacle, the square in Blackwell is today! Really ghastly!”


  A powerful wave of nostalgia has suddenly swept over Shirley—a nostalgia for the blinding spectacle of Blackwell’s public square. She can only remember it the way Mrs. Billingsby has described it in its latter-day, fallen state. That is the way she must think of it. That is the way, she realizes, she wants to think of it. It is her home town—hers and Granville’s. The other town, the old town Mrs. Billingsby described, never existed for her. It probably never existed for her parents, either, she reflects. Who would recognize any town in which only a few of the girls and boys went to parties, so few that they had to invite girls and boys from other towns in order to make it any fun? In their day—hers and Granville’s—nobody cared whether the people who came to a party lived on the Mill Hill or on Church Street, whether you lived in one of the big houses set back amid trees or in a ramshackle little place like her dad’s. On a Saturday afternoon, she and a bunch of girls would ride around the square in an open roadster while boys called outrageous things to them from other cars or from the uncovered sidewalks. She loved the way the square looked as she knew it, without any trees on the courthouse lawn, without any coverings over the sidewalks, and with the bright false fronts to the old stores. That was girlhood. That was when there had been no scraping together dollars to pay fees at the College of Dentistry. That was when there was no scrimping to make time payments on the furniture for the baby’s room.


  Now she realizes that Mrs. Billingsby’s reflections upon Blackwell have somehow wounded her. She eyes the empty glass in her hand and gently sets it on the coffee table. She knows that she must conceal the hurt she feels. And so she does what she knows Granville would say she ought to do—she changes the subject. And as she does so, without being fully conscious of her purpose, she rises from the couch. She is going to leave.


  On her feet, she feels a little dizzy. But her speech is clear and firm, giving no evidence of her physical sensations. “Well,” she says, “Blackwell is Blackwell, but Granville and I already like Memphis. In fact, we like it very, very much.”


  “Even Memphis has changed, though,” Mrs. Billingsby replies at once, not rising. “It soon won’t be the same city—not the city Mr. Billingsby and I came to forty years ago. They’re cutting down our trees to make way for superhighways and pulling down famous old mansions to make way for the high-rise apartments and office buildings.”


  For a moment Shirley hesitates. She is trying to push out thoughts of the smashed picture glass and the stolen bricks. There is the feel of the dry, powdery butterfly between her fingers. She waits until Mrs. Billingsby has risen and has said “Must you go so soon?” before she speaks. About Memphis she feels perfectly free to take her stand. “Oh, most of the things they’re doing we like,” she says. “The new buildings they’re putting up are beautiful, we think. And Granville says we’re away ahead of most cities in planning for traffic. It is an exciting place to live. Memphis is a wonderful city, Mrs. Billingsby.”


  Mrs. Billingsby has risen from the couch now and she follows Shirley across the room. In the wide doorway to the hall, she stops and says with a smile, “I’m glad you like Memphis. I can’t altogether agree with you about it, but I’m glad you like it. Anyway, we both love Blackwell, don’t we?” Standing in the doorway, she looks older—an old lady.


  “Yes, we both love Blackwell, Mrs. Billingsby,” says Shirley.


  “I’m sorry you must go so soon. And I’m sorry I kept you waiting so.”


  “I just wanted to say hello,” Shirley says. Then, suddenly blushing, she adds, “But I believe I’ve dropped one of my gloves.”


  “Really?” says Mrs. Billingsby. “I didn’t . . .”


  Shirley hurries across the room and pulls the glove from under the cushion. “It was on the divan,” she says, holding it up for Mrs. Billingsby to see.


  The Elect


  


  THOUGH IT was past two in the afternoon, Judge Larwell was still sleeping like a baby. The best thing his wife could do was to keep busy. The telephone was off the hook, and the doorbell had been muffled. It was really as though someone were dead and black crape were draped on the front door. Actually, their faithful son-in-law Joseph, along with several other of Judge Larwell’s ardent supporters—and two state troopers, as well—was stationed on the wide front porch to receive and ultimately drive away any of the television people or even any of the party’s own public-relations people who might come banging on the door. The judge had fought a long, hard battle, and he had won. He was now governor-elect of the state. Surely the governor-elect was entitled to his rest. In his wife’s opinion, at any rate, among the spoils belonging to the victor there should be included at least some small measure of privacy.


  When the wall clock in the downstairs hallway struck a quarter past two, the state’s first lady-elect was at her little desk at the end of the living room, writing checks. She was paying last month’s bills from the department stores and the oil company, from the grocer and the dry cleaner and the drugstore. In the last weeks of the campaign, she had let everything go. As a matter of fact, she had actually taken up residence in a suite of rooms at the hotel opposite the capitol building. She had lived as she had never imagined she could possibly live. She had, in those last weeks, joined in the campaign and, much as she hated it all, had taken to the road with the rest of the family, appearing on platforms in twenty counties, waving, smiling, giving the victory sign.


  She had even made half a dozen impromptu two-minute speeches when nobody else from the judge’s family was there to speak up. Even the opposition newspapers had called her a good trouper and had said she was “well-spoken.” Her best and most oft-quoted words were those delivered to a jokester in a crowd, who had called out, asking if she wanted to go keep house in that “musty old governor’s mansion.” She had replied with: “Whither he goes, there I shall go also. His people shall be my people.” And the crowd had roared its crude, infelicitous approval: “Give ’em hell, Nell.”


  But now it was over. In the hotel ballroom at 3 A.M., posturing before the television cameras, Judge Larwell’s opposition had conceded. The race was over. And now the judge’s wife could once again enjoy the dignity of being Mrs. Larwell and not Nell Larwell, as the newspapers—opposition and otherwise—had insisted on calling her. During the campaign, you had to endure almost anything—that is, you did if, in the modern way, you joined in the fray alongside your husband.


  Halfway through the campaign, when things began to seem uncertain for the judge and she had to begin climbing on platforms and making a spectacle of herself, she realized who were the two most sympathetic figures in American public life. They were Bess Truman and Mamie Eisenhower. Clearly, those two had hated it all as much as she had. They were women of “some background,” like herself. And like herself, they had recognized their duty and had carried on. Everyone had said that she, unlike them, must have known what to expect, coming as she did from a political family—having even once, as a child, lived in the “musty old mansion.”


  But in her papa’s day, it had been different. In those days, a candidate’s wife stayed at home with her family, went her usual social rounds, got her bills paid on time. The intrusions of television and the pressures from PR men had not existed then. It had been very different. Mrs. Larwell’s mother, as first lady of the state, had said that the principal adjustment she had had to make was to the ever-present sense of living beyond her means. Yes, in those days the family of a successful politician had to learn to live like rich people. Nowadays, they had to learn to live like—like show people!


  


  With the sheet still over his face, Judge Larwell stirred in his bed. He became aware of the silence in the house and aware that it was being imposed for his sake. He had not got to bed till after 6 A.M. Suddenly he threw back the sheet, to see what time it was now. The window shades were drawn, and so he had to put on a light to see the face of the clock. Then, when he saw what time it was, it didn’t seem to matter. He reflected only that he couldn’t have imagined he would really sleep so soundly after last night. When he was leaving the hotel, someone asked if he were not going to get up to catch the morning television reports. They simply weren’t able to believe that he would want to sleep through such a morning.


  On the bedside table, he read the notes he had scribbled to himself as he was getting into bed. “Oh, Lord!” he exclaimed, reaching for the telephone. But the telephone was dead, of course, being off the hook downstairs. He jiggled the instrument several times. Then suddenly none of it seemed so all-fired urgent. Besides, Jake Ransom, the PR man, and Miss Ledbetter and Billy Henderson and his son-in-law Joseph would go on looking after things, as they had throughout the campaign. The great trick had been turned. They had won! Now he could hold the world at arm’s length for a few hours—the very world he had been courting yesterday. Now he could relax for a while.


  Yet suddenly it was the silence of the house itself that seemed real to him above anything else and that demanded his full attention. Somehow, he felt he couldn’t bear it, could never bear silence of that sort again. Pulling on his robe, he went into the hall and listened for some sound of life. Hearing none, he moved on to the head of the stairs. Still only the silence, the unspeakable, intolerable silence of this private house. All at once he threw back his head and called at the top of his campaign-roughened but still powerful voice: “I—am—hun—gree!”


  Mrs. Larwell appeared in the doorway from the living room and stood at the foot of the stairs. She was smiling up at him. It was a good sign if he was hungry. It meant he had not fixed his mind on her yet. The cook could give him his breakfast—or lunch—and she could finish paying last month’s bills. “I’ll tell Nola you’re up,” she called. “Would you like to have her bring you something on a tray?”


  “I would not,” he replied, clearing his throat. Then, striking a Napoleonic pose, slipping his hand inside his plaid robe and dropping his chin onto his bare chest, he intoned, “The governor does not choose to eat alone.”


  Mrs. Larwell laughed obligingly. She recognized his elated mood and knew, of course, that that was what she could have expected today. “All right,” she said. “Is it breakfast or lunch you want?”


  “Half and half,” he announced solemnly from the head of the stairs, still holding the pose and fixing her with a simulated frown.


  “Very well. I’ll tell Nola. And while you get yourself dressed, I’ll finish a little job I’ve begun in here.”


  Mrs. Larwell turned back to the living-room doorway. There were not many governors-elect, she reflected, who could and would sleep till two on this day. It was very healthy and youthful of him to be able to do so. She had known without asking, of course, what he would want to eat—tomato salad, a ham sandwich and scrambled eggs, with perhaps dry cereal for dessert—and she had known, as well, that he would not want to eat alone. Moreover, she knew that he would wish to get fully dressed before going downstairs. It was one of his old-fashioned, formal traits that he would never go down in his nightclothes. She was glad of that, too, because now it would allow her a few more minutes to work on her bills and perhaps even get started on a letter to one of her two old aunts. Her personal correspondence was, as a matter of fact, in worse need of attention than her bills.


  But she was hardly through the doorway and in the living room before she heard him call again. He simply called her name: “Nell!” She heard him clearly, but at the far end of the long living room her little spinet desk beckoned to her. No, not the desk itself so much as the stack of bills with their address panes, and her own business envelopes in the half-open drawer, and the checkbooks spread out on the surface of the desk, and even the tiny roll of stamps and her own stick-on return addresses. They held out their arms to her, like so many little children.


  But Mrs. Larwell knew where her first duty lay. She knew that some secretary could take care of her personal bills and even her personal correspondence in the future. The small satisfaction of writing those checks and scratching the bills off her list was not important. What difference did those bills make? She heard the voice at the top of the stairs asking, “Do you know where my new tattersall shirt is? I want to wear it with my blue suit.” Yes, some secretary would have to take care of her personal bills in the future.


  


  Presently she was walking quickly up the stairs. And she was wondering, Would it come now? Would he speak to her now of his appreciation for her joining in the campaign when she had hated it so? She stopped for a moment and then went to the kitchen to put the telephone on the hook and to tell Nola that Judge Larwell was ready to eat something now. Then she started upstairs again. And again the question filled her mind: Would it come now? How she longed to postpone the moment when he would try to speak to her of it! How she dreaded the moment! And yet she could not say why she did.


  When she got upstairs, she found him rifling through the drawers of the big, old-fashioned chiffonier that had once belonged to her father. He was going through it like a burglar looking for money or jewels hidden among the clothes.


  When she went into the room, he faced her momentarily in the wide mirror above the chiffonier and asked in a suspicious voice, “Where is it?”


  “Where’s what, dear?”


  “The new tattersall shirt you bought me. I’ve decided that’s what I ought to wear today—and with the blue suit.”


  “It’s on the closet shelf, where I always put your new shirts.”


  He started toward the closet. He had already removed his robe and the top to his paisley pajamas. He now wore only the pants, which were tied with a drawstring around his narrow hips and over the sizable, low, and rather assertive belly he had developed in recent years. His narrow hips and long legs made him still look decidedly athletic, despite his belly, and in his present garb he looked like anything but his wife’s idea of a governor of the state. Seeing him still in that wide mirror made it all too easy for her to remember how her father had appeared at such moments.


  Her revered papa would have stood before her in a dark silk dressing gown, or if she had, as a little girl, burst into the room unexpectedly, she might have found him in his billowing white nightshirt, clipping his mustache before the mirror. That was how a governor should look in the privacy of his bedchamber. Yet here was this youngish-looking man, who, though already a grandfather, still played tennis and handball and sailed his own sloop on the reservoir lake. And whereas Papa had grown his mustache to make himself look old enough to be governor, her husband had often, during the campaign, gone about with his stomach sucked in, so that he would look even more boyish than he naturally did.


  And in the chiffonier mirror, Mrs. Larwell saw herself, still a good-looking woman, who had kept her figure (because it was required of her) and whose pancake make-up and frosted hair deceived some people into thinking she was perhaps fifteen years younger than she was and certainly fifteen years younger than she sometimes felt. They were a handsome-looking pair, no doubt about it, and that was what politics demanded of you nowadays. It was a far cry from the way it once was, and a far cry from the way she had imagined it would be if ever her husband should occupy the gubernatorial chair.


  She followed him to the closet, where he had pulled the new shirt from the shelf and was removing the pins. She took out his navy-blue pinstripe suit and began flicking off particles of lint. This was the sort of thing she liked doing for him. No matter how many servants she might have, she liked looking after his everyday needs, and as long as he was practicing law and later when he was on the bench, she had liked listening to his accounts of his courtroom battles and of the judgments he had to make—liked it especially when he said or implied that she was not really supposed to follow or understand all he told her.


  Now she handed him the blue suit and took from him the shirt and the four round-head pins he had already pulled out of it. She placed the pins, points first, between her lips and proceeded to extricate the other pins from the folds of the shirt. Then, with all the pins between her lips and after removing the tissue paper and cardboard liner from the collar, she gave the shirt a good shaking, as if to shake out all its stiff newness. She eyed it critically and mumbled through the pins: “Mibb-ee I sh’ld give thizz crisses a few strocks wi’ th’ i’on.”


  Her husband understood her perfectly. Talking with pins in her mouth was something she had always seemed to relish. He glanced over his shoulder at the shirt she was holding up and shrugged. “I wouldn’t bother,” he said. He had laid his suit on the big double bed and was once again looking over the memoranda he had written himself last night, at the bedside table. “The phone is off the hook downstairs,” he commented, in a relatively unconcerned tone.


  “No,” she corrected him. “I put it back on just before I came up.”


  “Ah,” he said, with somewhat more interest, and he reached for the receiver. But then he shrugged again and didn’t take it up.


  She methodically and with evident satisfaction—even pleasure—unbuttoned the shirt buttons for him, even those at the cuffs. She was placing the shirt beside the suit on the bed when suddenly she changed her mind. “No,” she mumbled, still through the pins. “I b’lev I’ll j’st touch it up.” She took the shirt and turned to go across the hallway to the little sewing room, where her ironing board was kept set up. There was an ironing board in the basement laundry and another in the kitchen, but she was a woman who would always have to have an ironing board of her very own and have to have it handy. She left him still standing at the bedside table, pulling a white undervest over his head.


  The iron had to be plugged in and warmed up before she could begin pressing the creases out of the new shirt. Draping the shirt over the back of a straight oak chair, she moved toward the sewing machine. Her sewing machine was even more important to her than her iron and was always kept open, with only a little square of India print thrown over it as protection against dust. She moved toward the sewing machine now with the intention of sticking the pins, which she still carried between her lips, into the big strawberry pincushion there.


  Instead, however, her attention was caught by several skirts and dresses of her own that were lying on the cutting table nearby. They had been lying there for many weeks, and her purpose had been to shorten the hems. One of her daughters had said to her once, “If you became Queen of England, you would still take up your own hems.” And the other daughter had added, “Yes, and wash out your own bathtub.” On that occasion, as on others, she had quoted her own mother to them: “There are some things that a lady will always do for herself.”


  She noticed that on the tweed and flannel skirts she had already marked with chalk where the new hem was to be folded. Inadvertently, almost, she took up the brown tweed skirt and, using the pins she held in her mouth, began pinning the new hem in place. Just as she had taken the last pin from her mouth, she heard a familiar creaking sound and realized that the iron was ready for use. She hesitated a moment, holding the warm woolen material between her thumb and forefinger, enjoying the sensation, relishing the feel of its texture on her fingertips. Then she stuck the last pin firmly into the skirt and moved directly to the more urgent business of ironing her husband’s new shirt.


  She finished with the iron after only two or three minutes. But when she had removed the electric plug and hung the shirt on a hanger, her attention was caught once again by the skirts to be hemmed. Returning to the cutting table, she could not resist taking up a paper of pins and continuing to pin the hem of the brown tweed.


  When she had it in place all around, she held the skirt to her waist and observed it in the long mirror on the closet door. It was shorter than the skirt of the dress she wore, but it was the fashionable length this year. She had been conscious all through the campaign that her skirts were a little longer than was fashionable; but since she was on the platform so much, she thought it more becoming to a woman of her age to wear them somewhat longer than fashion prescribed. But now that the campaign was over, of course, she would feel free to conform to feminine fashion once more.


  Putting aside the tweed skirt, she took up a gray flannel skirt, and hardly knowing what her fingers were doing, she began pinning the hem in place. Her fingers functioned rapidly and with great precision in such work, and she had got nearly halfway around the hem when suddenly the door from the hall was pushed open and Judge Larwell strode into the room. He had on his blue trousers, was wearing his shoes; he had even shaved.


  “Ah,” he said, seeing his shirt on the coat hanger beside the ironing board.


  She raised her eyes, though continuing to push the pins into the soft flannel, and she said, “I’m sorry. Were you waiting for it? I got involved in this. Does it look all right, the shirt?”


  “It looks great, but you shouldn’t have bothered.” As he was getting into the shirt and moving back toward the door to the hall, he asked casually, “What are you doing there?”


  “Oh, I’m just pinning up these hems. I’m going to whip them in today. This has all been lying here for weeks.” She glanced up to see him standing in the doorway with his eyes fixed on her.


  Suddenly lowering his eyes, instead of letting them meet hers, he began slowly buttoning his shirt. Even before he spoke, she perceived that he was irritated. “Couldn’t you get someone else to do that?” he asked.


  “Silly, I like doing it. Taking up a few skirts is nothing.”


  “It’s time-consuming, though—that sort of little job is. One has to learn to delegate such work,” he said.


  Then he was gone from the doorway. And it was as though he had given her an explicit order to put down her sewing and follow him. Also, it was somehow as though she were working in an office somewhere, as though she had been widowed and had had to go to work in a man’s world and would have to try to forget that she had brought up two children and try to forget—that is, try not to “dwell upon” the fact—that she had known those many happy years of keeping house and entertaining for and being cherished by an affectionate husband.


  As she left the sewing room, she gave one glance backward. The room seemed unreal to her quick glance, like a room she was remembering fondly if somewhat indistinctly from a long-ago childhood. She felt a lump in her throat. And then she laughed at herself. Why, what were a few skirts to her?


  


  When she went back into the bedroom, he accused her frankly of trying to avoid him this morning.


  “This afternoon, you mean,” she said, laughing at him. And she went over and kissed him, saying, “How silly can a governor-elect be?”


  He returned her kiss and smiled a shamefaced smile.


  But as they went down the stairs, arm in arm, she wondered if she hadn’t, after all, been avoiding him. Because now she was consciously dreading it again, the moment when he would thank her for her part in the campaign. When would it come? Or perhaps he was going to spare her. Oh, what did she mean by such silly nonsense? she asked herself. Yet the possibility that he was not going into the matter lifted her spirits almost magically.


  She began to chatter about the three newspaper photographers who had been perched all morning, like three big birds, on the fenders of cars across the street, and about how everyone knew the judge had vowed, win or lose, to sleep all day on the day after the election, and about how faithfully Joseph, their son-in-law, had been guarding the front door, greeting people who came but turning them away. Now, she said, they must make Joseph come in and have brunch with them.


  In the breakfast room, she found that Nola had places set for three. Somehow overlooking this obvious fact, she called through the kitchen doorway for Nola to set additional places for herself and Joseph.


  “Yes’m, I already have,” replied Nola cheerfully.


  “Oh, yes, I see you have.” And Mrs. Larwell detected in her own voice an absurd, resentful note. She ought to have been glad, she told herself, that the cook could guess she and Joseph would wish to have a bite while the judge ate. But she was so keenly, so painfully aware of being out of touch with the operation of her own kitchen and household that she had a silly, silly sense of being superseded. Nola had even sent Horace, the yardman and chauffeur, who had been guarding the back door, around to the front porch to invite Joseph to come in.


  And presently Joseph appeared, his face flushed from being out in the autumn weather all morning and his manner all smiles and congratulations.


  “List, oh, list!” began Joseph, sitting down at the breakfast table. “Really, you would hardly believe how many important folks have tried to force their way past me this morning. Ah, I could tell thee a tale!”


  Joseph was considered quite literary and had even helped the judge with the wording in a good many of his speeches, though Mrs. Larwell was not always sure that his additions and corrections were beneficial. Sometimes in the middle of a speech, she had recognized Joseph’s words on the judge’s lips, and somehow from that point on, the speech would not ring true to her. Her own father had never allowed anyone to tamper with his speeches, and to him the very idea of hiring a ghost writer—an idea the judge had recently been entertaining—would have been abhorrent.


  Still, Joseph was a loyal admirer of the judge’s, and that had to be appreciated. The other son-in-law, out in California, was an engineer and was openly scornful of politics and politicians. But Joseph had been at the judge’s side throughout the campaign, had been there, in fact, at times when his mother-in-law had thought he ought to be at home with his pregnant wife. During these same months, the daughter in California had also been pregnant, and the engineer had given this as their excuse for not coming home for the election. Well, at any rate, Joseph had not slept at all last night and had been on the front porch this morning, protecting the judge’s well-earned right to rest.


  “You just couldn’t believe,” Joseph said now, “how little consideration some of these fellows show for a man who has fought the hard campaign you have, or how little respect, in fact, they have for the office of governor of this state. I really don’t believe I could have kept them out if those two troopers hadn’t been there with me. One newspaperman pretended he had a note to you from Senator Brice, and when I asked to see the note, he just laughed in my face and walked away—wadding up the paper and stuffing it in his pocket.”


  The judge laughed pleasurably at Joseph’s reporting of this last little incident. “Well, I’m afraid that’s how it’s going to be from here out,” he declared. “The campaign was nothing to how it will be now. I’ll be needing you all the way, Joseph. I don’t know what your title will be, but I’ll be needing you to keep such fellows off my back.”


  “Oh!” exclaimed Mrs. Larwell, interrupting suddenly. “I should think your secretaries and the state troopers together could do that, without taking up your own son-in-law’s time.”


  There was an asperity in her words that she had not intended should be there and that seemed to draw her husband’s attention entirely away from Joseph. She saw him drop his eyes from Joseph to the plate that Nola had just set before him and then lift them to her own face. It was a trick of his she had often observed in the past. She had observed that, in any conversation, he seldom moved directly from one important subject to another. That is, there was always an effort to prevent your detecting the mental associations he made or the logic of his transitions. She had always acknowledged to him that he was too subtle and too deep for her; but there were moments when she had consciously to conceal from him her knowledge of his depths and subtleties.


  “Nola!” she called over her shoulder, turning her face away from him and toward the kitchen. “Give us luncheon forks, please, and not these big dinner forks. Nola!” But there was no answer from the kitchen.


  “Nell, darling, I don’t—” began the judge.


  But she pretended not to hear him. Although she and Joseph, as well as the judge, had already been served, she snatched the forks from beside their plates. And rising from her chair, she set out for the kitchen. Nola was nowhere to be seen. After serving them, she had no doubt stepped to her room for a moment. Or she might, so far as her mistress knew, have put on her hat and coat and left the house forever! That was how little Mrs. Larwell felt she knew of what her own cook might do nowadays.


  “Nola!” she called again. And the silence she got for answer somehow made her think of the names of other cooks she had had over the years. She was tempted, almost, to stand there calling their names: “Minerva! Gertrude! Maybelle! Clara!” Nola seemed no less someone out of the past than they.


  But realizing that her husband and her son-in-law were waiting for their forks, Mrs. Larwell scurried back through the breakfast room and into the dining room. She went there to fetch the luncheon forks. But where were they? She had pulled open the top, shallow drawer of the buffet and found that they were not in their accustomed place. Where could Nola have put them? It seemed incredible that she no longer knew where her own flat silver was kept.


  She was tempted, almost, to return to the breakfast room and announce that Nola and the flat silver were missing. Instead, when she opened the swinging door and saw her son-in-law and her husband waiting there without forks, she quickly crossed over and put one of the dinner forks in Judge Larwell’s hand.


  He accepted it but simultaneously seized her free hand in his own. “Thank you,” he said gently. “Thank you for the fork, my darling, and thank you for everything else.” She saw him glance across the table at Joseph and heard him say, “She’s been a wonderful campaigner, hasn’t she, Joe?”


  She knew his glance at Joseph meant nothing, and yet she had a sense of discovering a conspiracy between them. Only, of course, it wasn’t merely between them. The whole world, somehow, was conspiring against her. She could feel the blood draining from her checks. It seemed she might actually faint.


  “I never saw anything like it,” Joseph was saying as he wrested his fork from her. “Boy, what a campaigner she turned out to be! The timid, reserved little Mrs. Larwell! I’ll never forget that night at Lawrenceburg when the rest of us sat there tongue-tied, how she stepped up to the lectern and began: ‘I plead guilty to the soft impeachment!’ Until that night, I hadn’t known my pretty little mother-in-law had such powers of rhetoric.”


  “It was a quotation I used,” Mrs. Larwell said in a whisper, her voice trembling. She was remembering that wretched moment at Lawrenceburg, when it had seemed anything would be better than the silence. Someone in the crowd had called out a phrase used in one of the opposition papers that morning: “The genteel judge.” She had felt he was being attacked for the decent good manners she had always encouraged in him. And this had happened on the very first night he had been able to persuade her to sit on the platform.


  “What I won’t soon forget,” the judge was saying, “is the sight of her shaking hands with that line of mill workers at Cedar Point. When those old codgers and those young roughnecks, who had been heckling me only fifteen minutes before, saw who they were going to shake hands with, they came flocking from all over the plant.” The judge held on to her hand now and gave it a series of squeezes as he spoke.


  And it really was as if she were out there in the rain at Cedar Point again, wearing her rain hat and raincoat and shaking hands with all those young boys and old men. While she had stood there in the rain, it had come over her that there were no middle-aged men among the mill hands. There were only smooth-faced young boys, mixed with young boys who had at some point turned into rough-faced old men. Her heart had gone out unreservedly to those young boys and those old boys.


  And afterward, at home that night, the memory that there had been no middle-aged men among them had touched her. But what had troubled her most, when she was alone that night, was the realization that she had shaken their hands with a genuine cordiality and she was not capable of a professional cordiality. She had acted on her real feelings, and the result was that the persons she had deceived that day were not the mill hands but her husband and her son-in-law and Miss Ledbetter and Jake Ransom and Billy Henderson.


  “My darling Nell,” the judge was saying now, still holding her hand and, though Joseph was present, addressing her in a language and tone that he had always heretofore reserved for their private exchanges, “my darling, you do have powers I never suspected you possessed. I owe you a debt that I can never repay, and the bad part is that I have no doubt that you will go on increasing that debt of mine so long as we live.”


  Mrs. Larwell burst into tears. With her own dinner fork clutched in one hand and with the judge holding on to her other hand, she began heaving and sobbing, the contorted features of her face completely exposed.


  Now the moment had come. She had known how it would be without knowing she knew. What she had dreaded, what she had known to expect (without knowing she knew), was that his expression of gratitude would be but an expression of his desire, his will, that she not now discontinue her public role. Tears quite literally flooded her eyes and flowed down her cheeks. It was as though, quite literally, some dam within her had burst. She knew that there was no turning back and no answering him.


  As he came to his feet and looked directly into her eyes, she felt a flash of hatred for him. She remembered his saying to Joseph at some point in the campaign, “Do only small favors for others on the ticket, and ask only large ones.” She hated him—but only for the one moment. She loved him; he was her life. But her life would be changed now. The world was changed now, however, and it was only that she must change with it. Everybody had to change with the times. And it was her duty to him to change. Politicians no longer had to learn to live like rich people; they had to learn to live like show people. Somehow, she would learn.


  The judge had his arms about her, and Joseph had come around to her, too. They were calling her a perfect darling. They were touched that she should shed tears over his expression of gratitude.


  Beyond Joseph’s tear-blurred silhouette, she had an even more blurred glimpse of the kitchen and saw that Nola had returned and was in command there. Drying her eyes and cheeks on a napkin the judge had handed her, Mrs. Larwell said, “I’m being so silly. How silly can a woman be? The wife of the governor-elect! This should be the happiest day of our life, and I shouldn’t spoil it with tears.” Looking at her son-in-law, she said, with a baffled smile, “Many are called but few are chosen.”


  “Wonderful!” replied her literary son-in-law.


  Then, to her husband, she said, “I’m through with crying now.” And she went up on her toes and kissed him on his clean-shaven cheek.


  Then the three of them sat down to their brunch, busying themselves with their large dinner folks. And it seemed to the wife of the governor-elect that she was quite literally through with crying, that she might never shed another tear as long as she lived.


  First Heat


  


  HE TURNED up the air conditioning and lay across the bed, wearing only his jockey shorts. But it didn’t stop. Two showers already since he came in from the afternoon session! Showers had done no good. Still, he might take another presently if it continued. The flow of perspiration was quite extraordinary. Perhaps it was the extra sleeping pill he took last night. He had never been one to sweat so. It was rather alarming. It really was. And with the air conditioner going full blast he was apt to give himself pneumonia.


  What he needed of course was a drink, and that was impossible. He was not going to have a single drink before she arrived. He was determined to be cold sober. She would telephone up from the desk—or from one of the house phones nearby. He always thought of her as telephoning directly from the desk. Somehow that made the warning more official. But she did always telephone, did so out of fear he might not have his regular room. So she said. He knew better, of course. Married for nearly fifteen years, and at home she still knocked on doors—on the door to his study, on the door to the bathroom, even on the door to their bedroom. She even had the children trained to knock on doors, even each other’s doors. Couldn’t she assume that since he knew she was on the way, knew she was by now wheeling along the Interstate—doing seventy-five and more in her old station wagon—couldn’t she assume that whatever kind of fool, whatever kind of philanderer she might suspect him of being, he would have the sense to have set matters right by the time she got there? But what rot! As if he didn’t have a problem, as if he needed to make one up!


  He could hear his own voice in the Senate Chamber that afternoon. Not his words, just his guilty voice. Suddenly he got up off the bed, pulled back the spread, the blanket, the top sheet. He threw himself down on his back, stuck his legs in the air, and pulled off his shorts. They were wringing wet with his damnable perspiration! He wadded them into a ball and, still lying on his back, still holding his legs in the air, he hurled the underwear at the ceiling, where it made a faintly damp spot before falling to the carpeted floor. And she—she would already know what his voice in the Senate Chamber had said. (His legs still in the air.) And knowing how the voting went, know who betrayed whom, who let whom down, who let what bill that was supposed to go through intact be amended. It would all have been reported on the local six o’clock state news, perhaps even with his taped voice uttering the words of betrayal. She would have picked it up on the radio in the station wagon just after she set out, with her evening dress in a suitbox beside her. Maybe she would even have turned back, feeling she just couldn’t face certain people at the mansion reception tonight . . . or couldn’t face him.


  Now—only now—he let his legs drop to the bed, his feet coming down wide apart on the firm, first-rate-hotel mattress. And he threw out his arms, one hand palm upward landing on each pillow of the double bed. He would relax, would catch a quick nap. But a new charge of sweat pressed out through every pore of his skin, on his forehead, on his neck, in the soft area just above his collarbone, from the exposed inner sides of his thighs and his ankles, from the exposed armpits and upper arms and forearms, from the palms of his hands and the soles of his feet. He felt he was aware of every infinitesimal modicum of sweat that was passing through every pore of every area of his body. Somehow it made him feel more utterly, thoroughly naked than he had ever before felt in his entire life. Yes, and this time the sweat came before the thought—just a little before the thought this time. The thought of what he had done and left undone concerning the amendment, said and left unsaid concerning the amendment, the thought of the discrepancy between his previously announced position and the position he finally took on the floor, all thought of that seemed something secondary and consequential to the sweat. Perhaps he was ill, really ill! Perhaps it was only a coincidence that this sickening sweat had come over his body. But no, he was not that sort—to claim illness. One thing for certain, though, the sweat was already like ice water on his skin.


  Now he would have to get up and dry himself off again. There was a scratching sensation in his throat. He even coughed once. He would have to turn down the air conditioner. And he would have to find something else to focus his mind on. After all, he had not betrayed his country or his family. And not, God knew, his constituents. Was it only old man Nat Haley he was worrying about? He had agreed to support Nat Haley’s waterways bill, had been quite outspoken in favor of it. The newspapers all over the state had quoted him. And then, yesterday, he had received promises from other sources, promises so much to the interest of his constituents that he could not resist. By God, it was the sort of thing he—and she—had known he would have to do if he stood for the legislature and got elected, the sort of thing he would have to face up to if he went into politics, where everybody had said he ought not to go. He and she had looked each other in the eye one day—before he ever announced—and said as much . . . Well, at the last minute he had agreed to support the very amendment which Nat Haley had said would be ruinous, would take all the bite out of his bill. But Nat Haley was, himself, the damnedest kind of double-dealer. Even he had observed that. Ah, he was beginning to know politics. And he was beginning to understand what “everybody” had meant. Old Nat Haley was well known for the deals he arranged and didn’t live up to. Everyone knew about Nat Haley. Nat Haley wouldn’t have hesitated to fight this bill itself if he had discovered, even at the last minute, that that was to his advantage.


  Who, then, was he betraying? And it wasn’t a bill of any great import, either.


  He sat up and swung his feet over the side of the bed. His hand came down briefly on the moisture his body had left on the otherwise starchy hotel sheet. He glanced backward and saw the wet shadow of himself that his perspiration had left there, and he turned away from it. But as he turned away from his silhouette on the sheet, there he was, in all his nakedness, in the large rectangular mirror above the dresser. And there he was in the mirror on the open bathroom door. He reached to the floor and took up a bath towel he had dropped there earlier and began drying himself—and hiding himself. He stood up and went over his body roughly with the towel; then, his eyes lighting on the mirror on the bathroom door, he wadded up the towel, just as he had the jockey shorts, and hurled it at the door. It came right up against his face there! And when it had fallen, he realized that this time it wasn’t—as so often—his face in the mirror that offended him. He didn’t care about the face. He knew it too well and what its every line and look meant. The body interested him as never before, or as it had not in years. For a moment, it was like meeting someone from the past, someone he had almost forgotten—an old friend, and old enemy. It was—almost—a young man’s body still; he was not forty yet and he exercised as much as he ever had and ate and drank with moderation. The body in the door mirror and in the large mirror over the dresser had good tone, was only a little heavier about the hips than it had once been, and the arm muscles were really better developed than when he was twenty. Taking in the different views he had of the body in the two mirrors he recalled that as late as his college days he had sometimes shadow-boxed before mirrors, usually wearing his ordinary boxer shorts and imagining they were made of silk, with his name, or some title, like The Killer, embroidered on them in purple or orange letters. He didn’t smile over the recollection. But neither did he take any such stance before the mirrors now. The body in the mirrors was tense, as if prepared to receive a blow; and he looked at it objectively as a painter or a sculptor might, as a physician might. He observed features that particularized it: the modest island of dark hair on the chest, which narrowed into a peninsula pointing down below the navel and over the slightly rounded belly, almost joining the pubic hair above the too-innocent-looking penis; the elongated thighs; the muscular calves; the almost hairless arms; the shoulders, heavy and slightly stooped. Presently, his interest in himself seemed entirely anatomical. And all at once it was as though his eyes were equipped with X-rays. He could see beneath the skin and under the flesh to the veins and tendons and the ropelike muscles, the heart and lungs, the liver, the intestines, the testicles, as well as every bone and joint of the skeleton. And now it was as though a klieg light—no, a supernatural light—shone from behind him and through him. Only when at last he moved one foot, shifting his weight from one leg to the other, did the flesh and the covering skin return. Had it been a dream? A vision? It seemed to him now that he was not naked at all, or that this was not the nakedness he had sought when he removed his clothes. At any rate, his body had ceased to sweat.


  He stepped back to the bed and lay down on his side, his back to the mirrors. He experienced momentary relief. It was as though he had seen beyond mere nakedness of body and spirit, had looked beyond all that which particularized him and made his body and his life meaningful, human. Was that the ultimate nakedness? Why, it could just as well have been old Nat Haley’s insides he had seen. And he did relax now. He closed his eyes . . . But then it came on again. Only this time there was no sweat. There was just the explicit dread of that moment—soon now, soon—when he would open the door to her. And he thought of how other, older politicians would laugh at his agonizing over so small a matter. They would know what a mistake politics was for him. Or perhaps they would know that, like them, he was made for politics. Wasn’t this merely his baptism—in betrayal? In politics the ends were what mattered, had to matter. In politics that was the only absolute. If you were loyal to other men, you were apt to betray your constituency. Or did he have it all backward? No, he had it right, he was quite sure. And for that very reason, wasn’t the state Senate as far as he would go and farther than he should have gone? Friends had warned him against state politics especially. His father had said to him: “You are the unlikeliest-looking political candidate I have ever seen.” But it was a decision she and he had made together, and together they had agreed that one’s political morality could not always coincide with one’s private morality. They had read that somewhere, hadn’t they? At any rate, one had to be prepared to face up to that morality . . . And now, though he felt chilled to the bone, the sweat came on again. He rolled over and reached for the towel on the floor, forgetting he had thrown it at the mirror. As he got off the bed, the same hand that had reached for the towel reached out to the wall and turned down the air conditioner. He went into the bathroom and got a dry towel and came back drying himself—or those two hands were drying him. He stopped before the long mirror on the bathroom door, the hands still drying him. He remembered something else his father had said to him once when they were on a fishing trip at Tellico Plains. He had gone for a swim in the river and stood on a rocky slab beside the water afterward, first rubbing his chest and his head with a towel and then fanning his body with it before and aft. His father, watching the way he was fanning himself with the towel, said, “You do cherish that body of yours, don’t y’?” But what mistaken notions his father had always had about him. Or perhaps it was only wishful thinking on his father’s part. Perhaps he had only wished that kind of concern for him. Ah, if only his body had been his great care and concern in life—his problem! And no doubt that’s what his sweating meant! He wished it were only a bodily ill!


  He wasn’t, as a matter of fact, a man who was given to lolling about this way with no clothes on—either at home or in a hotel room. And it occurred to him now that it wasn’t the sweat alone that had made him do so today. As soon as he had walked into the room and closed the door after him he had begun pulling off his clothes. It seemed to him almost that the sweat began after he had stripped off his clothes. But he couldn’t definitely recall now whether it had begun before or after he got to the room. At any rate, he wasn’t sure it had begun before. Had it? Else, why had he undressed at once? . . . He lay down on the bed again and his eye lit on the black telephone beside the bed. The first thing some men did when alone in a hotel room, he knew, was to take up the telephone and try to arrange for a woman to come up. Or that was what he always understood they did. The point was, he should have known. But he—he would hardly know nowadays how to behave with such a woman. He would hardly know what to say or do if one of those hotel creatures came into the room. Or would he know very well, indeed! Yes, how simple it all would be. What a great satisfaction, and how shameful it would seem afterward. How sinful—how clearly sinful—he would know himself to be. There the two of them are, in bed. But suddenly there comes a knock on the door! He will have to hide her. His wife is out there in the passage. The baby-sitter came a little early. And the traffic was not as bad as she had anticipated. With the new Interstate, a forty-mile drive is nothing. He has no choice. There isn’t anything else he can do: he will have to hide the creature. She will have to stand naked, her clothes clutched in her arms, behind the drapery or in the closet, while he and his wife dress for the reception at the governor’s mansion. If only— But the telephone, the real, black telephone was ringing now, there on the real bedside table.


  He let it ring for thirty seconds or so. Finally, he took up the instrument. He said nothing, only lay on his side breathing into the mouthpiece.


  “Hello,” she said on the house phone. He could hear other voices laughing and talking in the lobby.


  “Hello,” he managed.


  “I’m downstairs,” she said, as she always said, waiting for him to invite her to come up. He invited her now, and she replied, “Is everything all right? You sound funny.”


  “Everything’s fine. Come on up,” he said. “You’ve heard the news?”


  “I listened in the car, on the way over.”


  “I changed my mind about the bill,” he said.


  “Is Mr. Haley pretty angry?”


  “He cut me cold on the Capitol steps afterward.”


  “I thought so,” she said. “He was icy to me when I passed him in the lobby just now. Or I imagined he was.”


  “Do you still want to go to the reception?”


  She laughed. “Of course I do. I’m sure you had good reasons.”


  “Oh, yes, I had good reasons.”


  “Then, shall I come on up?”


  “Do,” he said. But then he caught her before she hung up. “Wait,” he said. He sat on the bed, pulling the sheet up about his hips. “Why don’t you wait down there? Why don’t we go somewhere and have a drink and something to eat before we dress for the reception? I’m starved.”


  “I’m starved, too,” she said. “I had only a very small snack with the children at four-thirty.”


  “I’ll be right down,” he said.


  “Well—” She hesitated and then said, “No, I have my dress with me in a box—my dress for tonight. I want to put it on a hanger. I’ll be right up—that is, if you don’t mind.”


  “Good,” he said.


  “And why don’t we have our drink up there? It might be easier.”


  “Good,” he said.


  As soon as he had put down the telephone, he sprang from the bed, ran to pick up his sweaty shorts and the sweaty hotel towels. He began straightening the room and pulling on his clothes at the same time, with desperate speed. She must not find him undressed, this way. It would seem too odd. And if he should begin the sweating again, he was lost, he told himself. He would have to try to ignore it, but she would notice, and she would know . . . She would be on the elevator now, riding up with other members of the legislature and their wives, wives who had also come to town for the reception at the mansion. He felt utterly empty, as though not even those veins and tendons and bones and organs were inside him. Wearing only his shirt and fresh shorts and his black socks and supporters, he stopped dressing long enough to give the bed a haphazard making up. He yanked the sheet and blanket and spread about. Fluffed the pillows. But if only there were something besides his body, something else tangible to hide. Catching a glimpse of himself in the mirror, he blushed bashfully and began pulling on his trousers to cover his naked legs. While slipping his tie under his collar, he was also pushing his feet into his shoes. As he tied the necktie and then tied the shoe strings, he was listening for her footsteps in the passage. Oh, if only, if only—if only there were a woman, herself covered with sweat, and still—still panting, for him to hide. What an innocent, simple thing it would be. But there was only himself . . . When the knock came at the door, he was pulling on his jacket. “Just a second,” he called. And for no reason at all, before opening the door he went to the glass-topped desk on which lay his open briefcase and closed the lid to the case, giving a quick snap to the lock. Then he threw open the door.


  It was as though only a pair of blue eyes—bodiless, even lidless—hung there in the open doorway, suspended by invisible wires from the lintel. He read the eyes as he had not been able to read the voice on the telephone. They were not accusing. They had done their accusing in the car, no doubt, while listening to the radio. Now they were understanding and forgiving . . . He bent forward and kissed the inevitable mouth beneath the eyes. It too was understanding and forgiving. But if only the mouth and eyes would not forgive, not yet. He wanted their censure, first. She entered the room, with the suitbox under her arm, and went straight over to the closet. He held his breath, his eyes fixed on the closet door. She paused with her hand on the doorknob and looked back at him. Suddenly he understood the kind of sympathy she felt for him. Is it the lady or the tiger? her hesitation seemed to say. If only, she seemed to say with him, if only it were the lady, naked and clutching her bundle of clothing to her bosom. But he knew of course, as did she, it would be the tiger, the tiger whose teeth they had drawn beforehand, whose claws they had filed with their talk about the difference between things private and things political. The tiger was that very difference, that very discrepancy, and the worst of it was that they could never admit to each other again that the discrepancy existed. They stood facing each other well and fully clothed. When, finally, she would open the closet door, they would see only his formal evening clothes hanging there, waiting to be worn to the governor’s mansion tonight. And while he looked over her shoulder, she would open the cardboard box and hang her full-length white evening gown beside his tuxedo. And after a while the tuxedo and the evening gown would leave the hotel room together and go down the elevator to the lobby and ride in a cab across town to the governor’s mansion. And there was no denying that when the tuxedo and the evening gown got out of the taxi and went up the steps to the mansion and then moved slowly along in the receiving line, he and she, for better or for worse, would be inside them. But when the reception was over and the gown and the tuxedo came down the steps from the mansion, got into another taxi, and rode back across town to their empty hotel room, who was it that would be in them then? Who?


  In the Waiting Room


  


  ANYONE COULD tell at a glance the two men were brothers. They entered the hospital waiting room speaking to each other in whispers, each holding his hand up to his mouth in precisely the same way. The family resemblance was unmistakable—in their features, in their gestures, even in the way middle age was beginning to tug at their under-chins. Yet their dress was so different—one’s was so roughly rural looking, and the other’s so very elegantly urban—their haircuts were so different, and even the trim of their fingernails, that they seemed in a sense hardly creatures of the same species. It was nine-thirty of a Saturday morning, and these two brothers were entering the seventh-floor waiting room of the Methodist Hospital. Outside the row of windows on the west side of the room was spread the city of Memphis. In the relatively near distance out there—some eight or nine blocks away—could be seen the brick and concrete towers of the Baptist Hospital and Campbell’s Clinic and the U.T. Medical Complex. Two miles or so beyond that were the half-dozen near-skyscrapers of downtown Memphis, stretched out along the Mississippi River. And beyond the river, as everyone in the waiting room that morning so well knew, lay Arkansas.


  In the row of chairs by the windows sat a red-haired man and two women. The man, in plaid jacket and gray trousers, was seated between the women. On his left was his sister, also with red hair, not so coppery as the man’s and showing more signs of gray. The diminutive brown-haired woman on his right was his wife. All three figures were twisted halfway round in their chairs and were gazing silently out the windows. Against the north wall of the room sat a solitary young man. He was dark haired, dark eyed, dark suited—he even wore dark, pointed-toe shoes. But his socks were white, and he wore a white shirt, open at the collar. When the two whispering brothers entered the room, the threesome at the window turned around. The diminutive brown-haired woman straightened herself in her chair and asked formally, “How do you find Mrs. Schofield this morning? Did she rest well?”


  “She’s resting nicely,” said the brother in khaki trousers—the brother, that is, in a homeknit-looking cardigan sweater and high, waterproof shoes.


  The other brother smiled politely and shrugged. He clearly meant, by so doing, to qualify or even contradict his brother’s favorable report on the patient in question. This patient, Mrs. Schofield, was the two brothers’ aged mother, who at eighty-seven lay in a coma in a private room down the corridor. The old lady’s heart had begun weakening two days before, and in the time since her two sons were called to her bedside her condition had continued to worsen almost hourly. Except that he knew his brother so well, it would have been difficult for the brother in the navy blue suit (and neatly knotted houndstooth tie) to understand how anyone could describe their mother as “resting nicely.” Only his brother’s country timidity, he reasoned, and his country way of wishing to answer all questions as briefly as possible could account for the falsehood he uttered in reply. And when they had seated themselves on a vinyl couch against the south wall of the waiting room, the blue-suited brother, after carefully adjusting his tie and straightening his ribbed socks, returned the little, brown-haired woman’s courtesy, asking, “And how is your father-in-law this morning?”


  


  Before the woman could answer, both her red-haired husband and her red-haired sister-in-law spoke for her, spoke almost in one voice and in identical words: “He is still a very sick man.” Then the two of them smiled at the rather comical coincidences of their expressions, as also did the two brothers. Apparently the coincidence struck the solitary young man, across the room, as being somewhat more than merely comical. He gave a sudden, loud guffaw.


  Everyone’s attention was at once turned on him. But in the split second required for them to direct their eyes toward him, all sign of mirth vanished from his sallow face. He gazed at them solemnly for a moment with his dark eyes. Then casting his eyes downward and lifting one rather delicately formed hand, he pretended to brush imaginary crumbs from his shirtfront. Since he was the only decidedly young person in the room, the others were able to view his indiscretion with some degree of tolerance. Perhaps they felt especially indulgent toward him since, on the preceding two days, he had always appeared there in the company of an old woman, an old country woman whom he had permitted to describe herself to the group—without any protest on his part—as his “grandma” and whom he had suffered to pat him on the knee or hand each time she did so.


  The other occupants rested their eyes on the young man for a moment, and then they looked at each other. Regardless of this interruption, the brown-haired little woman who had first spoken now seemed determined to give her own account of her father-in-law’s condition this morning. She sat on the edge of her chair and gave two little clicks to the latch of her handbag. “Dad Jones is still a very sick man,” she said in an almost challenging tone to her red-haired husband and sister-in-law. And in a politer tone to the two brothers on her right she added, “But he is doing as well as could be expected after surgery—and at his age. We are quite hopeful that he may improve as the day goes on.” Her husband and her sister-in-law looked at her in open dismay. Her optimistic tone seemed almost to make them laugh. And presently they both seemed to be trying to get the attention of the brother in the houndstooth tie, to try to convey to him with a look the true state of their father’s health: that he most probably would not last the day. Yet they only looked; they said nothing.


  


  All of these people had made each other’s acquaintance during the previous two days. All—even the young man seated against the north wall, as well as his grandma who was this morning in the sick-room with her husband—all were aware of a number of important factors in their lives which they had in common. Each of them, for instance, had originated either on a farm or in a small town in Arkansas; the family of each had been generally dispersed and were for the most part living in Memphis, if not still farther afield; and the old persons to whose bedsides all had now come were alike not only in being regarded as “terminal cases” but in having been brought to the Methodist Hospital after long sojourns in Memphis nursing homes. This body of information about the experience they shared had not been revealed or comprehended by them in any one dramatic moment or in any series of such moments, and no open acknowledgment of it had been made at all. But during the previous days the information had been gradually and quietly assimilated. A general knowledge had been repressed, most probably, because—until this morning—there had always been present some non-Arkansan, some hospital visitor whose patient was not critically ill, some visitor whose patient was not his eldest and nearest of kin, someone, that is, who could not have understood all they had in common.


  Just when the two brothers and the threesome at the window had completed their exchanges—both spoken and silent—and the brothers had seated themselves across the room from the solitary young man, there appeared in the doorway an old country woman. Although she was wearing a different dress this morning and had combed her long, gray hair more carefully than yesterday, even having inserted additional combs where her hair was thickest above the temples, she was recognized by all as the young man’s grandma. She was a remarkably tall old woman with narrow shoulders and wide hips, and she wore an ankle-length dress made of a bright cotton print—orange splashes mixed with greens and blues. One could not fail to notice the dress before noticing the face of the woman, its colors were so bright and cheerful and the cut of the material so generous. She glided into view there in the wide doorway like a boat with a calico sail. Instantly upon seeing her, the dark young man turned his face away to the window. It was as though he were embarrassed by the sight. But the old woman, whose eyes were as bright a blue as any of the several blues in her dress, seemed momentarily unaware of her grandson, or at least no more aware of him than of the others present. “Well, I declare,” she said, still hesitating in the doorway and looking about the room. “Well, I declare. It’s nobody but us this morning.”


  Her declaration was made in a rather high-pitched drawl, and her voice revealed more astonishment than joy over the company she found. Her blue eyes, in their deep sockets, darted glances about the room as though she were made uncomfortable by her discovery, or even were frightened by it. Remaining just inside the doorway, it was almost as if she had stumbled into the wrong waiting room and might yet turn back. While she stood there, her glance did not once settle upon the figure of her grandson. Finally she repeated in a more composed and cheerful tone: “Nobody but us this morning.”


  As if in response to this somehow, the brother in the sweater and khaki trousers came quickly to his feet. “Now, don’t go getting up for me,” the old woman protested. “There are plenty of chairs and to spare.” But the red-haired man by the window stood up also. And after him the brother in the houndstooth tie—he smiling, and somewhat shame-faced. Surely their getting up this way in a public room, for a woman whose very name they barely knew, was something none of them would have done if there had been anyone besides themselves present.


  And now the wife of the red-haired man was about to inquire about the old woman’s husband. She had parted her lips to speak when the old woman herself interrupted. “I do declare,” she said, looking at the men who were still on their feet, “I never saw so many gentlemen in one room.”


  At this, her grandson came also to his feet. As he did so he continued to gaze toward the window without having once looked at the old woman in the doorway. It was as if he could not bear to look at her, or perhaps did not dare to. Yet it was his rising that the old woman seemed to find altogether overwhelming. The moment he was on his feet, she rushed to his side and threw her great frame down in a chair beside him. “Now!” she said. “Now you all sit down. Standing up that way you make me feel a thousand and one years old.” She sounded positively silly, almost flirtatious. “I may have one foot in the grave,” she went on, “but I still don’t want everybody putting themselves out for me.”


  When the men had sat down again, this old country woman bent forward in her chair and fixed her gaze on the view outside the window, the view from which her grandson had still not taken his eyes. “I do declare it’s a beautiful day out there, despite everything,” she said. “And hasn’t this Memphis grown into a fine city. It don’t seem like the same place it used to be. Not the town I came to fifteen years ago when my own mamma was sick and I had brought her over here to Methodist. Nothing looks the same. It’s a lot prettier place now, though. Tall skyscrapers over yonder, so flat and white, like fence posts coming up so straight out of the green trees. Like so many tombstones, they are—like whitewashed tombstones in some nice, well-kept cemetery.”


  The old woman’s burst of loquacity seemed to be amazing to everybody present. Even her grandson stole a glance at her. Yesterday and the day before—at moments when self-introductions were being made—she had rather grudgingly explained to the other visitors who she was, who her grandson was, and who their patient was, but for the most part she had remained grim faced and silent—no less so than her grandson, himself. And now they all suddenly recognized in her a different type, recognized the garrulous old country woman whom you could not afford to encourage lest she bend your ear all day.


  Except for the stolen glance from her grandson, there was no response whatsoever to her lyrical outburst about Memphis. After a moment or two of silence, during which she and the young man beside her continued to gaze out the window, she spoke again. “We had a right bad time with Mr. Glover last night,” she said, her eyes still on the skyline. “He took a notion he would leave the hospital!”


  The brother in the cardigan sweater exclaimed, “You don’t say!”


  The tiny, brown-haired woman sat forward in her chair, and her eyes widened noticeably.


  The others looked at her with obvious interest. Who “Mr. Glover” was there could be no doubt. Even if they had not known the woman’s own name was Glover, her listeners could have told from her old-fashioned, wifely tone that it was her husband she referred to. “I was nodding in my chair beside his bed,” she went on, “when all of a sudden the poor patient in the other bed commenced shouting, ‘He’s out of his head. You better watch him!’ Or maybe he said, ‘He’s out of his bed.’ That’s what woke me. And there was Mr. Glover leaning against the bed, so weak he couldn’t hardly stand, peeling off his nightshirt. I hauled myself up out of my chair and asked him, ‘And where do you think you’re going, Mr. Glover—naked as a bluejay?’ . . . ‘I want my clothes,’ he said, like some bad little old boy.” The old woman rolled her eyes around the room almost kittenishly. She put her hand to her mouth and seemed to laugh into it.


  The young man turned and faced the old woman. “And how come you didn’t send after me,” he asked, “if he was making trouble?”


  “Oh, you’ve done your share of sitting with him,” she answered solemnly, and then she addressed the room: “He sat with his granddaddy many an hour of the night when he was a little fellow coming along.”


  “Only to keep you from having to, I did,” the young man growled, turning back toward the window.


  “Many’s the night he’d rub his granddaddy’s legs and his back and hear his complaints about how he hurt. You see, he stayed home with us till he was near twenty, and then, of course, he went off to New York City where he’d always said he was going to go when he got to be grown.” She had told all of this to the room only yesterday, but it had been something dragged out of her then. “You see, we raised the boy ourselves,” she continued with enthusiasm. “His daddy left his mamma and cleared out before the little fellow was a year old, and his mamma—she was mine and Mr. Glover’s only child—died on us, passed away not two years after her husband left. The boy stayed with us till he was near twenty, and after he left, it wasn’t long till Mr. Glover became more than I could handle. He was in such pain we didn’t reckon he’d last long, so we put him over here in Mrs. Hooker’s Nursing Home, all against his will, poor fellow.”


  The young man crossed his legs and recrossed them again. “You mean I did,” he growled. And then he addressed the room: “The old guy was killing her, what with her having to wait on him hand and foot around the clock. He would have done her in, in no time. Besides which, he saw his end was coming on and, clear as anything, he wanted to take her with him was what he wanted. It was me that put him in the nursing home.”


  “Why, yes, indeed,” agreed the old woman. “This here boy has sent back the money for it every month that comes. And to begin with he came back to Memphis from New York City and rented a car and came over and carried Mr. Glover over here to Mrs. Hooker’s Nursing Home.”


  The young man crossed his legs again, his white socks flashing. “Against his will,” he said with emphasis. “He hasn’t ever forgave me for it, either. Against her will, too. It’s a nice, clean place, though, where we put him, and they know how to look after him. He’s been there four years, and she’s still alive because of it.”


  “Which Home is that you’ve had him in?” asked the red-haired man. “Did you say ‘Hook’s’?”


  “No, Hooker’s,” supplied the blue-suited brother, who, like the others, had been following the young man’s words with interest. “It’s one of the better small, private Homes here in Memphis.” He was a practical businessman and spoke with authority, as someone who had made his way in the Memphis world. Since they were touching on a subject he had made a study of for the benefit of his mother, he felt his information ought to be shared and perhaps made some use of. “I believe they have an excellent staff—mostly colored—and that the food is mighty good. Their rates are just above average.”


  “Well, that’s one I don’t know about,” said the red-haired man. It was a subject on which he considered himself also somewhat of an expert. “We’ve learned a good deal about them through trial and error,” he said, smiling meaningfully at his sister. “And we’ve come to the conclusion that they’re all about the same.”


  “Yes,” said his sister. “Give a little here, take a little there, they’re all about the same. We should know.” She, too, felt that here was a subject she could speak on with some authority and therefore with some pleasure. “We’ve had Father in five places, all told. Each one was a little more expensive than the one before, and, as for Dad, he’s liked each one we’ve put him in a little bit less than the one before. But they’re all about the same.”


  “Relatively speaking, yes,” said the blue-suited brother. He gave a depreciative laugh. “Anyway, however good they are, the old folks don’t seem to like them. It’s like sending a child to his first day of school. He doesn’t like it and doesn’t know it’s for his own good.”


  The old woman shifted in her chair and cleared her throat. Then she ventured, “Well, some places, they tell me, are pretty bad.”


  “Ah, listen to her,” said the young man, his eyes still on the window.


  “Oh, yes, some of them are bad,” said the little wife by the window. “They treat the patients—the residents, that is—like animals, as Dad Jones used to say of one place, like animals in a zoo. And I heard of another place where they regularly get the patients’ medicine mixed up.”


  Her husband came in quickly: “That’s only hearsay. And, furthermore, Dad was ever one of the worst to complain. We knew that as children. Even Mamma used to say so. You’ve just known him as an old man.” He looked at his sister out of the corner of his eye, and they smiled at each other rather sadly, shaking their heads. His wife was overly indulgent, they seemed to say.


  But his wife, diminutive and bright-eyed, cocked her head to one side, and as she spoke, it was hard to tell if she was addressing her husband and sister-in-law or the whole room. “I don’t care,” she began, “but if we had kept him at home out at Marianna, he would have been happier, he wouldn’t have been so bored. Why, his mind—his memory—began to slip as soon as he left our house.”


  Her husband looked at her sympathetically and said, “My father stayed with us, and she was working herself to the bone for my father. She was ruining her health. People ought not to do that, not even for their own kin.”


  “We could have—” his wife began again.


  But the old woman interrupted. “I don’t mean to say that Mrs. Hooker’s Home is one of these bad ones.” She was clearly afraid she had offended her grandson and wished to placate him. “Not at all. They’re nice folks there, and we were lucky to have gotten Mr. Glover in, and mighty lucky, I say, to have the money to keep him there. It’s only because the boy here worked so hard in New York City and sent the money back. But, still, I do hear some of the places are pretty bad.”


  “They’re all fairly well regulated nowadays,” said the blue-suited brother reassuringly. “The quality of the meals may differ, and the beds, I suppose. I made a thorough investigation of them before we decided on one for Mother.”


  The other brother, in his cardigan and waterproof shoes and khaki trousers, had sat with his eyes lowered during most of this talk. Even now he kept his eyes lowered to his hands, and he spoke in a gentle and rather cultivated voice that contrasted with his rough clothing. “There’s only this,” he said. “There’s only this: there are things that cannot be foreseen about these arrangements we make.” He lifted his eyes and let his gaze move from face to face around the room. All his timidity seemed gone suddenly. “We had an uncle, our mother’s brother—an old bachelor like me, he was—who farmed Mother’s home-place near Jonesboro after our grandfather over there died. When he, our uncle, got too old to farm and to look after himself he went into a—a church-run rest home over near Pine Bluff. What they have to do in those church-run places, you know, is sign over all their property and savings to the church home, which agrees to care for them for the rest of their lives and even give them pocket money. Well, they put him in a nice private room and all that. It was fine for the first six months or so. But he came down with a chest cold. They transferred him to an infirmary, put him in an open ward. When he improved, he found he had to be put on a waiting list in order to get his private room back. He was a timid, country fellow and hated being in the ward with all the talkative, retired preachers who were there. He got worse again, and he died before he could ever get his private room back.”


  There was a general head-shaking around the room and a chorus of “oh”s. But the blue-suited brother, who was clearly distressed by being reminded of this family story, said, “They treated the old fellow badly, no doubt about that. But there are nearly always two sides to such a story. Uncle Ned never made a good trade in his life. Yet he was very independent; he didn’t consult any of the family about his agreement with that place. And Lord knows it wasn’t much he had to sign over to the church. They didn’t make any fortune off him, that’s certain.”


  “Your Uncle Ned’s story,” said the red-haired man spiritedly, as though he were in an argument and had thought of a good point, “is just the opposite of the way the story usually goes. Your uncle went into the home of his own volition and then regretted it. My father, for instance, didn’t want to go, but it became a way of life with him. Much as he has complained and moved from one place to another, he has almost never talked about coming back to us or to my sister here. He’s made friends in each place and he keeps up with which ones are still around and which have passed on.”


  “Well, as for our mother in there,” said the blue-suited brother, gesturing toward a door down the corridor, “she has made some awfully good friends and had some awfully gay times since she settled at Mount Holly, which is where she had been for three years until now. When my wife and I went by to see her on her last birthday, they were having a big birthday party for her. Why, those old ladies and old gentlemen at Mount Holly had loaded her with presents, and they were all having the time of their lives. And it isn’t just the social life Mother has liked at Mount Holly. There are charity patients—even there at Mount Holly. Mother likes giving them money and clothes. And there are even colored patients, and Mother has found it interesting working out relationships with them. In fact, it is a regular microcosm of life there—not at all a feeling of isolation. I don’t believe Mother has had an unhappy day since she settled at Mount Holly.”


  “You mean, don’t you,” said the brother in khaki, “since we settled her there.”


  “Yes, we had a time making her decide to go,” agreed his brother in blue. “They couldn’t keep her on the farm. Someone would have to be forever preparing special meals for her and driving her in town to the doctor. And here in Memphis—well, my teenage children would have driven her out of her head. And my wife and I go out—”


  “That night,” his brother interrupted, “when we went to her on the porch and told her we had made the arrangements at Mount Holly, she took her cane and got up and walked without help down into the yard. She wouldn’t let us help her or go with her. She went by herself. And we had a hard time finding her, later. But when we did, she laughed at us and asked if we thought she was going to do harm to herself. She kept up her teasing ways with us and her good sense of humor through it all. I still think sometimes she might have got along all right there at the farm with me.”


  His brother threw back his head and laughed. “Without another woman on the farm? Why, you’d have had to get married, Harry, so you’d have a wife to look after her.” Now his laughter was hearty. “You know you wouldn’t have liked that, Harry,” he said.


  The little, brown-haired wife said quite earnestly, “Yes, a woman on the place might really have made it so you could.”


  The bachelor brother smiled and shrugged. And the married brother said, “Anyway, she gave us quite a scare that night and, believe you me, she enjoyed it. She’s always been a great tease.”


  “But that’s nothing,” said the red-haired man. “That’s nothing at all to what Dad put us through. You wouldn’t have thought a man with his diabetic neuritis, a serious heart ailment, and nearly blind and deaf could put us through what he did. At home, he kept firing the nurses we got him, as if to prove he didn’t need looking after. And he swore that the nurses beat him whenever all the rest of us were out of the house. If the nurses beat him in his own house, he meant for us to understand, what would they do to him at a nursing home? And then finally he proposed marriage to a neighbor woman who came in to see him, promising to leave her all his property but forgetting she already had one invalid husband to take care of.”


  There was a general tittering in the room. Then the red-haired sister-in-law asked, “But what is one to do with old people?” It was quite as though this woman and the others present didn’t understand that the old woman sitting against the north wall was really an old person who might soon be facing the fate of those they were discussing. But even the old woman, herself, didn’t seem to realize it. With the others, she nodded sympathetically to the rhetorical question. “What is one to do?” the red-haired woman repeated. “We all wish they didn’t have to end their days in those places. But I live in an apartment two blocks from here, with my husband and our two children. My husband and I both work downtown, and we’re not young anymore. Yes, you know, the trouble is this: the old people’s young people are not really young people any longer. And in every case there are the problems of the home and children. Life has to go on even where there are old people and sick people. The problems become just too much. It’s not like the old days on an Arkansas farm where there was plenty of time and plenty of room, and plenty of hands, too, for taking care of the old folks.”


  “Let me tell you,” the dark young man joined in abruptly, turning his eyes from the window to the room. “Yes, just let me tell you. The day when I came back home in the car I had rented in Memphis, I found my grandma here looking like a skeleton. She was worked to the bone and about fit for burying, herself. I ran up the stairs to my granddaddy’s room and told him to get out of that bed, told him I knew a doctor in Memphis could cure him and get rid of all that pain in his legs and back, and told him I had the money to pay for it, which part was true. I don’t think I’d ever told him a lie before in my life. And no matter how many lickings he had give me, I hadn’t ever hated him before, either, because in his way he was good to me when I was coming along without any dad of my own—as good to me in his way as she was. I hadn’t ever hated him until I saw what skin and bones he had wore her down to. But I knew I had to hate him, that day, and lie to him till I got him over here to Mrs. Hooker’s Home, where I had already paid a hundred dollars down for him. He and I left Grandma crying in the hall there at home and I lied to him all the way over to Memphis and even after he was in his room at Mrs. Hooker’s. Oh, he found out in a few days that the doctor who came to see him was nothing special and that we weren’t going to let him go home again. But it was too late then. He hasn’t ever forgave me, either. He hasn’t ever forgave me. Every time my grandmother would go to see him there at Mrs. Hooker’s, he would spend half the visit railing against me. But I had to do it, and I’m not a bit sorry. You can’t let them take the living with them!”


  “No,” said the blue-suited brother.


  “No, you can’t,” agreed the red-haired man. And his sister nodded her head in agreement.


  “But it’s hard,” said the little wife.


  “I’ve found it hard,” said the brother in the sweater, “to think of her over here in Memphis when she might have been at home where she wanted to be.”


  The old woman shifted her weight in her chair. Then she cleared her throat and spoke openly to the whole company: “The worst part of it, though, you haven’t come near touching on. And like as not, you haven’t known it yet. When Mr. Glover climbed out of bed last night, and I asked, ‘Where do you think you’re going, naked as a bluejay?’ he answered me, ‘Get me my clothes, woman. I’m leaving out of here. It’s going home, I am.’ ‘All right,’ I say to him, ‘but not tonight. It’s some fifty miles to Mark Tree. We’ll have to wait till sun-up.’ I could see he was half out of his head and only meant to humor him. But he said, ‘It ain’t your home I want to go to, woman. I want to go back to Mrs. Hooker’s Home. That’s where the only friends I have are. That’s where they know how to give me some ease.’ ”


  Suddenly the old woman, looking out across the room to the doorway, began to shed silent tears. The young man looked up as if he had never before in his life seen her cry and so didn’t know what to do. And it was just then that he and the others saw the nurse who had appeared in the doorway. Silently, the plump little nurse crossed the tile floor and stood before the old woman. “He’s gone,” the nurse said in a voice full of gentleness.


  “What do y’ mean?” asked the young man, coming to his feet.


  “All right, ma’am,” said the old woman to the nurse. Then she said, “Sit down, son.” The nurse glanced at the young man, then turned and left the room without looking at anyone else.


  “Does she mean—he’s dead?” asked the young man, sitting down beside the old woman.


  “No, son, he died somewhile earlier,” she answered gently. “The nurse means they’ve taken his remains out and to the undertaker’s.”


  “How come you didn’t say so? How come you sat here talking?”


  Now it was only the old woman who stared out the window. She raised her two hands to her head, lifted the combs that were just above her temples and replaced them more firmly in her thick hair. “You wouldn’t have liked being in there,” she explained. “Now, you know you wouldn’t,” she said, as if remonstrating with a child. “Not seeing him the way he was at the last. And I didn’t want you to.” As she rose from her chair, her eyes seemed dry again. And as she turned from the window to leave the room, all the men stirred in their chairs. She motioned to them to remain seated. But her grandson came up beside her and placed his arm about her waist and walked beside her through the doorway. The other occupants of the room glanced at each other briefly, and then everyone watched the grandmother and grandson pass down the corridor toward the elevator, the old woman seeming to lean more of her weight on the young man with every step. Just as the doors slid closed, those in the waiting room saw the young man withdraw his arm from his grandmother’s waist, turn away from her in a sudden, spasmodic motion, and quickly throw both his hands up to his face. Then they saw the old woman, herself, turn her back to the young man and hide her own face in her hands.


  The people left in the waiting room looked at each other in silence. When the elevator doors were closed, not a word was spoken among them, not between brother and sister, husband and wife, or brother and brother. Perhaps until the moment just before the elevator doors closed they had imagined that the death of the old man would draw his old wife and his grandson closer together, would draw them into closer understanding of each other, that for all their differences they would be of comfort to each other now. As they sat gazing down the corridor toward the closed elevator doors, they could only have been reflecting on how near the end was for their own old ones. And for them was there any other prospect than that view down the corridor and the image of the pair on the elevator, turning their backs to each other, burying their faces in their hands, each giving way to his own sobs and shedding his own tears for what he had not been able to do and all he had had to do?


  Dean of Men


  


  I AM NOT unsympathetic, Jack, to your views on the war. I am not unsympathetic to your views on the state of the world in general. From the way you wear your hair and from the way you dress I do find it difficult to decide whether you or that young girl you say you are about to marry is going to play the male role in your marriage—or the female role. But even that I don’t find offensive. And I am not trying to make crude jokes at your expense. You must pardon me, though, if my remarks seem too personal. I confess I don’t know you as well as a father ought to know his son, and I may seem to take liberties.


  However, Jack, I do believe that I understand the direction in which you—all of you—think you are going. I have not observed college students during the past thirty years for nothing. And I must try to warn you that I don’t think even your wonderful generation will succeed in going very far along the road you are on. In this connection, Jack, I want to tell you a story. I can tell you this story because even its most recent chapters took place a very long time ago and because the events of the story don’t matter to anybody any more—neither to me nor even to your mother. When you see your mother next, and if you repeat what I am about to tell you, she may give you a somewhat different version. But that doesn’t matter. It is not really a story about your mother and me or about our divorce. Perhaps it is a story about you and me—about men.


  I think I know the very moment to begin: I was fitting the key into the lock of my office door on a Sunday morning. I was in such a temper I could hardly get the key into the keyhole or turn the lock after it was in. There had been a scene at our breakfast table at home; I had left the house. It was a strangely upsetting scene for me, though commonplace enough on the surface. Your sister Susie, who was no more than nine or ten then—she couldn’t have been more, since you were still in a high chair, Jack—Susie had interrupted what I was saying across my Sunday morning grapefruit to your mother. And I had fired away at her, “Don’t interrupt grown-up talk, Susie!”


  That sounds commonplace enough, I know. But Susie persisted. “Why don’t you go up to the trustees, Daddy,” said she, advising me on how to behave in the professional crisis I was then in, which I had been discoursing upon across my grapefruit. “Why don’t you go up to them and tell them how the president of the college is being unfair to you?”


  Somehow I found her little remark enraging. I fairly shouted across the table, “For God’s sake, Susie, shut up. Don’t try to talk about things you don’t understand or know a damned thing about!”


  


  I blush now to think that I ever spoke so to a child, but I remember it too well to try to deny it. You see, Jack, I had actually already resigned my appointment at that college where I was then teaching, which was the very college where, a dozen years before, I had been an undergraduate. I had resigned just three weeks before, in protest against an injustice done me, and I had not yet received a definite commitment from the place where I was going next year. (I did receive the commitment the following day, as I recall, but that is not really significant.) Anyhow, I was feeling like a fool, I suppose, to have brought into the world three children for whom I might not be able to provide—only two children, actually, though little Maisie was on the way by then. And I was feeling like a fool, I suppose, to have risked their welfare—your welfare, if you please—over a principle of honest administration in a small Midwestern college. I was a very unhappy man, Jack, and there before me was my little ten-year-old daughter seeming to reproach me for my foolishness . . . At any rate, after my second blast at her, Susie had burst into tears and had run from the dining room and out into the yard. Your mother got up from her chair at the end of the table and said to me, “I would be ashamed of myself if I were you.”


  I made no reply except to say through my teeth: “This is too much.”


  Your mother’s words were still in my ears when I shoved open the door to my office at the college. (Marie’s words have a way of lingering in your ears for a very long time, Jack.) Anyhow, I had left the table without finishing breakfast, and left the dining room without any idea of where I was going. And then suddenly I had known. What drove me from the table, of course, were those words of Marie’s that were still in my ears. For, Jack, those were the very words I had once heard my mother speak to my father, and, moreover, had heard her speak to Father at a Sunday breakfast table when he had teased my own sister Margaret till she cried and left the room. “I would be ashamed of myself if I were you,” my mother had said, rising from the table in just the same way that my own wife was destined to do twenty years later. My father bolted from the table, left the house, and went downtown to his office, where he spent the whole of that Sunday. It seemed almost impossible that the incident should be repeating itself in my life. And yet to a remarkable degree it was so, and the memory of where it was my father had taken himself off to told me to what place I must take myself that Sunday morning.


  


  It struck me, just as the door to my office came open, that I had never before seen my office at that early hour on Sunday. I had never, in fact, been in that building where my office was on a Sunday morning—or on the college campus itself, for that matter. It was a lovely campus, on a hill and with trees and with a little river at the foot of the hill, and it was a quite handsome neo-Gothic building I was in. I altogether liked that place, I can assure you. And in addition to my liking the other people on the faculty there, I had my old associations with the place from my undergraduate days. The truth is, I had thought I would settle down there for life, to do my teaching and my writing. It was the third teaching appointment I had had, but in my profession many people have to move around even more than I before they find a congenial spot, Jack. I was not yet thirty-five. I had considered myself lucky to find an agreeable place so early in my career, a small college where I had memories of my youth and where I would be allowed to do my mature work in peace . . .


  But I knew by that Sunday morning that I was going to move on. I knew that by the next fall I would be in some other, almost identical office on some other campus and that your mother and I, with our three children, would be established in another house in another college town somewhere. But when I shoved open my office door, somehow it was not as though it were the door to just any little cubbyhole of an office. It was as if it were the door to my ancestral keep—my castle, so to speak; and I burst in upon my papers, my books, my pictures that morning as if expecting to catch them, my kinsmen—my cousins germane—in some conspiratorial act against me—yes, as though it were my books, my papers, my pictures who had betrayed me. But of course the room was just as I had left it. It was the same, and yet at that hour on Sunday morning it did seem different, too.


  I can see myself there now, especially as I was during the first quarter hour of that long day. I didn’t knock things about or tear up the place as it was my first impulse to do. Instead, after I had slammed the door and latched it, the first thing I did was to go quickly to my desk and turn down the photographs of your mother and Susie and even the one of yourself, Jack. I took the pages of my manuscript and of my typescript which had been in little stacks all over my desk top and quietly stuffed them inside the desk drawers. The books I had been reading recently—my own and those from the library—I removed from the table by my leather chair, putting them out of sight or at least placing them where they would not catch my eye, on the lowest shelf of my bookcase. Then I took down from the walls the four or five prints that hung there, reproductions I had brought back from my Fulbright in Italy, and I set them on the floor with their faces against the wall. If I handled these familiar objects gently, I believe it was just because I had not, after all, found them in active conspiracy against me.


  There was no conspiracy among my books and papers and pictures; but what was perhaps worse, I seemingly had found them all dead—murdered. I felt they were strewn about the room like corpses in the last scene of an Elizabethan tragedy. Dead and murdered, that is, so far as I was concerned. Dead and wanting burial. And so, bending over them, I tenderly tucked them away as if to their last rest. Then I went and half sat, half leaned against the sill of the room’s only window. The Venetian blind there was lowered and the louvers were only half open. I leaned against the sill with my arms folded on my chest and observed the crepuscular light in the room, and I was aware of the Sunday morning stillness. Once again I heard Marie’s voice, and after a moment once again heard my mother’s voice. Presently I recalled my father’s voice too, speaking not through his teeth as I had done that morning, but growling out of one corner of his mouth. I remembered how, as a younger man, I would sometimes wonder about that outburst of Father’s temper on that other Sunday morning. It had seemed to me so unlike him. I used to speculate even, in the most literal-minded way, on how he had managed to occupy himself during the long hours he had spent alone in his office on that Sunday. The scene he had made at his breakfast table—or that my sister Margaret, or my mother had made—suddenly now became very easy for me to understand. Everything fell so easily into place that I felt I had always understood it. My father was a lawyer and a businessman who had lost most of what he had as a consequence of the ’29 Crash. My sister Margaret was already a young lady at the time. She was no little girl like Susie when she sat down to breakfast with Father that other Sunday. She was a good-looking blond girl with wide green eyes, and she had a lovely disposition. She was always cheerful, always saying something clever or making you feel that you had said something clever. Margaret was the oldest child in the family, and I the youngest. But we were very close to each other, and I believe she confided her most serious thoughts to me more often than to anyone else, though surely it was Father she loved best. There was frequently a great deal of banter between her and Father at the table. She was such a well-behaved girl, so puritanical really, that Father would tease her sometimes about leading a wild life and keeping late hours. Mother would say she thought it in bad taste for Father to tease his own daughter about such things and that perhaps he would be putting ideas into her head. But Margaret would laugh at Mother and say that Father’s evil mind made it all the more fun to deceive him. Then she and Father would laugh together in a sort of duet of laughter.


  Margaret was popular with boys and always had a number of serious admirers. But the more serious the admirers were, the more she and Father seemed to delight in making fun of them. I don’t believe Margaret ever imagined she was in love with any of those young men, until the time when Paul Kirkpatrick came along. Paul’s family was one that nearly everybody knew about. They were such very rich people that even the Crash and the Depression hardly affected them at all. But it worried Margaret how rich the Kirkpatrick family was. It worried her, that is, that Paul would some day be rich, that she knew he would be rich, and that he was the only young man she found herself able to love. “I know I really love him for himself,” she would say to me when we were walking in the park together or if we were in her room with the door shut, “but sometimes there seems to be an ugly, suspicious side of me—another person (old, nasty-minded Mag, I call her)—who laughs and cackles at me like a witch and says, ‘I know why you love him so, dear Miss Margaret! You don’t deceive me!’ ” Then Margaret and I would laugh together, rather the way she and Father did. But she was serious, and was worried.


  Perhaps Father worried about it, too—more than I guessed, more than Margaret guessed. Naturally, he would have liked for her to marry a rich man, but there had been so much talk at our house about how hard times were for us that Father may have been afraid Margaret was going to marry into a rich family for his sake. At any rate, he was harder on Paul Kirkpatrick in his fun-making than he had been on any of the other young men. And Margaret went right along with him. They made fun of Paul’s teeth—Margaret called them stalactites and stalagmites; made fun of his too lofty way of speaking, of the way he walked—they said he waddled; even made fun of his baby-smooth complexion.


  Yet, after one of those sessions with Father, when she and I were alone, Margaret smiled at me and said, “You know something? I really think Paul’s very good-looking, don’t you?”


  I told her that yes, I did think so. And it was true. Paul Kirkpatrick was quite handsome. He was an attractive and intelligent young man. But Margaret and Father kept on telling each other how ridiculous he was. It was the summer of 1930. Father was under great tension that summer. It was a year when he suffered one financial blow after another. And he never seemed more tense than when he and Margaret got on the subject of Paul. Sometimes it was very clear that he was prodding and trying to make her come to Paul’s defense. But she never gave an inch. I was certain sometimes, however, from the way she sat smiling at Father that she was on the verge of blurting out that she loved Paul and was going to marry him. For I think my sister Margaret intended to marry Paul Kirkpatrick and would have done so had it not been for the family scene that Sunday morning. I had witnessed Paul’s and Margaret’s embraces and kisses at the side door more than once that summer. And once I saw—or just possibly imagined I saw—a ring with a large stone in Margaret’s purse. Anyway, I remember she came down to breakfast later than the rest of us on that Sunday, and she was fully dressed, which was unusual for anyone at our breakfast table on Sunday. It seems to me that Father had not spoken at the table—he was often silent and abstracted then, though it was not in his nature to be so—he had not spoken until he looked up and saw Margaret sitting, fully dressed, at her place. “Well, you must have a church date with our toothy young friend,” he said to her.


  “He’s coming over this morning,” Margaret said with a smile. “I don’t know about church.” I am quite sure now that she was trying to prepare Father and that Paul was going to “speak” to him that day.


  I saw Mother look at Father, and it seems to me that I heard him swallow, though his mouth and throat were empty. Then, lifting a fork heaped with scrambled eggs, he said, “Why not? It’s just as easy to love a rich one as a poor one, isn’t it, Margaret?”


  I saw the first patches of red appear under Margaret’s ears and then the same red suffuse her entire face. And I saw the tears fill her eyes before the first sob came. When she pushed herself back from the table, Father was still holding the fork with the eggs on it. He put his fork down on his plate without spilling a morsel. But he was as white as the big napkin which his left hand then drew from his lap and threw out upon the table. “My God. My God,” he growled from the corner of his mouth as Margaret ran, weeping aloud, through the living room and then through the hall and on upstairs. And my mother rose at her place and said, “I would be ashamed of myself if I were you.”


  


  How Father occupied himself and what he thought about when he reached his office that Sunday were questions that occurred to me during the very hours he was there, occurred to me even though I was just a boy of twelve at the time. My father was known as “a devoted family man,” he almost never went to his office at night, and if some piece of business called him there on a Saturday afternoon or a Sunday, he groaned and complained endlessly. We knew he had gone to his office that morning, however, because Mother telephoned him after about an hour, to make sure he was all right. She knew about the money worries he had then, of course, and so she was quick to blame his behavior on that. In fact, she went to Margaret’s room and reminded her of “the tensions Father was under” and told her that she must forgive him, too. I suspect that Margaret had already forgiven him. I know that she had telephoned Paul Kirkpatrick and told him not to come that day. Her romance with Paul did not last long after that. The next year she married a “struggling young lawyer” and with him, as my mother would have said, “she has had a good life.”


  No doubt my father wrote a few letters at his office desk, as I did during the course of my Sunday at my office. But probably it wasn’t easy for him to concentrate on letters. I recall that even while I remained leaning against the sill of my office window it came to me that what my father might have thought about in his office, twenty years before, was his own father. For yes, there was a story in the family about a scene that my grandfather had made at his breakfast table, too. I cannot give so many details about it, though possibly my father could have. There are many obscurities about the old story that I can’t possibly clear up and won’t try to. In fact, I don’t know anything definite about the immediate circumstances that led to the scene. Perhaps I never knew them. People in my grandfather’s day disliked admitting they did wretched things to each other at home or that there were family scenes in their families. All of the incident that has come down is that my grandfather, no longer a young man—a man past middle age, standing in the doorway to his dining room with his broad-brimmed felt hat on, hurled a silver dollar at my grandmother, who was still seated at the breakfast table, and that the silver dollar landed in the sugar bowl. There is just the additional detail that my grandmother would allow no one to remove the coin and that that sugar bowl, with the silver dollar buried in the sugar, remained on her pantry shelf as long as the old lady lived.


  I have always imagined that there had been a quarrel between my grandparents about housekeeping money; perhaps my grandfather, who was not much of a family man in the beginning and who lived a big part of his life away from home, among men, and who was known by all men for his quick temper, perhaps he lost his head momentarily. He forgot he was not among men and he hurled the piece of money at his wife as he would have at some man to whom he had lost a bet. He and my grandmother may have had other difficulties between them over money or over other matters. Perhaps it was really a symbolic gesture on his part, as refusing to remove the coin was on hers. He was not a rich man, but then he was certainly not a poor man either, and actually in his day he was quite a well-known public figure. He was in politics, as his father and his father’s father before him were . . . I must tell you something about their politics. They were not exactly small-time politicians. Each one of them, at one time or another during his lifetime, represented our district in Congress. For nearly a hundred years, “we” more or less occupied that seat in Congress. But my grandfather was the most successful and best known of the line and in middle age was elected to the U.S. Senate to complete the unexpired term of an incumbent who had died in office.


  Probably my grandfather brought the special type of politician they all three were to its highest possible point of development, a kind of frontiersman-gentleman politician with just the right mixture of realism and idealism to appeal to their constituents. Today people would no doubt call him a pragmatist. He was known for his elegant oratory on the platform and in public debate and known also for the coarseness of his speech in private debate or in private confrontation with his opponents. (My grandfather’s grandfather had once horsewhipped an opponent on the public square, and his own father had fought a duel.) It was Grandfather’s beautiful oratory and his beautiful voice that got him elected to the Senate. People didn’t care what his stand on tariff or on the silver or gold issue was. They believed he was an honest man and they knew he was a spellbinder. He too believed he was an honest man and he didn’t understand the new kind of urban politician who was coming to power in our state at the time. It may be he was actually betrayed and ruined by the new politicians simply because they were “low-born rascals.” Or it may be he was inevitably betrayed and ruined by them because once a human type is perfected—or almost perfected—it immediately becomes an anachronism and has no place in society. Who can say? He was, at any rate, betrayed and ruined by a low-born man named Lon Lucas, and he never held political office again after that brief term in the Senate.


  


  And now, Jack, I come to the part of the story that I believe it is essential for you to hear. If you have not understood why I have told you all that went before, you will, anyhow, understand why I wish to recount the three episodes that follow.


  What happened to my grandfather’s political career can be briefly summarized. The unexpired term in the Senate, which he was filling out, lasted but two years. When the time came for him to make his race for a full term, he was persuaded by Lon Lucas and others that instead of making that race it was his duty to his party to come home and run for governor of the state. The Lucas faction comprised a group of young men whom my grandfather considered more or less his protégés. In earlier days they had asked countless small favors of him, and no doubt they had done so in order to create that relationship to him. Now they pointed out to him that from another faction in the party there was a man who, though loathsome to them all, was a strong candidate for the party’s nomination for governor, and pointed out that only he, my grandfather, could block the nomination and election of that man. It would be a disgrace to the state and to the party to have such a man in the governor’s chair, they said. Yet the senator could easily come home and win the nomination and the election for himself and could just as easily regain his seat in the Senate at a later time.


  You may well wonder that an experienced politician could be so naïve as to accept that line of reasoning or to entrust his fate to the hands of those ambitious younger men. Neither his father nor his grandfather would surely, under any circumstances, have relinquished that prize of prizes for a politician, a seat in the U.S. Senate. I cannot pretend to explain it. I knew my grandfather only as an embittered old man who didn’t care to have children crawling all over him. But I have to tell you that, within a few weeks after he came home and began his campaign for governor, Lon Lucas and his faction turned on him. Some sort of deal was made with the other faction. No doubt the deal was made long beforehand. Lucas came out in support of the “loathsome man” for governor, and one of the Lucas faction was put up for the seat in the Senate. Very likely there were other considerations also, remunerative to Lon Lucas and company if not to the candidates themselves. Such details are not important here, and I never knew them anyway. But my grandfather was defeated, and he retired from public life to the bosom of his family, where, alas, I cannot say he was greatly loved and cherished.


  He withdrew almost entirely from all male company, seeing men only as his rather limited law practice required him to do. He lived out his life in a household of women and children, a household consisting for many years of his wife, his wife’s mother and maiden aunt, his own mother, who lived to be ninety-seven, five daughters, and three sons. He never allowed himself to be addressed as senator and forbade all political talk in his presence. The members of his household were destined to retain in their minds and to hand down to future generations their picture of him not as a statesman of high principle or even as a silver-tongued orator but as the coarse-tongued old tyrant of their little world. His three sons always feared him mightily and took from his life only the one lesson: an anathema on politics. My father was the only son who would consent to study law and become a member of the old gentleman’s firm, but even he made it clear from the outset that he would not let his profession lead him astray, made it clear to everyone that his interest was not in government but solely in corporation law.


  My father’s guiding principle in life was that he must at all costs avoid the terrible pitfall of politics. He gave himself to making money and to becoming the family man his father had never been. What finally happened to him I must present in a more dramatic form than the summary I have given of Grandfather’s affairs. It would be as difficult for me to summarize the story of Father’s betrayal as it would have been for me to imagine and re-create the precise circumstances under which Grandfather first learned of Lon Lucas’s double-dealing.


  


  When I had opened the Venetian blind at my office window that Sunday morning, I stared out at May’s fresh green grass on the campus for a while and down at the small river, swollen by spring rains, at the bottom of the hill. Then I went to my desk and managed to write two letters to men who had published books on the subject—in “the field”—I was doing my work in. They were perfunctory, polite letters, requesting permission to quote from the work of those men in my own book. When I had sealed and stamped those two letters, I took out another sheet of departmental paper; but it lay on my desk untouched for I don’t know how long, a blinding white sheet that I sat staring at impatiently as one does at a movie screen before the film begins. Finally, I put away my pen but left the piece of paper lying there as if meaning to project upon it the images taking shape in my mind. I saw my father stepping out of the family limousine in front of the Union Station in bright winter sunlight. My mother and I were already out of the car and waiting under the canopy. The Negro chauffeur stood holding the car door open and listening to some piece of instruction Father gave him in passing. Since this was in the earliest days of the Depression, we still lived in the world of limousines and chauffeurs, a world that my father’s business career had lifted us into. A number of years before this he had ceased altogether to practice law, in order to accept the presidency of a large, “nationally known” insurance company for which he had formerly been the chief attorney and which maintained its head office locally. The insurance company was now in serious difficulties, however. The company’s investments were under question. It began to appear that funds had been invested in various business enterprises that seemed hardly to have existed except on paper. Many of these investments had been made before my father’s incumbency, but not all of them. Anyway, the man who had most influenced the company’s investment of funds was a stockholder in the company and a member of the board of directors, Mr. Lewis Barksdale. He was an old school friend of my father’s and had of course been instrumental in electing my father president of the company. It was he alone who would be able to explain the seemingly fraudulent use of moneys—explain it, that is, to the other members of the board—and he alone who could straighten out the snarl that the company’s affairs seemed to be in. And it was this Lewis Barksdale whom we had come to the Union Station to meet at four o’clock on a remarkably bright winter afternoon.


  The Negro chauffeur threw back his head and laughed at something my father said to him, and then Father advanced toward us, wearing a pleased smile. I remember remarking to Mother at just that moment what a fine day it was and reproaching her for having made me wear my heavy coat, in which I was uncomfortably warm. The truth was, I was still irked by Father’s having made me leave a game with a group of boys to come with them to meet Mr. Barksdale’s train, and I was taking out my resentment on Mother. Without looking at me, she replied that it was due to turn colder very shortly and, squeezing my hand, she said, “Why can’t you have an agreeable disposition like your father’s? Don’t be an old sourpuss like me.” Father was still smiling when he came up to us, and Mother asked him, “What is it that’s so funny?”


  “Oh,” he explained, taking Mother’s elbow and escorting us on into the lobby of the station, “when I just now told Irwin not to come inside and fetch Lewis’s bag but to wait right there with the car, he said he couldn’t keep the car in that spot but fifteen minutes and that he was afraid the train might be late. I said to him that if he knew Lewis Barksdale as well as I do, he’d know that the engineer and the fireman would somehow understand that they had to get Lewis’s train out here on time.”


  In the lobby, Father read the track number off the board and then marched us confidently down the concourse to the great iron gate at Track No. 6. Just as he predicted, the train rolled in on time. Father spoke to the uniformed gatekeeper, who let us go through the gateway along with the redcaps, so we could see Mr. Barksdale when he stepped off the train. Father trotted along ahead of us, peering up into the windows of the observation car and then into the windows of the next Pullman. Mother called after him that he had better wait there beside the first Pullman or we might miss Mr. Barksdale. And Father did stop there. But he told me to run on ahead and see if I could get a glimpse of him in the entry of any of the other cars. I said I was not certain I would recognize Mr. Barksdale, but Father said, “You can know him by his derby. Besides, he’ll recognize you.”


  I did run on ahead, looking up into the cars, watching the people who came down the steps from each car to the metal stool that the porter had set out for them. Mr. Barksdale, being a man who had no children of his own, was said to be extremely fond of all his friends’ children. That was why, as the youngest child in the family—and the only boy—I was taken along to meet the train that day. I could vaguely recall earlier visits he had made to us and seemed to remember a sense of his paying special attention to me. Momentarily, I was persuaded that I would remember him if we came face to face. But no man wearing a derby got off the train, and I made out no remotely familiar face in the cars or in the crowded entry ways. Moreover, no passenger climbing down off that train showed any sign of recognizing me.


  When I followed the crowd of passengers and redcaps back toward the iron gate, I found Mother still standing beside the observation car. She said that Father had climbed aboard and was going through all the cars in search of Mr. Barksdale. At last we saw Father step off the first of the day coaches, away down the track. He looked very small down there, and when he waved to us and climbed back on the train I felt a sudden ache in the pit of my stomach. “Mr. Barksdale’s not on the train,” I said to Mother.


  “No, I guess not,” she said. “I was afraid he mightn’t be.”


  Finally, Father reappeared in the entry between the observation car and the next Pullman. “Lewis must have missed the train somehow,” he said as he came down the steps and swung out onto the platform. “Let’s go inside the station. I’m going to telephone New York and see if he’s still there.”


  We found a telephone booth on the concourse just beyond Gate No. 6, but Father had to go inside the station lobby to get enough change to make the call. Mother and I stood beside the booth a long time. “He ought to have waited till we got home to make the call,” she said at last. “I suppose, though, he couldn’t bear to wait.” She and I had just agreed to go into the lobby and look for him when we saw him coming toward us. He was all smiles and was holding up two fistfuls of coins.


  “I got enough quarters to call China,” he said, and seemed to be elated by the feel of the coins in his hands. When he stepped into the booth to make his call, Mother and I moved away some twenty or thirty feet. He must have talked for ten minutes or more. When he came out again, his smile was bigger than before, and he began calling out as he hurried toward us, “Lewis did miss the train! And it was so busy in New York today he couldn’t get a line to call me. He’s coming on an earlier train tonight and will be here by noon tomorrow!”


  


  By noon of the next day, which was Saturday, it was very much colder, and so I didn’t complain about having to wear my coat. I did complain somewhat, however, about having to give up several hours of a Saturday to meeting Mr. Barksdale’s train. Father seemed to understand and was not so insistent upon my going, but in private Mother was insistent and said it was little enough for me to do if it was what my father wished. As we were leaving the house, Father stopped a moment to telephone the station and ask if the train was going to be on time. He had heard a report on the radio that the weather up East had turned bad. But the dispatcher’s office reported that the train was scheduled to arrive exactly on time. In the car, Father said he hoped the dispatcher’s office knew what it was talking about. “Trains on the weekend are often late,” he said suspiciously. When we got to the station, he told Irwin that since the train might, after all, be late, he had better take the car to the parking lot, and that we would come and find him there.


  As we were passing through the lobby, we all three read the gate number aloud from the blackboard, and we laughed at ourselves for it—rather nervously, I suppose. Father had kept silent most of the way down to the station in the car and had left the talking mostly to Mother and me. He began to look more cheerful once we were in the big lobby, and as we passed out onto the concourse he said to Mother under his breath, “Keep your fingers crossed.” As soon as we came out onto the concourse, we could see that the train was already backing up to the gate. “Thar she be!” Father exclaimed with sudden gaiety, and he put an arm around each of us to hurry us along. But at the gate he didn’t ask the gatekeeper to let us go beyond. We waited outside, and through the bars of the grating we watched the passengers stepping down onto the platform. After a few minutes Father said, “I won’t be surprised if Lewis is the last to get off. He hates crowds.” We kept watching until it was obvious that no more passengers were going to leave the train and come through the gate. In what was almost a whisper, Father said to Mother, “He didn’t come. What do you suppose could have happened?” And as we were passing the telephone booth on the way out, he said, “I’ll call him from home.”


  We had been at home about half an hour when I heard him speaking to Mother from the foot of the stairs. She was leaning over the banisters in the upstairs hall. “There have been a lot of complications. Lewis has been getting together papers to bring with him. He says he can clear everything up. He’s coming in on the same train tomorrow.”


  “Wonderful,” Mother said.


  “But I’m not going to ask you all to traipse down to the depot again.”


  “Nonsense. The third time’s the charm,” said my mother.


  At about eleven the next morning Father telephoned the station to ask if the train was scheduled to come in on time. He was told that it would be three hours late. There were heavy snowstorms all over the East now. When Mother came into the big sun room where my sister Margaret and my two other sisters and I were all reading the Sunday paper and told us that snow had delayed Mr. Barksdale’s train for three hours, she glanced out the sun-room windows at the darkly overcast sky and said, “There will be snow here before night, I think.” None of my sisters even looked up from the paper. I imagine I looked up from the funny paper only because I wished to know whether or not I was going to be taken to the station again. Mother saw me look up and said, “Father says you needn’t go with us today, and I suppose he’s right.”


  “I’ll go,” I said. It had occurred to me suddenly that the snow might be falling by that time and that I would like to see how the old gray stone Union Station looked with snow on all of its turrets and crenelations and how the train would look backing into Gate No. 6 with snow it brought in from the East piled all over its top.


  “Well, we’ll see,” Mother said.


  Sometime after two, Mother and Father were in the front hall getting into their coats. I was there too, still undecided as to whether or not I would go along. No snow had begun to fall yet. Father seemed unconcerned about my going or not going. When Mother asked him if he thought he might call the station again, he replied casually that he already had, that the train would arrive as predicted, at three o’clock. He had already buttoned up his heavy, double-breasted overcoat when he added suddenly, “But there’s another call I believe I’ll make before we set out. It might take a few minutes . . . You had better take off your coat,” he said to Mother.


  When he was gone, I asked, “Who do you think he’s calling?”


  “I imagine he’s calling Mr. Barksdale in New York,” Mother said. She didn’t remove her coat, though. She and I said nothing more. We went and looked out at the sky through the sidelights at the front door. After a few minutes we heard Father’s footsteps. When we turned around, he was standing there in the hall, smiling wearily and beginning to unbutton his coat.


  “Lewis is still in New York,” he said.


  “Why in the world?” Mother exclaimed. “What in the world did he say this time?” she asked.


  “He didn’t say anything. I didn’t give him a chance to. As soon as I definitely heard his voice on the wire, I put down the receiver.”


  “What are you going to do?” Mother asked him.


  “There’s nothing I can do. He’s not coming, that’s all. I’ll just have to take it however it turns out now.”


  We didn’t go to the station, of course. And Father didn’t go off to his room to be by himself, either, as one might have expected. He spent the rest of the afternoon with the family in the sun room, reading the paper, listening to the radio, and playing cards. The way he was with us that afternoon, you wouldn’t have suspected anything was wrong. At just about twilight it began to snow outside. And we all went about from window to window with a certain relief, I suppose, watching the big flakes come down and, from the snug safety of our sun room, watching the outside world change.


  Father didn’t telephone Mr. Barksdale again. They had been close friends since boyhood, but I believe they didn’t communicate again for more than twenty-five years. When they were very old men and most of their other contemporaries were dead, Mr. Barksdale took to calling Father over long-distance and they would sometimes talk for an hour at a time about their boyhood friends or about business friends they had had when they were starting out in business. We were glad whenever Mr. Barksdale called Father, because it cheered him and made him seem livelier than anything else did during those last years. He often seemed very lonely during those years, though he continued to have a reasonably cheerful disposition. After the legal difficulties and the embarrassing publicity that followed his being abandoned by his trusted friend, Father led a quiet, uneventful life. He returned to his law practice, and he was a respected member of his firm. But he made no real life for himself in his practice—that is, he seldom saw other members of the firm away from the office, and I don’t remember his ever mentioning the name of a client at home. His real life was all at home, where, as he would point out, it had always been. He and Mother sometimes played bridge with neighbors, and whatever other social life they had was there in the neighborhood where we lived after we lost the old house and could no longer afford a staff of servants. He was an affectionate father, and I rarely saw him in what I would call depressed spirits. Yet how often one had the feeling that he was lonely and bored. I remember sometimes, even when the family was on a vacation together—when we had taken a cottage at the shore or were camping and fishing in the mountains—the look would come in his eye. And one was tempted to ask oneself, What’s wrong? What’s missing?


  


  I don’t honestly know when I decided to go into college teaching, Jack. I considered doing other things—a career in the army or the navy. Yes, I might have gone to Annapolis or West Point. Those appointments were much to be desired in the Depression years, and my family did still have a few political connections. One thing was certain, though. Business was just as much out of the question for me as politics had been for my father. An honest man, I was to understand, had too much to suffer there. Yes, considering our family history, an ivory tower didn’t sound like a bad thing at all for an honest man and a serious man . . . A dozen years after graduation I found myself back teaching in that college where I had been an undergraduate. Physically, it was a beautiful spot and, as I have already said, I thought I would settle down there for life, to do my teaching and my writing.


  After my second year of teaching there I was awarded a research Fulbright to Italy, and so was on leave for a year. You were a babe in arms that year, Jack. I saw the ancient world for the first time with you on my shoulder, and with your mother usually following behind, leading Susie by the hand. Well, while we were in Italy, the old president of the college died of a stroke. He had been president of the college when I was an undergraduate, and I suppose it was he, most of all, who made me feel that my talents were appreciated there. By the time I returned to the campus from Italy, the following fall, the dean of men had been made acting president. Your mother and I smiled over the appointment but made no comment on it to anyone—not even to each other. You see, Jack, although Marie and I still thought of ourselves as being ideally suited to each other then, and still believed ourselves to be very happy together, there were already subjects she and I had had to agree to keep off. One of these—and by far the most important—was my professional career itself, including how I conducted my classes, my role in the department, my stand on various academic questions, and even my possible advancement in rank. We had been in graduate school together—your mother and I—and during the first years of our marriage, before Susie was born, we both had taught at the same institution. It was understandably difficult for her to refrain from advising and criticizing me in matters she considered she knew as much about as I did. When I first began ruling out that subject as a topic for discussion, she became emotional about it. She had wanted to have a career herself, and she had had to give it up temporarily. I had not realized how much her plans for a career had meant to her. But now she accused me of being an antifeminist, accused me of trying to isolate her in the kitchen, even of trying to cut her off from all intellectual life. In time, however, she came to see the matter differently—or seemed to. I think perhaps she tired of hearing other faculty wives talk about their husbands’ professional problems and didn’t want to be like them. At any rate, she and I merely smiled over the news of the dean’s promotion to acting president. His qualifications for such a high place seemed hardly to exist. He was formerly the chairman of the Department of Athletics—that is, the college’s head coach.


  But since I knew that certain trustees and certain senior members of the faculty were on a committee to select a permanent president, I was careful to mention my amusement to no one. When a group of younger members of the faculty came to me, however, and told me that it was generally understood that the committee was going to recommend that the dean be made permanent president, I could not keep myself from bursting into laughter.


  It was on an evening in the middle of the week that that group of young professors came to my house for the very purpose of reporting the information to me. How well I can see them on my front porch, in the bright porch light I had switched on. They were a very attractive and intelligent-looking bunch of men. With their bright, intelligent eyes, with their pipes and tweed jackets, and with a neatly trimmed mustache or two among them, they gave one a feeling that here were men one would gladly and proudly be associated with, the feeling that one had found the right niche in life, that one had made the right choice of career. I remember that, before they came inside, two of them—there were six in the party—stepped back and knocked the ashes out of their pipes on the porch banisters, and that they looked with interest at the porch banisters and then looked up and noticed what the porch pillars were like. As a matter of fact, as they trooped into the hallway and then over into my study, they all of them were making comments of one kind or another on the house . . . This was not so rude of them as it might seem, or I thought it wasn’t. You see, they had telephoned me in advance that they wished to come over and talk to me about a matter. And I understood, of course, that they were too polite and too civilized to come to my house and dive right into a matter of business without making some small talk first. That was not their style, not their tone. Moreover, talk about people’s houses used to be a fair and favorite topic at such a college as that one was, because there one didn’t really own—or even rent—one’s house. All houses occupied by the faculty belonged to the college. The good thing about the system was that the house was provided in addition to your salary, and so one didn’t have to pay income tax on that portion of one’s income. But by and large it was an invidious arrangement. The elderly professors, when they retired, often had no place to go. Further, since the senior professors and the administrators naturally occupied the best houses and one’s rank could generally be deduced from the quality of one’s house, the younger men (and their wives) eyed the houses of their seniors and thought of the circumstances that would make them available. When someone near the top died or retired, practically the entire faculty would move up a house.


  My house was not of course one of the best houses. I was still an assistant professor, whereas most of those young professors who had come to see me were a grade above me in rank. My house, when we moved into it, had in fact been one of the most ramshackle-looking places in the village—one that nobody else would have. I had spent a lot of time and work putting it into the reasonably good condition it was now in. It was upon this fact that my guests were commenting as they came in from the porch that night. And when we had seated ourselves in my study and I had started the coffee brewing, they went on to say that it had been a real advantage to me to have been an undergraduate there, that I had joined the faculty with a knowledge of which houses were basically good houses, that I knew (what no one else could have guessed) how recently the run-down-looking house I moved into had been in relatively good condition. There was some truth in what they said, but they were not of course really serious about it. And I saw of course that they were teasing. I replied that my disadvantage was that the old president knew me and knew I was the only person on the staff who was fool enough to accept such a house.


  They went on from that to speak of how I had known the late president longer and better than they had, and to ask if it was not true that the newest and youngest member of the board of trustees had once been a classmate and a rather good friend of mine. They were speaking of Morgan Heartwell, who had been the richest boy in my graduating class, and who had during the brief years since our graduation gone on to add several million to the millions he inherited. Though I had seen him only two or three times since college, we had become rather good friends during the last term of our senior year and we still exchanged Christmas cards and even brief letters now and then when there was special occasion. Morgan had been elected to the board during the previous year, when I was in Italy. I had written him one of those brief letters, from Florence, saying that I wished to congratulate the other members of the board on the wisdom of their choice. And Morgan had replied briefly that he looked forward to our spending some time together whenever the trustees met at the college.


  The young professors who came to see me were overjoyed when I confirmed the rumor that Morgan Heartwell and I were friends. They immediately revealed the purport of their visit. There was a certain amount of caution in the way they brought forth the information about the dean’s candidacy, but after my explosive fit of laughter they had thrown caution to the wind. Morgan Heartwell was on the committee. They wanted me to speak to him. They wanted me to let him know that only the handful of aging senior professors on the committee thought the dean a possible candidate; that those men thought so primarily because they were conservative men getting along in years and because the dean represented to them a known quantity; that, except for them, the entire faculty regarded his proposed candidacy as a piece of lunacy. They insisted at once that I was the only feasible channel they had to the trustees, that if I could let Morgan Heartwell know unofficially how the overwhelming majority of the faculty felt, then the trustees would come to see for themselves what the situation was. As a result, there would be no ugly rift and contest between the older and the younger members of the faculty. They were thinking of the good of the college. They did not believe that under such a man as the former head coach the college could maintain its academic excellence. They were taking the only course that their collective conscience and professional ethics permitted them to take.


  Here was precisely the sort of meddling, the sort of involvement I had long since determined to avoid. I had even managed to keep out of most committee work, on the grounds that it interfered with the more serious work I had to do and on the very legitimate grounds that there were people aplenty who liked nothing better than committee work. I used to say that when I received more than one notice of committee meetings in the morning mail, I had heard the sound of my neighbor’s ax, and that it was time for me to move on. My first impulse was to laugh as heartily at the role they were now asking me to play as I had at the notion of the dean’s being a college president. And yet, with their talk of academic excellence and professional ethics, they really left me no choice. I agreed on the spot to perform the mission.


  And it turned out just as they predicted. Morgan Heartwell had entertained doubts even before I came to him, and so had the other trustees he subsequently spoke to. The night that the group of young professors came to my house was in November. By March, another man had been chosen for the presidency. The acting president would serve till the end of the current academic year, and then the new president would take office.


  But by March of that year there had been other developments. One of the senior professors in the college had died. The faculty was once again playing a game of musical chairs with houses. There were days when the community held its breath, waiting to know whether or not Professor So-and-So was going to take such-and-such a house. By March also, Marie had learned definitely that she was pregnant once again. (Maisie was born the following November.) Marie began to think that with the new baby the inconveniences of the old house we were in would become quite intolerable. Moreover, I had come to realize that upon the arrival of the baby my study would have to be converted into a nursery. And so we began to take an interest in the houses which, one after another, became available.


  The rule was that each house, as it became available, was offered first to the senior member of the faculty—no matter if he had moved the month before, no matter if the house had five bedrooms and he was childless or even wifeless—and then, if it were refused, the house was offered down through the ranks till it found a taker. We could hardly believe our luck—Marie and I—when no full professor and no associate professor spoke for the Dodson house, which was offered around during the first two weeks of March. It was a charming house with four bedrooms, a modern kitchen, a study. We knew that I stood first on the list of assistant professors. We waited for the customary mimeographed notice to appear in my mailbox at the college.


  Days passed. Two weeks passed. Still no notice. On the first of April, I went to the office of the acting president and made inquiry. I was told by the acting president’s secretary, Mrs. Eason, that the acting president had decided that since no full or associate professor had taken the Dodson house it would be removed from the list and offered to the new chaplain, who was scheduled to be appointed within the next two years. Meanwhile, the house would stand empty. Meanwhile, Marie would continue to scrub our splintery old floors and would wash diapers in a tub in the cellar. Meanwhile, I would give up my study to the new baby . . . I lost my temper. I went to my office and wrote a letter to the acting president, saying that I wished my present house to be put on the available list and that I expected to be offered the Dodson house. I received no reply to my letter. But two days later my house was offered to another assistant professor and was accepted. After a further two days, I did receive a reply to my letter. The acting president had consulted the members of his committee on houses (whose membership coincided precisely with that of the now defunct Faculty Committee for Selecting a President) and they agreed with him that the Dodson house should not at this time be offered to anyone below the rank of associate professor.


  Fortunately—or so I thought of it at the time—I had in my possession a letter from the late president, written to me in Italy only a few days before his stroke, promising that I would be promoted to the rank of associate professor on my return. Marie had urged me to present that letter to the administration as soon as we got home, but I felt certain that a copy of the letter was in the president’s files and that some action would be taken on it in due time. It seemed unbecoming of me to go at once on my return and demand that action be taken on my dead benefactor’s promise. And after I had waited six months, I felt that I hardly knew how best to introduce the subject. But now I did bring forth the letter from my file. If I was entitled to promotion, then we were entitled to the Dodson house. And only by presenting my just claims to the faculty would I be able to determine for certain whether or not the dean, having heard of my role in checking his ambitions, had taken his personal revenge upon me.


  With my letter in my pocket, I went to call on all six of the young professors who had sent me on my mission to Morgan Heartwell. I pointed out to them, one by one, just how the business of the house had developed, and I received the impression from each of them that he was already well aware of the developments. With each of them, I then brought out my letter from the late president and insisted upon his reading it. And finally I asked each one of them if he would be willing to present my case, in its entirety, at the next faculty meeting. There was not one of them who did not indicate that he was convinced the acting president knew of the part I had played in blocking his permanent appointment. There was not one of them who expressed any doubt that the removal of the Dodson house from the list had been an act of reprisal against me. But they were a very responsible, discreet, and judicious group of young men. Each of them asserted that he was thoroughly sympathetic to my claim, but asked to be allowed to give the matter more thought before deciding what action ought to be taken. My supposition was that there would be a general consultation among the six of them and that some sort of presentation would be made at the April meeting.


  I shall never forget walking alone from my house to the administration building for that April meeting—at four o’clock in the afternoon, on the first Monday in the month. I arrived earlier than I usually did at those meetings, and so was able to choose a seat at the back of the president’s assembly room. Faculty meetings there, as in most places, usually filled the room from the rear forward, in just the same way that students ordinarily fill a college classroom. I sat in the next-to-last row and watched my colleagues strolling in from their afternoon classes, some in earnest conversation, others making jokes and tapping each other firmly on the forearm or even patting each other on the back, and some few peering into notes on reports they would give that afternoon. I kept my eye out, of course, for the arrival of my six friends. Unconsciously, I had invented an image of their arriving as a group, perhaps still consulting among themselves in whispers, and taking their places together on the first row squarely in front of the president’s lectern. Instead, I saw them arrive one by one, seemingly unaware of my presence and certainly unaware of one another’s. Before the meeting began, all six had arrived, but they were scattered over the room. I watched them in their tweed jackets and blue or striped shirts chatting casually and amiably with various black-suited, bow-tied senior members of the faculty. At the moment when the meeting was called to order, I was struck suddenly by the notion that I had not taken these men’s character and style into account. They would never be so obvious as my fantasy had suggested. They would enter the room separately, having decided earlier on the strategy. One of them would rise at the proper time and bring up the question of the Dodson house. And then, with seeming spontaneity and from all corners of the room, the others would join in the attack, one of them finally—if the chair adamantly refused to offer the Dodson house to the lower rank—one of them finally making direct reference to the promise of promotion made me by the revered late president.


  Following the minutes from the last meeting, pieces of old business occupied the first half hour of the meeting. I sat through the minutes and through the old business with patience, anticipating what I believed was to follow. When the question, “Any new business?” came, I closed my eyes and listened for the familiar voice. Unless my ears deceived me, it was the young biologist in my group who was speaking. He was one of those with a neat little mustache on his upper lip. With my eyes closed, I could see him, could see him self-consciously patting the bowl of his pipe on the palm of his left hand as he began to speak. “Mr. President—” I opened my eyes, and then for a moment I was convinced my ears did deceive me. It was the young biologist all right, standing near the front of the room and patting the bowl of his dark pipe on the palm of his left hand, but the piece of new business he was introducing was a matter of next year’s curriculum. I sat through his remarks and through other remarks that followed on the subject. In fact, I sat through two other new pieces of business, even through a count of hands on one piece that came to a motion and a vote. But when a fourth piece, relating to the awarding of honorary degrees was introduced, I rose from my chair, moved down the row I was sitting in, saying, “Excuse me. Excuse me. Excuse me,” marched down the center aisle and out of the meeting.


  I went home, and behind the closed door of my study I began composing my letter of resignation. Marie, who was in the kitchen, had heard me come in. But she waited fifteen minutes or so before she came and knocked on my door.


  When I opened the door, she looked at me questioningly. She was white with anger. “He refused to offer us the house?” she said.


  “Not exactly,” I replied. “The subject was not introduced. The six of them came to the meeting and spoke at length—about other things.”


  Her face turned from white to crimson. Her eyes, still on me, melted. She burst into tears and threw herself into my arms. Or, rather, she drew me into her arms, for as she wept I felt her two arms go around me and felt her hands patting me consolingly high on the back between the shoulder blades. As she held me there, it was all I could do to keep from weeping myself. And somehow, for all her tenderness at that moment and despite all the need I had of it, it came over me that this was the beginning of the end for us, that our marriage would not survive it. Perhaps that was nonsense. The thoughts that cross one’s mind at such times cannot always be accounted for. But the life we had lived since graduate school—beginning in graduate school—was the life most couples live who take refuge in the Groves of Academe. We had lived with each other, had lived together in the most literal sense. We had shared intellectual interests, had shared domestic duties, had breakfasted together, lunched together, dined together. We had slept together, too, but that had come to seem only one, not too significant facet of our—our “togetherness.” I had no right to complain against this life, because this life was the life I had chosen. But I could see that the future would mean a narrowing of my activities among my colleagues wherever I might go, and that things relating to my profession, which had for some time been ruled out of our talk at home, must now inevitably become the very center of it.


  When, after dinner that night, I received a telephone call from my friend the biologist, saying that he and one other of the group would like to come by and talk to me, Marie, who was sitting close by my side with her arm about my waist, indicated with a shake of her head that I should not let them come. But I was not yet ready for that. I told them to come ahead, and then I went and switched on the front-porch light.


  When they arrived, I led them to my study, and we sat down on three straight chairs in a triangle, facing each other. They told me that, before that afternoon’s meeting, there had been a general consultation among the six men I went to see and that they had decided that to bring up my “problem” at this meeting would not be a wise move, could, in fact, create a very bad situation. “It would be most impolitic,” one of them said. “Strategically speaking, it would be a very bad move,” said the other. “It would be a bad business.” And they proceeded to explain to me that though the dean would no longer be acting president, he would continue to be a very important part of the college’s administration. A head-on collision with him just before the arrival of the new president might be a very disruptive thing for the college. After all, we were all going to have to continue to live with the dean. “Even you are,” they said to me. And all of this was said with the same voice that had said we must avoid any ugly rift and contest with the senior members of the faculty. Before they finished speaking, I saw once and for all what a foolish man I had been. But I did not make myself a bigger fool by losing my temper and telling them that I saw what a fool they had made of me. As we went to the front door, I agreed with them that probably my house could be reassigned to me—as no doubt it could have been—especially if one of them went to the dean and explained that I had written my letter to him in a moment of anger and that I now wished to remain where I was. But when they were gone, I put out the porch light, went back to my study, and typed up the final version of my letter of resignation.


  


  Marie and I were in perfect agreement about the resignation. During the months that followed, which was naturally a very trying period, her understanding, her sympathy, her tenderness—her indulgence, really—were my great support. When I returned from my office late that Sunday afternoon, depressed and with a crick in my neck after a long sleep in my leather chair (I have since decided that that was most probably the way my father had spent his Sunday in his office), Marie greeted me cheerfully, and little Susie almost smothered me with kisses. But somehow the vision I had had of our future, after the fateful faculty meeting, stuck with me. I never for a moment believed our marriage could weather this new turn my life had taken. I don’t know why. As my mother would have said, the Old Nick himself seemed to have got in me. I wouldn’t be consoled, I wouldn’t be comforted, though I consistently made an effort to seem so. I had never before been so much help in a move as I was in packing up our possessions and unpacking them again when we arrived at our new place. My new appointment was at an enormous state university, situated in a middle-sized Midwestern city. I felt it would be possible to pass unnoticed for years, in the university and in the city. I met my classes, I attended department meetings, I made revisions on the galley proofs of my book. It seems to me I spent a large part of every day taking Susie back and forth to school on the bus. And I spent hours in the park with you, Jack. I don’t suppose you remember the little boy there who kept purposely interfering with your play on the jungle gym until one day I caught him and spanked him. His mother threatened to call the police. I’ll never forget the satisfaction I took in laughing in her face and threatening to give her the same spanking I had given her little boy. And little Maisie, of course, was born in November after we arrived there. I never changed so many diapers for you and Susie put together as I did for Maisie, or gave so many bottles at predawn hours . . . No, I did not become the tyrant of my household, and I did not, like my father, disturb my wife with long looks and long silences. But I began to feel that with my talk about my book and my talk about the courses I was teaching I was almost intentionally boring Marie to death, boring my students to death, boring myself to death. Before the first semester was half over, Marie was helping me grade my papers and was reading all the books I had to read for my courses. By the time the second semester came round, she had made application to the department and was taken on as a part-time instructor.


  It was almost a year to the day after my difficulties about the Dodson house began that two letters, which would altogether change everything for me, were put into my mailbox at the university. One letter came from my predecessor at the college where I have since made my most important contribution to the education of American youth. This letter stated that they were looking for a new dean of men at that college, and asked if I would be willing to come and be interviewed for the appointment. The other letter was from Morgan Heartwell. It was he who had recommended me for the appointment, and he wrote me that he had been able to do so because he had observed that I behaved with such discretion in my altercation with the acting president, putting the welfare of that institution above my personal interests. He also urged me to accept the new appointment, saying that this was a college that had recently been given a handsome endowment, a college with a growing academic reputation. He was not, himself, on the board of trustees there, but close associates of his were and they had happened to mention the opening there.


  When Marie read the first letter, she broke into laughter. Then, giving me a serious glance, she read through Morgan’s letter. “How dare Morgan Heartwell write you such a letter!” she said. “How dare he suggest such an appointment for you!” She and I were facing each other across the little carrel that we shared in the university library. When I remained silent, she put the letters down on the table and asked, “You are not seriously thinking of going for that interview?”


  “I am going to take the job,” I said, “if it’s offered me.”


  Folding the letters and replacing them in their envelopes, she said, “Well, you may take it. But I’m staying on here.”


  “It has already occurred to me that you might say that,” I told her directly. “I am not entirely surprised.” She sat with her eyes lowered and she blushed so deeply that a new thought now occurred to me. “Is there someone else?” I asked.


  “No, I don’t think so,” she said, looking up at me. “Is there for you?”


  “I don’t think so,” I said.


  Of course, the fact is we were both married again within two years to persons we did already know at that state university. But still, it is true that neither of us had been having a real love affair. Perhaps the persons we married, the persons we very soon afterward allowed ourselves to fall in love with, represented for us the only possibilities of happiness either of us had been able to imagine during that bleak year. I suppose it’s significant that we both married people who shared none of our professional interests.


  


  After I had been dean of men for two years, I was made academic dean of the college. In two more years, I was president of the college. Even with as little time as you have spent with me through the years, Jack, you have seen what a successful marriage my second marriage has been, and what a happy, active life I have had. One sacrifices something. One sacrifices, for instance, the books one might have written after that first one. More important, one may sacrifice the love, even the acquaintance of one’s children. One loses something of one’s self even. But at least I am not tyrannizing over old women and small children. At least I don’t sit gazing into space while my wife or perhaps some kindly neighbor woman waits patiently to see whether or not I will risk a two-heart bid. A man must somehow go on living among men, Jack. A part of him must. It is important to broaden one’s humanity, but it is important to remain a mere man, too. But it is a strange world, Jack, in which an old man must tell a young man this.


  Daphne’s Lover


  


  WHEN MY friend Frank Lacy and I were thirteen and still wearing bell-bottomed sailor pants, he and I sat together one afternoon on the cement steps that led up to his family’s house on Central Avenue. We were perched about midway on the wide flight, guarded on either side by a larger-than-life cement lion, couchant and cast in a rather more pebbly mixture than the steps were. Suddenly, in a voice that ranged up and down the scale, Frank burst out with: “Ah, Vinton! Ah, Goodbar! Ah, Harbert!” These were the names of streets in the old-fashioned Annandale section of Memphis where my family lived, only a few blocks from the more fashionable Central Avenue section. “What noble old streets! What noble-sounding names!” said Frank. He was half joking, of course. Yet for Frank there was a mysterious aura about my neighborhood, as there was about any neighborhood that differed in the smallest degree from his own; as there was, I suppose, about any family whose routines and practices differed from those of his family.


  When we were thirteen and younger it was mostly at Frank’s house that he and I played together. When we got to be fourteen and fifteen—especially during those years—Frank spent a lot of time at my house. My parents and my three sisters became very fond of him during that period. It got so I was not surprised to come home from a movie on a Friday or Saturday night and find Frank sitting in the living room with my parents. They would be playing Canfield or Mah-Jongg or sometimes dominoes. Frank might be sitting at Dad’s or Mother’s elbow, watching the game closely. Or he might be lounging in an easy chair, in the far corner of the room, reading some magazine like Collier’s. There was almost no magazine of general interest that didn’t find its way into our house. On the other hand, magazines one saw at Frank’s house usually appealed to some special interest, magazines like Field and Stream and Vanity Fair. Frank himself often bought magazines at the drugstore—new ones like Esquire and Ballyhoo. Instead of taking them home, he often as not brought them to our house to read and he would be up in my room reading an entire afternoon sometimes.


  More than once I came home from an afternoon spent with other friends and found his magazines scattered on the floor of my room and Frank sprawled on my bed, taking a nap. If I found him with my parents, after a movie, he was apt to stay the night with us. My mother would always insist upon his telephoning home to let Mrs. Lacy know he wouldn’t be coming in. Frank would say it wasn’t necessary and would try to change the subject. If my three older sisters were present, he would enlist their aid in protesting the need for his calling. They always came to his support, too. They were charmed by Frank and would support him in any argument. But on this particular subject they were especially vociferous, because Frank made it so explicitly an issue of parental protectiveness. Smiling all the while and obviously admiring both my parents’ firmness, he would accuse Mother of overprotecting her children and of setting up too many rules. My sisters would rally to his cause and urge him on.


  “What would you do if your children disobeyed?” he would ask. But Mother could not be made to generalize. She insisted upon her point. She never failed to make Frank telephone home. Yet I often suspected that when he went to the telephone out in the sun parlor and ostensibly made his call, Frank was actually holding down the receiver with his finger.


  My mother’s fondness for games was a matter of continuing interest to Frank. Moreover, that fondness of hers was our chief connection with the Lacys. She and Mrs. Lacy occasionally played bridge in the same foursome. But my mother much preferred playing cards at home with her family. The battle of the sexes was usually fought out across the card table at our house—and with considerable relish, too. In all games, either my father and I played against some combination of my sisters and my mother, or sometimes one of my uncles who lived nearby teamed up with me or my father. The rule was that members of the opposite sexes were never allowed to be partners in bridge or to play on the same side in any game, the only exception being made, for no very obvious reason, in the case of Frank.


  Frank admired my father’s enthusiasm for gardening. He used to come and work with him in our rose beds on spring and summer afternoons. One time when the rest of us were in the sun parlor working the Liberty puzzle together, Mother sent the Negro houseboy out with glasses of iced tea for Dad and Frank. The sight of them rising up from their manual labor to accept the attentions of the white-jacketed houseboy struck us as highly amusing. When finally they came inside, we laughed at them about it. My father merely shrugged and smiled at the absurd picture we painted of them. But Frank found the picture no less than wonderful. “Yes, it’s wonderful!” he exclaimed, gesturing with both hands and then interlocking his fingers on the crown of his head as he leaned back in his chair. “It was a wonderful moment—just perfect! It is just precisely what you-all’s life is like! I’ll never forget it!”


  It wasn’t only my family that fascinated Frank, however. Like me, he was at times drawn to the families of our other friends. He was attracted to the Berrys and the McLeods and the Cravenses in much the same way that I was, except that with him the attraction would sometimes become obsessive. Joe Berry’s family, for instance, was a family of invalids and hypochondriacs. The conversation at the Berrys’ table was nearly always about illness and medicines, though never about death. Someone seemed always to be going into or coming out of the hospital. Joe Berry’s parents, as well as his two grandfathers who lived in the house with them, seemed to have operation after operation without ever being critically ill. Joe had an imbecile sister Grace who was much in evidence at their house and was always spoken of as “the Baby.” The Baby sometimes said dreadful things to one. For that reason most of us dreaded going to Joe’s house. Through the screen door on the front porch she said to me once, “If I let you in, will you cut my throat and throw my head away?” I told Frank about this and he said she had said the same thing to him.


  “What kind of answer can you give to something like that?” I asked.


  “Oh, say anything,” Frank advised, shrugging his shoulders.


  “What did you say?” I asked.


  “Me? Oh, I said, ‘You bet your life I will if that’s what you want.’ ”


  He didn’t mind the things Grace said. He would laugh at her indulgently with the rest of the family. He even got so he would talk their baby-talk to her. He would even take her for walks around the block, either with Grace leaning on his arm as they ambled slowly along or with him pushing her in her wheelchair.


  Frank’s intimacies with the Berrys ended with a misunderstanding of some sort. He and Joe continued to be friends, however, and later on the misunderstanding was forgotten. His intimacy with my family ended similarly. My father, during those Depression years, used often to threaten to move us back up to Jackson County, where he owned a lot of land as well as the old house he had grown up in, and where, as he said, “We could live on nothing a year.” We never went back to Jackson County to live, of course, but as long as the Depression lasted it was the excuse for our making frequent weekend trips up there to buy produce at reduced rates from our tenant farmers. We would stay in my grandfather’s old house for a day or so, then we would head for Memphis with the car laden with eggs, cured meat, and whatever fruits and vegetables were in season.


  Returning from one of these expeditions one Sunday afternoon, we saw immediately that somebody had been occupying our house during our two days’ absence. Papers and books were strewn carelessly about the living room. In the kitchen, unwashed dishes littered the table and sink. And yes, lo and behold, when I went up to my room he was “still there,” stretched out on my bed asleep.


  “It’s Frank!” I called out from the top of the back stairs to the rest of the family. My father was still bringing in produce from the car and packing it in the extra refrigerator he had installed in the back hall. I heard my mother say to him, “We should have known it was Frank. But how do you suppose he got in?” They treated Frank’s being there quite casually. And Mother, who never bothered much about housekeeping, was not really disturbed by the disorder. But when word reached my three sisters, who were still out on the porch, that Frank had been in the house over the weekend, they came shrieking indoors, racing through the side hall and then up the stairs to their rooms.


  “Oh, no! Oh, no!” they cried. The two younger girls roomed together, and from their room we presently heard them shouting, “Frank, how could you?” And from the oldest girl’s room came groans and more “oh, no’s.” Only then did I remember the girls’ diaries and how often they had mentioned them to Frank and how he had pleased them by saying he wished he could get hold of them sometime and read them. I looked at Frank. He stood there in the hallway with his eyes on the doors to the girls’ rooms. The smile on his face was one of tolerance, not guilt. Finally he looked at me and said, “I didn’t read a word of the stuff. But I found them in the most obvious places and I left them lying open on the tops of their bureaus. They would have been too disappointed if I hadn’t.”


  Frank and I then went down the back stairs to the hall, where my mother and father were still putting away the produce. Frank offered to help them, but Mother smiled at him and suggested that, instead, he clear up some of the papers and books in the living room. Just then the telephone rang, and Frank said, “That thing rang all day yesterday.”


  “And didn’t you answer it?” my father asked, pausing with his two hands in the refrigerator and looking over his shoulder at Frank.


  “No, sir, I didn’t,” Frank said, meeting my father’s gaze.


  Mother answered the telephone there in the back hall. It was Frank’s eldest brother, James. “Yes, I certainly do,” we heard Mother say. “He’s right here with us.” But James didn’t ask to speak to Frank, and, Mother remarked to us later, he did not seem greatly perturbed by Frank’s having been out of touch with his family. He asked Mother to give Frank the message that Mrs. Lacy had been thrown from her horse while riding with a friend out at La Grange on Saturday morning, and that she was in the hospital and still unconscious.


  I went with Frank immediately to the hospital, where we learned that within the past few minutes Mrs. Lacy had regained consciousness. Since she had suffered no injuries in the fall except for the assumed blow on her head, she was home from the hospital within a few days. The only permanent effect of the accident was that she could not recall any events of the twenty-four hours previous to it. And for this, it has been remarked by more than one person since, she might well be thankful, because Mrs. Lacy’s companion on that early-morning ride at La Grange was a gentleman other than Frank’s father.


  This whole incident was very disturbing to my mother. Frank was never again on such familiar terms with her and my father. In the back hall, after she had told him of his mother’s accident and while we were about to set out for the hospital, she could not resist asking, “Frank, why didn’t you telephone and let them know where you were?” Frank shrugged. Though he was clearly concerned about his mother’s condition, for one moment he seemed to give all his attention to my mother. He was observing how she responded to his having broken her rule. Although he never told me so, I was convinced from that moment that his holing up in our house was not done entirely for the purpose of pretending to read my sisters’ diaries. Certainly he wished to please my sisters, but he wished also to learn what it would be like to break the rules that such a family as mine laid down.


  As for Mother, it seemed incredible to her that the Lacy family was so little upset by not having known Frank’s whereabouts during that weekend. In later years it was annoying to her that, whenever there was any reference made to the weekend, Mrs. Lacy could not—or would not—get it straight that Frank had been staying in our house all the while and had not gone up to Jackson County with us, as she obviously preferred to believe. The mess that Frank left in the kitchen and the disorder in the living room did not, as I have said, bother Mother. But his having failed to call home seemed unforgivable. Also, for days and days she and my father speculated upon how Frank could have got into the house. For some reason, I did not tell them the truth. Frank and I had, some weeks earlier, got duplicates made of our house keys and had exchanged them. I never made use of mine to his house, but for several years I continued to feel that there might be some circumstance when I would want to do so.


  


  I won’t try to conceal the fact that one of the things I have always admired most about Frank is his success with women. By the time he and I left home and went off to college, I had already participated vicariously in his countless romances. Even today his amorous involvements hold considerable fascination for me. They did so even when we were very small boys. Not that I didn’t have girls of my own there in Memphis when he and I were growing up. I fell head over heels in love with a girl named Irene Kincaid long before there was even a soft down on my cheeks. By the time I was sixteen I had already met Mary Maxwell and knew then that she and I would someday be married. But if one has any imagination whatsoever, one has always to participate to some degree in the experience of one’s friends. This is one conviction that Frank and I have always held in common. It may, indeed, be one that I have lived too much by. Nowadays, for instance, I take much too much interest in the activities of my grown-up children and even in the lives of my students at the University where I teach—even in the careers of my former students. I often reproach myself for interfering in my children’s lives and for trying to direct the careers of my young friends. And I have to confess that out there in Memphis I had other contemporaries besides Frank Lacy whose lives were always just as interesting to me as Frank’s and with whom I have kept in touch through all the years. It is almost as though I have lived the lives of these friends as well as my own life. The word for all this is empathy, of course, but that is the sort of educated word, cherished among my university colleagues, for which my old friends from Memphis have an aristocratic—or puritanical—distaste and which I shall, therefore, try to avoid using.


  As children, Frank and I were plainly such different types that it was a matter of amusement to our mothers that we were friends at all. Our lives today—Frank off in Manhattan with his marriages and love affairs and his work always “in the vanguard of modern life,” as he puts it, and I with my not unhappy domesticity in a remote university town, cultivating my garden, going off to Europe on an occasional foundation grant or attending a professional meeting somewhere—our lives today are not more different than our lives with our families were when we were boys. And the difference in our temperaments as adults is no more marked. Suffice it to say that I could not today sustain a series of love affairs any more easily than I could have tolerated, at twelve or fifteen, the little girls who always pursued Frank Lacy.


  Behind the Lacys’ great house on Central Avenue was an eight-foot wall which was no doubt built of some sort of cement blocks but was plastered over with the same stucco that covered the walls of the garage and of the Lacys’ three-story, tile-roofed house itself. Beyond that wall and across an unpaved alley was a brick bungalow that faced upon the next street. I do not recall the name of the little girl who lived in that bungalow. Possibly I never knew it. (Possibly Frank Lacy himself never knew her name.) At the age of ten or so she wore her copper-red hair in a long Dutch bob. Sometimes she would sit at the open dormer window on the rear of the bungalow and gaze out across the alley and over the stuccoed wall to where we were playing in Frank’s back yard. She would sometimes, like any other little girl, be dressed up in one of her mother’s evening dresses. And on every occasion her mouth would be rouged with heavy applications of lipstick. When she appeared there alone she pretended to pay no attention to us. She would only sit quietly, now and then moving languorously from one position on the window seat to another. But when one of her friends was with her there would be much giggling and darting to and from the window. The two little girls would throw kisses and call out, “I love you, Frank Lacy!” or “I love you, Alfred Lacy!” if Frank’s brother happened to be present. One time the little redhead and her friend stood side by side at the window and in their squawky, birdlike voices serenaded us with verses from popular songs. But Frank would not ever—not even on that occasion—allow us to give any sign that we saw the girl at the dormer window. His parents had forbidden him, so he said, to take any notice of her. We knew better. We knew how little restraint the Lacy parents put upon him and his brothers, and knew that this restriction was of Frank’s own making.


  We came from school to play in the Lacys’ yard one autumn afternoon. We arrived just in time to see the little redhead and her friend scurrying out through the gate in the stuccoed wall. And we saw right away what their business had been. On the wall was painted in red letters a foot high: “Red lips, kiss my blues away.” And beneath that: “Some day I’ll ride in your Packard, Frank Lacy.” Almost before we could see the blushes on his cheeks, Frank had dashed into the garage, calling out to the Negro chauffeur, whom we could see through the open doors at work on one of the Lacys’ cars. Frank returned presently with a brush and a bucket of buff-colored paint, and he began at once smearing the paint over the red lettering. While he was at work there, I noticed other areas of the wall that seemed to have been recently touched up with the same buff paint. For any other boy there would have ensued endless teasing. But we knew there could be no game that day if we began on Frank about the little redhead.


  After a few minutes we were too engrossed in touch football to keep watch on the window beyond the wall. The other boys seemed to be too engrossed, at any rate. As for me, I could not resist glancing in that direction now and then. After a while I could hardly keep my eyes off the little redhead perched alone up there in the window, wearing a low-backed black bathing suit. I began to feel the impulse to throw something at her, the football or a big clod of dirt. Her exhibitionism offended and enraged me. This wasn’t how a girl was supposed to behave toward boys! Or was it? All at once, in the midst of a play, I could endure it no longer. I withdrew from the play, cupped my hands to my mouth, and without at all understanding my impulse shouted the one word: “Whore!”


  I don’t know that the word had ever before passed my lips, or that I had a very clear notion of what it meant. Before the other boys fully comprehended what I had shouted even, Frank had leaped upon me, pushed me to the ground, and was pummeling me murderously. The cries of the other boys, as they tried to pull Frank off me, attracted the attention of the chauffeur. He came slowly to the garage entrance and called out, “Frank, you better get inside, you had, and get to your homework.”


  They had pulled Frank to his feet now. He hardly seemed to know who it was he had been fighting. “What made anybody say that?” he asked of the group. Then he glanced at the Negro man in the garage doorway and said simply, “All right, Glenway.” It seemed a strange response. We all knew well enough that Frank and his brothers were not required to give any obedience to family servants. Frank pretended to comply, but of course it was really his own decision. Giving us a threatening look, as if to say he wanted no talk about the matter after he was gone, he walked away and in through the back door. The game broke up almost immediately.


  The football we had been using was mine, and as soon as Frank was inside the house, I picked it up and set out alone across the wide boulevard that was Central Avenue, over the streetcar tracks that still ran on Central in those days, and on toward my own neighborhood—past Goodbar, past Harbert, past Vinton—on toward my family’s house on Peabody. I suppose I purposely did not wait to walk with the other boys. I wanted to think about how Frank had behaved. I couldn’t understand it. I still wanted to make that little redhead change her ways. And that was what Frank didn’t seem to understand or like about me. With such thoughts in my head, the prosaic small-talk of those other boys would have seemed too intolerably boring.


  


  A few doors to the west of the Lacys’ house, on the opposite side of the street, there lived a girl named Janet Turner. Janet and Frank were taken for walks together by their nurses when they were infants. They later attended the same kindergarten. Even as a toddler, Janet was a rough child. She teased Frank and quarreled and fought with him so continually that when finally they were too old to have their nurses and parents choose their friends, Frank would have no more to do with her. That is, for a number of years he would not.


  Janet became famous among the children of our generation as a tomboy. Since those were the Depression years, most people, even the Lacys, spent their summers at home in Memphis and somehow managed to endure the heat. The result for us children was that we, more than those who came just before or just after us, grew up spending our summers mostly at the Country Club. Janet Turner, at the Country Club, was nothing less than a holy terror. She would outplay most of us boys in the golf and tennis tournaments and lord it over us mercilessly. At the swimming pool she was eternally pushing somebody—usually a boy—into the water or spraying or ducking some boy whom she didn’t even know. Yet by the time she and Frank were in their early teens, Frank had developed a tolerance for her beyond what most of us felt. His tolerance toward Janet was difficult for me to fathom, especially since she was among the few people toward whom I had ever seen him show contempt. When he and I were in the third grade at Miss Pentecost’s School we walked past Janet Turner’s house one winter day in the snow. Janet was at the top of the steep driveway that went up to her house; she was about to descend on a sled. When she saw us she stood up and recited the following rhyme for our benefit:


  


  “Young lads and old gentlemen, take my advice:


  Pull down your pants and slide on the ice.”


  


  Then throwing herself on the sled, she came tearing down the icy driveway. As she went past us and out into the street, Frank turned his back and said, “Ugh.” She looked up at us as she went by and seemed delighted by the noise Frank had made. The sled carried her on out into the street, where the driver of an automobile slammed on his brakes and narrowly missed hitting her. But Janet got up from her sled clearly pleased by the narrowness of her escape, brushed herself off, and smiled hatefully at the driver.


  “You might have got killed,” I took it upon myself to say to her.


  “It would have served her right,” said Frank, with his nose in the air. I thought he looked a little pale, though.


  It is the only thing of the sort I have ever heard Frank Lacy say to any girl or woman. And Janet ran up the driveway, pulling her sled behind her and grinning from ear to ear. “You might have got killed,” I called after her. “I wish you had.”


  Without looking at me Frank said, “That’s the sort of thing she likes to make you say.”


  But by the time we were in high school Frank seemed to have forgotten his dislike for that girl. Even before high school there had been periods when one would see them sitting together on her front steps—or his—sometimes at twilight of a weekday, sometimes on a Saturday morning. They became good friends. No more than that, however—not in Frank’s mind. I remember “breaking” on them once when they were dancing together at a sorority formal given at the Nineteenth Century Club. We were in high school then, and Frank and I each had a girl we went out with regularly. Frank’s girl all through high school was Mary Edenton. Like my girl, also named Mary—Mary Maxwell—Frank’s Mary Edenton attended Miss Hutchison’s School, was a member of SKS sorority, and was the daughter of parents who belonged to the Memphis Country Club. But at dances Frank was always punctilious about dancing with all girls in our acquaintance, even the most unattractive ones. Janet Turner was by no means unattractive, despite her tomboyishness. Yet timid boys like me were often nervous about what she might say or do in public. Alone with a boy she was a model of propriety, but in public she was difficult. She danced cheek-to-cheek, required her partner to hold her very close, and she often danced without her shoes—a thing which in those days was considered altogether outlandish by chaperons. Moreover, when she was broken in on while dancing with a partner whom she had not enjoyed, she might say to him, “So long, Fumble Foot.” Or if she had enjoyed the dance, she was apt to kiss her partner tenderly on the lips while her new partner looked on.


  When I broke in on her and Frank at the Nineteenth Century Club, she held on to Frank’s hand for a moment and said to him, “Frank, you’re such a divine dancer and you’re so chivalrous, too—yes, so god-damned, self-righteously chivalrous.” Then she let go of his hand. He stood a moment smiling at Janet and even blew her a kiss. When she and I had danced away from him over the Nineteenth Century Club’s parquet, she said in my ear, “Did you see that smile on his face? It was his forgiving smile. He forgave me because I am a mere girl.”


  Janet was an exceptionally good dancer, and I liked dancing with her even if she did talk to me about Frank. I knew already that I was going to marry my girl Mary Maxwell and knew—or so it seems to me now—that we would raise our four fine children and at the age of forty-five find as much satisfaction in each other’s company as we did at fifteen. But Janet Turner did not seem to me a girl that anyone could ever make a life with; I couldn’t imagine anyone ever marrying her.


  When Janet finished at Bennington College, just before the outbreak of World War II, she became an airplane stewardess. It was considered the adventurous and rather fashionable thing for a girl like Janet to do in those days. But Janet was killed when the airliner she was aboard crashed near Newark in 1942. Frank had not seen her for two or three years before she was killed, but at the time he wrote me a letter blaming her father—that is, along with her three older brothers. When I received Frank’s letter at Fort Oglethorpe, where I was stationed during the first two years of the war, it for some reason brought back to me still another incident that had occurred during the time we were in high school—the summer after our junior year.


  We had been watching the Sunday-night movie in the main lounge at the Country Club. When the movie was over, a group of us wandered out onto the wide veranda that used to go round three sides of the old clubhouse. (The old clubhouse was a pleasant, unpretentious building, not at all like the trite Georgian place they have put up since the War.) Frank was there with Mary Edenton. Janet Turner and two other girls were there without escorts. We were on the part of the veranda that overlooked the swimming pool. Frank and Mary had strolled to the edge of the porch and stood by the banister looking out over the dark water of the pool. On his long left forefinger Frank was absent-mindedly twirling his key ring. Without anyone’s noticing what she was about, Janet Turner sidled up to Frank. Suddenly she snatched the ring of keys from his finger and flung them out over the terrace directly below us and into the pool. Since the terrace lights had already been put out for the night, no one could see precisely where the keys fell into the water. We only saw them flying through the air, for one moment reflecting the light from the clubhouse windows, and then heard the little splash they made. When the keys hit the water, a gasp went up from the group assembled on the porch. And then there followed an outburst of laughter and shouting. But Frank’s Mary Edenton, a beautiful, soft-spoken girl, bent forward a little over the banister railing and looked past Frank toward Janet. “Why in the world did you do that, Janet?” she asked. “What a silly thing it was to do.” And my own date, Mary Maxwell, who was standing beside me on the shadowy porch and leaning on my arm, said, “How childish, Janet! How very childish! Why can’t you grow up?”


  Frank was leaning far out over the railing, trying vainly to determine what part of the pool the keys had fallen into. He seemed to pay no attention to the laughter and heckling that came from the other boys, but when the girls began to berate Janet, he turned around to them and said, “What’s the matter with you girls? Can’t you take a joke?” Then, looking at Janet and smiling at her, he made a broad gesture with his hand and proclaimed to the whole porch, “Besides, you can’t in justice blame Janet! Poor girl is not responsible.” Everybody laughed. But Frank suddenly put on a serious expression. He had said something he had not meant to say. Presently he was striding along the veranda toward the steps that went down to the terrace, and from the terrace he disappeared into the basement locker rooms. Inside, he got someone to turn on the terrace lights.


  He soon reappeared, wearing his swimming trunks. A cheer went up from the little crowd that now lined the railing. At that age particularly, Frank looked better than anyone else among us in swimming trunks. He was long-legged, with wide, rather sloping shoulders, and though he was barely seventeen his chest and arm muscles were already fully developed. He loped along the edge of the pool, landing lightly on the balls of his feet, and then about midway he turned quickly and made a shallow dive, a dive so neat that its splash sounded hardly greater than that the key ring had made. He was a first-rate swimmer and diver, and one might have suspected he welcomed this exhibition before his friends except for the modesty and understatement of that quick turn and almost silent entry into the water. He moved from the terrace into the water without full realization that he had exchanged elements. Swimming underwater, he swept along near the tile floor of the pool with nearly the same cadence that one had felt in his loping along the pool’s edge. As we watched him in the water under the bright lights, we heard Janet Turner say with heavy irony to Mary Edenton, “Isn’t he elegant, Mary? Doesn’t he do everything wonderfully? You two make a beautiful pair. I think you two were just made for each other.” Most of us, I suppose, were embarrassed for Janet, and we expressed our embarrassment with our silence. As a matter of fact, Mary Edenton was the only one at this point who seemed no longer annoyed or embarrassed by Janet. “Aren’t you silly?” she said indulgently to Janet.


  Mary was a girl of great personal dignity, and her composure at that moment was quite in character. She was a tall girl with chestnut hair that she wore parted in the center and with a bun low on her rather long neck. (It is still impossible for me to look at a Raphael Madonna without thinking of her.) Her coiffure was flattering to her long, straight nose and pretty little chin; and it made her look somewhat older than other girls of seventeen. Moreover, Mary Edenton’s long, handsome legs and her decidedly mature figure did not fail to catch the eye of many an older boy—boys whose attentions to her were resented by all the boys our age. But it is true that she and Frank made a “beautiful pair.” I know from what my wife Mary has told me in recent years that Mary Edenton believed then, beyond all doubt, that she and Frank were going to have a long, happy married life together in Memphis. It was because she so identified herself with Frank, of course, that she could manage to take his view of Janet. She told other girls that Frank regarded Janet as a sort of bad little sister—which he had never had and perhaps missed having. Mary Edenton cheered and applauded Frank with the rest of us that night on the Country Club veranda. But by the time Frank was out of the pool and went hurrying toward the locker room below us, Janet Turner and her two friends had already slipped away from the scene.


  When Frank had said Janet was “not responsible,” I suspect that he meant only to be joshing her and that suddenly he recalled having heard his elders assert that very thing about her in all seriousness. He was afraid she might take him seriously and might think he wished to be cruel to her, because what Frank’s parents would have meant by saying Janet was not responsible for her behavior was that her mother had died when she was an infant and that she had been brought up by her widowed father and her three older brothers—with the help, of course, of servants. She had no older sister nor mother to model herself upon or to be instructed by. Her brothers were the same ages as Frank’s older brothers and were their cronies. Perhaps it was natural that Janet should think Frank and she ought to be friends. Perhaps her confusion was deeper than that, even. It was a matter Frank used to speculate upon, though only in the kindest way. . . . I listened to Frank’s speculations in those days without making any of my own. But in recent years I commented to him once that I thought nothing might have changed his life—especially his relations with women—so much as would his possibly having had one of my older sisters for his sister instead of having had those three brothers of his. The suggestion clearly offended him. (That’s how it often is with an old friend you have not been as close to recently as in the old days. You don’t know what things may have happened to him to make him sensitive in new areas.) He replied by declaring with a good deal of feeling that if that were true, it might also be true that if I had had one of his brothers for a brother instead of having had only my three sisters, it might equally have affected my view of women. He suggested that I might not have taken women “so for granted,” by which he meant, I suppose, that I don’t find them as disturbing or as exciting as he does.


  The Turners’ house was only a few doors to the west of the Lacys’, but it was on the opposite side of the broad boulevard with its streetcar tracks in a gravel roadbed down the center. When Janet was fourteen, her three brothers owned together a yellow Chevrolet roadster trimmed in black. During the winter the brothers were away in prep school and college. (Janet would be sent off to Chatham Hall the following year.) Janet taught herself to drive the roadster, just as Frank Lacy and I did with our family cars, by running it in and out of the garage, turning it around in the paved area behind the house, backing down the driveway and racing it up the driveway and into the garage. Of course there were times when all of us went farther abroad than that, accompanied by a father, a big brother, or a family chauffeur. But Janet eventually took advantage of her freedom at home and would be seen cruising up and down Central Avenue with the top to the roadster put back and with her ­English bulldog riding in the seat beside her. This was of course three years before the episode of the key ring and the Country Club pool, and with her head of tight, dark curls—she always wore her hair cut short—Janet looked like a really small child behind the wheel of the car. She presented a spectacle which all the neighborhood found disquieting but which nobody took any steps to interfere with.


  Yet perhaps her performance failed after all to attract the eye of the only neighbor whose attention she cared for, because soon she was inspired to something far more spectacular. On a Sunday morning or in the middle of a weekday afternoon, when there was little or no traffic on Central Avenue, Frank Lacy would receive a telephone call from Janet. She would say, “Watch for us, Frank! And save us, Frank! We’re on our way!” Then she would hang up the phone. Within three or four minutes Frank would see the Chevrolet, with its top back and nobody behind the steering wheel, with Janet and the bulldog sitting very erect in the rumble seat, passing slowly down the other side of Central Avenue. The girl had somehow learned to fix the accelerator, to lock the steering wheel, and to set the car on a westward course down the avenue. No matter how Frank was occupied he would run from the house and out into the street and on across the streetcar tracks to jump into the front seat and seize the wheel of the car. He would drive Janet home without speaking a word to her and would deliver the keys to the maid at the back door. But as they rode along, Janet Turner, throwing her head of curls from side to side, would be hugging the big, ugly bulldog and crooning, “Oh, he saved us, Clemson. Our hero saved us, Clemson. How can we ever thank him?”


  


  Irene Kincaid was a blue-eyed blonde with a profile like that of a girl on a Greek vase. From the time I was eleven until at fifteen I met the girl I was to marry, the very thought of Irene Kincaid’s face and figure could literally make my heart pound underneath my shirt. So far as coloring is concerned, I have never to this day seen her fair complexion and blue eyes and pale gold hair surpassed. My love for her was quite pathetic, because she and I never had a taste or interest in common, and most certainly she never showed a flicker of romantic interest in me. She pretended to care for me, but I never had any real illusion. While I was eleven, twelve, and thirteen I was whole-heartedly in love with her and I permitted her to pretend she regarded me as her sweetheart and sometimes permitted her to treat me as a slave. Even until I was fifteen I was at least half-heartedly in love with Irene, though during the last year or so I scarcely ever saw her.


  The case was this: I became enamored of Irene Kincaid without our having exchanged two words and without my having any notion of what sort of person she was. In appearance she was that very ideal of feminine beauty which had formed in my mind before I ever saw her. How such a particularized idea comes into being for a boy is a mystery. It comes from within, is dictated by one’s own nature. But no more than that can be said. How and when it becomes recognizable to the boy himself, how and when he becomes fully conscious of it, is another matter. I am sure I first recognized my own ideal among some rather stiff drawings that illustrated a book on Greek mythology, a book I found in the library in the fifth grade at Miss Pentecost’s School. There was a drawing of a scantily clad Daphne being pursued by a togaed Apollo, both with thong-laced legs. The limbs of the Daphne in that drawing—still in their human form—were presented by the artist with a certain delicate subtlety which gave both a stout and a fragile effect-—stout enough, that is, to let her run a good race but so fragile somehow that one didn’t doubt they would change their form under the rude hands of the pursuing Apollo. I have seen many other graphic representations of that myth, but none has ever pleased me so well. The head of that artist’s Daphne was no doubt copied directly from the head of some piece of fifth-century Greek sculpture, and its effect upon me would last my lifetime. I have in my study nowadays, set on the mantelpiece across from my writing desk, a Limoges figurine of Daphne and Apollo. It is often the first object that catches my eye when I look up from my work at the end of an evening, and somehow the sight of it is curiously relaxing to me. Or if my eye lights on it when I have first come down in the morning and am stuffing my papers into my briefcase before going over to the University, the little doll Daphne on my mantel never fails to lift my spirits. Ten years ago, supported by a foundation grant, my wife Mary and I spent a winter in Rome. We had a choice of three or four apartments, and I chose the one nearest to the Borghese Gardens. I forget now what the real reason for my preference was, but afterward I liked to say it was the proximity to the Bernini Daphne and Apollo in the Borghese Gallery. Mary would laugh at me and say, “I thought it was Greek sculpture you like so well. Bernini is a far cry from the Greeks.”


  And I would reply, “You don’t understand. I like anybody’s Daphne. In my mind I always translate her into Greek.”


  Another year, when Mary had inherited a little sum from an aunt in Memphis, we rented a villa for the summer on the French Riviera—at Cap-Martin. We took the house sight unseen, having got it from a listing in the London Times—on the rack in the university library. To our real consternation, on taking possession of the place, we found that one wall of the upstairs sitting room was decorated with nothing other than a fresco of Daphne and Apollo. It had been executed rather crudely, to say the least, by the hand of the English lady who owned the villa. Apollo was pictured in the brown garb of an English hunter—hat, boots, cartridge belt, and all. He was in hot pursuit of a stark-naked Daphne at whose knees and elbows and on whose backsides were sprouting what looked like fern fronds. After a moment of speechlessness, my wife exclaimed, “Translate that if you can!” I spent several days trying not to see the picture. But since it was the custom of the maid, who came with the house, to serve breakfast in that upstairs room, it was impossible to avoid it. The shocking thing, though, is that within a matter of a week or so I was able to work out some degree of translation in my mind. I found something beautiful in it. In the features of that Daphne’s face—though certainly not in the features of her spindly English frame—there was the very vaguest suggestion that that English lady, too, had been stirred by the Greek conception of feminine beauty when she was a child. My wife could never see this in the picture. But it was there. Perhaps for me it is there in any artist’s Daphne. In time, I came to like being in the room with that monstrous fresco. And when recently we have talked of going to France again, I have found myself wondering if the villa at Cap-Martin mightn’t be available next summer.


  At any rate, let me say that Irene Kincaid was beautiful in my eyes. I do not know that she was so in Frank Lacy’s eyes, however, and there was never any way for me to know. Because from the afternoon I introduced him to her, the very mention of her name in my presence seemed a matter of embarrassment to him.


  I am certain that until the present day Frank considers that he took Irene away from me. In a sense, he did. Yet in the most real sense she was never mine. At that age I would not have presumed to touch any girl, especially not the one I was in love with. It would have been unthinkable. I could not have loved her afterward, I was sure. My touch, it seemed to me, would surely turn her into some vegetable or leafy shrub about which I would have no feeling. Yet Irene, at the age of twelve, longed to receive the attention of boys, to go out on dates with them, to be made love to. She accepted the childish presents I gave her and allowed me to buy her a milkshake at the drugstore on Saturdays. But she treated me with the condescension of my older sisters. I don’t know what would have happened if she had taken me seriously, don’t know what I might have done or how it might have changed my whole life. But anyhow she thought I was “cute” and “funny” and rather a “goody-good.” One day we were standing in front of a neighborhood movie theater and she began giggling at the sight of a couple kissing in a picture on the billboard. I turned my back on her and walked away down the sidewalk. But she ran and caught up with me at once and assured me that it was something else that had made her giggle. With me she always tried to be a perfect little lady. Yet in her flirtations with other boys at the drugstore I saw her behave quite differently. I have no doubt, though, that she turned out well as a woman. Years later I heard she had married an Englishman and was living in London. I have never run into her over there, but I suspect she is living quietly in one of the London suburbs and that she is a faithful, loving wife and mother. Such girls often turn out so, I believe.


  On weekday afternoons Irene and I frequently played fly-ball together in her back yard. One afternoon I brought Frank home from school with me. We walked around the corner to Irene’s house on Vinton Avenue. She was coming in from school. Since her family were Roman Catholics, she attended a Catholic girls’ school at Crosstown. She came along Vinton that afternoon dressed in the navy-blue jumper that was her school’s uniform, carrying an armload of books. When she saw us she smiled and, in trying to free her hand to wave, almost dropped her books. Frank and I began running toward her. I reached out my arms to take the books, and she held them out toward me at first, though her eyes were on Frank. Then she withdrew the books from me and offered them to Frank, saying archly, “You take them, whoever you are.” Frank accepted the books, but carried them only a few steps before handing them over to me. “Oh, you lazybones!” cried Irene. Suddenly slipping her arm through his she said, “You’ll be sorry you didn’t carry my books. You’ll have to carry me, instead.” And she put all her weight on his arm.


  Her mother met us at the door and invited us to go back to the big, bright breakfast room in the rear of the house and have a snack with Irene. A plate of pralines was on the table, and Irene brought out three glasses and filled two of them with milk, one for herself and one for me. Looking at Frank, she said, “Oh, I forgot about you.” I remember feeling there was something common about the very singsong way she said it. Then she filled his glass less than halfway up. He looked at her, pretending to frown. She said, “Say please.” It was just the way I had seen her behave with older boys at the drugstore. I wished I had not brought Frank along. For the first time in my life I felt the impulse to bash a girl with my fist. Presently Frank said, “Please,” smiling at her with his eyes closed. It was as if he had withdrawn momentarily to analyze the situation. When he opened his eyes, he wore an astonished expression. It was as if he were seeing her for the first time. He reached out and seized the bottle of milk and filled his glass. “I am the master of my fate,” he said, suddenly beating his breast. Irene laughed breathlessly. I only sighed and shook my head, reflecting how mistaken Frank was in what he had said.


  Later, in Irene’s back yard, the three of us played fly-ball. But when we first went outside Irene threw me the ball and called, “Keep-away!” Frank dashed at me, and I returned the ball to Irene. He was much too tall and too quick for her to be able to throw the ball back to me. She turned and ran toward a clump of shrubbery. From there on out it was mostly a game of chase, or hide-and-seek, between the two of them. Now and then Frank would look at me and shrug his shoulders, as if to say, What can I do but give chase if that’s what she wants? . . . I was thoroughly disgusted by Irene’s behavior. Yet that little girl seemed to have forgotten how I liked her to behave. She would not let me catch her eye, but whenever she got an opening she threw the ball to me, and I returned it. Finally, though, I took up the bat and managed to get the fly-ball game going. It went along all right until Irene’s turn at bat came. She hit the ball up into the branches of a tree, and it came down on the other side of the tree trunk. She ran to base and headed back toward home plate. Frank retrieved the ball and threw it to me. Irene was caught between us. We closed in on her, but Frank carefully threw above her head. At last, at a moment when I had the ball, she turned toward Frank and ran full-force into him. As they met, a shout or a scream or a shriek—some kind of noise—came out of my throat, but I believe neither of them heard it. I stood watching them with my mouth hanging open. It seemed the most natural thing in the world the way he then took her in his arms, bending her backward over his right arm, with his right foot set forward a little, and kissed her directly on the lips. It seemed to me that they held the kiss for several minutes. Her left arm moved gently about his neck, and I won’t ever forget how her free right arm fell loosely behind her as she bent backward and how relaxed and beautiful and almost marble-like the arm seemed to me.


  Strange to say, the game of fly-ball was taken up again immediately—and with none of us making any reference to the embrace. Perhaps we were all three absorbed in our private reflections. My feeling toward Frank was merely one of annoyance. It was so like him to want to give her what she required of him. In a sense what he had done was more servile than was my own book-toting sort of slavery. I went on thinking of Irene Kincaid as my girl for a long time after that day—for a year or so, that is. I would sometimes imagine myself taking her in my arms and kissing her, but I never did—never tried to, even. Frank, I discovered, soon began going to see her alone. He would never talk to me about her, but he would say simply that he had seen her. She may have been the first girl he ever kissed. She may even—a year or so later, I would imagine—have been the first girl he ever took to bed. He continued to have dates with her occasionally for as long as four or five years after that day, well into the time when I had already met Mary Maxwell and had set my mind firmly on the notion that I would someday marry her. Irene didn’t go to any of the schools that most of the girls we knew did. Frank and I got so we didn’t often see her. I suspect that when Frank saw her it was usually after he had quarreled with some other girl he was going with.


  The little redhead who had lived behind the Lacys’ house moved away from Memphis when her father took a job somewhere else. (She wrote a beautiful farewell letter to Frank, promising that they would meet later on in life.) But Irene merely moved out into another circle. She continued to live on Vinton Avenue but she was, from that time on, just as definitely and permanently lost from our view as the little redhead. Frank and I met other girls; we were at an age when the world began to seem sometimes full of nothing but girls. And though Frank’s acquaintance among them was wider than mine, and his relationship with them always more intimate, still, in my mind at least, even I had a number of girls. Once I had met Mary Maxwell, of course, that was all over with for me. But from the time of my meeting with Mary my interest in Frank’s romances seemed greater than ever, somehow. It was as if once I knew what my own life was to be, I needed to participate more wholeheartedly in the lives of others. It was as if I could only sustain my own kind of life and find satisfaction in it by allowing myself that participation. I tell myself nowadays—whenever I find myself thinking too much about my friends, my children, or my students, wondering about the details of their lives, their love life, their sex life—I tell myself that a healthy imagination is like a healthy appetite and must be fed. If you do not feed it the lives of your friends, I maintain, then you are apt to feed it your own life, to live in your imagination rather than upon it.


  The Real Ghost


  


  HE WAS a man who kept nearly always to his own style; and not even in the present unlikely circumstances would it have been Hal’s style to make a headlong retreat down the stairs. He prided himself above all things on “keeping his cool.” Before beginning his descent he had halted abruptly at the next to top step of the stairway, and he brought his hand up to his parted lips, feeling with his fingers the very dry coolness of those lips.


  How long he remained poised so on the top step he couldn’t afterward have said. But he did know afterward, when he stood at the foot of the stairs again, just what he had confronted upstairs, though he did not know for how long a time he saw what he saw. What he had clearly seen was a face illumined in a bedroom looking glass and again in an uncurtained glass of a hall window, the outside louvered blinds of which were closed against the reflecting pane. In both instances it was the living and distinctly roseate face of someone other than himself that he saw. And yet he recognized there a being so like himself, too! That was the primary observation that he had had time to make. On the other hand the face in both reflections seemed to wear an expression that was wan and strangely eager to find some focus for its at once vacuous and possessive eye. It was not really of course a face that a man of his style and temperament could believe in. He instinctively doubted every appearance of self-possession or possibility of emotion that it presented to his view. Yet he knew that for a time the image that repeated itself in each pane of glass caused his teeth literally to chatter in his head. But he was not sure for how long a duration the chattering continued. It might almost have been in each instance for only a matter of seconds.


  Anyway, when he turned and headed back down the stairs, the turn backward had been abrupt and his descent was swift if not precipitant (precipitance would certainly not have been his style!). It was at something less than a run that he came down. Yet at the bottom of the long, curved flight, while passing his left hand over the well-remembered newel post there, Hal Crawley saw that hand of his tremble—oh, ever so lightly, indeed almost imperceptibly.


  The sight of the trembling hand and the thought of the teeth chattering upstairs now almost made Hal laugh aloud. But not quite. That too was not his style. Trembling and teeth-chattering were so exactly what one was supposed to manifest on seeing a ghost! And who believed in ghosts nowadays? Especially in broad daylight, especially in a house where one had grown up, and more especially in the house which, though full of furniture, had stood empty of people since the day of its late owner, who was of course Hal Crawley’s own late father. The house and the furniture in it seemed positively unfamiliar to Hal. But houses and furniture were not the sorts of things he ever paid much attention to. And strangely enough that was what his father’s banker, and the trust officer, and the crass real estate broker, too, had had the gall downtown to laugh at him about—as though it were something missing in his nature. And this from men who were supposed to be men of business.


  He had not quite run down the stairs; he didn’t quite laugh while crossing the familiar front hallway to the living room, and seeing the mist of his own breath before him, he told himself it was much too serious a circumstance for laughing. At his age and with his tendencies—at near fifty and with his lifelong tendency to “rigors”—he was apt to take his death of cold hanging about this long-unheated house. That’s what was serious! Whatever the apparition he had experienced at the top of the stairs had been, it was most likely, so he told himself now, the result of the chill which had come into his bones—not the cause of that chill.


  He went striding across the hall and into the living room. He did so with a sudden hope that he might actually find a fire already laid in the fireplace there. Or, more accurately, he went with the sudden knowledge that he would find such a fire laid. For if the house was truly furnished just as his father left it—as the Trust Department at the bank insisted it be, in order to make it more attractive to a prospective buyer—then there would most certainly be a log fire, complete with paper and lightwood, laid on the brass andirons.


  The fireplace was seldom used when Hal was growing up in the house—only at Thanksgiving, at Christmas, at New Year’s. But his father had forever insisted that the servants keep a fire laid, in case of an emergency, a fire laid and a box of matches on the mantel shelf. The contingency which the old man had explicitly anticipated was a power failure. But of course there were other kinds of contingencies. Although a power failure had occurred only once during all the years past—when a winter ice storm deprived the whole city of electricity for a few hours—still old Mr. Crawley had remained eternally vigilant; so long as he had lived he was fond of reminding his son of the one occasion when the fire did become a necessity, sometimes exaggerating the duration of that emergency by many hours. And always, under the metal match box on the mantel shelf he had kept written instructions of how to open the damper and at what place to drop the match.


  Hal found that there was indeed, as he had predicted, a fire laid in the living room! There was even the inevitable box of wooden kitchen matches on the mantel shelf. As he hurriedly took down the box and withdrew a match it seemed a wonder to him that the Trust Department, with all the rules and regulations imposed upon him since his father’s death, had not had all matches removed from the house. The trust officers had been so damnably thoroughgoing in their other safety precautions! It was all like something left over from his childhood. Because of them the furnace could not be kept in operation. They had had the electricity and gas and water cut off last March 15, the very day following his father’s funeral. But the regular cardboard match box he found on the mantel was contained in the ornamented copper casing that Hal’s mother had felt, in her day, made kitchen matches acceptable in the living room. He felt before him one last trial of obedience to household customs that had once ruled his life. Perhaps the bank people had not recognized the object on the mantel shelf as a match box or had considered the copper casing a sufficient safety precaution.


  But the matches were there in their old accustomed place. And as he stooped down, match in hand, Hal saw that the fire was laid precisely in its old, accustomed place in the very style his father had perfected. It had clearly been laid under the direction of his father—not last year, because in that year of his father’s final illness there had certainly been no fire lit during the winter holidays; and probably not during the entire winter before, because that was the year when Hal’s mother lay wasting away in the big bedroom above the living room. Mr. Crawley had been too dispirited to think of fires then, too concerned over the physical suffering of his wife and possibly too absorbed in memories of anguish that his own awful bursts of bad temper and his own overbearing nature had caused his wife in her lifetime. It seemed to Hal that his father and mother had been forever apologizing for things they had said to each other or each continually reassuring the other about imagined slights that neither of them had intended. What a trying household it had been to grow up in! Perhaps that was why he never himself ever thought of marrying. Perhaps it was why he went into the army for three years and came back to live not at home but in an apartment-hotel downtown. (Everything furnished!) And now every old piece of furniture and every old feeling of any kind devolved upon him to be disposed of! And, oh, he would dispose of it all forthwith. Momentarily he felt sure that the fire had been laid there in the living room a number of years back, during the last year of his father’s life, when the old man had seemed to spend most of his hours mulling over things he and “Mother” had said or not said to each other.


  Now striking the match on the hearth and lighting the crumpled newspaper, which would no doubt have given him the very date on which the fire was laid if he had really cared to know, Hal Crawley watched the flames blaze up from the paper, watched those flames ignite the knotty lightwood with small explosions and then blaze over the dry bark of the neatly stacked logs. At first there was no smoke, only clear golden flames. Then, squatting on the hearth, with the fire screen set to one side, Hal seemed to be hurled back suddenly by the very heat itself. No, it was more than the heat that made him go back so suddenly on his haunches! And now in the eccentric configuration of the flames he saw again the ghostly face that had appeared to him in the looking glass and in the window pane upstairs.


  He had pushed himself backward halfway across the room before his sight returned. He saw that the smoke was now pouring out the upper corners of the fireplace opening and rising along the paneled overmantel toward the ceiling. In his stupefaction he could only think of how “excellently” his father had always maintained that that chimney drew. When he had built the house his father had not left a matter so important as chimney construction to the architect, much less to the contractor. He had supervised the chimney’s construction himself. If there was one thing he did know, Mr. Crawley had said, it was how a chimney must be built if it was to draw properly. (What a thing to know!) Above all, it had to be shouldered correctly! He was a man who had grown up in the country, in the days when the draft in a fireplace was a vital matter. It had been in an old end-chimneyed house on the ­Tennessee-Kentucky state line, forty miles above the city of Nashville where he subsequently established himself in business and brought up his own family. Suddenly now Hal could visualize the wide, open chimney flues in his grandfather’s old house and recalled his father’s complaint that they had had no dampers in them. Then all at once Hal sprang forward into the billowing smoke before him, pushing his own face into the face he saw there. He had forgotten after all to open the damper! Even at the risk of encountering that same face again he rushed headlong—so to speak—into the smoke, seized the iron ring just below the lintel, and opened the damper which his father had designed and installed there. The smoke poured upward and the flames brightened and shot upward following the smoke, and immediately much of that smoke which had been hovering over the hearth whooshed inside the iron facing and up the chimney. And suddenly Hal felt completely detached from the whole room he was in. And the whole house seemed not at all his style!


  Now Hal moved about the living room, hoisting up windows and fanning the air with the morning newspaper, which until then had been folded under his arm. Though he felt an essential shiver run through his body, he was warmed somewhat by the activity itself and by the fire which now blazed handsomely inside and beyond the hearth. His thoughts were temporarily diverted from the apparition at the top of the stairs as well as that in the first burst of smoke. All at once he felt firm in a new resolve to sell the house. The faces in the windows and in the smoke disappeared forever from view. The banker and the trust officer and the dread real estate broker—all expected to join him here this morning and whose arrival was already overdue—haunted him momentarily as spirits and then vanished into reality. Hal could already imagine himself being blamed for filling the house with smoke and thus perhaps making decoration of the living room necessary before the house could be sold. But he scoffed at the idea as he stood before the flames and was his own master.


  The Instruction of a Mistress


  1. An entry in his journal


  


  I taught her everything she knows.


  All she was capable of teaching me


  Was how to drive a car.


  And what use could that be


  To me, living all winter on Central Park West


  And all summer at the Vineyard?


  Her teaching me to drive


  That week in the Poconos


  Was merely an exercise in patience


  On my part. What I was actually learning


  On that honeymoon, if you please, of ours


  Was just how much there was


  How many realms there were


  That I would have to be her teacher in.


  


  Well, I taught her more in five years


  Than she might otherwise have learnt in twenty—


  About art and literature and even foreign languages.


  So what’s all this fuss about now?


  Only let it be said: I was her college education.


  We were together those five long years


  And now, by God, it’s done. And those things I’ve mentioned—


  That curriculum I provided—


  Are only the fringe benefits


  Not her whole take from me, by any means.


  This much I’m sure of: She met people here of a sort


  That would not have swum into her ken


  Without my providing them—


  And never would have noticed her existence


  Except she was attached to me.


  And it’s people, isn’t it,


  She claims to set such store by nowadays—


  Not art, not literature, not learning.


  It’s humanity she’s so great on now, isn’t it?


  Now, that is to say, that she knows all


  She thinks one needs to know of what I know


  Or knows all of it, say I, she’s capable of taking in.


  


  It was beautiful watching her learn. At first


  I thought she might herself do something serious.


  (I always think so.)


  We read aloud in all the good languages (live or dead)


  And loved each other in them—and out of them—right along.


  


  “Per più fiate li occhi ci sospinse


  quella lettura, e scolorocci il viso—”


  


  “Even when you don’t understand it,” I used to say to her,


  “You can enjoy the sound of it.”


  Looking back, I feel she understood it all—


  Almost at once. All too well. She was very quick.


  But she enjoyed nothing. That, in the end,


  Is what I had above all else to teach her.


  


  There were certain complications.


  (There always are.)


  I wanted her to like my friends


  And make them hers


  Even when it meant their liking me less


  And turning on me—some of them—toward the last.


  I wanted her to like them,


  For how could she feel anything for what we read


  When she had had no life of her own


  That mattered.


  I wish all the world could have seen her


  When I first brought her here to stay


  (Nobody could believe I was serious at first)


  Or, better still, the day she first turned up


  In my classroom—I was doing a stint of lecturing


  Out in Cincinnati. Seven lectures, free


  To all comers, and with enough money in it for me


  To live the rest of the year on.


  She said things in the question periods there


  That made me see that anything, everything


  Might be possible where there was such innocence.


  I saw she was intelligent. And I could tell


  That nobody else in the room


  Could tell she was. She had read


  All the wrong things.


  The wrong poems, the wrong novels, the wrong quarterlies.


  But something about the way she didn’t mind learning


  They were the wrong ones


  Made me see her possibilities.


  It wasn’t just her reading that was misguided, though.


  She was fat and chewed gum and wore amethyst earrings


  And didn’t know that it mattered


  Didn’t even know it mattered she was obese.


  I couldn’t really blame my friends


  For being slow to believe in her. She was not


  Prepossessing. Not to their eyes.


  But that’s the kind of girl I’m often


  Taken with, attracted to. I’m apt to like her


  For all she’s not but could be—


  Given, of course, understanding and affection


  Given inspiration


  —From the right person.


  


  My friends did finally like her.


  They saw her transformed before their eyes.


  Partly, I suppose, they liked her just for that,


  Out of a kind of appreciation for the miracle


  And partly, I think, because they were happy to see


  I could still inspire such love and such change


  In a young girl.


  They took her places in the City


  I don’t go to any more


  Showed her things


  I don’t care about any more.


  There was a general satisfaction all round, I think,


  With the way things were, and were becoming.


  She gave entertainments of a most delightful sort—


  A costume party at Hallowe’en


  And again a masquerade at New Year’s.


  She got me up in costumes


  No one could recognize me in


  (She covered my bald head with a wild boy’s wig).


  On other occasions she gave me roles to play


  I did not know I was fitted for.


  I carved a duck, I drank too much wine, I danced.


  One would have thought I was her age,


  Though when I was her age, I was not like that at all.


  She made my old friends seem better friends.


  She introduced new people into our circle—


  People of a sort I had not known I could enjoy:


  Politicians and show people of a kind


  Who have intellectual pretensions.


  And in the summer


  When we all moved to the Vineyard


  She filled my cottage there with houseguests


  And kept them quiet till afternoon.


  Why, I was actually happy to see them there, too,


  When I emerged from my morning’s work in my study.


  I emerged from my study an affable old me


  Nobody knew existed.


  In the end, they said I had changed


  Even more than she had.


  


  The difference was,


  Nobody knew how much she had changed.


  When she first came to me


  She hardly knew how to let me


  Put an arm about her waist.


  One night I showed her herself in the mirror.


  She had no clothes on and was by then


  As slender as anyone wants any woman to be.


  When I said, “That’s you,” she looked at herself


  In astonishment.


  And from that moment she was mine.


  The life we knew from that moment


  Was something one doesn’t put down even


  In one’s journal. (Which, after all, one keeps only for posterity.)


  And from that moment


  The work I did, mornings in my study,


  Was almost beyond belief.


  At the end of a morning I’d look back over my pages


  In wonder.


  I could hardly believe it was me.


  


  But the general satisfaction all round


  Is what makes for difficulty now the end of it’s come.


  It is over, that’s all, so far as I can see.


  There is nothing more in it—not for me.


  But others won’t have it so—some of my friends, that is—


  Those who have been understanding of me before


  Come asking how I can do such a thing.


  I laugh in their faces.


  To myself I say,


  “Well, let her have those friends she’s made through me—


  I’ve some to spare—


  If that’s what she’s after.”


  And I tell them so—everybody.


  I can hardly count the friends she sets upon me


  Pleading privately, sometimes drunkenly,


  On the telephone, and usually after midnight,


  Or even denouncing me in print, some of them,


  In places it makes me laugh to see my name.


  They tell me I treat her like a student.


  That I treat all my lovers so and that it must stop now.


  I say, “Of course I do. They are my students.


  They learn from me. Don’t you recall


  How much she had to learn when she came?”


  And they say, reproachfully, that there must already be someone else


  For me to behave so.


  I say, “Of course there is.”


  I say, “Isn’t there always?


  Didn’t I push someone else out of the nest for her?


  And now it’s time for her to move over.


  I can’t help it if I’m the kind of man I am,” I tell them.


  “It’s what artists are like.


  Doesn’t everybody know that?”


  


  2. An old letter, found posthumously among her possessions


  


  Dearest Maud,


  You must not write me here again.


  Now that I’ve lost so much weight


  And look the perfect slut for him


  He suspects everyone of being “in love” with me.


  He has me watched constantly by his “trusted friends,”


  The literary toadies who surround him.


  If he suspected for one moment


  This body of mine had ever been touched before


  —Especially by a female of the species—


  He’d throw me out on my ear.


  Or maybe he’d keep me here and do worse.


  You wouldn’t believe . . . Well, anyway,


  He knows an immense amount about everything, including sex,


  As you used to say you “bet” he did.


  And I have learned and learned and learned.


  First thing you know I’ll be dropping French


  And Italian phrases in my letters.


  The trouble is he still keeps back


  What we’ve really wanted from him, darling.


  And I doubt sometimes he’ll ever give himself away.


  I mean I doubt sometimes that he could if he would.


  For I don’t think he knows how he does it—or, rather, did it.


  His art—as I see it now—and as you’ve always suspected—


  Has nothing to do with anything else in his life.


  


  At any rate, you must not write me here again.


  It was a harebrained scheme of yours sending me here


  In the first place, for our purposes.


  Who else but you, dearest, could have devised


  A scheme so underhanded or so daring or so wicked?


  Sometimes when he talks of having “discovered” me


  In that classroom in Cincinnati


  I can hardly keep from laughing in his face.


  Yes, I am very much aware, my dearest friend,


  That my sleuthing here was supposed to take six weeks


  And not the two years I’ve already stretched it to.


  But I must tell you frankly


  That though I haven’t unearthed the answer


  To our literary riddle,


  I have found something else I like.


  


  * * *


  


  It’s the life here I like, and I don’t mean


  To give it up. Moreover, I cannot say too often


  That your letters are the only immediate threat


  To what I have. You must not write me here again.


  You might spoil everything.


  And you must not do that if—


  If you know what’s good for you, my love.


  That sounds too crude and too harsh


  But I want to impress upon you


  Before you send another of your berating letters


  That I’ve found something more than literary treasure here,


  Something more than the germ of his creativity


  Which you and I thought we could do a book about.


  I know you will say to yourself: “It’s him!


  She’s fallen for him!”


  It’s not true, my only one.


  Oh, God, if you only knew how dull he is,


  How bald he is, how active his bladder, how inactive his bowels,


  And how he bores me . . . in bed.


  The source of his art, I must confess,


  Is buried too deep for me to fathom.


  Those poems you used to read aloud to me,


  Those poems that made him a world celebrity


  Cannot truly be credited to him


  But only to that mysterious person


  Whose death inspired them, whoever she was


  —Some girl he knew, perhaps only slightly, in his adolescence.


  Or some boy. Who knows?


  There have been moments in bed


  When I thought there was reason to suspect just that!


  


  I often think how right your intuition was


  When it told you he would like to find me plain


  So he could make me beautiful,


  That he would like to find me ignorant


  So he could educate me.


  It’s changing someone he likes.


  And I suppose that’s to be found in the poems,


  Though I can’t read them any more.


  No more can he, so far as I can tell!


  When he reads to us


  It’s always from his theorizing essays


  About art and literature and language.


  And he cares nothing about any of that.


  Not really. Not in the way one does when one is young.


  It’s all theory with him.


  None of it means anything


  (Not even bed means anything to him)


  Or has anything to do with those verses you love so.


  I remember your longing to know


  How the man who wrote that poetry in his youth


  Could waste the rest of his life


  Writing those dull essays, those endless analyses.


  Well, it’s his essays he’s like when you know him.


  His talk is eternally of his opinionated, analyzing self.


  Those around him and all the rest of the world, for that matter,


  May say his essays are brilliant and his talk is brilliant


  But it is only a case of the emperor’s-new-clothes.


  He’s so dull.


  From time to time I’ve found a chance


  To take a hurried peek into his journals


  (When he was away and careless where he left his keys)


  And the journals, I assure you, are as crudely written,


  As pretentious, as self-deceiving


  And as self-inflating and as dull


  As all his talk and all his other proseyfying of recent years.


  


  But still, my darling, when all is said,


  He does have his emperor’s new clothes


  To wear. No one dares deny him that.


  And I begin to wonder if


  After a certain time in life


  There is anything better, anything more comforting


  Than having the emperor’s new clothes to wear.


  Once they are yours, they are something


  People are less likely to take away from you


  Than anything else. People are such cowards and such fools.


  There is no one in the world, I think—


  No one in his literary world, at any rate—


  That would ask the terrible, ruinous question


  Of a man of his reputation.


  What is more—


  And this is what you must consider, my old friend—


  He has convinced the whole world,


  Himself included,


  That I am charming, gracious, beautiful, brilliant.


  Nobody who matters dare think otherwise.


  And so I have my own


  Empress’s new clothes to wear


  Which I won’t willingly give up.


  I am the darling of his court—of his coterie, others call it.


  Everyone wants to be seen with me everywhere.


  Everyone wants my opinion on everything.


  Because I am nearest to the throne.


  Well, can’t you see? You ought to see.


  If one cannot be Emperor,


  Then this is the next best thing.


  And don’t you see? You ought to see.


  It is not for him I want to stay on here.


  But for the place he gives me in the sun.


  It’s fame of a sort, or feels like fame.


  You’ve warned me sufficiently


  That he will tire of me one day


  As he has of the others.


  I know. I know. I know.


  I have lain awake nights, thinking just that.


  Oh, I know.


  And yet if only I could make him love me


  As he once loved


  The unnamed person of the poems!


  Then this would never end.


  How would that be possible, I ask myself


  (Because when you’ve tasted what I’ve tasted—


  Fame or near fame—it’s bitter to give it up),


  How would it be possible?


  It was the death of that person, wasn’t it,


  Which inspired


  His deepest feelings of love?


  And so, unless I die, he cannot love me forever.


  Well, if it’s only in death I can keep my place,


  If that’s the only way.


  Then at least it’s food for thought


  When we have our little quarrels, he and I.


  


  Dearest, don’t regret your loss of me


  When it’s you I’d love still


  If I could love anyone but myself—myself famous.


  And don’t pity me for what may lie ahead.


  I am happy, happy.


  But, love, you must not write me here again.


  


  3. An entry in his journal


  


  It was an accident.


  Of that we can all be certain.


  She made the wrong turn on the road, that’s all.


  It was a road she didn’t know as well


  As she thought she did.


  —Not untypical of her, I have to say.


  She hadn’t been to the Poconos in the five years


  Since we were there together.


  How could she be expected to remember


  Those twisting little mountain roads


  That seem to drop off into nowhere


  And do if you don’t watch yourself.


  No one has said to me it wasn’t an accident,


  And I know she would have left a note


  Or shown some sign of her intention


  If her act had been directed at me.


  Still, the thought occurs—the possibility.


  But I tell myself that even she


  In her recent morbid state of mind


  Would not have done such an awful thing to me.


  


  The people she had been staying with


  At Pocono Pines, tried to keep her from setting out


  At night. But she insisted she liked to drive at night,


  That she did her best thinking then.


  She had had a quiet day that day, they say.


  Had hardly mentioned my name.


  No hysterics, no histrionics of any kind.


  Just before setting out she did recite some lines


  From an old poem of mine that she had memorized


  Before she had ever set eyes on me.


  But she went on from that, they say, to talk of other things,


  Yawning and stretching before the fire


  In her very natural way


  And having one more cup of coffee for the road.


  She had most of her possessions with her in the car she’d rented.


  Among the few effects she had left behind


  In her efficiency at the Chelsea


  (I hadn’t known that’s where she had set up)


  Were a dozen or so books, odd bits of clothing,


  And some old letters and scribblings of her own


  (Which, under the circumstances, they very properly destroyed).


  Nothing else—no note or letter relevant to the tragedy.


  No accusations of me.


  


  It was one of those unfortunate accidents, that’s all,


  Made worse for the rest of us


  By the circumstances.


  Made worse for me, moreover,


  And given a special irony


  Because someone else whom I once loved,


  And who loved me every bit as much


  As she, did take his own life


  And made it seem an accident—


  Took his own life, I mean, because of me.


  


  I was a young boy in my early teens.


  Hardly more than a child,


  Though of course not a child any longer.


  And he was younger by only a few months.


  Or was it older? Since our acquaintance


  Lasted only a matter of weeks, there is really more


  That I don’t know about him than that I know.


  Our friendship was of so intense a kind


  That we did not ask questions about the other’s life.


  We had both so recently discovered our bodies, our minds,


  Our talents—our souls, it seemed to us—


  That nothing else seemed worth our talking of.


  


  And finally he killed himself for love of me.


  How else is one to say it? Of course


  It’s not as simple or as beautiful as that,


  But that’s about how I wrote down my recollection of it


  In my journal some years back. Only tonight


  In the wake of her death


  Did I go and look up the old entry.


  I had some trouble finding it,


  It was so brief. What struck me


  Was how coldly I had recorded the old facts


  (They were old even then when I decided


  To put them in my journal). And I was struck


  By how much better


  I seem to remember it all now than I did then.


  But perhaps the strangest part


  Is that sometime in the intervening years


  Or perhaps at the very time of writing it


  (I have no recollection of doing so)


  I had circled the passage with red pencil.


  In fact, without that circling of the pencil


  I don’t know how I might ever have found the passage


  There among the vast sheaf of papers


  Which I keep locked away


  From the eyes of all the world


  In my study files.


  


  How he died and why


  Is not something that could be told


  In the few declarative sentences I gave to it


  Twenty years ago. But I was right


  To try to do it that way. My poetry was all written then


  I knew there would be no more. I knew


  I must forget that boy and forget that night he died.


  But what a revelation it is


  —Through this poor girl’s sad death—what a revelation


  That I have not forgotten the old hidden facts,


  The old facts I so neatly skirted in my poems.


  


  The confidences he and I shared,


  The intimacy we had were like none


  I had known before in my life. To think


  There was someone else, and that another boy in my own school,


  Who shared my foolish dream of becoming someday


  A great artist of one kind or another!


  It made the games we had to play after class hours


  In that old-fashioned Latin school


  Seem like real games and altogether a joy to play


  When we could look at each other from opposing sides


  And wink at each other and know what we knew.


  


  It was at Class Day Exercises, in early May,


  That the thing happened.


  There was a banquet that night in the refectory.


  We sang the school songs


  And sang some parodies that I myself had made up.


  But to the two of us the Exercises all seemed hogwash.


  I don’t know which of us had the idea first,


  But we slipped out long before the alma mater was called for.


  It was a warm night. “Let’s go swimming,” he said,


  “In the reservoir.”


  We went on tiptoe


  Under the lighted windows of the gym,


  And then on through the dark lane


  Under the linden trees. Suddenly he stopped.


  He looked away into the dark as though he had heard


  Or seen something. But I could tell somehow


  It wasn’t that. When he looked back at me


  His eyes were full to the brim with tears.


  “What’s the matter?” I asked.


  “It’s only,” he said, “that I think you are so wonderful.”


  I drew away, but he seized both my hands and held them in his grasp.


  “I love you,” he said.


  “Don’t say that,” I protested, trying to draw my hands free.


  Before I could understand his intention really, he had leaned


  Forward and kissed me on the mouth.


  “You queer!” I shouted and spat into his face.


  At just that moment I think he saw the master


  Who must have followed us from the refectory


  And who now stood watching.


  And then he turned and he ran, and I raced after him.


  I’m not sure whether I meant


  To pummel him with my fists


  Or tell him it was all right.


  At any rate, the master called to us by name


  And presently I turned back.


  Oh God, I wish I had not.


  I never saw him again.


  They searched the woods for him half the night


  And found his body in the reservoir next morning.


  He had dived, by accident they said, into the shallow end.


  


  What might he have become if he had lived?


  What turn might our friendship


  Or our love have taken?


  In the days that followed it seemed to me sometimes


  That it might as easily have been myself


  Who made that advance


  For surely, somehow or other, in some way or other,


  I loved him no less than he loved me.


  It seemed to me he might well have spat into my face.


  And it might have been me


  Who was found floating in the reservoir.


  Instead, I was left in the silence


  Which my elders placed about me.


  The master walked me back to the refectory that night


  Without a word passing between us.


  Never afterward was my friend’s name


  Ever spoken in my presence—


  Not by my teachers, my parents, or even my classmates.


  But I kept him alive in my imagination


  Thinking each year, as I grew up and became a man,


  How he would be then if he had lived,


  How he and I would have loved


  Or liked each other.


  Ten years later when I began to write my poems to him


  I had, in my perversity, to turn him into a woman.


  I had, in fact, long since turned him into a woman in my mind.


  Something had happened that night in the linden path


  That made it my necessity to speak of love only to women.


  All other possibilities were that night cut off from me.


  I have said in print somewhere


  “The heroine of my poems


  Is a creature of my imagination.”


  So she is. The heroines


  Of all our love affairs are that.


  We must create creatures whom we can love.


  Else I do not know what love is.


  


  And tonight I have brought a new girl


  To live with me here in the apartment over Central Park.


  In June she’ll no doubt go with me to the Vineyard.


  She is very decent-looking.


  She possesses a superior mind.


  But she doesn’t know how to walk across a room.


  She walks like a boy


  And begins each sentence she utters with


  “Like” or “I mean.”


  She’s as young as that.


  No one thinks that I shall have her with me


  For very long.


  They don’t see so clearly as I


  What her potentiality is,


  How graceful and how well-spoken


  And how altogether feminine


  She will become


  Before she and I are through.


  The Hand of Emmagene


  After high school she had come down from Hortonsburg


  To find work in Nashville.


  She stayed at our house.


  And she began at once to take classes


  In a secretarial school.


  As a matter of fact, she wasn’t right out of high school.


  She had remained at home two years, I think it was,


  To nurse her old grandmother


  Who was dying of Bright’s disease.


  So she was not just some giddy young country girl


  With her head full of nonsense


  About running around to Nashville night spots


  Or even about getting married


  And who knew nothing about what it was to work.


  


  From the very beginning we had in mind


  —My wife and I did—


  That she ought to know some boys


  Her own age. That was one of our first thoughts.


  She was a cousin of ours, you see—or of Nancy’s.


  And she was from Hortonsburg,


  Which is the little country place


  Thirty miles north of Nashville


  Where Nancy and I grew up.


  That’s why we felt responsible


  For her social life


  As much as for her general welfare.


  We always do what we can, of course,


  For our kin when they come to town—


  Especially when they’re living under our roof.


  But instead of trying to entertain Emmagene


  At the Club


  Or by having people in to meet her,


  Nancy felt


  We should first find out what the girl’s interests were.


  We would take our cue from that.


  


  * * *


  


  Well, what seemed to interest her most in the world


  Was work. I’ve never seen anything quite like it.


  In some ways, this seemed the oddest thing about her.


  When she first arrived, she would be up at dawn,


  Before her “Cousin Nan” or I had stirred,


  Cleaning the house—we would smell floor wax


  Before we opened our bedroom door some mornings—


  Or doing little repair jobs


  On the table linen or bed linen


  Or on my shirts or even Nancy’s underwear.


  Often as not she would have finished


  The polishing or cleaning she had taken upon herself to do


  Before we came down. But she would be in the living room


  Or sun parlor or den or dining room


  Examining the objects of her exertions, admiring them,


  Caressing them even—Nancy’s glass collection


  Or the Canton china on the sideboard.


  One morning we found her with pencil and paper


  Copying the little geometrical animals


  From one of the oriental rugs.


  


  Or some mornings she would be down in the kitchen cooking


  Before the servants arrived


  (And of course she’d have the dishes she’d dirtied


  All washed and put away again before the cook


  Came in to fix breakfast). What she was making


  Down there in the pre-dawn hours


  Would be a cake or a pie for Nancy and me.


  (She didn’t eat sweets, herself.)


  Its aroma would reach us


  Before we were out of bed or just as we started down the stairs.


  But whether cleaning or cooking,


  She was silent as a mouse those mornings.


  We heard nothing. There were only the smells


  Before we came down. And after we came down there’d be


  Just the sense of her contentment.


  


  It was different at night. The washing machine


  Would be going in the basement till the wee hours,


  Or sometimes the vacuum cleaner


  Would be running upstairs before we came up


  Or running downstairs after we thought


  We’d put the house to bed.


  (We used to ask each other and even ask her


  What she thought the cook and houseman


  Were meant to do. Sometimes now we ask ourselves


  What did they do during the time that Emmagene was here.)


  And when she learned how much we liked to have fires


  In the living room and den, she would lay them


  In the morning, after cleaning out the old ashes.


  But at night we’d hear her out in the back yard


  Splitting a fireplace log, trying to get lightwood


  Or wielding the ax to make kindling


  Out of old crates or odd pieces of lumber.


  More than once I saw her out there in the moonlight


  Raising the ax high above her head


  And coming down with perfect accuracy


  Upon an up-ended log or a balanced two-by-four.


  


  There would be those noises at night


  And then we noticed sometimes the phone would ring.


  One of us would answer it from bed,


  And there would be no one there.


  Or there would be a click


  And then another click which we knew in all likelihood


  Was on the downstairs extension.


  One night I called her name into the phone—“Emmagene?”—


  Before the second click came, just to see if she were there.


  But Emmagene said nothing.


  There simply came the second click.


  


  There were other times, too, when the phone rang


  And there would be dead silence when we answered.


  “Who is it?” I would say. “Who are you calling?”


  Or Nancy would say, “To whom do you wish to speak?”


  Each of us, meanwhile, looking across the room at Emmagene.


  For we already had ideas then, about it. We had already


  Noticed cars that crept by the house


  When we three sat on the porch in the late spring.


  A car would mosey by, going so slow we thought surely it would stop.


  But if Nancy or I stood up


  And looked out over the shrubbery toward the street,


  Suddenly there would be a burst of speed.


  The driver would even turn on a cut-out as he roared away.


  


  More than once the phone rang while we were at the supper table


  On Sunday night. Emmagene always prepared that meal


  And did up the dishes afterward since the servants were off


  On Sunday night. And ate with us too, of course.


  I suppose it goes without saying


  She always ate at the table with us.


  She rather made a point of that from the start.


  Though it never would have occurred to us


  For it to be otherwise.


  You see, up in Hortonsburg


  Her family and my wife’s had been kin, of course,


  But quite different sorts of people really.


  Her folks had belonged to a hard-bitten fundamentalist sect


  And Nancy’s tended to be Cumberland Presbyterians


  Or Congregationalists or Methodists, at worst


  (Or Episcopalians, I suppose I might say “at best”).


  The fact was, Nancy’s family—like my own—


  Went usually to the nearest church, whatever it was.


  Whereas Emmagene’s traveled thirteen miles each Sunday morning


  To a church in the hilly north end of the County,


  A church of a denomination that seemed always


  To be changing its name by the addition of some qualifying adjective.


  Either that or seceding from one synod or joining another.


  Or deciding just to go it alone


  Because of some disputed point of scripture.


  


  Religion aside, however, there were differences of style.


  And Emmagene—very clearly—had resolved


  Or been instructed before leaving home


  To brook no condescension on our part.


  “We’re putting you in the guest room,” Nancy said


  Upon her arrival. And quick as a flash Emmagene added:


  “And we’ll take meals together?”


  “Why of course, why of course,” Nancy said,


  Placing an arm about Emmagene’s shoulder.


  “You’ll have the place of honored guest at our table.”


  


  Well, on Sunday nights it was more like we


  Were the honored guests,


  With the servants off, of course,


  And with Emmagene electing to prepare our favorite


  Country dishes for us, and serving everything up


  Out in the pantry, where we always take that meal.


  It was as though we were all back home in Hortonsburg.


  But if the phone rang,


  Emmagene was up from the table in a split second


  (It might have been her own house we were in)


  And answered the call on the wall phone in the kitchen.


  I can see her now, and hear her, too.


  She would say “Hello,” and then just stand there, listening,


  The receiver pressed to her ear, and saying nothing more at all.


  At first, we didn’t even ask her who it was.


  We would only look at each other


  And go back to our food—


  As I’ve said, we were more like guests at her house


  On Sunday night. And so we’d wait till later


  To speak about it to each other.


  We both supposed from the start


  It was some boy friend of hers she was too timid to talk with


  Before us. You see, we kept worrying


  About her not having any boy friends


  Or any girl friends, either.


  We asked ourselves again and again


  Who in our acquaintance we could introduce her to,


  What nice Nashville boy we knew who would not mind


  Her plainness or her obvious puritanical nature—


  She didn’t wear make-up, not even lipstick or powder,


  And didn’t do anything with her hair.


  She wore dresses that were like maid’s uniforms except


  Without any white collars and cuffs.


  Nancy and I got so we hesitated to take a drink


  Or even smoke a cigarette


  When she was present.


  I soon began watching my language.


  


  I don’t know how many times we saw her


  Answer the phone like that or heard the clickings


  On the phone upstairs. At last I told Nancy


  She ought to tell the girl she was free


  To invite whatever friends she had to come to the house.


  Nancy said she would have to wait for the opportunity;


  You didn’t just come out with suggestions like that


  To Emmagene.


  


  One Sunday night the phone rang in the kitchen.


  Emmagene answered it, of course, and stood listening for a time.


  Finally, very deliberately, as always,


  She returned the little wall phone to its hook.


  I felt her looking at us very directly


  As she always did when she put down the phone.


  This time Nancy didn’t pretend


  To be busy with her food.


  “Who was that, Emmagene?” she asked


  In a very polite, indifferent tone.


  “Well, I’ll tell you,” the girl began


  As though she had been waiting forever to be asked.


  “It’s some boy or other I knew up home.


  Or didn’t know.” She made an ugly mouth and shrugged.


  “That’s who it always is,” she added, “in case you care to know.”


  There was a too obvious irony


  In the way she said “care to know.”


  As though we ought to have asked her long before this.


  “That’s who it is in the cars, too,” she informed us—


  Again, as though she had been waiting only too long for us to ask.


  “When they’re off work and have nothing better to do


  They ring up or drive by


  Just to make a nuisance of themselves.”


  “How many of them are there?” Nancy asked.


  “There’s quite some few of them,” Emmagene said with emphasis.


  “Well, Emmagene,” I suddenly joined in.


  “You ought to make your choice


  And maybe ask one or two of them to come to the house to see you.”


  She looked at me with something like rage.


  “They are not a good sort,” she said. “They’re a bad lot.


  You wouldn’t want them to set foot on your front steps.


  Much less your front porch or in your house.”


  


  I was glad it was all coming out in the open and said,


  “They can’t all be all bad. A girl has to be selective.”


  She stood looking at me for a moment


  In a kind of silence only she could keep.


  Then she went into the kitchen and came back


  Offering us second helpings from the pot of greens.


  And before I could say more,


  She had changed the subject and was talking about the sermon


  She had heard that morning, quoting with evangelistic fervor,


  Quoting the preacher and quoting the Bible.


  It was as if she were herself hearing all over again


  All she had heard that very morning


  At that church of hers somewhere way over on the far side


  Of East Nashville. It was while she was going on


  About that sermon that I began to wonder for the first time


  How long Emmagene was going to stay here with us.


  I found myself reflecting:


  She hasn’t got a job yet and she hasn’t got a beau.


  


  It wasn’t that I hadn’t welcomed Emmagene as much as Nancy


  And hadn’t really liked having her in the house.


  We’re always having relatives from the country


  Stay with us this way. If we had children


  It might be different. This big house wouldn’t


  Seem so empty then. (I often think we keep the servants


  We have, at a time when so few people have any servants at all,


  Just because the servants help fill the house.)


  Sometimes it’s the old folks from Hortonsburg we have


  When they’re taking treatments


  At the hospital or at one of the clinics.


  Or it may be a wife


  Who has to leave some trifling husband for a while.


  (Usually the couples in Hortonsburg go back together.)


  More often than not it’s one of the really close kin


  Or a friend we were in school with or who was in our wedding.


  We got Emmagene


  Because Nancy heard she was all alone


  Since her Grandma died


  And because Emmagene’s mother


  Before she died


  Had been a practical nurse and had looked after Nancy’s mother


  In her last days. It was that sort of thing.


  And it was no more than that.


  But we could see from the first how much she loved


  Being here in this house and loved Nancy’s nice things.


  That’s what they all love, of course.


  That’s what’s so satisfying about having them here,


  Seeing how they appreciate living for a while


  In a house like ours. But I don’t guess


  Any of them ever liked it better than Emmagene


  Or tried harder to please both Nancy and me


  And the servants, too. Often we would notice her


  Even after she had been here for months


  Just wandering from room to room


  Allowing her rather large but delicately made hands


  To move lightly over every piece of furniture she passed.


  One felt that in the houses she knew around Hortonsburg


  —In her mother’s and grandmother’s houses—


  There had not been pretty things—not things she loved to fondle.


  It was heartbreaking to see her the day she broke


  A pretty pink china vase that Nancy had set out in a new place


  In the sun parlor. The girl hadn’t seen it before.


  She took it up in her strong right hand


  To examine it. Something startled her—


  A noise outside, I think. Maybe it was a car going by,


  Maybe one of those boys. . . . Suddenly the vase crashed to the floor.


  Emmagene looked down at the pieces, literally wringing her hands


  As if she would wring them off, like chickens’ necks if she could.


  I was not there. Nancy told me about it later.


  She said that though there was not a sign of a tear in the girl’s eyes,


  She had never before seen such a look of regret and guilt


  In a human face. And what the girl said


  Was even stranger. Nancy and I


  Have mentioned it to each other many times since.


  “I despise my hand for doing that,” she wailed.


  “I wish—I do wish I could punish it in some way.


  I ought to see it don’t do anything useful for a week.”


  


  One night on the porch


  When one of those boys went by in his car


  At a snail’s pace


  And kept tapping lightly on his horn,


  I said to Emmagene, “Why don’t you stand up and wave to him,


  Just for fun, just to see what happens? I don’t imagine


  They mean any harm.”


  “Oh, you don’t know!” she said.


  “They’re a mean lot.


  They’re not like some nice Nashville boy


  That you and Cousin Nan might know.”


  Nancy and I sat quiet after that,


  As if some home truth had been served up to us.


  It wasn’t just that she didn’t want to know


  Those Hortonsburg boys.


  She wanted to know Nashville boys


  Of a kind we might introduce her to and approve of.


  I began to see—and so did Nancy, the same moment—


  That Emmagene had got ideas about herself


  Which it wouldn’t be possible for her to realize.


  She not only liked our things. She liked our life.


  She meant somehow to stay. And of course


  It would never do. The differences were too deep.


  That is to say, she had no notion of changing herself.


  She was just as sure now


  About what one did and didn’t do


  As she had been when she came.


  She still dressed herself without any ornamentation


  Or any taste at all. And would have called it a sin to do so.


  Levity of any kind seemed an offense to her.


  There was only one Book anyone need read.


  Dancing and drinking and all that


  Was beyond even thinking about.


  And yet the kind of luxury we had in our house


  Had touched her. She felt perfectly safe, perfectly good


  With it. It was a bad situation


  And we felt ourselves somewhat to blame.


  Yet what else could we do


  But help her try to find a life of her own?


  That had been our good intention from the outset.


  


  I investigated those boys who did the ringing up


  And the horn blowing. In Nashville you have ways


  Of finding out who’s in town from your home town.


  It’s about like being in Paris or Rome


  And wanting to know who’s there from the U.S.A.


  You ask around among those who speak the home tongue.


  And so I asked about those boys.


  They were, I had to acknowledge, an untamed breed.


  But, still, I said to Nancy, “Who’s to tame ’em


  If not someone like Emmagene? It’s been going on


  Up there in Horton County for, I’d say—well,


  For a good many generations anyway.”


  


  I don’t know what got into us, Nancy and me.


  We set about it more seriously, more in earnest,


  Trying to get her to see something of those boys.


  I’m not sure what got into us. Maybe it was seeing Emmagene


  Working her fingers to the bone


  —For no reason at all. There was no necessity.—


  And loving everything about it so.


  Heading out to secretarial school each morning,


  Beating the pavements in search of a job all afternoon,


  Then coming home here and setting jobs for herself


  That kept her up half the night.


  Suddenly our house seemed crowded with her in it.


  Not just to us, but to the servants, too.


  I heard the cook talking to her one night in the kitchen.


  “You ought to see some young folks your own age.


  You ought to have yourself a nice fellow.”


  “What nice young fellow would I know?” Emmagene asked softly.


  “I’m not sure there is such a fellow—not that I would know.”


  “Listen to her!” said the cook. “Do you think we don’t see


  Those fellows that go riding past here?”


  “They’re trash!” Emmagene said. “And not one of them


  That knows what a decent girl is like!”


  “Listen to her!” said the cook.


  “I hear her,” said the houseman, “and you hear her.


  But she don’t hear us. She don’t hear nobody but herself.”


  “Ain’t nobody good enough for you?” the cook said.


  “I’d like to meet some boy


  Who lives around here,” the poor girl said.


  And to this the cook said indignantly,


  “Don’t git above your raisin’, honey.”


  Emmagene said no more. It was the most


  Any of us would ever hear her say on that subject.


  Presently she left the kitchen


  And went up the back stairs to her room.


  


  Yet during this time she seemed happier than ever


  To be with us. She even took to singing


  While she dusted and cleaned. We’d hear


  Familiar old hymns above the washer and the vacuum cleaner.


  And such suppers as we got on Sunday night!


  Why, she came up with country ham and hot sausage


  That was simply not to be had in stores where Nancy traded.


  And then she did find a job!


  She finished her secretarial training


  And she came up with a job


  Nowhere else but in the very building


  Where my own office is.


  There was nothing for it


  But for me to take her to work in my car in the morning


  And bring her home at night.


  


  But there was a stranger coincidence than where her job was.


  One of those boys from Hortonsburg turned out to run the elevator


  In our building. Another of them brought up my car each night


  In the parking garage. I hadn’t noticed before


  Who those young fellows were that always called me by name.


  But then I noticed them speaking to her too


  And calling her “Emmagene.” I teased her about them a little


  But not too much, I think. I knew to take it easy


  And not spoil everything.


  


  Then one night the boy in the garage


  When he was opening the car door for Emmagene, said,


  “George over there wants you to let him carry you home.”


  This George was still another boy from Hortonsburg


  (Not one that worked in my building or in the garage)


  And he saluted me across the ramp.


  “Why don’t you ride with him, Emmagene?” I said.


  I said it rather urgently, I suppose.


  Then without another word, before Emmagene could climb in beside me,


  The garage boy had slammed my car door.


  And I pulled off, down the ramp—


  With my tires screeching.


  


  At home, Nancy said I ought to have been ashamed.


  But she only said it after an hour had passed


  And Emmagene had not come in.


  At last she did arrive, though


  Just as we were finishing dinner.


  We heard a car door slam outside.


  We looked at each other and waited.


  Finally Emmagene appeared in the dining-room doorway.


  She looked at us questioningly,


  First at Nancy’s face, then at mine.


  When she saw how pleased we were


  She came right on in to her place at the table


  And she sat down, said her blessing,


  And proceeded to eat her supper as though nothing unusual had happened.


  


  She never rode to or from work with me again.


  There was always somebody out there


  In the side driveway, blowing for her in the morning


  And somebody letting her out in the driveway at night.


  For some reason she always made them let her out


  Near the back door, as though it would be wrong


  For them to let her out at the front.


  And then she would come on inside the house the back way.


  


  She went out evenings sometimes, too,


  Though always in answer to a horn’s blowing in the driveway


  And never, it seemed, by appointment.


  She would come to the living-room door


  And say to us she was going out for a little ride.


  When we answered with our smiling countenances


  She would linger a moment, as if to be sure


  About what she read in our eyes


  Or perhaps to relish what she could so clearly read.


  Then she would be off.


  And she would be home again within an hour or two.


  


  It actually seemed as if she were still happier with us now


  Than before. And yet something was different too.


  We both noticed it. The hymn singing stopped.


  And—almost incredible as it seemed to us—


  She developed a clumsiness, began tripping over things


  About the house, doing a little damage here and there


  In the kitchen. The cook complained


  That she’d all but ruined the meat grinder,


  Dropping it twice when she was unfastening it from the table.


  She sharpened the wood ax on the knife sharpener—or tried to—


  And bent the thing so the houseman insisted


  We’d have to have another.


  What seemed more carelessness than clumsiness


  Was that she accidentally threw away


  One of Nancy’s good spoons, which the cook retrieved


  From the garbage can. Nancy got so she would glance at me


  As if to ask, “What will it be next?—poor child.”


  We noticed how nervous she was at the table,


  How she would drop her fork on her plate—


  As if she intended to smash the Haviland—


  Or spill something on a clean place mat.


  Her hands would tremble, and she would look at us


  As though she thought we were going to reprimand her,


  Or as if she hoped we would.


  One day when she broke off the head of a little figurine


  While dusting, she came to Nancy with the head


  In one hand and the body in the other.


  Her two hands were held so tense,


  Clasping so tightly the ceramic pieces,


  That blue veins stood out where they were usually


  All creamy whiteness. Nancy’s heart went out to her.


  She seized the two hands in her own


  And commenced massaging them


  As if they were a child’s, in from the snow.


  She told the girl that the broken shepherd


  Didn’t matter at all,


  That there was nothing we owned


  That mattered that much.


  


  Meanwhile, the girl continued to get calls at night


  On the telephone. She would speak a few syllables


  Into the telephone now. Usually we couldn’t make out what she was saying


  And we tried not to hear. All I ever managed


  To hear her say—despite my wish not to hear—


  Were things like “Hush, George,” or “Don’t say such things.”


  Finally one night Nancy heard her say:


  “I haven’t got the kind of dress to wear to such a thing.”


  


  That was all Nancy needed. She got it out of the girl


  What the event was to be. And next morning


  Nancy was downtown by the time the stores opened,


  Buying Emmagene a sleeveless, backless evening gown.


  It seemed for a time Nancy had wasted her money.


  The girl said she wasn’t going to go out anywhere


  Dressed like that. “You don’t think I’d put you in a dress


  That wasn’t proper to wear,” said Nancy, giving it to her very straight.


  “It isn’t a matter of what you think


  Is proper,” Emmagene replied. “It’s what he would think it meant—


  George, and maybe some of the others, too.”


  They were in the guest room, where Emmagene was staying,


  And now Nancy sat down on the twin bed opposite


  The one where Emmagene was sitting, and facing her.


  “This boy George doesn’t really misbehave with you,


  Does he, Emmagene?” Nancy asked her. “Because if he does,


  Then you mustn’t, after all, go out with him—


  With him or with the others.”


  “You know I wouldn’t let him do that, Cousin Nan,” she said.


  “Not really. Not the real thing, Cousin Nan.”


  “What do you mean?” Nancy asked in genuine bewilderment.


  The girl looked down at her hands, which were folded in her lap.


  “I mean, it’s my hands he likes,” she said.


  And she quickly put both her hands behind her, out of sight.


  “It’s what they all like if they can’t have it any other way.”


  And then she looked at Nancy the way she had looked


  At both of us when we finally asked her who it was on the telephone,


  As though she’d only been waiting for such questions.


  And then, as before, she gave more


  Than she had been asked for.


  “Right from the start, it was the most disgusting kind of things


  They all said to me on the telephone. And the language, the words.


  You wouldn’t have known the meaning, Cousin Nan.”


  When she had said this the girl stood up


  As if to tell Nancy it was time she leave her alone.


  And with hardly another word Nancy came on to our room.


  She was so stunned she was half the night


  Putting it across to me just what the girl had told her


  Or had tried to tell her.


  


  Naturally, we thought we’d hear no more about the dress.


  But, no, it was the very next night, after dinner,


  That she came down to us in the living room


  And showed herself to us in that dress Nancy had bought.


  It can’t properly be said she was wearing it,


  But she had it on her like a nightgown,


  As if she didn’t have anything on under it.


  And her feet in a pair of black leather pumps—


  No make-up, of course, her hair pulled back as usual into a knot.


  There was something about her, though, as she stood there


  With her clean scrubbed face and her freshly washed hair


  And in that attire so strange and unfamiliar to her


  That made one see the kind of beauty she had,


  For the first time. And somehow one knew what she was going to say.


  “I’ll be going out,” she said, searching our faces


  As she had got so she was always doing when she spoke to us.


  Nancy rose and threw her needlework on the chair arm


  And didn’t try to stop it when it fell onto the floor.


  Clearly, she too had perceived suddenly a certain beauty about the girl.


  She went over to her at once and said,


  “Emmagene, don’t go out with George again.


  It isn’t wise.” They stepped into the hall


  With Nancy’s arm about the girl’s waist.


  “I’ve got to go,” Emmagene said.


  And as she spoke a horn sounded in the driveway.


  “George is no worse than the rest,” she said.


  “He’s better. I’ve come to like things about him now.”


  There was more tapping on the horn,


  Not loud but insistent.


  “He’s not the kind of fellow I’d have liked to like.


  But I can’t stop now. And you’ve gone and bought this dress.”


  


  Nancy didn’t seem to hear her. “You mustn’t go,” she said.


  “I couldn’t live through this evening.


  I’d never forgive myself.” The horn kept it up outside,


  And the girl drew herself away from Nancy.


  Planting herself in the middle of the hall


  She gave us the first line of preaching we’d ever heard from her:


  “It is not for us to forgive ourselves. God forgives us.”


  Nancy turned and appealed to me. When I stood up


  The girl said defiantly, “Oh, I’m going!”


  She was speaking to both of us. “You can’t stop me now!”


  The car horn had begun a sort of rat-a-tat-tat.


  “That’s what he’s like,” she said, nodding her head


  Toward the driveway where he was tapping the horn.


  “You can’t stop me now!


  I’m free, white, and twenty-one.


  That’s what he says about me.”


  Still the horn kept on,


  And there was nothing we could think to say or do.


  Nancy did say, “Well, you’ll have to have a wrap.


  You can’t go out like that in this weather.”


  She called to the cook, who came running


  (She must have been waiting just beyond the hall door to the kitchen)


  And Nancy sent her to the closet on the landing


  To fetch her velvet evening cape.


  There was such a commotion


  With the girl running out through the kitchen,


  The cape about her shoulders and billowing out behind,


  Almost knocking over the brass umbrella stand,


  I felt the best thing I could do was to sit down again.


  Nancy and the cook were whispering to each other


  In the hall. I could see their lips moving


  And then suddenly I heard the groan or scream


  That came from the kitchen and could be heard all over the house.


  


  I went out through the dining room and the pantry


  But the cook got there first by way of the back hall door.


  The cook said she heard the back door slam.


  I didn’t hear it. Nancy said afterward she heard


  The car door slam. We all heard the car roar down the driveway


  In reverse gear. We heard the tires whining


  As the car backed into the street and swung around


  Into forward motion. None of that matters,


  But that’s the kind of thing you tend to recall later.


  What we saw in the kitchen was the blood everywhere.


  And the ax lying in the middle of the linoleum floor


  With the smeary trail of blood it left


  When she sent it flying. The houseman


  Came up from the servants’ bathroom in the basement


  Just when the cook and I got there.


  He came in through the back porch.


  He saw what we saw of course


  Except he saw more. I followed his eyes


  As he looked down into that trash can at the end of the counter


  And just inside the porch door. But he turned away


  And ran out onto the back porch without lifting his eyes again.


  And I could hear him being sick out there.


  


  The cook and I looked at each other


  To see who would go first.


  I knew I had to do it, of course.


  I said, “You keep Miss Nancy out of here,”


  And saw her go back into the hall.


  I went over to the trash can,


  Stepping over the ax and with no thought in my head


  But that I must look. When I did look,


  My first thought was, “Why, that’s a human hand.”


  I suppose it was ten seconds or so before I was enough myself


  To own it was Emmagene’s hand


  She had cut off with the wood ax.


  I did just what you would expect.


  I ran out into the driveway, seeing the blood every step,


  And then back inside, past the houseman still retching over the banister,


  And telephoned the police on the kitchen telephone.


  They were there in no time.


  


  The boy who had been waiting for Emmagene


  In the car, and making the racket with his horn


  Used better judgment than a lot of people might have.


  When she drew back the velvet cape and showed him


  What she had done to herself


  And then passed out on the seat,


  He didn’t hesitate, didn’t think of bringing her back inside the house,


  He lit out for the emergency room at the hospital.


  Though she was dead when he got her there,


  It is probably true


  That if anything at all could have saved her


  It was his quiet thinking that would have done it.


  Anyhow, everybody congratulated the boy—


  The police, and the doctors as well.


  The police arrested him in the emergency waiting room,


  But I went down to the station that night


  And we had him free by nine o’clock next morning.


  He was just a big country boy, really,


  Without any notion of what he was into.


  We looked after arrangements for Emmagene, of course,


  And took the body up to Hortonsburg for burial.


  The pastor from her church came to the town cemetery


  And held a graveside service for her.


  He and everybody else said a lot of consoling things to us.


  They were kind in a way that only country people


  Of their sort can be,


  Reminding us of how hospitable we’d always been


  To our kinfolks from up there


  And saying Emmagene had always been


  A queer sort of a girl, even before she left home.


  Even that boy George’s parents were at the service.


  Nancy and I did our best to make them see


  George wasn’t to be blamed too much.


  After all, you could tell from looking at his parents


  He hadn’t had many advantages.


  He was a country boy who grew up kind of wild no doubt.


  He had come down to Nashville looking for a job


  And didn’t have any responsible relatives here


  To put restraints upon him


  Or to give him the kind of advice he needed.


  That might have made all the difference for such a boy,


  Though of course it wasn’t something you could say


  To George’s parents—


  Not there at Emmagene’s funeral, anyway.


  Three Heroines


  Dedicated to the memory of Lily Heth Dabney, another of my heroines


  


  Dressed to the nines, and she is eighty-six!


  A gold lamé gown,


  Savage pearls in her pierced earlobes!


  Diamonds blazing


  That her Grandmother Haynes wore


  A century ago!


  In Washington City!


  Before the War!


  


  The exclamations are all mine, not hers—


  And silent. My questions all silent, too:


  Who does the woman think she is?


  Where does she think she’s going in that outfit,


  At her age, in her health?


  It’s not as though I don’t know, her son,


  And she doesn’t herself know


  And the black maid who dresses her, Willie Mae,


  And everybody else who cares at all to,


  Does not know


  In precisely what plot of cemetery ground


  This woman will be lying six weeks hence


  . . . at most.


  


  “Let me do it,” says Willie Mae


  About everything. Snapping the golden snaps


  As she stands behind her mistress, towering above her,


  Towering even in heel-less carpet slippers


  (“Where does Willie Mae find such slippers any more?”),


  Pulling the snaps together with her powerful brown hands,


  Pulling the gold cloth over the white powdered back


  Of my beautiful mother.


  I stand in the doorway, watching, watching,


  Waiting in my black tie and dinner jacket


  Which I have not worn in ten years till tonight


  But which I brought with me on the plane


  For her sake, at her request.


  


  And Willie Mae arranging the almost too silvery-white mane


  (Silvery. Almost like, but not quite like, the blue heads


  Of her “less well-bred contemporaries”


  With whom she is “reduced to associating”—


  So few of her very own sort are left.)


  The long silvery-white hair thinned by time and perhaps by hats


  (Party hats, shopping hats, church hats—


  Wide-brimmed hats, cloche hats, turbans,


  Whatever the fashion is)


  But hair thickened tonight, filled in, ratted by Willie till it can deceive


  Even me, who remembers the old real thickness


  The old burnt-umber color, everything, how every hair


  And every strand once grew and fell, fell tenderly and attentively


  Over a child that had mumps or measles


  And needed attention


  And no doubt once upon a time


  Over a lover, a husband.


  


  And now Willie Mae’s handsome hands


  Pushing her down onto the dressing-table stool


  Like a child. But she is not yielding like a child.


  Her knees and her hips yield,


  But her posture is unaffected by standing or sitting.


  With her long body and short legs she sits


  Almost as high as she stands.


  When I remark on this, she says,


  “A long torso means a long life—


  Plenty of room for all the vital organs.”


  It is one of her jokes.


  It is something, in fact, that her Grandmother Haynes used to say


  About herself, in her late eighties, too,


  Not before the War, in Washington City


  But back in Tennessee, the War over


  And everything gone but her diamonds (raked from the ashes)


  And her flat silver (buried and then a year later exhumed


  “Thirty yards N.E. walking in a straight line from the sycamore”)


  And her faded finery, including the black lace mantilla


  (From which she was never parted by war or economic pestilence),


  Proud and witty till the end, that old lady,


  Herself finally buried in the shade of that same sycamore,


  Proud till the end of what she had endured,


  Proud of all she had survived.


  


  In her gold lamé, my mother recalls it all


  And regales us with it one more time, me and Willie Mae.


  Seated there on the silk-skirted dressing-table stool


  With Willie Mae kneeling before her, sitting


  Straight as if corseted, which of course she isn’t,


  With the false hair Willie has piled on her head


  And the false figure just as deceiving


  Which Willie also has arranged,


  The dress cut low in front, though not so low as to reveal


  The old scar from her mastectomy (forty years back


  When I was twelve, the operation that she survived


  When others were not surviving it).


  


  Willie Mae is massaging her miniature feet,


  Working them into the miniature gold slippers, tiny feet


  But swollen, almost beyond recognition as feet


  Until they shall be forcibly shod by the firm hand of Willie Mae.


  One feels the pain in the room. In one’s own feet.


  But my mother doesn’t bat an eye. Not a wince from her.


  Willie hesitates considerately,


  Balancing the right slipper lightly in her gentle palm,


  Looking up, questioningly.


  But Mother, not returning the look, says,


  “Go ahead please, Willie Mae.”


  And herself goes ahead with whatever the funny thing is


  She is saying to me.


  “There!” Willie Mae says at last. “There you are.


  We’ve got you in them. Now you can go to the ball, Cinderella.”


  And to me: “Ain’t she a pretty thing?”


  (Archly, knowing how little I like her to play the black-nigger).


  My mother gazes down at her swollen feet.


  “Ah,” she sighs. And then suddenly she is laughing:


  “This is one Cinderella who won’t lose a slipper at the ball.


  We’ll have to take them off with the can opener, Willie Mae.”


  And Willie laughs so hard she has to hide her face


  In her hands, still squatting there. She rocks back and forth.


  I think she is laughing. I hope she is laughing.


  Then her frizzy old wig goes askew on her head


  And she throws up her hands to hold it on.


  She’s like a madwoman, there on her haunches


  Her whole body throbbing and shaking,


  Her big hands holding her head on


  . . . And Mother sits very erect, watching her.


  Wearing her most serious expression, she watches Willie Mae.


  


  Now we are standing in the narrow side hall, Mother and I.


  We are almost on our way. The car and driver


  Are patient outside in the porte-cochere.


  Suddenly I remember where it is we’re going.


  I’d never thought we’d really go. Not


  When she telephoned long-distance and asked I come out


  And play her escort: the Golden Wedding Reception


  Of a couple she hardly knew the names of.


  Still, it was to be at the Club, wasn’t it?


  Everyone would be there, wouldn’t they?


  “And I might possibly never go to such a grand affair


  Again.” Incredible words, I say to myself.


  Imagine! But we keep it up, she and I.


  And now I see the whole evening before me,


  See just how it will be. “Are you sure you want to go, Mother?


  Are you sure you ought to go, after all?” I ask


  With a forced smile, dropping down before her on a straight hall chair.


  


  “Why, sure, she ought to go!” cries Willie Mae,


  Appearing from nowhere, the Fairy Godmother.


  Holding wide the silk-lined mink cape,


  She swoops down upon Mother,


  Enfolds her in the cape.


  For a moment the leathery-brown arms are wrapped


  About the lighter brown fur like a belt.


  She holds Mother as if she were a baby


  In a blanket. She all but kisses her


  But doesn’t want to spoil the rouged cheek.


  She says: “Sure, she ought to go.


  My darlin’s going to have the time of her life.”


  Now I am on my feet again.


  Mother stares up at me with eyes bright as a child’s.


  The coloring of her rouge and lipstick seems real—


  More than real.


  As real as a doll’s coloring.


  She is more real than life.


  She is something Willie Mae has put together


  To amuse a sick child with.


  


  It is such a party as one goes to in one’s dreams.


  That is, in nightmares of a milder sort.


  At most there are six faces


  In all the vast clutter of faces


  Which I think that I can match with names


  And in half that number


  It is the wrong name I actually come up with.


  Yet, sticking like pitch to Mother,


  I am smiled upon by everyone.


  A faithful son at such an affair as this


  Is everybody’s hero. And my beautiful mother


  Is everybody’s heroine. They flock to her


  And stand about listening to her famous bon-mots,


  Her jokes, her stories. When it is crudely suggested by someone


  That she might be the oldest person present, she says:


  “I don’t mind being old;


  There’s just no future in it.”


  —A moment’s hush, then a burst of laughter.


  “Dear lady, with your high-piled silver tresses


  And your golden draperies, you are


  Like a Greek goddess mingling tonight


  Amongst the mere mortals of the Country Club.”


  —He is “some old professor emeritus


  From the University.” Or so someone whispers in my ear.


  I feel myself blushing. She blinks at him


  Twice or three times.


  And then, after only a moment’s reflection:


  “As to my golden draperies—


  Greek accusative, Herr Professor—


  They are of course in honor of the occasion,


  Bought new for our dear friend’s wedding anniversary. . . .


  Something old—that’s me.


  Something new—that’s the dress.


  Something borrowed—that’s my son’s strength.


  Something blue—that’s the hair piled so high on my old head.”


  


  She is the belle of the ball, without rival.


  Everyone comes paying homage to her.


  Almost everyone. Only her “medicine man,”


  As she calls him, her beloved doctor


  Keeps his distance,


  He whom we met on the steps outside the Club


  And had our exchanges with, brief and awkward,


  Out there in the vestibule. I see him eyeing her


  From far across the room, and again from a nearer point,


  Eyeing her with dark, deep-set eyes


  Out of his long, sad face.


  Twice at least I see him moving toward her.


  He is a man my age. I watch him closely.


  Each time he approaches us he lets himself be intercepted,


  Averted, drawn aside. How easily


  He permits it. How eagerly he greets


  Those who intercept him and keep him from us—from her.


  They, too, no doubt are his aging patients.


  But to my mother he will not come. Never.


  And of course I have known all along he would not.


  From the moment I saw his face


  In the dim light on the outside steps I knew.


  He looked at her as though he had seen a ghost.


  He could not believe his eyes.


  She? At such an affair? Dressed to the nines?


  With what she had inside her?


  He gave no sign of recognition.


  This woman who resembled his dying patient


  Whom he regarded as already dead, really


  He would be a fool to mistake the one for the other.


  Then, face to face with her


  In the bright light of the vestibule


  His curt greeting to her is all but insulting.


  He cannot help it, though.


  He wishes only to turn, with his knowledge,


  Back into the uncertain dimness on the steps outside


  And on back into the blissful darkness of his primitive profession.


  What does he know of death? Certainly nothing at all, he says to himself.


  He knows only about the cessation of life.


  She must not ask him to go beyond that with her.


  The terror seen in the eyes of most patients


  Is no less repulsive to him than its opposite


  Whatever the opposite might be called.


  There can be no proper greeting for death.


  There can be no attitude at all toward death.


  If there is any real way of dealing with death,


  Says her beloved doctor to himself,


  Then all his success at preventing and relieving pain,


  Even at saving life,


  Is such a small thing. Hardly worth considering, by comparison.


  . . . But the beloved doctor could not turn back into the dimness


  And he could not brush past my mother in the vestibule.


  For one awful moment his eyes met mine.


  All that could pass between us was our disbelief—


  I don’t know of what precisely—and


  I don’t know which of us


  Pitied the other more.


  And then the arriving guests


  Pushed us on inside and into the party


  And parted us. . . . And the evening became an eternity


  In which the stricken doctor could not even manage,


  Could not bring himself


  To say goodnight to Mother.


  


  Home at last, though.


  She had done it!


  In the car, sitting together in the back seat,


  She held my hand tight, never slackening, all the way.


  A kind of thing she hadn’t done in years,


  And then only when I was in trouble,


  When I was waiting to face Father


  Over my newest act of rebellion


  Or my latest incompetence.


  The clasp of the hand


  Brings it all back:


  My foolish first marriage that wasn’t really a marriage,


  Flunking out of college,


  Hitchhiking to the Gulf Coast,


  Shipping out work-a-way on a Waterman Line freighter


  Never writing them a word about where I was


  Then rolling in home


  In dirty clothes and too drunk to speak


  And finally, worst of all, deserting to the literati.


  And then at last forgiveness:


  Father forgiving me, because he was dying


  (Tears streaming down his cheeks—his only words since he could


  No longer speak), me forgiving Father because he was dying


  (Myself speechless too),


  Mother forgiving both


  And saying there was nothing to forgive.


  . . . But all the way home she holds my hand


  And talks again of her Grandmother Haynes, only


  Of her Grandmother Haynes.


  


  * * *


  


  Of her bravery during the War,


  Her husband on the Union side,


  Off lecturing at Boston and Philadelphia,


  Raising money to relieve the suffering


  Of loyalist up-country Southerners,


  And her own twin brother, the Confederate Senator,


  His musical voice and old-fashioned rhetoric


  Resounding through the halls of the Capitol at Richmond.


  She adored them both, husband and brother,


  Wrote each of them a letter every day that passed,


  And suffered for them both,


  Staying at home with the eleven children and the freed slaves,


  Persecuted by her neighbors on both sides,


  Accused by each side of supporting the other,


  Even of spying,


  Of sending information from Boston to Richmond


  And from Richmond to Boston, and so on to Washington.


  Two of her children died, and one freed slave went berserk,


  Thought he was Jeff Davis and tried to surrender to everybody.


  But she, Grandmother Haynes, never surrendered


  To either side, and never betrayed either side.


  She looked after her children, ran the farm,


  And gave a dance in the parlor at least once a month.


  People said she was vain and frivolous.


  She was most assuredly both—and capable and hardworking


  And brave, too. Toward the end of the War,


  Sometime during the last weeks of it,


  Her neighbors burned the house and barn,


  And even set fire to the summer kitchen and the smokehouse.


  Then her husband, Grandfather Haynes, came down


  And took her and the children through the lines


  To Princeton. “It’s a pretty place,” she wrote her brother.


  “To see it, you wouldn’t suppose there had been a War.”


  But now the War was over


  She and Grandfather Haynes and the children


  Had to go back to Tennessee and be poor as church mice.


  They were as poor as if Grandfather Haynes had been on the losing side.


  All she had was her flat silver and her diamonds and her faded finery.


  They say she wore her black lace mantilla


  To do the milking in.


  And her brocades and silks to hoe corn


  And chop cotton.


  Her husband turned Methodist


  And took up preaching seriously,


  Preaching religion to the covites


  And to the mountain folks and the Black Republicans


  “Who were in sore need of it,” his wife pronounced.


  But she approved. “It’s doing good where good is needed,”


  She said. “Besides, there’s more money in preaching


  Than in farming—nowadays.” One day her brother, the twin,


  His whereabouts unknown to her for more than a year,


  Appeared in the cowshed doorway


  In his cutaway and starched shirtfront,


  His silk hat in his hand. He had been to Brazil.


  He was on his way out West now, to make a new beginning,


  Traveling under an assumed name: Ben Smith.


  “What a pity,” she said to him,


  “To have to be known as Ben Smith the rest of your life


  When you are really Landon Carter of Tennessee.”


  They embraced, shedding tears for their happy reunion,


  As she reported it,


  And then parted without tears


  But with long looks as he retreated on foot


  Out of the barn lot and down the Valley Road,


  Both of them knowing they would never meet again


  In this life.


  


  Home at last, yes,


  And I have almost forgotten whether


  It is my mother I am with


  Or my Great-grandmother Haynes.


  Though I have heard it all recited before


  Time and again, and in the same words,


  It never seemed so real.


  The two women never seemed so nearly one.


  Franklin, her driver, is at her other elbow.


  Together, we very nearly carry her inside.


  “She was vain and frivolous—and brave,”


  Mother says, as much to Franklin as to me.


  (Franklin knows the stories, too. He and the good doctor together


  Have been more son to her than I, in these last years.)


  “It’s a combination people find it hard to understand.


  But they shouldn’t. It’s not uncommon, do you think?”


  Willie is waiting in the lighted doorway.


  We traverse that last ten feet


  Under the porte-cochere and across the porch.


  As we make our way with her


  It comes over me how near the end she is.


  More than that, it sweeps over me how little even there has been


  In her life. Wars have raged


  Always on the other side of the world for her.


  She has not even had to choose.


  Between neighbors, or not choose.


  She did not even have a twin brother


  To be torn away from.


  Or an idealistic, impractical husband


  To stand behind. (Hers was faithful,


  Adoring, and a good provider.) Her only child


  Never even gave her a scare—not of dying, anyway.


  Even his rebellions and desertions and incompetences


  Were healthy in their way!


  But what is evident somehow


  Is that she is every bit the heroine


  She would have been had she been called upon to show


  Her colors. She has been always ready


  And would have been up to whatever


  Might have come. And all this she knows! She knows.


  Yet she is not jaded or disappointed


  At not having had her chance to show.


  And that, what is that?


  Why, that is better than having shown.


  It is something more than life.


  Death doesn’t exist for it, Beloved Doctor.


  


  Just inside the door to the side hall, Willie


  Is waiting. She does not take one step forward.


  She waits in her self-appointed place


  For us to deliver our charge.


  She does not even open her arms


  Until we are in the doorway and standing before her.


  Then she throws wide her arms and clasps her mistress to her bosom


  As though she were herself the angel waiting on the other side.


  “My honey, my darlin’,” she says, hugging her, petting her.


  And I hear Mother’s muffled voice: “Willie Mae, I’m so tired.”


  


  “Of course. Sure you are,” says Willie Mae.


  I stand there beside Franklin, feeling empty-handed.


  There is nothing else for me to do.


  “I’ll put up the car,” says Franklin. He is lucky.


  And he leaves me alone with just Mother and Willie Mae.


  “Maybe she ought not to have gone, after all,” I say,


  Not knowing anything else to say.


  “She had to go,” Willie says.


  “I think she had a wonderful time,” I say,


  Not thinking of anything else to say.


  “Of course she had a wonderful time,”


  Says Willie, still holding Mother, and looks at me over Mother’s head.


  As if to say, What else did you expect of her?


  “Anyway, I’m glad you waited up for her,” I say.


  And Willie, with a look of even deeper wonder,


  Asks with her eyes: What else did you expect of me?


  The Megalopolitans


  “In some ways Boston


  Is every American’s city.”


  (Mayor K. White upon opening the Bicentennial at Boston)


  


  It wasn’t my grandfather’s.


  He lectured at Tremont Hall


  On a snowy night.


  As a starter—just to break the ice—he cracked:


  “I’m glad the both of you could come.”


  There wasn’t even scattered laughter


  In the half empty house.


  After his peroration


  And after he had swept off back stage


  His Prince Albert skirts


  Breezing out behind him


  The manager of the Tremont apologized:


  “It was just the wrong audience


  For a great wit like you, Governor.”


  And Grandfather


  Angry, his pride hurt—perhaps mortally—


  Yet still trying to act himself


  Resorted to his Tennessee


  Patois:


  “It were the wrong size audience


  For half-a-wit like me.


  And most any half-wit


  From my part of the country


  Would-a-knowed better


  Than to git hisself booked


  In such a sober faced place as this one.”


  He went back to Tennessee


  Made a race for the U.S. Senate


  Won it


  And was often heard afterward


  To proclaim Washington, D.C.


  The only cultured city


  In America.


  


  * * *


  


  In earlier, more serious times


  Before my grandfather was born even


  And before his kind of folksiness was such a fashion


  (Outside Boston)


  My great-grandfather


  Spoke from the platform


  At Faneuil Hall, raising money


  With his elevating rhetoric


  For the Unionists of East Tennessee.


  Reverend Edward Everett


  Introduced him at length


  And amidst great applause:


  “I give you the noted orator and divine


  The Reverend N. G. Tolliver, of Tennessee.”


  And at the close of Great-grandpa’s display


  Of oratory and piety


  He was cheered.


  But the Unionist cause wasn’t served.


  The take for the evening did not cover expenses.


  —Not even the train fare from Tennessee.


  —Not even the rent of the hall.


  And our Reverend barely got home to Tennessee in time


  To collect his children and his wife


  And bring them out of a dangerous territory


  And through changing and uncertain lines


  Before Burnside took Knoxville.


  When the War was over, Great-grandpa


  Returned to farming and preaching


  In the Great Valley of East Tennessee


  And to enjoying the view of the mountains


  From the east verandah


  At Sabine Hill.


  In old age


  His memory failed him badly.


  He could not remember


  Which side of the War he had been on.


  Only his old wife could recall.


  Only she would insist to all who came,


  “He was Union to the core!”


  


  * * *


  


  In the case of my Uncle Pleasant—


  Well, neither Boston nor Cambridge


  Was his city. Someone said


  He was ruined by four years at Harvard.


  And others said it was just


  Three years on the Gold Coast, did it.


  At any rate Cambridge


  Prepared him to live nowhere in the world


  But Boston. And when he crossed over the Charles


  And set up his law practice


  Something went wrong,


  As it does for some of us.


  Uncle Pleasant was too proud


  Ever to go home to Tennessee again.


  Some said he had been too proud


  To stay home in the first place.


  Some said Harvard and Porcellian


  Would neither have been complete without him.


  He had to cut a figure in the world.


  That was his nature.


  Nobody ever knew how he happened to set his heart so


  On Harvard—how he knew Harvard would be Harvard.


  Anyhow, once he had crossed over the Charles


  And tried to set up among the troglodytes


  On the Hill


  He found, oddly, he was nobody


  In Boston, and always would be.


  And they said, back in Tennessee,


  That nothing else in the world could have broken


  Pleasant’s heart


  Like knowing he was nobody—anywhere—


  Or send him to drink


  And send him finally


  To drown himself at midnight


  On New Year’s Eve without an invitation


  In a place called Back Bay.


  They shipped him home to Tennessee


  In a handsome coffin


  Paid for by his brothers in Porcellian.


  The family set up a very large stone on his grave.


  It was the largest monument


  In the whole of Elmwood Cemetery


  With a stone angel on top—wings outspread—


  That somehow looked more like Icarus


  Than any Christian angel.


  


  As for me, well,


  I take the Red Line over to Park Street


  And I walk on the Common


  And I’m asked for a dime by a black man


  Who needs coffee, and for a dollar


  By a girl who needs a fix


  . . . . . . And I wonder that they all ever cared so


  About taking Boston


  Or being taken in—


  And that Boston ever cared so


  To exclude them.


  I can’t care. I don’t think I can.


  And Boston itself doesn’t care anymore—


  Not even about being Boston.


  And I even find myself wondering why did the might


  Of New England and New York once go rolling south?


  Could the differences have once seemed so great?


  Were they so great?


  And who was more afraid of whom?


  Today it seems all one.


  “Differences matter,” my father used to say to me.


  “Even small ones. Nothing else matters.”


  Well . . . . . . . . and once you could say


  The grass is always greener on the other side.


  Now it all seems one. I say,


  Who cares about Boston?


  The whole of it


  Is but the north end


  Of the strip coming up from Washington


  We call Megalopolis.


  I take the subway home


  To the end of the line


  At Harvard Square. From there


  It’s just a short walk down hill.


  I put on tea


  And make a sandwich


  With Tennessee country ham


  Bought at Sage’s.


  From my window I watch the crews


  On the Charles. I imagine myself


  Not a mere Visiting Lecturer on English


  From somewhere-down-South


  But one of them, out on the water.


  (They’re like water spiders


  Walking the water.)


  And I’m an oarsman with a seat


  In the first boat. I’m stroke.


  With a free imagination like mine


  You can have everything,


  Even in Boston.


  There are no differences for you.


  You are serene.


  Why, I’m as at home here


  As back in Tennessee, I think.


  I have everything


  My heart desires, I think—


  A small, panelled flat in Eliot


  Looking out


  To where the joggers go by land


  And the oarsmen by sea.


  O, I am with them all.


  And I have a small seminar, too,


  Limited to twelve,


  Where a half dozen students on the one hand


  Are from down-South


  And six on the other


  Are from Ohio, Indiana and Illinois.


  And I go out to small dinner parties, too,


  With a mixed list of Brahmins


  And academics and even a tokeny Black or two.


  Nobody minds that I’m Southron


  Any more than I mind them.


  Boston doesn’t make the old distinctions


  Any more than I do.


  All that troubles me


  Is I do still wake in the night


  And say, “Nevertheless, why am I here? Why?”


  Well, I’m here by invitation,


  I answer.


  I’m not someone who came here hoping to win


  Anything for himself


  Much less for the people back home.


  Times have changed, you see, I say.


  And nobody’s lost or won.


  The world’s transformed.


  The levelling has been accomplished.


  Sectionalism is a dead duck.


  We’re all one now.


  The Union is complete.


  


  But the answer somehow doesn’t work.


  I get up and walk.


  What’s the matter with me?


  Why is Boston no longer forbidding


  As it’s supposed to be?


  Something’s wrong.


  It’s in Cambridge of course I am walking


  An hour, two hours


  Past midnight. It’s all one.


  Why can’t I care


  As grandfathers and uncles cared?


  And why can’t Boston care


  Enough to snub me? Well, it’s all one.


  I forget where I’m walking


  With clothes pulled on over pj’s.


  I turn corners


  Go down side streets between the Houses


  But I’m in Nashville, it seems.


  Or is it Knoxville? No, it’s Memphis.


  (“They’re all such great-big places now.”)


  No, no, it’s Nashville, after all.


  That’s where I used to walk so much


  At night


  Thirty years ago


  In Centennial Park,


  Philosophizing in the moonlight there


  Under the columns


  Of the stucco Parthenon


  Or contemplating


  The Perfect Sphere


  Cast in pebbly concrete


  The U.D.C.’s perfect monument


  To the Lost Cause:


  “That which is round can be no rounder.”


  But suddenly I remember something else!


  They warn you nowadays


  Not to walk in Nashville late at night.


  Not on Elliston Place.


  Not on West End.


  Particularly not in Centennial Park.


  And keep off the side streets everywhere.


  But this is Boston, this is Cambridge.


  And God! It’s Dunster Street I’m on. Not a car


  Or a living soul in sight. And half past two


  In the morning! And here they come!


  I can see only their wide hats


  Their slick jackets


  Their tight pants.


  I can’t tell if they’re black or white.


  But it’s all one.


  About face and run!


  They’re closing on me.


  A bottle hurled from behind


  Hits the brick sidewalk just ahead.


  They are calling out their threats


  In stage whispers,


  Their filth.


  Are they black or white? Which would be worse?


  What’s the difference.


  I don’t know which side I’m on, I say.


  Which side of the street, do I mean?


  I don’t know what I mean.


  I’m not really thinking of course.


  I’m only running.


  In Cambridge? In Nashville?


  I bellow for help


  And no lights come on in the windows anywhere.


  A hand is grabbing at my collar


  And all at once I am glad somehow


  Their fun has begun,


  That it is over for me.


  I can feel the hatred in their panting


  Their righteous outrage at my presence


  On a side street after midnight.


  Side streets after midnight, after all, are theirs,


  And they know their enemy when they see him.


  They are the true denizens of Megalopolis.


  A thrill of envy runs through me.


  It is not all one with them—not by a long shot.


  They know only too well what they want and must do.


  For it’s not just my money they’re after. It’s me.


  Now my hat is knocked off.


  Fierce fingers of two hands


  Clutch my hair.


  My head is jerked back.


  The running is finished.


  I am in their hands.


  Nonsensically


  I wonder if I’ll ever get back to Tennessee again.


  And then wonder if that’s what one should wonder


  At a time like this.


  And for one moment


  With a rush of unexpected joy


  I do what I know better than to do:


  I fight back.


  I know the delight of kicking a shin bone.


  It seems almost the greatest pleasure of my entire life.


  Then I feel my own bones breaking.


  They are in full command.


  It’s their world I’m in now.


  They care.


  They are taking me apart.


  Her Need


  Her girlhood gone


  Her husband in the suburbs with his second wife


  She drives her teen-age son to his summer job


  Each morning at six.


  Wearing the horn-rimmed glasses required


  By her license, and watching with nervous glances


  At all intersections,


  She goes fifty miles an hour and more


  Through the congested streets of the old part of town


  Where she and the boy live.


  Her driving is all that’s reckless


  Left in her life. Her son remarks this coolly


  To himself, lounging beside her in the front seat,


  And even about her reckless driving, the boy observes,


  A certain nervous care is taken—


  Even if only at the intersections.


  He thinks: “Next year I’ll learn to drive the car myself.”


  She has her own job


  In the neighborhood bank (assistant to the manager).


  She is so efficient in her work there


  They’ve tried twelve times to promote her


  To the downtown office.


  But she says, “No,


  I’ll do my time here at midtown


  Where I know my way round, where I once lived with my parents,


  Where I sowed a few wild oats, too few perhaps


  —Oh, the things we didn’t dare do that they all do now!—


  Where I was married and had my baby


  And thought myself happy for a time,


  Actually thought I was satisfied with life.


  No, I’ll do better, as a woman,


  Just to serve out my time here at midtown


  Until retirement.”


  “But you’re young still, by banking standards,”


  The bank manager tells her.


  “Moreover, we want women


  In banking nowadays.


  A man your age


  Would not have been advanced half so fast as you’ve been,


  Even though he’d started out, as I did,


  At a much younger age than you, my dear.”


  The people downtown have several times called her in


  And urged her to come downtown


  And work in the main office for a while.


  Then she would inevitably go out somewhere


  As a branch manager herself!


  “Where?” she says, suspiciously.


  She must always ask that question.


  She can’t somehow stop herself.


  “To which branch?”


  She tries to imagine herself


  In one of those other parts of town


  That she never went into as a girl.


  And she doesn’t feel like herself at all.


  She feels like something


  That somebody else has made up,


  Not something she herself became.


  “To which branch?” she asks.


  But they can’t answer that.


  They can’t say for sure.


  That’s not the way they operate.


  And she knows in her heart she doesn’t want them to.


  She sits there in the downtown office


  Shaking her head.


  “See here,” says the bank president finally,


  “We’re thinking of your own good.


  We want to do our best by you.


  We want you to rise in our organization.”


  But she can’t understand why they are so ambitious


  For her. The president is a man


  Old enough almost to be her father


  (He’s told her again and again


  How he knew and admired her father).


  Wearing horn-rimmed spectacles like her own


  He leans across his desk toward her.


  He takes off his spectacles and shakes them at her


  As he speaks,


  And wipes the lenses and wipes his eyes,


  Neither of which need wiping.


  But he is very convincing


  —Very like her father.


  “What I’m trying to say to you, young lady”


  (He doesn’t dream how much she loathes


  Being called young lady. She’s not young.


  Ask her son. Ask her former husband.)


  “What I’m trying to say


  Is that we value you. To put it plainly,


  We think you’re a whizz!”


  And suddenly she blurts out,


  “But why didn’t you tell me twenty years ago I was a whizz?”


  The banker, genuinely baffled, says,


  “I didn’t know you twenty years ago, my dear.”


  She lets it go at that.


  For how could he have known her?


  She didn’t know herself then.


  In those days, no smart girl knew herself.


  She never guessed in those days


  —Nobody like her father


  Had ever given her a clue—


  She had never guessed


  While sowing her few wild oats and getting married


  That she was a whizz


  Or might become a whizz.


  Why hadn’t she ever had an inkling of it?


  Why had nobody like her father


  Ever given her a clue.


  And, to make it worse,


  Why must someone tell her now


  When it was twenty years too late.


  


  It didn’t matter, though.


  It really didn’t. Not to her.


  Not driving her son to his summer job at six A.M.


  Only at nine it matters a little.


  At nine


  She walks to the bank—the midtown branch—


  Without her driving glasses and better groomed


  Than at six.


  She looks the way she’s supposed to look


  —Not too feminine,


  Not too masculine.


  Neither man nor woman


  Could find cause to be jealous of her.


  She looks perfect for her job.


  But she thinks to herself:


  “It wasn’t always so,”


  Thinks it without regret or rancor,


  Thinks it, rather, as she does all things nowadays


  In order to set the record straight,


  To keep all accounts balanced.


  And what does she think about all day


  At the bank? She doesn’t think about herself.


  What good would that do—now?


  And she doesn’t have to think about banking.


  She’s too good at that to think about it.


  There’s only one thought


  That ever crosses her mind: Tomorrow


  She’ll drive the boy to his summer job at six A.M.


  That’s what keeps her alive.


  She has that to do and think about.


  She likes it better even


  Than driving him to school in winter,


  To the school where she went to school.


  It’s summer


  And they go speeding through the familiar, leafy streets


  Of midtown. He mustn’t be late to his job!


  He’s a little man now


  And knows already what a whizz he is.


  Even his perfect record in this summer job


  Will follow him through life,


  Into all the other parts of town,


  Even, at last, downtown.


  But they’re always a little late setting out.


  Can it be there’s something in her


  That wants to make him late? What nonsense.


  She forgets her keys or her glasses or her cigarettes.


  She has to have her second cigarette


  Along the way, as they go wheeling along.


  Sometimes she drops the burning match


  On the seat beside her.


  Sometimes a hot ash falls


  On her skirt, or on his shirt.


  The boy is forever brushing at her


  Or at himself. She knows he is thinking:


  “Next year I’ll learn to drive the car myself.”


  Yes. And what then?


  What then will she think about all day?


  


  But suddenly while working late one Friday


  She knows.


  It had never crossed her mind before.


  Her hand trembles on the ledger.


  She almost writes out her thought there.


  They’ll never know what a whizz she is.


  But maybe she will know at last.


  Transpose those two figures every month.


  They’d never catch her.


  Open an account in another name in another bank


  In another part of town.


  Nobody will know her there,


  And she won’t know a soul.


  She’ll be altogether on her own,


  Not sent there by someone else


  Who discovered too late what a whizz she is.


  She lights a cigarette at the very thought!


  She brushes the ashes off the ledger


  With a clean sweep.


  They’ll never catch her, never.


  She’s much too sly for them.


  They’ll try and try to the very end.


  But they’ll never catch her till after she’s retired


  Or maybe dead. Then they’ll find all the money


  Over in the other bank.


  And they’ll never know why.


  They will look at each other,


  Utterly baffled.


  And they will ask,


  Why did the queer old creature do it?


  What need had she to do it?


  What need? What need?


  They will say,


  She has a grown-up son now


  Who’s made it big


  And would surely look after her.


  Did she never think of her son


  And how it would affect him


  And his future


  When she transposed those figures


  And made the deposits in that other bank?


  Did she not stop to think of her son then?


  They will ask.


  Did she not stop to think of her son?


  She lights another cigarette,


  She takes up her pen,


  And carefully, thoughtfully,


  She begins her first transposing.


  The Captain’s Son


  


  THERE IS an exchange between the two cities of Nashville and Memphis which has been going on forever—for two centuries almost. (That’s forever in Tennessee.) It’s like this: A young man of good family out at Memphis, for whom something has gone wrong, will often take up residence in Nashville. And of course it works the other way round. A young man in Nashville under similarly unhappy circumstances may pack up and move out to Memphis. This continuing exchange can explain a lot about the identical family names you find among prominent people in the two places, and about the mixup and reversal of names. Henderson Smith in one place, for instance, becomes Smith Henderson in the other. Or an habitual middle name in Nashville, say, may appear as a first or last name in Memphis. But whether I have made this entirely clear or not, it is an old story with us in Tennessee and was familiar before my sister Lila and her husband, Tolliver Bryant Campbell, were born even.


  In nearly all versions of the old story the immigrant from Memphis arrives in Nashville (or the other way round) and falls in love at first sight with a distant connection whom he meets by chance at a party. They get married. They have children (giving them those mixtures of names). And the children grow up without ever having a very clear idea about what the original connection was or why their father chose to live in one city instead of the other.


  The comical thing, though, in the case of Tolliver Campbell and my sister Lila, was that their chief connection was a quarrel—a quarrel which our two families had once had and which Tolliver, being from Memphis, still took quite seriously. For that’s the way people are out at Memphis. They tend to take themselves and everything relating to themselves and their families too seriously. If Tolliver’s family and ours had had a different sort of connection, he would have been no less intense about it. He was what we in Nashville used to think of as the perfect Memphis type. Yet he was not really born in Memphis. He was raised and educated out there but he was born on a cotton plantation fifty miles below Memphis—in Mississippi, which, as anybody in Nashville will tell you, is actually worse.


  To my sister Lila that old family quarrel seemed merely a joke. Even Tolliver Campbell’s name was not a serious-sounding name. And his own father (not his grandfather) had fought at San Juan Hill! That alone could send Lila into a fit of laughter. Our own grandfather was wartime governor of Tennessee—Spanish War (broad smiles), not Civil—and he had got Tolliver’s father his captaincy! Later they quarreled, the Governor and the Captain of San Juan Hill (laughter). At our house we tended to laugh at anything that was far in the past or far in the future. We were more or less taught to. And our mother and father would say they were glad neither of us children was a young person who took himself too seriously or set too great store by who his forebears had been. We knew who we were without talking about it or thinking about it even. Simply to be what we were in Nashville, circa 1935, seemed good enough.


  Well, the long-ago Captain came back from Cuba a hero. But he didn’t show his face in Nashville. And he didn’t come to the Wartime Governor’s support when the Governor made his subsequent race for the Senate. Such an ingrate! And what a silly old business! Even Mother would throw back her head and go into gales of laughter, though it had been her papa who was governor and who didn’t get elected to the Senate. It was all so long ago that any reference to it could set us guffawing. It was like someone’s mentioning “Remember the Maine” or “Break the News to Mother.”


  And so when Lila came home from a dinner party and told us she had met Tolliver Campbell, who had just moved in to Nashville (it was not clear why; and Lila would have been the last person to ask), we burst into laughter—Mother and Father and I. The two of them had been seated by each other at the dinner party just by chance. Or possibly some knowing old Nashvillian had arranged the place cards that way in jest. Anyhow, what a handsome pair they made, Tolliver Bryant Campbell in his white sharkskin suit, with his dark hair and eyes, his military bearing, and his politely grave manner, there beside my pretty, vivacious, honey-haired sister Lila. Lila was twenty-one then and was reckoned a kind of second-year girl, though, since it was during the Depression, she hadn’t actually come out at all. And she looked like a girl of seventeen. Tolliver himself wasn’t yet thirty and so couldn’t properly be termed an old bachelor. Their ages were just right for a match. They made a striking pair. When they were introduced each of them knew at once who the other was or who—within reason, considering their names—the other must be.


  Lila made their meeting sound very funny, especially Tol­liver’s formality, especially his notion that he ought to call on Father before trying to make a real date with Lila, that he ought (“in view of past events”) to explain to Father his family’s version of the old quarrel, which was that by the time the Senate race came up Captain Campbell had married the daughter of the biggest landowner in Mississippi, a man who disapproved of his son-in-law’s taking part in politics. It was a question of loyalties, don’t you see? In the end, what else could the Captain do but abide by his father-in-law’s wishes? Lila repeated this argument to us, but even after she and Tolliver got married my parents would never permit Tolliver to defend his father to them. At the time of the wedding, they received old Captain Campbell and Mrs. Campbell as though nothing had ever happened. The ancient quarrel was water over the dam, Mother and Father insisted, and was best forgotten. Besides, it was all too absurd. Mother was fond of saying, “It’s just too absurd to be ridiculous.”


  On the night of the party where Tolliver and Lila met, we sat up rather later than usual at our house, the four of us in the upstairs sitting room, listening to Lila’s account of her evening. In her stocking feet, but still wearing her evening dress and clutching her high-heeled slippers in one hand and her silver evening bag in the other, she went on and on about Tolliver. Then finally she announced to us—rather belatedly, we three thought—that Tolliver Campbell was, in fact, coming to pay a call on Father. What she said came as a considerable surprise—that is, after all her merriment about their meeting. Father directed a knowing grin at Mother and me and he accused Lila of having given “young Campbell” encouragement. Mother said, “Tell us the truth, Lila. You must have found the young man somewhat attractive.”


  Lila rolled her eyes about the room for a moment. It was as though she were summoning Tolliver’s face to her mind’s eye. “Oh, he’s good enough looking, I guess,” she said. “Like all the Campbells are. And he’s rich as Croesus, everyone says.” Resting her head on the chair back, she added, “But I think he’s a little too Mississippi for our tastes. . . . Don’t you?”


  


  It was barely six months later, though, that my sister Lila and Tolliver Bryant Campbell got married at the West End Methodist Church. They had a honeymoon in the Caribbean and then, at the insistence of my parents, they came to live with us at our house on Elliston Place. That they should move into the house with us was something nobody would have predicted when they first got engaged— least of all Tolliver, so it seemed. He certainly appeared to have had other plans. He had already bought a house out in the Belle Meade section, and when the decision was made about where they would live he sold the house at a shocking loss—sold it without asking my father’s advice, without even trying to get a good price for the place.


  They were supposed to stay with us only temporarily but they remained for more than three years. Lila would often say, with a laugh, that she and Tolliver seemed to have been struck by a paralysis of some kind. But it was Father, actually, who never quite let them go. He would always come up with a reason for them to linger another month—or another year. In the beginning I think he was afraid Tolliver might turn out to be a high liver and big spender and so, during times when nearly everybody else was hard up, be a source of embarrassment to us all.


  Yet once Lila and Tolliver had settled into the house with us, what worried Father, and worried us all, was the simple fact that Tolliver Campbell had no occupation—no calling or profession of any kind. He was content to stay home every day and attend to his financial affairs—his rents and royalties, as he referred to them—sitting either at the desk in the library or at a card table in the sun parlor. He employed a secretary to come to the house twice a week, to take dictation and to attend to the most tedious details of his banking and to the bookkeeping which he had to do in connection with his landholdings. As Father pointed out, all of this was hardest on Mother. She “just wasn’t prepared” to have a man around the house all the time. That might be how you did things on a Mississippi plantation, but not in Nashville. In Nashville, any man was expected to have a career of some kind. Or at least to go to an office somewhere every weekday that dawned.


  I was four years younger than my sister and was just finishing high school when she married. I attended Hume-Fogg High School, the public school, because during those Depression years our family was doing whatever it decently could to cut corners. Naturally, at that time I knew precious little about any life at all outside Hume-Fogg or outside the neighborhood around Elliston Place. To have someone as different as Tolliver Campbell suddenly moving into our house, a young man so rich that he hadn’t given thought to taking up some line of work—to have him living there under our roof seemed to me an extraordinary thing. He was so different from us in so many ways that we knew from the start we would have to do a lot just to make him feel comfortable with us. My mother said, in advance, that it would be only good manners to put ourselves out for him a great deal and make many allowances for him because of all that he was accustomed to having done for him at his parents’ house in Memphis. She was right, of course. But as it turned out we also had to do a good many things and take a certain care just to preserve our own comfort, with Tolliver around. He had a way of taking you up on things you didn’t quite mean for him to—such as polite offers to fetch something for him that he could very well fetch for himself. If you came into a room drinking a Coca-Cola and said politely, “Could I get you a Coke, Tolliver?” he was apt to reply, “Yes, if you would be so kind.” And so you would find yourself going back to the kitchen and opening a bottle for him. Even in quite serious matters, you had to watch out for yourself.


  The first time this became apparent to me was one night when Father was talking at the dinner table, over coffee. He was remarking on the high cost of everything and how the Depression had made it necessary for everyone to watch expenses. Tolliver was present. Though this was well before the wedding, it was after the engagement was announced and he was already coming to the house regularly. Father’s remarks about economy included questions about the house Tolliver had bought and about the costs involved in its renovation. Tol­liver held nothing back. For instance, he told Father exactly what the house painter’s estimate “amounted to.” And Father, after first carefully setting his coffee cup in its saucer, exploded in a fit of ironic laughter. “What it amounts to,” he said, “is highway robbery!” And he said, still laughing, that rather than pay such bills Tolliver and Lila ought just to come and live in the house with us. How that did make us all laugh! But Tol­liver’s unexpected reply made us laugh even louder. “I’d just like to take you up on that, sir,” he said. We thought surely he was clowning—or I did. I hadn’t learned yet that Tolliver didn’t ever clown.


  I can see in retrospect, of course, that there was more involved that night than just Tolliver Campbell’s characteristic directness. Father’s own characteristic way of proceeding was involved. The fact is, he had been giving Tolliver rope. One of Father’s favorite sayings was “Give a fool enough rope and he’ll hang himself.” He didn’t consider Tolliver a fool exactly, but still he had been operating on that principle with him. He had agreed to the kind of wedding Tolliver insisted upon having. I believe he would have agreed even to their marrying at Christ Church Episcopal if Tolliver had insisted upon it, instead of at West End, which was our church. And Father had not openly protested the extravagant kind of honeymoon Tolliver and Lila were going on. When Tolliver wasn’t present, of course, he had made his joke about wishing they wouldn’t go so near to Cuba and maybe stir Tolliver’s family memories. But he had said nothing like that to Tolliver. In retrospect it is perfectly clear to me that my father was fully prepared for that “unexpected” reply he got about their coming to live with us. As soon as we had all stopped our laughing, he said, “Well, I don’t know what could suit us better, Tolliver.”


  As I sat there stunned by this exchange, I found it somehow reassuring to observe the smile of genuine pleasure on Father’s face. Presently he glanced at Mother and me as if for support. I smiled and nodded, because I knew that’s what was expected of me. Mother said, “Don’t you think that before making such a momentous commitment perhaps Tolliver ought to confer privately with his bride-to-be?” But even while she was pretending to protest Mother wore a look made of all sweet accord.


  Without a moment’s hesitation Tolliver answered, “I’ve already done that, ma’am.”


  And as for Lila, she seemed even more delighted than Father by the prospect. “It’s a grand idea,” she said, “if Tolliver thinks he can stand having so many of us around him for a while.” It was evident how thoroughly she and Tolliver had already gone into the subject.


  Mother said, “We’ll certainly try to make you comfortable here, Tolliver.”


  It seemed a victory for Tolliver at the time. It appeared he was still having his way, as he had been allowed to have it about the wedding plans (a large church wedding with all of Nashville and half of Memphis invited, with eight bridesmaids and groomsmen, and a reception at the Centennial Club afterward; Father said that when the Campbell clan came down the aisle he was himself going to step forward and sing “The Campbells are coming, I owe, I owe!”) and as he had been allowed to have it about where they would go on their honeymoon. (Mother thought it would seem less ostentatious, in view of how hard the times were for most people, if they merely went for a week’s stay at Flat Rock. But Tolliver insisted upon his romantic notion that it wouldn’t seem like a real honeymoon if they didn’t cross over a border somewhere.) But it only seemed that Tolliver was once again having his own way. Looking back, I cannot imagine he and Lila would have been permitted to set up in a house of their own, especially not in a house of the grand sort that Tolliver had bought in Belle Meade. If they had been allowed to, one can’t know what might have happened or how happily it all might have turned out. They might be living right here in Nashville and might have a house full of children with a scramble of names from our two families.


  But I think even Tolliver may have shared Father’s uneasy feeling that the Campbell affluence might become a source of embarrassment to us. Tolliver Campbell seemed to want to have some sort of restraint put upon himself. I don’t know how else to explain his behavior. I have never since seen a young man who so plainly felt the urgency to marry not just a certain girl but that girl’s whole family. And I suppose it was merely a fatal coincidence that my parents felt a similar compulsion to take Tolliver Campbell completely under their wing—even if it meant having him there in the house.


  The worst of it was, he was always there. He found our house infinitely comfortable. And clearly our way of living in it was just as much to his liking. There were the afternoons when he played tennis and the afternoons when he played bridge and the evening hours when he and Lila were usually out with their friends. But, except for those times, one was apt to come upon him at any hour almost anywhere in the house. I had never before fully realized what great opportunities for comfort our house afforded or how many cozy corners we had. It got so I could wander into a room and sit down without observing for some time that he was present. It was as if Tolliver Campbell had become more at home in our house than we were ourselves. When suddenly I did see him, he simply gazed over his newspaper or his book or his pipe or raised his eyes from his game of solitaire and smiled at me warmly. And then he went on with whatever he was doing. His smile seemed to say, “Isn’t this great, our life in this house?” Sometimes Lila would be there beside him and they would be playing double sol or reading from the same newspaper or just talking so quietly that you could not really hear them across the room. But Lila would still smile at you in her old way as if she were suppressing a giggle about the situation. This was surprising to me, because I somehow felt that it meant she wasn’t taking her marriage seriously. But often as not I wouldn’t really notice whether Lila was with him. I would just register his presence and his smile and think how extraordinary it was for a grown man to be at home so much and to behave so like somebody my age, like a teen-ager lounging around the house in the summertime.


  Yet you couldn’t help liking his liking his life with us so much. It inevitably made you speculate on how he must have hated his life in Memphis. If he had had more frankness in his nature, if he had been a more talkative person than he was, he would surely—or so I used to imagine—have said how much he preferred my parents to his own parents out at Memphis and preferred our kind of household to theirs.


  The truth is, we knew quite well by this time that Tol­liver’s parents were the “something” in Memphis that had gone wrong in his life. Once he and Lila were safely married, once they had been pronounced man and wife, and when we were all finally leaving the Centennial Club reception and were about to take the bride and groom to their train, Tolliver called Father aside to thank him for everything and to tell him also—at what he considered the first appropriate moment—his reason for having left Memphis and come to Nashville to live. I don’t know how long before that night Father had already known all about it, but I am sure he had known. Perhaps he knew the night when, over coffee, he committed Tolliver to coming to live with us. Perhaps Tolliver knew he knew even then. Perhaps everyone except me knew, and that only because I was thought too young to know. But even I knew from the first moment that the senior Campbells arrived in Nashville for the wedding. They stepped down from their Pullman car, early on the morning of the wedding, both of them reeking so of alcohol that I saw the colored porter who had received their tip turn away with a pained expression.


  At the wedding itself they both clearly were so drunk that each had to be supported as they walked down the aisle on the arm of an usher. It was at the reception that I got my best look at them. I was at an age when I knew almost nothing about such matters, of course, but I did have the distinct impression that they were the best-dressed people present; that, despite a certain disarray in their clothes, they were of the highest style. And I was aware of how well nature had endowed them both, of what good-looking people they were, or had once been. And though they were among the oldest people present, it was hard for me to think of them as such. What was most difficult of all was to remember that he was none other than Captain Lester Campbell of the Spanish-American War and San Juan Hill.


  There was only a fruit punch served at the reception, but the senior Campbells staggered about, unable to make any sensible conversation, now and then disappearing into the rest rooms and reappearing noticeably refreshed but wearing a stunned expression on their faces, as though they were not quite sure where they were or what company they were in. Finally they were taken away to their train to Memphis by a person obviously in the employ of Tolliver and described by him as a “hired chauffeur.” It was then that Tolliver asked Father if he might have a few words with him in private. Looking Father directly in the eye, and with no apology in his manner, he told him that from his earliest recollection both his parents had been in and out of the famous Memphis sanitarium that treated alcoholics in those days, committed sometimes the one by the other, sometimes both of them by Tolliver himself after he came of age. He told Father that they were well known in Memphis (as Father no doubt already knew) for their public fights with each other and their brawling at the Country Club or at the Silver Slipper or on the Peabody Hotel Roof. Tolliver had finally bolted and come to Nashville, but only after years of degrading experiences at home and endless humiliation in public and only after he had realized at last that he could no longer be of help to them and could not make a satisfactory life of his own while continuing to live in the same city with them.


  Father tried to reassure him. He said how sad it was that a person with Tolliver’s fine qualities should have been born into such a situation and brought up in such a world. “Yes,” said Tolliver, manifesting an impatient satisfaction, “yes.” But the “yes” did not imply that he agreed with Father. It seemed to mean that this was just the line he had known Father would take. And that the real purpose of their exchange was for him to dispel any notion on Father’s part that he was not happy and proud to be who and what he was. It was not till a number of years later that Father reported the incident to me. It was his impression then that Tolliver had taken this opportunity—that it had perhaps been the sole purpose of his ostensible revelation—to say that although he rejected his parents’ alcoholism he did not reject the kind of Deep South Planter life that he and his kind were heir to, and did not accept the idea that a life of leisure, supported by the labor of others or maintained by an unearned income, was necessarily an immoral sort of existence. “I regret that my parents have been destroyed by their weakness for bourbon whiskey,” he said. “But that doesn’t mean I discount my good luck in having been born their son or having grown up in their house. I look forward to living in your house for a time, sir,” he concluded, “but, still, remember that I come there as my father’s son.” Then he added that he had waited till after the wedding ceremony to speak of his parents’ unhappy state because otherwise he would have been speaking of it to someone outside his family. That was all he said. After that night he never made reference to the subject again. And we never again set eyes on Captain and Mrs. Campbell.


  


  I must say something now about the drinking habits—or, more precisely, the non-drinking habits—of my own parents during those years. From the day that the Eighteenth Amendment became law no liquor was served in our house. My father even gave up his toddy before dinner. The only liquor in the house was kept under lock and key in a cabinet in his bedroom. And then, fourteen years later, on the day when the Repeal became official, Father brought forth his bottle of bourbon and renewed his old habit of a single toddy before dinner and a neat jigger at bedtime. This observance of the law of the land was not so strait-laced or unusual on his part as it may sound. Other people like my parents, in Nashville, were as strict about observing the changeable laws of the land as they were about observing their own unchangeable codes of decent conduct. We had a cousin, a federal judge, who declined to serve alcoholic drinks throughout the period of national Prohibition. His younger friends assumed that he had never during his life served drinks and that it was out of personal conviction. They always fortified themselves well before going to dinner at the Judge’s house. At his first party after the Repeal, the guests came as usual in a fortified state. When the Judge served cocktails that night, the young people all got shockingly drunk. Deciding Prohibition had been a good thing after all, the Judge never again served liquor.


  My father, even in those days, even in a Southern place like Nashville, thought that, since it was the law of the land, Negro people ought to be allowed to vote. He would sometimes make special trips home from town to take our servants to register and to vote, just to make sure there was no interference with what was supposed to be. Only our old cook Betsy refused to go along with him. “Don’t come bothering me about voting,” said she. “That’s something white folks know how to do, and what I say is, Let the white folks do any little old thing for themselves that they can do.”


  But my parents were not merely law-abiding. And they did not merely conform to social conventions. They believed that they acted always from the right instincts—right instincts which they shared with all the sensible and well-bred people they knew in Nashville. During the Depression they entertained very little, because they thought it would look bad to be dressing up and giving parties, as if to show that they had been sensible enough to stash something away when there were so many people of their own background who had not. To have done otherwise would have revealed a lack of the right instinct. And it was for the same reason, really, that Lila had been discouraged from making her début. Similar reasoning no doubt had something to do with their wish to bring Tolliver Campbell to live in our house. Wasn’t everybody’s son-in-law coming to live with them in those difficult days? And if your son-in-law was very rich and saw fit to come and live with you, weren’t you and he the most sensible, most modest people of all?


  


  As I have indicated, Tolliver never expressly praised our way of living. No more than he ever made direct references to the shortcomings of his parents or to what his parents had provided him or failed to provide him in the way of an upbringing. But sometimes when I came in from school he would look on as Mother and Lila and I seated ourselves around the dining-room table and reported to each other the events of our day. Usually old Betsy would come through the pantry and, standing with the swinging door half open, would ask me what I had done-eat for lunch. If I had had the very kind of cake she had baked that day, she would say, “Oh, pshaw!” But she would always manage to produce some other sweet that I liked, and bring it and a glass of milk and set them before me on the bare table.


  “You are a lucky young fellow,” Tolliver would say then. That was the nearest he came to saying anything direct about his upbringing. But once, when I was in the hammock out in the yard and somebody called to ask if I wanted a slice of cake or a piece of pie, he told me about some friend or other of his in Memphis, somebody that he, when he was my age, used to go home with sometimes after school, and how his friend’s family seemed always to be just sitting around, laughing and talking with each other, telling each other everything there was to tell about themselves, and making no pretense about anything whatsoever, and expressing no dissatisfaction with the life they had.


  When I reported to my father how Tolliver implied a comparison between us and those people in Memphis, Father sat smiling to himself. Then he broke into derisive laughter. Of course Tolliver knew people like us in Memphis! And was kin to them, too. Anyone would know that. And didn’t Tolliver think we had just such relatives as the Campbells? Of course we did have. Even I didn’t need to be told that. We had many rich cousins in New York and St. Louis and Chicago. And we had any number of them right in Nashville, for that matter! But from Father’s tone of voice I knew the kind of relative that he was talking about: We had what he called our Old South cousins. Some of them lived around Nashville, out on the various pikes and lanes toward Brentwood. They kept horses and rode to hounds and lived in antebellum houses or in houses built to look antebellum. But most of our cousins and connections of that sort lived a little farther off, in such snooty old towns as Franklin and Gallatin and Shelbyville. They would talk to you as though Gallatin or Franklin, for instance, were places as big as Nashville or Memphis. It was as though they were all of them blind and couldn’t see what a city Nashville had become and didn’t know what a difference that made in the way you looked at things. They thought too much of themselves and their pasts to observe that some places and some people in Tennessee had changed and had kept up with the times. Moreover, Father always reminded us, too, that we had country kin who were poor as church mice and would never be anything but dirt farmers. He said he didn’t like one sort any better than he did the other. He said he thought everybody ought to manage to be merely representative, and ought to be modest about who they were and what they had. “The Campbells have plenty of poor, up-country kin, too,” he said. “But the Campbells are people who have always managed to marry up—in one sense or another. I hope that may never be said of us.”


  


  When Tolliver and Lila had been married about two years my parents suddenly began to entertain. At first Lila made humorous references to this entertaining, though without being really critical of it. She said, “Don’t you see you’re upsetting Tolliver’s routine?” She meant there was always a flurry of housecleaning on the day people were coming to dinner and that Tolliver had to keep shifting from room to room to get out of old Betsy’s way. But, more important, she meant that Tolliver had to dress for dinner, had to put on his tuxedo and participate in the party. Because it was soon apparent, even to me, that it was for Tolliver that the parties were given. The dinner guests were for the most part (as Mother would have said, and no doubt did say to Father in private) sensible, representative people like themselves—representative, one supposes, of the old social values in Nashville, people who maintained standards that only they could understand and that even their children never pretended to understand entirely, people who did nothing to excess, especially who did not fail or succeed in life to excess. But sprinkled among these, from the first, would be a cousin or two, from Gallatin or Shelbyville, say, who had great tone. And then, always, there would be an example of what Father would previously have spoken of laughingly as Nashville’s business tycoons, a shoe manufacturer or an insurance executive, who was happy—or whose wife was happy—to meet those horsy, high-living, Middle Tennessee, non-Nashville relatives of ours. Those dinner parties were actually rather swell affairs, with Mother producing from her store of possessions silver and plate and crystal and table linen that Lila and I hardly knew existed. Even at the time of the wedding there had been no such display. At each party, one of the out-of-town Old South kin would be the guest of honor—guests of honor, I should say, because they always came in couples, of course—and naturally it was they who would be seated at Mother’s and Father’s right. And however else the seating might be arranged, Tolliver would invariably be seated directly across from the business tycoon. And inevitably Tolliver would, a few days afterward, receive an invitation to lunch with the man. It became as clear as Mother’s best crystal that Father was determined now to find Tolliver a career, an occupation which would finally get him out of the house during daylight hours.


  The offers of jobs that came to Tolliver—even offers of partnerships, offers to let him buy into something good—were discussed openly in the family. During this period Father emerged from a state of gloom that had been of many months’ duration, a state of which I, and possibly the rest of the family, had not taken sufficient notice. To resort to those entertainments that he and Mother gave, for him to actually initiate such a program, undoubtedly constituted an act of desperation. But he and Mother had obviously realized that there had to be a change. Tolliver’s comfort in our house had become my father’s utter discomfort. Although I frequently failed to observe Tolliver’s presence in a room, Father could step inside the front door and sense in precisely what spot in the house his son-in-law was “lolling.” “Lolling” was of course not the correct word, though it was the word Father used. Tolliver never lolled in his life. He always sat fairly erect in a chair, and his attention was always occupied by a game or by some matter of his income or by his thorough perusal of the daily newspaper and the various weekly magazines that came to us. Father never failed to ask him what he was reading—especially if, as sometimes, he had a book instead of the newspaper or a magazine in his hand—and then Father’s only comment would be a snort of laughter. Tolliver always rose when Father addressed him. He gave Father the title of the book or the subject of the article, but he never said more than that. Father’s snort of laughter was Tolliver’s signal to sit down again and return to his reading. And after pretending to suppress further signs of amusement Father would go off into another room and close the door.


  The discussions of Tolliver’s job offers were not discussions of how worthwhile they might be for him but of the nature of each particular line of business or segment of industry. Tol­liver would reveal that he had considerable information on the subject at hand and could reel off impressive statistics. He was willing to discuss with us types of business organization, methods of production, distribution, et cetera. But he always ended it there, making it clear that he understood what it was that was being offered him, but also that it was something that he could not by any stretch of the imagination interest himself in.


  At last it was the Governor of Tennessee himself that my parents had to dinner. The Governor’s wife was my mother’s second cousin—not that that had anything to do with their being invited or with their acceptance of the invitation, either. Before the Depression, we had always made a practice of having each new governor and his lady to dinner. My father was not directly influential in politics, but it goes without saying, I suppose, that we were the kind of people whose invitation to dinner a governor recently arrived in Nashville was not likely to refuse. The long and the short of it was, Tolliver was asked up to the Capitol the very next week and was offered a place on the Governor’s staff. When the subject of his offer came up at home, over coffee that night—it was Mother’s rule that subjects which might possibly be controversial should not be introduced until the meal was substantially over—Tolliver tried to dismiss it with a shake of his head and with the application of a new match to his pipe. There was no discussion of the job itself or of how the state government functioned. That, of course, would have been superfluous in our company. Father gazed up at the ceiling for a long time. The room was silent except for Tolliver’s raspy drawing on his pipe. Finally Father dropped his eyes to his hands, which he had clasped before him. Then he looked up at Tolliver, a self-deprecating smile on his face, and said, “As your father-in-law I ask you to accept the Governor’s appointment.”


  The silence in the room seemed to deepen. Tolliver didn’t even take another draw on his pipe. Mother’s suggestion that we all “go into the other room” to finish our coffee was very welcome. And two days later Tolliver reported to the Governor’s office on the main floor of the Capitol building.


  


  By this time I was in my second year out at the University—at Vanderbilt, that is—but I still lived at home because of the money it saved us. And though I spent a lot of time at my fraternity house I always came home for dinner at night and frequently I came in during the early afternoon. I remember two or three times having the feeling that something was missing in the house. It was Tolliver, of course. He wasn’t over there in the leather chair in the library, with his book or his newspaper, and wasn’t on the wicker settee in the sun parlor, with a game of old sol going on the cushion beside him. This happened only two or three times, though. Because it was just a matter of weeks after he went to work for the Governor that I came home one afternoon and found him again in the upstairs sitting room. It was just as it had been before. I didn’t notice he was in the room at first. I wandered into the room, eating a bowl of dry cereal with sugar and cream and a sliced banana on it. My thoughts must have been on something over at the University. When I saw him I was so startled that I almost dropped the china cereal bowl. I was startled beyond all reason, much more than I had been even the first time I ever came into a room without realizing he was present. It seems to me now at least that I sensed at once that his being over there would never be quite the same as his being there before had been. I asked him if he had “a holiday or something.” He said no, he was home to stay. He just wasn’t cut out, he said, for the kind of work required of somebody on a governor’s staff. He said not an hour of the day passed without your having to tell a big lie or do something else that went against the grain. “You know what I mean, don’t you, Brother?” he said. (“Brother” was what Lila and my parents always called me. This was the first time Tolliver had taken it up, and I was never to hear him use it again.) I said I did understand, of course—though I didn’t at all know what he meant. After a second he said, “I thought you might.” Clearly he saw now that I didn’t. And I felt terribly guilty. I felt that, if I had let him, he would have talked to me about things long before this. And that he would never try again. I felt vaguely responsible somehow for whatever was going to happen now, though I could not have said why. I got out of the room as fast as I could. When I went back downstairs I found Mother and Lila in the front part of the house, in the living room. They had been talking and they went on talking. I ambled into the big front room and sat down, still taking a spoonful of cereal now and then. They saw me, naturally, yet they seemed really unaware that I had sat down there in the room with them.


  They had already been over Tolliver’s resignation a number of times. They had covered that ground and now they were preparing themselves for Father’s coming home from town. They would tell him all about it at once, they agreed. There was no use postponing it. “The inevitable result must be—” said Mother, standing before Lila, who was seated on the couch. “The end result will be—though it will not be to my liking, Lila—that you and Tolliver must find a house of your own now. You must console yourself with that. No matter what bitter words Father may utter and how difficult the moment may be, you must bear in mind that it all means that you will finally have a place of your own. I am sure that is something you must have wished for many times, dear.”


  Lila, in her characteristic way, dropped her head on the back of the couch and let her eyes roll about the room. “Well, no,” she said at last. “It can’t be that, Mother. That can’t be the outcome.”


  “I am afraid, in the end, it will have to be that,” Mother insisted.


  “No it can’t be that, Mother,” Lila repeated, with new firmness in her tone. “Not yet.”


  I could tell from Mother’s expression, and Lila obviously could tell too, that Mother thought that something had happened to Tolliver Campbell’s fortune, that his money was gone.


  Lila gave way to giggles. Then, pulling herself up, she said, “It’s worse than you think, Mother darling. We can’t, we must not go to a house of our own. I couldn’t quite face that now. It’s too late. Or maybe it’s only too soon. You see, Tolliver and I are not really married.”


  “Lila, do be serious for once in your life.”


  “I have never been more serious, Mother. You might as well know now that what we call our marriage is a marriage that has never been consummated.”


  Mother was plainly unable to speak for half a minute or so. Lila sat looking at her. Finally Lila said, “You mustn’t ask me what it is he and I have been waiting on—or what he has been waiting on—for I can’t tell you.” Then the two of them looked at each other for a longer time without speaking.


  At last Mother sat down on the fire bench and said, “Lila, my dear unhappy child, why haven’t you spoken before? But it is not too late. Don’t you see this may be a godsend? It may be that it’s the privacy of his own house he has been waiting on?”


  “Except that he didn’t ever really want a house,” Lila said. “That house he bought was just to make him seem serious about things. And he didn’t really want a wife. He’s a little boy still. He never was what he seemed. He wasn’t the mysterious young man I imagined him to be, whose immoral life had made his leaving Memphis a necessity. He’s only a little boy. What he wanted of us here was a mama and a papa and a little sister and maybe a little brother.” Suddenly she looked over at me and snickered.


  Now Mother was saying, “That may be how it was, Lila, and how it has been. But it is up to you from this moment forward, daughter. You must change matters. You know what I mean, don’t you?”


  “Yes,” said Lila, “even Brother over there knows what you mean, Mother.” My mother looked at me and blushed. She had completely forgotten my presence. Perhaps it would be true to say that for the moment she had forgotten my existence even. I think it must have been among the worst moments in her life. I rose to leave, and Lila said—more to me than to Mother, it seemed—“It’s not up to me. It never will be up to me. It’s still up to Tolliver. It’s his problem, and he must solve it in his own way, whatever that may turn out to be.” I could hear Mother crying now as I went out through the dining room toward the pantry.


  


  My mother never kept anything from my father. And so there was no doubt that before the next morning he knew all that she knew about the state of affairs. At dinner nothing was said of Tolliver’s failure at the State House and nothing, of course, of his failure upstairs. After dinner Tolliver and Lila went out for a while, and I noticed that Tolliver had his briefcase with him. But they didn’t dress up as they usually did when they were going out for the evening. And they were back within less than an hour, with Tolliver still lugging his briefcase. They went directly up to their room and they did not reappear until lunchtime the following day. It was something that had never happened before. But during the two following spring months it was never any other way than that. They would disappear upstairs immediately after dinner at night, and we wouldn’t see them again until noon the next day. Our house was one of those big houses built in Nashville around the turn of the century, and the walls were fairly soundproof. But sometimes in the night, during this period, I would hear Lila’s and Tol­liver’s voices coming from their room. Sometimes they would seem to be laughing almost hysterically, and sometimes I was sure both voices were raised in anger. And no one was allowed in their room at any time during those months. Even old Betsy wasn’t let in to change the linen. On a few occasions, at the beginning, they went out with some of their friends to dinner. And I would hear Lila locking the bedroom door as they left. Soon they altogether gave up seeing their friends in the evening. Lila seldom left the house. Often she returned to their room after lunch. Tolliver had now begun leaving the house to play either bridge or tennis every afternoon—even on the weekend. During all this, my parents struck me as being in a kind of daze. Most of the time they didn’t even make conversation with each other.


  Then one morning early in June, Tolliver appeared at the breakfast table, though without sitting down to join us. He announced that he had rented a small office a few blocks away from the house. He planned to go there every morning and attend to all of his business matters. Father looked up at him and smiled uncertainly. It seemed to me it was the first time he had smiled at all for two months past. I thought I read hope in the smile as it began to spread across his face. Then as the smile became more fully formed and expressive I saw that what it clearly expressed was regret. I understood Father’s feeling at once: Why couldn’t Tolliver have made such a gesture six months earlier? It would have mattered then. It didn’t matter now to any of us. It was too late—though I could sense that even Father didn’t know exactly why it was too late. He and Mother were sitting across the table from me. Tolliver was standing at the place just beside me. It was apparent he was not going to have breakfast with us. He just stood there behind the chair, with his two hands on the chair back. I could barely keep from fixing my eyes on his gold wedding band, but I managed to look up at his face, and I heard Mother saying, “You will be better able to concentrate on your work in an office, won’t you?” As she spoke, and as I watched Tolliver’s face, I thought that in his brown eyes there was none of the respect and admiration for my parents that formerly one always read there. Afterward, it seemed to me I had read in his eyes that morning a certain vengeful gleam. But I can never be certain of that. At any rate, while I looked at him I became aware of something considerably more powerful than anything that his eyes expressed. He smelled the way some of the older boys in my fraternity did on the morning after a big drunk. And I had smelled it once before, on the platform at the Union Depot. It was the odor, at once sour and musky, of a person whose system has been saturated with bourbon whiskey. I could imagine almost that he was standing close to me on purpose, so that I would be sure to smell him. Once I had recognized the odor, the vaguely bloodshot eyes and the tired expression about the mouth were unmistakable signs. He was like a hung-over fraternity boy with an eight-o’clock class to make.


  I said nothing until he had gone. But when he had lumbered out through the front hall with his briefcase and pulled the front door behind him, I said at once, “Boy! Has he been boozing!”


  Almost before the words were out of my mouth Father said, “Nonsense! What idiocy has come over you? You don’t know what you are talking about.”


  And Mother said, “I often wonder, Brother, what it is you are learning over at Vanderbilt University!”


  With my two parents’ eyes on me I began eating my breakfast again. Though I could recognize the outrage in their faces and knew that nothing I might add would convince them if they did not already believe me, I did say, with my mouth full of food, “I’m just telling you. He’s been boozing. And I don’t mean he’s just had a ‘social’ drink or two.” I felt as though this were almost the first observation about a member of my family that I had ever made for myself, and I knew I had to insist upon it.


  “Well,” Father said, “I’m telling you to keep such mistaken observations to yourself.”


  Still I did not give in. He got up from the table and kissed Mother goodbye. But before he had got halfway across the front hall, there was a noise from upstairs, a loud thump, as though a piece of furniture had fallen over or someone had dropped a heavy object. Father turned and moved quickly toward the foot of the stairs. Mother sprang up from the table and overtook him. “Let me go to her, dear,” she said.


  At the top of the stairway she knocked on Lila’s door. And she called her name. “May I come in, Lila?” she asked.


  Lila’s voice rang out: “No, you may not. You may not come in here. It’s my room, and Tolliver’s!”


  “What’s happened, darling?”


  “You just may not come in. Do you hear me? You just may not.”


  Mother glanced down the steps at Father. He nodded. “Go in,” he whispered. Mother tried the door to see if it was locked. It wasn’t. She cracked the door, leaning forward. She seemed frozen in that position for several seconds. Presently she made a gesture, indicating that Father and I should stay downstairs. I think Father would have gone on up except that he knew I would follow, sheeplike, and he was afraid there was something up there that I shouldn’t see.


  He and I might as well have gone up, because when Mother came down, half an hour later, she concealed nothing, not even from me. She described what she had seen so graphically that I have ever afterward imagined that I actually did look into the room with her. As she opened the door she beheld Lila stark naked except for her hat and shoes and just picking herself up—herself and her handbag—from where she had fallen, in the center of the large room. She had plainly been preparing to come downstairs and then go out on the streets of Nashville just as she was. She seemed unaware that the only clothing she had put on was her narrow-brimmed straw hat and her spectator pumps. Mother said to us, “In the old days, before Prohibition, I saw any number of drunk persons in all kinds of public places in Nashville. But Lila is the most thoroughly inebriated person I have ever set eyes on.” Upstairs she had struggled with Lila to get her into her nightgown and then back into bed. She was able to do so, she told us, only after making a solemn promise to Lila. “And,” she asserted, more to herself now than to us, “I intend to keep my promise to her.”


  While she seemed to be wandering off in her own reflections, Father declared, “The first thing is to get a doctor here.” That recalled Mother from her reverie.


  “No,” she asserted, “there will be no doctor here. Our concern from here out is to protect Lila. And only that. She is married to an unholy fiend. Since he is her lawful husband, we may not be able to protect her from him, but we can protect her from the eyes of the world. Within a few months he has managed to reduce her to a complete dependence upon liquor. He has done it right here in our house. You should see the room. The mantel shelf and the tops of the bureaus are lined with empty bottles.”


  I could not make out from what she said whether she thought Tolliver, as he had turned to drinking himself, had done this thing unconsciously or had purposely corrupted Lila. The question would occupy my mind for a long time and of course no one—possibly not even Tolliver—could ever give an assured answer to it. And now Mother was saying to Father, “I want you to go to your liquor cabinet and bring me a bottle of bourbon whiskey. That’s what she’s come to like. If I give her one drink now, she says she will sleep till noon. That’s become her practice.”


  During the hours before lunchtime I wondered if Tolliver would come back for lunch or even if he would ever come back at all. I doubted that the office he spoke of existed. It seemed possible that, with full knowledge of her present condition and probably what was her fixed habit, he had left her in the house without any liquor and without the means of obtaining any unless she came downstairs to beg some of her father or went out in the town somewhere to purchase it. In either case she was bound to expose her wretched condition to her parents. On the other hand, in his own present hung-over state it seemed possible—even quite likely—that Tolliver was incapable of such purposeful action. The worst possibility—and one which I could not even entertain—was that Tolliver was so base as to have consciously planned an act of vengeance months before and was now mindlessly carrying it out.


  


  We were all somewhat reassured when Tolliver did return for lunch. Father had been persuaded by Mother to go on downtown as usual. It is hard to believe he was able to concentrate on his work there. I was supposed to be studying for my examinations, and so I stayed at home all morning, but only pretending to study, actually waiting to see if there was any word from Tolliver. He came in at noon with the predictable briefcase, and went directly up to his and Lila’s room. At half past twelve he and Lila and Mother and I sat down to lunch in the dining room. Since Father never came home to lunch, he was not there. But Mother had gone to the telephone and called him to report Tolliver’s return the moment it occurred. My first thought when Tolliver opened the front door was how I dreaded the four of us sitting down at the table together. But, though I doubted my own senses almost, it was no different from other lunches in past months. And I knew then that dinner that night would be no different from other dinners. It was not like old times before Tolliver resigned his place on the Governor’s staff, but it was like all the times since his resignation. There was no laughing or giggling on our part and no warm smiles on the part of Tolliver. And at dinner that night Father did not, of course, tease or attempt any of his old jokes. But still there was merely a subdued or modulated tone to our talk and to our behavior in general. The fact is, that noon and that night I observed changes which had clearly taken place but which had escaped me before or which I had been unwilling to take cognizance of. Lila was no longer my pretty second-year-girl sister, careless of what she said in the bosom of the family and making her giggly comments on everything. I felt that even the way she asked for a second cup of coffee nowadays was different. She considered how it would sound. Would she seem to be needing too much coffee? But what was more noticeable even was that before answering any question at all—of the least consequence—she would glance at Tolliver. I noticed, too, that the same, more or less, was true of Tolliver. Whenever a remark was addressed to him, he would glance at Lila before responding. They had become exclusively dependent upon each other—in a way that was altogether unpleasant to the rest of us. We seemed no longer a real part of their existence. It is hard for me to believe that my parents had not noticed such changes or had not detected at some time or other—even though I had failed to—the smell of alcohol on their breath or the odor of alcohol in the vicinity of their bedroom. But I must confess that from that day forward it became harder for me to understand the behavior of my parents than that of my alcoholic sister and brother-in-law.


  The incident of that morning wasn’t again mentioned within my hearing. There was never any mention made, either, of the drinking that had gone on upstairs in the past months and that continued to go on up there. Sometimes in the night one would still hear voices—drunken voices, as I thought of them now—but that of course was never commented upon. The only oblique reference, even, made to what had happened came on the Sunday afternoon following the incident.


  It was just after our big midday Sunday meal. I was still studying for my exams. I drifted into the library, intending to look up something in the encyclopedia. Suddenly I became aware that Tolliver and Lila were talking quietly in a corner of the room. Mother and Father observed my quick withdrawal from the library and were able to surmise what it meant. Father began talking to me at once about how happy he and Mother had been from the very start to have Lila and Tolliver live with us. Presently Mother commenced repeating her old bit about our wanting to make Tolliver comfortable. Only this time it was Tolliver’s and Lila’s comfort she referred to. She and Father both insisted that their feelings about this had not changed at all. Mother, who only those few months before had spoken plainly to Lila about the desirability of their finding another place to live, now said that Lila and Tolliver must not be tempted by anything any of us said or did to leave our house and go into a house of their own.


  “We are thinking only of their own good,” Father said. “It would be a costly, a very dangerous move for them.”


  From then on there could be no doubt that my parents had only one concern: Tolliver and Lila must not be subjected to the public gaze of Nashville. Lila was hardly ever allowed to leave the house without Mother at her side. It was even suggested that the upstairs sitting room be converted into an office for Tolliver. Above all, life in the house must go on just as it had before, so long as Tolliver and Lila could be kept at home. The only obvious change was that Tolliver, instead of accepting the offer of the sitting room, continued to rise early every morning—though not so early as on that first day—and set out for his office, always without breakfast, always with his briefcase in hand. Meanwhile, Lila continued to sleep every morning until almost noon.


  My two parents did seem to regain some of their old spirit and composure. Or at least they feigned it. Sometimes at the dinner table Father would actually make a sort of imitation of his old jokes. And Lila would make a feeble effort to respond with something like a girlish giggle. It went on like that all summer. Since I had failed two of my examinations, I went to summer school and was away from the house even more than in the winter. I even spent a good many nights at the fraternity house. It was mostly empty, and so I didn’t have to pay to stay there. I did my first real drinking that summer, and from time to time all of us who were putting up there brought girls to the house, which was on Twenty-third Avenue and only a few blocks from Elliston Place. I don’t know that that has any relevance except that I embraced almost any opportunity that summer that might help me interpret for myself what was going on at home.


  Then, toward the end of August, at Sunday dinner, Tolliver announced that he was going to make a trip to Memphis that week—to attend to some business there. He had barely taken his seat at the table when he made the announcement. Father had just begun to carve the hen and he continued with his carving. Still not looking at Tolliver, he said, “I wasn’t listening carefully just now. But did I understand you to say, Tolliver, that you were moving to Memphis—you and Lila?” He looked up then with a smile on his face which would allow Tolliver to take what he said as a joke if he so wished. I may have imagined it but I thought I saw a blush rising in Tolliver’s cheek. He didn’t speak until he had accepted a plate and passed it on to Mother. When he did speak, he enunciated with great care, as if to make certain there was no misunderstanding: “Yes, sir. The fact is, Lila and I have decided to buy a house in Memphis, and I am going out there this week to look around.” Lila’s face told me nothing. There was no telling whether or not she and Tolliver had really discussed such a plan before. She was in perfect control. But when I glanced at my mother I saw at once that she and Father had already gone into this possibility very thoroughly.


  I went back to the fraternity house that afternoon and spent the night there. I didn’t have a girl or do any drinking. I sat on the upstairs porch with my feet on the banister railing half the night, thinking about what had happened and then trying for a while, now and then, not to think about it.


  


  Within two weeks Lila and Tolliver had bought a house in Memphis. Within less than a month, before the fall session began at Vanderbilt, they took their leave of Elliston Place. Only on the morning of their departure did Lila manage to get up in time for breakfast. They had done all their packing during the previous day or two. (I don’t know what ever became of all the bottles. They were not in the room when I went up to help with their luggage. Perhaps they went out as they came in, two at a time in Tolliver’s briefcase.) Lila drank her coffee but ate almost no breakfast. There was again no mistaking the odor of liquor about her or Tolliver. As they sat down at the table, I suddenly remembered the ugly face the porter had made when the senior Campbells got off the train on the morning of the wedding. But Father and Mother didn’t bat an eye, much less turn up a nose. You would have thought we had never had a bad moment in the house and that Lila and Tolliver were off on a lark to Memphis or were facing some bright new prospect out there. We said our goodbyes at the curb, and Father said that he would have the wedding presents, which were all stored in our attic, sent on to them within a week. Mother said she could hardly wait to come out and see their house.


  But she and Father never made such a trip to visit them in Memphis. Sometimes Lila would come home for a one-night stay. No more than that, though. From then on, Lila and Tol­liver lived always in Memphis. They had one child, a son. He was not named for Father or for our family at all but for his Campbell grandfather, who died just before the baby was born.


  Both my mother and my father are dead now and have been dead for several years. After Lila and Tolliver left Nashville—that fall—I decided to try living in the fraternity house, despite all Father had to say about the expense of it. And though I have never married, I never lived at home again. After Vanderbilt, I took an apartment in one of the suburban developments off Hillsboro Road. There was no pressure at all put on me to move back to Elliston Place. Mother and Father continued to live there alone during the rest of their lives, dying within a few months of each other.


  Nowadays, two or three times a year I get a letter from Lila. One letter will be full of her old fun or full of reminiscences about our childhood. But the next may make no sense at all. Or there will be one that is almost entirely illegible and that I don’t work very hard at deciphering, because I can see at a glance it consists mostly of complaints about troubles they are having with their son. It is easy to imagine the kind of life she and Tolliver have had out there. (And what a life the boy must have had, growing up with them!) It sometimes seems a wonder to me that they have managed to stick together at all. Yet I know couples just like them right here in Nashville. Something happened to them that nobody but the very two of them could ever understand. And so they can’t separate. They are too dependent on each other and on the good bourbon whiskey they drink together. Theirs is a sort of joint boozing that sustains them in a way that solitary boozing or casual boozing with a stranger or even with some old friend can’t do. They go on drinking together year after year. If their livers stand up under it, they may actually survive to a very old age. In fact, one imagines sometimes, waking in the middle of the night and thinking about them, that Tolliver and Lila just might have the bad luck to live forever—the two of them, together in that expensive house they bought, perched among other houses just like it, out there on some godforsaken street in the flat and sun-baked and endlessly sprawling purlieus of Memphis.


  In the Miro District


  


  WHAT I most often think about when I am lying awake in the night, or when I am taking a long automobile trip alone, is my two parents and my maternal grandfather. I used to suppose, after I had first got to be a grown man and had first managed to get away from Tennessee, that those two parents of mine thrusting my grandfather’s company upon me as they did when I was growing up, and my company upon him when he was growing very old, and their asking the two of us to like it, though we possessed the very opposite natures, was but that couple’s ruthless method of disposing of the two of us, child and aging parent, in one blow. But I can see now—from the vantage point of my own late middle age—that there was really no ruthlessness in it on their part. Because I realize that living their busy, genteel, contented life together in the 1920s they didn’t have the slightest conception of what that old man my grandfather was like. Or of what that boy, their son, was like either. (Of what the one’s past life had been or of what the other’s would be like in the future.) They weren’t people to speculate about what other people and other times were “like.” They knew only that what they did was what everybody else still did about grandfathers and grandsons in or about the year 1925—in and around Nashville, Tennessee.


  The fact is, my two parents were destined to go to their graves never suspecting that they had put a grandfather and a grandson in so false a position with each other that the boy and the old man would one day have to have it out between them. Indeed, they would go to their graves never suspecting that long before either of them had ever given a serious thought to dying, Grandfather and I had already had it out between us quite brutally and fatefully and had it out, as a matter of fact, in the front hall of their house in Acklen Park, in Nashville.


  It happened the summer when my grandfather was seventy-nine and I had just turned eighteen. Any real pretense at companionship between the old man and me came to an abrupt and unhappy end that summer. It left me with complications of feeling that nothing else had ever done. For my grandfather, of course, whose story this is meant to be—more than mine—it did something considerably worse than leave him with complications of feeling.


  What actually happened was that he turned up at our house in Acklen Park one day in July, driving his Dodge touring car and wearing his gabardine topcoat and his big straw hat, arrived there unheralded and unannounced, as he himself was fond of saying, and let himself in our front door with his own key, the key which, despite his protests, my two parents always insisted upon his having. And what he found inside the house that day was not a clean-cut young boy whom he had watched growing up and whom his daughter and son-in-law—away then on a short summer trip—had left at home to see after the premises. He found, instead, a disheveled, disreputable-looking young fellow of eighteen summers who was hardly recognizable to his own grandfather, a boy who had just now frantically pulled on his clothes and who instead of occupying his parents’ house alone was keeping a young girl in the house with him, a girl whom he had hurriedly hidden—at the first sound of his grandfather’s tires in the driveway—hidden, as a matter of fact, in the big oak wardrobe of the downstairs bedroom which his visiting grandfather was always expected to occupy. The ensuing confrontation between the grandfather and the grandson seemed on its surface to be accidental and something that might finally be forgotten by both of them. But it was not quite so simple as that. . . . Neither the old man nor his grandson was ever quite the same after that day—not the same with each other and probably not the same within themselves. Whatever their old relationship had been, it was over forever.


  


  To me it seems natural that I should think about all of this whenever I am lying awake at night or when I am behind the wheel of my car on some endless highway. The memory of it raises questions in my mind that there seem to be no answers to; and those are inevitably the questions one entertains at such times. I find myself wondering why, in that quaint Tennessee world I grew up in, it was so well established that grandfathers and grandsons were to be paired off and held answerable to each other for companionship; why it was that an old graybeard and a towheaded little boy, in that day and age, were expected to be more companionable even than fathers and sons are told today they ought to be. For it really is my recollection that anywhere one turned in that world one was apt to see a bent old man and a stiff-necked little boy—trudging along a country road together or plodding along the main street of a town. The world I am speaking of isn’t the hard-bitten, monkey-trial world of East Tennessee that everybody knows about, but a gentler world in Middle Tennessee and more particularly the little region around Nashville which was known fifty years ago as the Nashville Basin and which in still earlier times, to the first settlers—our ancestors—was known somewhat romantically perhaps, and ironically, and incorrectly even, as the Miro District.


  I must digress here to say something about why that region around Nashville was so designated, because it has something or other to do with this story. My grandfather, who did not take Nashville so seriously as my parents did, was fond of referring to the city itself as the Miro District (because he said only an antique Spanish name could do justice to the grandeur which Nashvillians claimed for themselves). According to Grandfather this region had originally been so called in honor of one Don Estevan Miro, last of the Spanish governors of Spanish Louisiana, and according to this same knowledgeable grandfather of mine, the entire state of Tennessee had once been claimed to be a rightful part of that province by both the French and the Spanish, in their day as its rulers. He used often to say to me, all irony about grandeur aside, that knowing such odd pieces of history about the place where one lived made the life one lived there seem less boring. He didn’t couch it quite that way. He would not, of course, have used the word boring. It wasn’t in his vocabulary. But there is no doubt that’s what he meant. And I used to try to imagine why it was that when he was scouting through the low ground or hill country west of the Tennessee River during the Civil War, it made the War seem less hateful to him at times and less scary and less boring for him to know—or to believe—that the Spanish and the French had once held title to what was by then his own country or that the Indians had once held that land sacred, or for him to realize whenever he came in to Nashville that the site of the old citadel itself, Fort Nashborough, had once actually been known merely as Frenchman’s Lick.


  


  My grandfather, when I first remember him, lived over in the next county from us, forty miles west of Nashville. But he was always and forever driving over for those visits of his—visits of three or four days, or longer—transporting himself back and forth from Hunt County to Nashville in his big tan touring car, with the canvas top put back in almost all weather, and usually wearing a broad-brimmed hat—a straw in summer, a felt in winter—and an ankle-length gabardine topcoat no matter what the season was.


  He was my maternal grandfather and was known to everyone as Major Basil Manley. Seeing Major Manley like that at the wheel of his tan touring car, swinging into our driveway, it wasn’t hard to imagine how he had once looked riding horseback or muleback through the wilds of West Tennessee when he was a young boy in Forrest’s cavalry, or how he had looked, for that matter, in 1912, nearly half a century after he had ridden with General Forrest, at the time when he escaped from a band of hooded nightriders who had kidnapped him then—him and his law partner (and who had murdered his law partner before his eyes, on the banks of Bayou du Chien, near Reelfoot Lake).


  Even when I was a very small boy, I always dreaded the sight of him out there in our driveway in his old car when he was arriving for a visit. I hated the first sound of his tires in the gravel as he came wheeling up to the house and then suddenly bore down on the brakes at the foot of our front porch steps. I dreaded him not because I was frightened by his coming or by the history of his violent exploits, which I knew about from an early time, but because I was aware always of the painful hours that he and I, who had nothing in common and for whom all our encounters were a torture, would be expected to put in together.


  The old man had always had a way of turning up, you see—even when I was little more than an infant—just when it suited me least, when I had other plans which might include almost anything else in the world but the presence of a grandfather with whom it was intended I should be companionable. Sometimes he would go directly into our back yard, if it were summertime, without even removing his hat or his gabardine coat. He would plant one of the canvas yard chairs on the very spot where I had been building a little airfield or a horse farm in the grass. Then he would throw himself down into the chair and undo his collar button and remove his starched collar—he seldom wore a tie in those days—and next he would pull his straw hat down over his face and begin his inevitable dialogue with me without our having exchanged so much as a glance or a how-do-you-do. It used to seem to me he only knew I was there with him because he knew I was required to be there. “I guess you’ve been behaving yourself,” he said from under his hat, “the way a Nashville boy ought to behave himself.” . . . And, of course, I knew well enough what was meant by that. It meant I was some kind of effeminate city boy who was never willing to visit his grandfather alone in the country and who could never comprehend what it would be to ride muleback through the wilds of West Tennessee—either in pursuit of Yankee marauders or in flight from hooded nightriders. Looking up at the old man from the grass beside his chair (or from the carpet beside his platform rocker if we were settled in his downstairs bedroom), I thought to myself—thought this, or something like it—Someday you and I will have to have it out between us. I shall have to show you how it is with me and how I could never be what you are. . . . I often looked up at him, wanting—I know now—to say something that would insult him and make him leave me alone or make him take his walking stick to me. The trouble was, of course—and I seemed to have sensed this before I was school age even—that we couldn’t understand or care anything about each other. Something in each of us forbade it. It was as though we faced each other across the distasteful present, across a queer, quaint world that neither of us felt himself a part of.


  When I looked up at him while we were talking, often out in the back yard but more often in his room, I could never think exactly what it was about him that I hated or if I really hated him at all. Yet many a time I had that shameful feeling of wanting to insult him. And so I got into the habit of trying to see him as my two parents saw him. That’s the awful part, really. I would look at him until I saw him as I knew they saw him: an old country granddaddy who came to town not wearing a tie and with only a bright gold collar button shining where a tie ought to have been in evidence. It seems shocking to me nowadays how well I knew at that tender age just how my parents did surely see such an old man and, indeed, how they saw all else in the world about us. They saw everything in terms of Acklen Park in the city of Nashville in the Nashville Basin in Middle Tennessee in the old Miro District as it had come to be in the first quarter of the twentieth century. I suppose it was my knowing how Mother and Father saw the other grandfathers who did actually live with their families in the Acklen Park neighborhood that made me know for certain how they saw Major Basil Manley. To them, those other grandfathers seemed all elegance while he seemed all roughness. Those others lived quietly with their sons and daughters while he insisted upon living apart and in a county that was only on the periphery of Middle Tennessee. Those other grandfathers were a part of the families who had taken them in. (They had managed to become so or perhaps had always been so.) When you saw one of those other grandfathers out walking with a little grandson along West End Avenue, it was apparent at once that the two of them were made of the same clay or at least that their mutual aim in life was to make it appear to the world that they were. Sometimes the old man and the little boy walked along West End hand in hand or sometimes with their arms about each other, the old man’s arm on the little boy’s shoulder, the little boy’s arm about the old man’s waist. It is a picture that comes into my mind almost every day that I live.


  


  This ancient and well-established practice of pairing off young with old so relentlessly and so exclusively had, I think—or has—as one of its results in Nashville the marvel that men over fifty whom one meets there nowadays are likely to seem much too old-fashioned to be believed in almost—much too stiff in their manner to be taken seriously at all. They seem to be putting on an act. It is as if they are trying to be their grandfathers. Either that or these grandsons of Confederate veterans are apt to have become pathetic old roués and alcoholics, outrageously profane, and always willing to talk your ear off in the Country Club bar—usually late at night—about how far they have fallen away from their ideals, about how very different they are from the men their grandfathers were. To hear them talk, one would actually suppose none of them ever had a father. One gets the impression that they only had elegant grandfathers, born before 1860.


  What is more to the point, though, is that this business of pairing off bent old men with stiff-necked little boys plainly had its effect, too, upon the old men—the old grandfathers themselves. For when finally they reached extreme old age either they became absurd martinets, ordering the younger men and boys in their families about in their quavery old voices (and often getting laughed at behind their backs) or some among these very same old men who had once stood firm at Missionary Ridge or had fought in the trenches before Petersburg or, like Grandfather Manley, had ridden with General Forrest became toward the very end as thoroughly domesticated as any old woman—could be seen fussing about the house like some old spinster great-aunt, rearranging the furniture or washing up little stacks of dishes, forever petting and hugging the young people in the family or clucking and fretting and even weeping softly whenever the young people didn’t behave themselves as they ought to do.


  My Grandfather Manley was an exception to all of this, and I had been fully aware of the fact long before the time he caught me and my girl staying in his room. He was an exception in the first place because he refused from the very start to move into the same house with my mother and father—at the time when he was widowed—or even, for that matter, to come and live in the same town with us. He had resisted making that fatal mistake which so many of his contemporaries made—of moving in with their children. He was clearly different from them in a number of other respects, too, but it must have been that first, firm refusal of his to move in with us that allowed him to think for a few years that he could altogether escape the ignominious fate—of the one kind or the other—which his contemporaries had to endure.


  He did not turn into an old woman and he did not try to play the martinet. Except for those relatively brief visits of his, he was free of the rules and mores of my parents’ Nashville life. After three or four days spent mostly in my company, he would be off again to his farm in Hunt County and to the “primitive” life he lived there. If it was hard for anyone to see why he insisted on living in Hunt County when he could have lived so comfortably in Nashville, I at any rate thanked God on my knees that he had made that choice and prayed that he would never change his mind. For the most part, he went on living in the drafty, unheated farmhouse that he and his father before him had been born in. And on a farm where both cotton and tobacco had once been the money crops, but where truck farming had now become more profitable. There was no prestige or tradition about the kind of farming he did over there. (It was somehow felt an embarrassment that he raised only tomatoes, strawberries, corn. It amounted to truck farming, though we did not even say the word.) And certainly there was no romance about the place itself. That is to say, his farm and the county it was in were considered somewhat beyond the pale, not being in the handsome, bluegrass, limestone country where livestock farms—and particularly horse farms—made the landscape a joy to look upon and where the people had always held themselves well above other mortal Tennesseeans. He preferred to go on living over there even after my father had bought our fine house in Acklen Park and set aside the room there for his exclusive occupancy.


  


  It will be useful at this point to explain that before that day when I hid my girl in the wardrobe, there actually had been two other serious and quite similar face-offs between my grandfather and me, and useful that I give some account of those earlier confrontations. They both took place in the very same year as the fateful one in the front hall. And on both of those occasions Grandfather stayed on in the house afterward, just as if nothing out of the ordinary had happened. This was so despite there having been more violent interplay between us—verbal and otherwise—in those two encounters than there was destined to be in the last.


  The first of them was in April of that year. My parents were not out of town that time. Rather, my father was in the hospital to undergo an operation on his prostate gland. He went into the hospital on the Sunday afternoon before the Monday morning when the operation was scheduled. Possibly he and my mother regarded the operation more apprehensively than they should have. My mother managed to obtain a room next to his in the hospital. She went in with him on Sunday in order to be near him during that night. My grandfather had of course been notified of the circumstances. Mother had even made a long-distance telephone call from Nashville to Huntsboro. And since Grandfather declined still to have a telephone in his house or to let the lines to other houses go across his land, he had had to be fetched by a messenger from his farm to Central’s office on the town square.


  That was on Saturday afternoon, and Mother had hoped he might come to Nashville on Sunday and stay in the house—presumably to keep me company—at least until Father was safely through the operation. But the old man was offended by everything about the situation. He resented being sent for and brought to the telephone office. He resented having to hear Mother’s indelicate news in the presence of Central herself (a local girl and a cousin of ours). And the worst of it was, so he said on the telephone to Mother, he didn’t believe in the seriousness of the operation. Actually, when Mother and Father had previously mentioned to him the possibility of such surgery, he had insisted that no such operation “existed” and that the doctor was pulling Father’s leg. I was told this afterward by my father—long afterward—who said the old man had clearly resented such an unseemly subject’s being referred to in his presence by his daughter or even by his son-in-law.


  Anyhow, my mother told me that Grandfather would not be coming to stay with me on Sunday. I don’t know whether or not she believed it. And I cannot honestly say for sure whether or not I believed he wasn’t coming. I know only that on that Sunday afternoon, after my parents had left for the hospital, I telephoned two of my friends, two Acklen Park boys who would be graduating with me from Wallace School that June, and invited them to come over and to bring with them whatever they might have managed to filch from their fathers’ liquor closets. Actually, it was only my way of informing them of what I had in mind for that Sunday afternoon and evening, because I knew where the key to Father’s closet was and knew there was more than enough bourbon whiskey there to suffice for three boys on their first real binge. Since this was an opportunity we had all been contemplating for some time, my invitation was only a matter of form.


  I heard Grandfather Manley in the driveway at about half past six. In fact I had lost track of time by then. We had been gulping down our whiskey as though it were lemonade. I could hardly stand on my feet when he came into the breakfast room, where we were seated about the table. I had made a stab at getting up when I first heard his car outside. My intention was to meet him, as usual, in the front hall. But as soon as I had got halfway up I felt a little sick. I knew I would be too unsteady on my feet to effect my usual sort of welcome in the hall, which would have entailed my taking his bag to his room for him and helping him off with his topcoat. Instead, I was still seated at the table when he stepped into the breakfast-room doorway. I did manage to rise from my chair then, scraping it crazily along the linoleum floor, which, at any rate, was more than the other two boys managed. And I faced him across the gold pocket watch that he was now holding out in his open palm like a piece of incriminating evidence. Although I say I faced him across the watch, his eyes were not really on me when he spoke but on the other boys at the table. “It’s more than half an hour past my suppertime,” he said. “I generally eat at six.” That is how I can account for the time it was. Drunk as my two friends assuredly were and difficult as they undoubtedly found it to rise, they did, when Grandfather said that about suppertime, manage to rise somehow from their chairs and without a word of farewell went stumbling out through the kitchen and out of the house.


  Grandfather then turned and went to his room, giving me an opportunity to put away the liquor and the glasses. Or I suppose that was his purpose. Perhaps he had only gone to remove his topcoat and his hat. When he came back, I had not stirred but still sat there with one hand on the quart bottle, fully intending to pour myself another drink. I had waited, I think, with the intention of pouring it in his presence. Looking at me, he said, “It’s a fine sort of company you are keeping nowadays here in Nashville.” At that I took up the bottle and began pouring whiskey into my glass.


  “They’re my friends,” I said, not looking at him. He stepped over to the table, seized the bottle by its neck with one hand, and took hold of my glass with the other. But I held on firmly to each—did so for several moments, that is. Together we were supporting both glass and bottle in mid-air. And then it must have been simultaneously that each of us relinquished his hold on both. The glass fell to the table, crashing and breaking into small pieces and splashing its contents over the tabletop. The bottle landed sidewise on the table, spewing out whiskey on Grandfather Manley’s trousers, then rolled onto the floor, coming to rest there, unbroken but altogether empty. Immediately Grandfather Manley said, “Now you get that mess cleaned up.” And he went off through the house to his room again.


  His command had literally a sobering effect upon me, as probably nothing else could have done—more so, certainly, than the breakage and spillage had. Though I was feeling unsteady, I did clean up the tabletop and I wiped up the floor. I decided to take the fragments of glass and the empty bottle out to the garbage can in the alley. I didn’t want my mother to see any of it and to raise questions when she came home on Monday. As I was returning from the garbage can to the house through the dark back yard, I had sudden guilt feelings about my mother and father, visualizing them in the hospital, Father lying in the white bed and Mother sitting in a straight chair beside him. I knew that I had to go to my grandfather’s room and take whatever satisfaction I could from the scolding I fancied he would surely give me.


  I found him in his room, seated in his platform rocker, which like all the other furniture in the room was made of golden oak—with caning in the seat and back. He sat in it as if it were a straight chair, with one of his long, khaki-clad legs crossed stiffly over the other and one high-topped brown shoe sticking out assertively into the room. All the furniture in the room was furniture which he had brought there, at my mother’s urging, from his house in Hunt County. It was in marked contrast with the rest of the furniture in our house. Mother had said, however, that he would feel more comfortable and at home with his own things in the room, and that he would be more likely to take real possession of it—which, after all, was what she and Father hoped for. I suspect they thought that would be a first step toward moving him in to live with us. In the end, Mother was actually disappointed at the particular pieces he chose to bring. But there will be a time later on for me to say more about that.


  Anyway, there he was in his rocker, already divested of his starched collar and of the vest he always wore under his gabardine coat. His suspenders were loosened and hanging down over the arms of the chair. And he had lit his first cigarette of the evening. (He had given up his pipe at the time of his escape from the nightriders and had taken up cigarettes, instead, because he said they gave more relief to his nerves. He had given up his beard and mustache then, too, because he couldn’t forget how awful they had smelt to him when he had been hiding in the swamp for days on end and under stagnant water for many hours of the time.) I came into the room and stood before him, my back to the great golden-oak folding bed, which, when it was folded away against the wall, as it was now, could easily be mistaken for a large wardrobe like the one I was facing on the other side of the room, and matching it almost exactly in size, bulk, and color. I stood there in silence for several moments, waiting for him to begin the kind of dressing-down which he had never given me and which if he could have given me then might have made all the difference in the world in our future relation—and perhaps our lives.


  For a while he said nothing. Then he said, “I don’t want any supper tonight. If the cook left something, you’d better go eat it. Because if you can eat, it will likely do you good!” There was no note of sympathy in his voice, only an acknowledgment of my condition. But I could tell there was going to be no dressing-down, either. It was going to be just like always before when we had been left alone together.


  “I can’t eat anything,” I said. And I began to feel that I was going to be actively ill. But somehow I was able to control and overcome that feeling. Then I began to feel drunk again, as drunk as I had been when he first came in on us. I slumped down onto a leather ottoman and sat with my elbows on my knees, still looking at him. It was just as it had always been before. We had nothing to say to each other—nothing we could say. And thinking about all the times we had been left together like this when I was a little boy, it seemed to me that I had always been somewhat drunk whenever he and I had had to talk, and had always been unable to make any sense at all. “Tell me what it was like,” I suddenly began now in a too loud voice. “Tell me what it was like to be kidnapped by those nightriders . . . out in Lake County.” He sat forward in his chair as if so astonished by what I had said that he would have to come to his feet. But still he didn’t get up, and I went on. “And what it was like . . . to see Captain Tyree hanged before your very eyes.” I was hesitating and stammering as I spoke. I had never before said anything like this to him. In the past, you see, when we had been wanting a topic, I had always pressed him to tell me about the Civil War—not because I cared much about the War but because, as I realize now but didn’t understand then, it was what my parents cared about and were always telling me I ought to get him to talk about. But he didn’t want to talk about the War. Not in a serious way. He would say, “There’s little to tell, God knows,” and put me off with a slapstick anecdote or two, about shooting a man’s hat off during the raid on Memphis, outside the Gayoso Hotel, or about meeting General Forrest on a back-country road when, as a boy of sixteen and riding bareback on a mule, he was on his way to enlist in Forrest’s own critter company, how General Forrest and some other officers had forced him off the road and into a muddy ditch and didn’t even look back at him until he yelled out after them every filthy kind of thing he could think of. “But since I was a mite small for my age,” he would say, “they must have mistook me for some local farm boy. Only Forrest himself ever looked back—looked back with that sickly grin of his.” And then he was sure to end that anecdote saying, “Likely I’m the onliest man or boy who ever called Bedford Forrest a son-of-a-bitch and lived.”


  That was not, of course, the kind of war story I wanted. My father, who read Civil War history, would, in my presence, try to draw the old man out on the subject, asking him about Forrest’s strategy or whether or not the War might have been won if Jeff Davis had paid more attention to the “Western Theatre.” And all Grandfather Manley would say was: “I don’t know about any of that. I don’t know what it matters.”


  But that Sunday night in his room, instead of plaguing him to talk about the War as I had always previously tended to do, I took the opposite tack. And I think I could not have stopped myself from going on even if I had wanted to. As I rattled on, I felt my grandfather looking at me uncertainly, as though he were not sure whether it was I or he that was drunk. “Tell me about your kidnapping,” I said, actually wavering on the big leather ottoman as I spoke, and my voice rising and lowering—quite beyond my control. “Or tell me about the earthquake in 1811 that your old daddy used to tell you about, that made the Mississippi River run upstream and formed Reelfoot Lake, and how you imagined when you were lost in the swamp and half out of your head that you could see the craters and fissures from the earthquake still there.” Suddenly Grandfather lit his second cigarette, got up from his chair, and went over and stood by a window. I suppose it occurred to him that I was mocking him, though I couldn’t have said, myself, whether or not I was. “You’re all worked up,” he said. “And it’s not just that whiskey in you. Your mother’s got you all worked up about this damnable operation of your dad’s.”


  “Tell me what it was like,” I began again. In my confused and intoxicated state, my whole system seemed determined to give it all back to him—all the scary stories I had listened to through all the years about the nightriders of Reelfoot Lake. I can hear myself clearly even now, sometimes speaking to him in a singsongy voice more like a child’s voice than the ordinary man’s voice I had long since acquired. “Tell me what it was like to wake up in the Walnut Log Hotel at Samburg, Tennessee . . . Tell me what it was like to lie in your bed in that shackly, one-story, backwoods hotel and have it come over you that it was no dream, that hooded men on horseback filled the yard outside, each with a blazing pine-knot torch, that there really was at every unglazed window of your room the raw rim of a shotgun barrel.”


  


  I hear myself going on and on that Sunday night. As I babbled away, it was not just that night but every night that I had ever been alone in the house with him. I had the sensation of retching or of actually vomiting, not the whiskey I had in my stomach but all the words about the nightriders I had ever had from him and had not known how to digest—words I had not ever wanted to hear. My confusion was such that some of the time I did not know at all what I was saying. I knew only that this was the beginning of my freedom from him. And I had no notion of why it should be so. Only now and then a vague thought or an image took shape for me—of him as the young soldier on horseback or of the War itself that he would not reveal to us, that he always substituted talk about the nightriders for. But now I would not have to have any of the nightrider business again. I was giving it all back. And as I did so, how nerve-racking my voice was, almost beyond endurance—to me no less than to my grandfather, he who sat before me in the bright light he had now put on in the room, wearing his rough country clothes, his blue shirt and khaki trousers, blinking his veiny eyelids at me, not really listening any longer to what I said. He was thinking then, as I knew he had always thought: You don’t want to hear such stuff as that. Not from me, you don’t. You just want to hear yourself sketching in my old stories, giving them back to me. It makes you feel good. It helps you hide your feelings or whatever it is you’ve always wished to hide. He sat before me blinking and thinking, one process, or one rhythm at any rate. And not really listening to me at all.


  But I couldn’t stop myself, any more than he could stop me with his blinking or with the twisting back and forth of his weak chin and lean jaw. The twisting was somehow offensive to me. It was something I had seen him do to other people who troubled or annoyed him in some way. It was almost as if he were chewing tobacco and looking for a place to spit—which is something he liked to boast he had never done. And I heard my awful childlike voice going on. It was as though it were not mine and as though I were someone hidden on the far side of the room from us in the big oak wardrobe where I would one day hide that girl. But my voice persisted. I went on and on, so nervous as I looked into his white-blue eyes that I feared I should burst into tears, or, worse still, into silly, little-boy laughter.


  “Tell how they ordered you and Marcus Tyree out of your beds though you each slept with a revolver at your side, ordered you up from the straw mattresses on those homemade bedsteads and required the two of you to get fully dressed, even to putting on your starched collars and your black shoestring ties, and then escorted you both on muleback, at gunpoint, out to the edge of the bayou.”


  But he said nothing. He only kept on blinking at me. And the bright light had little or nothing to do with it. In recent years he had always blinked at me. (When I was fourteen, when I was sixteen, when I was eighteen. Those were the years when it got to be unbearable.) Each time we met, I pressed him to tell me tales about his war exploits and the suffering he endured. (“Ask him!” my father had said to me. “Ask him!” my mother had said to me.) That was what set him blinking usually. He distrusted all garrulous young people. Most of all, those who asked questions. Why have you never waited and allowed me to speak for myself? I knew he was thinking, but didn’t say. And why is it you’ve never opened your mouth to me about yourself?


  He had always thought I was hiding something. Tonight his suspicion was so strong I could hear it in his breathing. I went on and on. “Tell me again how you, alone, escaped! How the nightriders made a bonfire on the banks of the bayou and put a rope around Captain Tyree’s neck, torturing him, pulling him up and letting him down until finally he said, ‘Gentlemen, you’re killing me.’ And then one of the men said, ‘That’s what we aim to do, Captain.’ And they yanked him up for the last time. How a moment later, when all eyes were on the strung-up body of your friend, your law partner, your old comrade-in-arms from the War days and with whom you had come there only as ‘two friends of the court’ to settle old land disputes made not by any man on earth but by an earthquake a hundred years before almost to the day, how at that moment, really in one of your wicked explosions of temper—afterward it was your rage you remembered most clearly—you vowed to survive (vowed it in your rage) and yourself bring to justice those squatters-turned-outlaws. And seeing your one chance to escape, you, in your saving rage, dived into the brackish water of the Bayou du Chien—you a man of sixty and more even then. Tell me how . . . you hid under the log floating in the bayou (somebody made a gavel from its wood for you later) and how in the pre-dawn dark they filled the dead log you were under full of buckshot, supposing it was you that was dead out there, supposing it was your body they saw floating, drifting sluggishly in the Bayou du Chien toward Reelfoot Lake. But all the while—”


  Before I finished, he had begun to laugh his sardonic courtroom laugh, which was more like an old piece of farm machinery that needed oiling than like most human laughter. It was a laugh that was famous for having destroyed the case of many a courtroom lawyer in Hunt County—more frequently than any argument or rhetoric he had ever employed. I had heard him laugh that way at our dinner table, too, when my father had expressed some opinion or theory that Grandfather had not agreed with but that he knew he could not refute with logic. And I went on long after I knew that any use there might have been in my performance that day was over. Long after I had realized that if my performance were going to have any effect, it had already been had. At some point I could see that he was no longer listening and that, after all, the victory of this engagement was somehow his. Finally I was silenced by his silence. Now he had come back from the window and sat down in the chair again and was smiling his wickedest courtroom smile at me. His green eyes seemed very bright, and I could tell that for a few moments at least my singsongy recounting of his experiences had stirred his memory. I felt that if I encouraged him—and if he permitted himself—he would even now take up where I had left off and describe one more time his ten days of wandering in the swamp after his escape and then perhaps his finally reaching a logging road on high ground and there lapping up water like an Indian out of the hoofprints of horses because he knew it was rainwater and pure, and then the ride to Tiptonville, concealed under the hay in a farmer’s wagon bed.


  And at last the trial of the nine nightriders.


  He loved to dwell upon the fact that all nine men were proved to be previously convicted criminals, not downtrodden backwoodsmen whose livelihood in fishing and hunting the government and the big landowners of Lake County wished to take away. Perhaps he went over all that in his mind for a few moments, but what his wicked smile and the light in his eyes spoke of was a victory he was reveling in at that present moment. My long spiel about the nightrider trouble had reflected the many times I had had to listen to his account of it. And to him, I somehow understood in a flash of insight, it meant above all else what was perhaps dearest to his soul of all things during those years. It meant how many times he had successfully avoided reminiscing about the War. In retrospect I can see that it had become almost mechanical with him to answer any requests I made for stories about the War with stories about his adventures at Reelfoot Lake. For a number of years, I think, he had tried to distract me with just any of his old stories about hunting bear or deer or about lawsuits he had had that took him into tough communities where he had sometimes to fight his way out of the courtroom and sometimes share a bed in a country hotel with a known murderer whom he was defending. But for a time there had been no variations to his response. I did not know then, and do not know now, at what moment he took a vow never to talk about the Civil War and his own experiences in it, whether he unconsciously and gradually began to avoid the subject with members of his family—after he had already ceased talking about it with anybody else. But from his smile that day and his laughter, which I had only before heard him direct at my parents, I began to sense that he regarded me chiefly as their agent and that yielding to me in my pressing him to tell me about his war would be the first chink in his armor of resistance to my parents and could end with nothing less than their bringing him into Nashville and into our house to live.


  At last he got up from his chair again. He was no longer smiling at me but clearly he was no longer angry with me, either. And at the end, when he dismissed me from his room, it occurred to me that seeing an eighteen-year-old boy drunk was nothing new to a man of his experience in the rough sort of world he came along in and that my pilfering my father’s whiskey while he was in the hospital seemed to him almost a natural and inevitable mistake for a boy my age to have made. “You’ve had a hard day,” he said—rather sternly but not more so than if he had been correcting me about some show of bad manners. “Get yourself a night’s sleep, and we’ll go to the hospital tomorrow to see how your dad is making out. Seems to me he and your mama’s got you so worked up there’s no telling what you might have done if I hadn’t shown up as I did, unheralded and unannounced.”


  


  It was hardly six weeks later that we had our second run-in. He came in to Nashville on Decoration Day, when, of course, the Confederate veterans always held their most elaborate services and celebrations out at the State Fairground. Father and Mother had gone to Memphis to visit Father’s sister out there over the Decoration Day weekend. They wouldn’t have planned to go, so they said, except that Grandfather as usual swore he was never again going to attend a Confederate Reunion of any kind. He had been saying for years that all the reunions amounted to were occasions to promote everybody to a higher rank. He acknowledged that once upon a time he had been a party to this practice. He had been so for many years, in fact. But enough was enough. It was one thing to promote men like himself who had been private soldiers to the rank of captain and major but quite another to make them colonels and generals. They had voted him his majority back in the years before his kidnapping by the nightriders. But since the experience of that abduction by those murderous backwoodsmen, he had never attended another Confederate Reunion. For more than a dozen years now he had insisted that it would not be possible for him to pass in through the Fairground gates on any Decoration Day without being sure to come out with the rank of colonel. He could not countenance that. And he could not countenance that gathering of men each year to repeat and enlarge upon reminiscences of something that he was beginning to doubt had ever had any reality.


  From the first moment after I had put my parents on the train for Memphis, I think I knew how that weekend was going to go. I would not have admitted it to myself and didn’t admit it for many years afterward. I suspect, too, that from the time some weeks earlier when he had heard of my parents’ plans to go to Memphis—that is, assuming that he would not be coming in for the Reunion—Grandfather must also have had some idea of how it might go. Looking back, it seems almost as if he and I were plotting the whole business together.


  It didn’t of course seem that way at the time. Naturally, I can only speculate on how it seemed for him, but he had made more than one visit to Nashville since the day he found me there drinking with my friends, and I had observed a decided change in him—in his attitude toward me, that is. On one occasion he had offered me a cigarette, which was the next thing, it seemed to me then, to offering me a drink. I knew of course that Grandfather had, at one time or another, used tobacco in most of its forms. And we all knew, as a matter of fact, that when he closed the door to his room at night he nearly always poured himself a drink—poured it into a little collapsible tumbler that, along with his bottle of sourmash, he had brought with him in his Gladstone bag. His drinking habits had never been exactly a secret, though he seldom made any direct reference to them except in certain stories he told. And whatever changes there were in his style during his very last years, his drinking habits never changed at all—not, I believe, from the time when he was a young boy in the Confederate Army until the day he died.


  It is true that I often smelt liquor on his breath when he arrived at our house for a visit, but I believe that was because he made a habit of having a quick one when he stopped—along the way—to rest and to relieve himself at the roadside. Moreover, that was only like the drink he had in his room at night—for his nerves. I believe the other drinking he had done in his lifetime consisted entirely of great bouts he had sometimes had with groups of men on hunting trips, often as not in that very region around Reelfoot Lake where he had witnessed the torture and strangulation of his old comrade-in-arms and law partner and where he had later wandered for ten nights in the swampy woodland thereabout (he had regarded it as unsafe to travel by day and unsafe to knock on any cabin door, lest it be the hideaway of one of the nightriders), wandered without food and without fresh water to drink, and suffering sometimes from hallucinations.


  I feel that I must digress again here in order to say a few things about those hallucinations he had, which must actually have been not unlike delirium tremens, and about impressions that I myself had of that country around the Lake when I visited it as a child. Actually, as a very young child—no more than three or four years old—I had been taken on a duck-hunting trip to the Lake with Father and Grandfather and a party of other men from Hunt County. I didn’t go out with them, of course, when, decked out in their grass hats and grass skirts and capes—for camouflage—they took up their positions in the marshlands. I was left in the hunting lodge on the lake’s edge in the care of the Negro man who had been brought along to do the cooking. I don’t remember much about the days or the nights of that expedition. I must have passed them comfortably and happily enough. All I remember clearly is what seemed the endless and desolate periods of time I spent during the early-morning hours and the twilight hours of each day of our stay there, all alone in the lodge with Thomas, the cook. As I sat alone on the screened porch, which went all the way round that little batten-board lodge (of no more than three or four rooms and a loft) and listened to Thomas’s doleful singing in the kitchen, all I could see in any direction was the dark water of the lake on one side and of the bayou on the other, with the cypress stumps and other broken trees rising lugubriously out of the water and the mysterious, deep woods of the bottom lands beyond on the horizon. It seemed to me that I could see for miles. And the fact was, the lodge being built high upon wooden pilings, it was indeed possible to see great distances across the lake, which was five miles wide in places.


  During those hours on the screened porch I would think about the tales I had heard the men tell the night before when they were gathered around the iron stove and when I was going off to sleep on my cot in a far corner of the room. I suppose the men must have been having their drinks then. But I can’t say that I remember the smell of alcohol. All the smells there in that place were strange to me, though—the smell of the water outside, the smell of the whitewash on the vertical boarding on the lodge, and the smell of the musty rooms inside the lodge which stood empty most of the year. The tales the men told were often connected with the nightrider trouble. Others were old tales about the New Madrid Earthquake that had formed the Lake more than a hundred years before. Some of the men told old folk tales about prehistoric monsters that rose up out of the lake in the dark of the moon.


  I don’t recall my father’s contributing to this talk. My memory is that he sat somewhat outside the circle, looking on and listening appreciatively to the talk of those older men, most of whom had probably never been outside the state of Tennessee, unless it was to go a little way up into Kentucky for whiskey. But my Grandfather Manley contributed his full share. And everyone listened to him with close attention. He spoke with an authority about the Lake, of course, that none of the others quite had. When those other men told their stories about prehistoric monsters rising from the lake, one felt almost that Grandfather when he emerged from his ten days in the swampland, according to his own account, must have looked and smelt like just such a prehistoric monster. To me the scariest of his talk was that about some of the hallucinations he had, hallucinations about the hooded men mounted on strange animals charging toward him like the horsemen of the apocalypse. But almost as frightening as his own reminiscences were the accounts he had heard or read of that earthquake that made the lake.


  The earthquake had begun on December 16, 1811, and the sequence of shocks was felt as far away as Detroit and Baltimore and Charleston, South Carolina. Upriver, at New Madrid, Missouri, nearly the whole town crumbled down the bluffs and into the river. The shocks went on for many days—even for several months—and in between the shocks the earth vibrated and sometimes trembled for hours on end “like the flesh of a beef just killed.” Men and women and children, during the first bad shocks, hung on to trees like squirrels. In one case a tree “infested with people” was seen to fall across a newly made ravine, and the poor wretches hung there for hours until there was a remission in the earth’s undulation. Whole families were seen to disappear into round holes thirty feet wide, and the roaring of the upheaval was so loud that their screams could not be heard.


  Between Memphis and St. Louis the river foamed and in some places the current was observed to have reversed and run upstream for several hours. Everywhere the quake was accompanied by a loud, hoarse roaring. And on land, where fissures and craters appeared, a black liquid was ejected sometimes to a height of fifteen feet and subsequently fell in a black shower, mixed with the sand which it had forced along with it. In other places the earth burst open, and mud, water, sandstone, and coal were thrown up the distance of thirty yards. Trees everywhere were blown up, cracking and splitting and falling by the thousands at a time. It was reported that in one place the black liquid oozed out of the ground to the height of the belly of a horse. Grandfather had heard or read somewhere that John James Audubon had been caught in some of the later, less violent shocks and that his horse died of fright with him sitting on it. Numbers of people died, of course, on the river as well as on the land, and many of those who survived were never afterward regarded as possessing their right senses.


  Among the hallucinations that my grandfather had while wandering in the low ground after his escape was that that earthquake of a hundred years before—almost to the day of the month—had recurred or commenced again, or that he was living in that earlier time when the whole earth seemed to be convulsed and its surface appeared as it must have in primordial times. And he imagined that he was there on that frontier in company with the ragged little bands of Frenchmen and Spaniards and newly arrived American settlers, all of whose settlements had vanished into the earth, all of them in flight, like so many Adams and Eves, before the wrath of their Maker.


  My father told me more than one time—again, long after I was grown—that it was only after Grandfather Manley had had a few drinks and was off somewhere with a group of men that he would describe the times of wandering in the swamps and describe his hallucinations about the earthquake. And I myself heard him speak of those hallucinations, when I was at the lodge with them and was supposed to be asleep in my cot, heard him speak of them as though they were real events he had experienced and heard him say that his visions of the earthquake were like a glimpse into the eternal chaos we live in, a glimpse no man should be permitted, and that after that, all of his war experiences seemed small and insignificant matters—as nothing. And it was after that, of course, that he could never bring himself to go back to those reunions and take part in those reminiscences with the other old soldiers of events so much magnified by them each year or take part in their magnification of their own roles by advancing themselves in rank each year.


  Grandfather could only confide those feelings of his to other men. He would only confide them when he had a little whiskey in him. And what is important, too, is that he only drank alone or in the company of other men. He abhorred what my father and mother had come to speak of in the 1920s as social drinking. Drinking liquor was an evil and was a sign of weakness, he would have said, and just because one indulged in it oneself was no reason to pretend to the world that there was virtue in it. That to him was hypocrisy. Drinking behind closed doors or in a secluded hunting lodge, though one denounced it in public as an evil practice, signified respect for the public thing, which was more important than one’s private character. It signified genuine humility.


  And so it was, I must suppose, that he in some degree approved of the kind of drinking bout he had caught me in. And his approval, I suppose, spoiled the whole effect for me. It put me in the position, as I understand it now, of pretending to be like the man I felt myself altogether unlike and alien to.


  And so it was that the circumstances he found me in were quite different on that inevitable Decoration Day visit of his. My parents were no sooner aboard the train for Memphis, that Friday night, than I had fetched a certain acquaintance of mine named Jeff Patterson—he was older than I and had finished his second year at Vanderbilt—and together we had picked up two girls we knew who lived on Eighth Avenue, near the Reservoir. We went dancing at a place out on Nine Mile Hill. We were joined there by two other couples of our acquaintance, and later the eight of us came back to Acklen Park. (I must say that I was much more experienced with girls by that age than I was with liquor.) We had had other, similar evenings at the house of the parents of the two other boys who joined us that night, but until then I had never been so bold as to use my parents’ house for such purposes.


  The girls we had with us were not the kind of girls such a boy as I was would spend any time with nowadays. That is why this part of the story may be difficult for people of a later generation to understand. With one’s real girl, in those days, a girl who attended Ward-Belmont School and who was enrolled in Miss Amy Lowe’s dancing classes, one might neck in the back seat of a car. The girl might often respond too warmly and want to throw caution to the wind. But it was one’s own manliness that made one overcome one’s impulse to possess her and, most of all, overcome her impulse to let herself be possessed before taking the marriage vow. I am speaking of decent boys and girls of course and I acknowledge that even among decent or “nice” young people of that day there were exceptions to the rule. One knew of too many seven-month babies to have any doubt of that. Still, from the time one was fourteen or fifteen in Nashville, one had to know girls of various sorts and one had to have a place to take girls of the “other sort.” No one of my generation would have been shocked by the events of that evening. The four couples went to bed—and finally slept—in the four bedrooms on the second floor of my parents’ house in Acklen Park. As I have indicated, I had never before brought such a party to our house, and I gave no thought to how I would clean up the place afterward or how I would conceal what had gone on there.


  It was only a few minutes past seven the next morning when I heard Grandfather’s car outside in the driveway. I was at once electrified and paralyzed by the sound. Lying there in my own bed with that girl beside me, and with the other couples still asleep in the other rooms, I had a vision of our big, two-story brick house as it appeared from the outside that May morning, saw the details of the stone coigns at the four corners of the house, the heavy green window blinds and the keystones above the windows, even the acanthus leaves in the capitals of the columns on the front porch. I saw it all through my grandfather’s sharp little eyes as he turned into the gravel driveway, and saw through his eyes not only my parents’ car, which I had carelessly left out of the garage, but the cars also of the two other boys who had joined us, all three cars sitting out there in the driveway on Sunday morning, as if to announce to him that some kind of party—and even what kind of party, probably—was going on inside.


  He didn’t step into his room to set down his Gladstone bag. I heard him drop it on the floor in the front hall and then I heard his quick footstep on the long stairway. Then I heard him opening the doors to all the bedrooms. (We had had the decency to close ourselves off in separate rooms.) He opened my door last, by design I suppose. I was lying on my stomach and I didn’t even lift my head to look at him. But I knew exactly how he would appear there in the doorway, still wearing his long coat and his summer straw hat. That was the last thought or the last vision I indulged in before I felt the first blow of his walking stick across my buttocks. At last he had struck me! That was what I thought to myself. At last we might begin to understand one another and make known our real feelings, each about the other.


  By the time I felt the second blow from his stick I had realized that between the two blows he delivered me he had struck one on the buttocks of the girl beside me. Already I had begun to understand that his striking me didn’t have quite the kind of significance I had imagined. By the time he had struck the girl a second time she had begun screaming. I came up on my elbows and managed to clamp my hand over her mouth to keep the neighbors from hearing her. He left us then. And over his shoulder as he went striding from the room he said, “I want you to get these bitches out of this house and to do so in one hell of a hurry!” He went back into the hallway, and then when I had scrambled out of bed I saw him, to my baffling chagrin and unaccountable sense of humiliation, hurrying into the other rooms, first one and then another, and delivering blows to the occupants of those other beds. Some of the others, I suppose, had heard him crack the door to their rooms earlier and had crawled out of bed before he got there. But I heard him and saw him wielding his stick against Jeff Patterson’s backsides and against the little bottom of the girl beside him. Finally—still wearing his hat and his gabardine coat, mind you—he passed through the hall again and toward the head of the stair. I was standing in the doorway to my room by then, but still clad only in my underwear shorts. As he went down the stairsteps he glanced back at me and spoke again: “You get those bitches out of your mother’s house and you do it in one hell of a hurry.”


  Even before I was able to pull on my clothes, all four of the girls were fully dressed and scurrying down the stairs, followed immediately by the three boys. I came to the head of the stairs and stood there somewhat bemused, looking down. The girls had gone off into the front rooms downstairs in search of certain of their possessions. I heard them calling to each other desperately, “I left my lipstick right here on this table!” And, “Oh, God, where’s my purse?” And, “Where in the world are my pumps?” I realized then that one of them had gone down the stairs barefoot, and simultaneously I saw Grand­father Manley moving by the foot of the stairs and toward the living room.


  I descended slowly, listening to the voices in the front room. First there had come a little shriek from one of the girls when Grandfather entered. Then I heard his voice reassuring them. By the time I reached the living-room doorway he was assisting them in their search, whereas the three boys only stood by, watching. It was he himself who found that little purse. Already the four girls seemed completely at ease. He spoke to them gently and without contempt or even condescension. The girl who had been my date left with the others, without either of us raising the question of whether or not I might see her home. As they went out through the wide front door the four girls called out, “Goodbye!” in cheerful little voices. I opened my mouth to respond, but before I could make a sound I heard Grandfather answering, “Goodbye, girls.” And it came over me that it had been to him, not me, they were calling goodbye. When he and I were alone in the hall, he said, “And now I reckon you realize what we’ve got to do. We’ve got to do something about those sheets.”


  It is a fact that he and I spent a good part of that day doing certain clean-up jobs and employing the electric iron here and there. I can’t say it drew us together, though, or made any sort of bond between us. Perhaps that’s what he imagined the result would be. But I never imagined so for a moment. I knew that one day there was something he would have to know about me that he couldn’t forgive. Though he and I were of the same blood, we had parted company, so to speak, before I was born even, and there was some divisive thing between us that could never be overcome. Perhaps I felt that day that it was my parents, somehow, who would forever be a wall between us, and that once any people turned away from what he was, as they had done, then that—whatever it was he was—was lost to them and to their children and their children’s children forever. But I cannot say definitely that I felt anything so certain or grand that day. I cannot say for sure what I felt except that when he spoke with such composure and assurance to those girls in my parents’ living room, I felt that there was nothing in the world he didn’t know and hadn’t been through.


  As he and I worked away at cleaning up the bedrooms that morning, I asked myself if his knowing so well how to speak to those girls and if the genuine sympathy and even tenderness that he clearly felt toward them meant perhaps that his insistence upon living alone in that old house over in Hunt County suggested there were girls or women in his life still. Whatever else his behavior that day meant, it meant that the more bad things I did and the worse they were, then the better he would think he understood me and the more alike he would think we were. But I knew there was yet something I could do that would show him how different we were and that until I had made him grasp that, I would not begin to discover what, since I wasn’t and couldn’t be like him, I was like. Or if, merely as a result of being born when I was and where I was, at the very tail end of something, I was like nothing else at all, only incomparably without a character of my own.


  


  In July, Mother and Father went up to Beersheba Springs, on the Cumberland Plateau, for a few days’ relief from the hot weather. Beersheba was an old-fashioned watering place, the resort in past times of Episcopal bishops, Louisiana planters, and the gentry of Middle Tennessee. By the 1920s only a select few from the Nashville Basin kept cottages there and held sway at the old hotel. It was the kind of summer spot my parents felt most comfortable in. It had never had the dash of Tate Springs or the homey atmosphere of Monteagle, but it was older than either of those places and had had since its beginning gambling tables, horses, and dancing. Behind the porticoed hotel on the bluff’s edge the old slave quarters were still standing, as was also the two-story brick garconnière, reached by a covered walkway from the hotel. There was an old graveyard overgrown with box and red cedar, enclosed by a rock wall and containing old gravestones leaning at precarious angles but still bearing good Tennessee-Virginia names like Burwell and Armistead. Farther along the bluff and farther back on the plateau were substantial cottages and summer houses, a good number of them built of squared chestnut logs and flanked by handsome limestone end-chimneys. The ancient and unreconstructed atmosphere of the place had its attraction even for Grandfather Manley, and my parents had persuaded him to accompany them on their holiday there.


  He drove in to Nashville and then, still in his own car, followed Mother and Father in their car to Beersheba Springs, which was seventy or eighty miles southeast of Nashville, on the edge of the Plateau and just above what used to be known as the Highland Rim. It seemed a long way away. There was no question in my mind of the old man’s turning up in Nashville this time. I looked forward with pleasure to a few days of absolute freedom—from my parents, from my grandfather, and even from the servants, who were always given a holiday whenever my parents were out of town. I was in such relaxed good spirits when Father and Mother and Grandfather Manley had departed that I went up to my room—though it was not yet noon—and took a nap on my bed. I had no plans made for this period of freedom except to see even more than usual of a Ward-Belmont girl with whom I had been having dates during most of that winter and spring and whom my parents, as an indication of their approval of my courting a girl of her particular family, had had to dinner at our house several times and even on one occasion when my grandfather was there. She was acknowledged by my family and by everyone else to be my girl, and by no one more expressly than by the two of us—by the girl herself, that is, and by myself.


  I was awakened from my nap just before noon that day by the ringing of the telephone in the upstairs hall. And it so happened that the person calling was none other than she whom I would have most wished to hear from. It was not usual for such a girl to telephone any boy, not even her acknowledged favorite. I have to say that as soon as I heard her voice I experienced one of those moments I used often to have in my youth, of seeming to know how everything was going to go. I can’t blame myself for how things did go during the next twenty-four hours and can’t blame the girl, either. Since this is not the story of our romance, it will suffice to say that though our romance did not endure for long after that time, these events were not necessarily the cause for its failure. The girl herself has prospered in life quite as much as I have. And no doubt she sometimes speaks of me nowadays, wherever in the world she is living, as “a boy I went with in Nashville,” without ever actually mentioning my name. At any rate, when she telephoned that day she said she was very much upset about something and wanted very much to see me at once. She apologized for calling. She would not have been so brash, she said, except that since I had told her of my parents’ plans she knew I would probably be at home alone. The circumstance about which she was upset was that since her parents, too, were out of town, her two older sisters were planning “an awful kind of party” that she could not possibly have any part in. She wanted me to help her decide what she must do.


  My parents had taken our family car to Beersheba, and so it was that she and I had to meet on foot, halfway between Acklen Park and her home, which was two or three miles away, out in the Belle Meade section. And it ended, of course, after several hours of earnest talk about love and life—exchanged over milkshakes in a place called Candy Land and on the benches in the Japanese Garden in Centennial Park—ended, that is, by our coming to my house and telephoning her sisters that she had gone to spend the night with a classmate from Ward-Belmont. The inevitability of its working out so is beyond question in my mind. At least, in retrospect it is. Certainly both of us had known for many days beforehand that both sets of parents would be out of town; and certainly the very passionate kind of necking which we had been indulging in that summer, in the darkness of my father’s car and in the darkness of her father’s back terrace, had become almost intolerable to us. But we could honestly say to ourselves that we had made no plans for that weekend. We were able to tell ourselves afterward that it was just something that happened. And I was able to tell myself for many years afterward—I cannot deny it categorically even today—that I would not have consented to our coming to my house if I had thought there were the remotest possibility of Grandfather Manley’s turning up there.


  And yet, though I can tell myself so, there will always be a certain lingering doubt in my mind. And even after it was clear to both of us that we would sleep together that night, her sense of propriety was still such that she refused to go up to the second floor of my house. Even when I led her into Grandfather Manley’s room, she did not realize or did not acknowledge to herself that it was a bedroom we were in. I suppose she had never before seen anything quite like the furniture there. “What a darling room!” she exclaimed when I had put on the floor lamp beside the golden-oak rocker. And when I pulled down the great folding bed, even in the dim lamplight I could see that she blushed. Simultaneously almost, I caught a glimpse of myself in the mirror of the oak bureau and I cannot deny that I thought with certain glee in that moment of my grandfather or deny that I felt a certain premonition of events.


  My first thought when I heard his car outside the next afternoon was, We are in his room! We are in his bed! I imagined that that was what was going to disturb him most. The fact was we had been in and out of his bed I don’t know how many times by then. We had not only made love there in a literal sense, and were so engaged when he arrived, but we had during various intervals delighted each other there in the bed with card games and even checkers and Parcheesi, with enormous quantities of snacks which the cook had left for me in the refrigerator, and finally with reading aloud to each other from volumes of poetry and fiction which I fetched from my room upstairs. If there had been any sense of wrongdoing in our heads the previous afternoon, regarding such preoccupations as would be ours during those two days, it had long since been dispelled by the time that old man my grandfather arrived—dispelled for both of us, and not just for that time but probably for all future time. (As for myself, I know that I never again in all the years since have had any taste for taking my pleasure with such females as those Eighth Avenue–Reservoir girls—in the casual, impersonal way that one does with such females of any class or age.)


  When I told her there beside me that it was the tires of my grandfather’s car she and I had heard skidding in the gravel and that it was now his quick, light step on the porch steps that I recognized, she seized me by the wrist and whispered, “Even if he knows I’m here, I don’t want him to see me, and I don’t want to see him. You have to hide me! Quickly!” By the time we had pushed up the folding bed, there was already the sound of his key in the front door. There was nothing for it, if she were to be hidden, but to hide her in the wardrobe.


  “Over there,” I said, “if you’re sure you want to. But it’s his room. He’s apt to find you.”


  “Don’t you let him,” she commanded.


  “You put on your clothes,” was all I could say. I was pulling on my own trousers. And now she was running on tiptoe toward the wardrobe, with nothing on at all, carrying all her clothing and a pillow and blanket from the bed, all in a bundle clutched before her. She opened the wardrobe door, tossed everything in before her, and then hopped in on top of it. I followed her over there, buttoning my trousers and trying to get into my shirt. As I took a last step forward to close the door on her, I realized that, except for her and the bundle of clothing she was crouched on, the wardrobe was entirely empty. There were no possessions of Grandfather’s in it. I thought to myself, Perhaps he never opens the wardrobe, even. And as I closed the door I saw to my delight that my brave girl, huddled there inside the wardrobe, wasn’t by any means shedding tears but was smiling up at me. And I think I knew then for the first time in my life how wonderful it is to be in love and how little anything else in the world matters. And I found myself smiling back at her with hardly an awareness of the fact that she hadn’t a piece of clothing on her body. And I actually delayed closing the door long enough to put the palm of my hand to my mouth and throw her a kiss.


  Then, having observed the emptiness of the wardrobe, I glanced over at the oak bureau and wondered if it weren’t entirely empty, too. I was inspired by that thought to quickly gather up my books, along with a bread wrapper and a jam jar, a kitchen knife, a couple of plates and glasses, and also my own shoes and socks, and to stuff them all inside a drawer of the bureau. On opening the heavy top drawer I found I was not mistaken. The drawer was empty and with no sign of its ever having been used by Grandfather—perhaps not since the day when the furniture had first been brought from Hunt County and Mother had put down the white paper in it for lining.


  Already I had heard Grandfather Manley calling my name out in the front hall. It was something I think he had never done before when arriving at the house. His choosing to do so had given me the extra time I had needed. When I closed the big bureau drawer I looked at myself in the wide mirror above it, and I was almost unrecognizable even to myself. I was sweating profusely. My hair was uncombed. I had not shaved in two days. My trousers and shirt were all wrinkles. But I heard my grandfather calling me a second time and knew I had to go out there.


  When I stepped, barefoot, into his view I could tell from his expression that he saw me just as I had seen myself and that I was barely recognizable to him. He was standing at the foot of the stairs, from which point he had been calling my name. No doubt my face showed him how astonished I was to have him call out to me on coming into the house—at the informality and open friendliness of it. No doubt for a minute or so he supposed that accounted wholly for my obvious consternation. He actually smiled at me. It was rather a sickly grin, though, like General Forrest’s, the smile of a man who isn’t given to smiling. And yet there was an undeniable warmth in his smile and in the total expression on his face. “I couldn’t abide another day of Beersheba Springs,” he said. “The swells over there are too rich for my blood. I thought I would just slip by here on my way home and see what kind of mischief you might be up to.”


  Clearly what he said was intended to amuse me. And just as clearly he meant that he preferred whatever low life he might find me engaged in to the high life led by my parents’ friends at Beersheba. Presently, though, he could deceive himself no longer about my extraordinary appearance and my nervous manner’s indication that something was wrong.


  “What’s the matter, son?” he said.


  “Nothing’s the matter,” I said belligerently.


  The very friendliness of his demeanor somehow made me resent more bitterly than ever before his turning up at so inconvenient a moment. This was my real life he had come in on and was interfering with. Moreover, he had intruded this time with real and unconcealed feelings of his own. I could not permit him, at that hour of my life, to make me the object of his paternal affection. I was a grown man now and was in love with a girl who was about to be disgraced in his eyes. How could there be anything between him and me? His life, whether or not it was in any way his fault, had kept him from knowing what love of our sort was. He might know everything else in the world, including every other noble feeling which I could never be able to experience. He might be morally correct about everything else in the world, but he was not morally correct about love between a man and a woman. This was what I felt there in the hall that afternoon. I was aware of how little I had to base my judgment on. It was based mostly on the nothing that had ever been said about women in all the stories he had told me. In all the stories about the nightriders, for instance, there was no incident about his reunion with his wife, my grandmother, afterward. And I never heard him speak of her by her first name. Even now I wonder how we ever know about such men and their attitude toward women. In our part of the world we were all brought up on tales of the mysterious ways of Thomas Jefferson, whose mother and wife are scarcely mentioned in his writings, and Andrew Jackson and Sam Houston, whose reticence on the subject of women is beyond the comprehension of most men nowadays. Did they have too much respect for women? Were they perhaps, for all their courage in other domains, afraid of women or afraid of their own compelling feelings about women? I didn’t think all of this, of course, as I faced Grandfather Manley there in the hall, but I believe I felt it. It seemed to me that his generation and my own were a thousand years apart.


  “What’s the matter, son?” he said.


  “Nothing’s the matter,” I said.


  There was nothing more for either of us to say. He began to move toward me and in the direction of his room. “Why don’t you wait a minute,” I said, “before you go into your room?”


  His little eyes widened, and after a moment he said, “It ain’t my room, y’ know. I only stay in it.”


  “Yes,” I said, “but I’ve been reading in there. Let me go clear up my books and things.” I had no idea but to delay him. I said, “Maybe you should go out to the kitchen and get something to eat.”


  But he walked right past me, still wearing his hat and coat, of course, and still carrying his little Gladstone bag. When he had passed into his room and I had followed him in there, he said, “I see no books and things.”


  “No,” I said, “I hid them in the bureau drawer. I didn’t know whether you would like my being in here.”


  He looked at me skeptically. I went over and opened the drawer and took out my books and my shoes and socks. Then I closed the drawer, leaving everything else in it. But he came and opened the drawer again. And he saw the plates and other things. “What else are you hiding?” he asked. No doubt he had heard the knives and the plates rattling about when I closed the drawer. Then he turned and walked over to the wardrobe. I ran ahead of him and placed myself against the door. “You’ve got one of those bitches of yours hidden in there, I reckon,” he said.


  “No, sir,” I said, trying to look him straight in the eye.


  “Then what is it?” he said. And he began blinking his eyes, not because I was staring into them but because he was thinking. “Are you going to tell me, or am I going to find out for myself?”


  Suddenly I said, “It’s my girl in there.” We were both silent for a time, staring into each other’s eyes. “And you’ve no right to open the door on her,” I finally said. “Because she’s not dressed.”


  “You’re lying,” he came back at me immediately. “I don’t believe you for a minute.” He left me and went to the folding bed and pulled it down. He set his bag on the bed and he poked at the jumble of sheets with his cane. Then he stood there, looking back at me for several moments. He still had not removed his straw hat and had not unbuttoned his coat. Finally he began moving across the room toward me. He stood right before me, looking me in the eye again. Then, with almost no effort, he pushed me aside and opened the wardrobe door.


  She still hadn’t managed to get into her clothes but she was hugging the pillow and had the blanket half pulled over her shoulder. I think he may have recognized her from the one time he had met her at dinner. Or maybe, I thought to myself, he was just such an old expert that he could tell what kind of girl she was from one glance at her. Anyway, he turned on me a look cold and fierce and so articulate that I imagined I could hear the words his look expressed: “So this is how bad you really are?” Then he went directly over to the bed, took up his bag and his cane, left the room, and left the house without speaking to me again.


  When I had heard the front door close I took the leather ottoman across the room and sat on it, holding hands with that brave and quiet girl who, with the door wide open now, remained crouching inside the wardrobe. When finally we heard him drive out of the driveway we smiled at each other and kissed. And I thought to myself again that his generation and ours were a thousand years apart, or ten thousand.


  


  I thought of course that when Grandfather Manley left Acklen Park he would continue on his way to Hunt County. But that was not the case. Or probably he did go to Hunt County, after all, and then turned around and went back to Beersheba Springs from there. Because he arrived at Beersheba at about eleven o’clock that night, and it would be difficult to explain how he was dressed as he was unless he had made a trip home and changed into the clothes he arrived in. He left Acklen Park about four in the afternoon, and from that time through the remaining ten years of his life he was never again seen wearing the old gabardine coat or either of his broad-brimmed hats. When he arrived at Beersheba, Mother and Father were sitting on the front gallery of the hotel with a group of friends. They were no doubt rocking away in the big rockers that furnished the porch, talking about the bridge hands they had held that evening, and enjoying the view of the moonlit valley below Cumberland Mountain.


  When they saw him drive up, the car was unmistakable of course. But the man who emerged from it was not unmistakable. Major Basil Manley was dressed in a black serge suit, and in the starched collar of his white shirt he wore a black shoestring tie. I can describe his attire in such detail because from that day I never saw him in any other. That is, except on Decoration Day in those later years, when he invariably appeared in Confederate uniform. And in which uniform, at his own request, he was finally buried, not at Huntsboro and not in the family graveyard, but at Mount Olivet Cemetery, at Nashville. My father’s account of his arrival on the hotel porch is memorable to me because it is the source of a great discovery which I felt I had made. My parents didn’t recognize him for a certainty until he had passed along the shadowy brick walkway between the hovering boxwoods and stepped up on the porch. And then, significantly, both of them went to him and kissed him on the cheek, first my mother and then my father. And all the while, as my father described it, Major Manley stood there, ramrod straight, his cheeks wet with tears, like an old general accepting total defeat with total fortitude.


  And what I understood for certain when I heard about that ceremony of theirs was that it had, after all, been their battle all along, his and theirs, not his and mine. I, after all, had only been the pawn of that gentle-seeming couple who were his daughter and son-in-law and who were my parents. It is almost unbelievable the changes that took place in Grandfather from that day. He grew his beard again, which was completely white now, of course. It hid his lean jaw and weak chin, making him very handsome, and was itself very beautiful in its silky whiteness against his black suit and black shoestring tie. The following year—the very next May—he began attending the Confederate Reunions again. And of course he was promptly promoted to the rank of colonel. Yet he did hold out against ever wearing the insignia of that rank, until he was in his coffin and it was put on him by other hands. So far as I know he never allowed anyone—not even the other veterans—to address him other than as Major Manley. And in the fall after he had first appeared in his new role at Beersheba Springs, he began coming in to Nashville more often than ever. I was not at home that fall, since that was my first year away at college, but when I would go home for a weekend and find him there or find that he had been there, I would observe some new object in his room, an old picture of my grandmother as a girl, bare-shouldered and with dark curls about her face, the picture in its original oval frame. Other family pictures soon appeared, too. And there was a handsome washbasin and pitcher, and there were some of his favorite books, like Ramsey’s Annals of Tennessee and lawbooks that had belonged to his father, my great-grandfather. And then, very soon, he began to bring in small pieces of furniture that were unlike the golden-oak pieces already there.


  When my mother had first urged Grandfather Manley to come live with us, it was just after my grandmother died and before we had moved into the big house in Acklen Park. He had said frankly then that he thought he would find it too cramped in our little house on Division Street. But when they bought the new house, they had done so with an eye to providing accommodations that would be agreeable to an old man who might before many years not like to climb stairs and who, at any rate, was known to be fond of his privacy. They consulted with a number of their friends who had the responsibility for aging parents. It was a bond they were now going to share with those friends or a bond which they aspired to, anyway. In those days in Nashville, having a Confederate veteran around the place was comparable to having a peacock on the lawn or, if not that, at least comparable to having one’s children in the right schools. It was something anybody liked to have. It didn’t matter, I suppose, what rank the veteran was, since he was certain to be promoted as the years passed. The pressure on Major Manley to move in with his daughter and son-in-law was gentle always, but it was constant and it was enduring. One of the most compelling reasons given him was that they wanted him to get to know his only grandson and that they wanted the grandson to have the benefit of growing up in the house with him. Well, when the new house was bought and he was shown that room on the first floor which was to be reserved perpetually for him whenever he might choose to come and occupy it, and when he was urged to furnish it with whatever pieces he might wish to bring in from Hunt County, he no doubt felt he could not absolutely reject the invitation. And he no doubt had unrealistic dreams about some kind of rapport that might develop between him and the son of this daughter and son-in-law of his. I don’t remember the day it happened of course, but it must have come as a considerable shock and disappointment to Mother when a truck hired in Huntsboro arrived, bearing not the rosewood half-canopied bed from her mother’s room at home, or the cannonball four-poster from the guest room there, but the fold-away golden-oak piece that came instead, and the other golden-oak pieces that arrived instead of the walnut and mahogany pieces she had had in mind. Yet no complaint was made to the old man. (His daughter and son-in-law were much too gentle for that.) The golden oak had come out of the downstairs “office” in the old farmhouse, which he had furnished when he first got married and moved in with his own parents. No doubt he thought it most appropriate for any downstairs bedroom, even in Acklen Park. The main object was to get him to occupy the room. And, after his fashion, this of course was how he had occupied it through the years.


  But by Christmas of the year he and I had our confrontations he had, piece by piece, moved all new furnishings into the room and had disposed of all the golden oak. The last piece he exchanged was the folding bed for the walnut cannonball bed. When I came home at Christmas, there was the big four-poster filling the room, its mattress so high above the floor (in order to accommodate the trundle bed) that a set of walnut bed steps was required for Grandfather to climb into or out of it. And before spring came the next year Grandfather had closed his house in Hunt County and taken up permanent residence in Acklen Park. He lived there for the rest of his life, participating in my parents’ lively social activities, talking freely about his Civil War experiences, even telling the ladies how he courted my grandmother during that time, and how sometimes he would slip away from his encampment, make a dash for her father’s farm, and spy on her from the edge of a wood without ever letting her know he had been in the neighborhood.


  Such anecdotes delighted the Nashville ladies and the Nashville gentlemen, too. But often he would talk seriously and at length about the War itself—to the great and special delectation of both my parents—describing for a room full of people the kind of lightning warfare that Forrest carried on, going on late into the evening sometimes, describing every little crossroads skirmish from Between The Rivers to Shiloh, pausing now and then for a little parenthetical explanation, for the ladies, of such matters as the difference between tactics and strategy. Sometimes he would display remarkable knowledge of the grand strategy of the really great battles of the War, of Shiloh and Vicksburg, of Stone River, Franklin, and Chicka­mauga, and of other battles that he had no part in. When he had a sufficiently worthy audience he would even speculate about whether or not the War in the West might have been won if Bragg had been removed from his command or whether the whole War mightn’t have been won if President Davis had not viewed it so narrowly from the Richmond point of view. Or he would raise the question of what might have happened if Lee had been allowed to go to the Mountains.


  I heard my parents’ accounts of all such talk of his. But I heard some of it myself, too. The fall after I had graduated from Wallace School, I went away to the University of the South, at Sewanee. My father had gone to Vanderbilt because he had been a Methodist, and Vanderbilt was the great Methodist university in those days. But he and Mother, under the influence of one of his aunts, had become Episcopalian before I was born even. And so there was never any idea but that I should go to Sewanee. I liked being at Sewanee and liked being away from Nashville for the first time in my life. The University of course was full of boys from the various states of the Deep South. I very soon made friends there with boys from Mississippi and Louisiana and South Carolina. And since Nashville was so close by, I used to bring some of them home with me on weekends or on short holidays. They of course had never seen Grandfather Manley the way he had been before. And they couldn’t imagine his being different from the way he was then. He would gather us around him sometimes in the evening and talk to us about the War Between the States. The boys loved to listen to him. They really adored him and made over him and clamored for him to tell certain stories over and over again. I enjoyed it, too, of course. He seemed quite as strange and interesting an old character to me as he did to them. And sometimes when I would ask him a question, just the way the others did, he would answer me with the same politeness he showed them, and at those times I would have the uneasy feeling that he wasn’t quite certain whether it was I or one of the others who was his grandson, whether I was not perhaps merely one of the boys visiting, with the others, from Sewanee.


  The Old Forest


  


  I WAS already formally engaged, as we used to say, to the girl I was going to marry. But still I sometimes went out on the town with girls of a different sort. And during the very week before the date set for the wedding, in December, I was in an automobile accident at a time when one of those girls was with me. It was a calamitous thing to have happen—not the accident itself, which caused no serious injury to anyone, but the accident plus the presence of that girl.


  As a matter of fact, it was not unusual in those days—forty years ago and a little more—for a well-brought-up young man like me to keep up his acquaintance, until the very eve of his wedding, with some member of what we facetiously and somewhat arrogantly referred to as the Memphis demimonde. (That was merely to say with a girl who was not in the Memphis debutante set.) I am not even sure how many of us knew what the word “demimonde” meant or implied. But once it had been applied to such girls, it was hard for us to give it up. We even learned to speak of them individually as demimondaines—and later corrupted that to demimondames. The girls were of course a considerably less sophisticated lot than any of this sounds, though they were bright girls certainly and some of them even highly intelligent. They read books, they looked at pictures, and they were apt to attend any concert or play that came to Memphis. When the old San Carlo Opera Company turned up in town, you could count on certain girls of the demimonde being present in their block of seats, and often with a score of the opera in hand. From that you will understand that they certainly weren’t the innocent, untutored types that we generally took to dances at the Memphis Country Club and whom we eventually looked forward to marrying.


  These girls I refer to would, in fact, very frequently and very frankly say to us that the MCC (that’s how we always spoke of the Club) was the last place they wanted to be taken. There was one girl in particular, not so smart as some of the others perhaps and certainly less restrained in the humor she sometimes poked at the world we boys lived in, an outspoken girl, who was the most vociferous of all in her disdain for the Country Club. I remember one night, in one of those beer gardens that became popular in Memphis in the late thirties, when this girl suddenly announced to a group of us, “I haven’t lost anything at the MCC. That’s something you boys can bet your daddy’s bottom dollar on.” We were gathered—four or five couples—about one of the big wooden beer-garden tables with an umbrella in its center, and when she said that, all the other girls in the party went into a fit of laughter. It was a kind of giggling that was unusual for them. The boys in the party laughed, too, of course, but we were surprised by the way the girls continued to giggle among themselves for such a long time. We were out of college by then and thought we knew the world pretty well; most of us had been working for two or three years in our fathers’ business firms. But we didn’t see why this joke was so very funny. I suppose it was too broad for us in its reference. There is no way of knowing, after all these years, if it was too broad for our sheltered minds or if the rest of the girls were laughing at the vulgar tone of the girl who had spoken. She was, you see, a little bit coarser than the rest, and I suspect they were laughing at the way she had phrased what she said. For us boys, anyhow, it was pleasant that the demimondaines took the lighthearted view they did about not going to the MCC, because it was the last place most of us would have wished to take them. Our other girls would have known too readily who they were and would not willingly or gracefully have endured their presence. To have brought one of those girls to the Club would have required, at any rate, a boy who was a much bolder and freer spirit than I was at twenty-three.


  To the liberated young people of today all this may seem a corrupting factor in our old way of life—not our snobbery so much as our continuing to see those demimonde girls right up until the time of marriage. And yet I suspect that in the Memphis of today customs concerning serious courtship and customs concerning unacknowledged love affairs have not been entirely altered. Automobile accidents occur there still, for instance, the reports of which in the newspaper do not mention the name of the driver’s “female companion,” just as the report of my accident did not. If the driver is a “scion of a prominent local family” with his engagement to be married already announced at an MCC party, as well as in the Sunday newspaper, then the account of his automobile collision is likely to refer to the girl in the car with him only as his “female companion.” Some newspaper readers might, I know, assume this to be a reference to the young man’s fiancée. That is what is intended, I suppose—for the general reader. But it would almost certainly not have been the case—not in the Memphis, Tennessee, of 1937.


  The girl with me in my accident was a girl whose origins nobody knew anything about. But she was a perfectly decent sort of girl, living independently in a respectable rooming house and working at a respectable job. That was the sort of girl about whom the Memphis newspapers felt obliged to exercise the greatest care when making any reference to her in their columns. It was as though she were their special ward. Such a girl must be protected from any blaze of publicity. Such a girl must not suffer from the misconduct of any Memphis man or group of men—even newspaper publishers. That was fine for the girl, of course, and who could possibly resent it? It was splendid for her, but I, the driver of the car, had to suffer considerable anguish just because of such a girl’s presence in the car and suffer still more because of her behavior afterward. Moreover, the response of certain older men in town to her subsequent behavior would cause me still further anguish and prolong my suffering by several days. Those men were the editors of the city’s two newspapers, along with the lawyers called in by my father to represent me if I should be taken into court. There was also my father himself, and the father of my fiancée, his lawyer (for some reason or other), and, finally, no less a person than the mayor of Memphis, all of whom one would ordinarily have supposed to be indifferent to the caprices of such a girl. They were the civic leaders and merchant princes of the city. They had great matters on their minds. They were, to say the least, an imposing group in the eyes of a young man who had just the previous year entered his father’s cotton-brokerage firm, a young man who was still learning how to operate under the pecking order of Memphis’s male establishment.


  The girl in question was named Lee Ann Deehart. She was a quite beautiful, fair-haired, hazel-eyed girl with a lively manner, and surely she was far from stupid. The thing she did which drew attention from the city fathers came very near, also, to changing the course of my entire life. I had known Lee Ann for perhaps two years at the time, and knew her to be more level-headed and more reserved and self-possessed than most of her friends among the demimondaines. It would have been impossible for me to predict the behavior she was guilty of that winter afternoon. Immediately after the collision, she threw open the door on her side of the car, stepped out onto the roadside, and fled into the woods of Overton Park, which is where the accident took place. And from that time, and during the next four days, she was unheard from by people who wished to question her and protect her. During that endless-seeming period of four days no one could be certain of Lee Ann Deehart’s whereabouts.


  


  The circumstances of the accident were rather complicated. The collision occurred just after three o’clock on a very cold Saturday afternoon—the fourth of December. Although at that time in my life I was already a member of my father’s cotton firm, I was nevertheless—and strange as it may seem—enrolled in a Latin class out at Southwestern College, which is on the north side of Overton Park. (We were reading Horace’s Odes!) The class was not held on Saturday afternoon, but I was on my way out to the college to study for a test that had been scheduled for Monday. My interest in Latin was regarded by my father and mother as one of my “anomalies”—a remnant of many “anomalies” I had annoyed them with when I was in my teens and was showing some signs of “not turning out well.” It seemed now of course that I had “turned out well” after all, except that nobody in the family and nobody among my friends could understand why I went on showing this interest in Latin. I was not able to explain to them why. Any more than I was able to explain why to myself. It clearly had nothing to do with anything else in my life at that period. Furthermore, in the classroom and under the strict eye of our classics professor, a rotund, mustachioed little man hardly four feet in height (he had to sit on a large Latin dictionary in order to be comfortable at his desk), I didn’t excel. I was often embarrassed by having to own up to Professor Bartlett’s accusation that I had not so much as glanced at the assigned odes before coming to class. Sometimes other members of the class would be caught helping me with the translation, out in the hallway, when Professor Bartlett opened his classroom door to us. My real excuse for neglecting the assignments made by that earnest and admirable little scholar was that too many hours of my life were consumed by my job, by my courtship of the society girl I was going to marry, and by my old, bad habits of knocking about town with my boyhood cronies and keeping company with girls like Lee Ann Deehart.


  Yet I had persisted with my Horace class throughout that fall (against the advice of nearly everyone, including Professor Bartlett). On that frigid December afternoon I had resolved to mend my ways as a student. I decided I would take my Horace and go out to Professor Bartlett’s classroom at the college and make use of his big dictionary in preparing for Monday’s test. It was something we had all been urged to do, with the promise that we would always find the door unlocked. As it turned out, of course, I was destined not to take the test on Monday and never to enter Professor Bartlett’s classroom again.


  It happened that just before I was setting out from home that afternoon I was filled suddenly with a dread of the silence and the peculiar isolation of a college classroom building on a weekend afternoon. I telephoned my fiancée and asked her to go along with me. At the other end of the telephone line, Caroline Braxley broke into laughter. She said that I clearly had no conception of all the things she had to do within the next seven days before we were to be married. I said I supposed I ought to be helping in some way, though until now she had not asked me so much as to help address invitations to the wedding. “No indeed,” said my bride-to-be, “I want to do everything myself. I wouldn’t have it any other way.”


  Caroline Braxley, this capable and handsome bride-to-be of mine, was a very remarkable girl, just as today, as my wife, she seems to me a very remarkable woman of sixty. She and I have been married for forty-one years now, and her good judgment in all matters relating to our marriage has never failed her—or us. She had already said to me before that Saturday afternoon that a successful marriage depended in part on the two persons’ developing and maintaining a certain number of separate interests in life. She was all for my keeping up my golf, my hunting, my fishing. And, unlike my own family, she saw no reason that I shouldn’t keep up my peculiar interest in Latin, though she had to confess that she thought it almost the funniest thing she had ever heard of a man of my sort going in for.


  Caroline liked any sort of individualism in men. But I already knew her ways sufficiently well to understand that there was no use trying to persuade her to come along with me to the college. I wished she would come with me, or maybe I wished even more she would try to persuade me to come over to her house and help her with something in preparation for the wedding. After I had put down the telephone, it even occurred to me that I might simply drive over to her house and present myself at her front door. But I knew what the expression on her face would be, and I could even imagine the sort of thing she would say: “No man is going to set foot in my house this afternoon, Nat Ramsey! I’m getting married next Saturday, in case the fact has slipped your mind. Besides, you’re coming here for dinner tonight, aren’t you? And there are parties every night next week!”


  This Caroline Braxley of mine was a very tall girl. (Actually taller than she is nowadays. We have recently measured ourselves and found that each of us is an inch shorter than we used to be.) One often had the feeling that one was looking up at her, though of course she wasn’t really so tall as that. Caroline’s height and the splendid way she carried herself were one of her first attractions for me. It seems to me now that I was ever attracted to tall girls—that is, when there was the possibility of falling in love. And I think this was due in part to the fact that even as a boy I was half in love with my father’s two spinster sisters, who were nearly six feet in height and were always more attentive to me than to the other children in the family.


  Anyhow, only moments after I had put down the telephone that Saturday, when I still sat with my hand on the instrument and was thinking vaguely of rushing over to Caroline’s house, the telephone underneath my hand began ringing. Perhaps, I thought, it was Caroline calling back to say that she had changed her mind. Instead, it was Lee Ann Deehart. As soon as she heard my voice, she began telling me that she was bored to death. Couldn’t I think of something fun she and I could do on this dreary winter afternoon? I laughed aloud at her. “What a shameless wench you are, Lee Ann!” I said.


  “Shameless? How so?” she said with pretended innocence.


  “As if you weren’t fully aware,” I lectured her, “that I’m getting married a week from today!”


  “What’s that got to do with the price of eggs in Arkansas?” She laughed. “Do you think, old Nat, I want to marry you?”


  “Well,” I explained, “I happen to be going out to the college to cram for a Latin test on Monday.”


  I could hear her laughter at the other end. “Is your daddy going to let you off work long enough to take your Latin test?” she asked with heavy irony in her voice. It was the usual way those girls had of making fun of our dependence on our fathers.


  “Ah, yes,” I said tolerantly.


  “And is he going to let you off next Saturday, too,” she went on, “long enough to get married?”


  “Listen,” I said, “I’ve just had an idea. Why don’t you ride out to the college with me, and fool around some while I do my Latin?” I suppose I didn’t really imagine she would go, but suddenly I had thought again of the lonely isolation of Dr. Bartlett’s classroom on a Saturday afternoon. I honestly wanted to go ahead out there. It was something I somehow felt I had to do. My preoccupation with the study of Latin poetry, ineffectual student though I was, may have represented a perverse wish to experience the isolation I was at the same time dreading or may have represented a taste for morbidity left over from my adolescence. I can allow myself to speculate on all that now, though it would not have occurred to me to do so at the time.


  “Well,” said Lee Ann Deehart presently, to my surprise and delight, “it couldn’t be more boring out there than sitting here in my room is.”


  “I’ll pick you up in fifteen minutes,” I said quickly. And I hung up the telephone before she could possibly change her mind. Thirty minutes later, we were driving through Overton Park on our way to the college. We had passed the Art Gallery and were headed down the hill toward the low ground where the Park Pond is. Ahead of us, on the left, were the gates to the Zoo. And on beyond was the point where the road crossed the streetcar tracks and entered a densely wooded area which is actually the last surviving bit of the primeval forest that once grew right up to the bluffs above the Mississippi River. Here are giant oak and yellow poplar trees older than the memory of the earliest white settler. Some of them surely may have been mature trees when Hernando de Soto passed this way, and were very old trees indeed when General Jackson, General Winchester, and Judge John Overton purchased this land and laid out the city of Memphis. Between the Art Gallery and the pond there used to be, in my day, a little spinney of woods which ran nearly all the way back to what was left of the old forest. It was just when I reached this spinney, with Lee Ann beside me, that I saw a truck approaching us on the wrong side of the icy road. There was a moderately deep snow on the ground, and the park roads had, to say the least, been imperfectly cleared. On the ice and the packed snow, the driver of the truck had clearly lost control of his vehicle. When he was within about seventy-five feet of us, Lee Ann said, “Pull off the road, Nat!”


  Lee Ann Deehart’s beauty was of the most feminine sort. She was a tiny, delicate-looking girl, and I had noticed, when I went to fetch her that day, in her fur-collared coat and knitted cap and gutta-percha boots she somehow seemed smaller than usual. And I was now struck by the tone of authority coming from this small person whose diminutive size and whose role in my life were such that it wouldn’t have occurred to me to heed her advice about driving a car—or about anything else, I suppose. I remember feeling something like: This is an ordeal that I must, and that I want, to face in my own way. It was as though Professor Bartlett himself were in the approaching truck. It seemed my duty not to admit any weakness in my own position. At least I thought that was what I felt.


  “Pull off the road, Nat!” Lee Ann urged again. And my incredible reply to her was “He’s on my side of the road! Besides, trucks are not allowed in the park!” And in reply to this Lee Ann gave only a loud snicker.


  I believe I did, in the last seconds, try to swing the car off onto the shoulder of the road. But the next thing I really remember is the fierce impact of the two vehicles’ meeting.


  It was a relatively minor sort of collision, or seemed so at the moment. Since the driver of the truck, which was actually a converted Oldsmobile sedan—and a rather ancient one at that—had the good sense not to put on his brakes and to turn off her motor, the crash was less severe than it might have been. Moreover, since I had pulled a little to the right it was not a head-on meeting. It is worth mentioning, though, that it was sufficiently bad to put permanently out of commission the car I was driving, which was not my own car (my car was in the shop, being refurbished for the honeymoon trip) but an aging Packard limousine of my mother’s, which I knew she would actually be happy to see retired. I don’t remember getting out of the car at all and I don’t remember Lee Ann’s getting out. The police were told by the driver of the truck, however, that within a second after the impact Lee Ann had thrown open her door, leaped out onto the snow-covered shoulder, jumped the ditch beyond, and run up the incline and into the spinney. The truck driver’s account was corroborated by two ice skaters on the pond, who also saw her run through the leafless trees of the spinney and on across a narrow stretch of the public golf course which divides the spinney from the old forest. They agreed that, considering there was a deep snow on the ground and that she was wearing those gutta-percha boots, she traveled at a remarkable speed.


  I didn’t even know she was out of the car until I got around on the other side and saw the door there standing open and saw her tracks in the snow, going down the bank. I suppose I was too dazed even to follow the tracks with my eyes down the bank and up the other side of the ditch. I must have stood there for several seconds, looking down blankly at the tracks she had left just outside the car door. Presently I looked up at the truck driver, who was standing before me. I know now his eyes must have been following Lee Ann’s progress. Finally he turned his eyes to me, and I could tell from his expression that I wasn’t a pleasant sight. “Is your head hurt bad?” he asked. I put my hand up to my forehead and when I brought it down it was covered with blood. That was when I passed out. When I came to, they wouldn’t let me get up. Besides the truck driver, there were two policemen and the two ice skaters standing over me. They told me that an ambulance was on the way.


  At the hospital, the doctor took four stitches in my forehead; and that was it. I went home and lay down for a couple of hours, as I had been told to do. My parents and my two brothers and my little sister and even the servants were very much concerned about me. They hovered around in a way I had never before seen them do—not even when somebody was desperately sick. I suppose it was because a piece of violence like this accident was a very extraordinary thing in our quiet Memphis life in those years. They were disturbed, too, I soon realized, by my silence as I lay there on the daybed in the upstairs sitting room and particularly by my being reticent to talk about the collision. I had other things on my mind. Every so often I would remember Lee Ann’s boot tracks in the snow. And I would begin to wonder where she was now. Since I had not found an opportunity to telephone her, I could only surmise that she had somehow managed to get back to the rooming house where she lived. I had not told anyone about her presence in the car with me. And as I lay there on the daybed, with the family and servants coming and going and making inquiries about how I felt, I would find myself wondering sometimes how and whether or not I could tell Caroline Braxley about Lee Ann’s being with me that afternoon. It turned out the next day—or, rather, on Monday morning—that the truck driver had told the two policemen and then, later, repeated to someone who called from one of the newspapers that there had been a girl with me in the car. As a matter of fact, I learned that this was the case on the night of the accident, but as I lay there in the upstairs sitting room during the afternoon I didn’t yet know it.


  Shortly before five o’clock Caroline Braxley arrived at our house, making a proper sick call but also with the intention of taking me back to dinner with her parents and her two younger sisters. Immediately after she entered the upstairs sitting room, and almost before she and I had greeted each other, my mother’s houseboy and sometime chauffeur came in, bringing my volume of Horace. Because Mother had thought it might raise my spirits, she had sent him down to the service garage where the wrecked car had been taken to fetch it for me. Smiling sympathetically, he placed it on a table near the daybed and left the room. Looking at the book, Caroline said to me with a smile that expressed a mixture of sympathy and reproach, “I hope you see now what folly your pursuit of Latin poetry is.” And suddenly, then, the book on the table appeared to me as an alien object. In retrospect it seems to me that I really knew then that I would never open it again.


  I went to dinner that night at Caroline’s house, my head still in bandages. The Braxley family treated me with a tenderness equal to that I had received at home. At table, the servingman offered to help my plate for me, as though I were a sick child. I could have enjoyed all this immensely, I think, since I have always been one to relish loving, domestic care, if only I had not been worrying and speculating all the while about Lee Ann. As I talked genially with Caroline’s family during the meal and immediately afterward before the briskly burning fire at the end of the Braxleys’ long living room, I kept seeing Lee Ann’s boot tracks in the snow. And then I would see my own bloody hand as I took it down from my face before I fainted. I remember still having the distinct feeling, as I sat there in the bosom of the Braxley family, that it had not been merely my bloody hand that had made me faint but my bloody hand plus the tracks in the deep snow. In a way, it is strange that I remember all these impressions so vividly after forty years, because it is not as though I have lived an uneventful life during the years since. My Second World War experiences are what I perhaps ought to remember best—those, along with the deaths of my two younger brothers in the Korean War. Even worse, really, were the deaths of my two parents in a terrible fire that destroyed our house on Central Avenue when they had got to be quite old, my mother leaping from a second-story window, my father asphyxiated inside the house. And I can hardly mention without being overcome with emotion the accidental deaths that took two of my and Caroline’s children when they were in their early teens. It would seem that with all these disasters to remember, along with the various business and professional crises I have had, I might hardly be able to recall that earlier episode. But I think that, besides its coming at that impressionable period of my life and the fact that one just does remember things better from one’s youth, there is the undeniable fact that life was different in those times. What I mean to say is that all these later, terrible events took place in a world where acts of terror are, so to speak, all around us—everyday occurrences—and are brought home to us audibly and pictorially on radio and television almost every hour. I am not saying that some of these ugly acts of terror did not need to take place or were not brought on by what our world was like in those days. But I am saying that the context was different. Our tranquil, upper-middle-class world of 1937 did not have the rest of the world crowding in on it so much. And thus when something only a little ugly did crowd in or when we, often unconsciously, reached out for it, the contrasts seemed sharper. It was not just in the Braxleys’ household or in my own family’s that everything seemed quiet and well ordered and unchanging. The households were in a context like themselves. Suffice it to say that though the Braxleys’ house in Memphis was situated on East Parkway and our house on Central Avenue, at least two miles across town from each other, I could in those days feel perfectly safe, and was relatively safe, in walking home many a night from Caroline’s house to our house at two in the morning. It was when we young men in Memphis ventured out with the more adventurous girls of the demimonde that we touched on the unsafe zones of Memphis. And there were girls still more adventurous, of course, with whom some of my contemporaries found their way into the very most dangerous zones. But we did think of it that way, you see, thought of it in terms of the girls’ being the adventurous ones, whom we followed or didn’t follow.


  Anyhow, while we were sitting there before the fire, with the portrait of Caroline’s paternal grandfather peering down at us from above the mantel and with her father in his broad-lapelled, double-breasted suit standing on the marble hearth, occasionally poking at the logs with the brass poker or sometimes kicking a log with the toe of his wing-tipped shoes, suddenly I was called to the telephone by the Negro servingman who had wanted to help my plate for me. As he preceded me the length of the living room and then gently guided me across the hall to the telephone in the library, I believe he would have put his hand under my elbow to help me—as if a real invalid—if I had allowed him to. As we passed through the hall, I glanced through one of the broad, etched sidelights beside the front door and caught a glimpse of the snow on the ground outside. The weather had turned even colder. There had been no additional snowfall, but even at a glance you could tell how crisply frozen the old snow was on its surface. The servingman at my elbow was saying, “It’s your daddy on the phone. I’d suppose he just wants to know how you’d be feeling by now.”


  But I knew in my heart it wasn’t that. It was as if that glimpse of the crisp snow through the front-door sidelight had told me what it was. When I took up the telephone and heard my father’s voice pronouncing my name, I knew almost exactly what he was going to say. He said that his friend the editor of the morning paper had called him and reported that there had been a girl in the car with me, and though they didn’t of course plan to use her name, probably wouldn’t even run the story until Monday, they would have to know her name. And would have to assure themselves she wasn’t hurt in the crash. And that she was unharmed after leaving the scene. Without hesitation I gave my father Lee Ann Deehart’s name, as well as her address and telephone number. But I made no further explanation to Father, and he asked me for none. The only other thing I said was that I’d be home in a little while. Father was silent a moment after that. Then he said, “Are you all right?”


  I said, “I’m fine.”


  And he said, “Good. I’ll be waiting up for you.”


  I hung up the telephone, and my first thought was that before I left Caroline tonight I’d have to tell her that Lee Ann had been in the car with me. Then, without thinking almost, I dialed Lee Ann’s rooming-house number. It felt very strange to be doing this in the Braxleys’ library. The woman who ran the rooming house said that Lee Ann had not been in since she left with me in the afternoon.


  As I passed back across the wide hallway and caught another glimpse of the snow outside, the question arose in my mind for the first time: Had Lee Ann come to some harm in those woods? More than the density of the underbrush, more than its proximity to the Zoo, where certain unsavory characters often hung out, it was the great size and antiquity of the forest trees somehow and the old rumors that white settlers had once been ambushed there by Chickasaw Indians that made me feel that if anything had happened to the girl, it had happened there. And on the heels of such thoughts I found myself wondering for the first time if all this might actually lead to my beautiful, willowy Caroline Braxley’s breaking off our engagement. I returned to the living room, and at the sight of Caroline’s tall figure at the far end of the room, placed between that of her mother and that of her father, the conviction became firm in me that I would have to tell her about Lee Ann before she and I parted that night. And as I drew nearer to her, still wondering if something ghastly had happened to Lee Ann there in the old forest, I saw the perplexed and even suspicious expression on Caroline’s face and presently observed similar expressions on the faces of her two parents. And from that moment began the gnawing wonder which would be with me for several days ahead: What precisely would Caroline consider sufficient provocation for breaking off our engagement to be married? I had no idea, really. Would it be sufficient that I had had one of those unnamed “female companions” in the car with me at the time of the accident? I knew of engagements like ours which had been broken with apparently less provocation. Or would it be the suspicious-seeming circumstances of Lee Ann’s leaping out of the car and running off through the snow? Or might it be the final, worst possibility—that of delicate little Lee Ann Deehart’s having actually met with foul play in that infrequently entered area of underbrush and towering forest trees?


  


  Broken engagements were a subject of common and considerable interest to girls like Caroline Braxley. Whereas a generation earlier a broken engagement had been somewhat of a scandal—an engagement that had been formally announced at a party and in the newspaper, that is—it did not necessarily represent that in our day. Even in our day, you see, it meant something quite different from what it had once meant. There was, after all, no written contract and it was in no sense so unalterably binding as it had been in our parents’ day. For us it was not considered absolutely dishonorable for either party to break off the plans merely because he or she had had a change of heart. Since the boy was no longer expected literally to ask the father for the girl’s hand (though he would probably be expected to go through the form, as I had done with Mr. Braxley), it was no longer a breach of contract between families. There was certainly nothing like a dowry any longer—not in Memphis—and there was only rarely any kind of property settlement involved, except in cases where both families were extraordinarily rich. The thought pleased me—that is, the ease with which an engagement might be ended. I suppose in part I was simply preparing myself for such an eventuality. And there in the Braxleys’ long living room in the very presence of Caroline and Mr. and Mrs. Braxley themselves, I found myself indulging in a perverse fantasy, a fantasy in which Caroline had broken off our engagement and I was standing up pretty well, was even seeking consolation in the arms, so to speak, of a safely returned Lee Ann Deehart.


  But all at once I felt so guilty for my private indiscretion that actually for the first time in the presence of my prospective in-laws I put my arm about Caroline Braxley’s waist. And I told her that I felt so fatigued by events of the afternoon that probably I ought now to go ahead home. She and her parents agreed at once. And they agreed among themselves that they each had just now been reflecting privately that I looked exhausted. Mrs. Braxley suggested that under the circumstances she ought to ask Robert to drive me home. I accepted. No other suggestion could have seemed so welcome. Robert was the same servingman who had offered to help my plate at dinner and who had so gently guided me to the telephone when my father called. Almost at once, after I got into the front seat of the car beside him—in his dark chauffeur’s uniform and cap—I fell asleep. He had to wake me when we pulled up to the side door of my father’s house. I remember how warmly I thanked him for bringing me home, even shaking his hand, which was a rather unusual thing to do in those days. I felt greatly refreshed and restored and personally grateful to Robert for it. There was not, in those days in Memphis, any time or occasion when one felt more secure and relaxed than when one had given oneself over completely to the care and protection of the black servants who surrounded us and who created and sustained for the most part the luxury which distinguished the lives we lived then from the lives we live now. They did so for us, whatever their motives and however degrading our demands and our acceptance of their attentions may have been to them.


  At any rate, after my slumber in the front seat beside Robert I felt sufficiently restored to face my father (and his awareness of Lee Ann’s having been in the car) with some degree of equanimity. And before leaving the Braxleys’ house I had found a moment in the hallway to break the news to Caroline that I had not been alone in the car that afternoon. To my considerable surprise she revealed, after a moment’s hesitation, that she already knew that had been the case. Her father, like my father, had learned it from one of the newspaper editors—only he had learned it several hours earlier than my father had. I was obliged to realize as we were saying good night to each other that she, along with her two parents, had known all evening that Lee Ann had been with me and had fled into the woods of Overton Park—that she, Caroline, had as a matter of fact known the full story when she came to my house to fetch me back to her house to dinner. “Where is Lee Ann now?” she asked me presently, holding my two hands in her own and looking me directly in the eye. “I don’t know,” I said. Knowing how much she knew, I decided I must tell her the rest of it, holding nothing back. I felt that I was seeing a new side to my fiancée and that unless I told her the whole truth there might be something of this other side of her that wouldn’t be revealed to me. “I tried to telephone her after I answered my father’s call tonight. But she was not in her room and had not been in since I picked her up at two o’clock.” And I told Caroline about Lee Ann’s telephoning me (after Caroline and I had talked in the early afternoon) and about my inviting her to go out to the college with me. Then I gave her my uncensored version of the accident, including the sight of Lee Ann’s footprints in the snow.


  “How did she sound on the telephone?” she asked.


  “What do you mean by that?” I said impatiently. “I just told you she wasn’t home when I called.”


  “I mean earlier—when she called you.”


  “But why do you want to know that? It doesn’t matter, does it?”


  “I mean, did she sound depressed? But it doesn’t matter for the moment.” She still held my hands in hers. “You do know, don’t you,” she went on after a moment, “that you are going to have to find Lee Ann? And you probably are going to need help.”


  Suddenly I had the feeling that Caroline Braxley was someone twenty years older than I; but, rather than sounding like my parents or her parents, she sounded like one or another of the college teachers I had had—even like Dr. Bartlett, who once had told me that I was going to need outside help if I was going to keep up with the class. To reassure myself, I suppose, I put my arm about Caroline’s waist again and drew her to me. But in our good-night kiss there was a reticence on her part, or a quality that I could only define as conditional or possibly probational. Still, I knew now that she knew everything, and I suppose that was why I was able to catch such a good nap in the car on the way home.


  Girls who had been brought up the way Caroline had, in the Memphis of forty years ago, knew not only what was going to be expected of them in making a marriage and bringing up a family there in Memphis—a marriage and a family of the kind their parents had had—they knew also from a fairly early time that they would have to contend with girls and women of certain sorts before and frequently after they were married: with girls, that is, who had no conception of what it was to have a certain type of performance expected of them, or girls of another kind (and more like themselves) who came visiting in Memphis from Mississippi or Arkansas—pretty little plantation girls, my mother called them—or from Nashville or from the old towns of West Tennessee. Oftentimes these other girls were their cousins, but that made them no less dangerous. Not being on their home ground—in their own country, so to speak—these Nashville or Mississippi or West Tennessee or Arkansas girls did not bother to abide by the usual rules of civilized warfare. They were marauders. But girls like Lee Ann Deehart were something else again. They were the Trojan horse, more or less, established in the very citadel. They were the fifth column, and were perhaps the most dangerous of all. At the end of a brilliant debutante season, sometimes the most eligible bachelor of all those on the list would still remain uncommitted, or even secretly committed to someone who had never seen the inside of the Memphis Country Club. This kind of thing, girls like Caroline Braxley understood, was not to be tolerated—not if the power of moral woman included the power to divine the nature of any man’s commitment and the power to test the strength and nature of another kind of woman’s power. Young people today may say that that old-fashioned behavior on the part of girls doesn’t matter today, that girls don’t have those problems anymore. But I suspect that in Memphis, if not everywhere, there must be something equivalent even nowadays in the struggle of women for power among themselves.


  Perhaps, though, to the present generation these distinctions I am making won’t seem significant, after all, or worth my bothering so much about—especially the present generation outside of Memphis and the Deep South. Even in Memphis the great majority of people might say, Why is this little band of spoiled rich girls who lived here forty years ago so important as to deserve our attention? In fact, during the very period I am writing about it is likely that the majority of people in Memphis felt that way. I think the significant point is that those girls took themselves seriously—girls like Caroline—and took seriously the forms of the life they lived. They imagined they knew quite well who they were and they imagined that that was important. They were what, at any rate, those girls like Lee Ann were not. Or they claimed to be what those girls like Lee Ann didn’t claim to be and what very few people nowadays claim to be. They considered themselves the heirs to something, though most likely they could not have said what: something their forebears had brought to Memphis with them from somewhere else—from the country around Memphis and from other places, from the country towns of West Tennessee, from Middle Tennessee and East Tennessee, from the Valley of Virginia, from the Piedmont, even from the Tidewater. Girls like Caroline thought they were the heirs to something, and that’s what the other girls didn’t think about themselves, though probably they were, and probably the present generation, in and out of Memphis—even the sad generation of the sixties and seventies—is heir to more than it thinks it is, in the matter of manners, I mean to say, and of general behavior. And it is of course because these girls like Caroline are regarded as mere old-fashioned society girls that the present generation tends to dismiss them, whereas if it were their fathers we were writing about, the story would, shocking though it is to say, be taken more seriously by everyone. Everyone would recognize now that the fathers and grandfathers of these girls were the sons of the old plantation South come to town and converted or half-converted into modern Memphis businessmen, only with a certain something held over from the old order that made them both better and worse than businessmen elsewhere. They are the authors of much good and much bad in modern Memphis—and modern Nashville and modern Birmingham and modern Atlanta, too. The good they mostly brought with them from life in cities elsewhere in the nation, the thing they were imitating when they constructed the new life in Memphis. And why not judge their daughters and wives in much the same way? Isn’t there a need to know what they were like, too? One thing those girls did know they were heirs to was the old, country manners and the insistence upon old, country connections. The first evidence of this that comes to mind is the fact that they often spoke of girls like Lee Ann as “city girls,” by which they meant that such girls didn’t usually have the old family connections back in the country on the cotton farms in West Tennessee, in Mississippi, in Arkansas, or back in Nashville or in Jonesboro or in Virginia.


  When Robert had let me out at our side door that night and I came into the house, my father and mother both were downstairs. It was still early of course, but I had the sense of their having waited up for me to come in. They greeted me as though I were returning from some dangerous mission. Each of them asked me how the Braxleys “seemed.” Finally Mother insisted upon examining the stitches underneath the bandage on my forehead. After that, I said that I thought I would hit the hay. They responded to that with the same enthusiasm that Mr. and Mrs. Braxley had evidenced when I told them I thought I should go ahead home. Nothing would do me more good than a good night’s sleep, my parents agreed. It was a day everybody was glad to have come to an end.


  After I got upstairs and in my room, it occurred to me that my parents both suddenly looked very old. That seems laughable to me now almost, because my parents were then ten or fifteen years younger than I am today. I look back on them now as a youngish couple in their early middle age, whose first son was about to be married and about whose possible infidelity they were concerned. But indeed what an old-fashioned pair they seem to me in the present day, waiting up for their children to come in. Because actually they stayed downstairs a long while after I went up to bed, waiting there for my younger brothers and my little sister to come in, all of whom were out on their separate dates. In my mind’s eye I can see them there, waiting as parents had waited for hundreds of years for their grown-up children to come home at night. They would seem now to be violating the rights of young individuals and even interfering with the maturing process. But in those times it seemed only natural for parents to be watchful and concerned about their children’s first flight away from the nest. I am referring mainly to my parents’ waiting up for my brothers and my sister, who were in their middle teens, but also as I lay in my bed I felt, myself, more relaxed knowing that they were downstairs in the front room speculating upon what Lee Ann’s disappearance meant and alert to whatever new development there might be. After a while, my father came up and opened the door to my room. I don’t know how much later it was. I don’t think I had been to sleep, but I could not tell for sure even at the time—my waking and sleeping thoughts were so much alike that night. At any rate, Father stepped inside the room and came over to my bed.


  “I have just called down to the police station,” he said, “and they say they have checked and that Lee Ann has still not come back to her rooming house. She seems to have gone into some sort of hiding.” He said this with wonderment and with just the slightest trace of irritation in his voice. “Have you any notion, Nat, why she might want to go into hiding?”


  


  The next day was Sunday, December 5. During the night it had turned bitterly cold, the snow had frozen into a crisp sheet that covered most of the ground. At about nine o’clock in the morning another snow began falling. I had breakfast with the family, still wearing the bandage on my forehead. I sat around in my bathrobe all morning, pretending to read the newspaper. I didn’t see any report of my accident, and my father said it wouldn’t appear till Monday. At ten o’clock, I dialed Lee Ann’s telephone number. One of the other girls who roomed in the house answered. She said she thought Lee Ann hadn’t come in last night and she giggled. I asked her if she would make sure about it. She left the phone and came back presently to say in a whisper that there was no doubt about it: Lee Ann had not slept in her bed. I knew she was whispering so that the landlady wouldn’t hear. . . . And then I had a call from Caroline, who wanted to know how my head was this morning and whether or not there had been any word about Lee Ann. After I told her what I had just learned, we were both silent for a time. Finally she said she had intended to come over and see how I was feeling but her father had decreed that nobody should go out in such bad weather. It would just be inviting another automobile wreck, he said. She reported that her parents were not going to church, and I said that mine weren’t either. We agreed to talk later and to see each other after lunch if the weather improved. Then I could hear her father’s voice in the background, and she said that he wanted to use the telephone.


  At noon the snow was still falling. My father stood at a front window in the living room, wearing his dark smoking jacket. He predicted that it might be the deepest snowfall we had ever had in Memphis. He said that people in other parts of the country didn’t realize how much cold weather came all the way down the Mississippi Valley from Minneapolis to Memphis. I had never heard him pay so much attention to the weather and talk so much about it. I wondered if, like me, he was really thinking about the old forest out in Overton Park and wishing he were free to go out there and make sure there was no sign of Lee Ann Deehart’s having come to grief in those ancient woods. I wonder now if there weren’t others besides us who were thinking of the old forest all day that day. I knew that my father, too, had been on the telephone that morning—and he was on it again during a good part of the afternoon. In retrospect, I am certain that all day that day he was in touch with a whole circle of friends and colleagues who were concerned about Lee Ann’s safety. It was not only the heavy snow that checked his freedom—and mine, too, of course—to go out and search those woods and put his mind at rest on the possibility at least. It was more than just this snow, which the radio reported as snarling up and halting all traffic. What prevented him was his own unwillingness to admit fully to himself and to others that this particular danger was really there; what prevented him and perhaps all the rest of us was the fear that the answer to the gnawing question of Lee Ann’s whereabouts might really be out there within that immemorial grove of snow-laden oaks and yellow poplars and hickory trees. It is a grove, I believe, that men in Memphis have feared and wanted to destroy for a long time and whose destruction they are still working at even in this latter day. It has only recently been saved by a very narrow margin from a great highway that men wished to put through there—saved by groups of women determined to save this last bit of the old forest from the axes of modern men. Perhaps in old pioneer days, before the plantation and the neoclassic towns were made, the great forests seemed woman’s last refuge from the brute she lived alone with in the wilderness. Perhaps all men in Memphis who had any sense of their past felt this, though they felt more keenly (or perhaps it amounts to the same feeling) that the forest was woman’s greatest danger. Men remembered mad pioneer women, driven mad by their loneliness and isolation, who ran off into the forest, never to be seen again, or incautious women who allowed themselves to be captured by Indians and returned at last so mutilated that they were unrecognizable to their husbands or who at their own wish lived out their lives among their savage captors. I think that if I had said to my father (or to myself), “What is it that’s so scary about the old forest?,” he (or I) would have answered, “There’s nothing at all scary about it. But we can’t do anything today because of the snow. It’s the worst snow in history!” I think that all day long my father—like me—was busily not letting himself believe that anything awful had happened to Lee Ann Deehart, or that if it had it certainly hadn’t happened in those woods. Not just my father and me, though. Caroline’s father, too, and all their friends—their peers. And the newspapermen and the police. If they waited long enough, it would come out all right and there would be no need to search the woods even. And it turned out, in the most literal sense, that they—we—were right. Yet what guilty feelings must not everyone have lived with—lived with in silence—all that snowbound day.


  At two o’clock, Caroline called again to say that because of the snow, her aunt was canceling the dinner party she had planned that night in honor of the bride and groom. I remember as well as anything else that terrible day how my mother and father looked at each other when they received this news. Surely they were wondering, as I had to also, if this was but the first gesture of withdrawal. There was no knowing what their behavior or the behavior of any of us that day meant. The day simply dragged on until the hour when we could decently go to bed. It was December, and we were near the shortest day of the year, but that day had seemed the longest day of my life.


  


  On Monday morning, two uniformed policemen were at our house before I had finished my breakfast. When I learned they were waiting in the living room to see me, I got up from the table at once. I wouldn’t let my father go in with me to see them. Mother tried to make me finish my eggs before going in, but I only laughed at her and kissed her on the top of the head as I left the breakfast room. The two policemen were sitting in the very chairs my parents had sat in the night before. This somehow made the interview easier from the outset. I felt initially that they were there to help me, not to harass me in any way. They had already, at the break of dawn, been out to Overton Park. (The whole case—if case it was—had of course been allowed to rest on Sunday.) And along with four other policemen they had conducted a full-scale search of the old forest. There was no trace of Lee Ann Deehart there. They had also been to her rooming house on Tutwiler Avenue and questioned Mrs. Troxler, whose house it was, about all of Lee Ann’s friends and acquaintances and about the habits of her daily life. They said that they were sure the girl would turn up but that the newspapers were putting pressure on them to explain her disappearance and—more particularly—to explain her precipitate flight from the scene of the accident.


  I spent that day with the police, leaving them only for an hour at lunchtime, when they dropped me off at my father’s office on Front Street, where I worked. There I made a small pretense of attending to some business for the firm while I consumed a club sandwich and milk shake that my father or one of my uncles in the firm had had sent up for me. At the end of the hour, I jogged down the two flights of steep wooden stairs and found the police car waiting for me at the curb, just outside the entrance. At some time during the morning, one of the policemen had suggested that they might have a bulldozer or some other piece of machinery brought in to crack the ice on the Overton Park Pond and then drag the pond for Lee Ann’s body. But I had pointed out that the two skaters had returned to the pond after the accident and skated there until dark. There was no hole in the ice anywhere. Moreover, the skaters had reported that when the girl left the scene she did not go by way of the pond but went up the rise and into the wooded area. There was every indication that she had gone that way, and so the suggestion that the pond be dragged was dismissed. And we continued during the rest of the morning to make the rounds of the rooming houses and apartments of Lee Ann’s friends and acquaintances, as well as the houses of the parents with whom some of them lived. In the afternoon we planned to go to the shops and offices in which some of the girls worked and to interview them there concerning Lee Ann’s whereabouts and where it was they last had seen her. It seemed a futile procedure to me. But while I was eating my club sandwich alone in our third-floor walkup office I received a shocking telephone call.


  Our offices, like most of the other cotton factors’ offices, were in one of the plain-faced, three- and four-story buildings put up on Front Street during the middle years of the last century, just before the Civil War. Cotton men were very fond of those offices, and the offices did possess a certain rough beauty that anyone could see. Apparently there had been few, if any, improvements or alterations since the time they were built. All the electrical wiring and all the plumbing, such as they were, were “exposed.” The wooden stairsteps and the floors were rough and splintery and extremely worn down. The walls were whitewashed and the ceilings were twelve or fourteen feet in height. But the chief charm of the rooms was the tall windows across the front of the buildings—wide sash windows with small windowlights, windows looking down onto Front Street and from which you could catch glimpses of the brown Mississippi River at the foot of the bluff, and even of the Arkansas shoreline on the other side. I was sitting on a cotton trough beside one of those windows, eating my club sandwich, when I heard the telephone ring back in the inner office. I remember that when it rang my eyes were on a little stretch of the Arkansas shoreline roughly delineated by its scrubby trees and my thoughts were on the Arkansas roadhouses where we often went with the demimonde girls on a Saturday night. At first I thought I wouldn’t answer the phone. I let it ring for a minute or two. It went on ringing—persistently. Suddenly I realized that a normal business call would have stopped ringing before now. I jumped down from my perch by the window and ran back between the cotton troughs to the office. When I picked up the receiver, a girl’s voice called my name before I spoke.


  “Yes,” I said. The voice had sounded familiar, but I knew it wasn’t Caroline’s. And it wasn’t Lee Ann’s. I couldn’t identify it exactly, though I did say to myself right away that it was one of the city girls.


  “Nat,” the voice said, “Lee Ann wants you to stop trying to trail her.”


  “Who is this?” I said. “Where is Lee Ann?”


  “Never mind,” the girl on the other end of the line said. “We’re not going to let you find her, and you’re making her very uncomfortable with your going around with the police after her and all that.”


  “The police aren’t ‘after her,’ ” I said. “They just want to be sure she’s all right.”


  “She’ll be all right,” the voice said, “if you’ll lay off and stop chasing her. Don’t you have any decency at all? Don’t you have a brain in your head? Don’t you know what this is like for Lee Ann? We all thought you were her friend.”


  “I am,” I said. “Just let me speak to Lee Ann.”


  But there was a click in the telephone, and no one was there any longer.


  I turned back into the room where the cotton troughs were. When I saw my milk-shake carton and the sandwich paper up by the window, and remembered how the girl had called my name as soon as I picked up the telephone, I felt sure that someone had been watching me from down in the street or from a window across the way. Without going back to my lunch, I turned quickly and started down the stairs toward the street. But when I looked at my watch, I realized it was time for the policemen to pick me up again. And there they were, of course, waiting at the entrance to our building. When I got into the police car, I didn’t tell them about my call. And we began our rounds again, going to the addresses where some of Lee Ann’s friends worked.


  Lee Ann Deehart and other girls like her that we went about with, as I have indicated, were not literally ladies of any Memphis demimonde. Possibly they got called that first by the only member of our generation in Memphis who had read Marcel Proust, a literary boy who later became a college professor and who wanted to make his own life in Memphis—and ours—seem more interesting than it was. Actually, they were girls who had gone to the public high schools, and more often than not to some school other than Central High, which during those Depression years had a degree of acceptance in Memphis society. As anyone could have observed on that morning when I rode about town with the policemen, those girls came from a variety of backgrounds. We went to the houses of some of their parents, some of whom were day laborers who spoke in accents of the old Memphis Irish, descendants of the Irish who were imported to build the railroads to Texas. Today some of the girls would inevitably have been black. But they were the daughters also of bank clerks and salesmen and of professional men, too, because they made no distinction among themselves. The parents of some of them had moved to Memphis from cities in other sections of the country or even from Southern small towns. The girls were not interested in such distinctions of origin, were not conscious of them, had not been made aware of them by their parents. They would have been highly approved of by the present generation of young people. Like the present generation in general, these girls—Lee Ann included—tended to be bookish and artistic in a middlebrow sort of way, and some of them had real intellectual aspirations. They did not care who each other’s families were or where they had gone to school. They met and got to know each other in roadhouses, on double dates, and in the offices and stores where they worked. As I have said, they tended to be bookish and artistic. If they had found themselves in Proust’s Paris, instead of in our Memphis of the 1930s, possibly they would have played some role in the intellectual life of the place. But of course this is only my ignorant speculation. It is always impossible to know what changes might have been wrought in people under circumstances of the greatest or slightest degree of difference from the actual.


  The girls we saw that afternoon at their places of work were generally more responsive to the policemen’s questions than to my own. And I became aware that the two policemen—youngish men in their late thirties, for whom this special assignment was somehow distasteful—were more interested in protecting these girls from any embarrassment than in obtaining information about Lee Ann. With all but one of the half-dozen girls we sought out, the policemen sent me in to see the girl first, to ask her if she would rather be questioned by them in her place of business or in the police car. In each case the girl treated my question concerning this as an affront, but always she finally sent word back to the policemen to come inside. And in each case I found myself admiring the girl not only for her boldness in dealing with the situation (they seemed fearless in their talk with the police and refused absolutely to acknowledge close friendship with Lee Ann, insisting—all of them—that they saw her only occasionally at night spots, sometimes with me, sometimes with other young men, that they had no idea who her parents were or where she came to Memphis from) but also for a personal, feminine beauty that I had never before been fully aware of. Perhaps I saw or sensed it now for the first time because I had not before seen them threatened or in danger. It is true, I know, that the effect of all this questioning seemed somehow to put them in jeopardy. Perhaps I saw now how much more vulnerable they were than were the girls in the set my parents more or less intended me to travel in. There was a delicacy about them, a frailty even, that didn’t seem to exist in other girls I knew and that contrasted strangely—and disturbingly—with the rough surroundings of the roadhouses they frequented at night and the harsh, businesslike atmosphere of the places where they worked. Within each of them, moreover, there seemed a contrast between the delicate beauty of their bodies, their prettily formed arms and legs, their breasts and hips, their small feet and hands, their soft natural hair—hair worn so becomingly, groomed, in each case, on their pretty little heads to direct one’s eyes first of all to the fair or olive complexion and the nicely proportioned features of the face—a contrast, that is to say, between this physical beauty and a bookishness and a certain toughness of mind and a boldness of spirit which were unmistakable in all of them.


  The last girl we paid a call on that afternoon was one Nancy Minnifee, who happened to be the girl who was always frankest and crudest in making jokes about families like my own and who had made the crack that the other girls had laughed at so irrepressibly in the beer garden: “I haven’t lost anything at the MCC.” Or it may not have been that she just happened to be the last we called on. Perhaps out of dread of her jokes I guided the police last of all to the farm-implement warehouse where Nancy was a secretary. Or perhaps it wasn’t so much because of her personality as because I knew she was Lee Ann’s closest friend and I somehow dreaded facing her for that reason. Anyway, at the warehouse she was out on the loading platform with a clipboard and pencil in her hands when we drove up.


  “That’s Nancy Minnifee up there,” I said to the two policemen in the front seat. I was sitting in the backseat alone. I saw them shake their heads. I knew that it was with a certain sadness and a personal admiration that they did so. Nancy was a very pretty girl, and they hated the thought of bothering this lovely creature with the kind of questions they were going to ask. They hated it without even knowing she was Lee Ann’s closest friend. Suddenly I began seeing all those girls through the policemen’s eyes, just as next day, when I would make a similar expedition in the company of my father and the newspaper editor, I’d see the girls through their eyes. The worst of it, somehow, for the policemen, was that the investigation wasn’t really an official investigation but was something the newspapers had forced upon the police in case something had happened which they hadn’t reported. The girl hadn’t been missing long enough for anyone to declare her “officially” missing. Yet the police, along with the mayor’s office and the newspaper editor, didn’t want to risk something’s having happened to a girl like Lee Ann. They—all of them—thought of such girls, in a sense, as their special wards. It would be hard to say why they did. At any rate, before the police car had fully stopped I saw Nancy Minnifee up there on the platform. She was wearing a fur-collared overcoat but no hat or gloves. Immediately she began moving along the loading platform toward us, holding the clipboard up to shield her eyes from the late-afternoon winter sun. She came down the steps to the graveled area where we were stopped, and when the policeman at the wheel of the car ran down his window she bent forward and put her arm on his door. The casual way she did it seemed almost familiar—indeed, almost provocative. I found myself resenting her manner, because I was afraid she would give the wrong impression. The way she leaned on the door reminded me of the prostitutes down on Pontotoc Street when we, as teenage boys, used to stop in front of their houses and leave the motor running because we were afraid of them.


  “I’ve been expecting you two gentlemen,” Nancy said, smiling amiably at the two policemen and pointedly ignoring my presence in the backseat. The policemen broke into laughter.


  “I suppose your friends have been calling ahead,” the driver said. Then Nancy laughed as though he had said something very funny.


  “I could draw you a map of the route you’ve taken this afternoon,” she said. She was awfully polite in her tone, and the two policemen were awfully polite, too. But before they could really begin asking her their questions she began giving them her answers. She hadn’t seen Lee Ann since several days before the accident. She didn’t know anything about where she might be. She didn’t know anything about her family. She had always understood that Lee Ann came from Texas.


  “That’s a big state,” the policeman who wasn’t driving said.


  “Well, I’ve never been there,” she said, “but I’m told it’s a mighty big state.”


  The three of them burst into laughter again. Then the driver said quite seriously, “But we understand you’re her best friend.”


  “I don’t know her any better than most of the other girls do,” she said. “I can’t imagine who told you that.” Now for the first time she looked at me in the backseat. “Hello, Nat,” she said. I nodded to her. I couldn’t imagine why she was lying to them. But I didn’t tell her, as I hadn’t told the other girls or the police, about the call I had had in the cotton office. I knew that she must know all about it, but I said nothing.


  When we had pulled away, the policeman who was driving the car said, “This Lee Ann must be all right or these girls wouldn’t be closing ranks so. They’ve got too much sense for that. They’re smart girls.”


  Presently the other policeman turned his head halfway around, though not looking directly at me, and asked, “She wouldn’t be pregnant by any chance, would she?”


  “Uh-uh,” I said. It was all the answer it seemed to me he deserved. But then I couldn’t resist echoing what he had said. “They’ve got too much sense for that. They’re smart girls.” He looked all the way around at me now and gave me what I am sure he thought was a straight look.


  “Damn right they are,” said the driver, glancing at his colleague with a frown on his forehead and speaking with a curled lip. “Get your mind out of the gutter, Fred. After all, they’re just kids, all of them.”


  We rode on in silence after that. For the first time in several hours, I thought of Caroline Braxley, and I wondered again whether or not she would break our engagement.


  When the policemen let me off at my office at five o’clock, I went to my car and drove straight to the apartment house at Crosstown where Nancy Minnifee lived. I was waiting for Nancy in the parking lot when she got home. She invited me inside, but without a smile.


  “I want to know where Lee Ann is,” I said as soon as she had closed the door.


  “Do you imagine I’d tell you if I knew?” she said.


  I sat myself down in an upholstered chair as if I were going to stay there till she told me. “I want to know what the hell’s going on,” I said with what I thought was considerable force, “and why you told such lies to those policemen.”


  “If you don’t know that now, Nat,” she said, sitting down opposite me, “you probably won’t ever know.”


  “She wouldn’t be pregnant by any chance, would she?” I said, without really having known I was going to say it.


  Nancy’s mouth dropped open. Then she laughed aloud. Presently she said, “Well, one thing’s certain, Nat. It wouldn’t be any concern of yours if she were.”


  I pulled myself up out of the big chair and left without another word’s passing between us.


  


  Lee Ann Deehart and Nancy Minnifee and that whole band of girls that we liked to refer to as the girls of the Memphis demimonde were of course no more like the ladies of the demimonde as they appear in French literature than they were like some band of angels. And I hardly need say—though it does somehow occur to me to say—their manners and morals bore no resemblance whatsoever to those of the mercenary, filthy-mouthed whores on Pontotoc Street. I might even say that their manners were practically indistinguishable from those of the girls we knew who had attended Miss Hutchison’s School and St. Mary’s and Lausanne and were now members of the debutante set. The fact is that some of them—only a few perhaps—were from families that were related by blood, and rather closely related, to the families of the debutante set, but families that, for one reason or another, now found themselves economically in another class from their relatives. At any rate, they were all freed from old restraints put upon them by family and community, liberated in each case, so it seems to me, by sheer strength of character, liberated in many respects, but above all else—and I cannot say how it came about—liberated sexually. The most precise thing I can say about them is that they, in their little band, were like hordes of young girls today. It seems to me that in their attitude toward sex they were at least forty years ahead of their time. But I cannot say how it came about. Perhaps it was an individual thing with each of them—or partly so. Perhaps it was because they were the second or third generation of women in Memphis who were working in offices. They were not promiscuous—not most of them—but they slept with the men they were in love with and they did not conceal the fact. The men they were in love with were usually older than we were. Generally speaking, the girls merely amused themselves with us, just as we amused ourselves with them. There was a wonderful freedom in our relations which I have never known anything else quite like. And though I may not have had the most realistic sense of what their lives were, I came to know what I did know through my friendship with Lee Ann Deehart.


  She and I first met, I think, at one of those dives where we all hung out. Or it may have been at some girl’s apartment. I suspect we both would have been hard put to it to say where it was or exactly when. She was simply one of the good-looking girls we ran around with. I remember dancing with her on several occasions before I had any idea what her name was. We drifted into our special kind of friendship because, as a matter of fact, she was the good friend of Nancy Minnifee, whom my own close friend Bob Childress got very serious about for a time. Bob and Nancy may even have been living together for a while in Nancy’s apartment. I think Bob, who was one of six or eight boys of approximately my background who used to go about with these girls, would have married Nancy if she’d consented to have him. Possibly it was at Nancy’s apartment that I met Lee Ann. Anyway, we did a lot of double dating, the four of us, and had some wonderful times going to the sort of rough night spots that we all liked and found sufficiently exciting to return to again and again. We would be dancing and drinking at one of those places until about two in the morning, when most of them closed. At that hour most of us would take our girls home, because we nearly all of us had jobs—the girls and the boys, too—which we had to report to by eight or nine in the morning.


  Between Lee Ann and me, as between most of the boys and their girls, I think, there was never a serious affair. That is, we never actually—as the young people today say—“had sex.” But in the car on the way home or in the car parked outside her rooming house or even outside the night spot, as soon as we came out, we would regularly indulge in what used to be known as “heavy necking.” Our stopping at that I must ­attribute first of all to Lee Ann’s resistance, though also, in part, to a hesitation I felt about insisting with such a girl. You see, she was in all respects like the girls we called “nice girls,” by which I suppose we really meant society girls. And most of us accepted the restriction that we were not to “go to bed” with society girls. They were the girls we were going to marry. These girls were not what those society girls would have termed shopgirls. They had much better taste in their clothes and in their general demeanor. And, as I have said, in the particular group I speak of there was at least an intellectual strain. Some of them had been to college for as much as a year or two, whereas others seemed hardly to have finished high school. Nearly all of them read magazines and books that most of us had never heard of. And they found my odd addiction to Latin poetry the most interesting thing about me. Most of them belonged to a national book club, from which they received a new book each month, and they nearly all bought records and listened to classical music. You would see them sometimes in groups at the Art Gallery. Or whenever there was an opera or a good play at the city auditorium they were all likely to be there in a group—almost never with dates. If you hadn’t known who they were, you might easily have mistaken them for some committee from the Junior League or for an exceptionally pretty group of schoolteachers—from some fashionable girls’ school probably.


  But mostly, of course, one saw them with their dates at one of the roadhouses, over in Arkansas or down in Mississippi or out east on the Bristol Highway, or yet again at one of the places we called the “town joints.” They preferred going to those roadhouses and town joints to going to the Peabody Hotel Roof or the Claridge—as I suppose nearly everyone else did, really, including society girls like Caroline. You would, as a matter of fact, frequently see girls like Caroline at such places. At her request, I had more than once taken Caroline to a town joint down on Adams Street called The Cellar and once to a roadhouse called The Jungle, over in Arkansas. She had met some of the city girls there and said she found them “dead attractive.” And she once recognized them at a play I took her to see and afterward expressed interest in them and asked me to tell her what they were like.


  The fact may be that neither the roadhouses nor the town joints were quite as tough as they seemed. Or they weren’t as tough as for the demimonde girls, anyway. Because the proprietors clearly had protective feelings about them. At The Jungle, for instance, the middle-aged couple who operated the place, an extremely obese couple who were forever grinning in our direction and who were usually barefoot (we called them Ma and Pa), would often come and stand by our table—one or the other of them—and sing the words to whatever was playing on the jukebox. Often as not, one of them would be standing there during the entire evening. Sometimes Ma would talk to us about her two little daughters, whom she kept in a private school in Memphis, and Pa, who was a practicing taxidermist, would talk to us about the dogs whose mounted heads adorned the walls on every side of the dimly lit room. All this afforded us great privacy and safety. No drunk or roughneck would come near our table while either Ma or Pa was close by. We had similar protection at other places. At The Cellar, for instance, old Mrs. Power was the sole proprietor. She had a huge goiter on her neck and was never known to smile. Not even in our direction. But it was easy to see that she watched our table like a hawk, and if any other patron lingered near us even momentarily she would begin moving slowly toward us. And whoever it was would catch one glimpse of her and move on. We went to these places quite regularly, though some of the girls had their favorites and dislikes among them. Lee Ann would never be taken to The Cellar. She would say only that the place depressed her. And Caroline, when I took her there, felt an instant dislike for The Jungle. She would shake her head afterward and say she would never go back and have those dogs’ eyes staring down through the darkness at her.


  


  On the day after I made the rounds with the policemen, I found myself following almost the same routine in the company of my father and the editor of the morning paper, and, as a matter of fact, the mayor of Memphis himself. The investigation or search was, you see, still entirely unofficial. And men like my father and the mayor and the editor wanted to keep it so. That’s why after that routine and off-the-record series of questionings by the police they preferred to do a bit of investigation themselves rather than entrust the matter to someone else. As I have said, that generation of men in Memphis evidenced feelings of responsibility for such girls—for “working girls of a superior kind,” as they phrased it—which I find somewhat difficult to explain. For it wasn’t just the men I drove about town with that day. Or the dozen or so men who gathered for conference in our driveway before we set out—that is, Caroline’s father, his lawyer, the driver of the other vehicle, his lawyer, my father’s lawyer, ministers from three church denominations, the editor of the afternoon newspaper, and still others. That day, when I rode about town with my father and the two other men in our car, I came as near as I ever had or ever would to receiving a satisfactory explanation of the phenomenon. They were a generation of American men who were perhaps the last to grow up in a world where women were absolutely subjected and under the absolute protection of men. While my father wheeled his big Cadillac through the side streets on which some of the girls lived and then along the wide boulevards of Memphis, they spoke of the changes they had seen. In referring to the character of the life girls like Lee Ann led—of which they showed a far greater awareness than I would have supposed they possessed—they agreed that this was the second or third generation there of women who had lived as independently, as freely as these girls did. I felt that what they said was in no sense as derogatory or critical as it would have been in the presence of their wives or daughters. They spoke almost affectionately and with a certain sadness of such girls. They spoke as if these were daughters of dead brothers of their own or of dead companions-in-arms during the First World War. And it seemed to me that they thought of these girls as the daughters of men who had abdicated their authority and responsibility as fathers, men who were not strangers or foreign to them, though they were perhaps of a different economic class. The family names of the girls were familiar to them. The fathers of these girls were Americans of the great hinterland like themselves, even Southerners like themselves. I felt that they were actually cousins of ours who had failed as fathers somehow, had been destined to fail, even required to do so in a changing world. And so these men of position and power had to act as surrogate fathers during a transitional period. It was a sort of communal fatherhood they were acting out. Eventually, they seemed to say, fathers might not be required. I actually heard my father saying, “That’s what the whole world is going to be like someday.” He meant like the life such girls as Lee Ann were making for themselves. I often think nowadays of Father’s saying that whenever I see his prediction being fulfilled by the students in the university where I have been teaching for twenty years now, and I wonder if Father did really believe his prediction would come true.


  Yet while he and the other two men talked their rather sanguine talk that day, I was thinking of a call I had had the night before after I came back from seeing Nancy Minnifee. One of the servants answered the telephone downstairs in the back part of the house, and she must have guessed it was something special. Because instead of buzzing the buzzer three times, which was the signal when a call was for me, the maid came up the backstairs and tapped gently on my door. “It’s for you, Nat,” she said softly. “Do you want to take it downstairs?”


  There was nothing peculiar about her doing this, really. Since I didn’t have an extension phone in my room, I had a tacit understanding with the servants that I preferred to take what I considered my private calls down in that quarter of the house. And so I followed the maid down the back stairway and shut myself in the little, servants’ dining room that was behind the great white-tiled kitchen. I answered the call on the wall phone there.


  A girl’s voice, which wasn’t the same voice I had heard on the office telephone at noon, said, “Lee Ann doesn’t want another day like this one, Nat.”


  “Who is this?” I said, lowering my voice to be sure even the servants didn’t hear me. “What the hell is going on?” I asked. “Where is Lee Ann?”


  “She’s been keeping just one apartment or one rooming house ahead of you all day.”


  “But why? Why is she hiding this way?”


  “All I want to say is she’s had about enough. You let up on pursuing her so.”


  “It’s not me,” I protested. “There’s nothing I can do to stop them.”


  Over the phone there came a contemptuous laugh. “No. And you can’t get married till they find her, can you?” Momentarily I thought I heard Lee Ann’s voice in the background. “Anyhow,” the same voice continued, “Lee Ann’s had about as much as she can take of all this. She was depressed as it was when she called you in the first place. Why else do you think she would call you, Nat? She was desperate for some comic relief.”


  “Relief from what?”


  “Relief from her depression, you idiot.”


  “But what’s she depressed about?” I was listening carefully to the voice, thinking it was that of first one girl and then another.


  “Nat, we don’t always have to have something to be depressed about. But Lee Ann will be all right, if you’ll let her alone.”


  “But what is she depressed about?” I persisted. I had begun to think maybe it was Lee Ann herself on the phone, disguising her voice.


  “About life in general, you bastard! Isn’t that enough?” Then I knew it wasn’t Lee Ann, after all.


  “Listen,” I said, “let me speak to Lee Ann. I want to speak to Lee Ann.”


  And then I heard whoever it was I was talking with break off the connection. I quietly replaced the receiver and went upstairs again.


  In those days I didn’t know what it was to be depressed—not, anyway, about “life in general.” Later on, you see, I did know. Later on, after years of being married, and having three children, and going to grown-up Memphis dinner parties three or four times a week, and working in the cotton office six days a week, I got so depressed about life in general that I sold my interest in the cotton firm to a cousin of mine (my father and uncles were dead by then) and managed to make Caroline understand that what I needed was to go back to school for a while so that we could start our life all over. I took degrees at three universities, which made it possible for me to become a college professor. That may be an awful revelation about myself—I mean to say, awful that what decided me to become a teacher was that I was so depressed about life in general. But I reasoned that being an English professor—even if I was relegated to teaching composition and simpleminded survey courses—would be something useful and would throw us in with a different kind of people. (Caroline tried to persuade me to go into the sciences, but I told her she was just lucky that I didn’t take up classics again.) Anyway, teaching has made me see a lot of young people over the years, in addition to my own children, and I think it is why, in retrospect, those Memphis girls I’m writing about still seem interesting to me after all these many years.


  But the fact is I was still so uneasy about the significance of both those calls from Lee Ann’s friends that I was unwilling to mention them to Caroline that night. At first I thought I would tell her, but as soon as I saw her tall and graceful figure in her white, pleated evening dress and wearing the white corsage I had sent, I began worrying again about whether or not she might still break off the engagement. Besides, we had plenty of other matters to discuss, including the rounds I had made with the two policemen that day and her various activities in preparation for the wedding. We went to a dinner that one of my aunts gave for us at the Memphis Country Club that night. We came home early and spent twenty minutes or so in her living room, telling each other how much we loved each other and how we would let nothing on earth interfere with our getting married. I felt reassured, or I tried to feel so. It seemed to me, though, that Caroline still had not really made up her mind. It worried me that she didn’t have more to say about Lee Ann. After I got home, I kept waking all night and wondering what if that had not been Lee Ann’s voice I had heard in the background and what if she never surfaced again. The circumstances of her disappearance would have to be made public, and that would certainly be too embarrassing for Caroline and her parents to ignore.


  Next day, I didn’t tell my father and his two friends, the editor and the mayor, about either of the two telephone calls. I don’t know why I didn’t, unless it was because I feared they might begin monitoring all my calls. I could not tolerate the thought of having them hear the things that girl said to me.


  In preference to interviewing the girls whose addresses I could give them, those three middle-aged men seemed much more interested in talking to the girls’ rooming-house land­ladies, or their apartment landlords, or their mothers. They did talk to some of the girls themselves, though, and I observed that the girls were so impressed by having these older men want to talk to them that they could hardly look at them directly. What I think is that the girls were afraid they would tell them the truth. They would reply to their questions respectfully, if evasively, but they were apt to keep their eyes on me. This was not the case, however, with the mothers and the landlords and the landladies. There was an immediate rapport between these persons and the three men. There hardly needed to be any explanation required of the unofficial nature of the investigation or of the concern of these particular men about such a girl as Lee Ann. One woman who told them that Lee Ann had roomed with her for a time described her as being always a moody sort of girl. “But lots of these girls living on their own are moody,” she said.


  “Where did Miss Deehart come from?” my father asked. “Who were her people?”


  “She always claimed she came from Texas,” the woman said. “But she could never make it clear to me where it was in Texas.”


  Later the mayor asked Lee Ann’s current landlady, Mrs. Troxler, where she supposed Lee Ann might have gone. “Well,” Mrs. Troxler said, “a girl, a decent girl, even among these modern girls, generally goes to her mother when there’s trouble. Women turn to women,” she said, “when there’s real trouble.”


  The three men found no trace of Lee Ann, got no real clue to where she might have gone. When finally we were leaving the editor at his newspaper office on Union Avenue, he hesitated a moment before opening the car door. “Well,” he began, but he sat for a moment beating his leg thoughtfully with a newspaper he had rolled up in his hand. “I don’t know,” he said. “It’s going to be a matter for the police, after all, if we can’t do any better than this.” I still didn’t say anything about my telephone calls. But the calls were worrying me a good deal, and that night I told Caroline.


  And when I had told her about the calls and told her how the police and my father and his friends had failed to get any information from the girls, Caroline, who was then sitting beside me on the couch in her living room, suddenly took my hand in hers and, putting her face close to mine and looking me directly in the eye, said, “Nat, I don’t want you to go to work at all tomorrow. Don’t make any explanation to your father or to anybody. Just get up early and come over here and get me. I want you to take me to meet some of those girls.” Then she asked me which of the girls she might possibly have met on the rare occasions when I had taken her dancing at The Jungle or at The Cellar. And before I left that night she got me to tell her all I knew about “that whole tribe of city girls.” I told her everything, including an account of my innocent friendship with Lee Ann Deehart, as well as an account of my earlier relations, which were not innocent, with a girl named Fern Morris. When, next morning, I came to fetch Caroline for our expedition, there were only three girls that she wanted to be taken to see. One of the three was of course Fern Morris.


  There was something that had happened to me the day before, when I was going about Memphis with my father and his two friends, that I could not tell Caroline about. You see, I had been imagining, each place we went, how as we came in the front door Lee Ann was hurriedly, quietly going out the back. This mental picture of her in flight I found not merely appealing but strangely exciting. And it seemed to me I was discovering what my true feelings toward Lee Ann had been during the past two years. I had never dared insist upon the occasional advances I had naturally made to her, because she had always seemed too delicate, too vulnerable, for me to think of suggesting a casual sexual relationship with her. She had seemed too clever and too intelligent for me to deceive her about my intentions or my worth as a person. And I imagined I relished the kind of restraint there was between us because it was so altogether personal and not one placed upon us by any element or segment of society, or by any outside circumstances whatever. It kept coming to my mind as we stood waiting for an answer to the pressure on each doorbell that she was the girl I ought and wanted to be marrying. I realized the absolute folly of such thoughts and the utter impossibility of any such conclusion to present events. But still such feelings and thoughts had kept swimming in and out of my head all that day. I kept seeing Lee Ann in my mind’s eye and hearing her soft, somewhat husky voice. I kept imagining how her figure would appear in the doorway before us. I saw her slender ankles, her small breasts, her head of ash-blond hair, which had a way of seeming to fall about her face when she talked but which with one shake of her head she could throw back into perfect place. But of course when the door opened there was the inevitable landlady or mother or friend. And when the next day came and I saw Caroline rolling up her sleeves, so to speak, to pitch in and settle this matter once and for all, then my thoughts and fantasies of the day before seemed literally like something out of a dream that I might have had.


  The first two girls Caroline had wanted to see were the two that she very definitely remembered having met when I had taken her—“on a lark”—to my favorite night spots. She caught them both before they went to work that morning, and I was asked to wait in the car. I felt like an idiot waiting out there in the car, because I knew I’d been seen from some window as I gingerly hopped out and opened the door for Caroline when she got out—and opened it again when she returned. But there was no way around it. I waited out there, playing the car radio even at the risk of running down the battery.


  When she came back from seeing the first girl, whose name was Lucy Phelan, Caroline was very angry. She reported that Lucy Phelan had pretended not to remember ever having met her. Moreover, Lucy had pretended that she knew Lee Ann Deehart only slightly and had no idea where she could be or what her disappearance meant. As Caroline fumed and I started up the car, I was picturing Lee Ann quietly tiptoeing out the backdoor of Lucy’s rooming house just as Lucy was telling Caroline she scarcely knew the girl or while she was insisting that she didn’t remember Caroline. As Caroline came back down the walk from the big Victorian house to the car, Lucy, who had stepped out onto the narrow porch that ran across the front of the house and around one corner of it, squatted down on her haunches at the top of the wooden porch steps and waved to me from behind Caroline’s back. Though I knew it was no good, I pretended not to see her there. As I put the car into second gear and we sped away down the block, I took a quick glance back at the house. Lucy was still standing on the porch and waving to me the way one waves to a little child. She knew I had seen her stooping and waving moments before. And knew I would be stealing a glance now.


  For a short time Caroline seemed undecided about calling on the second girl. But she decided finally to press on. Lucy Phelan she remembered meeting at The Cellar. The next girl, Betsy Morehouse, she had met at The Jungle and at a considerably more recent time. Caroline was a dog fancier in those days and she recalled a conversation with Betsy about the mounted dogs’ heads that adorned the walls of The Jungle. They both had been outraged. When she mentioned this to me there in the car, I realized for the first time that by trying to make these girls acknowledge an acquaintance with her she had hoped to make them feel she was almost one of them and that they would thus be more likely to confide in her. But she failed with Betsy Morehouse, too. Betsy lived in an apartment house—an old residence, that is, converted into apartments—and when Caroline got inside the entrance-hall door she met Betsy, who was just then coming down the stairs. Betsy carried a purse and was wearing a fur coat and overshoes. When Caroline got back to the car and told me about it, I could not help feeling that Betsy had had a call from Lucy Phelan and even perhaps that Lee Ann was hiding in her apartment, having just arrived there from Lucy’s. Because Betsy didn’t offer to take Caroline back upstairs to her apartment for a talk. Instead, they sat down on two straight-backed chairs in the entrance hall and exchanged their few words there. Betsy at once denied the possibility of Caroline’s ever having met her before. She denied that she had, herself, ever been to The Jungle. I knew this to be a lie, of course, but I didn’t insist upon it to Caroline. I said that perhaps both she and I were mistaken about Betsy’s being there on the night I had taken Caroline. As soon as Caroline saw she would learn nothing from Betsy, she got up and began to make motions of leaving. Betsy followed her to the door. But upon seeing my car out at the curb—so Caroline believed—she turned back, saying that she had remembered a telephone call she had to make. Caroline suspected that the girl didn’t want to have to face me with her lie. That possibly was true. But my thought was that Betsy just might, also, have a telephone call she wanted to make.


  There was now no question about Caroline’s wanting to proceed to the third girl’s house. This was the girl I had told her about having had a real affair with—the one I had gone with before Lee Ann and I had become friends. Caroline knew that she and Fern Morris had never met, but she counted on a different psychology with Fern. Most probably she had hoped it wouldn’t be necessary for her to go to see Fern. She had been sure that one of those two other girls would give her the lead she needed. But as a last resort she was fully prepared to call on Fern Morris and to take me into the house with her.


  Fern was a girl who still lived at home with her mother. She was in no sense a mama’s girl or even a home-loving girl, since she was unhappy unless she went out on a date every night of her life. Perhaps she was not so clever and not so intellectual as most of her friends—if reading books, that is, on psychology and on China and every new volume of André Maurois indicated intellectuality. And though she was not home-loving, I suppose you would have to say she was more domestic than the other girls were. She had never “held down” a job. Rather, she stayed at home in the daytime and kept house for her mother, who was said to “hold down” a high-powered job under Boss Crump down at City Hall. Mrs. Morris was a very sensible woman, who put no restrictions on her grown-up daughter and was glad to have her as a housekeeper. She used to tell me what a good cook and housekeeper Fern was and how well fixed she would leave her when she died. I really believe Mrs. Morris hoped our romance might end in matrimony, and, as a matter of fact, it was when I began to suspect that Fern, too, was entertaining such notions that I stopped seeing her and turned my attentions to Lee Ann Deehart.


  Mrs. Morris still seemed glad to see me when I arrived at their bungalow that morning with Caroline and when I proceeded to introduce Caroline to her as my fiancée. Fern herself greeted me warmly. In fact, when I told her that Caroline and I were going to be married (though she must certainly have already read about it in the newspaper) she threw her arms about my neck and kissed me. “Oh, Natty,” she said, “I’m so happy for you. Really I am. But poor Lee Ann.” And in later life, especially in recent years, whenever Caroline has thought I was being silly about some other woman, usually a woman she considers her mental and social inferior, she has delighted in addressing me as “Natty.” On more than one such occasion I have even had her say to me, “I am so happy for you, Natty. Really I am.”


  The fact is, Mrs. Morris was just leaving the house for work when we arrived. And so there was no delay in Caroline’s interview with Fern. “I assume you know about Lee Ann’s disappearance?” Caroline began as soon as we had seated ourselves in the little front parlor, with which I was very familiar.


  “Of course I do,” said Fern, looking at me and laughing gleefully.


  “You think it’s a laughing matter, then?” Caroline asked.


  “I do indeed. It’s all a big joke,” Fern said at once. It was as though she had her answers all prepared. “And a very successful joke it is.”


  “Successful?” both Caroline and I asked. We looked at each other in dismay.


  “It’s only my opinion, of course. But I think she only wants to make you two suffer.”


  “Suffer?” I said. This time Caroline was silent.


  Fern was now addressing me directly. “Everybody knows Caroline is not going to marry you until Lee Ann turns up safe.”


  “Everybody?” Both of us again.


  “Everybody in the world practically,” said Fern.


  Caroline’s face showed no expression. Neither, I believe, did mine.


  “Fern, do you know where Lee Ann is?” Caroline asked gently.


  Fern Morris, her eyes on me, shook her head, smiling.


  “Do you know where her people are?” Caroline asked. “And whether she’s with them or hiding with her friends?”


  Fern shook her head again, but now she gazed directly at Caroline. “I’m not going to tell you anything!” she asserted. But after a moment she took a deep breath and said, still looking at Caroline, “You’re a smart girl. I think you’ll likely be going to Lee Ann’s room in that place where she lives. If you do go there, and if you are a smart girl, you’ll look in the left-hand drawer of Lee Ann’s dressing table.” Fern had an uneasy smile on her face after she had spoken, as if Caroline had got her to say something she hadn’t really meant to say, as if she felt guilty for what she had just done.


  Caroline had us out of there in only a minute or so and on our way to Lee Ann’s rooming house.


  It was a red-brick bungalow up in north Memphis. It looked very much like the one that Fern lived in but was used as a rooming house. When Mrs. Troxler opened the front door to us, Caroline said, “We’re friends of Lee Ann’s, and she wants us to pack a suitcase and bring it to her.”


  “You know where she is, then?” Mrs. Troxler asked. “Hello, Nat,” she said, looking at me over Caroline’s shoulder.


  “Hello, Mrs. Troxler,” I said. I was so stunned by what I had just heard Caroline say that I spoke in a whisper.


  “She’s with her mother—or with her family, at least,” Caroline said. By now she had slipped into the hallway, and I had followed without Mrs. Troxler’s really inviting us in.


  “Where are her family?” Mrs. Troxler asked, giving way to Caroline’s forward thrust. “She never volunteered to tell me anything about them. And I never think it’s my business to ask.”


  Caroline nodded her head at me, indicating that I should lead the way to Lee Ann’s room. I knew that her room was toward the back of the house and I headed in that direction.


  “I’ll have to unlock the room for you,” said Mrs. Troxler. “There have been a number of people coming here and wanting to look about her room. And so I keep it locked.”


  “A number of people?” asked Caroline casually.


  “Yes. Nat knows. There were the police. And then there were some other gentlemen. Nat knows about it, though he didn’t come in. And there were two other girls. The girls just seemed idly curious, and so I’ve taken to locking the door. Where do her people live?”


  “I don’t know,” said Caroline. “She’s going to meet us downtown at the bus station and take a bus.”


  When Mrs. Troxler had unlocked the door she asked, “Is Lee Ann all right? Do you think she will be coming back here?”


  “She’s fine,” Caroline said, “and I’m sure she’ll be coming back. She just wants a few things.”


  “Yes, I’ve wondered how she’s been getting along without a change of clothes. I’ll fetch her suitcase. I keep my roomers’ luggage in my storage closet down the hall.” We waited till she came back with a piece of plaid luggage, and then we went into the room and closed the door. Caroline went to the oak dresser and began pulling things out and stuffing them in the bag. I stood by, watching, hardly able to believe what I saw Caroline doing. When she had closed the bag, she looked up at me as if to say, “What are you waiting for?” She had not gone near the little mahogany dressing table, and I had not realized that was going to be my part. I went over and opened the left-hand drawer. The only thing in the drawer was a small snapshot. I took it up and examined it carefully. I said nothing to Caroline, just handed her the picture. Finally I said, “Do you know who that is? And where the picture was taken?” She recognized the woman with the goiter who ran The Cellar. The picture had been taken with Mrs. Power standing in one of the flower beds against the side of the house. The big cut stones of the house were unmistakable. After bringing the snapshot up close to her face and peering into it for ten seconds or so, Caroline looked at me and said, “That’s her family.”


  By the time we had stopped the car in front of The Cellar, I had told Caroline all that I knew about Lee Ann’s schooling and about how it was that, though she had a “family” in Memphis, no one had known her when she was growing up. She had been to one boarding school in Shreveport, Louisiana, to one in East Texas, and to still another in St. Charles, Missouri. I had heard her make references to all of those schools. “They kept her away from home,” Caroline speculated. “And so when she had finished school she wasn’t prepared for the kind of ‘family’ she had. That’s why she moved out on them and lived in a rooming house.”


  She reached that conclusion while I was parking the car at the curb, near the front entrance to the house. Meanwhile, I was preparing myself mentally to accompany Caroline to the door of the old woman’s living quarters, which were on the main floor and above The Cellar. But Caroline rested her hand on the steering wheel beside mine and said, “This is something I have to do without you.”


  “But I’d like to see Lee Ann if she’s here,” I said.


  “I know you would,” said Caroline. “Of course you would.”


  “But, Caroline,” I said, “I’ve made it clear that ours was an innocent—”


  “I know,” she said. “That’s why I don’t want you to see her again.” Then she took Lee Ann’s bag and went up to the front entrance of the house.


  The main entrance to The Cellar was to the side of and underneath the high front stoop of the old house. Caroline had to climb a flight of ten or twelve stone steps to reach the door to the residence. From the car I saw a vague figure appear at one of the first-floor windows. I was relatively certain that it was Lee Ann I saw. I could barely restrain myself from jumping from the car and running up that flight of steps and forcing myself past Caroline and into the house. During the hundred hours or so since she had fled into the woods of Overton Park, Lee Ann Deehart had come to represent feelings of mine that I didn’t try to comprehend. The notion I had had yesterday that I was in love with her and wanted to marry her didn’t really adequately express the emotions that her disappearance had stirred in me. I felt that I had never looked at her really or had any conception of what sort of person she was or what her experience in life was like. Now it seemed I would never know. I suddenly realized—at that early age—that there was experience to be had in life that I might never know anything about except through hearsay and through books. I felt that this was my last moment to reach out and understand something of the world that was other than my own narrow circumstances and my own narrow nature. When, nearly fifteen years later, I came into a comfortable amount of money—after my father’s death—I made my extraordinary decision to go back to the university and prepare myself to become a teacher. But I knew then, at thirty-seven, that I was only going to try to comprehend intellectually the world about me and beyond me and that I had failed somehow at some time to reach out and grasp direct experience of a larger life which no amount of intellectualizing could compensate for. It may be that the moment of my great failure was when I continued to sit there in the car and did not force my way into the house where the old woman with the goiter lived and where it now seemed Lee Ann had been hiding for four days.


  I was scarcely aware of the moment when the big front door opened and Caroline was admitted to the house. She was in there for nearly an hour. During that time I don’t know what thoughts I had. It was as though I ceased to exist for the time that Lee Ann Deehart and Caroline Braxley were closeted together. When Caroline reappeared on the high stone stoop of the house, I was surprised to see she was still carrying Lee Ann’s suitcase. But she would soon make it all clear. It was Lee Ann who received her at the door. No doubt she had seen that Caroline was carrying her own piece of luggage. And no doubt Caroline had counted on just that mystification and its efficacy, because Caroline is an extremely clever psychologist when she sets her mind to it. At any rate, in that relatively brief interview between them Caroline learned that all she had surmised about Lee Ann was true. Moreover, she learned that Lee Ann had fled the scene of the accident because she feared that the publicity would reveal to everyone who her grandmother was.


  Lee Ann had crossed the little strip of snow-covered golf course and had entered the part of the woods where the old-forest trees were. And something had made her want to remain there for a while. She didn’t know what it was. She had leaned against one of the trees, feeling quite content. It had seemed to her that she was not alone in the woods. And whatever the other presences were, instead of interfering with her reflections they seemed to wish to help her clear her thoughts. She stood there for a long time—perhaps for an hour or more. At any rate, she remained there until all at once she realized how cold she had grown and realized that she had no choice but to go back to the real world. Yet she wasn’t going back to her room or to her pretty possessions there. That wasn’t the kind of freedom she wanted any longer. She was going back to her grandmother. But still she hoped to avoid the publicity that the accident might bring. She decided to go, first of all, and stay with some of her friends, so that her grandmother would not suppose she was only turning to her because she was in trouble. And while making this important change in her life she felt she must be protected by her friends. She wanted to have an interval of time to herself and she wanted, above all, not to be bothered during that time by the silly society boy in whose car she had been riding.


  During the first days she had gone from one girl’s house to another. Finally she went to her grandmother. In the beginning she had, it was true, been mightily depressed. That was why she had telephoned me to start with, and had wanted someone to cheer her up. But during these four days she had much time for thinking and had overcome all her depression and had no other thought but to follow through with the decision to go and live openly with her old grandmother in her quarters above The Cellar.


  Caroline also, in that single interview, learned other things about Lee Ann which had been unknown to me. She learned that Lee Ann’s own mother had abandoned her in infancy to her grandmother but had always through the years sent money back for her education. She had had—the mother—an extremely successful career as a buyer for a women’s clothing store in Lincoln, Nebraska. But she had never tried to see her daughter and had never expressed a wish to see her. The only word she ever sent was that children were not her dish, but that she didn’t want it on her conscience that, because of her, some little girl in Memphis, Tennessee, had got no education and was therefore the domestic slave of some man. When Caroline told me all of this about the mother’s not caring to see the daughter, it brought from her her first emotional outburst with regard to the whole business. But that was at a later time. The first thing she had told me when she returned to the car was that once Lee Ann realized that her place of hiding could no longer be concealed, she was quickly and easily persuaded to speak to the newspaper editor on the telephone and to tell him that she was safe and well. But she did this only after Caroline had first spoken to the editor herself, and obtained a promise from him that there would be no embarrassing publicity for Lee Ann’s grandmother.


  The reason Caroline had returned with Lee Ann’s suitcase was that Lee Ann had emptied it there in her grandmother’s front parlor and had asked that we return to her rooming house and bring all of her possessions to her at her grandmother’s. We obliged her in this, making appropriate, truthless explanations to her landlady, whom Lee Ann had meanwhile telephoned and given whatever little authority Mrs. Troxler required in order to let us remove her things. It seemed to me that the poor woman scarcely listened to the explanations we gave. Another girl was already moving into the room before we had well got Lee Ann’s things out. When we returned to the grandmother’s house with these possessions in the car, Caroline insisted upon making an endless number of trips into the house, carrying everything herself. She was firm in her stipulation that Lee Ann and I not see each other again.


  The incident was closed then. I could be certain that there would be no broken engagement—not on Caroline’s initiative. But from that point—from that afternoon—my real effort and my real concern would be to try to understand why Caroline had not been so terribly enraged or so sorely wounded upon first discovering that there had been another girl with me in the car at the time of the accident, and by the realization that I had not immediately disclosed her presence, that she had not at least once threatened to end the engagement. What her mental processes had been during the past four days, knowing now as I did that she was the person with whom I was going to spend the rest of my life, became of paramount interest to me.


  But at that age I was so unquestioning of human behavior in general and so accepting of events as they came, and so without perception or reflection regarding the binding and molding effect upon people of the circumstances in which they are born, that I actually might not have found Caroline’s thoughts of such profound interest and so vitally important to be understood had not Caroline, as soon as we were riding down Adams Street and were out of sight of The Cellar and of Mrs. Power’s great stone house above it, suddenly requested that I drive her out to the Bristol Highway, and once we were on the Bristol Highway asked me to drive as fast and as far out of town as I could or would, to drive and drive until she should beg me to turn around and take her home, and had she not, as soon as we were out of town and beyond city speed limits, where I could press down on the accelerator and send us flying along the three-lane strip of concrete which cut through the endless expanse of cotton fields and swamps on either side, had she not then at last, after talking quietly about Lee Ann’s mother’s sending back the money for her education, burst into weeping that began with a kind of wailing and grinding of teeth that one ordinarily associates more with a very old person in very great physical pain, a wailing that became mixed almost immediately with a sort of hollow laughter in which there was no mirth. I commenced slowing the car at once. I was searching for a place where I could pull off to the side of the road. But through her tears and her harsh, dry laughter she hissed at me, “Don’t stop! Don’t stop! Go on. Go on. Go as far and as fast as you can, so that I can forget this day and put it forever behind me!” I obeyed her and sped on, reaching out my right hand to hold her two hands that were resting in her lap and were making no effort to wipe away her tears. I was not looking at her—only thinking thoughts of a kind I had never before had. It was the first time I had ever witnessed a victim of genuine hysteria. Indeed, I wasn’t to hear such noises again until six or seven years later, during the Second World War. I heard them from men during days after a battle, men who had stood with great bravery against the enemy—particularly, as I remember now, men who had been brought back from the first onslaught of the Normandy invasion, physically whole but shaken in their souls. I think that during the stress of the four previous days Caroline Braxley had shed not a tear of self-pity or of shame and had not allowed herself a moment of genuine grief for my possible faithlessness to her. She had been far too busy with thinking—with thinking her thoughts of how to cope with Lee Ann’s unexplained disappearance, with, that is, its possible effect upon her own life. But now the time had come when her checked emotions could be checked no longer.


  The Bristol Highway, along which we were speeding as she wept hysterically, was a very straight and a very wide roadway for those days. It went northeast from Memphis. As its name implied, it was the old road that shot more or less diagonally across the long hinterland that is the state of Tennessee. It was the road along which many of our ancestors had first made their way from Virginia and the Carolinas to Memphis, to settle in the forest wilderness along the bluffs above the Mississippi River. And it occurred to me now that when Caroline said go as fast and as far as you can she really meant to take us all the way back into our past and begin the journey all over again, not merely from a point of four days ago or from the days of our childhood but from a point in our identity that would require a much deeper delving and a more radical return.


  When we had got scarcely beyond the outskirts of Memphis, the most obvious signs of her hysteria had abated. Instead, however, she began to speak with a rapidity and in tones I was not accustomed to in her speech. This began after I had seen her give one long look over her shoulder and out the rear window of the car. Sensing some significance in that look and sensing some connection between it and the monologue she had now launched upon, I myself gave one glance into the rearview mirror. What met my eye was the skyline of modern Memphis beyond the snow-covered suburban rooftops—the modern Memphis of 1937, with its two or three high-rise office buildings. It was not clear to me immediately what there was in that skyline to inspire all that followed. She was speaking to me openly about Lee Ann and about her own feelings of jealousy and resentment of the girl—of that girl and of all those other girls, too, whose names and personalities and way of life had occupied our thoughts and had seemed to threaten our future during the four-day crisis that had followed my accident in the park.


  “It isn’t only Lee Ann that disturbs me,” she said. “It began with her, of course. It began not with what she might be to you but with her freedom to jump out of your car, her freedom from you, her freedom to run off into the woods—with her capacity, which her special way of living provided her, simply to vanish, to remove herself from the eyes of the world, literally to disappear from the glaring light of day while the whole world, so to speak, looked on.”


  “You would like to be able to do that?” I interrupted. It seemed so unlike her role as I understood it.


  “Anybody would, wouldn’t they?” she said, not looking at me but at the endless stretch of concrete that lay straight ahead. “Men have always been able to do it,” she said. “In my own family, for as many generations back as our family stories go, there have been men who seemed to disappear from the face of the earth just because they wanted to. They used to write ‘Gone to Texas’ on the front door and leave the house and the farm to be sold for taxes. They walked out on dependent old parents and on sweethearts or even on wives and little children. And though they were considered black sheep for doing so, they were something of heroes, too. It seemed romantic to the rest of us that they had gone Out West somewhere and got a new start or had begun life over. But there was never a woman in our family who did that! There was no way it could happen. Or perhaps in some rare instance it did happen and the story hasn’t come down to us. Her name simply isn’t recorded in our family annals or reported in stories told around the fire. The assumption of course is that she is a streetwalker in Chicago or she resides in a red-plush whorehouse in Cheyenne. But with girls like Lee Ann and Lucy and Betsy it’s all different. They have made their break with the past. Each of them had had the strength and intelligence to make the break for herself. But now they have formed a sort of league for their own protection. How I do admire and envy them! And how little you understand them, Nat. How little you understand Lee Ann’s loneliness and depression and bravery. She and all the others are wonderful—even Fern. They occupy the real city of Memphis as none of the rest of us do. They treat men just as they please. And not the way men are treated in our circles. And men like them better for it. Those girls have learned to enjoy life together and to be mutually protective, but they enjoy a protection also, I hope you have observed, a kind of communal protection, from men who admire their very independence, from a league of men, mind you, not from individual men, from the police and from men like my father and your father, from men who would never say openly how much they admire them. Naturally we fear them. Those of us who are not like them in temperament—or in intelligence, because there is no use in denying it—we must fear them and find a means to give delaying action. And of course the only way we know is the age-old way!”


  She became silent for a time now. But I knew I was going to hear what I had been waiting to hear. If I had been the least bit impatient with her explanation of Lee Ann and her friends, it was due in part to my impatience to see if she would explain herself to me. We were now speeding along the Bristol Highway at the very top speed the car would go. Except when we were passing through some crossroad or village I consciously kept the speed above ninety. In those days there was no speed limit in Tennessee. There were merely signs placed every so often along the roadside saying “Speed Limit: Please Drive Carefully.” I felt somehow that, considering Caroline’s emotional state and my own tension, it would be altogether unreasonable, it would constitute careless and unsafe driving, for me to reduce our speed to anything below the maximum capability of the car. And when we did of necessity slow down for some village or small town it was precisely as though we had arrived at some at once familiar and strange point in the past. And on each occasion I think we both experienced a sense of danger and disappointment. It was as though we expected to experience a satisfaction in having gone so far. But the satisfaction was not to be had. When we had passed that point, I felt only the need to press on at an even greater speed. And so we drove on and on, at first north and east through the wintry cotton land and cornland, past the old Orgill Plantation, the mansion house in plain view, its round brick columns on which the plaster was mostly gone, and now and then another white man’s antebellum house, and always at the roadside or on the horizon, atop some distant ridge, a variety of black men’s shacks and cabins, each with a little streamer of smoke rising from an improvised tin stovepipe or from an ill-made brick chimney bent away from the cabin at a precarious angle.


  We went through the old villages of Arlington and Mason and the town of Brownsville—down streets of houses with columned porticoes and double galleries—and then we turned south to Bolivar, whose very name told you when it was built, and headed back to Memphis through Grand Junction and La Grange. (Mississippi towns really, though north of the Tennessee line.) I had slowed our speed after Bolivar, because that was where Caroline began her second monologue. The tone and pace of her speech were very different now. Her speech was slow and deliberate, her emotions more under control than usual, as she described what she had felt and thought in the time since the accident and explained how she came to reach the decision to take the action she had—that is, action toward searching out and finding Lee Ann Deehart. Though I had said nothing on the subject of what she had done about Lee Ann and not done about our engagement, expressed no request or demand for any explanation unless it was by my silence, when she spoke now it was almost as though Caroline were making a courtroom defense of accusations hurled at her by me. “I finally saw there was only one thing for me to do and saw why I had to do it. I saw that the only power in the world I had for saving myself lay in my saving you. And I saw that I could only save you by ‘saving’ Lee Ann Deehart. At first, of course, I thought I would have to break our engagement, or at least postpone the wedding for a year. That’s what everybody thought, of course—everybody in the family.”


  “Even your father and mother?” I could not help interjecting. It had seemed to me that Caroline’s parents had—of all people—been most sympathetic to me.


  “Yes, even my mother and father,” she went on, rather serenely now. “They could not have been more sympathetic to you personally. Mother said that, after all, you were a mere man. Father said that, after all, you were only human. But circumstances were circumstances, and if some disaster had befallen Lee Ann, if she was murdered or if she was pregnant or if she was a suicide or whatever other horror you can conjure up, and it all came out, say, on our wedding day or came out afterward, for that matter—well, what then? They and I had to think of that. On the other hand, as I kept thinking, what if the wedding was called off? What then for me? The only power I had to save myself was to save you, and to save you by rescuing Lee Ann Deehart. It always came to that, and comes to that still. Don’t you see, it was a question of how very much I had to lose and how little power I had to save myself. Because I had not set myself free the way those other girls have. One makes that choice at a much earlier age than this, I’m afraid. And so I knew already, Nat, and I know now what the only kind of power I can ever have must be.”


  She hesitated then. She was capable of phrasing what she said much more precisely. But it would have been indelicate, somehow, for her to have done so. And so I said it for her in my crude way: “You mean the power of a woman in a man’s world.”


  She nodded and continued. “I had to protect that. Even if it had been I that broke our engagement, Nat, or even if you and I had been married before some second scandal broke, still I would have been a jilted, a rejected girl. And some part of my power to protect myself would be gone forever. Power, or strength, is what everybody must have some of if he—if she—is to survive in any kind of world. I have to protect and use whatever strength I have.”


  Caroline went on in that voice until we were back in Memphis and at her father’s house on East Parkway. She kissed me before we got out of the car there, kissed me for my silence, I believe. I had said almost nothing during the whole of the long ride. And I think she has ever since been grateful to me for the silence I kept. Perhaps she mistook it for more understanding than I was capable of at the time. At any rate, I cannot help believing that it has much to do with the support and understanding—rather silent though it was—which she gave me when I made the great break in my life in my late thirties. Though it clearly meant that we must live on a somewhat more modest scale and live among people of a sort she was not used to, and even meant leaving Memphis forever behind us, the firmness with which she supported my decision, and the look in her eyes whenever I spoke of feeling I must make the change, seemed to say to me that she would dedicate her pride of power to the power of freedom I sought.


  The Gift of the Prodigal


  


  THERE’S RICKY down in the washed river gravel of my driveway. I had my yardman out raking it before 7 A.M.—the driveway. It looks nearly perfect. Ricky also looks nearly perfect down there. He looks extremely got up and cleaned up, as though he had been carefully raked over and smoothed out. He is wearing a three-piece linen suit, which my other son, you may be sure, wouldn’t be seen wearing on any occasion. And he has on an expensive striped shirt, open at the collar. No tie, of course. His thick head of hair, parted and slicked down, is just the same tan color as the gravel. Hair and gravel seem equally clean and in order. The fact is, Ricky looks this morning as though he belongs nowhere else in the world but out there in that smooth spread of washed river gravel (which will be mussed up again before noon, of course—I’m resigned to it), looks as though he feels perfectly at home in that driveway of mine that was so expensive to install and that requires so much upkeep.


  Since one can’t see his freckles from where I stand at this ­second-story window, his skin looks very fair—almost transparent. (Ricky just misses being a real redhead, and so never lets himself get suntanned. Bright sunlight tends to give him skin cancers.) From the window directly above him, I am able to get the full effect of his outfit. He looks very masculine standing down there, which is no doubt the impression his formfitting clothes are meant to give. And Ricky is very masculine, no matter what else he is or isn’t. Peering down from up here, I mark particularly that where his collar stands open, and with several shirt buttons left carelessly or carefully undone, you can see a triangle of darker hair glistening on his chest. It isn’t hard to imagine just how recently he has stepped out of the shower. In a word, he is looking what he considers his very best. And this says to me that Ricky is coming to me for something, or because of something.


  His little sports car is parked in the turnaround behind this house, which I’ve built since he and the other children grew up and since their mother died. I know of course that, for them, coming here to see me can never really be like coming home. For Rick it must be like going to see any other old fellow who might happen to be his boss and who is ailing and is staying away from the office for a few days. As soon as I saw him down there, though, I knew something was really seriously wrong. From here I could easily recognize the expression on his face. He has a way, when he is concerned about something, of knitting his eyebrows and at the same time opening his eyes very wide, as though his eyes are about to pop out of his head and his eyebrows are trying to hold them in. It’s a look that used to give him away even as a child when he was in trouble at school. If his mother and I saw that expression on his face, we would know that we were apt to be rung up by one of his teachers in a day or so or maybe have a house call from one of them.


  Momentarily Ricky massages his face with his big right hand, as if to wipe away the expression. And clearly now he is headed for the side door that opens on the driveway. But before actually coming over to the door he has stopped in one spot and keeps shuffling his suede shoes about, roughing up the smooth gravel, like a young bull in a pen. I almost call out to him not to do that, not to muss up my gravel, which even his car wheels haven’t disturbed—or not so much as he is doing with his suede shoes. I almost call out to him. But of course I don’t really. For Ricky is a man twenty-nine years old, with two divorces already and no doubt another coming up soon. He’s been through all that, besides a series of live-ins between marriages that I don’t generally speak of, even.


  For some time before coming on into the house, Ricky remains there in that spot in the driveway. While he stands there, it occurs to me that he may actually be looking the place over, as though he’d never noticed what this house is like until now. The old place on Wertland Street, where he and the other children grew up, didn’t have half the style and convenience of this one. It had more room, but the room was mostly in pantries and hallways, with front stairs and back stairs and third-floor servants’ quarters in an age when no servant would be caught dead living up there in the attic—or staying anywhere else on the place, for that matter. I am not unaware, of course, how much better that old house on Wertland was than this one. You couldn’t have replaced it for twice what I’ve poured into this compact and well-appointed habitation out here in Farmington. But its neighborhood had gone bad. Nearly all of Charlottesville proper has, as a matter of fact, either gone commercial or been absorbed by the university. You can no longer live within the shadow of Mr. Jefferson’s Academical Village. And our old Wertland Street house is now a funeral parlor. Which is what it ought to have been five years before I left it. From the day my wife, Cary, died, the place seemed like a tomb. I wandered up and down the stairs and all around, from room to room, sometimes greeting myself in one of Cary’s looking glasses, doing so out of loneliness or out of thinking that couldn’t be me still in my dressing gown and slippers at midday, or fully dressed—necktie and all—at 3 A.M. I knew well enough it was time to sell. And, besides, I wanted to have the experience at last of making something new. You see, we never built a house of our own, Cary and I. We always bought instead of building, wishing to be in an established neighborhood, you know, where there were good day schools for the girls (it was before St. Anne’s moved to the suburbs), where there were streetcars and buses for the servants, or, better still, an easy walk for them to Ridge Street.


  My scheme for building a new house after Cary died seemed a harebrained idea to my three older children. They tried to talk me out of it. They said I was only doing it out of idleness. They’d laugh and say I’d chosen a rather expensive form of entertainment for myself in my old age. That’s what they said. That wasn’t all they thought, however. But I never held against them what they thought. All motherless children—regardless of age—have such thoughts. They had in mind that I’d got notions of marrying again. Me! Why, I’ve never looked at another woman since the day I married. Not to this very hour. At any rate, one night when we were having dinner and they were telling me how they worried about me, and making it plainer than usual what they thought my plans for the future were or might be, Ricky spoke up—Ricky who never gave a thought in his life to what happened to anybody except himself—and he came out with just what was on the others’ minds. “What if you should take a notion to marry again?” he asked. And I began shaking my head before the words were out of his mouth, as did all the others. It was an unthinkable thought for them as well as for me. “Why not?” Ricky persisted, happy of course that he was making everybody uncomfortable. “Worse things have happened, you know. And I nominate the handsome Mrs. Capers as a likely candidate for bride.”


  I think he was referring to a certain low sort of woman who had recently moved into the old neighborhood. You could depend upon Rick to know about her and know her name. As he spoke he winked at me. Presently he crammed his wide mouth full of food, and as he chewed he made a point of drawing back his lips and showing his somewhat overlarge and overly white front teeth. He continued to look straight at me as he chewed, but looking with only one eye, keeping the eye he’d winked at me squinched up tight. He looked for all the world like some old tomcat who’s found a nasty morsel he likes the taste of and is not going to let go of. I willingly would have knocked him out of his chair for what he’d said, even more for that common look he was giving me. I knew he knew as well as the others that I’d never looked at any woman besides his mother.


  Yet I laughed with the others as soon as I realized they were laughing. You don’t let a fellow like Ricky know he’s got your goat—especially when he’s your own son, and has been in one bad scrape after another ever since he’s been grown, and seems always just waiting for a chance to get back at you for something censorious you may have said to him while trying to help him out of one of his escapades. Since Cary died, I’ve tried mostly just to keep lines of communication open with him. I think that’s the thing she would have wanted of me—that is, not to shut Rick out, to keep him talking. Cary used to say to me, “You may be the only person he can talk to about the women he gets involved with. He can’t talk to me about such things.” Cary always thought it was the women he had most on his mind and who got him into scrapes. I never used to think so. Anyway, I believe that Cary would have wished above all else for me to keep lines open with Rick, would have wanted it even more than she would have wanted me to go ahead in whatever way I chose with schemes for a new house for my old age.


  The house was our plan originally, you see, hers and mine. It was something we never told the children about. There seemed no reason why we should. Not talking about it except between ourselves was part of the pleasure of it, somehow. And that night when Ricky came out with the speculation about my possibly marrying again, I didn’t tell him or the others that actually I had already sold the Wertland Street house and already had blueprints for the new house here in Farmington locked away in my desk drawer, and even a contractor all set to break ground.


  


  Well, my new house was finished the following spring. By that time all the children, excepting Rick, had developed a real enthusiasm for it. (Rick didn’t give a damn one way or the other, of course.) They helped me dispose of all the superfluous furniture in the old house. The girls even saw to the details of moving and saw to it that I got comfortably settled in. They wanted me to be happy out here. And soon enough they saw I was. There was no more they could do for me now than there had been in recent years. They had their good marriages to look after (that’s what Cary would have wished for them), and they saw to it that I wasn’t left out of whatever of their activities I wanted to be in on. In a word, they went on with their busy lives, and my own life seemed busy enough for any man my age.


  What has vexed the other children, though, during the five years since I built my house, is their brother Ricky’s continuing to come to me at almost regular intervals with new ordeals of one kind or another that he’s been going through. They have thought he ought not to burden me with his outrageous and sometimes sordid affairs. I think they have especially resented his troubling me here at home. I still go to the office, you see, two or three days a week—just whenever I feel like it or when I’m not playing golf or bridge or am not off on a little trip to Sarasota (I stay at the same inn Cary and I used to go to). And so I’ve always seen Ricky quite regularly at the office. He’s had every chance to talk to me there. But the fact is Rick was never one for bringing his personal problems to the office. He has always brought them home.


  Even since I’ve moved, he has always come here, to the house, when he’s really wanted to talk to me about something. I don’t know whether it’s the two servants I still keep or some of the young neighbors hereabouts who tell them, but somehow the other children always know when Ricky has been here. And they of course can put two and two together. It will come out over Sunday dinner at one of their houses or at the Club—in one of those little private dining rooms. It is all right if we eat in the big dining room, where everybody else is. I know I’m safe there. But as soon as I see they’ve reserved a private room I know they want to talk about Ricky’s latest escapade. They will begin by making veiled references to it among themselves. But at last it is I who am certain to let the cat out of the bag. For I can’t resist joining in when they get onto Rick, as they all know very well I won’t be able to. You see, often they will have the details wrong—maybe they get them wrong on purpose—and I feel obliged to straighten them out. Then one of them will turn to me, pretending shocked surprise: “How ever did you know about it? Has he been bringing his troubles to you again? At his age you’d think he’d be ashamed to! Someone ought to remind him he’s a grown man now!” At that point one of the girls is apt to rest her hand on mine. As they go on, I can hear the love for me in their voices and see it in their eyes. I know then what a lucky man I am. I want to say to them that their affection makes up for all the unhappiness Ricky causes me. But I have never been one to make speeches like that. Whenever I have managed to say such things, I have somehow always felt like a hypocrite afterward. Anyway, the talk will go on for a while till I remember a bridge game I have an appointment for in the Club lounge, at two o’clock. Or I recall that my golf foursome is waiting for me in the locker room.


  I’ve never tried to defend Rick from the others. The things he does are really quite indefensible. Sometimes I’ve even found myself giving details about some escapade of his that the others didn’t already know and are genuinely shocked to hear—especially coming from me. He was in a shooting once that everybody in Farmington and in the whole county set knew about—or knew about, that is, in a general way, though without knowing the very thing that would finally make it a public scandal. It’s an ugly story, I warn you, as, indeed, nearly all of Ricky’s stories are.


  He had caught another fellow in bed with a young married woman with whom he himself was running around. Of course it was a scandalous business, all of it. But the girl, as Rick described her to me afterward, was a real beauty of a certain type and, according to Rick, as smart as a whip. Rick even showed me her picture, though I hadn’t asked to see it, naturally. She had a tight little mouth, and eyes that—even in that wallet-sized picture—burned themselves into your memory. She was the sort of intense and reckless-looking girl that Ricky has always gone for. I’ve sometimes looked at pictures of his other girls, too, when he wanted to show them to me. And of course I know what his wives have looked like. All three of his wives have been from good families. For, bad as he is, Ricky is not the sort of fellow who would embarrass the rest of us by marrying some slut. Yet even his wives have tended to dress themselves in a way that my own daughters wouldn’t. They have dressed, that is to say, in clothes that seemed designed to call attention to their female forms and not, as with my daughters, to call attention to the station and the affluence of their husbands. Being the timid sort of man I am, I used to find myself whenever I talked with his wife—whichever one—carefully looking out the window or looking across the room, away from her, at some inanimate object or other over there or out there. My wife, Cary, used to say that Ricky had bad luck in his wives, that each of them turned out to have just as roving an eye as Ricky himself. I can’t say for certain whether this was true for each of them in the beginning or whether it was something Ricky managed to teach them all.


  Anyway, the case of the young married woman in whose bed—or apartment—Ricky found that other fellow came near to causing Ricky more trouble than any of his other escapades. The fellow ran out of the apartment, with Rick chasing him into the corridor and down the corridor to a door of an outside stairway. It was not here in Farmington, you see, but out on Barracks Road, where so many of Rick’s friends are—in a development that’s been put up on the very edge of where the horse farms begin. The fellow scurried down the outside stairs and across a parking lot toward some pastureland beyond. And Rick, as he said, couldn’t resist taking a shot at him from that upstairs stoop where he had abandoned the chase. He took aim just when the fellow reached the first pasture fence and was about to climb over. Afterward, Rick said that it was simply too good to miss. But Rick rarely misses a target when he takes aim. He hit the fellow with a load of rat shot right in the seat of the pants.


  I’ll never know how Rick happened to have the gun with him. He told me that he was deeply in love with the young woman and would have married her if her husband had been willing to give her a divorce. The other children maintain to this day that it was the husband Rick meant to threaten with the gun, but the husband was out of town and Rick lost his head when he found that other fellow there in his place. Anyhow, the story got all over town. I suppose Ricky himself helped to spread it. He thought it all awfully funny at first. But before it was over, the matter came near to getting into the courts and into the paper. And that was because there was something else involved, which the other children and the people in the Barracks Road set didn’t know about and I did. In fact, it was something that I worried about from the beginning. You see, Rick naturally took that fellow he’d blasted with the rat shot to a doctor—a young doctor friend of theirs—who removed the shot. But, being a friend, the doctor didn’t report the incident. A certain member of our judiciary heard the details and thought perhaps the matter needed looking into. We were months getting it straightened out. Ricky went out of town for a while, and the young doctor ended by having to move away permanently—to Richmond or Norfolk, I think. I only give this incident in such detail in order to show the sort of low company Ricky has always kept, even when he seemed to be among our own sort.


  His troubles haven’t all involved women, though. Or not primarily. And that’s what I used to tell Cary. Like so many people in Charlottesville, Rick has always had a weakness for horses. For a while he fancied himself a polo player. He bought a polo pony and got cheated on it. He bought it at a stable where he kept another horse he owned—bought it from the man who ran the stable. After a day or so, he found that the animal was a worthless, worn-out nag. It couldn’t even last through the first chukker, which was humiliating of course for Ricky. He daren’t try to take it onto the field again. It had been all doped up when he bought it. Ricky was outraged. Instead of simply trying to get his money back, he wanted to have his revenge upon the man and make an even bigger fool of him. He persuaded a friend to dress himself up in a turtleneck sweater and a pair of yellow jodhpurs and pretend just to be passing by the stall in the same stable where the polo pony was still kept. His friend played the role, you see, of someone only just taking up the game and who thought he had to have that particular pony. He asked the man whose animal it was, and before he could get an answer he offered more than twice the price that Rick had paid. He even put the offer into writing—using an assumed name, of course. He said he was from up in Maryland and would return in two days’ time. Naturally, the stableman telephoned Ricky as soon as the stranger in jodhpurs had left the stable. He said he had discovered, to his chagrin, that the pony was not in as good condition as he had thought it was. And he said that in order that there be no bad feeling between them he was willing to buy it back for the price Ricky had paid.


  Ricky went over that night and collected his money. But when the stranger didn’t reappear and couldn’t be traced, the stableman of course knew what had happened. Rick didn’t return to the stable during the following several days. I suppose, being Ricky, he was busy spreading the story all over town. His brother and sisters got wind of it. And I did soon enough. On Sunday night, two thugs and some woman Ricky knew but would never identify—not even to me—came to his house and persuaded him to go out and sit in their car with them in front of his house. And there they beat him brutally. He had to be in the hospital for five or six days. They broke his right arm, and one of them—maybe it was the woman—was trying to bite off the lobe of his left ear when Ricky’s current wife, who had been out to some party without the favor of his company, pulled into the driveway beside the house. The assailants shoved poor Ricky, bruised and bleeding and with his arm broken, out onto the sidewalk. And then of course they sped away down the street in their rented car. Ricky’s wife and the male friend who was with her got the license number, but the car had been rented under an assumed name—the same name, actually, as some kind of joke, I suppose, that Ricky’s friend in jodhpurs had used with the stablekeeper.


  Since Ricky insisted that he could not possibly recognize his two male assailants in a lineup, and since he refused to identify the woman, there was little that could be done about his actual beating. I don’t know that he ever confessed to anyone but me that he knew the woman. It was easy enough for me to imagine what she looked like. Though I would not have admitted it to Ricky or to anyone else, I would now and then during the following weeks see a woman of a certain type on the streets downtown—with one of those tight little mouths and with burning eyes—and imagine that she might be the very one. All we were ever able to do about the miserable fracas was to see to it finally that that stable was put out of business and that the man himself had to go elsewhere (he went down into North Carolina) to ply his trade.


  


  There is one other scrape of Ricky’s that I must mention, because it remains particularly vivid for me. The nature and the paraphernalia of this one will seem even more old-fashioned than those of the other incidents. Maybe that’s why it sticks in my mind so. It’s something that might have happened to any number of rough fellows I knew when I was coming along.


  Ricky, not surprising to say, likes to gamble. From the time he was a young boy he would often try to inveigle one of the other children into making wagers with him on how overdone his steak was at dinner. He always liked it very rare and when his serving came he would hold up a bite on his fork and, for a decision on the bet, would ask everyone what shade of brown the meat was. He made all the suggestions of color himself. And one night his suggestions got so coarse and vile his mother had to send him from the dining room and not let him have a bite of supper. Sometimes he would try to get the other children to bet with him on the exact number of minutes the parson’s sermon would last on Sunday or how many times the preacher would use the word “Hell” or “damnation” or “adultery.” Since he has got grown, it’s the races, of course, he likes—horse races, it goes without saying, but also such low-life affairs as dog races and auto races. What catches his fancy above all else, though, are the chicken fights we have always had in our part of the country. And a few years ago he bought himself a little farm a dozen miles or so south of town where he could raise his own game chickens. I saw nothing wrong with that at the time. Then he built an octagonal barn down there, with a pit in it where he could hold the fights. I worried a little when he did that. But we’ve always had cockfights hereabouts. The birds are beautiful creatures, really, though they have no brains, of course. The fight itself is a real spectacle and no worse than some other things people enjoy. At Ricky’s urging, I even went down to two or three fights at his place. I didn’t bet, because I knew the stakes were very high. (Besides, it’s the betting that’s illegal.) And I didn’t tell the other children about my going. But this was after Cary was dead, you see, and I thought maybe she would have liked my going for Ricky’s sake, though she would never have acknowledged it. Pretty soon, sizable crowds began attending the fights on weekend nights. Cars would be parked all over Ricky’s front pasture and all around the yard of the tenant house. He might as well have put up a sign down at the gate where his farm road came off the highway.


  The point is, everyone knew that the cockfights went on. And one of his most regular customers and biggest bettors was one of the county sheriff’s right-hand men. I’m afraid Rick must have bragged about that in advertising his fights to friends—friends who would otherwise have been a little timid about coming. And during the fights he would move about among the crowd, winking at people and saying to them under his breath, “The deputy’s here tonight.” I suppose it was his way of reassuring them that everything was all right. I don’t know whether or not his spreading the word so widely had anything to do with the raid, but nevertheless the deputy was present the night the federal officers came stealing up the farm road, with their car lights off and with search warrants in their pockets. And it was the deputy who first got wind of the federal officers’ approach. He had one of his sidekicks posted outside the barn. Maybe he had somebody watching out there every night that he came. Maybe all along he had had a plan for his escape in such an emergency. Rick thought so afterward. Anyhow, the deputy’s man outside knew at once what those cars moving up the lane with their lights off meant. The deputy got the word before anyone else, but, depend upon Ricky, he saw the first move the deputy made to leave. And he was not going to have it. He took out after him.


  The deputy’s watchman was prepared to stay on and take his chances. (He wasn’t even a patrolman. He probably only worked in the office.) I imagine he was prepared to spend a night in jail if necessary, and pay whatever fine there might be, because his presence could explain one of the sheriff’s cars’ being parked in the pasture. But the deputy himself took off through the backwoods on Ricky’s property and toward a county road on the back of the place. Ricky, as I’ve said, was not going to have that. Since the cockfight was on his farm, he knew there was no way out of trouble for himself. But he thought it couldn’t, at least, do him any harm to have the deputy caught along with everybody else. Moreover, the deputy had lost considerable amounts of money there at the pit in recent weeks and had insinuated to Ricky that he suspected some of the cocks had been tampered with. (I, personally, don’t believe Ricky would stand for that.) Ricky couldn’t be sure there wasn’t some collusion between the deputy and the feds. He saw the deputy’s man catch the deputy’s eye from the barn doorway and observed the deputy’s departure. He was right after him. He overtook him just before he reached the woods. Fortunately, the deputy wasn’t armed. (Ricky allowed no one to bring a gun inside the barn.) And fortunately Ricky wasn’t armed, either, that night. They scuffled a little near the gate to the woods lot. The deputy, being a man twice Rick’s age, was no match for him and was soon overpowered. Ricky dragged him back to the barn, himself resisting—as he later testified—all efforts at bribery on the deputy’s part, and turned in both himself and his captive to the federal officers.


  Extricating Ricky from that affair and setting matters aright was a long and complicated undertaking. The worst of it really began for Ricky after the court proceedings were finished and all fines were paid (there were no jail terms for anyone), because from his last appearance in the federal courthouse Ricky could drive his car scarcely one block through that suburb where he lives without receiving a traffic ticket of some kind. There may not have been anything crooked about it, for Ricky is a wild sort of driver at best. But, anyhow, within a short time his driving license was revoked for the period of a year. Giving up driving was a great inconvenience for him and a humiliation. All we could do about the deputy, who, Ricky felt sure, had connived with the federal officers, was to get him out of his job after the next election.


  The outcome of the court proceedings was that Rick’s fines were very heavy. Moreover, efforts were made to confiscate all the livestock on his farm, as well as the farm machinery. But he was saved from the confiscation by a special circumstance, which, however, turned out to produce for him only a sort of Pyrrhic victory. It turned out, you see, that the farm was not in Ricky’s name but in that of his young tenant farmer’s wife. I never saw her, or didn’t know it if I did. Afterward, I used to try to recall if I hadn’t seen some such young woman when I was down watching the cockfights—one who would have fitted the picture in my mind. My imagination played tricks on me, though. I would think I remembered the face or figure of some young girl I’d seen there who could conceivably be the one. But then suddenly I’d recall another and think possibly it might be she who had the title to Ricky’s farm. I never could be sure.


  


  When Ricky appeared outside my window just now, I’d already had a very bad morning. The bursitis in my right shoulder had waked me before dawn. At last I got up and dressed, which was an ordeal in itself. (My right hip was hurting somewhat, too.) When finally the cook came in, she wanted to give me a massage before she began fixing breakfast even. Cary would never have allowed her to make that mistake. A massage, you see, is the worst thing you can do for my sort of bursitis. What I wanted was some breakfast. And I knew it would take Meg three quarters of an hour to put breakfast on the table. And so I managed to get out of my clothes again and ease myself into a hot bath, groaning so loud all the while that Meg came up to the door twice and asked if I was all right. I told her just to go and get my breakfast ready. After breakfast, I waited till a decent hour and then telephoned one of my golf foursome to tell him I couldn’t play today. It’s this damp fall weather that does us in worst. All you can do is sit and think how you’ve got the whole winter before you and wonder if you’ll be able to get yourself off to someplace like Sarasota.


  While I sat at a front window, waiting for the postman (he never brings anything but circulars and catalogs on Saturday; besides, all my serious mail goes to the office and is opened by someone else), I found myself thinking of all the things I couldn’t do and all the people who are dead and that I mustn’t think about. I tried to do a little better—that is, to think of something cheerful. There was lots I could be cheerful about, wasn’t there? At least three of my children were certain to telephone today—all but Ricky, and it was sure to be bad news if he did! And a couple of the grandchildren would likely call, too. Then tomorrow I’d be going to lunch with some of them if I felt up to it. Suddenly I thought of the pills I was supposed to have taken before breakfast and had forgotten to: the Inderal and the potassium and the hydrochlorothiazide. I began to get up from my chair and then I settled down again. It didn’t really matter. There was no ailment I had that could really be counted on to be fatal if I missed one day’s dosage. And then I wholeheartedly embraced the old subject, the old speculation: How many days like this one, how many years like this one lay ahead for me? And finally, irresistibly, I descended to lower depths still, thinking of past times not with any relish but remembering how in past times I had always told myself I’d someday look back with pleasure on what would seem good old days, which was an indication itself that they hadn’t somehow been good enough—not good enough, that is, to stand on their own as an end in themselves. If the old days were so damned good, why had I had to think always how good they would someday seem in retrospect? I had just reached the part where I think there was nothing wrong with them and that I ought to be satisfied, had just reached that point at which I recall that I loved and was loved by my wife, that I love and am loved by my children, that it’s not them or my life but me there’s something wrong with!—had just reached that inevitable syllogism that I always come to, when I was distracted by the arrival of Saturday morning’s late mail delivery. It was brought in, it was handed to me by a pair of black hands, and of course it had nothing in it. But I took it upstairs to my sitting room. (So that even the servant wouldn’t see there was nothing worth having in it.) I had just closed my door and got out my pills when I heard Ricky’s car turn into the gravel driveway.


  He was driving so slowly that his car wheels hardly disturbed the gravel. That in itself was an ominous phenomenon. He was approaching slowly and quietly. He didn’t want me to know ahead of time what there was in store for me. My first impulse was to lock my door and refuse to admit him. I simply did not feel up to Rick this morning! But I said to myself, “That’s something I’ve never done, though maybe ought to have done years ago no matter what Cary said. He’s sure to send my blood pressure soaring.” I thought of picking up the telephone and phoning one of the other children to come and protect me from this monster of a son and from whatever sort of trouble he was now in.


  But it was just then that I caught my first glimpse of him down in the driveway. I had the illusion that he was admiring the place. And then of course I was at once disillusioned. He was only hesitating down there because he dreaded seeing me. But he was telling himself he had to see me. There would be no other solution to his problem but to see his old man. I knew what he was thinking by the gesture he was making with his left hand. It’s strange how you get the notion that your children are like you just because they have the same facial features and the same gestures when talking to themselves. None of it means a thing! It’s only an illusion. Even now I find myself making gestures with my hands when I’m talking to myself that I used to notice my own father making sometimes when we were out walking together and neither of us had spoken a word for half an hour or so. It used to get on my nerves when I saw Father do it, throwing out his hand almost imperceptibly, with his long fingers spread apart. I don’t know why it got on my nerves so. But, anyhow, I never dreamed that I could inherit such a gesture—or much less that one of my sons would. And yet there Ricky is, down in the driveway, making the same gesture precisely. And there never were three men with more different characters than my father and me and my youngest child. I watch Ricky make the gesture several times while standing in the driveway. And now suddenly he turns as if to go back to his car. I step away from the window, hoping he hasn’t seen me and will go on off. But, having once seen him down there, I can’t, of course, do that. I have to receive him and hear him out. I open the sash and call down to him, “Come on up, Ricky.”


  He looks up at me, smiles guiltily, and shrugs. Then he comes on in the side entrance. As he moves through the house and up the stairs, I try to calm myself. I gaze down at the roughed-up gravel where his suede shoes did their damage and tell myself it isn’t so bad and even manage to smile at my own old-maidishness. Presently, he comes into the sitting room. We greet each other with the usual handshake. I can smell his shaving lotion. Or maybe it is something he puts on his hair. We go over and sit down by the fireplace, where there is a fire laid but not lit in this season, of course. He begins by talking about everything under the sun except what is on his mind. This is standard procedure in our talks at such times. Finally, he begins looking into the fireplace as though the fire were lit and as though he were watching low-burning flames. I barely keep myself from smiling when he says, “I’ve got a little problem—not so damned little, in fact. It’s a matter that’s got out of hand.”


  And then I say, “I supposed as much.”


  You can’t give Ricky an inch at these times, you see. Else he’ll take advantage of you. Pretty soon he’ll have shifted the whole burden of how he’s to be extricated onto your shoulders. I wait for him to continue, and he is about to, I think. But before he can get started he turns his eyes away from the dry logs and the unlit kindling and begins looking about the room, just as he looked about the premises outside. It occurs to me again that he seems to be observing my place for the very first time. But I don’t suppose he really is. His mind is, as usual, on himself. Then all at once his eyes do obviously come to focus on something over my shoulder. He runs his tongue up under his upper lip and then under his lower lip, as though he were cleaning his teeth. I, involuntarily almost, look over my shoulder. There on the library table behind me, on what I call my desk, are my cut-glass tumbler and three bottles of pills—my hydrochlorothiazide, my Inderal, and my potassium. Somehow I failed to put them back in my desk drawer earlier. I was so distracted by my morbid thoughts when I came upstairs that I forgot to stick them away in the place where I keep them out of sight from everybody. (I don’t even like for the servants to see what and how much medicine I take.) Without a word passing between us, and despite the pains in my shoulder and hip, I push myself up out of my chair and sweep the bottles, and the tumbler, too, into the desk drawer. I keep my back to Ricky for a minute or so till I can overcome the grimacing I never can repress when these pains strike. Suddenly, though, I do turn back to him and find he has come to his feet. I pay no special attention to that. I ease myself back into my chair saying, “Yes, Ricky.” Making my voice rather hard, I say, “You’ve got a problem?” He looks at me coldly, without a trace of the sympathy any one of the other children would have shown—knowing, that is, as he surely does, that I am having pains of some description. And he speaks to me as though I were a total stranger toward whom he feels nothing but is just barely human enough to wish not to torture. “Man,” he says—the idea of his addressing me that way!—“Man, you’ve got problems enough of your own. Even the world’s greatest snotface can see that. One thing sure, you don’t need to hear my crap.”


  I am on my feet so quick you wouldn’t think I have a pain in my body. “Don’t you use that gutter language with me, Ricky!” I say. “You weren’t brought up in some slum over beyond Vinegar Hill!” He only turns and looks into the fireplace again. If there were a fire going I reckon he would have spat in it at this point. Then he looks back at me, running his tongue over his teeth again. And then, without any apology or so much as a by-your-leave, he heads for the door. “Come back here, Ricky!” I command. “Don’t you dare leave the room!” Still moving toward the closed door, he glances back over his shoulder at me, with a wide, hard grin on his face, showing his mouthful of white teeth, as though my command were the funniest thing he has ever heard. At the door, he puts his big right hand on the glass knob, covering it entirely. Then he twists his upper body, his torso, around—seemingly just from the hips—to face me. And simultaneously he brings up his left hand and scratches that triangle of dark hair where his shirt is open. It is like some kind of dirty gesture he is making. I say to myself, “He really is like something not quite human. For all the jams and scrapes he’s been in, he’s never suffered any second thoughts or known the meaning of remorse. I ought to have let him hang,” I say to myself, “by his own beautiful locks.”


  But almost simultaneously what I hear myself saying aloud is “Please don’t go, Rick. Don’t go yet, son.” Yes, I am pleading with him, and I mean what I say with my whole heart. He still has his right hand on the doorknob and has given it a full turn. Our eyes meet across the room, directly, as they never have before in the whole of Ricky’s life or mine. I think neither of us could tell anyone what it is he sees in the other’s eyes, unless it is a need beyond any description either of us is capable of.


  Presently Rick says, “You don’t need to hear my crap.”


  And I hear my bewildered voice saying, “I do . . . I do.” And “Don’t go, Rick, my boy.” My eyes have even misted over. But I still meet his eyes across the now too silent room. He looks at me in the most compassionate way imaginable. I don’t think any child of mine has ever looked at me so before. Or perhaps it isn’t really with compassion he is viewing me but with the sudden, gratifying knowledge that it is not, after all, such a one-sided business, the business between us. He keeps his right hand on the doorknob a few seconds longer. Then I hear the latch click and know he has let go. Meanwhile, I observe his left hand making that familiar gesture, his fingers splayed, his hand tilting back and forth. I am out of my chair by now. I go to the desk and bring out two Danlys cigars from another desk drawer, which I keep locked. He is there ready to receive my offering when I turn around. He accepts the cigar without smiling, and I give it without smiling, too. Seated opposite each other again, each of us lights his own.


  And then Ricky begins. What will it be this time, I think. I am wild with anticipation. Whatever it will be, I know it is all anyone in the world can give me now—perhaps the most anyone has ever been able to give a man like me. As Ricky begins, I try to think of all the good things the other children have done for me through the years and of their affection, and of my wife’s. But it seems this was all there ever was. I forget my pains and my pills, and the canceled golf game, and the meaningless mail that morning. I find I can scarcely sit still in my chair for wanting Ricky to get on with it. Has he been brandishing his pistol again? Or dragging the sheriff’s deputy across a field at midnight? And does he have in his wallet perhaps a picture of some other girl with a tight little mouth, and eyes that burn? Will his outrageous story include her? And perhaps explain it, leaving her a blessed mystery? As Ricky begins, I find myself listening not merely with fixed attention but with my whole being. . . . I hear him beginning. I am listening. I am listening gratefully to all he will tell me about himself, about any life that is not my own.


  The Witch of Owl Mountain Springs: An Account of Her Remarkable Powers


  


  DURING MY long lifetime, even since my early boyhood, there have been groups of girls of a certain lovely kind and character who have repeatedly turned up on my horizon. Again and again, in the variety of provincial places where I have lived, these clusters of charming girls have appeared with seemingly magical regularity. But whether they were little Sunday school girls living in a small Southern town or they themselves constituted a sophisticated postdeb set in one of our burgeoning cities or they came on my horizon as nubile young ladies staying at an old-fashioned family summer resort, which once abounded in our Southern highlands, still they have always and in every age had the same effect upon me.


  I have found them nearly everywhere that I have turned—everywhere from Memphis to Nashville, from Chattanooga to Atlanta, and even on to Birmingham and New Orleans, as well as countless other more obscure points all over and about the countryside. But I may as well say here and now that no other group of girls ever had quite the same devastating effect upon me as did the girls at the summer resort at Owl Mountain Springs, a pretty little sylvan retreat perched high on the bluffs of the Cumberland Plateau in Middle Tennessee. It was this superb collection of girls that made their appearance before me—and seemingly for my own special delectation—during the hot Depression summers of 1933 and ’34.


  I was then indeed a very young man, little more than a boy really, and already there seemed to be girls everywhere. But to get right to the core of my story, and in order to make clear what those girls who summered at Owl Mountain Springs were like and how attractive they seemed to me, I must now make mention of a particular one among them. She was a girl named Lizzy Pettigru, and I suppose she must be called the heroine of this story. Lizzy was very much one of that group of girls at Owl Mountain Springs, yet she did not willingly acknowledge her own likeness to the others. That is the long and the short of it. That was really what troubled me from the beginning. She was a girl somewhat older than I, and in my innocence I imagined that the supreme compliment I could pay her was to say how perfectly integral she seemed to those older girls that I so greatly admired. But she would always reply, “Oh, no, I am not really like them at all!”


  It will be easy for almost anyone to imagine what the girls at Owl Mountain were like. Groups of girls such as they, and those at other places before and afterward, seemed always to make their appearances on my horizon in intimate clusters of, say, twelve or fourteen. In my mind’s eye their lovely arms were forever intertwined, as it were, and also—so I believed—their young lives. These intertwining postures, both figurative and literal, were ever to my mind the enchanting and captivating thing about them. It was the close and inviolate affiliation, the tender camaraderie itself that I always found most deeply affecting. It was this about them that I in every instance came so passionately to admire. From the outset I had to think of Lizzy Pettigru as a girl who was from that particular group. I have to say that altogether the bonding of such girls has constituted one of the chief delights of my entire life. My most vivid dreams have generally been not about some individual female like Lizzy; rather, my dreams have most often been how firmly and intimately such clusters of girls have seemed chemically bonded; I have dreamed about the sense of style they share, about their very evident awareness of their own closeness and congeniality and even their exclusiveness. I believe and hereby acknowledge that it is in this special preoccupation of mine that I am perceived to be in a certain degree different from other men of my acquaintance in our quaint corner of the world.


  The girls that I would so much have wanted Lizzy Pettigru to be like came of the precise same stock that she did. The little resort had originally been founded as a gathering place for the principal Protestant sects in our region: Presbyterians, Episcopalians, Baptists, Methodists, and Lutherans. (In early days prayer meetings were held here daily—morning prayers and twilight prayers.) It was natural that no Jewish people would wish to go there. And in the very charter of Owl Mountain Springs Resort it was explicitly stated that the place was founded for the benefit of those of the Protestant faith and it was even stipulated for all the world to read that no Roman Catholic could ever own property inside the Grounds. And since there were of course but few blacks there in our Southern highlands, the summer people had to make do with what was known as mountain white help.


  Perhaps a realistic presentation of the character of the place can best be stated negatively. No one imagined that Owl Mountain Springs itself was exactly a fashionable summer place, not even vaguely so—not in the eyes of the great world, at any rate. It was never thought of as any Blowing Rock or Asheville or White Sulphur Springs. It was never imagined to be a Rye or a Saratoga or a Cape Cod or a Nantucket. It would have seemed laughable to mention it in the same breath with Bar Harbor or Harbor Point. And yet it was quite as much respected for what it was not as for what it was. And Lizzy Pettigru did seem to represent—or I thought she represented—the very epitome of what outsiders and newcomers envied in the people who summered there always. I suppose those who vacationed there thought of themselves somehow or other as the special urban remnants of an old gentry out of another time, out of their remotely agrarian past. Surely it was the things they did not do that counted most with them. It was the things they did not have and did not want that mattered most. It was what they were not that made them who they were. Grandfathers of some had been generals in the old war, which they tried not to mention too often. They were proud mostly not of the great battles their generals had won in that war but of the great battles they had lost. One of theirs had been blamed or honored for the loss of Missionary Ridge. Another was held responsible for the debacle at Shiloh. In one family the Fourth of July was never celebrated because a grandsire had lost Vicksburg, and Vicksburg fell on the Fourth. At Owl Mountain we were all the grandsons of someone of a particular distinction of this kind. All, it should be said, but the Pettigrus! Perhaps their distinction was that they needed no single distinguished forebear. With their name, it seems, one need not ask for more. The Pettigrus’ ancestry stretched back into eternity—through Virginia and South Carolina and Cavaliers and Charles the Martyr. But the families of all of us at Owl Mountain Springs could be traced pretty far back. And all of us still owned a good bit of land somewhere, and all had inherited or had managed to acquire—even the Pettigrus—a modest cottage on Owl Mountain.


  Suffice it to say that when little Lizzy Pettigru was sixteen her manners were excellent, and withal so unassuming, and her face had such sweetness, and her charm was so beyond the banal of the merely beautiful or genteel young lady (of Memphis, of Nashville, and similar cities) that there was no goodness that could not be attributed to her. And I believe this was apparent to me without my having to be told of it by my elders. Her charm was so difficult to describe that, like everything else at Owl Mountain, it was usually said simply what Lizzy was not. Her nature was such that people expected more of her than others, and alas for Lizzy’s sake, as it turned out, they forgave her more than they forgave others as well. That is to say, they forgave her kindness to anyone who did not quite fit in at Owl Mountain Springs. It was as though it were only she who could afford such kindness because of her goodness and her beauty and her being a Pettigru.


  


  From the beginning it was an annoyance to me that Lizzy Pettigru did not willingly allow me to think of her as being like the other girls in that group at Owl Mountain. My perspective in those days is very clear to me now. I was fourteen in the summer of 1933 and of course fifteen the next summer. The girls I allude to, including Lizzy Pettigru herself, were two or three years older than I. But because boys at Owl Mountain were ever in short supply, these girls were glad enough to have such a youngster as I to “cut in on them” at dances in the Pavilion. I was a pumpkin-headed, freckle-faced boy, my full height barely reaching the shoulder of some of those girls. Still, I was well coordinated and a good dancer and fond of hearing myself talk to any girl. And though I had spent all my previous summers at a boys’ camp, I was from one of the well-established families of the resort Grounds. “We” had been spending our summers there for three generations. Like everyone else we had our own Confederate hero as a forebear. Except for my age and my height I was an altogether eligible stag at the weekly Thursday and Saturday night dances. It was assumed by everyone that I had not yet obtained my full growth upward. (In this they were incorrect, for I would remain of very short stature all my life. As a college teacher I have sometimes sat on a large dictionary in my desk chair to give myself height with the students or even stood on the same behind my lectern.) It was also assumed that within a very few years the discrepancy in our ages would not matter to any girl in the Dance Pavilion. All in all, moreover, no one could have been more reassuring to me about my future prospects than was the beauteous Lizzy Pettigru herself. And as for me, I certainly could not then have predicted the calamity that would befall Lizzy in the relatively near future or the disastrous fate that would ultimately be her lot.


  


  What happened to Lizzy Pettigru the second summer was a calamity not only for herself but quite as much for her family and even, so it seems in retrospect, for the whole summer community at Owl Mountain. Perhaps with the end of the Great Depression already in sight such an old-fashioned resort was doomed to fall into decline. The same people who had once occupied the cottages there in past times began to have the means to go to more distant, cooler, and more prestigious summer places. But because of the sequence of actual events one cannot help associating Lizzy Pettigru’s calamity with the decline of the resort, with the approaching end of the Depression, with the preparations for war which were then going on and with its attendant prosperity which itself made it inevitable that more and more cottages would stand empty at Owl Mountain.


  During the war that was to come there would be great changes there. Army officers and their families from nearby military installations would leave and come to live in whatever cottages it seemed possible to heat in the winter. Also certain so-called bohemian artists and writers were ever on the lookout there for a cheap place to hole up in the war years. During this time the old clapboard Owl Mountain Hotel with its tier upon tier of gingerbread verandas was closed down forever, though it did not burn till several years later. It, along with a good number of abandoned cottages, became overgrown with kudzu vine and inhabited by squirrels and by various kinds of rodents. It was just before this significant decline in the place began and when the general exodus of old summer residents was beginning to take place that the Pettigru family felt themselves so demeaned and humiliated by an event in Lizzy’s life that they could not return to their old, accustomed seat of residence in the lowlands. And so it was now that they established themselves at Owl Mountain Springs to live the year round. It may seem unlikely and almost inconceivable to young people of the present day what actually were those circumstances that seemed so demeaning and humiliating to the Pettigru family. The event which in the Pettigrus’ eyes had altered their position in the world they came out of—altered it beyond all possible repair—was nothing more or less than the public jilting of the incomparable Miss Lizzy Pettigru herself.


  Of course from my very first acquaintance with Lizzy I realized that she had a degree of charm and beauty that the other girls in the little resort did not enjoy, that she had an intelligence and kindness in manner toward others that the other girls did not possess. Her beauty and her serenity seemed to me then, when we attended those dances at the Owl Mountain Pavilion, something that could never be changed. And to some extent even in very recent times—so many, many years later—when she had already got to be quite a pathetic old woman and we were still encountering each other now and again every season on the Middle Path at Owl Mountain, I could make out in her sharp old features and jutting chin some suggestion of the delicacy her features once had. By then Owl Mountain Springs had altered so that she and I would sometimes be the only summer residents actually occupying a cottage. But whenever we passed on the Middle Path, the grotesque old creature took no notice of me. In her near blindness it is likely she mistook me for one of the mountain people whom she had come to know so well and who came to sweep out the cottage every so often, or for some stranger who had wandered into the nearly deserted grounds. Or she may, on the other hand, have mistaken me for one of the other rare old-timers like herself, but not one she ever willingly spoke to. Regardless of that, she had long ago, before her cataracts came on, ceased speaking to anyone except those certain mountain people who seemed to be under her spell and were made to do her bidding. In most recent years I might look right into her face as I passed her there and receive not a glimmer of recognition. Old-timers and newcomers—the whole world—had now long since all become one to her. And with her sharp features and her head of wild white hair I could easily see why the mountain people had nowadays come to regard Miss Lizzy Pettigru as something more or perhaps something less than human and would sometimes speak of her as the witch of Owl Mountain Springs. The disappearance of any vestige of the old resemblance was what would at last seem to me our irreparable loss.


  But surely, as I must here interject, surely boys of almost any generation—you, for instance, who are just becoming young men today—will understand the necessity that compelled me to try to identify the incomparable Lizzy as one of the wonderful Owl Mountain girls. For so perfectly did I invest that band of girls with my ideal of feminine beauty and my ideal of all the higher sensibilities that it was impossible for me to conceive of Lizzy’s virtues in any other terms. And this is what is important for any present or future generation of readers to understand: a young man’s preconceived ideals of feminine beauty and virtue, if he have such ideals at all, must be reflected in his own beloved—in his girlfriend, if you will. It is true in any generation, I believe, and will always be so. She must be the embodiment of all his preconceived notions of female excellence.


  Why, as much as twenty years later when I would be back on the Mountain and would catch a glimpse of the youngish spinster Lizzy Pettigru across the Mall, I would find something about her to remind me of those other girls whose style or manner I had once so admired. Of course still another twenty years later, forty years after those summers in the 1930s, it was quite a different matter. By then her craggy old face and her unkempt hair could remind one of nothing that was human, much less of those long-ago charming girls. And I must say that to an extremely old man it was deeply disturbing and irritating that he could no longer find that resemblance.


  But that was only toward the last. When ordinarily I continued to come back home to our family cottage, summer after summer—as indeed I seemed destined to do throughout the rest of my life—I could scarcely have avoided seeing Lizzy there on the Grounds even if I had wanted to. Through those years I would sometimes come great distances just to stay at Owl Mountain Springs for a week or two during July or August. She was always there. She would have been there even if I had come in midwinter, because as I have said, Lizzy and her always eccentric parents had very early come to the strange turn of remaining at Owl Mountain Springs the year round. After the first twenty years, of course, the father and mother were already dead and buried in the Owl Mountain village cemetery, and her having no brothers or sisters and never having married, she was already very much alone. I can see her when she was just past middle age, trudging alone from her cottage over to the village grocery store and back again. That was the only outing she permitted herself in that period. Or it was so at least whenever we summer people were in residence again—those of us who were still coming back then. Even when she moved along the Middle Path or across the Mall she took no notice of anybody—not of me or of whoever of her other old friends were present—took notice of nobody at all unless she happened to pass one of her special mountain people who sometimes worked about her cottage. At any rate, the point I make here is that whenever I saw her, either in early or in later middle age (sometimes with me staring at her from behind the lattice of the old Dance Pavilion before it collapsed or through the louvers of the closed window blind of my own fast-deteriorating family cottage), I then observed to what extent she still resembled those other lovely Owl Mountain girls, all of whom had now been scattered, and all of whom, like myself, now lived hundreds of miles away from Owl Mountain Springs, Tennessee. I must add that at this point in middle age Lizzy Pettigru wore her hair chopped off short like some plain mountain woman and had it pressed tight against her head underneath a wide looped net—a kind of hairnet I never saw otherwise except on mountain women and that I presume must have been sold over the notions counter in the Owl Mountain village grocery store. But even with her hair like that and her face already marked with deep creases and in her plain gingham dress that hung beltless on her macerated frame, still the sight of her at that age could somehow call up images of girls that my mind had likened to her in the summers of 1933 and ’34. It would not be so at a later time. And it was this loss of resemblance that would be the most terrible thing to me about seeing her toward the end.


  


  But when I long ago waltzed and two-stepped Lizzy Pettigru about the floor of the Pavilion, she spoke sympathetically to me about everything concerning myself and spoke generously about girls other than herself who appeared on the dance floor. I believe that from the earliest time she was never heard to say anything critical about those girls with whom she nevertheless did not care to be indiscriminately identified. While dancing with her perhaps I talked too much about myself (especially about my various intellectual aspirations and pretensions), but she managed to make me feel that she found the subject as engrossing as I did. Perhaps I also talked too much about the other girls all around us when we danced, but she showed no impatience with my enthusiasm for that subject either. Week after week I could not resist commenting on how very becomingly dressed were the girls who turned up at the dances at Owl Mountain, always including Lizzy herself in my generalizations on the subject.


  It has been my observation before and after those two special summers when I was under the spell of the girls at Owl Mountain Springs that bands of such girls will always dress themselves in a fashion that is genuinely artistic in the total or group effect. That is to say, when they are gathered on public occasions there will always seem to be complicated color schemes running through their various forms of attire. To a careful observer like myself, certain shades of blue or green will appear in the hair ribbon of one and in the dainty collar of the blouse of another and on the hem of the skirt of still another, these colors complemented perhaps by reds or yellows in the costumes of yet others. And this is not something I merely imagined on one occasion. I have seen it everywhere, time and time again. There will be patterns of cloth or cuts of dresses in the most sophisticated or the most infantile of them that will seem designed to contrast with or draw attention to the felicitous designs or uses in other garments. And so one has to see them as a group if one is to get the beauty of them. One cannot but imagine that the effect has been achieved by one single hand, one eye, one exercise of taste, one sensibility. For instance, I remember observing some little girls who were in the third grade at Miss Fontaine’s private school whom I would see skipping out to the little playground at recess with their pretty arms quite literally linked. They formed such a close, human chain across the graveled playground that it was impossible not to take notice of them. The starch in their little shirtwaists, the crinkled ribbons in their heads of carefully curled hair, the very flare of their short little skirts made it impossible not to think of them as all of a piece and to wish to seize them in one all-inclusive embrace or hug. I would be so moved by my own fond feelings for those little girls—and perhaps by the frustration that I felt but could not express—that I would immediately perform some act of badness there on the playground. Afterward when I was punished by Miss Fontaine, the headmistress herself—my act having been so gross for a little boy in the third grade—I would not be able to remember what it was I had done and would hotly deny my act of badness. I was seized by one of those moments of amnesia which have recurred throughout the rest of my life in moments of great stress, and I would deny that I had done the bad thing that I was being punished for.


  I am reminded that at a much later time when I was approaching middle age I had another, similar amnesiac attack in connection with another such moment of overwhelming emotion regarding a group of girls who were quite grown up. And I do believe there have been numerous other such attacks in my lifetime following moments of stress, though I suspect I have not always had reason to acknowledge them even to myself (since there was not usually a Miss Fontaine threatening me with corporal punishment). But in that much later instance I do recall that I was by no means any longer a very young man. Nevertheless, I was young enough to be attending the annual presentation ball given at the country club. Being a single man still, as I have remained all my life, I was invited to such events not as an escort for a debutante but as a sort of perennial bachelor or stag. During that period of the evening when the season’s debutantes paraded about the parquet as they used always to do at such ritual occasions, I stood with the parents and the other relatives admiring with them the young ladies in the procession. I was acquainted with quite a few of the girls that were being “brought out” that year. A number of them were daughters of some of my slightly older friends. And I knew these girls well enough to recognize that they made up one of those unforgettable special groups with their own style. I watched them pass about the ballroom with considerable satisfaction and pleasure. The evening gowns that year were apt to have somewhat higher hemlines in the front than in the back, and these girls seemed to have adopted that feature as their very own. Their presentation gowns were not so alike, of course, that there was any monotony about them, yet there was that particular feature and there were other features of design and other complements of colors that suggested that somehow or other there had been some omniscient eye conscious of the total effect to be received. I am not suggesting that the whole affair had been choreographed by one hand or head but that the girls’ own ideas of the proper dress and behavior that night was so well understood among them that there could have been no need for consultation beforehand. At any rate when the orchestra had concluded their rendition of “Pomp and Circumstance” and when the procession of new debutantes was ended, I believe that in my state of euphoria I must have broken into an inappropriately loud applause or perhaps even shouted “bravo” as if at the ballet, or possibly given vent to a prolonged and deafening whistle even with my fingers in the corners of my mouth. I do not remember anything like that, however. For any consciousness of what I did some Merciful Censor drew a curtain across events of the following two hours. The next thing I remember is that upon leaving the party, I know not how many hours later, I was shunned by some of my closest friends on the front steps of the country club. The only persons who treated me civilly as I was making my departure that night were certain slight acquaintances who possibly did not realize that it was I who had made the rumpus or scene somewhat earlier up in the ballroom.


  


  That first summer at Owl Mountain Springs it was pleats of every description that were the great vogue among the girls I so greatly admired. Costume jewelry was also much in favor with them. I cannot say whether these fads of fashion were general all over the entire country that year. Perhaps they were. But I am afraid that I was never aware of any ladies’ fashions but those which held sway in some special group which had captured my imagination. I remember that one girl that first year wore a little short evening cape consisting entirely of pleats. I found it stunning. There were a number of girls whose full-length pleated skirts swept about the dance floor. It seems to me that all the girls wore such skirts on one evening or another. And the elaborate costume jewelry contrasting with the simple and severe effects of the pleats could almost have been called the general motif of the summer. Strands of pearls and bright-colored beads along with pendant rubies and amethysts adorned the milk-white throats of those pure young ladies—gems and pearls that were surely imitative of ornaments intended for harem girls. And on their delicate wrists hung heavy bracelets suggestive also of the harem. The effect upon me of the contrast between those worldly seeming ornaments and the nun-like purity of their pleats was profound. And there was an especial excitement for me derived from the knowledge that so many of the girls’ dresses were made by their own hands or by those of their mothers and that the costume jewelry was purchased at the ten-cent store in Nashville or Memphis or perhaps handed down to them from their mothers’ collections of keepsakes and trinkets. For this was, it is to be remembered, the depths of the Great Depression, when wonderful economies were practiced even by these genteel folk who nevertheless continued to betake themselves to places like Owl Mountain Springs in the hot summer months of the year.


  When I repeatedly “broke” on Lizzy Pettigru at the Pavilion dances it seemed to me not that I had selected someone different from those other girls but merely the foremost among them, the crowning beauty, the superior sensibility and intelligence of that remarkable assemblage of young women. But it seemed always to be Lizzy’s principal aim to make me understand that underneath and essentially she was cut from a different cloth. “No, I am not like them at all,” she repeated. Her general behavior like her dress and her social manner might be indistinguishable from those of the other girls but there was a mysterious essence in her being which she asserted was totally different. However, that mysterious essence was as far as I understood her assertion of difference. And the difference seemed to be one which she purposely withheld from any easy understanding. “You ought to see it for yourself,” she would tell me. And then she would laugh merrily. She declined always to be in any degree explicit about it. I knew only that her attraction for me was infinitely beyond that of any of the other girls, and I did realize that her receptiveness to any charm that might exist in the rather intense and overly serious adolescent that I was exceeded immeasurably any receptiveness from the other girls. They as a matter of fact—whose style and essence I held in such high esteem and regard—were given sometimes to actually patting me on the head as if intentionally to remind me of my shortness of stature and my relatively immature years. I suppose I condoned their behavior with one self-effacing thought: how could they, with all their grace and beauty and their wonderful aplomb in our little social world, their being themselves the elect and the elite of that world which appeared to me then as “our modern world” and appears to me now as an old-fashioned world almost beyond imagining, that is, how could they reveal the least uncertainty or even fallibility? It may seem incredible to someone of the present generation, but I was so enamored of the style and so respectful of the authority of those other girls that I could actually, without taking offense or for that matter without feeling mortally wounded, overhear one of them make reference to me behind my back as “that puny little intellectual.” I can almost say I suffered such gratuitous insults gladly in order to be admitted to the weekly company of those girls at Owl Mountain.


  But only Lizzy Pettigru treated me consistently with respect and—as I imagined it—with sisterly affection. She would do so even when she had been brought to the dance by someone else. Sometimes she and I would wander off as far from the Dance Pavilion as one of the high wooden footbridges which crossed over the ravine within the resort Grounds. We would stand there leaning on the rail of the bridge, with me talking about what one should do with one’s life, but all the while stealing glances at the soft features of her oval face, at her lovely, long throat, at the rich brown hair that then fell about her shoulders and glinted in the romantic play of moonlight, yet neither at those moments nor during our daytime meanderings about the ravine and under the cliffside did I presume to speak directly to her of love. It never once occurred to me that she might have been receptive to my caresses—verbal or otherwise—much less that she might even have welcomed all such caresses. I never once asked her to one of the dances or to go out with me on a formal date—not so much as to attend one of the movies that was shown in the shackly old Youth Building, a structure which along with so many others has long since burned down. I was too conscious always of the two-year discrepancy in our ages and ever conscious also of the older boys—and one in particular—who sought her attention and her favors. But what I was not at all conscious of that first summer was how near Lizzy and the other girls were to being what used to be called a marriageable age. It would not have occurred to me that by the following summer a number of these girls would be officially betrothed to young business and professional men from their home towns or in some cases to the very boys who this previous summer had escorted them to the dances at Owl Mountain Springs. And of course Lizzy Pettigru would prove to be among that number. Before the season of the second summer opened her engagement had been announced in the papers. But by the first of August her betrothed had fled from Owl Mountain with a girl whom Lizzy had called her closest friend from back home, a girl incidentally of the Jewish faith who until that night had been present at Owl Mountain only as a houseguest in the Pettigrus’ own cottage.


  At an early age Lizzy Pettigru chose for her very best friend a girl from next door in her home town, named Sarah Goodrich. That the Goodriches were Jews Lizzy never bothered to learn or care about. Perhaps as a Pettigru she didn’t need to care about that. The Goodriches were the Nashville and Memphis Jews who went “everywhere”—or nearly everywhere. (There were no doubt some in Birmingham, too, and in Atlanta and Louisville and New Orleans as well.) It was only to Owl Mountain Springs that the Goodriches generally didn’t go. But when little Sarah Goodrich, at the tender age of nine, began to spend a large part of her summers as a guest at the Pettigru family’s cottage no one took any notice of it—hardly anyone at all. By the time the two girls were young ladies Sarah was regarded by the Owl Mountain Springs young people as one of the “regular” crowd.


  And when it turned out at last that Lizzy’s choice for a husband was none other than one Tim Sullivan, everyone might have supposed that more notice would have been taken of that. The Sullivans were the Nashville Sullivans, and they were the richest Roman Catholics in Nashville. Roman Catholics at Owl Mountain were welcome only as visitors or tenants of Protestant cottage owners. In this latter day, under these conditions and for reasons of their own, the Sullivans were willing and content merely to lease someone else’s cottage in the Grounds during July or August.


  It was thought that the boy Tim Sullivan could be hardly aware of the special conditions of his family’s tenure in the Grounds. Certainly he was regarded by the Owl Mountain young people as one of themselves. And when Lizzy’s engagement to Tim was first announced it caused hardly a murmur on the Mountain. The idea of a marriage of the Sullivan money and the Pettigrus’ gentility was widely approved and even applauded. The announcement of the engagement was featured along with large pictures of the bride-to-be in the Sunday society section in both Memphis and Nashville papers, and possibly also some mention was made of it in the papers of Birmingham and Atlanta and Louisville. For the Pettigrus had connections everywhere, and the name Sullivan was becoming increasingly well known. With a Pettigru connection the Sullivans would no doubt now be a force to be reckoned with.


  It was well after the engagement had already been announced, of course, that the awful blow fell. No one had reckoned there could be any connection between the Catholic boy Tim Sullivan and the Jewish girl Sarah Goodrich. Least of all could it have occurred to the Pettigrus. Afterward it would be easy to say that it came about just because it happened right under the Pettigrus’ noses, that it was too close for them to see. But this wasn’t true necessarily. And in part it was true that all Pettigrus thought themselves above any such eventuality.


  Lizzy Pettigru herself heard them talking one night—Sarah and Tim, that is. The two of them were together in what was known as the “little parlor” in the Pettigrus’ cottage. Lizzy was off in her father’s study looking up some disputed point in the fine print of the Britannica there. At first she thought she misunderstood what she had heard. She would tell me about it the very next day before her attitude toward me and toward the whole world seemed to freeze. Lizzy heard Sarah say the word “Jew” and heard Tim say the word “Catholic.” She could not imagine the context in which these utterances were made. She believed she had never before heard either of them speak the words then spoken except in a most serious vein. But it seemed to her now as if they were joking. Perhaps they were only joking that first time. Perhaps it began with their merely teasing each other. When presently Lizzy returned to the little parlor, she found them standing halfway across the room from each other and they did seem to be regarding each other with what were clearly teasing expressions on their faces. And yet upon her entering the room, their expressions changed immediately. And what was most disturbing, there was now no continuation of whatever exchanges they had been making.


  During this summer at Owl Mountain Springs, and possibly the one before, this same Sarah Goodrich and this same Tim Sullivan, this closest friend and this recently announced fiancé of Lizzy Pettigru, had manifested a common interest in one of the resort’s young people’s activities. That is, they had taken leading parts in the annual play that was produced in the old gymnasium, which was generally known as the Youth Building. The two of them were the acknowledged stars of the play being “done” there this season. Any number of nights this summer they had been closeted together in the Pettigrus’ little front parlor or together out on the veranda practicing their lines. And so it had been on that night when Lizzy heard them speak their revealing words when she was bending over her father’s Britannica. On previous occasions she had come and gone from the room or from the porch while the lines were being rehearsed. Probably she would never actually know on how early an occasion the personal teasing had begun—if teasing, indeed, was how it began. She knew only that it was Sarah Goodrich who spoke the word “Jew” and Tim Sullivan who spoke the word “Catholic.” Lizzy could only imagine or surmise how exactly it had gone. But in the light of what her father would later overhear from his study on this very midnight of their elopement, Sarah would be saying in her youthful resentment and irony, “Oh, I’m only her token Jew” or “Oh, I’m only Owl Mountain’s token Jew” and Tim would have been heard saying, “Oh, I’m only her token Catholic” or “Oh, I’m only Owl Mountain’s token Catholic.” Judge Pettigru (for he had once served briefly as judge in chancery court and was addressed ever afterward by that title), coming into his study much later, heard Sarah’s and Tim’s voices only indistinctly. He was in his study with the door slightly ajar. Probably the young couple didn’t know he was there. And perhaps without even knowing it they somehow meant him to hear them. They were together in the little parlor just across the narrow passageway from the study. Judge Pettigru could only make out from their tone of voice that their conversation was of a personal nature, as he said. His own genteel nature and upbringing directed him presently to turn off his lamp and go quietly to the bedroom to which his wife had already retired. He did not mention to Mrs. Pettigru that night what he had heard in the front part of the cottage.


  Lizzy waited until she knew her parents were asleep. Then she put out the light in her room and went into the passage that led to the front door. It was totally dark but she knew the position of every piece of furniture and the location of every throw rug, and in her bare feet she recognized the rough pine of the flooring in the passage. When she approached the front of the cottage she could make out that the door to the little parlor was closed. She could see the pale streak of light underneath the door and even the recognizable figure of light in the large old-fashioned keyhole to which there had never been a key. She knew without seeming to think about it and without any pang of conscience what she must do. Yet it took considerable physical effort for her to force herself to act out her part. In her nightgown and without slippers on her feet she forced herself down on her knees, and through the big keyhole she saw them. Afterward she would feel that in a sense peering through that keyhole was the most degrading part of the whole experience. They were on the Brussels carpet and what she first saw were the soles of their feet. She wanted not to see more but she knew that she must, and then suddenly she was distracted from the sight of their actual bodies by their faint animal-like sounds. Now she withdrew almost despite herself. And she retraced her steps down the long passage as silently as she had come. In her room she did not put on a light or think of going to bed and to sleep. She drew a straight chair up by the small bay window and there she sat the rest of the night.


  


  The next morning the young couple was gone. There was no note left behind for Lizzy or for her parents. But sometime during the night Lizzy had discovered that Sarah’s clothing and other possessions had been removed from the room they shared. When the girls finally did not appear for breakfast the next morning, Mrs. Pettigru went to their room and found that Lizzy, sitting straight in the chair by the window, was still in her nightgown and clearly had not been to bed that night. Lizzy heard her mother open the bedroom door and then go away without speaking to her.


  The only note left behind by Sarah and Tim was one for the woman who was directing the annual Owl Mountain play that summer. It was a long, earnest and rather beautifully dramatic farewell note, full of regret that the two leading characters could not go on with the performance. It was thought beautiful, at any rate, by the woman director of the theater, who took their farewell and regret quite personally and declined to show the text of the note to anyone. To other members of the cast and to the managers of the resort’s summer program she would allow only a glance—only a quick glance at the elaborate girlish script which would prove it was Sarah’s handwriting and would identify the final signatures of both young people. When she announced to the assembled cast early that morning that the performance would be canceled, that the show could not go on without those two, she did so with tears streaming down her very full cheeks. And tears would also very soon be streaming down the young cheeks of all members of the cast. The drama of the moment was so satisfying to all present—that is, satisfying just because it was a young couple’s having fallen in love that the show could not go on!—and seemed so satisfying above all to the middle-aged female director that suspicions were aroused among the resort managers. It seemed to the managers that the lady had herself been privy in advance to the plans for the elopement! What she revealed from the farewell note was that the two young people were not only in love with each other but had also fallen in love with the theater itself and that their intentions were to go away and together devote their lives and careers to the great American theater of the future! At the time no one seemed to think of Lizzy and the elder Pettigrus in their cottage, alone with their humiliation.


  But late in the morning after the couple went away Lizzy came to our cottage, asking for me. I believe it was the first time she had ever been there, and not knowing her news I was mightily excited when Mother brought word up to me in my attic room. (Boys at Owl Mountain were always quartered in some sort of garçonnière up in the attic or in a lean-to in the yard. Boys were not thought highly of there until they were of marriageable age.) I didn’t put on a tie but did comb my hair and then came stumbling down the outside stairs to greet her on the front veranda. I can never forget how she smiled at me on the stairs that morning, a pumpkin-headed, freckle-faced, teenage boy, as though I were some kind of knight errant or an angel descending from the sky. And she never looked more beautiful—or perhaps more vulnerable—to me. My mother was standing in the front doorway of the cottage, and before I was all the way down the steps, Lizzy was addressing me: “I thought you might like to go for a long walk this morning out to Forrest’s Steep.” I could not help observing the stunned expression on my mother’s face. I suppose I glanced at Mother expecting just that. It was unheard-of that a young lady at Owl Mountain of Lizzy’s age should call on a boy at this hour—or any hour—and herself invite him to go on such an expedition, unchaperoned and even unaccompanied in any manner. Forrest’s Steep was situated in a cove way out at the edge of the mountain. It was the passage and steep by which General Forrest was said to have crossed over the Cumberland Plateau on his way from Stone’s River to Missionary Ridge. It was not unthinkable, however, for us to take such a walk unaccompanied, and I replied, with another glance at Mother before we left, that I was in the very mood for such an outing.


  I felt it was a decisive moment in my life or almost a decisive moment. At any rate I did accept Lizzy’s invitation and did override Mother’s silent protest, which consisted indeed of her remaining in the doorway until we were out of sight of the cottage. I think Lizzy and I said nothing to each other until we had reached the outer limits of the Grounds and had come into the larger undeveloped area known as the Domain. From there we followed the wagon road under the trees which would lead finally to Forrest’s Steep. It was there that she would begin telling me all that she had heard and seen last night, sparing me nothing. We walked under the growth of sourwood and shad trees and I kept my eyes turned mostly upward into the leafy branches overhead. I suppose I was too shocked and too embarrassed by what she related to look directly at her. Then she told me all that her father had told her that he had heard and also whatever she had heard of the note written to the woman who had been directing the play. At the time I could tell she was stealing glances at my face to see how I would respond to all of this. Still I would not look at her until she had told me the whole story. When we reached the head of the cove we sat down automatically on the big flat rock that is there. Then I looked her full in the face, saying nothing still but waiting for her to state more than just the mere facts, which until now I was very much aware she had limited herself to. I had thought she would have burst into tears at some point. And if she had done so at this point I believe I would have put my arms about her and would have known how to comfort her. But even now she did not. When I looked into her hazel eyes now she said without emotion, “They have betrayed me and gone away without so much as telling me they were sorry they had to do it. And I do suppose they really had to do it. But I can see neither of them has ever appreciated the love I was able to give them and did give them.”


  Then I was able to speak. Whether or not it was from my heart was a question that did not occur to me. “They were neither of them worthy of you,” I said. Maybe my logic was only the logic of someone who wishes to reform someone else. “Why did you have to waste yourself on them?” I blurted out. “They were not worthy of you—you of all people.”


  She looked at me as though she could not believe her ears. And still there were no tears which might yet have undone me. “Who is worthy of my love?” she asked.


  I must have looked at her with the same logic in my eyes as before. “I can’t imagine,” I asserted. “I can’t imagine.” I really was trying desperately to imagine and I suppose I said the first thing that came into my head: “Why Lizzy, you have had the same wonderful chances that all the other girls have had.” I became irritated with her. “You have refused to be what everyone knows you are, the very best of the whole lot. You ought to be glad you have been betrayed by what they are. It proves what you are.”


  Still she looked at me without tears and without belief. All at once she sprang up from the big flat rock and ran back along the wagon road and ran at such speed that it would not have been possible for me to overtake her before we were already inside the Grounds proper. And it would not have done on that day of all days to have Lizzy seen being hotly pursued down the Owl Mountain Middle Path by such as I. And Lizzy would never again through all the years acknowledge any acquaintance between the two of us.


  As these years went by the Pettigrus would withdraw more and more to themselves, not only from the world they came out of back home but from the world of Owl Mountain. And as these years went by the old summer resort at Owl Mountain Springs became increasingly less popular with people from such places as Memphis and Nashville. After the Second World War such people as once frequented the place had largely ceased to identify themselves as a separate sort of people, as a separate sort of Southerner, as those whose forebears had not lost important battles or minor skirmishes in that old war that was coming to be mentioned less and less. They went “away” during the summer. They too went to Cape Cod and Bar Harbor and the like. For the most part Owl Mountain became a place you only went on a long summer weekend when you didn’t want to stay home with the air conditioner and the television. And as those years passed there were fires at Owl Mountain Springs that changed the nature of the place entirely. First there was the old gymnasium. It was there that children and adolescents and even older young people gathered for games and for the rehearsals and actual productions of the annual play in August. It burned one summer night in July just a year or two after Lizzy’s mother had died. (She died toward the end of one summer and was buried just outside the Grounds in the village cemetery.) Then there was the fire at the Women’s Clubhouse, followed some years later by one at the Men’s Clubhouse. And it was one night later that season that we had the fire at the Lecture Hall. That was the year that Lizzy’s father died and was buried beside her mother in the village cemetery. At last would come the great blaze that was to destroy the old hotel with its shingled cupolas and its tiers of porches and the lobby with its wide oak staircase and the dining hall in which had centered most of the adult social life. The hotel, too, was burned on a hot night in mid-August, just as the chill of the night air came on. But this was of course twenty years and more after the fire that burned the old gymnasium. During the intervening years nearly all the other places of assemblage had gone up in flames. Only the chapel was spared, and it remains standing today. But many an empty cottage met the same fate as the other, public buildings. And meanwhile, year after year, I continued to return for a few weeks every summer when I was not teaching courses in summer school. And it happened that I was present on the night of the great hotel conflagration.


  I saw the flames leap seventy-five and a hundred feet in the clear, cold air above Owl Mountain. I saw those flames light up the charred and scorched foundations of various burned-out cottages which had stood unoccupied both summer and winter for a good many years before the burning. During all these fires, and probably without exception, the now isolated and aging Miss Lizzy Pettigru had never joined the throng that invariably gathered. Rather, she would be seen by the rest of us wrapped in her plain cloth coat, sitting in a rocker on her front veranda, watching those others who came and went from the fire. If someone approached her cottage to ask if she might know how the fire got started, she rose from her rocker before even a foot was set upon her shallow porch steps and silently withdrew inside the front door of her cottage. It was always supposed that she might have seen someone passing in the direction where the fire blazed up. It was always suspected by the ever suspicious mountain people in the village that she had had a hand in each fire, if only through some magic or witchcraft that they, by this time, confidently believed she possessed. But if Miss Lizzy had made herself available she might have confirmed for them what some of them would already have suspected; that some one of those vagrants who were not from the village but who so often wandered about the Grounds had made a fire to cook his supper in one of the never-used fireplaces and out of carelessness or even malice had set the whole place on fire.


  Between Miss Lizzy Pettigru and the mountain people there had developed a history in the years since she had come to live at her summer cottage the year round. This was particularly true after her parents were dead. Whereas the summer residents thought it unbecoming and not fitting for a genteel young lady to live there alone the year round, the mountain people thought it exceeding strange. And as time passed they came to think everything about her exceeding strange. The post­mistress in the village, as well as others, became aware of the string of visitors that she turned away from her door. This “string” consisted of many of her old-time summer friends who came great distances to visit her. The postmistress could vouch that there had been letters, probably warning her of their coming. Another criticism they made of her was that she permitted no villager to come inside her front door and hired to do her work only vagrants and so-called covites, both of whom were looked down on by the mountain people of the village.


  At any rate, I know that through the years Lizzy Pettigru did have visitors who came knocking at her door. I sometimes recognized them when I happened to be in residence, and I know that she insisted to them that she had had no forewarning and could not receive them. They were often friends from her childhood and came from far distant places where they had long settled—from Cincinnati, Miami, Chicago, New York. (The mountain people knew from their license plates what great distances they had come.) But Lizzy would not open her door to them. Or if it happened, as it often did, that they caught her rocking on the porch, she would get up and go inside as soon as she saw that they were turning up the footpath toward her place. The mountain people, with their usual imagination, wrongly supposed that she had purposely and magically somehow drawn these old acquaintances to Owl Mountain and then had turned her back on them. They would tell me so again and again when I came to stay for a while in my cottage. And they said, she always sent them away again without so much as asking them up on her porch. I knew that in all reason Lizzy Pettigru had never actually sent for those that came back like this. They came uninvited and unannounced. She had no more sent for them than she had sent for me. I knew that they must have come only out of curiosity, in order to discover what kind of being she, Lizzy Pettigru, who had once been so much like themselves, had now turned into. It could not be she who had brought them back; for what need had she now of their company more than she had of my company? What need had she of their company more than of the company of the miserable mountain people whom she had clearly wounded by preferring to them the covites and the stray vagrants who wandered into the Grounds? Had not the village mountain people found her a mere curiosity in her grief, a monstrosity in her lost life, a total anomaly in their world where one was expected to accept his lot in life and to die in just the same guise more or less that he had come into the world wearing? It was unlikely that she had a need of anyone now. But it was possible that those old friends that she had once seemed so like had a terrible need to see how one who had once been so like themselves could have been transformed into such an unlovely old being as I came to see each summer.


  Yet gradually I began to accept that perhaps Lizzy Pettigru had, consciously or unconsciously, made a compact with some dark spirit which her imagination had conjured or perhaps with the very Evil One to whom the mountain people had come eventually to attribute the source of her “powers.” But this alteration of my view of the possibilities came gradually over the long years when I saw her turning into the hag, the Witch of Owl Mountain Springs.


  


  I scoffed at them of course when any one of them said she had “powers.” “She hasn’t got ‘powers,’ ” I told the postmistress more than once when she suggested as much to me. “She hasn’t got ‘powers’—or not of any sort you mean.” Still, she was a solitary old soul, and one saw her sitting there on the veranda of her ramshackle, battenboard cottage, talking to herself, her thin old lips moving silently, somehow stealthily as if her fearful thoughts would be overheard by some ordinary mortal passing by. But now and then, as though it were irrepressible, she would give a cackle of laughter, a laugh at once mirthless and breathless yet withal audible in that twilight hour, audible across the wide, weedy lawns of the old resort Grounds and all the way out to the bluff’s edge and past Forrest’s Steep, perhaps halfway down the mountainside, too. And up there on the wisteria-draped veranda of her ramshackle, battenboard cottage she was like as not laughing at the very thought of whatever it was the mountain people had finally taught me to impute to her.


  


  It was the mountain people, of course, who began all the talk about powers she possessed. But the mountain people would soon enough pass it on not only to me but to whoever of the summer people still came to the Grounds in July and August. We laughed at them at first of course. But they insisted. And they told us how during the dark winter months when there was nobody much to be seen in the overgrown Grounds or strolling along the limb-littered paths and walkways of old Owl Mountain Springs Resort, Miss Lizzy Pettigru would step out on her porch and using a most obvious magic draw nameless men of the vagrant covite sort up the path to her batten-board cottage. Hollow-eyed men they were likely to be, and lean-jawed and chewing on a twig of sourwood. They would have come wandering through the Grounds at that time of year when the last straggling summer resident had gone for the season and they—these hollow-eyed men—had strayed in to pick up the junk—the near-worthless junk—that careless summer people would likely leave behind. It was just things on their porches and in their yards—and none of it tied down as it would have been if it were something they valued. It wasn’t exactly what you would call stealing that those vagrants did. Such junk was all thought of as fair game for them. And as for Miss Lizzy Pettigru, such fellows were no less than fair game for her. Pretty soon she would be setting them to work in her yard or even inside her old cottage, just as though it were all by agreement. They were the only living souls she would allow on her premises. Generally they were rough mountain men from up the ridge or louts from down in the coves who had probably never lifted a hand in all their lives to provide either bread or keep—not until the unlucky day, so the village people maintained, when they came up against the powerful magic of old Miss Lizzy Pettigru. Of course, said the postmistress and the other ordinary mountain people, it was little that Miss Lizzy cared for such talk about magic so long as she got her leaves raked or her logs chopped for winter, chopped and neatly stacked inside her shed. She laughed in the faces of those solemn village folk who kept a careful eye on all she did. “You had better watch out for such desperate fellows as them!”


  Thus they would warn her about those men who came wandering through the Grounds. All the while, I suppose, they were really sounding her out about what powers she exercised over those old vagrants of hers. “They’ll cut your throat some night,” they warned her. But she would only grin away at them, so the postmistress said. And sometimes the post­mistress would wink at me, as though she and I were the only two realistic persons in the world, and say that maybe it was not any “powers” she used to make the old vagrants work but certain cash money she slipped them from under a loose board in her floor or from behind some loose and unchinked rock in her chimney piece that drew them up to her door. It might be the crumpled two-dollar bills, so the postmistress said, that Miss Lizzy had been stashing away there since she was a girl that made the old men turn up her path. It might be the folding money she paid them, the folding money that the old-time summer people never used to pay mountain people. I would listen to the cynical postmistress, but all the while I was beginning to think to myself that there might be a power she had and had always had. There might be something that had kept me coming back. There was a power she had possessed always that was a curious strength of mind, a way of thinking, no less, that was different from how other people thought. It might be that she had a power of mind that could somehow prevent any harm that might come from those old men, that could prevent their returning to tear up the boards and dig out the rocks to obtain whatever money that might be hidden there.


  There came a point when I began almost to be afraid of her. I listened too much to the mountain people and saw her too much as they saw her. I knew that for half a century now the bodies of the two parents had lain in the village cemetery just outside the gates of the Resort Grounds. I knew that a place was left in their burial plot for the interment of their unmarried daughter. And I had observed that a space was left on their double headstone where the daughter’s name could be cut. I was told by the mountain people that all the year round Lizzy Pettigru would be seen visiting the little graveyard. And she would be seen just as regularly in all environs of the village. As the years had passed both the mountain people and the summer people came to feel that she had become more native to the place than any of the natives themselves. It was even said sometimes that when she came out of the woods, after a long walk therein, she would be followed by a deer or a fox or even a bobcat. But as soon as the wild creature became aware of the presence of any other ordinary human being nearby it would straightway turn back and vanish in the woods.


  Old Miss Lizzy Pettigru knew where and when the blackberries ripened, and the huckleberries and the elderberries, and where here and there in a mountain recess an unblighted old chestnut tree survived and continued to bear. Most of the knowledge of where things grew she had acquired not from any mixing with the mountain people. (She was quoted by the postmistress as saying she despised folk wisdom. She was quoted as saying folk wisdom was the same as peasant ignorance.) Rather, her information came from certain musty old books on the dusty shelves of what had once been her father’s study. And perhaps, it was suspected, her magic powers had a similar source in that darkened room, whose door was kept closed to any rare visitor that somehow gained entry into her cottage. She knew, of course, that that was the thing which made everybody call her a witch—both mountain people and summer people. I think it was that and the obvious fact that she didn’t have “inside plumbing.” Having no plumbing somehow put the fear of God in the summer people. Then there was also the fact that her battenboard cottage had long since had all its electric wiring removed. When children—mountain children or otherwise—would peer in her windows at dark or at twilight and see only her candles flickering, that above all else scared the daylights out of their little beings and made them scurry on home to their folks and report what it was that they imagined they had seen inside.


  When the aged Miss Lizzy Pettigru crossed from the Corner in the village, carrying her little straw basket and stooping now and then to gather mushrooms (of a kind even mountain people would never eat), or if she passed through the village street clutching her fresh-garnered herbs (which they would not know where to find), she would laugh to herself, or she would laugh out loud if it suited her, at the suspicious chatter she heard (knowing that all around her thought her to be deaf) and at the ignorant talk she heard very clearly about herself as she kept her eyes straight ahead and went on her way.


  When I went to Owl Mountain for the last time, only two summers ago, it was really quite painful to have to confront as an old ogress the girl who once had been the foremost beauty of the place. Yet despite myself I found myself spying her out through the louvers of my own window blind or from behind the still-standing stone chimney of some former neighbor’s cottage that had been burned out. I was seized by a new kind of fear, a fear that I would once again have to face the old creature at close range. It was how totally unlike she now was to those other images of her I held in my mind that unnerved me. I told myself she was nothing at all to me anymore. Yet that summer I saw to it that we never again passed each other on the Middle Path. And unlikely as it may seem, for the first time in my long lifetime I found myself locking the outside doors to my old cottage at night. One night I even got up and locked my bedroom door.


  It was now more than ever before that I made it my business to listen to the mountain people’s superstitious gossip about the visitors who came back to call on Lizzy. And how should I have known whether or not I should have believed them? According to their reports the entirety of that group of wondrous girls had one by one come back to Owl Mountain and knocked on Miss Lizzy Pettigru’s door. They came with their husbands and children from the far distant places where events in their lives had taken them. The postmistress told me that she saw letters from them that must have announced they were coming and saw letters go back to them from Lizzy Pettigru that must have told them they would be welcome when they came. (The postmistress was very open about all her observations and shameless in her speculations.) Sometimes it was postcards they would write her and it was welcoming postcards that she would send back. On those postcards certainly it was just as the postmistress suspected it was in the letters. But on the day of her visitors’ arrival Lizzy would not of course let them inside her front door. If she were rocking on the front veranda when they arrived she would not let them come up the steps or she would get up and go inside the cottage and close the front door behind her. But there were worse things than that to be told.


  For there were some persons, the postmistress insisted, who did actually come unannounced and uninvited. The postmistress was sure of it. And their coming or not coming was the queerest business of all. She and the grocer and the man who operated the little hardware store had all, at one time or another, seen at least one of those others moving about the village. There was a couple who, even after the death of the elder Pettigrus, had summered in the cottage next door to Lizzy. Sometimes during the season they would send over a casserole or a chicken potpie to Lizzy, though they seldom received thanks or acknowledgment for such kindness. And it was some years after this couple’s empty cottage had burned that they were seen in the village one day. They made inquiries here and there about Miss Lizzy Pettigru and about whether or not she was still in residence there. It was while they were still in the village and had not yet entered the Grounds that long-distance telephone calls were put through to both the grocery store and the hardware shop (the operator having first tried to reach the nonexistent number of Miss Lizzy Pettigru) requesting that a message be delivered to that visiting couple. Their son was desperately ill, and it was urged that they return home at once. Without ever entering the Grounds, they hurried away. The poor son was not dead when they got back home and did not die at all. But that couple was never heard from at Owl Mountain again.


  There was still another couple who had been close friends of the Pettigru parents and who at a very great age was making one last pilgrimage to the old resort. They had flown from somewhere in the Northeast down to Nashville, and a car and driver had been hired to pick them up at the Nashville airport. The plane had had a frightful collision on the airport runway. Many aboard the plane had been injured. And the old couple, though not injured at all, refused to continue the journey on to Owl Mountain. When the Nashville newspaper interviewed some relatives of that couple, it reported that the two old souls had hoped to visit the daughter of friends they had once had at Owl Mountain Springs. But they had decided that luck was against them and that they had best return home.


  There was a ruthless wickedness implied in these two stories—if, that is, one did concede some remarkable powers to the now aged Miss Lizzy Pettigru. And events conspired that last summer to advance my disappointment and disenchantment with the old resemblance that I had used for so many years to see. My disenchantment was transformed into a kind of fear of Lizzy and perhaps then into something more positive than that. I recognized in myself even a kind of hatred for this creature I once idolized. I think it might have been otherwise than this if I had not happened to be in residence during the last of July and the first days of August.


  During the morning of the last day of July Lizzy appeared over in the village blithely buying a box of salt, one small package of nails, even a page of stamps. I had glimpses of her through the windows of the three establishments she entered. I didn’t in any instance want to see her, and I turned my face away each time I caught sight of her. But in my swiftest glance even I believe I saw a look of peace and satisfaction on her face that somehow frightened me. It somehow had the effect of repelling me far more than any vacancy of expression or any ignoring of my own presence had done in recent years.


  But I didn’t feel at all that the expressions I observed through the store windows were really directed toward those with whom she was doing business. In fact I think I observed that when I saw her again—somewhat later and at some distance away on the Middle Path and within the Grounds—she wore the same expression of peace and satisfaction. It was not something I merely imagined. And it seemed utterly bizarre to me that she at this point in her life would take up wearing such an expression. It inspired me momentarily with inexplicable feelings of bitterness. I went to my cottage and must have slept there for a while, which was an unusual thing for me to do in the middle of the morning. Just before noon I went back to the village to do the shopping I had meant to do earlier and had somehow forgotten. It was now, just after I had entered the post office, that the postmistress opened the little frosted glass door that is beside the letter counter across which she does her business. And she summoned me to her by crooking her finger.


  “I suppose you have heard,” she said in a lowered voice. “You must have heard,” she said.


  Having no idea of what she meant, I drew closer to her. “I haven’t heard anything,” I said almost resentfully. I confess I thought it was going to be something that Lizzy Pettigru had told her when I was looking through the post office window some while earlier. But, anyway, I had heard nothing of what she would tell me. It seems that two persons had been killed in a car that had been catapulted and subsequently capsized on the first of the sharp inclines and curves coming up the east side of the Mountain.


  “I am told,” the postmistress continued, now speaking almost in a whisper, “that the victims are nobody else but the old movie actress, Sarah Goodheart, so called, and who else but that man she ran away with forty years ago, the man who used his money to make her and himself into movie stars.”


  


  Somehow the first, worst shock to me was the news of what had become of that infamous pair. As a former college professor—I had pursued that profession till I was past fifty—I did not of course keep up with what became of old movie stars. I knew—or had once known—that that outrageous couple had actually gone the way of Hollywood and had had some degree of success out there. Probably everyone in this mountain village knew more of their careers than I did. No doubt everyone else knew how long ago they had retired from the screen as well as just how much they were still in the public eye. Certainly I had never seen them once on the screen. I could not have said how great or how little their success had been. But with the shocking news of those old acquaintances’ fatal accident I returned once again to my cottage and had once again failed to do the shopping I had intended doing. And once again I must have done the odd thing of falling asleep there—by what must then have been midday.


  And queerer than that, I must have slept there on the couch in my sitting room for the whole of the afternoon. When I was awakened by footsteps on my porch, it was already growing dark outside. The Owl Mountain grocer and the hardware merchant, along with two men in dark business suits who were total strangers to me, stood outside my front door. The identity of the strangers was immediately explained to me. One was the coroner from the county seat, ten miles away at the foot of the Mountain, and the other was the county sheriff himself. The two merchants had shown the two other men the way to my cottage. They had come there in order to ask me to accompany them to the county seat and identify the bodies of the two victims of the early morning accident. It seems it was important they be identified before any disposition could be made of their bodies. And it seems that I was the only person still living in the community who would remember them and possibly recognize their faces. The only other possibility of course would have been to call Miss Lizzy Pettigru. Yet knowledge of the long-ago elopement was sufficiently widespread throughout the whole county to make this an impossibility for men with any delicacy of feeling. I had no choice but to comply with the request of the strangers who had come for me. I put on a tie and jacket and went with them.


  


  Before we arrived at the county seat and went straightaway into where the two bodies were stored, lying side by side on two mortuary tables, I had been informed of the circumstances leading up to the accident. It seems that the nattily dressed old couple had flown into Chattanooga by way of Atlanta. Ordinarily any Owl Mountain summer people from the old days would have flown in by way of Nashville. Chattanooga was physically as far as Nashville from Owl Mountain, but culturally and spiritually it was considered to be light-years farther away. I suppose this was because it was settled as a town only after the Civil War and had been settled by Union soldiers who had taken part in the long siege of Missionary Ridge. It was indicative of how estranged from the scene Sarah and Tim had become that they allowed themselves to be routed by way of Atlanta and Chattanooga. I would read in the newspapers soon afterward that only the man in the airport car rental service recognized them for the celebrities they were or had once been. And it is likely that that agent only recognized their names on the car rental forms which he had received in advance.


  It was no ordinary car that the agency had managed to hire for the couple. I would also read in the Chattanooga newspaper afterward (for the two were still celebrities enough for the local press to make much of their dramatic end), I would read, that is to say, of a Chattanooga teenager’s having observed them at an early morning hour in their dark glasses—their “shades”—and driving a cream-colored Cadillac convertible, moving at incredible speed on a stretch of highway that runs along the foot of Chattanooga’s Lookout Mountain and which follows the curve of Moccasin Bend of the Tennessee River. The teenager said he had remarked to himself at the time that the driver and passenger in the car must be a gangster and his moll or perhaps country music singers of some sort. The reporter interviewing the teenager in the Chattanooga Times observed that it was wonderful that the car rental agency could come up with just such a car as the couple had specified in advance they would like to have. And the reporter philosophized further that it was wonderful how much being celebrities enhances people’s lives—even such rather out-of-date celebrities as these.


  


  I didn’t know any of this, of course, when I went in to look at the two bodies, though in retrospect I have a feeling that I did know all of it. What I actually knew then was only what the sheriff and the coroner had been able to tell me at the time. I knew that it had been a sunny midmorning, and that by the time the exotic pair, Tim and Sarah, reached the ascent up to Owl Mountain they had put down the top to the rented convertible. In that cream-colored automobile and in their dark glasses they must indeed have presented a spectacular sight as they came round the first bend of that winding mountain road. There were a good many people who had been coming down the mountain at that hour, people who nowadays commuted to work at the county seat. Afterward they would remember the begoggled couple and remember of course the great rate of speed at which they were taking other curves. The thing was, nobody actually saw the car leave the road. The car that was around the next curve above heard the great scream of the tires and heard the series of bumps and crashes as the behemoth went down the mountainside. And occupants of a car on a curve just behind heard it all, too. But no one actually saw the big Cadillac leave the road. As it made its flip upside down through the bright morning air the only witnesses to its fateful move through the air must have been whatever wildlife was present on the wooded mountainside. After other cars appeared, all to be seen were the marks in the tar and some gravel which had recently been put on that stretch of the road—that and some even deeper marks and ruts in the red clay shoulder on the left-hand side of the pavement. From the sound of screaming brakes it could only be surmised that some wild thing must have suddenly appeared from the wooded slopes above the road—some deer or bobcat or fox—and in braking the car at such speed on the newly spread gravel the driver must have lost all control of the vehicle. When the passengers in the next cars to come along stopped and went to the shoulder of the road and looked down, only the underside of the big convertible could be seen. Already a few long wisps of smoke were rising from the wreckage. From the very first there was no question of anyone surviving such a crash. When the police came and the wrecker crew soon after them and the ambulance people not long after, there was some effort made to find whatever wild creature might have distracted and confused the driver and sent the car out of control. Whatever it was must have stopped right in the car’s path for a moment and then scampered to safety. But no identifying track could be found. No doubt the turf at the roadside was too ravaged and the loose gravel and the tar too scrambled for any footprints or hoofprints to be distinguishable. Yet surely there could have been no other explanation for the frightful accident.


  


  In the temporary morgue where I was taken it seemed now that one moment I was standing between the two covered bodies and the next moment, by the concerted turns of the wrists of both the sheriff and the coroner, the protective sheets had been drawn back simultaneously to reveal the faces of the two accident victims. And it was almost as though the sudden exposure of the two faces had been coordinated in order to increase the shock I was destined to experience.


  I had been told already that in the morning’s accident the faces of the victims had not been mutilated or even scarred. All that I had inwardly prepared myself for was how the ravages of time and a life spent in Hollywood might reasonably have altered the faces of my two old acquaintances. But the actual shock I received and which I believe made me literally take a step backward was the sight of the youthfully smooth and untroubled countenances of the two dead people—their dark heads of hair, the unblemished cheeks, the unwrinkled lids of the closed eyes, the serene expressions on their relaxed faces. Before me seemed to be the faces of Sarah and Tim as I had last seen them. Not until later did it occur to me that what I looked upon was the work of dye jobs and face-lifts and perhaps something of a local undertaker’s work. But for the moment it was the young Tim and Sarah lying before me. “Yes, yes!” I said, almost without thinking, and turning to the men who had escorted me there.


  “You have no doubt, then,” the sheriff said, he and the coroner coming forward at once.


  “Oh, no. There can be no doubt,” I said. And I could only think to myself, “She did this to them!” It was as if she had done it long years ago on the night they had eloped. As they led me back to the waiting car the two men had almost to support me bodily. And on the road back to Owl Mountain Springs I had not a word to say to them. It was then that I began to realize what was the nature of the work that had been done on those faces. When the men returned me to my cottage they offered to stay with me for a while. But I waved them away. And when I closed the door behind me, I locked myself in my cottage. I had now but one line of thought. Why had I come back to Owl Mountain Springs all these years? Why had I been destined to live so long as to see all vestiges of what I could love in Lizzy’s face and figure entirely vanish? And at the last I found myself asking myself: was I ever in her mind any different from the others? And did she still have some hideous fate in mind for me?


  


  I was awakened once again by the sound of hurried footsteps on my porch. I can only suppose—because I could not otherwise account for the time—that I had fallen into another long period of sleep. The lights were still lit all over my cottage, but certainly I was prone in a sleeping posture on the couch in my sitting room. At some point I had washed myself thoroughly and even got into pajamas. And at some point I had unlocked my front door. And now I was awakened as from a troubling nightmare of the kind you cannot afterward quite remember. Someone on the porch knocked once and then opened the unlocked door. He was a young mountain fellow, a total stranger to me like the two men who had come earlier. I sat up on my couch blinking my eyes at him. Panting for breath and with one hand on the porcelain doorknob, he told me he had been sent to wake me and tell me that Miss Lizzy Pettigru’s cottage was on fire. He stared at me for a moment as if to see how I responded. Then he fled across the porch and I heard him calling out to other persons on the path.


  I went to my bedroom and pulled on a clean pair of trousers over my pajamas as well as a fresh shirt. Then I hurried out to join the village people who had assembled along the Middle Path and in the yard outside Miss Lizzy’s cottage. There were mists of white smoke all about the cottage but there were no flames. Some semblance of an amateur brigade had pulled up a water tank with hoses and already had been at work spraying the shingled roof. In fact, those men were still attempting to spray water on the roof and on the battenboard siding when I arrived. If there had been any appreciable fire it had been extinguished without much effort on their part. At first I began to move directly toward the cottage, but I was restrained by the strong arms of the grocer’s wife and the postmistress. “It’s too late for you to be any help,” one of them said. I could feel their powerful hands taking hold of me, and all at once I became aware of my age. I heard someone say, “They’re bringing her out now!” The two women led me toward one of the stone benches beside the Middle Path and forced me to sit down. Other people gathered around where I was sitting and I felt they were all being protective of me and showing respect for my great age. I became aware that a crowd of mountain people were grouping themselves between me and the sight of the body that was being brought out. I knew it was out of consideration for my advanced age and for my well-known friendship with Lizzy Pettigru. No doubt I had grown pale and no doubt the trembling of my right hand had increased and was becoming noticeable, because the grocer’s wife now began to urge me to return to my own cottage. When I firmly declined to leave the scene, the postmistress sat down on the stone bench beside me and said in a most reasonable voice, “I think you must be told the whole truth here and now.”


  And that lady proceeded then to tell me that it was not the fire that had taken Lizzy’s life. She told me that the first men to arrive at the fire had entered the cottage, gone down the long central hallway, and found the old spinster lying already dead in her bed. And then for a moment the postmistress looked at the other woman as if to obtain her approval before continuing. “She was already dead when they got here, and there could not have been much of a fire. I tell you just what they told me. Miss Lizzy had had her throat cut.” The grocer’s wife began to cry in her handkerchief then, but the postmistress sat there looking me straight in the eye. She gave me the very worst of the details. They found blood all over the wall opposite the bed. And clearly the fire had been set as an obvious effort—a too obvious effort—to conceal the means of death. But the murderer had had no experience in such a business. The postmistress, and everyone else later on, pronounced it most clearly the work of one of the old vagrants from down in the cove. And this of course, as we all remembered, was something that had been predicted years before. Boards had been prized up from the floor and the chimney stones pried loose from the chimney. It was supposed to indicate someone had been in search of the poor old creature’s money. But even the search for the money was somehow unconvincing. And there was evidence that the old soul had put up resistance. But there was something unreal about that, too. Chairs and tables were turned over and there were bloodstains on the floor and along the dado of the bedroom. And last of all the murderer’s weapon was a knife from Lizzy’s own kitchen. That itself would have been like one of those old fellows from the coves. But the handle of the knife had been wiped dry of all bloodstains and fingerprints, which would not have been like one of those old fellows at all.


  I was protected from the sight of the body when they brought the old creature outside. And of course I never looked upon her face again. But the picture described to me of her lying there dead with her throat slit will never leave me. At last I was guided back to my own cottage. I was seen safely to bed by my two lady companions, who sat near me for the rest of the night. I slept not at all and sometimes I remembered that I had not eaten all day. Before dawn it had occurred to me more than once that in all likelihood the body of Lizzy by this time lay in the temporary morgue that had been set up at the county seat. And it was all too easy to imagine that she would be lying there now right alongside the bodies of those who had been victims of the highway accident. I had the impulse to remark on this to whomever I might make listen to me. But of course I found it too grim a thing to mention in the presence of the two ladies who were sitting the night through with me.


  In recent days it has seemed almost incredibly ironic, too much of a coincidence to be believed, that Lizzy Pettigru should actually have met her violent end on the very same day as Tim Sullivan and Sarah Goodrich. But if there be skeptics about the truth of my account, they must go sometime and look up the dates beneath Lizzy’s name on the tombstone she shares with her parents in the Owl Mountain Cemetery and then travel out to Hollywood and see that the same date is there on the magnificent marble monument that I believe Tim Sullivan and Sarah Goodrich share. And if this be after my death, it might seem worthwhile to go and seek out my own grave in whatever remote place I shall have taken myself off to, and learn just how long I was able to survive the end of such a story as I had to tell.


  The Oracle at Stoneleigh Court


  


  MRS. AUGUSTA ST. JOHN-JONES was now seventy-five years old and had lived in Washington for nearly half a century. She was the longtime widow of a Tennessee congressman who had in fact died of a heart attack while midway through his maiden speech on the floor of the House. This widow of the late lamented Congressman Jones (she hyphenated her maiden name and her married name only after her husband’s death) was actually a lady from Middle Tennessee and was generally known to us—her various nephews and nieces, that is—as our Aunt Gussie Jones. But from the time of her husband’s early death our Aunt Gussie had stayed put in Washington (her own phrase) until the present day of this story I am about to relate.


  As for myself, I was already a grown young man at the time I speak of—in the year 1943—and was now serving as an enlisted man in the United States Army. I had, moreover, been placed for several weeks on special assignment for temporary duty in the District of Columbia. And this was when, out of obscure needs quite beyond my own comprehension, I made a point of seeking out this great-aunt where she was currently living, in the stylish Stoneleigh Court Apartments on lower Connecticut Avenue. I did so ostensibly in order that I should make the old lady’s real acquaintance for the first time since I was a small child. Yet there were other and more profound reasons for my looking up my aunt, which were at the time by no means self-evident or in the least bit comprehensible to me.


  


  The “present day” that I made reference to above, regarding my aunt, and the “now” and the “nowadays” that may creep into my narrative during these first pages must not ever be construed as having reference to the trite “present day” or the banal “nowadays” that such a one as I have lived on into. Rather, the time I shall have in mind will be the vibrant “now” of fifty years ago when the Second World War lay before us and I was that staff sergeant on temporary duty in the District of Columbia. I do believe in my heart that this is the period when the young people of my generation imagined ourselves most fully alive—whether we were some avowed conscientious objector, such as I had actually listed myself with the Memphis Draft Board, or whether we were one of the more warlike spirits amongst whom we were inevitably cast in the ranks of the army.


  Whatever we were, all of us imagined ourselves most fully alive then. And yet somehow, at the same time, how often it was we felt bored to distraction with our lives! There in Washington we rode the streetcars and stood in line at the cafeterias, to which we were allotted tickets, and at the movie theaters, which seemingly were on every corner of the downtown. Yes, to all of us it was the most exciting and the very dullest of times. We had before us—the would-be conscientious objectors or the ordinary draftees—either imminent death in the global war of our day or, if spared, then we had the prospect of a stagnant life in a world we all dreaded and that we sensed we should certainly come to know when the war was over.


  


  I had been drafted before our country was actually in the war. As a result of this I had picked up many a trick from the old-time regular army soldiers in our organization. I had been drafted so early as I had for fairly obvious reasons. It was because of my having tried originally to register as a conscientious objector! On my draft registration form I had made a somewhat naïve-seeming statement, objecting to any sort of peacetime draft and “defying any contractual coercion to do murder at any future time.” My impression is—as I shall illustrate later on—that there were a number of like-minded young men right there in Memphis at the time, young men who were willing in a halfhearted way, like myself, to resist any sort of peacetime draft.


  On the draftee special train transporting our group to the Reception Center at Fort Oglethorpe, Georgia, I sat next to a slight acquaintance of mine, a young man by the name of Alex Mercer, and Alex was certain he was being drafted early only because of some almost inadvertent remark he had put on his own registration form about the peacetime draft. When he and I were back home again after the war, he was still as certain as ever about why he was “called” so early. And so I am sure that what happened to me was not merely a figment of my imagination. In fact, it was to the young woman secretary at the Draft Board office that I—and possibly others like me—could trace my own special brand of discrimination. When I questioned her about why my registration form had been sent on to Washington, instead of being reviewed first by the local board, she replied with indifference that she supposed my phrase “the act of murder” referred to “some act of Congress,” and said she with a patriotic grin, “I left it for Congress to interpret, instead of the local board.” I had no recourse, after that. I could only wonder even then that the fates of how many draftees would at last lie in the hands of that young woman clerk. In any case, the result for me was my being forthwith catapulted into the first peacetime U.S. Army draft.


  Yet once any of our sort was drafted and sworn in by some anonymous adjutant-general army officer, then we were from that moment forward not noticeably different in our general behavior and performance of duty from the other soldiers we found ourselves in the midst of. From then on, indeed, our only and foremost concern, so it seems in retrospect, would be to prevent our companions in arms from learning how it was that we had originally enlisted ourselves with our Draft Board at home.


  In my own case, extraordinary feelings of guilt would sometimes sweep over me when I was deceiving all those around me about my real nature and my halfhearted conviction—and these feelings were followed by a period of profound depression. And oftentimes there would be only the unaccountable depression without any consciousness of guilt.


  At any rate, it was with the typical connivance of any old peacetime dog-faced soldier that I managed to obtain an extended temporary duty away from Camp Forrest, where I was then stationed. And I had done so in order to be near a fantastically good-looking girl named Lila Montgomery, a young lady who had just recently left Tullahoma, Tennessee, and had accepted an office job in Washington, D.C.


  It is important to say that that temporary assignment of mine in the District was not something that just happened by chance. It was something that I finagled rather deviously in order to be near that fantastically good-looking girl. To my commanding officer back at the Post I had explicitly stated that before our outfit shipped out for overseas, which was bound to occur a few months hence (for our country was by now in the war), there was an aging relative in Washington that I wished to see before departing these shores. It had been precisely the right approach to make to the young C.O., and I congratulated myself, as I often had occasion to do in those days, on my very thorough understanding of commanding-officer mentality.


  


  In retrospect, I am not sure it was my Aunt Augusta St. John-Jones I was pretending to have in mind when I spoke my piece to the officer. The fact was, in our family there were always various great-aunts, and their like, who lingered and lurked about Washington—even in so late an epoch as that of the Second World War. Generally speaking, these were the widowed spouses of politicos, of one kind and another, who tarried on the scene for years and years after they had any official position in the place. They were mostly the remnants of past political administrations, ladies who had caught the Washington bug and would not willingly give it up. To other Washington residents, even in that day, these kinswomen of ours were bound to have seemed an anachronism. Like most others of their sort they existed as the widows, the sisters, the daughters of what were now forgotten men—that is, those men amongst us who from time to time had represented our family (as well, incidentally, as the state of Tennessee) in the seat of government of what they termed the “Federal Union.”


  But all that aside, the girl I have spoken of, the fantastically good-looking girl named Lila Montgomery, was then residing in Washington in a women’s hotel on upper Connecticut Avenue. She was one of those thousands of girls who hurried off to Washington during the war to work in the bureaus for the duration; in Lila’s case it was only now—only just very recently—that she had taken up her job there. (When I am tempted sometimes to slip into the present tense, as I sometimes shall do, I think it is largely because all stories about young people—especially young people who have participated in war—seem to cry out to be told in the present tense. For them there seems to be no past, so to speak, no future, only the present.)


  Lila Montgomery was actually someone I had met scarcely three months prior to our fateful Washington reunion, had met at a U.S.O. dance while she, a genteel country girl from what is known in Tennessee as the Highland Rim, was then staying with relatives in Tullahoma, and when I was still in basic training in nearby Camp Forrest. I say I “met” her just as though she and I were properly introduced at that dance in the Camp Forrest canteen, which was hardly the case, and which mattered considerably in that day and age but which would hardly matter at all in years ahead after the war. The truth is I had watched this girl on the crowded dance floor that night without having any idea who she was. I had no idea whether she was one of the regular hostesses or merely someone brought there by one of the headquarters company enlisted men. The important point for me is that I would almost have been content to stand there on the sidelines of the dance floor all night, merely watching that girl. And a sad sight I must have made, in my polished high shoes, my spotlessly clean uniform, my overseas cap tucked neatly in my belt, perfectly got up for a U.S.O. dance, but drawing a long face that bespoke a draftee contemplating an imminent overseas shipment. But even in my forlorn state of mind there was something about watching Lila that was a satisfaction in itself. That is to say, even later after I got to know her and wished to be constantly in her company I believe it was, first and last, the very expressive mobility in the girl’s gestures, every slight movement of her whole person, the quick, responsive and ever-changing expressions of her face—like lights and shadows that came from within her—that utterly delighted me, and delighted me to the exclusion of everything else involved in our acquaintance. She seemed such a natural part of the scene that she somehow became the scene itself. And perhaps it was the scene itself I was enamored of—or thought I ought to be enamored of, as a normal young male animal. It may be that so long as I was acquainted with Lila Montgomery this perception on my part would alienate and in some degree estrange her from me and prevent her from ever allowing me to become acquainted with what was probably her essential nature. But I could not be sure of this. And in the end it would be left for my old Aunt Gussie to perceive and act upon.


  After we began going about together, Lila often complained that I never made sufficient effort to develop any conversation with her and that I often failed to listen to her when she spoke to me. She said I had a way of seeming always to be listening to other voices across the room or across the street. But merely looking at Lila Montgomery would be for me the greatest pleasure to be derived from being in her company. The animated features of her face, the long, quite golden hair pushed behind the pretty little ears just showing under the brim of the G.I. hat she sometimes affected, as well as the single strand of pearls about her neck, the pale blue sweater she had herself knitted, the wide pleats of her dark skirt constituted altogether my greatest pleasure. I didn’t allow my observations or my thoughts to carry me any further than that. The total, ultimate beauty of this girl I did not let myself think about. I suspect that during wartime soldiers will demand either total satisfaction of their aspiration with regard to persons of the opposite gender or almost total sublimation.


  From the stag line that first night at the canteen dance I saw her personality and to some extent her very physiognomy change utterly with every new partner that broke in on her. Her face changed, her step was altered of course, the very angle of her arm on her partner’s shoulder was altered, as well as her posture and the very animation of her entire person. In her wonderful kind of innocence or sophistication—it was hard to say which it was—she seemed responsive with every fiber of her being to every man that came near her. Anyhow, with no pretense at having an introduction that night I at last stepped out and touched the elbow of her current partner. And Lila, instantly responding to the agitated expression I must have been wearing, tried desperately hard to hold on to that corporal’s sleeve. It was as though she suspected at once I might be bad medicine for her. It was as though she were endowed with a wonderful intuition that I would complicate her life in some way that she did not want it complicated. But nevertheless as a sergeant I more or less pulled my rank on the unhappy corporal and with Lila in my arms I glided away in my old-fashioned Tennessee two-step.


  By the time I was cut in on by another soldier (this one outranking myself and who was clearly a real acquaintance of Lila’s) I had already learned her name as well as her street address and telephone number in the nearby city of Durham. By then the wonderfully pouty expression that had come on her face when first she saw me touching the corporal’s elbow had vanished altogether. And now I felt a certain alarm at how quickly she had adjusted to me and to my dance step. It made me begin wondering even then whatever in the world this well-adjusted and infinitely adjustable girl could have in common with my ill-adjusted self. She had come here tonight out of a sense of duty or just for the fun and adventure of attending a dance on a military base while I was a lowly draftee who was and would ever remain ill adjusted to any aspect of wartime adventure.


  Yet when I yielded to another soldier who was breaking in on me, I saw her looking that pouty way again. But I saw too that it was only a pretense this time. I turned away from her, saying nonchalantly, “See you later, dear girl,” as though losing her as a dance partner was a very small matter to me. And as I ambled away to the cluster of stags standing nearby I heard her calling out to me in a hoarse whisper, “You’ve got your nerve, you know, Sergeant!” Then she gave me a big, forgiving smile that invited me to come back soon, I felt. The invitation was more in the tone of her voice than in her words or even the smile on her face. I stood at the edge of the dance floor watching her for an immeasurable time it seemed—watched the shifting overhead lights and the occasional shimmerings and shadows they threw on the planes of her expressive countenance, seeming to coincide sometimes (or so I imagined) with the inner lights and shadows of her wondrously articulate personality. I gazed at her with an objectivity previously unknown to such a raw and callous youth as I perceived myself to have grown into since the day I put on uniform. (It seemed to me that I had been older and more sophisticated before I went into uniform.) Lila appeared to me from my first sight of her indeed like one of some species I had never before set eyes upon. I watched her lovely neck as she bent forward and backward, all the while that she was making animated conversation with each successive partner, and watched too the slender body that seemed transfigured entirely somehow in response—and nothing more than that, perhaps—to the different and unpredictable dance steps that she was called upon to follow.


  It was merely watching Lila Montgomery always that gave me the greatest kick—only a “kick” and possibly nothing more. It seemed to me that she possessed a natural genius for quick responses to other people. It never occurred to me what she might otherwise be like or be unlike. But of course it was her manner and grace that would make me characterize her—when at last I spoke to my Aunt Augusta St. John-Jones on the telephone—characterize her, that is, as “simply a fantastically good-looking girl” whom I wished to bring to see my aunt. And this was how I most often thought of Lila during the long, lonely hours while she was at her daytime job and my Aunt Augusta was not “receiving.” (Aunt Augusta St. John-Jones never received any visitors before five in the afternoon.) During those empty hours I found myself pacing the streets of the capital city, trudging mostly from circle to circle and from avenue to avenue with no definite purpose or destination in mind, with no purpose perhaps but to follow the routes suggested in the guide books. Studying and following the routes recommended in the guide books was simply my way of not thinking about my present life and my future and my non-future.


  One day in my wanderings I catch a glimpse of myself in a mirror on the wall of a drugstore on Dupont Circle. Undoubtedly the weary figure and the unthinking face I behold there is that of a common soldier who carries inside him a burden he doesn’t understand or in any way comprehend. And from that moment I perceived myself during daylight hours of my Washington stay as a lonely wayfarer without any direct notion of why he should bear his burden or even of what his burden is. (It was as though I were keeping my secret from myself.) Is it only being young and in uniform? To have all thoughts of future time blocked out just when one feels the strongest urge to take one’s own course? And I do understand somehow that all this has to do with my strong feelings about Lila Montgomery and why they seem to remain so persistently shallow. I am aware that to others I seem lively, adventuresome, even high-spirited. Other soldiers in my barracks at Camp Forrest know of and approve my going off in pursuit of a girl. But what they do not know of nor would approve of is my reserve with Lila, my failure to demonstrate any and all affection I might or might not feel for her. And others of my acquaintance—older and closer friends from my curtailed civilian boyhood and young manhood—would scarcely believe that during my Washington stay I have not frequented the art galleries and great museums nor even visited the Senate Chamber wherein my most illustrious grandfather long ago distinguished himself with his rhetoric and wit.


  


  By day always awaiting the night—blessed nighttime—for Lila to emerge from her bureau I try to sleep till noon in the temporary barracks that are used to house soldiers on duty in the District. But the sergeant major in charge always rousts me out before noon. And so I get up and make myself scarce, as he wishes me to do, and begin my wanderings through Washington once again. It seems to me that at each circle where I stop and rest my feet, pausing there to admire the equestrian statue of whatever little roundabout park I happen to stop in, that particular parklet immediately empties of all other people when I arrive, and I am alone there with a grim General Sherman or an icy George Washington.


  


  The season of the year is not yet winter but it is no longer autumn either. Again and again I see streaks of light in the great lifeless sky that I cannot account for. It all seems significant or even ominous in some way that is quite beyond my understanding. What is the matter with me? I ask myself. More than once I see or imagine I see a man on the edge of a high, flat rooftop who is clearly contemplating a leap into the street below. But he always turns away. I find myself on the verge of calling out to him, “Go ahead! Leap!” At every street crossing I find myself not looking at the traffic light which is meant to protect my life but peering instead at the watch on my wrist. . . . During every day of sightseeing I begin to imagine that my temporary duty in Washington will never end. It seems that I am suspended in time and it is not an altogether unpleasant sensation. My observations are but another means I have devised for not thinking about what my present mode of life signifies.


  


  That day as Aunt Gussie and I talk over the house phone from the high-ceilinged lobby to her sixth-floor flat I detect a tremor in the old lady’s voice that suggests to me her very great age or perhaps the excitement of having one more young person from Tennessee turn up in her life—at her door. I feel that even the tremor in her voice is intended to mean something to me. As Lila and I ride up the old bird cage of an elevator, with the old hunchback of a man operating it, I imagine that I have already become the victim of some spell cast by the tremor of that melancholy voice on the phone and that I am somehow restrained from making mention of it to the girl beside me, she who watches intensely and questioningly as the elevator ascends. I smile inwardly at myself as we pass each floor, imagining as I do new dangers at every level.


  After we leave the elevator and its humpbacked old man, and as we traverse the brown-carpeted corridor to Aunt Gussie’s little flat on the very top floor and at the very back side of the Stoneleigh Court, there, suddenly, the old creature stands before us in the doorway of her tiny cell-like apartment with her arms stretched out to receive us and wearing on her face what appears to be a circus clown’s smile painted all around her thin old lips, and on her hollow cheeks orange rouge so besmirched that I think at first she is blushing. Black eyes shine forth at me from the deep recesses of their sockets with a brightness that cannot be artificial. And now she throws her skeletal old arms around me, being ever so careful not to stain my fresh uniform with either her orange rouge or lipstick. Now she peers up into my eyes with a stare that is at once analytical and affectionate, and now she explains, “How I do love a uniform, especially when topped off with so handsome a visage.”


  Now she is pulling me inside the tiny apartment and presently she is beckoning Lila to follow, without seeming to look directly at her. I don’t know when the old creature first looks directly at the “fantastically good-looking girl” I have brought with me. I think it is only after Lila has softly closed the door to the entryway behind her and is stepping into the cluttered and untidy living room. Even now, without taking Lila’s hand or making any gesture or effort to do so, Aunt Gussie merely stares severely in her direction. “So that is your fantastically good-looking girlfriend!” she says to my embarrassment of course, since she is obviously quoting from the note I sent her earlier in the week. But Lila only raises her hand to her mouth to conceal a smile.


  As my aunt leads us farther into the crowded little apartment—crowded, I knew, from accounts of my sister and those of my older cousins who came to Washington long before my visit, crowded, that is, with furniture from larger apartments she formerly occupied in her more affluent days at the Stoneleigh Court—she at last gives Lila one appraising and condescending glance—or so I imagined it to be—that I shall observe a while afterward during that afternoon’s visit.


  What I am not at all prepared for, strangely enough—I say strangely because it has all been described for me by my older sister and to some extent by my parents—is first of all the mauve silk scarf tied about her old head, gypsy fashion, and the array of rings on the knobby old fingers, all set with stones seemingly with every hue and color of the spectrum. There is also the tiny, cluttered living room itself seeming to come forward at me all at once with its jumble of furniture and catching me unawares. Along one wall of this minuscule parlor of my aunt’s there is hung a sort of arras, and there are inside window blinds with half-opened louvers casting stripes across the Turkish carpet. In the center of the crowded room and directly under the shaded chandelier is a table with a paisley cloth, and on that cloth is a set of unfamiliar playing cards laid out in vertical rows as if someone has been playing solitaire. With a second glance, though, it occurs to me that my aunt has been telling someone’s fortune there. Then all at once as I press forward she sweeps up the cards into a disorderly pile, though not bothering to put the deck out of sight. It is as if she doesn’t wish me to see what the fortune—her own or someone else’s?—reveals. Then she looks at me with the coyness of a child—a child that has perhaps written some nasty, naughty word in her sand pile and then defies me, the adult, to fathom whatever word she has written there and which is now wiped out forever.


  Presently she indicates with her right hand—and with precise specificity—the high-backed tapestried armchair that I am to occupy. And almost simultaneously with her left hand and in her most offhand manner she makes a wide, vague gesture that tells Lila she should avail herself of one of the little straight chairs—any one she likes, for it is no matter about her—just any one of the ordinary little straight chairs that are scattered here and there about the cluttered room. Even at the time her indifference seemed rather studied, though I could not be certain about it. It left me wondering for a few seconds. But presently I forgot this first impression. We three sit there together for the better part of an hour and as we drink our tea from the elaborate orange and black tea service that she produces from her little hole of a kitchen, my Aunt Gussie and I are not silent for a single moment. In this way, I suppose, the visit can be called a great success.


  Lila, meanwhile, speaks not a word but only now and then gives me a knowing grin whenever I glance in her direction. It is as though she were seeing in this occasion something that I don’t see. She is altogether left out, purposely excluded it would seem, as my aunt and I exchange family stories or at least make reference to stories and characters we are both of us familiar with. Our talk is not at all stiff or stilted as I previously thought it would surely be. I have even imagined the meeting might be disagreeable. But Aunt Gussie knows all the characters in our world so well! She can usually add something to any story or anecdote I make reference to. But she listens intently to all I say. Again and again, though, we interrupt each other. More than anyone else in the family she refers to my maternal grandfather, who after serving several terms as governor was at last sent as senator to Washington. What a friend the Senator was to her late husband! How wise and witty he was and how sympathetic to the likes of her—even took her advice, too, in certain matters. “You can’t know at your age,” she says, “how humiliating it was to be simply a ‘woman’ in those days, to be a woman and be almost never listened to by men—with regard to serious, public matters, I mean. One had to do something to make oneself interesting. It didn’t matter how silly it was, actually. But he listened, your grandfather the Senator did. He listened to everybody. That was really his genius! He would even take my astrology seriously at times and sometimes acted according to the indications I received—from up there.” For a moment she casts her eyes upward toward the ceiling of her top-floor apartment. “He was an honest friend to me. And his wife, your grandmother, she was the best of all friends, and I would often cure her terrible headaches with certain powers of concentration that I possess. She even took my astrology and my palmistry seriously—even my devotion to the Church of Rome. But he always listened to all I said and it was more remarkable in a man to listen.”


  Lila is seated still in her straight chair—her sassy little hat at an angle on her head—a picture of patience. My own and Aunt Gussie’s talk runs on and on. At last, there is an almost imperceptible twitch of Lila’s left foot. I hope my aunt has not observed it, because I know it means that Lila’s patience begins to be exhausted. Suddenly, as though she too had got the signal, my aunt goes to the table and takes a black notebook from the drawer there. I manage to get a quick glimpse of the entries on its lined pages but I cannot make out its real character. I think it is not a common address book, but she holds it so close to herself that I cannot at first be certain. Presently she asks for my temporary address and the telephone number at which I can be reached as well as my date of birth and even my army serial number. She gives me a quick glance and, blinking her little black eyes, she says, “You know, don’t you, that your parents’ wedding date was five/one/ought seven?—which all adds up to thirteen.” I cannot resist now throwing back my head and laughing aloud. Meanwhile, under her breath almost and in the most casual way, as if it were an unimportant afterthought, she solicits Lila’s address and telephone number and the exact spelling of her name. Then the old lady returns the notebook to the table drawer.


  As Lila and I rise and are about to take our leave, Aunt Gussie and I are still saying to each other how much each of us has reminded the other of someone else in our various Tennessee connections. Near the entry door she breaks off suddenly and says with a searching look up into my eyes, “You do look so like your late distinguished grandfather. And sometimes, you know, he comes here still.”


  Now I feel I have not been paying close enough attention. I almost say aloud, “Who do you mean, Aunt Gussie?” Or even: “What do you mean, Aunt Gussie?” Then I think surely I must have misunderstood. And then I hear her saying, “Wouldn’t you like to see him sometime? He might come to us if just the two of us were present. It would mean so much to him, I think.” I turn to look at Lila to see if she has heard what I have been hearing. But Lila has already bolted. She has opened the hall door and preceded Aunt Gussie and me into the hallway. She seems oblivious to all that has passed between us in the last minute or so. Presently I can recall my father’s once saying, “Aunt Gussie has moments of madness, but only moments. Otherwise she is a thoroughly entertaining person.” And my mother’s saying, “Madness maybe, but usually I can find some method in her madness.”


  And after all, during this afternoon’s visit, Aunt Gussie has surely had only one lapse into madness. I think there has been only one momentary lapse—that is, speaking of my late grandfather as she did and making reference to the signs of the zodiac. I make no answer, of course, for I can’t imagine what on earth I might say. Presently when I’m just about to pass through the entry doorway I see what I had not observed upon entering. In a sort of alcove there, which I can only suppose to have been originally a coat closet with its door removed to give the effect of an alcove, therein on the farthermost wall of the shallow closet and under a dim light from above is affixed an ivory-colored Saint Sebastian. On his ivory body are deep traces of blood, flowing from the arms and hands. At the very moment that I am struck by this gory sight and am inwardly debating whether or not the light from above the ivory figure had been shining there ever so dimly when we came in, just then Lila heaves an audible sigh which she follows with a sharp intake of breath. I cannot be sure whether she has glimpsed the dimly illuminated figure as I have done or perhaps has grasped the meaning of Aunt Gussie’s reference to my grandfather’s ghost. I instinctively raise my voice in order that Aunt Gussie not hear Lila’s breathy exclamations out in the hall. And now having said several deafening goodbyes in the doorway I go racing after Lila who, without making any pretense of saying goodbye, has preceded me down the seemingly endless corridor. Before I arrive at her side she is already standing at the iron gates of the elevator shaft, jabbing in fierce desperation at the call button there.


  As for Lila and my Aunt Gussie, I wrongly imagine of course that this will be the end of their acquaintance and this might have been the last of it for my aunt and me, so I told myself afterward, except that something has already been set going inside of me that will not let it come to just that. Something inside me has been stirred that will not let me be satisfied with only that one visit to Aunt Gussie’s flat. By the time Lila and I have stepped out of the elevator and into the lobby downstairs we have kept silent except for mumbling our thanks to the decrepit operator of the bird cage which brought us down. As we pass out through the colonnades at the entrance Lila and I still have not exchanged a word. It is now that I again observe the familiar pouty expression on Lila’s face. Her full, perfectly shaped lips, ordinarily among the chief features of her beauty, are now pressed ever so tightly and disagreeably together. I can tell she has resolved not to speak until she has regained command of her emotions. I can sense already that this will not be her last meeting with Aunt Gussie and that she can somehow perceive that there is some advantage to be had from their acquaintance.


  From Aunt Gussie’s stolen glances I now thought, too, that I detected some half hidden design on her part for Lila’s attention. And I remembered my mother’s once saying that with women Aunt Gussie always played a game of cat and mouse. It was now for the first time that I sensed it was not just Lila’s responsiveness to people that is to be admired. After that day I can in retrospect see that Lila has the wish and power to detect when someone can be of use to her and her ambitions. And it is as though Aunt Gussie has managed to convey something to Lila that did not reach me. By now I know the girl well enough to understand that it will help her to discern her own feelings (which she does not at this moment fully comprehend) if I will only say something utterly uncharged with emotion, something indifferent to what is going on inside her. “Isn’t she a queer old thing?” I venture tentatively. As we walk along the avenue Lila looks up at me with the same knowing smile that she gave me once a while earlier at my aunt’s apartment. It is a smile that assures me now that there is a side of Lila’s personality or character that I have scarcely taken into consideration before.


  And Lila, the pouty expression suddenly all gone, looks up at me wearing that big familiar smile. “She certainly is a queer old soul,” she says, obviously trying to catch my tone, “and she certainly doesn’t fancy the likes of me.”


  Thinking to placate her, I say, “I guess she never liked women very much, not even my mother. Especially not when she is competing in the world of Washington—unless of course the woman is somehow famous or powerful to some degree—most especially in politics. Did you happen to observe on the little shelf above our heads the signed ‘studio portraits’ of Grace Coolidge and Alice Roosevelt Longworth?” As Lila and I walk together up the avenue to the apartment she shares with other girls like herself, I undertake to tell her whatever I can about Aunt Gussie. And as I hear myself repeating certain familiar anecdotes, I suddenly realize how little I really know about my aunt. The stories that have been passed on to me about her are concerned mostly with her striking good looks and eccentricities. I have of course this afternoon acknowledged the eccentricities and discerned traces and suggestions of her faded beauty. But the two elements do not somehow make a whole picture—not by any stretch of the imagination. As Lila and I make our way up Connecticut Avenue, my talk is all about Aunt Gussie and my thoughts are all about Aunt Gussie, but the two somehow don’t coincide exactly—my talk and my thoughts. I am repeating accounts of the peculiar and outrageous things she has said or done at one time or another, repeating them in the very pejorative terms that my parents and older sister, as well as other relatives, have used when passing the stories on to me. But in my concurrent thoughts I am revising everything. Now I am seeing it all anew in my mind’s eye, anew and in a more sympathetic light. As a girl she had had a great many admirers, as such a beauty as she had been will inevitably have. It was said that at twilight she had been fond of being accompanied by a beau on certain long walks, often following various circuitous routes to the town cemetery. On some occasions in the approaching darkness and at a moment when the beau had turned his eyes away from her she would go quickly and hide behind one or another of the larger gravestones, managing to conceal herself altogether from his view. She remained in hiding there while her young man went bellowing after her in the near darkness among the stone angels and the little marble lambs and an occasional granite cross. At last, utterly mystified and seized by panic the young man would run out of the pitch-dark burial ground and on throughout the streets of the old river town to pound at last upon the door of the girl’s father’s house, meaning to ask for help in his frantic search. The beautiful Gussie, meanwhile, dodging from gravestone to gravestone and taking a little-known exit from the cemetery and racing through the back alleys of the town had preceded her young man there by so narrow a margin that she was scarcely able to rest and catch her breath and appear in the doorway before her panting admirer’s eyes, a vision of ghostly loveliness.


  


  The next time I went to see my Aunt Gussie in her Stoneleigh Court apartment, I went there alone. It was on the Thursday following that Sunday’s visit. She awaited me in her apartment doorway this time, not wearing the mauve scarf about her head, but instead a black broad-rimmed hat with a very low, flat crown perched rather nattily, I thought, on her head of white hair, almost as if she were a toreador. I assumed from her appearance that she was either about to go out or that she had only just come in. Neither was the case. She had been expecting me, and it was merely her old-fashioned Washington way of receiving people in a hat. And I was arriving at just the appointed hour of our visit.


  “It is a pity you couldn’t have come earlier,” she called to me when I was as far as fifty feet down the corridor from her. “For he has just been here!” she continued as I grew nearer. And then when I was in reasonable speaking distance I raised my eyebrows as if to ask who on earth she meant. “The Senator!” she exclaimed. “Your own grandfather!” And now she seized my extended hand between her own two hands, which seemed almost transparent in their fragility. “He couldn’t wait another minute,” she contended with excitement in her black eyes, seeming to scan my face for any response. I’m afraid I seemed to deadpan it, although at first I simply could not take it in. Leading me into the open doorway and stopping to close the door tightly she further exclaimed, “He could not wait another minute though I made every effort to detain him—for you to see him and for him to see you.”


  I was still speechless and began wondering if I could ever speak again. My first thought was: “What an old fraud she is!” But I had scarcely placed one foot across the door sill before I found myself believing in her, accepting her view of reality, or wanting so to believe in her that I dismissed all honest thinking. The first thing I observed upon passing through the doorway this time was the dimly lit Saint Sebastian in the alcove. And I was aware, or thought I was aware, that on the first visit she had purposely arranged my seeing it only upon leaving, and now she manipulated my seeing it at once upon entering, and my seeing also above the lintel of the inner doorway to the apartment the design of the constellations of the zodiac represented in bright colors. Then after allowing me barely a glimpse of the Saint Sebastian and the signs of the zodiac she took me by the hand and led me across the room to “my chair.” She said quite openly and casually, “I have to tell you that your signature, as well as your handwriting generally, disturbs me, and all your numbers disturb me, too.”


  “My numbers, Aunt?” I asked in genuine wonderment.


  “Yes, all numbers pertaining to you. I have taken the liberty since you were here last of doing a tentative horoscope of you.”


  I could not help exclaiming with a smile, “Oh, you are into everything, aren’t you, Aunt Gussie?”


  “Such things I am ‘into,’ ” she asserted with only a shade of sarcasm. “One sees the same thing everywhere. I principally see that at this time in life you are not a suitable partner for anyone.” So saying, she drew back into her chair and spoke no more of this nonsense. But presently I perceived that she had drawn back only to regroup her forces—her ideas, that is. Closing her eyes momentarily, and keeping them closed even after she began to speak, she presently spoke very firmly. “I could see when you were here the other night that you are not attracted to the cards.” She now made a wide gesture toward the nearby table.


  I cut my eyes to where the deck of cards was now ever so neatly stacked. “I’m afraid,” I said with another foolish smile, “that I was not able to see what kind of cards they were after you squinched them up so quickly. And I still don’t know.”


  “They are tarot cards, my child,” she asserted with a certain condescension. With her black eyes now wide open, as if she would penetrate through my own eyes to my innermost ignorance and stupidity, she said, “They are cards which possess great authority and which have done so since very ancient times.” She had now gone to stand by the table, and she fanned out the cards on the paisley cloth.


  “Oh, fortune-tellers’ cards,” said I, “like those gypsies use.”


  “Tarot cards,” she corrected me.


  “Why, they are all face cards,” I said genially. “Is that quite fair?”


  “You are not a serious person, I fear,” said my aunt, with a wan, unhappy look on her face.


  “Tell my fortune,” I urged, hoping to divert her.


  “You are too skeptical. It would be no use. Besides, I ‘told your fortune’ for my own satisfaction after you left the other day. I already know about you. I have read you in the twelve houses of Heaven.” She was laying out the cards now on the paisley cloth. “I use only the Minor Arcana,” she said, seemingly to herself since she knew I lacked understanding. The pictures on the cards seemed wonderfully significant and suggestive and decorative to me. On the face of each there was a great deal of nudity, like so many drawings of Adam and Eve. It occurred to me that such examples of nudity would not have been allowed in the household that I grew up in. Aunt Gussie gathered in the deck again, asked me to place my two hands on top of the deck, one on top of the other, and after first riffling the cards she shuffled them three times. Then she proceeded to lay out the cards on the table once again. “We use only the cups, the wands, and the swords,” she explained. “You are the Verent, and I am the Reader. You are the Knight of Swords. And today I am using the Celtic Method.”


  At least it was something like that that she began with. What I actually remember most clearly in all this nonsense was what she would allegedly reveal about me. “Ah, yes, I am the Reader,” she repeated, “and you are the Verent, and it all comes out just as it came out when I was doing my Meditation, when I was alone in the room and you and your gorgeous Lila had just departed.” Suddenly she sat very straight at the table and with closed eyes she began to speak in a somewhat more convincing voice. I didn’t then and don’t now know whether she purported to be reading the cards or following mystical insights of her own. At any rate, with her eyes now open, she was mostly staring straight into mine as she spoke. “You are a domineering and willful person at this time of your life. But you will be better later on when you have found your true calling. You would be a poor partner for anyone now, but it will not be so later on. Now you are angry and uncertain about your future. It is because you do not use your imagination. You are moody and have moments of fear about your future. You must come to terms with these negative moods. You must learn to use your imagination.”


  I could not resist interrupting at this point to express further skepticism. “I am afraid the government and the army are using their collective imagination for and about me.”


  Presently she opened her eyes very wide. “So there’s the rub!” she fairly gasped. I made no acknowledgment of her gasp but hurried on to say in a casual tone, “Do you know that I have one early memory of you at our Cousin Annie’s house in West Tennessee? I was there with my mother and Cousin Annie and yourself. Suddenly an empty rocking chair made a slight movement, and you said to Mother that her mother—long since dead of course—had just got up from that chair and set it rocking.”


  “I suspect your mother said,” Aunt Gussie interrupted, “that the chair’s movement was caused by Cousin Annie’s old brick house’s settling on its foundations.”


  “I believe that’s how she explained it,” said I defensively.


  “Well, my dear boy, your mother, too, was a skeptic. And I must tell you that if you don’t learn to use your imagination you very well may lose what you most desire in life!”


  “Do you mean lose that girl Lila, by any chance?”


  “I mean that and ever so much more.”


  Presently she left the table where the cards were spread out and excused herself from the room for a moment. And now she returned with a tray of tea things, and she served us tea from the same orange and black tea set she had used before. “Next time you must manage to come earlier,” she said with a slight suggestion of rebuke in her voice. “And of course I realize now that you must bring your young lady Lila,” she said. I did not know then what I learned later, that she had had a meeting with Lila since our last visit on Sunday. “I want to get to know her better,” she said. “You are fond of her, aren’t you?”


  “I think she is a ‘fantastically good-looking girl,’ ” I said, laughing at myself, intentionally putting a certain crudeness in my voice. But I was really more interested in concealing how I was responding to her probing.


  “And I can see well enough how fond she is of you,” she said, still giving me a very straight look. “It’s a perfect scandal how girls can’t or won’t conceal their feelings.”


  “Yes, I suppose she likes me well enough,” said I, dissembling, unwilling to reveal whatever opinions I might have had on that score.


  “Good. That’s what I want to hear you say, my boy.” But I reflected that she had other things on her mind, too. I felt that she had some evil intention toward Lila. I was altogether mystified. And it seemed to me at this point that after all I did know ever so much about this great-aunt of mine. Suddenly I could hear my mother’s older brother (he, long since dead and in his grave) saying, “She can’t keep her hands out of other people’s business—particularly men’s business. She’s always stirring her witch’s pot in search of trouble.” And presently now I heard Aunt Gussie actually saying, “I wonder how much you know about Lila’s people?”


  I dared not tell her how little I cared just then about what the girl’s people might be like or tell her that marriage was not particularly what I had in mind at this point in my life. I even laughed to myself inwardly that anyone should presume to make any reference to any future of mine. And presently I was struck with consternation by what I then heard this Great-Aunt Gussie of mine saying: “My husband never cared a hoot for what my people were like, either, until he married me! . . . Ah, not that he really came to care even afterwards, either.”


  It was as if my aunt had purposely made this opening for herself—to talk to me or to anyone present—about her own marriage to that Tennessee congressman who died on the floor of the House. “My husband knew only that my people had all got into politics somehow and that was what he longed to get into himself above all else in the world.” This she asserted, leaning forward toward me and resting her elbow on her knee. “He cared only about that. And that’s all he could care about at the time. It was more important to him than anything else in the world. And after we were married there was precious little in my family he could approve of then.” For a moment Aunt Gussie seemed to be waiting to see if I showed any interest in what she was saying. Finally I obliged by asking what it was about herself and her family that her husband so disapproved of. She clearly wanted me to ask this very question. “Mainly,” she began, drawing a long breath, “mainly I guess it was that my people were people that no longer had any money to speak of.” Now she had got round to telling me the things that she had set out to tell and that she had prepared the way for telling. And yet she rambled on as though this were not really what was on her mind. “My people—your father’s people—were cotton people in the old days. That is, before the Civil War they were. And they owned land in the clay hills all over West Tennessee.” This was like all the old rumors I had heard at home. There was nothing new about it, but it seemed more significant somehow coming from her. Now she got up and drifted about the room between the table and two small cabinets and the variety of chairs, still wearing her black hat set squarely on top of her head. It was as if she had really gone into some kind of trance and as if my grandfather’s spirit or that of the dead congressman, her husband that was, and perhaps spirits of other relatives whose names I wouldn’t even recall might easily appear right there beside her. “It was said,” she continued, still roaming about the room, “that our people had a talent—or once had had a talent—for making cotton grow even on the poorest land. But there came a time after our disastrous Civil War when no matter how much talent you had for it and no matter how high the cotton plants grew it wasn’t worth anybody’s while to grow the stuff—at least not out there in the clay hills of West Tennessee and not anyway if you had other talents you could make use of! And we did have other talents we could use—the men in the family, at any rate, did have.”


  Now she was seated again and in her agitation was leaning forward toward me and waving one bejeweled but knotty old forefinger at me like an inverted pendulum. It was as if she were literally trying to hypnotize me, which in fact she may have been attempting and now perhaps without herself being totally aware of what she was up to. “Our men had another talent,” she presently went on, “—a talent for language, a talent for logic—or so they elected to call it. It was a wonderful gift in its way. The gift of gab, their wives more often than not called it. And so our men when they had worn out the land went down to Memphis and they went over to Nashville as though the land didn’t exist any longer and as though land were something mere women could manage, and in those cities our men took to the pulpit or took to the bar and bench. And they became the great preachers and lawyers thereabout. That was what they did after the war. And of course finally there they took up politics, which suited them best of all. And as for the women they could stay at home and be damned, or we could go along with them to Nashville or at last to Washington City and play the fine hostess if we liked. That’s what women were good for. Which is to say, the politician’s female sidekick.”


  Meanwhile, in her bursts of nervous energy, Aunt Gussie was first getting up out of her chair and then sitting down again. “That role of female sidekick I knew from an early time. It was one we all knew and had known since time immemorial. I knew it from a time when, as you have no doubt heard, I used to play a game of hide-and-seek with my beaux in the village graveyard.” Here she laughed to herself rather breathlessly. “Oh, I taught them some lessons! But that’s not when it began for me. It began even as far back as when I learned to show off as a little bitty girl. My papa would call me in to perform for his friends, and I would go on dancing and singing with such enthusiasm that he would at last have to stop me, saying, ‘Let up, Gussie! Let up, for God’s sake!’ For I was too much for Papa and all the men in the family even then! But Papa’s friends would tell me to go ahead, as if it were some joke on Papa for me to behave so. ‘Keep it up, Augusta!’ they shouted out. In effect they said, ‘Show off! Show off! Show off!’ as though through me they could discover what Papa was really like.”


  


  Even before my aunt had pointed out so obviously what the connection was between her showing off as a little bitty girl and as a girl in the cemetery, as well as the role she was destined to play as a mature woman—even before any of that I had begun to see the connection for myself or thought I had begun to see. I had begun to understand or to think I understood this old woman and what she was all about, with her magic and her spiritualism and even her own brand of Romanism. Her reputation for being a good little girl, and then for being a proper young lady, and afterward a virtuous matron and widow-lady had been impeccable and beyond suspicion. Her spiritualism and all that was something outside and quite apart from her ordinary life. Ordinary standards did not apply in that area. It was simply like having a good singing voice or being an accomplished musician on some instrument or other. It made one a welcome addition to any gathering. I understood for a certainty that she, Aunt Gussie, saw to it that her reputation as a female was above reproach. Among her great detractors in the family—including my parents—she was known of course as a busybody, a social climber, even a sometime liar, but her virtue as a girl and later as a woman was never questioned. As the years went by, her means—her funds—were gradually diminished and then she took herself back to Tennessee more and more often.


  I had been told once by one of my older cousins that when she was in a nearby finishing school she used sometimes to go into Washington and spend a weekend with Aunt Gussie. Aunt Gussie would get her a date with some senator’s son or the like. But when hard times came Aunt Gussie had to retrench and move into her tiny, smaller apartment on the back side of the Stoneleigh Court. After that she wasn’t able to keep nieces and nephews over a weekend. She couldn’t afford even to occupy the smaller quarters on the back side, herself, except during the high season in the late fall and early winter. During the rest of the year they allowed her to sublet the small apartment to some politician who liked to have a good address. The Stoneleigh was, however, still a good address—the kind Aunt Gussie thought she had to have in Washington during the season. The rest of the year she would go back home to Tennessee and put up on poor and obscure kinfolks. And that was when, as a boy, I had had my first glimpses of her. She would be staying in the house of first one relative and then another. She would be sitting about the house in all her Washington finery, probably huddled over a wood-burning stove, or lounging on a front porch swing, not helping with the housework, not even making her own bed—according to the colored people about the place—but most often with her pince-nez perched on her nose while she perused the pages of the Washington Star, which she had delivered to her wherever she was currently domiciled. And if you asked her where she might be found during the rest of the summer or early fall or late spring, her reply was inevitably the same: “No definite place of abode. Just visiting around.”


  In retrospect I cannot be sure how much the substance and the impressions that came through to me during those afternoons in my Aunt Augusta St. John-Jones’s flat emerged actually through words spoken or through ideographs artfully presented or some manner of altogether comprehensible pantomime—comprehensible to me, that is. After a while it would seem to me at the end of a session as though I was distinctly waking from a dream in which everything about Aunt Gussie’s life was revealed to me. I had witnessed her ambitious husband experiencing his fatal heart attack on the floor of the House. I had seen her alone in Washington for a time with no one to turn to. It seemed I had seen my senator grandfather take pity on her here in this very room, speaking words of consolation to the young widow, accompanied of course by his wife, my sainted grandmother (for she was always referred to thus), who would herself die soon afterward. And I saw my bereaved grandfather in the room being advised by Aunt Gussie about political matters according to her readings of the cards and later being advised about marital matters according to the signs of the zodiac, with the Senator laughing heartily at all her advice, yet clearly destined—as I somehow understood—to follow her advice even as to how he voted in the Senate chamber, as well as in making a choice of his second and even, later on, his third wife (neither of whom was represented to me very vividly there in my aunt’s little parlor). And both the second and the third were women of great wealth and of the highest social standing in Washington, D.C., which Aunt Gussie duly pointed out. It was not till I had set out for my barracks after a session that I would fully realize to what degree I was falling under her spell. I began to suspect sometimes that she suspected precisely what kind of moments of depression I suffered from and indeed that she knew the nature of my great secret regarding my army registration. When I was leaving her place one afternoon she held my hand between the two of hers and looked at me in silence for a long time. While her black eyes bore into my own I imagined I could hear her saying to me quite distinctly, “I will be able to find a way to help you, no matter what you think.” And when at night I slipped between the sheets of my metal cot it was always somehow a pleasurable sensation to understand that whenever I was under my aunt’s spell I was relieved as by no other means of those periodic periods of depression and dread that possessed me during that visit of mine to wartime Washington.


  


  It was an overcast weekend with intermittent rain when I returned with Lila on another visit to the Stoneleigh Court, and on this occasion Aunt Gussie seemed to pay Lila as little attention as on the first visit. The cards were not in evidence this time as they had always been before. And the arras along one wall of the little parlor was drawn back to reveal a grouping of family pictures. Most of the conversation over teacups today was about relatives and forebears represented there. Aunt Gussie was more voluble than on previous occasions and before long she sent us on our way. During the last minutes before we left I made a point of watching to see if there were furtive looks exchanged between the two women. I expected there to be some reference made to the occasions there had been when I was not present. But no such reference was made. During the next few weeks of my stay in Washington this would happen again and again. Lila would give me sketchy accounts of their meetings and made a point, I thought, of never mentioning anything more precise than the name of the restaurant where they had lunched. And Aunt Gussie made no reference at all to the outing. She never even suggested by word or look that the meetings were taking place. I can say truthfully that their secret rendezvous (so Lila, in her lighthearted way, referred to them) did not disturb me enough for me to make an issue of—not at first, anyway. If the girl and the old lady chose to have luncheons together, which I assumed was the character of their outings, it was of no concern to me. For, as I have indicated, Lila Montgomery was from the outset someone for whom I acknowledged that my feelings did not run very deep. She was a beautiful object which had come into my view on the dance floor at Camp Forrest’s canteen and the innocent view of which continued to offer me great pleasure. Like Aunt Gussie’s pretensions to magic, Lila was a charming distraction from my own morose spirits. From Lila’s very popularity on the dance floor I knew instinctively and in all good reason what sort of girl she in all probability was. She was a “nice girl,” and her vivacity and her charm and beauty and her very niceness itself drew attention from the horde of “nice soldiers” who lined up to take their turns at dancing with her at Camp Forrest and elsewhere. In her “niceness” perhaps she seemed a goddess—more powerful than I dreamed. She was a girl who as yet felt no urgent reason to make a choice amongst her multitude of admirers. And perhaps Lila’s greatest single insight into human psychology was that any soldier who was consistently attentive to her, as I came to be, probably knew just how “nice” she was and probably valued her “niceness” and therefore was to be encouraged beyond the others. Beyond that I did not attempt to plumb the depths of Lila’s psyche. I did not know and perhaps did not care what her deepest, innermost feelings were. Perhaps I had sufficient absorption in exploring my own. At the moment I did not care what it was in her nature that allowed her to permit herself to be drawn into Aunt Gussie’s web of tea parties and luncheons. (Of course I did not reflect then how willingly I allowed myself to be drawn into the old lady’s power.) I did not do so until, one fateful late afternoon at Lila’s usual quitting time, I gave up my usual, aimless wanderings through the circles and along the avenues (with a copy of Carp’s Washington under my arm) and stopped by the bureau where Lila worked and was told that she had been granted permission to leave her desk early that afternoon in order to have tea with her old aunt from Tennessee who, as I was informed, had come for her in a taxi. Somehow it dawned on me only in that moment that I wished to ask Lila Montgomery to marry me. It seemed that I had always intended to make her my wife, but the wish or idea had never surfaced from my subconscious till I looked at the empty swivel chair where I knew she usually sat. And I did not, at the time, myself know whether this represented a sudden surge of jealousy and a resentment of Lila’s responding so readily to my aunt’s intentional and possibly malicious distraction from her interest in me or whether it was merely the result of the long, lonely, miserable afternoon I had just spent in meanderings about the senseless circles and on the mindless and seemingly endless avenues which radiated so arbitrarily from those circles and led eventually to nowhere. But it did occur to me in a flash that love and marriage to this vibrant and sympathetic girl from whose company and very appearance I derived such satisfaction would do more to dispel the unbearable moments of gloom and depression which beset me during the idle hours of the day than could all of Aunt Gussie’s magic. In my mind I set the two against one another in direct opposition. I did so in the precise moment when I must have appeared (to the onlookers in that government office) merely to stand, irresolutely, in the doorway to the little cubicle where I was told Lila was ordinarily employed. But I turned away and out the door from the temporary one-story building wherein Lila’s bureau was housed, there in the greensward of the Capitol Mall. And I then rushed off in search of a taxi, which I certainly was not accustomed to riding and most certainly not accustomed to hailing in traffic.


  And of course it was no easy accomplishment to grab a cab in wartime Washington traffic and particularly in that rush hour I now found myself in. But with my book under my arm I did manage to commandeer one that was caught in a stoplight traffic jam, claiming to the sympathetic driver that it was urgent government business that this particular sergeant was on. He asked me if I wished to be taken by a short route, by which of course he meant a circuitous route that would avoid some of the rush hour traffic. Cutting out of the through traffic and finally on through certain narrow streets in Foggy Bottom he did manage to deliver me at the arched entrance of the Stoneleigh Court in a very short time. It was to no avail, however. Lila and Aunt Gussie of course had not gone there in their taxi. As I would later learn, they were keeping a teatime or a cocktail hour engagement with high-placed acquaintances of my Aunt Augusta St. John-Jones who inevitably of course would reside somewhere much farther up on Connecticut Avenue.


  It was not until the following night and after my own separate and subsequent teatime engagement with my aunt (on the next day) that I would see Lila again. During my afternoon meeting with Aunt Gussie (that next day) at an hour appointed by herself, her show of magic and her exercise of hypnotism seemed somehow frenetic. The paraphernalia of her spiritualism and her apparent religiosity were everywhere to be seen. (I say “apparent” because during the entire span of time I was in and out of her apartment I saw nothing but a few outward trappings of Christianity.) When I arrived this afternoon the arras which hung across the wall where the family pictures were sometimes displayed was drawn as it had been on the first visit. Little charts and various scribblings on note pads lay about the table. Her costume was more exotic than ever before, with a magenta kerchief tied about her head and a bejeweled neckband about her throat and matching bracelets on her wrists. A colorful apron with many pockets was tied around her waist. Actually she resembled a female Mason, if there be such a thing. I believe there was a faint aroma of incense in the fetid air. When I first entered there was certainly some kind of soft radio or phonograph music coming from the room beyond the arras-draped wall.


  She seated me at once in my by now customary chair and said, “There are many souls wishing to crowd in to see you today.” I now took such pleasure in her showmanship and derived from it such utter relief from all my neurotic and depressed states of mind that I made no protest and did not make any inquiry or reference concerning meetings between her and Lila that had been taking place regularly.


  “It is not altogether a blessing to be born under Capricorn,” she began, apropos of nothing except that I was indeed born under that solar house. Next, taking my hand, she asked very earnestly, “Do you mind if I have a quick look at your palm?”


  “Most certainly not,” I said in a mock serious tone. “The fact is, I have only been waiting for you to ask.”


  Before looking at my palm she gazed up into my eyes with an expression of profound pity for someone so frivolous. Then she of course bent her magenta head over my outstretched hand. “What I look for is the answer to how you will ever find your true calling. For I do believe you will have a true calling.” Bending farther and ever closer to my open palm, she muttered, “Ah, you have a long lifeline. I am glad for that. Certainly you will need time.” Suddenly I realized that the hand of mine which I had extended and which she was now examining was visibly trembling. I had no idea of the cause. It was almost as though in the tight grip on my wrist she had touched some nerve there. “You will need a long life to discover your greatest talents. Your palm possesses very deep flexion folds.” Now she lightly rubbed her free hand over my upturned palm. “Your palm for all its flexion folds is very hard and dry. The line of the head is superb, and that of the heart also. The line of the fortune is not so well defined. The mountains of Venus and Mars I do like the looks of. I see wisdom, good fortune, and prudence in abundance. My only fear is for the near future. Venus and Mars may be in collision. There is confusion and uncertainty there. By every sign I see you will finally become some kind of artist. This will come later—much later—after you have known experience. After much experience, love and success and understanding will come—after much traveling and still more experience in the world.”


  Presently I withdrew my hand and let it fall, a clenched fist, at my side. I found myself for one insane moment believing every bit of her nonsense, all that I had submitted to for entertainment and a distraction. And then almost at once I regained my composure and my disbelief.


  The apparitions that Aunt Gussie produced that afternoon in her narrative or by her stagecraft or by her mesmerism—I know not which it was—momentarily made me forgetful of the drabness of my camp life during the previous year and a half and oblivious to my overseas experience which I knew lay ahead of me. I gave myself up wholeheartedly to the phantasmagoria that my aunt served up for my beguilement. My grandfather appeared to me first in the guise of a young man lecturing in the Chautauqua series of the 1880s. Then he appeared as the somewhat older young man touring the back country as an actor in a stock company. Then clearly under the influence of Aunt Gussie he appeared as the occupant of the Tennessee gubernatorial chair. Someone or something had made him change his course and become more seriously ambitious in his career. And at last I saw him in full feather on the floor of the Senate chamber, and delighting that body with his fine flow of rhetoric. Next there appeared my own sainted grandmother, managing to be both elegant and saintly in her suede gloves and her feather-covered hat. There were other members of the family, too, who had been only names to me in anecdotes told by my mother and father. I do not know what my principal feeling was. But I had a strong feeling of the richness of life and the pleasure that was to be had in looking back into things that were unchanging and seemingly unchangeable in the world I came out of. Upon leaving Aunt Gussie’s apartment that afternoon I knew I had experienced what I had now come to expect: delightful flashes that made me wish for the moment to pursue the same rich human endeavors that my forebears had pursued before me and not to die in some Asian or European battlefield and never to know the satisfaction of taking to wife some truly glorious girl that fate had sent my way.


  Now more than ever I knew that I must go right to Lila’s women’s hotel and make my proposal of marriage to her. She met me downstairs in the lobby when I arrived. She appeared to be in especially high spirits. She was in a smartly tailored suit which I knew that I had not seen before and was something that she had only recently purchased. Somehow it was like no other garment I had ever seen her in. Before we sat down in the lobby even, I made her my proposal. She looked at me in utter astonishment for a moment. And she led me to a nook in the corner of the lobby where we could talk without being overheard. But already I had assumed that there was something different about her other than the businesslike blue suit she was wearing—different from the Lila Montgomery I had known in Tullahoma or Camp Forrest. It seems to me now that things moved very fast from that moment. Before we scarcely were seated in our little corner I told her that I wished to marry her before I shipped out for overseas with my unit and that I wished her to at once meet my parents in Tennessee. Closing her eyes, she rested her head on the back of her chair. She commenced shaking her head in a most unhappy fashion. “If only you had asked me a week ago,” she said. “It would have been possible. It would not be possible now.”


  I drew nearer to say, “I can wait. I can wait. I can wait.” I supposed it was my imminent embarkation for the European theater of war that made her think it impossible at that moment. But it wasn’t that. It was not because of something that was about to happen in my life. It was about something that was about to happen in her life. She bent forward resting her little elbows (she had never before seemed so diminutive to me) on the knees beneath her pleated navy blue skirt. She looked directly into my eyes. “It has to do with your aunt,” she said. I felt my face flush. I thought of course of all the queer things I had heard my parents say about Aunt Gussie’s interference in the affairs of young people. Momentarily I supposed Aunt Gussie had introduced her to a more eligible suitor than I. It occurred to me that Lila had been taken to tea and to lunch with the scion of some family like the Posts or the Guggenheims. (That’s how out of date my notions of who the rich people in Washington were—notions handed down no doubt from my grandfather.) But it was not that at all. And it was only now when Lila began telling me what the luncheons and tea parties with Aunt Gussie had been like that I began to have some conception of what Lila herself was like and what there was in the world that would be more attractive in her eyes than would be her intimate friendship with me. I recalled that she had actually left the Tullahoma and Camp Forrest scene rather abruptly. I had gone to fetch her one night at the house of some relatives with whom she was living in Tullahoma and was told that she was setting out the next day for Washington to take a government job which a cousin of hers had found for her. I already knew that she had come originally from a smaller Tennessee town than Tullahoma and she was actually only renting a room from her relatives there in order to be able to take advantage of one of many civilian job openings in Tullahoma and out at Camp Forrest. It had been one night not long before that that I had undertaken to talk to Lila about how boring I found the army routine and about how grim was the prospect of going overseas and how awful it was not to be able to make plans for your life. “Yes,” she said after only a few seconds’ hesitation and smiling rather dreamily to herself, “but I am afraid the war is my oyster. It may be my only chance for something other than this life—something else, though I don’t yet know what.”


  I was too obtuse to see (though surely I ought to have seen at once) or was too much preoccupied with the wonderful good looks of this girl and her charming way with everyone she met. Seeing that we did not agree on this subject I simply hurried to other subjects on which we might find areas of agreement. I know that I ought to have seen significance in her high spirits when I first looked her up in Washington. She was excited by everything she saw in that city and was exhilarated even by the dull clerical work she was saddled with. She certainly said to me more than once that she tried to be always aware of who the higher-ups were—those who came into her office asking for information that only she and the girls working with her could provide. “Who knows,” she had asked herself, “when my efficiency might be observed and I might be shifted to a more important bureau or might even be shipped overseas to the headquarters over there?”


  When Aunt Gussie had seemed not to like her at first, Lila was really not particularly depressed by it. Then when the old lady did after all take her up Lila was perfectly willing to be taken up. On their first outing together Aunt Gussie had remarked that she had observed that Lila was not interested in the sort of family matters that she and I had talked about. She had observed that Lila was not even entertained by the magic tricks she performed there in the little apartment. Lila told me that Aunt Gussie had said to her, “I can see that you have other matters on your mind—more serious matters. And I have to tell you I too had more serious matters on my mind. Perhaps you will say to yourself that it didn’t get me very far. Only as far as Stoneleigh Court—but for a young lady in my day that was farther than you might suppose. But somehow, my dear, one has to bring other people’s attention to focus on what talents one has. And since time began there have been many ways for a woman to do that. I suppose it doesn’t matter which way you choose to do it so long as you keep your self-respect. If you lose that, you may find that you have lost everything. I was, myself, never a really beautiful girl and never a particularly intellectual one. A flirt—no, never that. I was sometimes called the one or the other, but it wasn’t so.” It was as if Lila had memorized all that Aunt Gussie had said to her, knowing at the time even that she would have reason to repeat it all to me.


  “I married early,” my aunt had continued to Lila, “and my husband and I had very soon to face the certainty that he would not live long. I would have done anything, I suppose, to give him an early success or to make his life interesting for him while it lasted. It happened that in Nashville, after we first were married, there was a man named Mr. Ben Allen who entertained the set we travelled in with séances he held in his house on Eighth Avenue. He could hypnotize people very easily and was master of all things occult. He managed to make the dinner parties given at his house more fun than those we attended anywhere else. As we sat about the dining room table he could make everyone—one after the other—imagine that a cat was rubbing about their ankles. Almost by chance I learned that I, using an intense form of concentration, could make the imaginary cat cease to rub about their ankles. Mr. Allen was delighted by this discovery. That is, he was delighted when I revealed that it was I who was providing the interference. He told me that I had real psychic powers. And he offered to instruct me in the uses of hypnotism. It got so in Nashville and later in Washington that I entertained at parties we went to by demonstrating my hypnotic powers, sometimes hypnotizing one of the other guests. It made me very popular in whatever set we moved. And sometimes I would cure the headaches of friends with those newly discovered powers of mine. Even before we left Nashville some friends became dependent upon me for help. But it was not always a happy thing. For a time I cured the headaches of your young man’s grandmother, the wife of the then governor of Tennessee. She and I and our husbands were then living in the old Maxwell House Hotel, since there was no governor’s mansion at that time. I somehow developed such a power over her mind that I could cure her headaches without her being aware of the source. One day I sat on the mezzanine on the opposite side of the hotel lobby from where she was seated. She was sitting with her head resting in her gloved hands, and so I knew she was suffering. Within a few minutes she looked up cheerfully and gazed across at me. It was a very happy moment, but later the Governor learned of it, and he made strong objections to my having such power over his wife. I am not sure that his objections weren’t largely due to powers existing in the person of a woman. Later, one awful time in Washington, I would undertake to cure the headache of my own husband. He told me at the time that I had succeeded, but afterward I was never quite sure it was a simple headache he was suffering from. I was present in the balcony of the House that very morning when he collapsed. He was making his maiden speech, and I was there to hear him. He lived barely long enough for me to make my way down the stairs and push through the crowd of congressmen to his side. He died there in my arms even before a doctor could be summoned. No one ever knew such loneliness as I did in the years afterward. But I was determined to stay here. And I held my ground!”


  Lila Montgomery told me all this as we sat together in the corner of the residential hotel where she lived. But that was not the whole of it. That was hardly the beginning. She did not tell me then what the nature of her other meetings with Aunt Gussie had been. She was presently overcome with emotion and said she must go to her room now. She would tell the rest tomorrow.


  Back in my barracks that night I slept only fitfully. Those moments when I did sleep my head was filled with uneasy dreams and when I lay awake my mind was filled with speculations about the more eligible bachelors Aunt Gussie would have introduced her to. Over the telephone the next morning she told me that on the day before she had actually quit her job in the bureau. She asked me if I would come to her place and go for a walk with her that morning. I went and found her got up in another brand-new tailored suit and in a narrow-brimmed hat of matching material. She looked an absolute knock-out and wonderfully happy. When I came in, she stepped forward and kissed me. It was the first time she and I had ever kissed. She took my arm, leaning on me, and we passed out through the entry and into the dull light of the October morning. I was prepared for her to tell me of the charm and the intellectual brilliance and the aristocratic background of some man that she was now engaged to marry. It seemed that her happy and affectionate manner could suggest only that. “Let’s walk all morning,” she began, “and do nothing but look in the shop windows at women’s clothes—all the way to Georgetown and even beyond.”


  Our walk entailed going a short way up Embassy Row and around General Sheridan’s equestrian statue, past the buffaloes and over the park bridge to Georgetown. I suppose we found some shop windows to peer into, though I don’t remember anything I saw there. After we entered Georgetown we passed several high-ranking military officers, and more than once it was necessary for me to salute them. (Lila could not resist commenting on the smartness of the salutes we exchanged and she giggled to herself, saying she could hardly resist joining in the process and giving a salute herself.) This was the total business of the first part of our walk except for what Lila had to tell me about her lunches and tea parties with Aunt Gussie. It was always some senator or the right-hand man of some senator that Lila found herself in the company of when she went out with my aunt. It seemed that on every occasion the elegant gentleman ended by offering her a job or at least suggesting that he had a job to offer. But Aunt Gussie, without ever being observed by the gentleman, would shake her head significantly at Lila, indicating that what was offered or hinted at was not good enough. But once in spite of my aunt’s head-shaking, Lila burst out with: “Oh, I’d be happy to be the girl in the outer, outer office. And you would be surprised at how little pay I’d need.”


  But Aunt Gussie had quickly come forward with: “Don’t let her deceive you, Senator. You can’t imagine how little interest she has in such a job.”


  While we were in Georgetown, ambling up Wisconsin, suddenly the sun came out from behind the clouds and shone brightly for a very few minutes. But how wretched it seemed to me, how deceptive. It was not the real Washington at all. Yet instantly Lila was saying, “Isn’t Washington beautiful! Whether cloudy or bright! Even the ratty little shops here on Wisconsin!” Then the sun did go under a cloud again. To Lila it seemed the real and wonderful Washington still. “Isn’t it glorious even when it’s overcast!” she persisted.


  “But you were to tell me something,” I reminded her, with a persistence of my own. “I suppose it’s about why you have quit your job?”


  “It is about that and about something more,” she said with enthusiasm. “You see, I want so to be somebody who matters. Your aunt has introduced me to any number of people—people of considerable influence and importance, and quite a few of them have suggested that I might do for a job in their office. And finally there has come one that I cannot resist, one that is sure to open up bigger and bigger things for me, into worlds that I want to be in. I am afraid that you have never understood what an ambitious creature I am. It’s my future I am wrapped up in, and I am afraid I can’t give myself to anybody else while that is the case.”


  I looked down at her in utter astonishment, which must have been written on my face. Lila reached out her hand and rested it on the sleeve of my army jacket. “I am sorry, dear, if I have misled you about what I am really like,” she said softly. I suppose it could not have occurred to her that I was most astonished at myself for having perceived so little of what Lila Montgomery really was like at all. But I quickly got hold of myself and said a number of silly, consoling things—consoling to her, though not to me. And I even thought that I saw a mist of tears in her eyes when I looked at her. I think neither of us was sure at the moment just how deep or how shallow his or her feelings were. I cannot be sure even now. We walked on up Wisconsin, as far as the cathedral. Lila asked me if I would like to go inside the great edifice and see the work that was still in progress there. I said that I could see it another time. I could not concentrate on the small talk that she and I were reduced to making and could certainly not have given my attention to the details of the cathedral under construction.


  Finally we turned down Massachusetts Avenue and would eventually find our way to Lila’s hotel. Before we reached there we found little left to say to each other. What a waste the furlough in Washington seemed. It accomplished nothing really but to reveal the difference in our two natures and how unsuited we were to each other. Only in retrospect would I realize what we each had been thinking about during the hour that we walked together. In retrospect I would feel sure we each had been thinking of my aged aunt, Mrs. Augusta St. John-Jones.


  Only moments before we parted in the entrance to her hotel she quite suddenly spoke to me, speaking as though in our silence we had been having exchanges on this subject as we walked: “Your aunt, you must understand, never once spoke of or made reference to any of her magic business when she and I were alone. It was for you alone that she reserved all that.”


  “Me alone she condescended to dazzle,” I said, “because I was a mere man—only an overgrown child as all men are to her.”


  “No, not at all,” she corrected me. “Or at least your language is much too strong. It would be fairer to put it another way. She can see you are a person of imagination. And she sees I am an ambitious, literal-minded little chit, not worthy of her fireworks.” And with that Lila Montgomery blew me a kiss and disappeared through the revolving door at the entrance to her women’s hotel.


  Perhaps such thoughts occupied me for the whole of my last two days in Washington. During those days I moved about not in my usual drifting fashion but seemingly with a purpose. On those two days I viewed the real monuments of the national capital, those one is supposed to see. I saw the interior of the Washington Monument, I saw the Spirit of St. Louis in the Smithsonian, went through the principal art museums, saw the work in progress at the unfinished cathedral, viewed the Lincoln Memorial from a great distance and then from within, saw a portion of the White House, and paid a hurried visit to the Capitol. When at the end of the second day I went by appointment to my aunt’s apartment I of course reported what I had seen but made no mention of Lila. Nor did my aunt mention Lila’s name. We spent an hour together, talking family. Just as I was leaving, she asked me if I had seen the Hall of Heroes that used to be in the basement of the Capitol. When I said that I had overlooked that, she insisted that we meet there next morning at ten o’clock before I took my train back to Tullahoma. We agreed to meet on the steps at the east entrance to the Capitol.


  And there she was just on time, at the foot of the vast flight of steps, climbing out of a taxi. She was dressed very becomingly in a light polo coat and a jaunty hat. I had never seen her in such high spirits. She waved her little gloved hand to me as she turned away from the taxi and then ran up the broad steps like a young girl. It occurred to me immediately that it was being here at the Capitol that excited her so. We passed inside and went directly down to the rooms that housed the statues of heroes selected from the histories of all the states. Reaching down into the collar of her dress she produced her lorgnette and stooping a little now and then she would read the name and dates of each hero. Finally she insisted that I go a few steps ahead of her because she wished to read the inscription beneath each bust or statue. I wandered on, rather absent-mindedly, studying the stone faces and the stone garments of these heroes. Then, feeling I might seem rude and not properly appreciative, I turned back to join her. But she was not in sight. I began searching behind each piece of sculpture. I hurried up and down the long hallway, but she was not to be seen. Presently I was running up and down, calling out to her, “Aunt Gussie! Aunt Gussie!” There was no answer. I searched out a guard and asked him if he had seen an old lady such as my aunt. He neither nodded nor shook his head, only looked at me with pity. I went back to the wide portal which we had entered at the foot of the stairs. Then I ran up the stairs and on through the halls and passages to the east entrance. She was nowhere to be found. She had disappeared. She had purposely gone off without me. Then at last it came over me that that was what she had planned. This was how she wanted us to part. There was nothing I could do to change it. There was not time now for me to call her at her apartment and make my noon train. And so, not returning to the Hall of Heroes, I shouldered my duffel bag and made my way over to the Union Station. I kept telling myself as I hurried along that I would call her or write to her when I got back to Camp Forrest, but already I knew I wouldn’t do that and imagined that Aunt Augusta St. John-Jones and I had said our last goodbyes. And once aboard the train to Tullahoma I found myself looking forward to seeing my soldier friends back in camp. It was they I yearned to be reunited with, rather than my own family. I longed to feel myself one among them. I wanted—I was determined—to forget the Washington furlough. As I sat with my duffel bag by the day-coach window I kept asking myself why this “temporary assignment” had been such a failure and such a fiasco. Was it my awareness of the war and a prescience of the role I was to play in it? Was it a vestige of a childish yearning for a magic that would constitute a cure-all for whatever troubled me? Was it merely the atmosphere of wartime Washington? Was it perhaps a simple case of disappointment in love? In any case, whatever the grimness of army life, I was going to that hiatus of real life, to a life where personal problems did not absolutely have to be solved, to where problems were solved by commands or unanswerable authority. I imagined that military authority and the war itself would last forever.


  II


  It was now three years after the war ended, and I was an acknowledged veteran and casualty of said war, still trying to sort out my own dismaying—and very nearly fatal—experience which had followed our unit’s D-Day landing in Normandy. During the intervening time few thoughts had crossed my mind concerning that episode in Washington. For the most part, it all seemed literally quite unreal. And only now, when I had begun to recover from what the doctors euphemistically termed my “long invalidism,” did I again hear someone speak the name of Lila Montgomery. Even now I did not take the trouble to make inquiries into what had actually become of Lila. For the time being, I was living at home with my mother and father down in Memphis, and I made a practice of not going anyplace at all where I might conceivably be recognized—recognized, that is to say, as the kind of war hero which during the intervening time and to my great discomfort I found myself to have become.


  For the most part I saw only two friends during this period. And these were not among my oldest, closest friends. They were, rather, two young men who had had experiences similar to my own—not in the war itself but still earlier and with regard to their registration with the Draft Board at the beginning of the war. I cannot now say for sure that this significantly or intentionally was the case or whether perhaps it all occurred just by chance. At any rate, one of these friends, it may possibly be remembered by an attentive reader, was a man named Alex Mercer. The other was Alex’s longtime friend Phillip Carver, and so it may well have been that they both were attracted to making my closer acquaintance by their special sensitivity to the predicament I found myself in at this point. On the other hand these two contemporaries of mine may unconsciously have lent themselves to my support without themselves fully understanding their own motivation. Anyhow, the case was that during the first months after I was released from my two-year stay in the army hospital and when I had first returned to Memphis the acclaim and the adulation that then became mine constituted a painful experience for me. And this was due to certain well-publicized exploits attributed to me by army communiqués on the first day after the Normandy beachhead—exploits for which my memory still even till this day presents a perfect blank.


  Everyone in Memphis now knew, of course, that at the beginning of the war I had first listed myself as a conscientious objector. And this would only add luster to my image as the war hero I had now been acclaimed. I had no difficulty in recognizing the pleasure people took from the irony of my situation. For I all too well remembered the excitement generated (ten years after the First World War) by any public appearance of Sergeant Alvin York or by that of Colonel Luke Lea. The identity of the former is well known, of course. The latter was a Tennessee man who had led a party trying to capture Kaiser Wilhelm after that famous ogre fled to Holland at the end of the war. As a boy the exploits of both these men had seemed to me well worth celebrating. They remained Tennessee’s two principal war heroes from 1917 until the Second World War, and now my own story whetted the public’s appetite for another such hero. As a child I could accurately recall both those men and had myself participated in the adulation they received. I even once shook hands with the famous Colonel Lea when riding on an elevator with him in downtown Memphis. My father had recognized him and took that opportunity to introduce the two of us. On another occasion I was taken on a twenty-mile ride over rough country road—by an uncle of mine who lived on the Cumberland Plateau—to hear Sergeant York address the congregation of a country church.


  For a time my only experiences with the present-day Tennessee populace were barely less remarkable for me than those men’s experiences had been a generation earlier. Once while riding an escalator—I believe it was in Goldsmith’s Department Store—I was spotted by a group of school-age boys riding upward on a parallel escalator. I of course heard their exclamations to each other about who I was and what I had allegedly done in the war. And I saw them presently begin running up the upward moving flight and saw them squeezing by people on the downward flight I was riding. Suddenly I took fright and myself commenced squeezing past my own fellow passengers until I had in short order reached the first floor of the department store. Then I ran out through the crowd and pushed through the revolving door and on out onto the sidewalk. When presently I went scurrying up an alleyway toward Front Street I saw two wooden sawhorses blocking my route and workmen digging up patches of the pavement. I also observed at once that a line of pedestrians were carefully making their way around either end of the sawhorses and through the narrow passageway between that impediment and an adjacent building. With no hesitation I took on greater speed now in the direction of the street blockade ahead. And when I had made my way past the workmen and the sawhorses in my path I was astonished to hear a generous round of applause from the onlookers. It was applause for me! I might have assumed their applause to represent only the great good nature of Memphis citizenry in general except that simultaneously I heard my own name being called out above the applause. They had recognized their hero!


  During that first year or so after the war I was often so recognized and applauded wherever I went. The schoolboys on the escalator failed to overtake me that day, and the pedestrians did not pursue me. But as I came out on Front Street I spied a bench in front of one of the cotton offices and found it necessary to drop down there to rest. I found it necessary because even in the last moments after I turned into Front Street and with a glimpse of the waters of the Mississippi River not far ahead, myself panting and sweating as I certainly was (though it was not by any means a hot day), I experienced a flashing image of a certain steep path beside a green hedgerow in Normandy and with a similar glimpse of the English Channel just over a slight rise in the land. It was an image or scene which periodically presented itself to me after any moments of emotional excitement or after any strenuous physical exertion of almost any kind. But after that flash of memory there was nothing more. And there never could be more—not ever. Beyond this there was nothing in my memory till I woke many days later in an English hospital tent. What my acts of heroism had been, remained for me to discover from chance remarks I heard dropped from other soldiers who came upon the scene and from accounts I uncovered in old newspapers.


  


  When I was a boy no older than those boys who had sighted me on the escalator I had already by then commenced my own brand of hero worship. My choice of those heroes or non-heroes was, I am sure, a response in some degree to the conventional and decidedly bland mentality of my parents—and indeed of all members of our family except of course my Great-Aunt Gussie, whom I then knew of course almost entirely by representation alone. Both my parents always spoke with a certain condescension of Sergeant York and his “untutored, hill-country, plain-people” background. And despite the fact of his having so famously brought in a horde of German prisoners, my father was apt on all occasions to remind one that Sergeant York had begun his career as a conscientious objector, which was intended on Father’s part to show how little understanding that country boy had had of what the world we live in is like. On the other hand, though he had been a political enemy of my grandfather, Colonel Luke Lea was generally spoken of at home with all due or undue respect. Despite the total failure of the escapade in which he and three fellow officers took over a command car and raced off across the Dutch border to try to capture the Kaiser, and despite the later scandal regarding his later business practices, and despite even his spending a period of time in a North Carolina jail as a result of those practices, I was required as a child to speak of him with the same respect I would have spoken of any other adult and certainly any other “gentleman.” And that day when my father introduced him in the elevator I observed that my mother, whose father it was he had “betrayed” in politics, turned her back on the Colonel and on the rest of the ride upward behaved not only as though he did not exist but as though Father and I were complete strangers to her. It was all a curious business to me, and I often thought of it when I had first come home a hero of a kind from my own war. During this period I took an interest in discovering just what kind of endings these men’s lives had come to. I learned that Sergeant York lived out his life in the region of Tennessee known as the Highland Rim and died in the very cabin where he had been born. And Colonel Lea of course had gone on to distinguish himself as a showoff of a predictable kind in the world of business and high finance and had died of old age in the comfortable house of his estate near Nashville, only two or three miles from where he had himself first seen the light of day.


  


  * * *


  


  By the time I came home from overseas my two parents were now in their midsixties and like so many people who have reached that age, they were especially sympathetic to anyone of their acquaintance who was a decade or so older than themselves. Soon after I got home they began receiving word from their relatives that Aunt Gussie Jones, still living in the Stoneleigh Court up in Washington, was in a bad state of health and could not be expected to live for many months. After a while my father began urging me to write a line to the old lady. But he asked in such a casual way that I didn’t imagine for a moment that he really wished me to do so. It was only his way of saying that he no longer had any interest in communicating with the likes of Aunt Gussie. I had no thought of writing her myself, of course, and without explaining why, I laughed rather nervously at the very idea. I had been in such low spirits after that visit to Washington and before my subsequent embarkation for overseas and the combat ahead for me that I had not given my parents an account of my adventures with Aunt Gussie and had scarcely ever mentioned the name of Lila Montgomery. It was only after I had been home for nearly two years that I heard her name mentioned by my mother.


  I had not known for certain whether Mother knew the name of the girl I had gone to see in Washington. She gave me no indication. I can only suppose Aunt Gussie had mentioned it to her in a letter. It was a good many months later that I heard her, in passing, mention Lila’s name to Father. Again I made no acknowledgment of my acquaintance with her—and certainly not that of any romantic interest on my part. I had by this time been having dates with Ruthie Ann Sedwick, who was a cousin of my friend Alex Mercer’s. I had met Ruthie Ann while she was baby-sitting Alex’s two children when his wife was in the hospital giving birth to a third child. I suppose it was the power of suggestion that made me begin to imagine that Alex Mercer’s way of life, with his steady job and his growing family and his clear intention of putting down roots in Memphis, might be the way for me to go. The truth is, though, I made no mention of Ruthie Ann’s name to my family either. I do believe that I loved my parents very dearly, but I had long since ceased to confide anything of a very private or delicate nature to either of them. Ever since the days of my stand on the matter of conscientious objection I had been convinced that there were many matters on which we could never understand each other and that should never be brought up for discussion. The fact is that from early childhood I observed that there were areas in which there could be no understanding or agreement between them and me. And until the war came along I had always assumed that in every instance they had been right and that I, through perversity and ignorance, had been wrong. For instance, at the age of four or five I had gone to Father at Easter and said that I had seen Mother hiding eggs in the grass and shrubbery and that I therefore no longer believed in the Easter Bunny. Father had quickly assured me that I was mistaken and that my mistake must remain a secret between him and me. And in fact I never again raised any questions on that score. It may seem incredible, but once at Christmas when I was seven or eight (after I was of school age at any rate) I saw Father filling the stocking I had hung on my bedpost at bedtime. When I reported this to my mother she took a similar line to my father with regard to the Easter Bunny. She said she was sure I must have dreamed it and that events in dreams sometimes seemed more real to us than real events. Once when I came home from Sunday school, during those years, I announced to my older sister that I didn’t believe the story of Christ’s resurrection was a true story. I said I could tell from the Sunday school teacher’s tone of voice and from the look on her face that she did not believe it for a minute! My sister flew into a fury of rage against me. She said that I ought to be ashamed of myself and that if I knew what was good for me I would never say such things in the presence of our parents. I followed her advice and in the future kept any such thoughts to myself. . . . At the age of eleven I was sent to a summer day camp for boys. In the shower room at camp I had felt humiliated by the discovery of a difference between me and all the other campers. I was the only one of that group of boys who had not been circumcised. At the end of the summer I went to Father with considerable embarrassment but with firm resolution, and requested that the same operation be performed on me. At first I thought his sudden blushes meant that he was angry, but after a moment he spoke to me very gently. “I believe most of the boys at that camp of yours,” he said, “must be of the Jewish faith. It is a matter of faith to them, and you must not wish to be like them in that respect.”


  


  After I had been home from the war for somewhat more than a year Father received a long-distance telephone call from Washington—I can only suppose from subsequent events that the call was from Lila Montgomery herself—informing him that Aunt Gussie was to be removed from her hospital in Washington to St. Joseph’s Catholic Hospital in Memphis. He was told the date and hour of the train’s arrival and that she would be accompanied by both a “trained nurse” and by none other than Lila Montgomery herself. The call had come to Father’s office on a weekday, and that night he told us no more about it than that. I received this news—along with Mother and my sister Agnes—and I had far less to say about the prospect before us than did anyone else present. I was unwilling to commit myself to showing interest either in my aunt or in Lila. That night I was to take Ruthie Ann Sedwick to a neighborhood movie, and I resolved not even to mention the matter to her. My sister Agnes was going to a country club dance with her fiancé, Hubert Madison, and I knew that she—and my parents when they went up to bed—would repeat a good many times the kind of remarks they had made at the dinner table before going upstairs. Their remarks there had consisted mostly of speculation about who had made the decision to send Aunt Gussie home to Tennessee to die. As for me, I had had a flash of insight at the very first moment of Father’s revelation of his news. And, strangely enough, the flash came not from any previous understanding of Lila’s character when I had known her in Washington but quite extraordinarily from a sudden foresight, a stunning unexplainable prescience of what Lila had become since I last saw her. I was not aware of having given much reflection to changes that might have taken place in her character since we parted in Washington. I know only that something deeper than thought or reflection had transpired somewhere within my being that informed me that if she would turn up in Memphis I must not expect to see the girl in the single strand of pearls and the hand-knit blue sweater and the pleated skirt and the neat low-heeled shoes. Nor was I to expect her to appear in such new clothes as she had put on just before she sent me away to the war. The sudden flash told me only as much as that about what not to expect in the Lila Montgomery who would come escorting the sick person which I knew Aunt Gussie now to be. This insight of course seemed to reach me through processes and channels that would not ordinarily be open or available to a young man of my sometimes unobservant and for the most part unintellectual temperament. In this instance my head—or I might even venture to say my heart—made associations and induced deductions and drew upon farfetched comparisons that it would never perhaps be able to do again. In a word, I knew that Lila Montgomery would be something different and mean something different from what she had been and meant before. And now for the first time I understood or perceived that nothing in this world would ever again be or mean what it had been or meant before the day I crept on my hands and knees along that path beside the hedgerow at the beachhead in Normandy.


  


  When Lila descended the steep little flight of steps from the Pullman car to the platform in the old Union Station at Memphis there was a party of seven of us to greet her—or rather present to meet Aunt Augusta St. John-Jones. Word had gone through the whole family connection that Aunt Gussie was on her way. Besides my parents and my sister Agnes and myself there were three cousins of ours whom Father had corralled into meeting the train. Two of the cousins were young men of my generation, to whom I bore some slight resemblance. These were nephews of my father’s. The third cousin was a youngish spinster of an age somewhere midway between my own and my parents’. Her name was Andrea Lomax, and she lived alone in an old-fashioned apartment house on Cleveland Avenue where she had grown up with her family. As Lila Montgomery stepped down onto the footstool that the porter had provided I presently realized that only I of the family members gathered there would be able to recognize her. As a matter of fact I was not at first sure it was she I beheld on the metal steps coming down from the Pullman car. Even when she had stepped down onto the wooden railway platform I was not certain it was she. There was a crazy moment when I thought perhaps it was the rather plump nurse following behind her on the steps who might be she. Lila was so greatly changed that in that moment prior to my certain recognition of her she might have been any one of the half-dozen women following close behind her on the steps. And when I did recognize her for a certainty by the familiar grin that now played on her lips I became equally certain that during another moment Lila Montgomery was not at all sure which of the three young men in civilian clothes and endowed with a decided family resemblance was he whom she had known at Camp Forrest and in Washington. At some moment, however, she did become sure—perhaps only at the moment when I stepped forward to take the piece of hand luggage she carried and to place a kiss on her forehead. Or perhaps it should be put the other way around, for it was the kiss on the forehead that I had first in mind, and I am afraid it was a sort of Judas kiss—intended to let the rest of the family know who she was. The fact was, moreover, that once I had planted that brotherly kiss on Lila’s forehead—or rather once, as it seemed to me, she herself was certain that I was who I was—she suddenly came up on her tiptoes and placed a kiss on my lips of a kind I most assuredly had never before received from her either at Camp Forrest or in Washington. In retrospect it seemed to me that our affair in those earlier days had been almost entirely platonic. Under present circumstances this kiss of Lila’s was no less than alarming. For my most pressing concern at that moment was not for Lila but for Ruthie Ann and the serious turn her and my conversations had recently taken. I felt myself instantly withdrawing from this kiss of Lila’s as though I recognized what it might suggest about her behavior and perhaps the general style of her life nowadays. And then during the moment of the kiss I heard the jolly little trained nurse behind her saying, “So this is why it was necessary for us to bring Mrs. St. John-Jones out here to a Memphis hospital.” Then she gave way to what we all very soon came to recognize as her own characteristic burst of staccato laughter. And when presently she was introduced to me by Lila and I asked her how my aunt had borne the journey she suddenly looked very solemn and replied that she was afraid that Aunt Gussie had not borne it well at all. And carefully looking directly at me and possibly avoiding Lila’s eye she asserted somewhat gravely, “I fear undertaking such a journey has been too much for your aunt.” Then she added solicitously to me, “Would you care to come aboard the train and see her? She’s still in her berth in the drawing room.”


  Lila Montgomery had now descried at some distance up the platform a stretcher cart being rapidly wheeled along in our direction. She commenced waving with both hands at the stretcher bearers. The stretcher was clearly something she had ordered when setting out from Washington and hence was now on the lookout for. As she hailed the stretcher bearers with a certain authority, I glanced back at the assembled family members and was somewhat taken aback to see that none of them had yet come forward. Rather, they struck me as standing there still in open-mouthed amazement, so to speak, at the remarkable warmth with which I had been greeted by the good-looking young woman who had just stepped off the train. Perhaps this was only something I imagined, but it made me gesture with some impatience for all the group to come forward.


  When I had introduced them all around, my spinster cousin Andrea Lomax touched my arm and said, “Don’t you think you and I might go aboard and greet the old lady? I remember her very well from the old days when I used to go in from Miss Madeira’s and stay with her at the Stoneleigh Court.” And then Andrea turned to Nurse O’Neill (for so the attending nurse would presently refer to herself) and asked her permission to let the two of us board the train and enter Aunt Gussie’s drawing room accommodation. In response to this Nurse O’Neill shrugged her shoulders in a most offhand fashion, saying in an exaggeratedly indifferent manner (so it seemed to me), “You may all of you go ahead if you like, though I am afraid she won’t know any of you from Adam’s house cat! For she is not at all herself.” Notwithstanding this chilling response, Andrea presently climbed aboard. And I soon followed after her. I suppose I did so partly because I wanted time to adjust my thoughts to the ardor of Lila’s kiss. As we went along the little passage that ran alongside Aunt Gussie’s drawing room I heard Andrea Lomax ask querulously from over her shoulder, “Is that young woman someone you met in Washington during the war?”


  To this I heard myself reply noncommittally, “More or less I did, Andrea,” making it plain to this elder cousin of mine that it was distinctly none of her business where I had known “that young woman.” For I was perfectly aware that this spinster cousin had observed the amorous nature of the kiss that Lila Montgomery had bestowed upon me when she stepped off the train. At the door to the drawing room Andrea hesitated and gave me a quick look that said we must be prepared to expect almost anything once we got inside and which suggested somehow that she herself had some old scores to be settled with this mutual aunt of ours.


  The face of the old creature that presently peered out at us from under the sheet in the made-up drawing room berth bespoke nothing less than absolute terror. Presently now Andrea, to my delight, was addressing the old lady in the gentlest and most reassuring voice imaginable. But in response the dark, hollow eyes and near toothless mouth gave no distinct sign of recognition. The eyes seemed to stare right through the both of us, as though we were perfect strangers, or as though she hadn’t the power to summon up whatever memory of us she might once have had. But after a time Aunt Gussie very distinctly spoke the name “Lila” as though that were now the only name that could mean anything to her. Simultaneously we heard the stretcher bearers first stumbling along the passage and then bumping against the open door to Aunt Gussie’s compartment. To make way for them Andrea and I at once backed out into the first Pullman section. Through the window out there I had a glimpse of Lila Montgomery speaking very effusively to my mother and father and to other members of the family. Seeing her so engaged with my parents and my brother and sister suddenly all seemed like a confused dream to me: this admixture of people thus appearing from different moments and in different contexts of my life! And certainly no less confusing was the subsequent emergence from the drawing room of my little aunt, now supine on the stretcher and being wielded into the passage by two white-clad and rather pudgy young men and attended by the resplendent Nurse O’Neill, who had now joined forces with them. Andrea and I remained by the Pullman section window long enough to see the stretcher appear on the platform and be carted away by the vehicle waiting there. The cluster of family members could hardly have got more than a glimpse of Aunt Gussie as she was wheeled by. She must have appeared to them, as she had to Andrea and me, as little more than a corpse. Nurse O’Neill and Lila Montgomery, hurriedly calling out instructions to the family group gathered there about the disposition of their luggage, went running unceremoniously after their departing charge.


  


  And yet next day when I was taken to see Aunt Gussie at St. Joseph’s Hospital, allegedly at her request, she seemed—upon my entering the hospital room—almost her very same wizened, black-eyed self, even with the gypsy scarf tied about her old head. She greeted me quite familiarly, like someone who might have been near and dear to her for many years. “Come in, you young rascal of a war hero!” she exclaimed in that memorable, husky voice of hers. It said worlds to me! Somehow at the moment it seemed to tell me all I needed to know about Lila and Aunt Gussie and how close they had become and how much they might have talked about me—especially in recent months. Yet even before this first exclamation of hers was quite uttered, her voice began to trail off into what was at last little more than a whisper. It became immediately apparent to me that the hardy tone she had at first affected was done only with the greatest effort and could not be sustained for more than a few moments at a time. She seized my hand between her own two hands, which for all their old appearance of transparency were like steel in their grasp. Then she began again in a voice that would once again trail off into a whisper: “You young scamp you, you see I have hunted you out in the wilds of West Tennessee in order to return your ‘fantastically good-looking girl’ to your safekeeping! I think you will find her worthy of the war hero that you have become.” So saying, like some child in a school play who has spoken its only allotted lines and then out of utter exhaustion has gone into a near faint, my Aunt Gussie slumped into silence and simultaneously released my hand from her steel-like grasp. Lila Montgomery was at that moment standing near me beside the high hospital bed. It was she who had this morning summoned me to my aunt’s bedside in the hospital, and the thought occurred to me even then that Aunt Gussie had conceivably memorized those spoken lines in order to oblige Lila Montgomery, though it seemed equally possible that my aunt had done so in order to satisfy some deathbed scheme of her very own.


  


  From the moment on the previous day when, out on the railway platform, I first heard Nurse O’Neill’s burst of staccato laughter an uneasy feeling began developing inside me. I had felt some force at work within me that I knew I had best take note of. Perhaps it was Nurse O’Neill’s unbecoming girlish irony, more than her laughter, that had alerted me to imminent danger of some sort. At any rate during waking moments of that night’s sleep her words more than once rang in my ears: “So this was why it was deemed necessary for us to bring Mrs. St. John-Jones out here to a Memphis hospital to die?” And now at Aunt Gussie’s bedside, with Lila beside me and Nurse O’Neill just opposite, it was easy to imagine myself trapped in a nest of armed combat troops—all of them appropriately outfitted with spiked helmets and war gear of the most threatening kind. Though I did not in any literal sense do so, it might have been tempting to try to equate this moment with that other moment when I alone had allegedly held off a horde of Huns similar to and equal to Sergeant York’s own. But despite any battle shock or other permanent disability I had suffered I yet had more fundamental wisdom in my nature than to give way to such images. In the first place I knew with all certainty that that memory was forever blotted from my mind. And I had too much respect—of almost the religious variety—for all under Heaven that is blessedly blocked from human memory and particularly for those horrors blocked from my own consciousness and the memory of events never to be recalled on that hillside above the Normandy beachhead—such non-memories being truly like the battle dead who had been left behind in that place—too much respect, I should emphasize, to allow me to think even momentarily of equating it with such a prosaic and pathetic scene as this at St. Joseph’s Hospital. And true though it is that certain war correspondents and certain official military observers have since given relatively accurate accounts of what occurred that June day in 1944 and of the role I myself played among the hedgerows on that hillside, still in each case the journalist and the military narrator needed for his own purposes that which only I could supply. Of course I have not necessarily had to believe in the truth of their accounts. As I have read them I have gone along with said accounts (it has been a “learning experience” for me) because since I do not remember anything, I cannot therefore deny anything. For my own peace of mind and sometimes out of vanity I have accepted as truth all that I have seen put in writing. There have been moments when to deny anything at all would seem to deny everything and to have begun a great unraveling that might have ended I know not where. I therefore can deny nothing except in ridiculous instances like the present when I am tempted to make some petty and ignoble comparison between the present unworthy events and events of those heroic moments which all the world will continue to believe in and consider so until the day when I can truthfully make a denial.


  


  That first day on the railway platform it must have at some point been decided where Lila would reside during her stay in Memphis. The only detail I can recall is that when leaving the Union Station it happened to come to my attention that Lila’s two rather large pieces of luggage were placed in the trunk of Andrea Lomax’s navy blue sedan. At noon on the second day of her stay in Memphis I received a telephone call from Lila requesting that I might be so kind as to fetch her in one of my parents’ cars and take her out to dinner that night. Andrea was being very hospitable, Lila’s old familiar voice assured me, but it would surely seem an imposition for her to turn up there for dinner every night. Besides, said that charming voice whose every engaging quality now rang familiarly in my ear, there were certain matters that she and I had to discuss.


  At this very period in my recuperation from my bad war experiences my relations with Ruthie Ann Sedwick were becoming more and more intense. My immediate reaction to Lila’s call was that either I had to break my engagement with Ruthie Ann that evening or somehow arrange to include her in any plans I might make with Lila. I decided that any version of the latter would be too awkward. And as I might well have predicted, that dear girl Ruthie Ann Sedwick was ever so understanding about the problem I was faced with. I scarcely needed speak of it. She seemed immediately to comprehend the whole situation. It was as though she said to herself, “Of course there must have been a girl in Washington, and what could be more likely than that she should accompany his Aunt Gussie on the train? Probably they became acquainted through his aunt.” And how different this was from Lila Montgomery! During the first days after her arrival I would several times make a point of mentioning Ruthie Ann’s name to her. She seemed deaf to the very sound of it. Until nearly the very end she would seem willfully unaware of Ruthie Ann’s existence.


  As a matter of fact it was Andrea Lomax who proved not so understanding. For the evening ahead she had prepared a rather elaborate dinner for herself and her house guest, during which I must suppose that she, as a curious-minded old maid, intended to extract whatever information Lila and I were concealing about our acquaintance. But Lila had overlooked telling her about our other plans for the evening! Andrea, though obviously disappointed, commenced insisting that we both of us stay on at her place for dinner. But Lila was adamant, insisting herself that it was too much of an imposition on Andrea. Afterward, I fear, they were unable to make it up between them. As a result, on the following day, Lila rented a small car for her own use, though actually she would make little enough use of it. She did, however, continue to occupy her room at Andrea’s place for the duration of her protracted visit to Memphis, but she took her meals elsewhere.


  As I followed Lila out through the entry doorway that night at Andrea’s I saw Lila give a quick glance backward into the front room of the place, and her expression seemed strangely familiar to me. I could tell that she would prefer not to be coming here again. But I perceived too that it was somehow important to her to be staying with a member of my family. But clearly what was equally or even more important to her was that she and I should have this first evening together and entirely alone. The expression on her face was familiar to me but was assuredly not one that I could thoroughly have comprehended at an earlier time in our acquaintance. I read in it now a purposefulness about her that would have entirely eluded me at any previous time.


  Yet when Lila and I dined together later that evening I recognized in her demeanor a cheerfulness and charm that would have seemed actually foreign to her nature in my former acquaintance with her. No semblance of the old pouty expression showed itself at any time during that evening—or at any time later, for that matter. That whole pouty business was obviously something left over from the personality of the child Lila Montgomery had once been. Neither was there now any evidence of the mixture of the once companionable and always impersonal feeling that had formerly marked her personality. Most striking, though, was the absence of the old mobility of facial expression which I had noted the very first time I saw Lila on the Camp Forrest dance floor nearly five years before. I became aware of this absence tonight first while introducing her to two casual acquaintances in the restaurant and again when merely hearing her place an order with our waitress after we had been seated at our table. The change in her manner—the rigidity of it—had been noticeable even in such passing and casual exchanges. And it now seemed, in retrospect, that a change had been apparent to me two days before on the railway platform in the Union Station. It seemed to me that she had greeted my mother and my father and the other members of my family with approximately the same at once rigid and effusive manner that she had used just now while addressing our waitress in the restaurant. Above all, it was the peculiar mixture of rigidity and effusiveness of manner that most distinctly set the new Lila apart from the old. There was a oneness in her way of addressing people now where once there had been great shades and distinctions at hand for everyone.


  But equally distinct was her way of dressing nowadays. There was something I kept referring to (only to myself) as her high style. There was the different era we had all moved into—men and women alike—and there was of course the difference in Lila Montgomery’s present age. She had seen a good deal more of the world now—even there in wartime Washington she had, even in Washington which somehow always manages to give one the feeling of being in a bit of a backwater. One felt that she would not willingly have been seen nowadays in one of those outfits she had purchased when she went to take up the new job that Aunt Gussie had found her—much less in one of the little blouse-and-pleated-skirt “sets” she had arrived in Washington wearing. Without having a lot more interest than I could reasonably have been expected to possess in such matters it wasn’t easy for me to put my finger on what the principal difference in her “look” was. What I finally settled on by way of close observation was that she no longer on any occasion wore a hat. I had noticed her hatlessness almost the first moment she stepped off the train. There was something I didn’t like about it from the outset. It made her seem quite undressed in a way that I could never like. I believe I noticed too from that first moment when she stepped off the train that there was something different about her very carriage. Rather, I should say, there was something so altered about how that young woman stepping off the train at the Union Station “carried” herself that at first I drew a perfect blank. She manifested such “manner,” such “presence,” such consciousness of her own consummate good grooming that I quite frankly could not identify her as any person whom I would have been likely to make friends with in the past. Even the bestowal of her ostensibly passionate kiss seemed somehow so studied a performance that I doubted anyone else—not even Aunt Gussie if she had been able to witness it—could have believed it one more whit than I had. And someone with Andrea Lomax’s suspicious nature would inevitably have suspected that things were not quite what they seemed.


  Perhaps the most astonishing thing of all was the wardrobe that even I wouldn’t be long in discovering Lila had brought along for her Memphis sojourn. The two large pieces of luggage that I had seen thrust into the trunk of Andrea Lomax’s car must have been jam-packed with countless frocks for Lila to deck herself out in. (And perhaps there were other frocks to be shipped separately.) Already on only the second night she had appeared in three different garments, and during the remaining ten days of the visit she was destined to appear in as many ensembles as there were days. Ill equipped as I may be to judge such matters, moreover, I could not but compare habiliments of this present wardrobe of Lila Montgomery’s and those I recalled from former days. Gone were the frilled frocks and shirtwaists that once had seemed so becoming to the young girl from Tullahoma, Tennessee, or even to the office worker in wartime Washington, D.C. Now she was all bright silk prints with low necklines and rather heavily ornamented bracelets and necklaces. There was nothing, to be sure, suggesting extreme bad taste, but there was everything that such a one as I could recognize, without knowing quite how I recognized it, that was part and parcel of the post–Second World War world that Lila Montgomery and I and everybody like us had lived on into. That was what she was or what she seemed like to me.


  


  After dinner we sat and talked for a while about Aunt Gussie. It seems her illness had come on quite suddenly. For a year or longer she had existed almost entirely on a diet of raw eggs, which had seemed adequate and even thoroughly satisfactory until six weeks or so ago. Then she had begun to weaken. Lila Montgomery was sent for by Nurse O’Neill. Lila had not seen the old lady for two or three weeks before that. But she had always kept in fairly regular touch with her, visiting her almost on a fortnightly basis. This, in fact, was what struck me as most surprising. In whatever few thoughts I had about the matter it had never seemed likely to me that their friendship had been a continuing or in any sense an intimate one. Above all, it had never crossed my mind that Lila and Aunt Gussie together would have read accounts of my own Normandy exploits in the newspaper or that I could have risen to the rank of hero in their minds. And regardless of that it would never have occurred to me that Aunt Gussie might have kept a firm grip on her relations with Lila. But apparently this was the case. It came out presently, though with Lila’s making only passing reference to it, that once Lila Montgomery had accepted her first job through my aunt’s auspices, she reported to her on the progress in her career with what I would consider an unnatural regularity. When Lila told me about this I immediately and to my own dismay somehow visualized her seated at the card table opposite my aunt there in Aunt Gussie’s tiny Stoneleigh Court apartment. I saw her leaning over a deck of tarot cards laid out on the table there. More clearly even I saw her participating in some sort of séance under Aunt Gussie’s direction, caught up in a trance, as it were, and revealing to the old lady every detail of her work where she was currently employed. . . . But this was only the stuff of my imagination, of course. I cannot be sure of what the scene was like. But I did learn how frequently Lila had made a habit of reporting to the old lady’s apartment and sometimes, incidentally, reading to her from the daily newspaper. And I do know that when Aunt Gussie was taken ill and she was sent for by the frightened nurse, Lila had just then taken a new job at some different senator’s office. And I do know that on the following day Lila resigned from that new and rather important job she had taken and had at once begun making plans to bring Aunt Gussie down to Tennessee.


  When the telephone message reached her Lila had been greatly alarmed simply by the fact of a professional nurse’s having been called in. She hurried to the taxi and rushed over to the Stoneleigh Court. She found it reassuring when Nurse O’Neill revealed herself to be not only a Roman Catholic but even someone who took a considerable interest in Aunt Gussie’s spiritualist concerns. Nurse O’Neill had acted as companion and nurse for another old Catholic lady during her final days, one who had resided in the apartment adjacent to Aunt Gussie’s. Upon the death of that neighbor lady my aunt more or less inherited the services of this good Catholic nurse, who also brought along with her a devout Catholic doctor. Lila saw at once that Aunt Gussie was in good hands and according to her she might not have renewed her old interest in me except that from the outset Aunt Gussie had talked incessantly about me and the great fame I had acquired as a war hero.


  All of this came through to me while Lila sat talking after dinner that first night. What did not come through to me so clearly was whether it had been more Aunt Gussie’s or perhaps Lila’s wish that the old lady be brought back to Tennessee. Lila at no time made this quite clear to me. I had either to try to imagine my aunt whispering to Lila from her sickbed that she wished to be removed to St. Joseph’s Hospital, in Memphis, or imagine Lila urging such a removal when she and Aunt Gussie conferred during the wee hours of the night. In any case I got the distinct impression that during a number of sessions held between them just prior to this one the two women had been almost exclusively concerned with the news of my having been awarded the Medal of Honor for my great exploits on the beachhead at Normandy. And it was this subject that occupied the two of us during the last hour of our talk that night in the restaurant. We talked until most lights had been put out in the little restaurant and until in fact we were told by the proprietor, in the politest Memphis way, that it was his closing time.


  Lila really began this last part of our talk by inquiring of me if it were actually true that I had begun my army career as a conscientious objector. At first I thought she was going to take me to task for never having told her about that. To my surprise, she expressed her great delight and approval when I confessed to her, which struck me as quite ironic in view of the pains I had once taken to conceal the very fact from her. In my mind I could not resist comparing Ruthie Ann’s indifference to what my status had been upon first entering the army with Lila’s curiosity and her belated delight in it. And without my making any reference to it Ruthie Ann had seemed to sense from the first afternoon we met at Alex Mercer’s house that I could actually remember nothing about the much heralded events at Normandy. It was something that between the two of us we were destined never to mention. When the subject arose in the company of others, Ruthie Ann would quietly turn away and busy herself with other matters. Presently it became clear to me that Lila’s delight and approval were predicated upon my having become a war hero. Twice before I finished I had to describe to her my alleged exploits in greatest detail—all of which I had learned by rote, of course—our landing at Normandy and my reputed capture of two dozen German soldiers. I have to say that at first my manufacture of this memory was a considerably easier fabrication than when I had once found the necessity to conceal from her my role as a conscientious objector. I had by this time read so many accounts of how I had held off a whole company of Nazis and made prisoners of the two dozen of them that I now had no difficulty in picturing the adventure in my mind—how I had been crawling in the slimy earth behind the dense hedges there and taken the men one by one as they came out from a low brick archway—an archway so low they had to stoop to pass under it and so were caught off guard by the steel ring of my carbine, which kept firing away just inches above their heads—how the stupid krauts kept coming, as though they themselves were being fired from some automatic weapon, kept coming through that low archway in a peasant’s barn till some one of them could see they were being made the captives of some low-ranking Yank, at which point they all more or less stampeded backward into the maze of cow stalls in the already roofless dairy barn, how I held them together there till I got some kind of relief from my cronies and then must have fainted away and struck my head on one of the barnyard stones. . . . But even before I got to that last part Lila had leaned across the table, seized my face in her beautiful hands and planted a kiss on my lips, and insisted that I repeat the whole fabricated account once again. It was as though she were looking or listening for some flaw that would give the whole thing away. But I did not betray myself. By now I had repeated the story so often to my family and friends that the hardest part had come to be making myself remember not to believe in my own pretended memory. At first I had had to labor at remembering that I actually remembered nothing. This was necessary to get myself released from the hospital and from the doctors that surrounded me—overseas at first and later back in this country. Pretending that the memory had come back to me was the way I could regain my freedom! And once I had returned to my family, the myth of my heroism became an even more profound necessity. Most wonderful of all, my unremembered heroism freed me from the old shame of having been a conscientious objector. I spent so many hours thinking about my old secret and my new secret that at last I could not fail to speculate about what secrets other people kept. Perhaps it was only a way I had of consoling myself. What secrets did my mother and father share? And what secrets did they keep for a lifetime from each other? What awful secrets had they kept about Aunt Gussie and about their own parents and about my own brother and sister and my spinster cousin Andrea Lomax? I realized perfectly how childish all this seemed, how like delayed doubts of childhood and puberty it was. Yet from the day I returned home from the war, nursing my secret—my “blankness,” as I came to call my state of mind—it was always with me. And it seemed the worse somehow because it was a secret nobody else could possibly know—not for certain, they couldn’t.


  It was past midnight when Lila and I left the restaurant on Front Street. We walked down the cobblestone embankment and up Riverside Drive toward Mud Island and the New Bridge. Lila had begun to talk about the time we spent together at Camp Forrest and after that about those weeks in Washington. As we walked she hung on to my arm and pressed herself very close against me. And she talked about those earlier days in most romantic and sentimental terms. She had a very clear head and remembered everything we had ever said to each other. But somehow it always came out different from the way I had remembered it. She spoke as if we had been real lovers from the beginning and had parted only after a little spat and a lovers’ quarrel. She even spoke of that last long walk we took through Georgetown as though it represented a lovers’ parting. At last she looked up at me and said, “Let’s go back to Andrea’s! She’ll be wondering if we’re going to be staying out all night.” And so we got in the car and headed back to Andrea’s apartment at Crosstown. When I had parked at the curb in front of Andrea’s complex and after Lila already had her right hand on the door handle beside her she leaned way across the seat to kiss me on the cheek. It crossed my mind that that meant “good night” and that she did not even want me to see her to the apartment door. It struck me for a moment that she was, after all, the same old Lila Montgomery I had known at Tullahoma and in Washington. Then as if she had changed her mind—had had it changed for her by some power outside herself—she relaxed her grasp on the door handle and asked, “Won’t you come in for a while?” I was out of the car almost at once and stood on the other side holding her door open for her. Her change of heart—or mind—seemed irresistible to me. She seemed so like the old Lila on the dance floor at Camp Forrest. And we approached the front entrance on tiptoe, pretending we were afraid of being overheard and giggling at ourselves like two schoolchildren.


  There was only one table lamp left burning in Andrea’s living room, as an indication no doubt that she had retired. We lingered in that room for a very few minutes—not speaking, while sitting very close beside each other. Then it was as though she had another sudden change of intention. Taking me by the hand, she led me back to the bedroom she was occupying at the end of a narrow corridor. She closed the door behind us, and now of course it became evident what her intention was. It became clear, moreover, that she was making no effort to conceal what we were about from my cousin Andrea Lomax in the adjacent room. There was no softness about the way Lila closed the bedroom door, and to speak plainly there was no effort to stifle the sounds of brutish lovemaking to which we would presently yield ourselves. What would afterward strike me as most extraordinary about this scene of fornication was not the evidence of my own gross wartime experience in the realm of casual sex (shocking as the present instance of it might be to me) and not even the convincing, the indubitable evidence as there clearly was of the similar experience by Lila Montgomery during the three or so brief years she spent working in the bureaus of wartime Washington, D.C., but rather other matters that pressed themselves more deeply on my consciousness when the episode had passed. When finally she had left the bed and had gone in unabashed nakedness to contemplate the streetlight just below and outside the window, I felt myself compelled to think of how driven she, throughout our lovemaking, had seemed by some other desire or some other power than her own.


  For both of us it had seemed a mechanical and most unnatural performance. It had nothing to do with the two people who had once been intimately or affectionately acquainted. It seemed to me that we were now much more by way of being strangers to each other than we had been an hour before. More than anything else I felt the great intervention of some other power. Stupid as the idea struck me, it seemed momentarily that the war itself had intervened. And I was further distracted by another thought or impression. Could it be that Lila had consciously or even subconsciously wished to have Andrea Lomax overhear the noises we made tonight and identify the sounds? Was Andrea the other power or presence that I felt? While whispering good-night to Lila at her bedroom door and simultaneously thinking perhaps I had detected a light under Andrea’s own door I even found myself wondering if there could have been some collusion between the two. But at once I thought better of this. And in the days that followed I came to think it almost a certainty that Lila had wished above all—or someone else had wished it—to place herself in the domicile of one of my relatives. It would have been a matter of strategy with her. Or had it perhaps been a strategy worked out between herself and Nurse O’Neill? It had even occurred to me that Nurse O’Neill had been the other power I had to deal with.


  


  In the upstairs hall of my mother’s house there was a curio case displaying all the various medals that had come my way in the war—down to the good-marksmanship and even the good-conduct medals. Mother was fond of saying of course that she valued the good-conduct above all others, adding piously that without that it was likely none of the others would have followed. She was speaking half in jest when she made this remark, as she was about half the remarks she ever made. When she made an opportunity to take Lila upstairs to see the curio case with my medals, Lila’s wry comment had been that she herself valued the good-marksmanship medal above all others and it was likely that without that medal none of the others would have followed. This was a comment that Mother was not afterward able to forgive Lila, maintaining that it was too much like something our Aunt Gussie might have said. Perhaps Mother’s half-pious, half-ironic note seemed to her within the bounds of old-fashioned convention and good taste, whereas with Aunt Gussie the measure of what was beyond those bounds was ever in doubt. Perhaps it was a fine line which my own masculine sensibilities could not grasp.


  On the day after Lila and I had gone to Andrea’s place, Lila arrived in the morning, self-invited, for breakfast at our house. And she would do so in fact every morning during the rest of her visit. She would arrive each day wearing a different dress, as I have already indicated. My mother and my younger sister, Agnes, were genuinely admiring of the rather brilliant ensembles she appeared in, and I am afraid they never failed to comment on this. I do not think that either of them meant to imply that Lila was dressing so for my benefit, or at least that either of them would for a moment have acknowledged as much to herself, nor do I think they were being critical of such bright, dressy colors being selected for a trip such as this one to Memphis. I think it was more likely an acknowledgment that these hues represented a particular kind of bright print now available and fashionable in Washington which, alas, was not available and fashionable down here in Memphis. Be that as it may, Mother on one particular occasion spoke to Agnes of how much these prints were like those once long ago affected by Aunt Gussie Jones. She said this in Lila Montgomery’s presence, and I immediately saw Lila’s face become diffused with blushes! It was as if for Lila there had been one too many references and comparisons made to Aunt Gussie. Though nothing was said about it by any person present, and though the blushes vanished almost immediately, I believe notice was taken by everyone—even by my father, who was also present though not previously taking a part in the conversation. Anyhow, it then struck me for the first time that in the eyes of all my family Lila was a veritable reincarnation of Aunt Augusta St. John-Jones and that Lila herself was somehow aware of this. I don’t know at what moment or moments members of my family first received such an impression. Perhaps it was just after Lila stepped off the train from Washington. There was no physical resemblance between the two, of course, but there was, as my mother might have said, some sine qua non about her that bespoke Aunt Gussie herself. (My mother’s speech, like that of other genteel ladies of her generation, was full of such Latin phrases and expressions, which she still retained from boarding school days.) It occurred to me at this moment that the great change I thought I had noted in Lila constituted nothing more or less than this influence on her of my aunt’s personality. In any case, I had confessed to myself that my relatives observed this and articulated it among themselves well before I did.


  One of my first observations about my parents after my return from overseas was that they showed far less interest in relatives, whether near or distant, than they had done before the war. Until news came of Aunt Gussie’s illness her very name had scarcely been mentioned since I reappeared in Memphis. The old days that my parents had talked so much about in my boyhood were not often mentioned. Even old-maid cousins like Andrea Lomax were not often seen in our house, and the young men cousins who turned up at the train station—those two who looked so like me that Lila could not be sure which of us three might be the real me—even they had to be “contacted” by my father and forced to make an appearance at the station.


  And in retrospect one felt that my father and mother and my sister had wanted the cousins present so that they themselves would not feel solely responsible for Aunt Gussie’s care and well-being once she reached Memphis. And after the first day or so I was the one member of the family who turned up regularly at St. Joseph’s Hospital. It might also be remarked that from this time none of my old boyhood friends was very much in evidence—none of those who as boys had hung about our house so regularly as to be considered almost members of the family; instead, only old would-be fellow conscientious objector friends Alex Mercer and Phillip Carver, and intentionally or not, my two parents always had difficulty in distinguishing who of these was who. Very soon Phillip left Memphis (without telling his family he was going) and went to live out the rest of his life in New York City. But even then Father was ever apt to address Alex as “Alex-or-Phil, whichever you are.” It was as if ever after he and Mother lived in a kind of limbo and declined to try to connect either past or present with each other. Somehow I could not tell whether they were still more in a state of shock from my having signed up as a C.O. or from my having returned as a war hero. Perhaps it was neither. Perhaps they were simply two people who had reached a time in life when the past and the future seem equally unreal and undistinguishable from each other. Such a time comes eventually for every man and woman. But in this case it may have been only the war because for some sweet-natured people the mere existence of the war itself was sufficient to disorient them forever.


  The fact was, my parents’ life together seemed to me every day that passed more and more a secretive affair—altogether unfathomable to me. It seemed the two of them agreed on nothing under the sun, and yet I cannot recall their ever having spoken a disagreeable word to each other. Their peaceful coexistence was one of the great mysteries of life for me. But I have to insist that it was but one of the great mysteries. I seemed ever less able to comprehend the lives lived by those around me. I found myself constantly trying to remind myself why my two good friends, Alex and Phillip, had taken on the role of conscientious objectors. I always remembered why I had done so. It had simply seemed absurd to align oneself with men bent on killing other men who similarly had no reason for killing me. But I actually saw no reason why my two good friends—or anyone else—should necessarily feel the same as I did. But feeling as I did about this, it did not seem strange to me that I should let myself forever forget the men I had killed or captured at Normandy. And it was no easier for me to explain the one than the other. Yet there was one matter that disturbed my peace of mind as nothing else had ever done. I was not so much disturbed by my having thus casually taken Lila to bed—or permitted myself to be taken to bed—as by our having revealed to each other how accustomed our wartime lives had made us to such affairs. And I was considerably more disturbed by the great desire I felt, despite the awful mechanical quality of it, to repeat the performance we had allowed ourselves there in Andrea’s spare bedroom. It was the continuing desire that made it torture for me for several days afterward and that made me wonder again and again about the callous feeling that now possessed me.


  On the day after the evening I spent with Lila I went, before doing anything else, to see Ruthie Ann Sedwick. It was not in order to tell her what had happened the night before that I went to her. I wanted simply to stand in her presence and try to discern what my own feelings would be when she and I stood face to face. I found her in the basement of her mother’s house, where she was experimenting with some tomato plants that she had pulled out of the ground by their roots the night before, this being in the fall of the year and at the time of the first frost. Ruthie Ann was a serious amateur horticulturist—not a mere genteel lady gardener—and she had read somewhere recently that if she hung her tomato plants upside down from her basement ceiling the fruit would continue to ripen without rotting. She had told me about this a few days before, and so when her mother had directed me to the basement this morning I was not surprised to find her so employed. She began at once to expound theories on why her plants were not doing so well as she had expected. I didn’t listen of course. I could attend only to what my own feelings were upon seeing her this morning. My feelings about Lila did not seem to exist. That is, what had occurred to me the night before seemed to have no bearing on the present moment or on the undeniable love I had come to feel for this girl I had met by chance.


  I had been seeing Ruthie Ann so regularly these past weeks that my dropping by like this was hardly anything out of the ordinary. I had even worked with her some in the big vegetable and flower garden, which was in a fenced-in vacant lot adjoining her mother’s bungalow-style house there in Crosstown Memphis. Admittedly, what had appealed to me about her was her motherly posture and her beautiful patience with Alex Mercer’s young children. There was an almost perpetual smile on her generous mouth, as though she were mildly amused not only by the Mercer children but by almost everything else that came her way. She had an adequate sense of her own dignity, yet when I had brought forth from my father’s garage the motorcycle I had had since early boyhood she had not scrupled for one second about hopping on behind me or being seen riding all about that genteel old neighborhood, which was still there in Crosstown in those days. I believe she was always without personal ambition or vanity—more than anyone else I have ever known. Her father had died when she was still a small child, and Ruthie Ann seemed content enough to continue always living there alone with her mother, running errands for the old lady as though she herself were happy to be perpetually occupied by that and by reading aloud to her mother, who rather surprisingly had a decidedly highbrow taste in modern fiction. Neither she nor her mother ever expressed an interest in my having once registered as a conscientious objector or having afterward been hailed as a war hero. The only emotion Ruthie Ann would ever show in the latter was a kind of mild amusement. And even from our first meeting I felt that she suspected that I could not remember anything about my exploits at the Normandy beachhead. Best of all, perhaps, I sensed from the beginning that Ruthie Ann had not the normal quantity of secrets in her own life. As well as not caring to ferret out whatever secrets I might have.


  When we were talking a while that day among the upside-down tomato plants, suddenly I found myself stepping forward and then leaning among those upside-down plants to embrace for the first time this girl I knew I had fallen in love with. Just as I was kissing the smiling mouth she turned up to me I heard the footsteps of her mother on the basement stair just behind me. She approached not seeming to take notice of how we were occupied and assuming certainly that it was not the first time we had so occupied ourselves. She fairly stumbled upon us as she made her way over the heap of tomatoes lying on the cement floor and commented ever so casually that we certainly had picked an awkward place to so engage ourselves. I was so amused and charmed by this that I could barely resist turning and embracing Ruthie Ann’s mother herself. But, having received a telephone call from Lila just before setting out on my motorcycle, I had now to return to my house and exchange that vehicle for my mother’s more suitable sedan in order to fetch Lila Montgomery from Andrea’s place to take her to the hospital. As I hurried out of the basement I had heard the two of them, mother and daughter, laughing together at what they must have supposed to be my sudden embarrassment. As I rode my motorcycle home I could only think with pleasure of how wisely these wonderful women had waited the war out, making their garden, reading their “highbrow fiction,” closing their ears to the noise of the war, insisting in their ways, as only women could really do, on a conscientious objection to the war.


  


  Lila was waiting on the front stoop of the apartment house when I pulled up at the curb. She was got up in yet another bright print dress—worn underneath a short navy jacket, it being a morning in late autumn. She wore no hat and had on a pair of shiny navy blue gloves that matched her low-heeled shoes as well as a flat purse under her arm. I believe I had noted every article of clothing before I had pulled up to the curb, even the smooth perfection of her silk stockings over her knees and her slender crossed ankles. I said to myself frankly that she would appeal to any man who ever lived and I was lucky she had not been snatched away before I got there. She remained seated on the stoop until I stopped the car, and then pushing back the fold of her glove she flirtatiously cast her eyes down at the tiny watch on her wrist. I was thirty minutes late! But in the blink of an eye she had sprung up from the stoop and rushed forward to the car, and sticking her head through the driver’s window she gave me one of those impassioned kisses that she seemed to have discovered since the days that I first knew her. Still standing with her head pushed inside the window she said, “You know, don’t you, that I’ve really come out here to Memphis to fetch you back to Washington with me!”


  And I thought, “My God, I believe she really has!”


  I drove us on to the hospital, again thinking mostly of what a power she was and wondering how conceivably I could ever do other than what she would tell me to do. And simultaneously I had begun wondering once more what was the source of the power she possessed or which seemed to possess her these days.


  


  And that’s how mostly it was for me during the two weeks that lay ahead. Though Lila had leased a car for her own use in Memphis, she called our house each morning, requesting that whoever answered the phone give me the message that she was ready to go to the hospital. It seemed little enough that someone from our household should escort her to and from St. Joseph’s since Andrea was putting her up at her apartment and since after the first few days no one from our family was taking the trouble to visit Aunt Gussie at the hospital. Sometimes I would go with Lila to the door of the old lady’s room. But usually I would only peek through the open door and maybe whisper good morning to Nurse O’Neill. Several times I crooked my finger and beckoned the good nurse to come to the door and give me a report on the patient. Once I asked her where she herself was staying. She laughed her familiar staccato laugh and said, “Oh, the nuns are taking good care of me”—said it in a way that somehow made me doubt that was really the case. If I asked how her patient was doing she would always frown and say, “She can’t last long.” Aunt Gussie had never slept well the night before and that was why she was always sleeping soundly when I stopped by in the morning. “She never wants to see anybody except her niece there.” (That’s how she always referred to Lila.) She always seemed to want to put me off. “And all she asks of the young lady is what kind of ‘time’ she’s making with you.” Then of course Nurse O’Neill gave her staccato laugh, and I took this as my signal to leave. Before I went up to the room, though, I would already have asked Lila about my aunt’s condition. She would only shake her head and quickly change the subject. We would be sitting together in the cafeteria before we went up to her room, with me smoking a cigarette and with her sometimes holding my hand between the two of hers and smiling at me fondly. It was so often that way. I never slept with her again, though. I was spared that. But I fetched her from the hospital every afternoon, and I had always to take her somewhere for a spot of supper. I asked her out of the clear one day how long she thought she would stay in Memphis. She answered casually enough but with some certainty, “Oh, I’ll be here till she’s gone.” She was always cheerful when I picked her up at the hospital entrance and always leaned across the seat to give me a kiss but it got so we didn’t try to talk much. If she pressed me to do so, I would tell her one more time what it was like in Normandy. But we never talked at all about her life in Washington. She seemed to remember nothing about it.


  I never had a clue about what might be going on in Lila’s mind or about how to account for her persistence until one day when I ran into Nurse O’Neill in the hospital corridor. And I cannot be sure that it was by chance we had that meeting. The first thing I knew was that she and I had literally bumped into each other and had turned in the corridor. Instead of laughing in her usual way the woman wore a deadly serious expression on her face, and she stood there as if intentionally meaning to block my further progress along the passage. I smiled at first and then I frowned, trying to read the significance of her standing there so. At last she said, “I don’t know how long she’s going to last.” Of course I took her to mean how long Aunt Gussie was going to last. “She’s having a hard time of it,” she went on, “and I don’t think you quite understand.” It began to dawn on me that it might not be Aunt Gussie Nurse O’Neill had in mind. But I didn’t want to give my idle thoughts away.


  “You think my aunt might be very near the end, then?” I asked obliquely.


  “I don’t know about your aunt.” It was as if she had decided to bolt and have done with it. “It’s Miss Lila Montgomery, I mean. I don’t know how long she’s going to last.” She stood silent for a moment. It was almost as though she had changed her mind about bolting.


  “You mean Lila’s been under such a strain,” I said, myself clearly implying more than I said. If she were going to bolt then I wanted her to go ahead with it.


  “The old lady’s got her under some kind of spell.” She came very close to me and actually spoke in a whisper. “I think she’s going to crack under it if you don’t help her. Anyway, I can’t help her. She’s gone too far.”


  And before I could speak again she had swept off down the hall and through what I took to be the lab door. Only after she was out of sight did I realize she had been carrying some kind of plastic bottle or bedpan. And it occurred to me that that had only been her feeble excuse for hurrying along the corridor. And after she had passed through the swinging lab door she was immediately followed by two forbidding old nuns whose pace and deliberate hesitation so intimidated me that I did not follow her. Moreover, I stood there a moment in dazed reflection. I could not decide whether or not there might be collusion between Lila Montgomery and Nurse O’Neill. At last I decided I could not take the chance of being the dupe of such plotting. It was midmorning now, and I was due to pick up Ruthie Ann for lunch.


  By the end of that week I was accustomed to having lunch every day with Ruthie Ann Sedwick and my two other meals—along with a couple of teatimes—with Lila Montgomery. As a matter of fact it was pretty nearly established that Ruthie Ann and I would regularly lunch together at home with her mother. Our lunch was not systematically nor on any principle planned as a vegetarian meal, but that’s what it amounted to. It somehow was what their whole life was like. Nothing was generally based on any system of principle. Their bungalow was just a house they happened to be living in at the time of Mr. Sedwick’s death. There just happened to be a vacant lot next door wherein they could plant a garden during the war years. When they could no longer afford to operate an automobile, they simply happened to be situated conveniently on a streetcar line and later a bus line. They merely happened to have inherited a cache of good clothing from a well-to-do late aunt. They planned nothing. They expected nothing. Everything simply came their way. “It’s because we are so good,” Mrs. Sedwick jested. “It’s because we want so little,” Ruthie Ann added a little more seriously. It was why they had been able to remain at peace with the world when everyone else had been going along with the babble—even taking advantage of it. And I had come upon them only just before it would have been too late, only just before the worldly Lila would have swept me up into her arms and made a national celebrity of me, the unknown war hero, made a national advantage of my nonheroic deeds in the great world of D.C., where it might matter most. What I recognized was that there just might be time for me to save myself.


  But I had just enough feeling about Lila and the consolation she had once seemed to offer me that I knew I could not utterly reject the use she wanted to make of me now. The only defense I can make of my behavior after this point is that I did not speak of Lila and Ruthie Ann to each other—did not tell the one about the other. Every day there was the same leisurely lunch in the Sedwicks’ bungalow, and each morning and night Lila and I ate together at a different little restaurant or joint. If Lila and I talked at all she wanted it to be almost exclusively about the “happy” times we had had in Washington or the “happy” times we would yet have there when “all this” was over. She refused to reveal whether or not Aunt Gussie was now in a coma. Lila’s talk became ever more frenetic, ever persistent on the subject of our “happy” past times and future times together, interrupted by occasional references to my exploits in Normandy at the beachhead. On the two or three occasions when my parents dutifully dropped by the hospital, Lila received them in the waiting room and assured them that it would bring “no satisfaction” for them to see her now. From her conversation with me there was no positive indication of my aunt having her under “some kind of spell.” And yet once it had been suggested by Nurse O’Neill I could not altogether put the idea out of my head.


  


  A combination of events at this time suggested to me that nothing in the world could seem better to me than to get married to Ruthie Ann Sedwick—and to do so at once. She agreed to go across the river with me to Arkansas, on Saturday morning, and we were married by a justice of the peace over there. We both had grown up in Memphis, and since our early teens we had known a number of people who had made that decision and, in varying degrees, had been very happy about it afterward. It seemed the most natural thing in the world to do, and I suppose that was why we felt so good about it. We told neither her mother nor my parents but enlisted a young couple who “happened” to live next door to the Sedwicks—and who “happened” to need to go over to Arkansas to buy some whiskey—to accompany us as witnesses. Ruthie Ann’s mother seemed awfully glad about it and at once began removing certain superfluous items from the guest room, which it was agreed we, the bride and groom, should occupy. At my parents’ house, to which we took the news, the announcement was received without the raising of an eyebrow, and the same thing was true there of my younger brother and sister, who presently, barely stifling yawns, took themselves upstairs—presumably for afternoon naps. I think my father would not even have put down his afternoon paper if Mother had not specifically told him to. Mother herself smiled rather blandly and tried to say with some warmth that they had only just been waiting for us to “name the day.” They made no reference to my having breakfasted and dined out with Lila Montgomery every day during the past two weeks. And it seemed to me in retrospect that when I had appeared at breakfast that morning and mentioned to them that I might have Ruthie Ann with me for dinner tonight they had scarcely acknowledged the information. It struck me now that likely they had not taken notice of my absence during the past three weeks or so.


  It was while Ruthie Ann and I stood there burdening my parents with our non-news that I heard the slamming of metal against metal and heard the breaking of glass on the pavement of our driveway outside—the merest tinkling sound it must have been—seeming momentarily to reverberate throughout my brain and throughout the whole of the big house—upstairs and downstairs—in the most uncanny way. Simultaneously from the placid throats of my two parents came expressions of such shock and in such volume as could not ordinarily have seemed justified by the slight clatter we had heard from outside. And then also simultaneously and quite beyond any natural explanation I could think of there came from above stairs the resounding footsteps of my somewhat younger brother and sister as they leapt from their beds in the rooms where they had been napping and presently came bounding down the staircase and subsequently on through the open doorway to the front living room. By the time my two parents and those siblings of mine together reached the front windows of the house, the recent and upsetting noises in the driveway had become self-explanatory.


  Without so much as a glance out any window I somehow—and without any natural explanation of the phenomenon—seemed to know precisely the source of the noise. I could not then and cannot now tell you how I had identified it, but I knew that it was the sound of the front bumper of Lila’s little-used rental car colliding with the rear bumper and the left rear light signal of Mother’s own sedan—the one which I had just used to transport Ruthie Ann and me to Arkansas and back. It will be said that I could not possibly have made such an identification without knowing more of events which had transpired earlier that afternoon, but I contend that there are events so inevitable in their sequence that persons in a certain state of mind cannot disengage either the sequence of cause and effect or any concatenation of the events. And from this point forward in this narrative I will not be held responsible for explanation or interpretation of events that follow with seeming mystery one upon the other.


  But this I know for a fair certainty. Lila had left her vigil at my aunt’s bedside earlier than was usual for her on this Saturday afternoon. Whatever had been her plans for the rest of the day, when she reached Andrea Lomax’s apartment house on Cleveland Street she found her two pieces of matched luggage placed side by side on the front stoop with a note tucked under one of the leather straps. No doubt she had perceived this note there under the strap before she even got out of the car and no doubt the unattended luggage on the front stoop must have struck her as an ominous omen. Without any formal address or preface the scribbled note had read simply: “Away from town for ten days. Trust you can find quarters elsewhere. A.L.”


  Whatever frame of mind Lila had been in before that, she could not have been in the most placid spirit when, with no other place to go, she lugged her baggage into the rented car and headed for my parents’ house. In view of the little use she had previously made of this car, having been transported mainly in my mother’s sedan, she couldn’t have been altogether familiar with the mechanical operation of the vehicle she was driving—could not have been aware of how soon or how powerfully to apply pressure on the foot brake. One could imagine, moreover, that the sight of the car parked in the driveway, in which she may well have supposed I had been chauffeuring Ruthie Ann about all this day, may have caused her temporarily to lose absolute control of the car she sat behind the wheel of. It will doubtless be noted that I have carefully refrained from making any suggestion that Lila Montgomery purposefully rammed the one car into the other. But at my first sight of Lila she was already, without stopping to assist in the damage that might have occurred to the car, striding across the paved driveway and up the steps to the wide, tiled front porch of the house. It was my luckless younger brother who stepped forward and opened the plate-glass front door. And as he did so he could not resist exclaiming in a joyful voice that reached Lila at the top of the front steps: “Brother and Ruthie Ann have got themselves married!”


  Lila in utter astonishment halted outside the open front door. It was as if she waited there for him to speak again, and to make certain she was right about what she thought she had heard. And presently my brother did repeat precisely what he had said before. And now Lila without looking at my brother, without looking to the left or right at anyone, proceeded through the open doorway and back to that point where my mother and father stood side by side in the center of the hall. Looking directly at Mother, she asked, “Is there a room somewhere that I could perhaps lie down in?” She hesitated that way in the middle of the question, as if she had at first not known what she was going to ask. Then as if trying to explain what would ordinarily have seemed obvious to everyone else present in the hall at that moment, she added, “I seem to be experiencing some kind of shock—some kind of electrical shock almost.”


  I had the ugly impulse suddenly to burst into laughter. That is, it seemed obvious that this was just what a person would feel after the series of upsetting things Lila had just been through. Then Lila said, “I think probably I’m going to faint. I don’t know quite where I am. Oh, where am I? Where exactly are we?” And now with my arm about Ruthie Ann I felt a mixed compulsion again to laugh out loud and to go and try to say something consoling to the poor woman. But I said nothing and did nothing. And now Mother and Father together were leading Lila toward the broad, carpeted staircase that ascended the back wall of the hall. And Mother was speaking to Lila with a comforting warmth in her voice that I had not heard in years but that she had once used with all of us as little children. Before they reached the foot of the stairs, however, Lila had fainted away altogether, and with the help of my brother, Father had carried her to the first-floor bedroom that my parents used as their own.


  When she fainted I looked immediately at my wristwatch. I think I did so because of the premonition I had. What had come to my mind of course was Nurse O’Neill’s enigmatic reference to the “spell” Lila had been under. At the time this seemed too stupid to be mentioned to anyone. It still seemed so to me afterward. No matter if it later evolved, as it would indeed so do, that Aunt Gussie had died at the very instant of Lila’s seizure, there were too many other immediate causes for Lila’s hysteria and fit of fainting for this one to be singled out, or so it seemed to my mind. And so it would seem to Ruthie Ann when I pointed out the coincidence to her. It was not the sort of thing that Ruthie Ann and her mother were willing to discuss as a possibility. And yet when the call came from Nurse O’Neill an hour later, the time given for death coincided precisely with the other event. And when next day I insisted upon checking with the good nurse on the exact time of death she seized my arm, as we bent over the chart, and whispered fiercely, “Why do you ask? Why do you ask that? I have told you, haven’t I, that Lila’s name was on her lips as she drew her last breath?” But I made no answer to this. By now I was in complete agreement with Ruthie Ann and her mother. I did not want to be guilty of encouraging the superstition of this poor Irish woman, isolated as she was from all her own kind.


  Events of the remainder of that evening are almost too painful to relate and yet in retrospect they may not seem at all eventful. Upon being given the news of Aunt Gussie’s death, Lila showed no emotion whatsoever. Presently she said very firmly and quietly—almost under her breath, “If there’s a train going back to Washington tonight, I mean to be aboard it.”


  There was such a train. And Lila with her luggage was put aboard it. It fell to my younger brother’s lot to see her to the train. He drove her to the Union Station in her own rented car since her luggage was already loaded therein and since the rear light signal on Mother’s sedan had been crushed—with its fragments of glass still lying on the pavement. Nobody made any mention of the broken glass during the rest of that evening and even when, after a while, Father and Mother went off out of decency to the hospital, they went in Father’s coupe. I recall that Father had to hurry back into the house before setting off, to ask me for certain about which street the hospital was on—whether it was on Poplar or Jackson. They had been to St. Joseph’s so seldom as that! And I recall that it was my younger brother’s lot next day to return Lila’s rented car to the rental place. And it was his lot also to see after having the rear light signal on Mother’s sedan repaired. It was too bad to leave it all for him to do, but I was a married man now, and, even so, since my injuries in the war I had been spared all such errands. I think, moreover, that my brother minded that sort of thing so much less than I did. I think he minded much more the note from Lila he had to bring home to me that night. Just before she got aboard the train, she rummaged in her purse for pencil and paper. On one side of the scrap handed me was the message left behind for her by Andrea Lomax. On the other side Lila had written simply the four words “I am so ashamed.”


  Just before Lila was preparing to leave the house, my mother, always with her sense of propriety, walked up to her and said, “Don’t you want to stay long enough to attend Aunt Gussie’s funeral service?”


  Lila spoke her reply through her teeth: “That would be Nurse O’Neill’s department. She’s a Roman Catholic, and she will already have arranged about all that.” Those were her last words. And she left the house as she had entered it, without looking to her left or her right—without making her goodbyes to anyone. It was hard to remember her as the same effusive young woman who had stepped off the train two weeks ago. At that moment it would have been easier for me to remember the independent and ambitious young girl who had walked out of my life three years ago—before she attached her fortunes to my aunt Mrs. Augusta St. John-Jones.


  And just as Lila predicted, the good nurse had assuredly arranged the funeral service to be said two days later at the Catholic chapel across from St. Joseph’s. My parents and the various other relatives, including Andrea Lomax and myself, put in a clumsy back-pew appearance at the mass, but we were not given much of a welcome by the young priest in charge. And we were none of us given the chance to say goodbye to Nurse O’Neill, who we had been told would go hurrying off to catch the late afternoon train to Washington. It had all been arranged, however, that my two parents would follow the hearse next morning up to the country town of Thornton. Aunt Gussie was to be buried there at the same town cemetery where she had once so long ago beguiled herself playing hide-and-seek with the suitors of her young ladyhood. My parents, in fact, lingered up there for a number of days, enjoying reunion with a number of old friends, some of whom they had not seen in many years.


  Ruthie Ann and I took the opportunity to get ourselves settled in her mother’s house in Crosstown. We three have lived there very happily together during all the years since, enjoying the uneventful seclusion we are all equally fond of, gardening, reading our favorite fiction, taking turns with the shopping. Even our old friend Alex Mercer has ceased to pay intrusive calls upon us. We have achieved such peace that thoughts about whatever may have become of Phillip Carver, that other friend who wanted to enlist as a conscientious objector—even such wandering thoughts as that never disturb us here.
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  Chronology


  1917


  Born Matthew Hillsman Taylor Jr. on January 8 in Trenton, Tennessee, the fourth child and second son of Matthew Hillsman “Red” Taylor and Katherine Baird (Taylor) Taylor. (Before Red and Katherine’s wedding, in 1908, the two Taylor families were unrelated. His were the “West Tennessee Taylors,” based for generations in Trenton, the seat of Gibson County, a city of twenty-five hundred about a hundred miles northeast of Memphis, in what was then cotton country; hers were the “East Tennessee Taylors,” based along the Nolichucky River, in the Blue Ridge Mountains, near the border with North Carolina. Red Taylor, b. 1884, a former All-Southern tackle for the Vanderbilt Commodores, was junior partner in Taylor & Taylor, his father’s Trenton law firm. In 1909, at the age of twenty-four, Red was named the youngest speaker in the history of the Tennessee House of Representatives, which he served through 1915. He then became attorney general of the Thirteenth Judicial District. Katherine Taylor, b. 1886, a graduate of the Belmont School, in Nashville, was a skilled musician and a charismatic raconteur. She was the daughter of the late Robert Love Taylor [1850–1912], a luminary of the Democratic Party remembered throughout Tennessee as “Our Bob.” Bob Taylor was three times the governor of the state, in 1887–91 and in 1897–99, and then a U.S. senator from 1907 until his death. He was also a popular lecturer on the Chautauqua circuit.) Matthew Jr., born at home, is nicknamed “Pete” by a next-door neighbor, and the name sticks. His sisters are Sarah Baird “Sally” Taylor (b. 1910) and Mettie Ivie Taylor (b. 1912); his brother is Robert Love “Bob” Taylor (b. 1915). The family resides in a Queen Anne cottage at 208 High Street, the first of three Trenton houses that Taylor will live in during his first seven years. They worship together, at Red’s insistence, at the city’s First Methodist Church, where Katherine, a convert from the Disciples of Christ, is the organist.


  1924


  After his father’s death, Red decides to sell the family law practice and seek greater fortune in Nashville, about 125 miles east of Trenton. In spring, he accepts the position of chief corporate lawyer to Rogers Caldwell, a financier then known as the J. P. Morgan of the South. By September the family has settled on Hogan Lane, in a hilltop house they call the House of the Seven Gables. Pete is enrolled in the first grade at Robertson Academy, a private elementary school.


  1926


  In January Caldwell & Company acquires the Missouri State Life Insurance Company, headquartered in St. Louis, and Rogers Caldwell appoints Red vice president and chief executive. That summer the family moves into a modern manse on Lenox Place, in St. Louis’s fashionable Central West End. Pete enrolls at Miss Rossman’s School, a private elementary school.


  1929


  When Missouri State Life acquires the title to 5 Washington Terrace, a twenty-year-old Beaux Arts mansion furnished with European art and antiques, Red, now president of the firm, arranges to make it the Taylor family home. (Established in 1902, Washington Terrace is a private enclave of fifty houses and a self-governing community of several of the wealthiest families in the Central West End.) The immense, many-bedroomed house, which features a third-floor ballroom and a detached two-story stable, is staffed by five African American servants, all originally from the Trenton area. Housekeeper Lucille Rogers, who had attended college at Memphis’s historically black Le Moyne School, becomes Pete’s closest companion, the person to whom he confides his dreams and aspirations. (“I had more conversations with her than with my mother on those subjects,” Taylor told The Paris Review, “and of course far more than with my father. Lucille had more influence on me when I was a child than any other adult.”)


  1930


  Enrolls at St. Louis Country Day School, a private academy for boys in grades seven through twelve. Begins to write and direct plays starring his classmates, which he stages in the ballroom at home. When not conceiving plays he is sketching or painting; he will harbor a dream of becoming an exhibiting artist well into early adulthood. In November the banking branch of Caldwell & Company, which after the Crash of 1929 had merged with BancoKentucky, enters receivership, precipitating the closure of 120 banks in seven states.


  1931


  An audit of the books at Missouri State Life, conducted as part of a government investigation into the bank collapse, reveals that Caldwell & Company has mortgaged many of the insurance company’s assets and transferred the monies to other Caldwell holdings. Though Red denies personal knowledge of the matter, the board of directors of Missouri State Life demands his resignation. On December 1, days after Rogers Caldwell had reneged on an oral promise to defend him before the board, Red resigns. Family legend has it that from that day forward the name “Rogers Caldwell” was never again uttered by Red Taylor.


  1932


  On New Year’s Day the family moves into an apartment on Waterman Avenue, near Washington University. The contents of 5 Washington Terrace are auctioned and the mansion sold. In October Red, unemployed and living on savings, moves the family to Memphis, Tennessee, where both he and Katherine have family. The Taylors lease a house at 79 Morningside Park, in the exclusive Central Gardens neighborhood. Pete enrolls at Central High School, the largest public school in the city.


  1933


  In June the family moves a few blocks west to a rented house at 1583 Peabody Avenue. Red opens a Memphis law practice and slowly rebuilds fortune. Pete begins his junior year at Central High as an honors student, a favorite of the English and Latin faculty, and a reporter for the school’s biweekly paper, the Warrior.


  1935


  In the winter of his senior year Pete is named editor of the Warrior, for which he writes a regular humor column, “Lord Chatterfill’d’s Letters to His Son.” In April he is awarded a two-thousand-dollar scholarship to Columbia University, where he intends to study literature and art, but father forbids him to accept it. Red instead offers to send him to Vanderbilt, his alma mater, to study law. Though tempted by the prospect of a new life in Nashville, declines the offer, and, through a connection made by his brother-in-law, Sally’s new husband Millsaps Fitzhugh, finds work as an errand boy for the Memphis Commercial Appeal. (Fitzhugh, a well-read attorney, will become very close to Taylor, introducing him to books by Tolstoy, Chekhov, and other Russian masters.)


  1936


  Living at home with his parents, takes Saturday painting classes at the newly established Memphis Academy of Arts. In the spring enrolls as a special student at local Southwestern College (now Rhodes College). Peter Hills­man Taylor, as he now calls himself, takes two English classes, one a freshman composition course taught by Allen Tate, a thirty-five-year-old poet, critic, and biographer already well-known to followers of Southern writing as a member of the Fugitive group and a contributor to I’ll Take My Stand: The South and the Agrarian Tradition (1930). (Taylor will remember Tate as an “electrifying” instructor and as the authority figure who gave him permission to become a writer. “He made literature and ideas seem more important than anything else in the world,” Taylor said in a 1986 interview. “You wanted to put everything else aside and follow him.”) In the summer he takes two more courses with Tate, one in modern fiction, with an emphasis on Henry James, and the other in creative writing. For Tate he writes his first short stories, “The Party” and “The Lady Is Civilized,” both of which are enthusiastically received. Taylor is devastated when Tate and his wife, the novelist Caroline Gordon, announce they have accepted teaching positions at Woman’s College, in Greensboro, North Carolina, for the coming academic year. Tate recommends that Taylor continue his studies at Vanderbilt under his mentor, the forty-eight-year-old poet and critic John Crowe Ransom, a plan that Red Taylor readily agrees to—so long as Peter also prepares himself for a career in law. After spending the fall trimester living in a Nashville rooming house, joins the Phi Delta Theta fraternity. There he meets master’s candidate Randall Jarrell, a brilliant young poet and critic who will become a lifelong friend and, in Taylor’s view, the most perceptive reader of his fiction. At Christmastime his two short stories are accepted by River, a literary monthly being planned by Dale Mullen, an undergraduate at the University of Mississippi at Oxford.


  1937


  In March “The Party” is published in the first number of River, followed in April by “The Lady Is Civilized.” At the end of the spring trimester, Vanderbilt puts Taylor on academic probation. (Although he had received three A’s from Ransom, he had failed botany, algebra, trigonometry, and physical education.) Returns to parents’ home in Memphis, and in the fall resumes classes at Southwestern College. His evenings and weekends are spent not in the library but in the company of four bohemian classmates—two young men and their girlfriends—who together explore the West Tennessee “demimonde” of roadhouses, rent parties, and open-air “gin picnics.” They call themselves the Entity, and their favorite dive is the Jungle, a juke joint in Proctor, Arkansas, some twenty-five miles west of Memphis. At Christmastime, his interest in both school and the Entity fading, Taylor begins to look for a full-time job.


  1938


  In February accepts position as a sales representative for Van Court Realtors and immediately withdraws from Southwestern. Spends evenings writing unpaid book reviews for the Commercial Appeal. In March hears through a Vanderbilt acquaintance that Ransom, now at Kenyon College, in Gambier, Ohio, has established a full-tuition scholarship in creative writing and hopes that Taylor will apply. When, in May, Kenyon admits Taylor, his father, despite his continued misgivings about Taylor’s pursuing a writer’s life, does not object. During the summer Taylor writes “A Spinster’s Tale,” which he will later consider his first mature short story. (Over the next two years he will repeatedly try to place it in a national magazine.) At Kenyon is assigned a room in Douglass House, a decrepit Carpenter’s Gothic residence just off campus. His housemaster is Randall Jarrell, now an instructor of freshman composition; his housemates include the young poet Robert Lowell, who will become for Taylor a kind of “second brother,” and the future book and magazine editors David McDowell and Robie Macauley. In October “The Lady Is Civilized,” one of the River stories that helped win him his scholarship, is reprinted in Hika, Kenyon’s undergraduate monthly.


  1939


  Reviews Allen Tate’s novel, The Fathers, for Hika, and during July visits the Tates in Monteagle, a mountain resort town southeast of Nashville that will become a lifelong summer haunt. Poem “The Furnishings of a House” appears in the third number of Ransom’s newly established quarterly, The Kenyon Review (Summer 1939); it is the first piece of writing for which Taylor is paid. In the fall contributes several new stories to Hika, including “The Life Before” and “Middle Age.” Presiding over his creative life, as well as those of Jarrell and Lowell, McDowell and Macauley, is the calm, benign, and nurturing figure of John Crowe Ransom. (“I suppose it really was a sort of idealized father-sons relationship,” Taylor would write in 1985. “He was the father we had not quarreled with, the father who was not a lawyer or businessman, and was the man we wished to become. [And] I am absolutely certain he had a parental love for all of us.”)


  1940


  In his final semester at Kenyon publishes the story “Winged Chariot” in the graduation number of Hika. Travels home to Memphis, bringing with him, as houseguests, Robert Lowell and his new wife, the young writer Jean Stafford, both on their way to jobs at Louisiana State University. (Lowell is to be a teaching assistant to Ransom’s former pupils Cleanth Brooks and Robert Penn Warren; Stafford is to be an editorial assistant at Brooks and Warren’s literary quarterly, The Southern Review.) Through the agency of Lowell, Stafford, Ransom, and Tate, “A Spinster’s Tale” is placed in The Southern Review for Autumn 1940. (Within a year the journal will also publish “Sky Line” [a revised version of “Winged Chariot”] and a new story, “The Fancy Woman.”) Impressed by his fiction, Brooks and Warren offer Taylor thirty dollars a month to grade freshman papers for the academic year 1940–41. In August he moves to Baton Rouge, rents a room in Warren’s apartment, and enrolls at LSU as a postgraduate student. Come Thanksgiving week he withdraws from the program to devote more time to writing. (Taylor, though he will spend most of his life on university campuses, will never consider himself an “academic.” He regularly tells his colleagues and students that he is not an intellectual but rather “someone who writes stories and lets his intelligence come out that way.”) He will remain in Baton Rouge through the end of the school year.


  1941


  In April returns to Memphis, and in May is drafted into the U.S. Army. Is stationed at Fort Oglethorpe, in Catoosa County, Georgia, just across the border from Chattanooga, Tennessee. Serves as a clerk in the transportation section, an office position that allows him time and privacy for writing. Engages Diarmuid Russell, of the New York firm of Russell & Volkening, as his literary agent “for the duration.” On December 7, Japanese aircraft attack Pearl Harbor, Hawaii, and America enters World War II.


  1942


  Promoted from PFC to corporal, and then to sergeant. Becomes head clerk of the transportation department, and travels with deployed troops to embarkation points in California, Florida, and the District of Columbia. “The Fancy Woman” is selected for The Best American Short Stories 1942, the first of nine stories by Taylor that will appear in the series through 1980.


  1943


  During Easter furlough travels to Monteagle to visit the Tates. There he meets Eleanor Lilly Ross (b. 1920), the Tates’ favorite student at Woman’s College and now a master’s candidate in English at Vanderbilt. The connection between Taylor and Ross, one of a family of artists and writers in rural Norwood, North Carolina, is instant and profound. Six weeks later, on June 4, the couple is married by Father James Harold Flye, at St. Andrew’s School Chapel, near Sewanee, Tennessee. (The Tates stand in for the parents of the bride; Robert Lowell is the best man, and Jean Stafford is Ross’s bridesmaid.) The newlyweds rent a small apartment in Chattanooga, where that summer Taylor, who commutes by bus to Fort Oglethorpe, writes the story “Rain in the Heart.” Starts work on a novel, a study of the relationship between an only child and his wealthy, complicated stepmother that he calls “Edward, Edward.”


  1944


  In January is ordered to Camp Butner, near Durham, North Carolina, to train for overseas duty. In February his outfit—Headquarters Company, Twelfth Replacement Depot—transfers to Fort Dix, near Trenton, New Jersey. (“When we do go across,” Taylor writes his mother, “our function will be the handling of other men as they come over. We’ll remain from fifty to one hundred miles behind the lines and continue to send replacements up. So we’ll be comparatively free from danger.”) In March Taylor and his company sail on the Ile de France for Northern Ireland. During a prolonged stay in Somerset he makes a friend of local businessman Charles Abbot, who introduces him to the work of Anthony Trollope, which will become a lifelong pleasure. By late spring his company is established at Camp Tidworth, in Wiltshire, in southwest England, where Taylor will serve for the rest of the war. In the summer, through arrangements made by an army chaplain, he is welcomed into the Anglican Communion by William Wand, the Bishop of Bath and Wells. Throughout the year he works on “The Scoutmaster,” which will win third prize in a “novelette” contest sponsored by Partisan Review and the Dial Press.


  1945


  In the weeks following V-E Day, completes the stories “Allegiance” and “A Long Fourth” and makes repeated visits to London, eighty miles northeast of Tidworth. Ten days after V-J Day, travels to Paris and—by accident, on the street—encounters Gertrude Stein, who invites him to her Left Bank apartment for a spontaneous, private, two-hour conversation. (They talk of writing, the Jameses, Trollope, and the antebellum South, and Taylor finds her “sensible,” “witty,” and “warm.”) In the fall teaches American literature in a U.S. Army school, his first experience as a classroom instructor. On December 9, sails from Southampton as one of 11,500 American troops aboard the Queen Mary. Arrives in New York on December 15, and five days later is demobilized, at Camp McPherson, in Atlanta. After a reunion in Chattanooga, he and Eleanor spend Christmas with his parents in Memphis.


  1946


  In February leases a house in Sewanee, Tennessee, where, under a two-book contract with Doubleday (negotiated by Diarmuid Russell), he assembles a collection of seven short stories. In March, Doubleday declines to publish the book until he also delivers his novel “Edward, Edward.” In April, at the urging of the Tates, Taylor accepts a teaching position at Woman’s College for the academic year 1946–47. In the meanwhile, he and Eleanor will live in New York City, where Tate has secured Taylor a summer job as reader for Henry Holt & Company and an apartment, at 224 West Tenth Street. At Woman’s College continues to work on “Edward, Edward,” completing the first draft during Christmas break.


  1947


  In the spring organizes annual arts forum at Woman’s College, enlisting Robert Penn Warren, now the author of the best-selling novel All the King’s Men, as the keynote speaker. In attendance are Robert Lowell—whose first trade collection of poetry, Lord Weary’s Castle, had just been published—and Lowell’s editor, Robert Giroux, of Harcourt, Brace & Company. After the forum, Giroux proposes that Harcourt buy Taylor’s contract from Doubleday and publish his collection of stories immediately. Giroux suggests the book’s title, “A Long Fourth and Other Stories,” and commissions an introduction from Warren. Taylor renews his contract with Woman’s College, and persuades the En­glish department to hire Randall Jarrell as an instructor beginning in fall 1947. In July, Taylor and Jarrell jointly buy a duplex at 1924 Spring Garden Street, Greensboro. Taylor dismisses Diarmuid Russell as his literary agent, and rewrites “Edward, Edward” throughout the fall.


  1948


  In January accepts offer to teach creative writing at Indiana University for the 1948–49 academic year. In March A Long Fourth is published by Harcourt, Brace. Robert Penn Warren’s introduction, which Taylor considers “exactly perfect,” praises both the author’s choice of subject matter—“the contemporary, urban, middle-class world of the Upper South,” which is “his alone”—and his “natural style, one based on conversation and the family tale, with the echo of the spoken world.” The book is reviewed widely and well, and, in response, Katharine S. White, fiction editor of The New Yorker, asks to read Taylor’s future work. He sends her a revised version of his Hika story “Middle Age” (later retitled “Cookie”), which appears in the number for November 6. Signs a first-refusal agreement with The New Yorker, which will publish three short stories and an excerpt from his novel during the coming year. Daughter, Katherine Baird “Katie” Taylor, born in Bloomington on September 30.


  1949


  “The Death of a Kinsman,” a one-act play, appears in the winter number of The Sewanee Review. Miserable at the University of Indiana, where neither housing nor office accommodations are satisfactory, decides to return to Woman’s College in the fall. Spends summer with Jarrell on Spring Garden Street, then, in September, buys a house in Hillsborough, forty miles east of campus. Delivers the final draft of his novel, now titled “A Woman of Means,” to Robert Giroux.


  1950


  Eleanor, who had written prose as an undergraduate, enrolls in Jarrell’s creative writing class and begins to write poems, two of which soon appear in Poetry magazine. In May, A Woman of Means is published by Harcourt, Brace to mixed reviews. (The New York Herald Tribune finds it a “work of very solid merit” but “not, however, the fully realized novel for which a reader of Mr. Taylor’s excellent short stories could wish.”) When awarded a Guggenheim for the academic year 1950–51, Taylor arranges for Robie Macauley to teach his classes at Greensboro. Writes three stories during his paid year off: “Two Ladies in Retirement,” “What You Hear from ’Em?,” and “Bad Dreams.” “Their Losses,” first published in The New Yorker, is reprinted in Prize Stories 1950: The O. Henry Awards, the first of seven stories by Taylor that will appear in the series through 1982.


  1951


  In the fall, Jarrell leaves Greensboro, and he and Taylor sell the duplex. Taylor accepts an invitation to teach as a visiting professor at the University of Chicago in the spring of 1952.


  1952


  The Taylor family is unhappy in their crowded quarters in Chicago’s Plaisance Hotel, at 1545 East Sixtieth Street, opposite Jackson Park. In the spring Taylor is awarded a writing grant of a thousand dollars by the National Institute of Arts and Letters. Soon afterward he is approached by Kenyon’s new president, Gordon Keith Chalmers, to become an associate professor of English and dramatic literature at the college. In the summer the family moves to Gambier, Ohio, and Taylor rents the house of a faculty member on one-year leave. Renews his acquaintance with John Crowe Ransom, finds a good friend in drama professor James E. Michael, and soon involves himself in the affairs of both Ransom’s Kenyon Review and the college’s theater department.


  1953


  Assembles a second volume of short stories and resolves to write a new, almost novella-length story to cap the collection. (This story, “The Dark Walk,” will occupy most of his working hours from February to September.) In the summer leases a substantial brick house from Kenyon College. (The eleven-room house, on Brooklyn Street, was built in the 1830s and, he tells Katharine White, is “just to our taste.”) In the fall becomes obsessed with every detail of James Michael’s staging of Chekhov’s Uncle Vanya at Kenyon’s Hill Theater and resolves to write a full-length stage play.


  1954


  On April 29 The Widows of Thornton, comprising eight stories and the play “The Death of a Kinsman,” is published by Harcourt, Brace. The collection is dedicated to Allen Tate and Caroline Gordon. (Orville Prescott of The New York Times writes that “Taylor’s precise artistry, his skill with dialogue, and his insight into what makes a traditional Southern reaction to life slightly different from a non-Southern one are all admirable. [These stories] are all in the general tradition of Chekhov’s ironic melancholy and static action [and] all of them are good.”) In June, Taylor is awarded a three-thousand-dollar fellowship from the Rockefeller Foundation, allowing him to teach half time at half his salary during the 1954–55 academic year. Begins work on a four-act stage play based on childhood memories of Washington Terrace.


  1955


  Son, Peter Ross Taylor, known as Ross, born on February 7. In April Taylor is named a Fulbright Scholar to the United Kingdom and France for the academic year 1955–56. Family spends July and August in Oxford, where Taylor lectures in creative writing at the Fulbright-sponsored Conference on American Studies. They then settle in Paris, where they rent a six-room flat at 20 boulevard St.-Michel, their home through the following April. Completes and copyrights a draft of his play, “Tennessee Day in St. Louis.”


  1956


  Kenyon classmate David McDowell, now an editor at Random House, negotiates a three-book contract with Taylor—a play, a novel, and a third collection of stories. From May to August the family lives at the Villa Gemma, in Rapallo, Italy. In the fall family returns to Kenyon where Taylor is to teach creative writing and playwriting.


  1957


  In February Tennessee Day in St. Louis is published by Random House. On April 27 the play is given its premiere in a Kenyon student production directed by James Michael. In the fall, during the months following the sudden death of Taylor’s good friend President Chal­mers, Kenyon’s acting president, Frank Bailey, terminates the Taylors’ lease on their Brooklyn Street house, repurposes the property, and, among other reforms, moves to cut the budget of The Kenyon Review. Taylor, feeling betrayed by Bailey, accepts a better-paying position as professor of creative writing at nearby Ohio State University, where he will be required to teach during spring semesters only. In summer purchases house at 25 Bullitt Park Place, in Bexley, a southeastern suburb of Columbus. In October Katharine White retires from The New Yorker, and William Maxwell is named Taylor’s new editor at the magazine. David McDowell leaves Random House to cofound the publishing firm of McDowell, Obolensky, and invites Taylor to follow him there.


  1958


  In January travels to Memphis for his parents’ fiftieth wedding anniversary, which they celebrate with a party for two hundred guests, and then begins teaching at Ohio State. (“Columbus is an O.K. place,” Taylor will tell Robert Lowell. “It is exactly as though I’d gone back to Memphis to live—but without my past to haunt me.”) The Taylors summer in Bonassola, a beach town in the Italian Riviera. (Also vacationing in nearby Levanto are Randall Jarrell and the poet and translator Robert Fitzgerald.) They spend the fall at 20 via Montevideo, in Rome, often in the company of Robert Penn Warren and his wife, the writer Eleanor Clark.


  1959


  “Venus, Cupid, Folly and Time,” published in The Kenyon Review during the previous spring, is awarded the O. Henry First Prize and is also included in The Best American Short Stories 1959. Taylor’s third collection of stories, Happy Families Are All Alike, is published by McDowell, Obolensky on November 25. (The New York Times calls the book’s appearance “a literary event of the first importance,” and the Sunday Times Book Review says that these ten recent stories, “like all fine works of art, are beautifully wrought . . . full of imaginative subtlety . . . [and] insure the author very heavily against oblivion.”)


  1960


  When William Maxwell takes a sabbatical from The New Yorker to complete a novel, Taylor is reassigned to fiction editor Roger Angell. The Taylors spend the summer in Monteagle, Tennessee, renting the same cottage in which they had honeymooned seventeen years earlier. The Ford Foundation, which in February had granted Taylor the opportunity to spend a year “in a close working relationship with a theatre company” in the U.K. or the U.S.A., assigns him to London’s Royal Court Theatre. In late July the family leases a flat at 25 Kensington Gate, in southwest London, and Taylor begins his tenure with the English Stage Company, attending all of their workshops, rehearsals, and performances. (The company’s fifty-year-old artistic director, George Devine, is known as an advocate for contemporary British playwrights, including Edward Bond, Christopher Logue, John Osborne, and Arnold Wesker.) In October Eleanor’s first collection of poems, Wilderness of Ladies, is published by McDowell, Obolensky. (She will publish five further collections, the last in 2009, and receive several honors for her work, including, in 2010, the Poetry Foundation’s Ruth Lilly Prize.)


  1961


  George Devine reads Taylor’s plays and tells the author that there is “no place for them in the modern theatre.” Taylor, deeply hurt, cuts short his tenure with the En­glish Stage Company, returning to Ohio in May rather than July. The family enjoys the first of many summers in their own Monteagle cottage, which Taylor had financed at the end of the previous summer. On September 6 “Delayed Honeymoon,” a New York Theatre Guild adaptation of Taylor’s story “Reservations,” is broadcast live on CBS television’s United States Steel Hour. Taylor complains to Roger Angell that the screenwriter, Robert Van Scoyk, and the lead actors, Elinor Donahue and Larry Blyden, had reduced his story of wedding-night anxieties to mere “situation comedy.”


  1962


  Taylor is promoted to full professor of English at Ohio State. In the fall, Andrew Lytle, editor of The Sewanee Review, publishes a special Peter Taylor number of the quarterly featuring Taylor’s story “At the Drugstore,” two essays on his fiction, and a consideration of his plays.


  1963


  In February Randall Jarrell, who had lately returned to the faculty of Woman’s College, informs Taylor that in 1964 the school will reincorporate and expand as the racially integrated, coeducational University of North Carolina–Greensboro. By late spring Taylor has negotiated a teaching contract with Greensboro and made an offer on a large clapboard house at 114 Fisher Park Circle.


  1964


  On February 28 Taylor’s fourth collection, Miss Leonora When Last Seen, is published by Ivan Obolensky, Inc. The volume comprises six recent stories and ten others reprinted from A Long Fourth and The Widows of Thornton. (“The condition of Mr. Taylor’s art,” says The New York Times, “gives rise to real people meditating actual problems. . . . These stories multiply their meanings. They have enduring interest.”) Obolensky, who had broken with McDowell at the end of 1960, pressures Taylor for the novel that McDowell had signed up in 1956. At the end of the summer, with the family in need of ready cash, Taylor reluctantly sells the Monteagle cottage. In the fall serves as visiting professor in creative writing at Harvard University. He lives in a bachelor apartment on the eleventh floor of Leverett House, overlooking the Charles River, while Eleanor remains in Greensboro with fifteen-year-old Katie and nine-year-old Ross. Renews old friendships with Robert Lowell and Robert Fitzgerald, and makes new ones with poet Adrienne Rich and playwright William Alfred. Students include future novelists John Casey and James Thackara and filmmaker James Toback, all of whom will become friends for the rest of Taylor’s life.


  1965


  Returns to Greensboro to find Jarrell suffering severe depression and the manic side effects of Elavil. Taylor works on a novel, “The Pilgrim Sons,” and completes a draft of a new stage play, “The Girl from Forked Deer.” On October 14 Jarrell steps into the path of a car on a highway near Chapel Hill, an act that Taylor will come to accept as a suicide. Brother-in-law Millsaps Fitzhugh, at age sixty-two, dies on October 7, and his father, at age eighty-one, on November 13. In a year-end letter to a friend, Taylor writes: “It was Millsaps who introduced me to Tolstoy and Chekhov, Randall who taught me how to read them, and Father who made it possible to understand a good deal of the subject matter. I loved all three of them.”


  1966


  On February 28, at Yale University, Taylor, Robert Penn Warren, Robert Lowell, and others speak at a memorial service for Jarrell. Robert Giroux, who had edited Jarrell at Harcourt, Brace, is so moved by their words that he invites the three friends to coedit a tribute volume, Randall Jarrell, 1914–1965 (Farrar, Straus & Giroux, 1968). Renewed acquaintance with Taylor leads Giroux to buy the contract for “The Pilgrim Sons” from Obolensky. A grant from the Rockefeller Foundation allows Taylor to take a leave of absence from Greensboro for the 1966–67 academic year. In the fall he is promoted to Alumni Distinguished Professor of the University of North Carolina–Greensboro.


  1967


  Works on his novel and revises his play throughout the winter and spring. On March 19 sister Sally Taylor Fitzhugh dies, in Memphis, at the age of fifty-six, after a long bout with emphysema. (“The loss of Randall and Dad was hard,” Taylor tells Lowell that summer, “but with Sally [the sadness] won’t go away.”) Taylor accepts an invitation from the University of Virginia, Char­lottesville, to join the English faculty as head of the creative writing program. Signs a one-year lease on a four-bedroom clapboard house—the largest yet, and the best for entertaining—at 1101 Rugby Road, near the main campus. Over the next sixteen years he will make many close friends among the university’s students and faculty, including Ann Beattie, Fred Chappell, James Alan McPherson, Breece D’J Pancake, and Alan Williamson.


  1968


  Struggles with his novel “The Pilgrim Sons,” two chapters of which, “A Cheerful Disposition” and “Daphne’s Lover,” are placed in The Sewanee Review. Play, retitled “A Stand in the Mountains,” is printed, with a long preface by the author, in the spring number of The Kenyon Review. The preface is an extended historical gloss on the play’s social milieu—that of the summer community in Monteagle, especially the subset of reactionary intellectuals who, in the 1930s and ’40s, saw the mountain resort as a “last stand” for fading Southern agrarian virtues. In April returns to Kenyon for an eightieth-birthday celebration for John Crowe Ransom. In Gambier, he reunites with his old Douglass House friends and meets Ransom’s editor, Judith Jones, of Alfred A. Knopf, Inc. After vainly attempting to purchase 1101 Rugby Road in Charlottesville, buys a two-story brick house about a block away, number 917, which had been previously owned, from 1959 to 1962, by William Faulkner. In September Robert Giroux agrees to contractually substitute a volume of collected stories for the novel “The Pilgrim Sons.” In December, after a long series of rejections from Roger Angell, Taylor declines to sign his first-refusal agreement with The New Yorker, ending his twenty-year relationship with the magazine.


  1969


  In February Taylor is informed that, in May, he will be inducted into the National Institute of Arts and Letters. He is unable to attend the ceremony, however, as his mother is in failing health. On May 18 she dies, in Memphis, at the age of eighty-two. A contest over her will precipitates a permanent break between the Taylor siblings. (Peter and his surviving sister, Mettie Taylor Dobson, will never forgive brother Bob for making grasping legal maneuvers as executor of their mother’s estate.) By the end of the summer Taylor makes a down payment on Brooks House, a century-old house on Main Street, Sewanee, near the campus of the University of the South. On August 28 The Collected Stories of Peter Taylor is published by Farrar, Straus & Giroux. The volume of twenty-one stories is dedicated to his late mother, “Katherine Taylor Taylor, who was the best teller of tales I know . . .” (The reviews range from the respectful to the ecstatic. “[Taylor] writes stories that are more than neatly crafted,” writes Joyce Carol Oates in The Southern Review. “They are both hallucinatory and articulate, the violence of [his] vision being bracketed by, even tamed by, the intelligent and gracious voice of his narrators. . . . This Collected Stories is one of the major books of our literature.”) In October, James Michael mounts a Kenyon production of A Stand in the Mountains, which Taylor thinks “works” more successfully than Tennessee Day in St. Louis. Turns away from fiction to write a series of one-act plays centering on ghosts, both real and imagined.


  1970


  In the spring four of his ghost plays are published in literary journals (three in Shenandoah, the other in The Virginia Quarterly Review). His mother’s estate finally settled, he pays off the mortgage on 917 Rugby Road and for the first time becomes a homeowner. In the fall he also makes a down payment on yet another property—a log farmhouse in Advance Mills, Virginia, that he calls Cohee and imagines using as his summer writing studio. Taylor urges Farrar, Straus to publish “The Collected Plays of Peter Taylor,” but Giroux refuses until at least one of the plays receives a major production. Giroux sponsors Taylor for membership in The Players, a private society for New York theater professionals founded in 1888. Once a month The Players’ clubhouse, at 16 Gramercy Park, becomes Taylor’s weekend home, its library a place of study and its membership a window on Manhattan’s theatrical world.


  1971


  Writes four further ghost plays, three of which will be published in The Sewanee Review, the other in Shenandoah. On May 28 “A Stand in the Mountains” is given a semiprofessional production by the Barter Theater Company of Abingdon, Virginia, courtesy of artistic director Robert Porterfield, an acquaintance from The Players. In June, Taylor receives an honorary doctorate in letters from Kenyon. After the ceremony, at the college’s Hill Theatre, Taylor is delighted by an evening of three of his ghost plays staged by his old friend James Michael.


  1972


  In January informs Robert Giroux that he has abandoned “The Pilgrim Sons” and offers in its place a collection of ghost plays. When Giroux demurs, Charles P. Corn, a former assistant at Shenandoah now an editor at Houghton Mifflin, acquires rights to the volume and also to a future collection of stories.


  1973


  On February 14 Presences: Seven Dramatic Pieces, dedicated to his Kenyon colleague James Michael, is published by Houghton Mifflin Company. An eighth dramatic piece, “The Early Guest,” appears in the Winter number of Shenandoah. In early summer Taylor divests himself of all his properties—the Faulkner house, Brooks House, and Cohee—in order to purchase Clover Hill, a large eighteenth-century farmhouse in Albemarle County, about ten miles from Charlottesville. In September Peter and Eleanor, their children now grown, take a furnished apartment at 19 Ware Street, in Cambridge, Massachusetts, as Taylor begins a term as visiting professor at Harvard. Their social circle that fall includes Robert Lowell, his new wife Caroline Blackwood, Robert Fitzgerald, Octavio Paz, and Elizabeth Bishop. At Christmas they return to Clover Hill, their possessions still in boxes and moving crates there.


  1974


  In the winter begins to write fiction for the first time in five years. The new stories are short and concentrated, and their sentences are arranged on the page like verse. (Taylor calls them story-poems or, jokingly, stoems. “They look like poems,” he tells Robert Lowell. “I don’t kid myself that they are poems.”) In May, while helping improve the nine acres at Clover Hill, he suffers a near-fatal heart attack. During the six long months of his recuperation he decides to sell Clover Hill and purchase 1101 Rugby Road, Charlottesville, which has at last come on the market. At the advice of his heart surgeon, Dr. Richard Crampton, he stops smoking, abstains from liquor, and waters his wine. He experiences several brief but intense episodes of depression, yet continues to work on his story-poems. John Crowe Ransom dies, at age eighty-six, on July 3. In the fall Taylor accepts an invitation from Harvard to teach every spring for the next four years.


  1975


  Spends three winter weeks in Key West with Eleanor and finds that, in the Florida climate, he “feels fifteen years younger.” By the summer, five of Taylor’s story-poems have been completed and have begun to appear in literary magazines. The sixth and most ambitious, “A Fable of Nashville and Memphis,” evolves into “The Captain’s Son,” his first prose fiction in more than six years. In September, he sends the story to William Maxwell, who, unbeknownst to Taylor, is on hospital leave from The New Yorker. It is read in Maxwell’s absence by Roger Angell, who immediately accepts it for the magazine. The story is edited by Maxwell, who will retire from the magazine at the end of the year, and by Maxwell’s assistant, Frances Kiernan.


  1976


  Again engaged with fiction, Taylor resigns from Harvard and reduces his workload at Charlottesville. When “The Captain’s Son” appears in January, Jonathan Coleman, a recent graduate of Virginia now a junior editor at Knopf, asks Taylor if he might publish his next collection. Through the agency of Timothy Seldes, his first literary representative in thirty years, Taylor returns his unearned advance to Houghton Mifflin and signs a contract with Knopf. In July he completes a long story, “In the Miro District,” and mails it to Frances Kiernan, now a fiction editor at The New Yorker. It will appear in the magazine the following February.


  1977


  In January begins to renovate his new Key West property, 1207 Pine Street, a tree-shaded, white-clapboard island cottage purchased sight unseen during the previous summer. (It will be the Taylors’ winter residence, from January through April, for the next six years.) On April 14, Taylor’s sixth collection of stories, In the Miro District, is published by Knopf. The book is dedicated to Taylor’s heart surgeon, Dr. Crampton, “in appreciation for an extension of time.” (Stephen Goodwin, in The New Republic, finds these eight new stories, four of them in verse, “varied and innovative, even rebellious,” and written in a new “risk-taking” voice that is prepared “to withhold nothing, to disguise nothing, to speak all that it knows.”) In June the Taylors downsize to a smaller principal residence—their last—at 1841 Wayside Place, Charlottesville. In the late summer a special number of Shenandoah is published in honor of Taylor’s sixtieth year. On September 13, Robert Lowell, also sixty, dies of a heart attack in New York City. At the funeral, in Boston, Taylor reads Lowell’s poem “Where the Rainbow Ends,” from Lord Weary’s Castle. In October he is diagnosed with adult-onset diabetes, the medical condition that had shortened the life of his father. After Christmas he receives news that, in May, he will be awarded the Gold Medal for the Short Story by the American Academy of Arts and Letters.


  1978


  Allen Tate dies, at the age of seventy-nine, on February 9, and Jean Stafford, at sixty-three, on March 26. On August 1 completes a long story, “The Old Forest,” and mails it to Frances Kiernan.


  1979


  “The Old Forest” is published in the May 14 number of The New Yorker. Despite its length—nearly twenty-five thousand words—it is selected for inclusion in both The Best American Short Stories 1980 and Prize Stories 1980: The O. Henry Awards. In the wake of the critical success of In the Miro District, Farrar, Straus reprints The Collected Stories in hardcover and paperback.


  1980


  Greatly enjoys the winter social circle in Key West, which includes John Ciardi, John Hersey, Ralph Ellison, Alison Lurie, James Merrill, Richard Wilbur, and James Boatwright, the editor of Shenandoah. In September Frances Kiernan accepts another short story, “The Gift of the Prodigal,” which will appear in The New Yorker the following June. In August signs a contract with Judith Jones of Alfred A. Knopf for a novel and a collection of short stories. Spends the fall sketching out three long stories, one of which, the tale of a middle-aged New York book editor’s reluctant return to his childhood home in Tennessee, seems to be the germ of his next novel.


  1981


  Suffers diabetic nerve damage to legs and feet, which makes sleep nearly impossible. Painkillers help but interfere with his writing. Still he makes good progress on his novel, which he calls first “The Duelists” and then “A Summons to Memphis.”


  1982


  Stuart Wright, a book collector and fine-press printer in Winston-Salem, North Carolina, prints a chapbook edition of Taylor’s play “The Early Guest,” limited to 140 hand-sewn copies. Taylor assembles the typescript of “New and Selected Stories,” an omnibus conceived as a companion to The Collected Stories. The book, which comprises “The Old Forest,” “The Gift of the Prodigal,” and twelve stories from out-of-print collections, is submitted to Knopf by his agent, Tim Seldes. Judith Jones, remarking that Knopf had contracted for a volume of previously uncollected stories, regretfully declines publication.


  1983


  In May is inducted into the American Academy of Arts and Letters, the fifty-member inner circle of the National Institute of Arts and Letters. In June teaches his final class at the University of Virginia. Accepts an invitation to teach the fall semester at Memphis State University (now the University of Memphis), partly to research the Memphis sections of his novel-in-progress, partly to observe the filming of a one-hour television film based on “The Old Forest.” The film, directed by Steven John Ross, is a coproduction of the Department of Theater and Communications Arts of MSU and Humanities Tennessee. A Woman of Means, Taylor’s novel of 1950, is reprinted in hardcover by Frederick C. Beil, New York. Tim Seldes, after unsuccessfully submitting “New and Selected Stories” to Farrar, Straus, places the book with Allen Peacock of The Dial Press.


  1984


  In spring gives a reading at the University of Georgia–Athens, where his host is Hubert H. McAlexander, a young professor of English with an interest in Southern fiction and biography. In August is awarded a Senior Fellowship in Fiction from the National Endowment for the Arts. While working on proof of “New and Selected Stories” changes the title of the book to “The Old Forest.”


  1985


  On February 8 Taylor’s seventh collection of stories, The Old Forest, is published by The Dial Press. (The reviews are the best and most numerous of his career. Anne Tyler, writing in USA Today, calls Taylor “the undisputed master of the short story form. In The Old Forest, as in all of [his] writing, there is a quality that makes the reader feel satisfied, even honored. I believe the word for it is integrity.”) The collection, which is reprinted four times, will sell more than twenty thousand hardcover copies and, in the following year, receive the PEN/Faulkner Award for American fiction. In October Steve Ross’s film The Old Forest, featuring voice-over narration by Taylor, receives both its premiere at the Chicago International Film Festival and the first of many showings on the fledgling A&E television network. In the fall is visiting professor in creative writing at the University of Georgia, where his deepening friendship with Hubert H. McAlexander will eventually result in three collaborative book projects, Conversations with Peter Taylor (1986), Critical Essays on Peter Taylor (1993), and a posthumous biography, Peter Taylor: A Writer’s Life (2001). In November delivers his novel “A Summons to Memphis” to Judith Jones. The book, about a grown man’s enduring struggle to find himself—and his calling—in the shadow of a strong father and damaged, bickering adult siblings, is, he tells Hubert McAlexander, his way of posing the question, “How successful are we ever in understanding what has happened to us?”


  1986


  On March 2 Taylor’s estranged brother, Bob, dies at the age of seventy. In May a limited, slipcased, hardcover edition of Taylor’s play A Stand in the Mountains is published by Frederick C. Beil. (The frontispiece is a photograph of Taylor, at the age of twenty-six, taken in Monteagle by Father Flye.) On July 24 suffers a stroke that leaves him temporarily paralyzed on his right side, the recovery from which will be slow and only partial. On October 6 A Summons to Memphis is published by Knopf. Taylor is gratified by the critical response, especially a front-page piece by Marilynne Robinson in The New York Times Book Review. (“A Summons to Memphis is not so much a tale of human weakness,” she writes, “as of the power of larger patterns, human also, that engulf individual character, a current subsumed in a tide.”)


  1987


  In spring A Summons to Memphis receives the Ritz Paris Hemingway Award and then the Pulitzer Prize in fiction. Works on a new novel, “To the Lost State,” a companion piece to A Summons to Memphis that draws on his memories of his mother and his maternal grandfather, the colorful Tennessee politician Robert Love Taylor. In the fall, a substantial “composite” interview with Barbara Thompson Davis, conducted in annual sessions over the last six years, is published in The Paris Review. Frances Kiernan, his editor at The New Yorker, leaves the magazine at the end of the year.


  1988


  Stuart Wright, working closely with Taylor, completes a descriptive bibliography of Taylor’s work and brokers the sale of his literary manuscripts to the Vanderbilt University Library. The Taylors buy a summer property in Sewanee, the same house Peter had leased in 1946, and purchase a plot in the university cemetery, near the grave of Allen Tate. In September Taylor is hospitalized for a bleeding ulcer. “Something in Her Instep High,” an episode from “To the Lost State,” appears in the Fall number of The Key West Review.


  1989


  Hires an “amanuensis,” or combination typist and personal assistant, and begins dictating his correspondence and, later, his fiction. In this fashion he and his young helper, Brian Griffin, produce the manuscript of a long story, “The Witch of Owl Mountain Springs.” In November, when The New Yorker declines to publish his new story, he decides never to submit to the magazine again. In the late fall is incapacitated by a second and more severe attack of diabetic neuropathy.


  1990


  By spring he is feeling well enough to dispense with his amanuensis and resume work at the typewriter. “Cousin Aubrey,” a second episode from “To the Lost State,” is published in the Winter number of The Kenyon Review. Begins work on another long story, “The Oracle at Stoneleigh Court,” which he hopes to publish as a stand-alone short novel.


  1991


  “The Witch of Owl Mountain Springs” is published in the Winter number of The Kenyon Review. In June, during a conversation with Christopher Metress, a doctoral candidate at Vanderbilt writing his dissertation on Taylor’s work, learns that among his papers in the Vanderbilt library are three unpublished stories from the 1960s. Upon rereading “At the Art Theater,” “In the Waiting Room,” and “The Real Ghost,” decides that they, together with “The Witch of Owl Mountain Springs,” will form the core of his next book, a collection of short works, old and new, addressing themes of death, the past, and the supernatural.


  1992


  Hires a second amanuensis, Mark Trainer, and resumes work on “To the Lost State.” “The Oracle at Stoneleigh Court” is published in the literary annual New Virginia Review. Taylor decides that it is not a stand-alone novella but instead the title story of his new collection, now comprising ten works of short fiction, “Cousin Aubrey,” and revised versions of three ghost plays from Presences.


  1993


  On February 16 Taylor’s eighth collection of stories, The Oracle at Stoneleigh Court, is published by Knopf. The book is dedicated to his wife, Eleanor. (The reviews are mixed, but Jonathan Yardley, writing in the Washington Post, calls it “quintessential Taylor: wry, leisurely, intimate . . . He is, in his seventy-sixth year, the best writer we have.”) In April receives the PEN/Malamud Award for his lifetime contribution to the art of the short story. In November, completes final draft of “To the Lost State,” for which Judith Jones suggests the title “In the Tennessee Country.” Immediately begins adapting his play “A Stand in the Mountains” into a novel, a work he alternatingly refers to as “Call Me Telemachus” and “The Brothers Taliaferro.”


  1994


  On August 16 In the Tennessee Country is published by Knopf. (John Bayley, writing in The London Review of Books, calls it “a revelation . . . an immaculate piece of fiction, and a subtly unpretentious work of art. The Henry James of A Small Boy and Others would have adored this book.”) In mid-October Taylor suffers a final, paralyzing stroke, and soon slips into a coma. He dies at home, in Charlottesville, on November 2, at the age of seventy-seven. Three days later, after a funeral service at All Saints’ Chapel, in Sewanee, he is buried in the cemetery at the University of the South. He is survived by his wife, Eleanor Ross Taylor (1920–2011); his sister, Mettie Taylor Dobson (1912–2000); his daughter, Katherine (1949–2001); and his son, Ross (b. 1955).


  Note on the Texts


  This volume contains thirty short stories that Peter Taylor wrote from the summer of 1960, when he was forty-three, to the spring of 1992, when he was seventy-five. All first appeared in American or British books or periodicals from 1961 to 1993. A companion volume in the Library of America series collects twenty-nine of Taylor’s earlier stories, written from 1938 to 1959.


  Most of the stories reprinted here also appeared in the following hardcover collections by Peter Taylor:


  


  Miss Leonora When Last Seen and Fifteen Other Stories (New York: Ivan Obolensky, Inc., 1963).


  The Collected Stories of Peter Taylor (New York: Farrar, Straus & Giroux, 1969).


  In the Miro District and Other Stories (New York: Alfred A. Knopf, 1977). (First U.K. printing: London: Chatto & Windus, 1977.)


  The Old Forest and Other Stories (Garden City, N.Y.: The Dial Press, 1985). (First U.K. printing: London: Chatto & Windus, 1985.)


  The Oracle at Stoneleigh Court: Stories (New York: Alfred A. Knopf, 1993). (First U.K. printing: London: Chatto & Windus, 1993.)


  


  Because it was the author’s usual practice to revise the texts of his short stories slightly every time he collected them, the latest book version of each is used here.


  The stories are arranged here in the order of composition as determined by correspondence between Peter Taylor and his editors at The New Yorker magazine preserved in The New Yorker Records at the New York Public Library, supplemented by information contained in Hubert H. McAlexander’s biography Peter Taylor: A Writer’s Life (Baton Rouge: Louisiana State University Press, 2001).


  


  “Reservations: A Love Story” was written during the spring of 1960, in Bexley, Ohio, the suburb of Columbus where Taylor lived while teaching creative writing at The Ohio State University in 1958–62. It was submitted to William Maxwell, his editor at The New Yorker, on July 15, 1960, and appeared in the number for February 25, 1961. (Since 1948, Taylor had worked under an agreement with The New Yorker, renewable annually, that guaranteed the magazine first refusal of all his literary work.) “Reservations” was reprinted in Miss Leonora When Last Seen (1963) and Collected Stories (1969). The text from Collected Stories is used here.


  “Nerves” was completed in London, where Taylor was a Ford Foundation Fellow in playwriting from July 1960 to May 1961. It was submitted to The New Yorker on September 22, 1960, and appeared in the number for September 16, 1961. (This was the last story by Taylor to be acquired by William Maxwell, who in 1960 temporarily reduced his workload at The New Yorker so that he could spend more time writing fiction. Taylor’s new editor at the magazine, and the editor of this story, was Roger Angell.) It was reprinted in The Oracle at Stoneleigh Court (1993), the source of the text used here.


  “An Overwhelming Question,” written in London in the fall of 1960, was unsuccessfully submitted to The New Yorker on January 2, 1961. Taylor placed the story with Encounter, a London-based literary monthly edited by Stephen Spender and Melvin Lasky, where it appeared in the number for March 1962. It was reprinted in Miss Leonora When Last Seen (1963) and The Oracle at Stoneleigh Court (1993). The text from The Oracle at Stoneleigh Court is used here.


  “There,” written at Taylor’s summer cottage in Monteagle, Tennessee, was unsuccessfully submitted to The New Yorker on August 17, 1961. It appeared in The Kenyon Review for Winter 1964. It was reprinted in Collected Stories, the source of the text used here.


  “Demons,” written in Bexley, Ohio, was submitted to The New Yorker on November 1, 1961, and appeared in the number for August 24, 1963. It was reprinted, as “A Strange Story,” in Miss Leonora When Last Seen (1963) and, under its original title, in The Oracle at Stoneleigh Court (1993). The text from The Oracle at Stoneleigh Court is used here, except for the correction of an editorial error at 102.30, where “s—”, used in the versions of the story printed in The New Yorker and Miss Leonora When Last Seen, has been substituted for “a—”.


  “At the Drugstore” was unsuccessfully submitted to The New Yorker on February 18, 1962. It appeared in The Sewanee Review for Autumn 1962, a special “Peter Taylor Number” edited by Andrew Lytle. It was reprinted in Miss Leonora When Last Seen (1963) and Collected Stories (1969). The text from Collected Stories is used here.


  “Two Pilgrims” was submitted to The New Yorker on October 1, 1962, and appeared in the number for September 7, 1963. It was reprinted in Miss Leonora When Last Seen (1963) and Collected Stories (1969). The text from Collected Stories is used here.


  “The Throughway” was written in Greensboro, North Carolina, where Taylor taught creative writing at the then-new state university (formerly Woman’s College) from 1963 to 1967. It was unsuccessfully submitted to The New Yorker on January 14, 1964. It appeared in The Sewanee Review for Fall 1964. It was reprinted in In the Miro District (1977), the source of the text used here.


  “At the Art Theater” was unsuccessfully submitted to The New Yorker on March 9, 1964. It was one of three previously unpublished stories that the researcher Christopher Metress discovered, in 1991, among the Peter Taylor Papers, deposited in 1988 at Vanderbilt University Library. Taylor revised the story in 1991 and placed it in The Greensboro Review, the literary quarterly of the University of North Carolina–Greensboro, for Summer 1992. It was reprinted in The Oracle at Stoneleigh Court (1993), the source of the text used here.


  “The End of Play” was unsuccessfully submitted to The New Yorker on July 25, 1964. It appeared in The Virginia Quarterly Review, the literary journal of the University of Virginia, for Spring 1965. It was reprinted in The Oracle at Stoneleigh Court (1993), the source of the text used here.


  “A Cheerful Disposition,” an episode from a never-finished novel called “The Pilgrim Sons,” was unsuccessfully submitted to The New Yorker on January 27, 1966. It appeared in The Sewanee Review for Spring 1967. It was reprinted, in a slightly revised version, in Robert Watson and Gibbons Ruark, editors, The Greensboro Reader (Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina Press, 1968), a hardcover collection of stories and poems by “a number of writers who either taught or studied at the University of North Carolina at Greensboro” during the period 1938–68. The text from The Greensboro Reader is used here.


  “The Decline and Fall of the Episcopal Church in the Year of Our Lord 1952” was unsuccessfully submitted, as “Tom, Tell Him,” to The New Yorker on August 10, 1966. It appeared, as “Tom, Tell Him,” in The Sewanee Review for Spring 1968. It was reprinted, under the present title, in The Oracle at Stoneleigh Court (1993), the source of the text used here.


  “Mrs. Billingsby’s Wine” was submitted to The New Yorker, simultaneously with “The Decline and Fall of the Episcopal Church in the Year of Our Lord 1952,” on August 10, 1966. It appeared in The New Yorker for October 14, 1967. It was reprinted in Collected Stories (1969), the source of the text used here.


  “The Elect” was unsuccessfully submitted to The New Yorker on November 30, 1966. Part of the manuscript of Collected Stories, published by Farrar, Straus & Giroux in 1969, it was placed by FSG in McCall’s magazine for April 1968. It was reprinted in Collected Stories (1969), the source of the text used here.


  “First Heat” was unsuccessfully submitted to The New Yorker on June 23, 1967. It was published in Shenandoah for Winter 1968. It was reprinted in Collected Stories (1969), the source of the text used here.


  “In the Waiting Room” was unsuccessfully submitted to The New Yorker, simultaneously with “First Heat,” on June 23, 1967. It was one of three previously unpublished stories that the researcher Christopher Metress discovered, in 1991, among the Peter Taylor Papers, deposited in 1988 at Vanderbilt University Library. Taylor revised the story in 1991 and it appeared, as “The Waiting Room,” in The Southern Review for Autumn 1992. It was reprinted in The Oracle at Stoneleigh Court (1993), the source of the text used here.


  “Dean of Men” was written in Charlottesville, where Taylor taught creative writing at the University of Virginia from 1967 to 1983. It was unsuccessfully submitted to The New Yorker in the middle of July 1968. It appeared in The Virginia Quarterly Review for Spring 1969. It was reprinted in Collected Stories (1969), the source of the text used here.


  “Daphne’s Lover,” a second episode from the never-finished novel “The Pilgrim Sons,” was unsuccessfully submitted to The New Yorker on December 7, 1968. (After Roger Angell declined the story, Taylor chose not to renew his first-refusal agreement with The New Yorker for 1969, ending an arrangement entered into in 1948.) The story appeared in The Sewanee Review for Spring 1969. It was reprinted in In the Miro District (1977), the source of the text used here.


  “The Real Ghost” was written during the period 1968–69, when Taylor temporarily turned away from fiction to work on one-act plays with ghostly themes. No evidence exists that it was ever submitted to a magazine. It was one of three previously unpublished stories that the researcher Christopher Metress discovered, in 1991, among the Peter Taylor Papers, deposited in 1988 at Vanderbilt University Library. Originally titled “Reflections,” it was revised for inclusion, under the present title, in The Oracle at Stoneleigh Court, which was published by Alfred A. Knopf, New York, on February 16, 1993. The text from The Oracle at Stoneleigh Court is used here.


  “The Instruction of a Mistress,” the first of Taylor’s so-called story-poems, was completed by February 1974. At the suggestion of Robert Lowell, it was submitted to Ian Hamilton, a London-based poet, editor, and publisher then launching a monthly called The New Review. It appeared in the magazine’s sixth number, dated September 1974. It was reprinted in In the Miro District (1977), the source of the text used here.


  “The Hand of Emmagene,” the second of Taylor’s story-poems, was completed by August 1974, when it was unsuccessfully submitted to Gordon Lish, the fiction editor at Esquire. It appeared in Shenandoah for Winter 1975. It was reprinted in In the Miro District (1977), the source of the text used here.


  “Three Heroines,” Taylor’s third story-poem, was written in 1974. It appeared in The Virginia Quarterly Review for Spring 1975 and then, in London, in The New Review for March 1976. It was reprinted in In the Miro District (1977), the source of the text used here.


  “The Megalopolitans,” Taylor’s fourth story-poem, was written in Cambridge, Massachusetts, during the spring of 1975, while Taylor was teaching for a semester at Harvard. It was unsuccessfully submitted to Howard Moss, poetry editor of The New Yorker, on April 25 of that year. It appeared in a special poetry issue of the Boston-based quarterly Ploughshares, guest-edited by Taylor’s young friend Frank Bidart, dated Fall 1975. The text from Ploughshares is used here.


  “Her Need,” Taylor’s fifth story-poem, was written in Charlottesville in the summer of 1975. It, too, was unsuccessfully submitted to Howard Moss, on August 13 of that year. It appeared in Shenandoah for Summer 1976. It was reprinted in In the Miro District (1977), the source of the text used here.


  “The Captain’s Son” was drafted, in Charlottesville, as a long story-poem titled “A Fable of Nashville and Memphis.” When the text ran to more than fifty pages, Taylor began to recast the stanzas into prose paragraphs. The prose story was submitted to William Maxwell of The New Yorker on September 6, 1975, who, unbeknownst to Taylor, was then on medical leave from the magazine. It was accepted in his absence by Roger Angell and then edited by Maxwell and his assistant, Frances Kiernan. “The Captain’s Son” appeared in The New Yorker for January 12, 1976. It was reprinted in In the Miro District (1977), the source of the text used here.


  “In the Miro District” was submitted to Frances Kiernan on July 27, 1976. (Maxwell had formally retired from The New Yorker on December 31, 1975, and Kiernan, promoted to editor in the fiction department, was now Taylor’s editor.) It appeared in The New Yorker for February 7, 1977. It was reprinted in In the Miro District (1977), the source of the text used here.


  “The Old Forest” was submitted to The New Yorker on August 1, 1978, and appeared in the number for May 14, 1979. It was reprinted in The Old Forest (1985), the source of the text used here.


  “The Gift of the Prodigal” was submitted to The New Yorker on September 7, 1980, and appeared in the number for June 1, 1981. It was reprinted in The Old Forest (1985), the source of the text used here.


  “The Witch of Owl Mountain Springs: An Account of Her Remarkable Powers” was completed in November 1989. Taylor submitted it to The New Yorker, where it was read by the editor Pat Strachan, Frances Kiernan having left the magazine at the end of 1987. After Strachan refused the story, it appeared in The Kenyon Review for Winter 1991. It was reprinted in The Oracle at Stoneleigh Court (1993), the source of the text used here.


  “The Oracle at Stoneleigh Court” was completed in the spring of 1992, and appeared in that summer’s number of The New Virginia Review, a Richmond-based literary journal edited by Mary Flinn. It was reprinted in The Oracle at Stoneleigh Court (1993), the source of the text used here.


  


  This volume presents the texts of the original printings chosen for inclusion but does not attempt to reproduce features of their typographical design. The texts are presented without change, except for the correction of typographical errors. Spelling, punctuation, and capitalization are often expressive features, and they are not altered, even when inconsistent or irregular. The following is a list of typographical errors corrected, cited by page and line number of the print edition: 25.14, bathrub; 40.13, accouterments.; 68.26, fourflushers; 82.24, home place; 108.1, under foot; 114.18, watebasket; 145.22, neo-classic; 178.8, Cely.; 185.8, found of; 191.4, long-unthought-of-relatives; 192.1, bath room; 198.18, sleep.; 215.39, He mother; 314.26, Father; 341.9, fiati gli; 341.18, are); 376.15, remember; 383.25, Poeple; 450.40, sitting it; 452.30 (and passim), Ward Belmont; 461.24, intrduded; 465.21, Ramsay’s; 621.38, then; 624.19, Father.


  Notes


  In the notes below, the reference numbers denote page and line of the print edition (line counts include headings but not section breaks). No note is made for material included in standard desk-reference books. Biblical quotations are keyed to the King James Version. For reference to other studies, and for further biographical background than is contained in the Chronology, see Hubert H. McAlexander, Peter Taylor: A Writer’s Life (Baton Rouge: Louisiana State University Press, 2001), and, as editor, Conversations with Peter Taylor (Jackson: University Press of Mississippi, 1987). James Curry Robison, Peter Taylor: A Study of the Short Fiction (Boston: Twayne, 1988), includes memoirs of Taylor by Stephen Goodwin, Mary Jarrell, Allen Tate, and Robert Penn Warren, and interviews with Taylor by Mr. Goodwin (1973), J. H. E. Paine (1986), and Mr. Robison (1987). C. Ralph Stephens and Lynda B. Salamon, editors, The Craft of Peter Taylor (Tuscaloosa: University of Alabama Press, 1995), includes memoirs of Taylor by Madison Smartt Bell, Cleanth Brooks, David H. Lynn, and Robert Wilson, and “An Oracle of Mystery: A Conversation with Peter Taylor” (1993) by Christopher Metress. Ben Yagoda, “The Oracle of the South” (Washington Post Magazine, May 9, 1993), is a late profile of Taylor. For further bibliographical information than is contained in the Note on the Texts, including lists of textual variants, see Stuart Wright, Peter Taylor: A Descriptive Bibliography 1934–87 (Charlottesville: Bibliographical Society of the University of Virginia/University Press of Virginia, 1988).


  COMPLETE STORIES 1960–1992


  29.3 Centennial Park] Public park in Nashville’s West End, established by the city in 1884. Originally called West Side Park, it was renamed when, in May 1896, it was designated as the site of the Tennessee Centennial and International Exposition (May–October 1897). Among its notable features is a full-scale stucco replica of the Parthenon in Athens, which was built to serve as the arts pavilion of the Tennessee Expo. In 1931, the basement rooms of the Parthenon were redesigned to accommodate two art galleries, one for the James M. Cowan Collection of American Painting and the other for temporary exhibits.


  32.36 Mr. Ben Allen] Benjamin Bentley Allen (1855–1910), a gentleman of leisure and self-styled occultist, lived at 125 Eighth Avenue South, in downtown Nashville, from 1880 until his death some thirty years later. During these years, he and his companion, the spiritual medium Miss Sue Perkins, held celebrated midnight séances at the house, during which they conjured “The Thing,” described in memoirs and press accounts as a mischievous force that levitated Allen’s parlor table, rattled the china, and brushed unseen against the legs of the assembled guests.


  33.3–6 Bell Witch . . . turned Andy Jackson into a jackass] According to legend, the family of one John Bell, a settler in Robeson County, about forty miles north of Nashville, was haunted by “Kate,” a malicious female ghost, from 1817 to 1821. The Bell Witch, as she came to be called, had for a medium Bell’s adolescent daughter, Betsy, and in the girl’s presence moved objects, sang hymns, and quoted scripture. It is said that during this time Andrew Jackson, who believed in ghosts, asked for a private audience with the witch. In most accounts of his visit with the Bells, the witch openly mocked Jackson and then, as he attempted to leave the scene, played havoc with the wheels of his carriage, which stopped, started, or reversed direction at her whim. Other accounts of the visit are more fanciful.


  38.28 Hunt and Polo Club] The Memphis Hunt and Polo Club was founded in Memphis, Tennessee, in 1923. Its original clubhouse, centrally located near the University of Memphis, burned down in July 1952. The club then relocated to the far east end of the city, and opened a new clubhouse in January 1955.


  45.14–15 Maria Tallchief] American dancer (1925–2013) who, from 1946 to 1966, was prima ballerina of George Balanchine’s New York City Ballet.


  80.25 Lost Dauphin] Louis XVII (1785–1795?), known as Louis-Charles, was the younger son of Louis XVI and Marie Antoinette. He became dauphin, or heir to the French throne, in 1789, upon the death of his brother. After the execution of his father in 1793, the boy Louis-Charles, by then imprisoned by the Jacobins, was proclaimed king by the royalists. He remained in prison until his apparent death, from tuberculosis, at the age of ten. According to legend, the so-called Lost Dauphin did not die in 1795 but was somehow secretly spirited away from his cell, where a tubercular orphan died in his place.


  93.29 Baby Ray reader] Ohio-born educator William Harris Elson (1854–1935) created the character Baby Ray for a series of “Elson Readers” that, from the early 1900s through the 1930s, were standard American elementary school primers. Baby Ray was depicted sometimes as an infant in bunting, sometimes as a toddler in a Buster Brown outfit.


  112.5 Country Day] St. Louis Country Day School, a prep school for boys founded in 1917.


  117.12 Collier’s] American general-interest weekly, founded in 1888, whose audience and advertisers dwindled after the coming of television. Its final number was dated January 4, 1957.


  134.4–6 General Winfield Scott . . . in 1838.] In 1838–39, General Scott (1786–1866), acting on orders from President Van Buren, oversaw the U.S. Army’s roundup, internment, and forced removal of the last remnant of the Cherokee Nation from Georgia, Alabama, and Tennessee to the Indian Territory (Oklahoma). The removal occurred in three waves, and Scott accompanied the army on the first leg of the third, traveling from Athens, Georgia, to Nashville, Tennessee, from early October to late December 1838. Conditions on the marches decimated the Cherokee, who later referred to the route from the Upper South to Oklahoma as Nunna Daul Tsuny, “The Trail of Tears.”


  135.27 hooded night riders] The so-called Night Riders, active in Tennessee and Kentucky circa 1904–9, were a group of hooded vigilantes, their large number drawn mainly from the struggling independent tobacco growers of the Upper South, that terrorized certain farmers, lawyers, and politicians allied with the monopolistic American Tobacco Co. (1890–1911), based in Durham, North Carolina. (As a result of the antitrust suit United States v. American Tobacco Co., decided in 1911, American Tobacco Co. was broken into four independent companies: American Tobacco, R. J. Reynolds, Liggett & Myers, and Lorillard.)


  156.22 Piggly-Wiggly store] Piggly Wiggly Inc., founded in Memphis in 1916, is a chain of inexpensive self-service grocery stores serving the South and the Upper Midwest.


  164.9 Bergman] Swedish filmmaker Ingmar Bergman (1918–2007), whose early, symbol-laden films included Wild Strawberries (1957), The Seventh Seal (1958), and Winter Light (1962).


  172.18 Puck of Pook’s Hill] Collection of fantastic stories and narrative poems (1906) by English writer Rudyard Kipling (1865–1936). Each entry is based on an episode in British history from its mythical beginnings to the early sixteenth century.


  172.19 Page’s In Ole Virginia] Collection of short stories (1887) by Thomas Nelson Page (1853–1922). The author’s specialty was the local-color romance of post–Civil War plantation life, often told in what he called “the dialect of the Negroes of Eastern Virginia.”


  173.10 Senator Claghorn] The comic monologues of Beauregard Claghorn—a fictional U.S. senator from Charleston, South Carolina—were, from 1945 to 1949, a regular feature of radio’s Fred Allen Show. The character, voiced by actor Kenny Delmar, and his catchphrases, including “It’s a joke, son!,” enjoyed a second, more enduring life courtesy of Foghorn Leghorn (1946–63), a cartoon rooster voiced by Mel Blanc in Warner Bros.’ Looney Tunes and Merrie Melodies shorts.


  175.35 Wintergarden] Wintergarden Arena, an indoor ice-skating rink, was a popular attraction in downtown St. Louis from 1904 to 1964.


  176.10 Mary Institute] Private girls’ school in St. Louis, founded in 1859 by William Greenleaf Eliot (1811–1887), a cofounder of Washington University, and named for his late daughter, Mary Rhodes Eliot (1838–1855), who died at the age of seventeen. The school later formed close social and academic ties with a neighboring boys’ school, St. Louis Country Day (see note 112.5). The two schools merged in 1992, forming Mary Institute & St. Louis Country Day School.


  177.21 “Beau Geste”] Classic adventure novel of the French Foreign Legion (1924) by English writer P. C. Wren (1875–1941). Like The Three Musketeers, it features a trio of soldier heroes.


  178.7–8 Guy Robertson’s voice . . . Leonard Ceeley.] Robertson (1890–1960) and Ceeley (1892–1977) were celebrated young tenors of the 1920s and ’30s who made careers in operetta and musical comedy.


  180.26–29 “Americans, awake! . . . our national resources!”] Opening lines of “Americans, Awake!,” essay by New Jersey lawyer Elroy Headley (1879–1962), in his self-published book Patriotic Essays (Newark, 1916). The little volume is dedicated to “the American principles of patriotism, fair play, brotherly kindness, and business good-will.”


  181.17–19 “Speak not to me . . . nails in her hands!”] Cf. “Dixie” (c. 1895), lecture by Robert Love Taylor, from De Long Rice, ed., Lectures and Best Literary Productions of Bob Taylor (Nashville: Bob Taylor Publishing Co., 1913): “We are not ashamed of the history of the old South. There is no New South. It is the old South resurrected from the dead with the print of the nails still in its hands and scar of the spear still in its side.” (The Tennessee politician and lecturer Robert Love Taylor, 1850–1912, was Peter Taylor’s maternal grandfather.)


  181.20–21 I plead guilty to the soft impeachment!”] Cf. “To the Bachelor” (1899), by Robert Love Taylor (see above), a literary “love letter” to married life: “I have no doubt that you will turn up your nose and charge me with sentimentality. I plead guilty to the soft impeachment.”


  182.37 Country Day] See note 112.5.


  186.26 Whisperjet] From 1964 through the 1970s, Eastern Air Lines marketed its fleet of tri-engine Boeing 727-100s as Whisperjets, claiming that their cabins were “as quiet as a library.”


  232.2 Justine’s] Old Justine’s, which specialized in seafood “New Orleans style,” was one of the Memphis area’s most popular restaurants from 1958 to 1996.


  232.4 Helen Shop] The Helen Shop was a carriage-trade women’s clothing and gift shop on Union Avenue, Memphis, from 1937 to 2010. Its founder was the charismatic tastemaker Helen Quinn, known as Helen of Memphis.


  232.4 Seessel’s] Chain of upscale grocery stores in Memphis, 1858 to 2002.


  235.23 High Hampton] Resort area in the Cashiers Valley of western North Carolina.


  236.19–20 Goldsmith’s basement] Goldsmith’s, now a division of Macy’s, was from 1870 to 2005 a family-owned department store chain in the Memphis area. Goldsmith’s basement, like Macy’s basement, was the store’s bargain area.


  236.20 Lowenstein’s East] The eastern branch of Memphis’s Lowenstein’s department store opened at Poplar Plaza, in the suburb of Raleigh, in 1949. It closed in 2012.


  242.1–2 “Whither he goes . . . shall be my people.”] Cf. Ruth 1:16.


  253.18 ‘I plead guilty to the soft impeachment!’] See note 181.20–21.


  255.16–17 “Many are called but few are chosen.”] Matthew 22:14.


  265.18 U.T.] University of Tennessee, Memphis.


  311.30 Collier’s] See note 117.12.


  311.35 new ones like Esquire and Ballyhoo.] Esquire, a men’s monthly, was launched in October 1933, and Ballyhoo, a magazine of satire and humor, in January 1932. (Ballyhoo folded in December 1939.)


  313.1 Liberty puzzle] Liberty magazine (1924–51), a general-interest weekly that competed for readership with The Saturday Evening Post and Collier’s (see note 117.12), was well-known for its challenging and rigorously edited crossword puzzle.


  320.36 Miss Pentecost’s School] Miss Althea Irving Pentecost (1883–1966) was headmistress and cofounder, with her cousin Miss Beatrice Garrison, of the Pentecost-Garrison School for Boys, a preparatory school (kindergarten through grade nine) in Memphis, Tennessee, from 1915 to 1951.


  321.31 Nineteenth Century Club] Private women’s club in Memphis, Tennessee, founded in 1890 and dedicated to the needs of women and children and the ideals of “civic uplift” and “urban reform.”


  321.35–36 Miss Hutchison’s School] Mary Grimes Hutchison (1872–1962) was the founder and headmistress of the Hutchison School, a private girls’ day school (kindergarten through grade twelve) founded in 1902 in Memphis, Tennessee.


  321.36 SKS] Sigma Kappa Sorority, or simply Sigma Kappa (ΣΚ), is a sorority founded at Colby College, in Waterville, Maine, in 1874. The Beta Xi chapter of Sigma Kappa was chartered at the University of Memphis in 1947.


  322.31 Bennington College] From its founding in 1932 until 1969, Bennington College, in Bennington, Vermont, was a women’s college. Today it is coeducational.


  322.39 Fort Oglethorpe] U.S. Army post (1902–46) in Catoosa County, Georgia, just across the state line from Chattanooga, Tennessee. The 6th Cavalry was stationed there from 1919 to 1942.


  326.15 Chatham Hall] Girls’ Episcopal preparatory school, founded in 1894 in Chatham, Virginia.


  328.6–7 limbs of the Daphne . . . still in their human form] According to Ovid, when the chaste nymph Daphne, to avoid the predations of a love-mad Apollo, implored her father, the river god Peneus, to intervene, he instantly and irrevocably transformed her into a laurel tree.


  328.29 Bernini Daphne and Apollo in the Borghese Gallery.] Life-sized marble statue (1622–25) commissioned from the Baroque sculptor Gian Lorenzo Bernini (1598–1680) by Cardinal Scipione Borghese, the nephew of Pope Paul V. It is part of the collection of the Galleria Borghese, Rome.


  341.9–10 “Per più fiate . . . e scolorocci il viso—”] From the Francesca and Paolo episode of Dante’s Inferno (Canto V), in which the adulterous pair discover their passion for each other while reading together from the tale of Lancelot and Guinevere. The 1867 translation by Henry Wadsworth Longfellow reads: “Full many a time our eyes together drew / That reading, and drove the colour from our faces.”


  368.14 Haviland] Haviland & Co., founded in Limoges, France, in 1853 by New York City importer David Haviland, manufactures fine china for the American retail market.


  375.1 Three Heroines] This story-poem is a fantasia on the life of Peter Taylor’s mother, Katherine Baird (Taylor) Taylor (1886–1969), and the family lore surrounding Katherine’s paternal grandmother, Emmaline Haynes Taylor (1822–1891). The third heroine, Willie Mae, is based on Katherine’s longtime servant, Lula.


  375.2 Lily Heth Dabney] Lily Heth Davis (1875–1973) was the wife, from 1899, of Richard Heath Dabney (1860–1947), a historian and the first dean of Graduate Studies at the University of Virginia. Her family history was intimately entwined with that of the university from at least the 1830s, when her great-grandfather, Professor John A. G. Davis, was a professor of law there. She was a descendant of Martha Jefferson Carr, Thomas Jefferson’s sister.


  382.24 Waterman Line freighter] Cargo ship for the Waterman Steamship Corporation, a deepwater freight carrier founded in 1919 in Mobile, Alabama.


  384.9 covites] In the slang of the Cumberland Ridge region of Middle Tennessee, a covite is a dweller in the gulches or “coves” on the lower side of a mountain. In the eyes of the true mountaineer—that is, one who lives higher up the mountain—covites can’t be seriously considered mountain folk.


  387.4 Mayor K. White . . . Bicentennial] Kevin H. White (1929–2012) was the mayor of Boston from 1968 to 1984. White’s comment was made in Boston on April 18, 1975, when the city officially began its celebration of the bicentennial of America’s independence from Britain in 1776.


  389.17 Porcellian] Men’s final club, founded at Harvard College in 1791.


  390.2 Elmwood Cemetery] Eighty-acre cemetery, one of the South’s oldest, established on the southern outskirts of Memphis in 1852.


  390.7 Red Line] One of the four main lines of the Massachusetts Bay Transit Authority, the Red Line, which opened in 1912, provides subway service between Harvard and downtown Boston.


  391.4 Sage’s] The Edwin R. Sage Co. was a small, family-run grocery store in Harvard Square, Cambridge, from 1908 to 2000.


  391.23 Eliot] Eliot House, a residential dormitory for Harvard upperclassmen, opened its doors on Dunster Street, Cambridge, in 1931.


  393.1–4 Centennial Park . . . Parthenon] See note 29.3.


  393.6–10 Perfect Sphere . . . U.D.C.’s . . . can be no rounder.”] In 1897, Katherine Thompson Kirkman (1864–1926), a leader of the Nashville chapter of the United Daughters of the Confederacy (U.D.C.) and president of the Women’s Board of the Tennessee Centennial and International Exposition (see note 29.3), commissioned an obscure memorial as the centerpiece of the Tennessee Expo’s Women’s Pavilion. It was a six-foot, white-marble column-cum-pedestal, surmounted by a large concrete sphere. On the column was a plaque bearing the words “THAT WHICH IS ROUND CAN BE NO ROUNDER.” The memorial still stands in Centennial Park, across the street from the entrance to the Parthenon.


  402.26–27 “Remember the Maine” or “Break the News to Mother.”] American battle cry and American sentimental song of the Spanish–American War (1898).


  405.5 Hume-Fogg] Hume-Fogg High School, which opened its doors in 1875, is the successor institution to the Hume School (1855), the first public school established in Nashville.


  406.38 a look made of all sweet accord.] Cf. “Abou Ben Adhem” (1834), by the English poet Leigh Hunt (1784–1859): “. . . to the presence in the room he said, / ‘What writest thou?’—The vision raised its head, / And, with a look made of all sweet accord, / Answered, ‘The names of those who love the Lord.’ ”


  407.12 Centennial Club] Nashville women’s club, founded in 1905. (The year 1906 was the centennial of Nashville’s incorporation as a city.)


  408.17 double sol] A double-solitaire card game, like Russian bank or double Klondike.


  429.1 In the Miro District] The Miro District—or, properly, the Mero District—was the judicial district of the Southwest Territory (1788–96) that included Nashville and surrounds. It was named for Don Esteban Miró (often Anglicized “Mero,” 1744–1795), the sixth colonial governor of New Spain (a.k.a. Spanish Louisiana).


  431.6–7 monkey-trial world of East Tennessee] The case of State of Tennessee v. John Thomas Scopes, popularly known as the Scopes Monkey Trial, was tried in Dayton, Tennessee, in May 1925. Scopes, a substitute biology teacher, was found guilty of teaching the theory of evolution to public school students in violation of Tennessee state law.


  432.1–2 Fort Nashborough . . . Frenchman’s Lick.] Fort Nashborough (or Nashboro, built circa 1779) was the two-acre stockade that housed the party of settlers that founded Nashville. In 1930, the local chapter of the Daughters of the American Revolution funded a historical re-creation of the stockade near its original site, on the Cumberland River, in what is now Nashville’s French Lick neighborhood.


  432.17 Forrest’s cavalry] Confederate general Nathan Bedford Forrest (1821–1877), a native of Chapel Hill, Tennessee, commanded the 3rd Tennessee Cavalry and then, in 1863–65, an elite cavalry corps bearing his name. Forrest’s Cavalry Corps fought in many battles in the Upper South, including Chickamauga, Fort Pillow, Brice’s Crossroads, Memphis, Murphreesboro, and Nashville.


  432.20 hooded nightriders] The kidnapping of the fictional Major Basil Manley has its roots in Taylor family history. In his memoir “Tennessee Caravan, 1920–1940,” published in John Netherton, editor, Tennessee: A Homecoming (Nashville: Third National Corporation, 1985), Taylor gives the following account of the October 1908 kidnapping of his paternal grandfather, Colonel Robert Zachary Taylor (1846–1922)—son of one Basil Manly Taylor (1811–1886)—by a group of some thirty Night Riders (see note 135.27) in the Reelfoot Lake region of Tennessee:


  


  Those hooded men had kidnaped Grandfather . . . along with his law partner Captain Quentin Rankin [1869–1908], had taken them from their rooms in the Walnut Log Hotel, at Samburg, and . . . before my grandfather’s eyes they had hanged Captain Rankin from a tree at the edge of the Lake. First they had tortured the Captain, pulling him up and letting him down. Then when he managed to mutter, “Men, you’re killing me,” some one of them shouted, “That’s what we aim to do, Captain!” And taking up their shot guns the men standing nearest to him fired into his body. At that moment while all eyes were on Captain Rankin, my grandfather, who was past sixty at the time, seized his chance and dived into the black water of the Lake. He swam under water and hid himself beneath a log that was floating there. The Nightriders, mistaking the log for the old man’s body, fired away at the log and soon afterward hurried away from the scene of their crime. My grandfather wandered for ten days in the swampy woods and was then rescued and brought to Union City, hidden under a load of hay in a farmer’s wagon. Later on, someone recovered the log the Nightriders had mistaken for Grandfather’s body, and by the time I came into the world there was a gavel on my father’s desk made from that log.


  437.33 Wallace School] Wallace University School, a preparatory school for boys in Nashville, Tennessee, was founded in 1886 by Clarence Blaine Wallace (1859–1949), the headmaster of the school for its entire fifty-five-year existence.


  442.25 Walnut Log Hotel at Samburg, Tennessee] See note 432.20.


  446.38 Decoration Day] Original name for Memorial Day, in use from the late 1860s through the early years of the twentieth century. Before 1968 the holiday was traditionally observed on May 30, not, as it is today, on the last Monday in May.


  450.17–20 “like the flesh of a beef just killed.” . . . “infested with people”] Taylor’s source for this account of the New Madrid Earthquake is John Haywood, The Natural and Aboriginal History of Tennessee (Nashville: privately printed, 1823).


  450.38–451.1 John James Audubon . . . him sitting on it.] For Audubon’s account of the New Madrid Earthquake, see “The Earthquake—1812,” in Maria R. Audubon, ed., Audubon and His Journals, volume 2 (New York: Charles Scribner’s Sons, 1897).


  452.30 Ward-Belmont School] Ward-Belmont (1913–51) was an exclusive, progressive-minded private high school and junior college for women in Nashville, Tennessee. It was formed by the merger of the Ward Seminary for Young Ladies (founded 1865) and the Belmont School for Young Women (founded 1890).


  458.11 Centennial Park] See note 29.3.


  465.21–22 Ramsey’s Annals of Tennessee] James Gettys McGready Ramsey, The Annals of Tennessee to the End of the Eighteenth Century, Comprising Its Settlement, as the Watauga Association, from 1769 to 1777; A Part of North-Carolina, from 1777 to 1784; The State of Franklin, from 1784 to 1788; The Territory of the U. States, South of the Ohio, from 1790 to 1796; and The State of Tennessee, 1796 to 1800 (Charleston, S.C.: John Russell, 1853). J. G. M. Ramsey (1797–1884), MA, MD, a physician and civic leader in Knoxville, Tennessee, was cofounder and president of the Medical Society of Tennessee, the East Tennessee Historical Society, and the Tennessee Historical Society.


  469.25 San Carlo Opera Company] Traveling opera company that, under the management of its owner, Italian American impresario Fortune Gallo (1878–1970), brought opera to underserved cities in the United States, Canada, and Latin America from 1913 through the mid-1950s.


  472.8 Overton Park] Named for Judge John Overton (1766–1833), a co-founder of Memphis, Overton Park (established 1901) is a 342-acre public park and nature conservancy in Memphis, Tennessee. Some 140 acres of the park are now designated the Old Forest State Natural Area and are protected from future development.


  472.19 Southwestern College] The Memphis institution of higher learning that from 1925 to 1984 was known as Southwestern College (or Southwestern at Memphis) opened its doors as the Masonic University of Tennessee, Clarksville, in 1848. It is now a four-year liberal arts school known as Rhodes College.


  476.4–5 Jackson . . . Winchester . . . Overton . . . Memphis.] Memphis, Tennessee, the seat of Shelby County, was founded on May 22, 1819, by General Andrew Jackson (1767–1845), General James Winchester (1752–1826), and Judge John Overton (see note 472.8). The city was incorporated on December 19, 1826.


  499.2–3 Miss Hutchison’s School and St. Mary’s and Lausanne] The Hutchison School (see note 321.35–36), St. Mary’s Episcopal School (founded 1847), and Lausanne Collegiate School (founded 1926) are historically girls’ schools in Memphis, Tennessee. (Lausanne has been coeducational since 1981.)


  510.32 André Maurois] Anglophilic French writer (1885–1967) whose works of the 1930s and ’40s included biographies of Byron, Shelley, and Dickens and studies in American and English history and temperament.


  510.37–38 Boss Crump] Edward Hull “Boss” Crump (1874–1954) and his Democratic Party machine dominated Memphis city politics during the first half of the twentieth century.


  526.4 Mr. Jefferson’s Academical Village] Thomas Jefferson first proposed his idea of a secular, state-sponsored university of Virginia to the Virginia General Assembly in 1778. By 1805 his vision for the physical plan described not one great university building or set of buildings but rather smaller classroom buildings and dormitories built around an open green. “An University should not be an house,” he wrote to one supporter, “but a village”—or what by 1810 he was regularly calling an “academical village.” The University of Virginia, Charlottesville, was established by the Commonwealth in 1819 and admitted its first freshmen in 1825.


  526.18 before St. Anne’s moved] St. Anne’s School, Episcopal (founded in Charlottesville in 1856 as the Albemarle Female Institute), was created for the daughters of the faculty and staff of the University of Virginia. In 1939, St. Anne’s, formerly located downtown, moved to “the country,” Greenway Rise, a mile west of the university campus. (In 1975, St. Anne’s merged with Bellair, the university’s school for boys, to form the coeducational St. Anne’s–Belfield School.)


  537.7 Inderal] Brand name for propranolol, a beta-blocker that reduces blood pressure and promotes better blood circulation.


  537.8 hydrochlorothiazide] Diuretic that can also reduce high blood pressure and high levels of salt and calcium in urine.


  552.28 Merciful Censor] In A World of My Own: A Dream Diary (1991), the English writer Graham Greene describes human memory as a “merciful censor.”


  560.31–32 General Forrest] See note 432.17.


  564.20 so-called covites] See note 384.9.


  580.21 Stoneleigh Court Apartments] Throughout the first half of the twentieth century, the Beaux Arts–inspired Stoneleigh Court Apartments (1905–65), at L Street and Connecticut Avenue, NW, were home to many of Washington’s political and cultural elite. The horseshoe-shaped complex of ninety-three units was personally financed by Secretary of State John Hay (1838–1905) and designed by Washington architect James G. Hill (1841–1913).


  581.31 Fort Oglethorpe] See note 322.39.


  582.30–33 Camp Forrest . . . Tullahoma, Tennessee] Camp Forrest, in Tullahoma, Tennessee, was one of the largest U.S. Army training camps during World War II. In 1940, the city of Tullahoma, in the south-central part of the state, had a population of 4,500. While Camp Forrest was active, from 1941 to 1946, the population was approximately 75,000. The camp was named after General Nathan Bedford Forrest (see note 432.17).


  595.5–6 Grace Coolidge and Alice Roosevelt Longworth] Coolidge (1879–1957) was First Lady of the United States from 1923 to 1929, and Longworth (1884–1980), the eldest child of Theodore Roosevelt, was a prominent Washington socialite and power broker.


  606.25 Carp’s Washington] Frank G. “Carp” Carpenter (1854–1924), an Ohio-born journalist, photographer, and world traveler, was from 1882 to 1889 the Washington columnist for the Cleveland Leader, to which he contributed a lively contemporary chronicle of the Arthur and Cleveland administrations. Carp’s Washington (1960) is a posthumous selection from the Leader column, edited and with an introduction by his daughter and frequent collaborator, Francine Carpenter.


  609.27 Chautauqua series of the 1880s.] The New York Chautauqua Assembly, an adult-education summer camp founded in 1874 on Chautauqua Lake, in western New York State, quickly became so popular that many of its offerings—lecturers and folk musicians, especially—toured America on the so-called Chautauqua circuit.


  612.38 Mr. Ben Allen] See note 32.36.


  613.21 Maxwell House Hotel] From 1869 to 1961 the Maxwell House, built and managed by John Overton Jr. (see note 472.8), was the premier hotel in downtown Nashville.


  614.32–34 Embassy Row . . . to Georgetown.] On the 1.8-mile walk along Massachusetts Avenue, NW, from Washington’s Embassy Row to one of Rock Creek Park’s pedestrian bridges to Georgetown, one passes the National Zoo (Smithsonian Institution) and, in Sheridan Square, an equestrian statue of General Philip Sheridan (1831–1888) sculpted by Gutzon Borglum in 1908.


  617.11 Spirit of St. Louis] Single-engine, single-seat monoplane in which American aviator Charles Lindbergh, on May 20–21, 1927, made the first transatlantic flight, from Long Island, New York, to Paris, France. The plane is now in the collection of the National Air and Space Museum of the Smithsonian Institution, Washington, D.C.


  617.21 Hall of Heroes] The National Statuary Hall opened in 1857, in the former chamber of the House of Representatives at the U.S. Capitol. Nicknamed the Hall of Heroes, the complete collection of nearly a hundred marble and bronze statues was on public display there from 1864 to 1933. Today, only thirty-eight statues in the collection are exhibited at any one time.


  619.27–28 Alex Mercer . . . Phillip Carver] Phillip Carver, a fictional character, is the protagonist of Taylor’s second novel, A Summons to Memphis (1986). In that story he is a New York book editor in his late forties. Alex Mercer, a close friend of Phillip since their shared Memphis boyhood, is a professor at Memphis State University and a kind of surrogate “second son” to Phillip’s aged father, a longtime Memphis resident.


  620.10–11 Sergeant Alvin York . . . Colonel Luke Lea.] Sergeant York (1887–1964), a native of rural Tennessee, was one of the most highly decorated U.S. soldiers of World War I. He received the Medal of Honor for leading an attack on a German machine gun nest in France and capturing 132 enemy soldiers. Colonel Lea (1879–1945), a native of Nashville, was already a successful politician and newspaperman when, in 1917, he volunteered as an artillery officer in World War I. In January 1919, he and other officers of the U.S. 114th Field Artillery attempted to kidnap Kaiser Wilhelm II, then in exile in the Netherlands, and deliver him to an international tribunal. After the war Lea pursued a career in finance and real estate, and in 1934 he was jailed for his part in a North Carolina bank-fraud case. He was paroled in 1936, and fully pardoned in 1937.


  620.31 Goldsmith’s Department Store] See note 236.19–20.


  628.23–24 Miss Madeira’s] The Madeira School, a girls’ boarding school in McLean, Virginia, was founded in Washington, D.C., in 1906 by Lucy Madeira Wing (1873–1961). It moved to the suburbs in 1931.


  639.38–39 Mud Island and the New Bridge.] Mud Island, a peninsula bounded by the Mississippi and Wolf Rivers, is the site of Memphis’s Mud Island River Park and Mississippi River Museum. The New Bridge is a local nickname for the Hernando de Soto Bridge (1973), which connects Memphis, Tennessee, and West Memphis, Arkansas.
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